
 

 

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 
EXTRAORDINARY MEETING 

 
11.00 am, Monday 2 October 2023 

 
 

Conference Room f01e, Church Square House,  
30-40 High Street, Scunthorpe, DN15 6NL 

 
  
1.   Welcome and Introductions   

  
2.   Substitutions   

  
3.   Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Personal or Personal 

and Prejudicial interests   
  

4.   To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on 19 June 2023 and authorise the Chairman to sign.  
(Pages 1 - 6) 
  

5.   Questions from members of the public   
  

PLEASE NOTE, ALL PAPERS WILL BE TAKEN ‘AS READ’ TO ENCOURAGE 
DISCUSSION   
 
   
6.   Humber Acute Services Review - Presentation and Discussion.  (Pages 7 - 

448) 
  

7.   Date and time of next meeting - 2pm, 13 November 2023   
  

8.   Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent by reason of special 
circumstances which must be specified.   
  

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

19 June 2023 
 

- Present - 
 

 
Cllr R Waltham MBE (Chairman), N Bennett, C Duran, M Fuller, Cllr R Hannigan, 
Supt A Maultby, A Matson, K Pavey, Cllr J Reed, A Seale and D Ward  
 
The Council met at Conference Room, Church Square House, 30-40 High Street, 
Scunthorpe. 
  
516 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

  
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, inviting them to introduce 
themselves. 
  

517 SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
Carrie Butler, Healthwatch North Lincolnshire, substituted for Jennifer Allen. 
  

518 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
PERSONAL OR PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
  
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and personal or 
personal and prejudicial interests.  
  
  

519 TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD ON 6 
MARCH 2023 
  
Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, held on 6 March 2023, be approved as a correct record. 
  
  

520 FORWARD PLAN AND ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
  
The Director: Governance and Communities confirmed that the Forward Plan 
was up to date, and that all forthcoming actions were timetabled.  Board 
members were asked to feed through any additional business for inclusion on 
the Forward Plan. 
  
  

521 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
  
Cllr Matthews asked a question about paediatric audiology services provided 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
19 June 2023 

 

by Northern Lincolnshire & Goole NHS Foundation Trust.  The Director: 
Governance & Communities updated Cllr Matthews and the Board, provided 
a written update from the Trust to Cllr Matthews, and confirmed that the issue 
would be picked up by the Health, Integration and Performance Scrutiny 
Panel in due course. 
  

522 BETTER CARE FUND - END OF YEAR REPORT 2022-23 - JOINT 
REPORT BY THE DIRECTOR: ADULTS AND HEALTH, AND THE NORTH 
LINCOLNSHIRE ICB PLACE DIRECTOR. 
  
The Director: Adults and Health, and the North Lincolnshire ICB Place 
Director submitted a joint End of Year report, which provided the Board with a 
summary of performance and progress against the Better Care Fund plan for 
2022-23. 
  
It was confirmed that, throughout 2022-23, North Lincolnshire had continued 
to meet the national conditions and all BCF schemes had been implemented. 
BCF funding had continued to have a positive impact on the integration of 
health and social care in North Lincolnshire and to support closer working 
across health, social care and the Voluntary and Community Sector. Partners 
had worked together in a joined-up way to improve the urgent community 
response and hospital discharge processes with a Home First ethos to 
support people to remain in their own homes for longer. 
  
The Chairman led a discussion on the report, seeking assurance that the 
Better Care Fund was delivering its aims and outcomes.  It was confirmed 
that it was, with good progress on integration, shared ambitions, and avoiding 
unnecessary hospital admissions.  Further work was required on the longer-
term aim of moving towards a preventative model of promoting health and 
wellbeing. 
  
Cllr Hannigan stated that all of the necessary local structures were in place, 
so work was now focussing on the efficient delivery of services for local 
people. 
  
Resolved – (a) That the Health and Wellbeing Board formally note the 
progress off the 2022-23 Better Care Fund Plan; and (b) that the Chairman 
raise the issue of aligning the Better Care Fund with the wider integration 
agenda with Ministers. 
  
  

523 BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) 2023-35 PLAN SUBMISSION - REPORT BY 
THE ICB PLACE DIRECTOR AND THE DIRECTOR: ADULTS & HEALTH 
The North Lincolnshire ICB Place Director and the Director: Adults and 
Health submitted a joint report which built upon the previous item (minute 522 
refers).  The report requested that the Health and Wellbeing Board consider, 
and if agreed, formally adopt and sign off the North Lincolnshire Better Care 
Fund Plan 2023-25.   
  
Details of the 2023-25 Plan were contained within the report and the 

Page 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
19 June 2023 

 

accompanying Narrative Plan.  
  
The Board discussed the report and Plan, highlighting areas for future 
updates. 
  
Resolved - (a) That the Health and Wellbeing Board formally agree and sign 
off the 2023-25 Better Care Fund Plan; and (b) that multi-agency falls 
prevention, delayed discharge, and homes for older people all be 
incorporated into the Board’s Forward Plan. 
  
  

524 HUMBER AND NORTH YORKSHIRE INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM 
JOINT FORWARD PLAN - REPORT BY THE NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE 
NHS PLACE DIRECTOR 
  
The North Lincolnshire NHS Place Director submitted a report which 
summarised and incorporated the final draft of the Humber and North 
Yorkshire (HNY) Integrated Care System Joint Forward Plan.  These 
documents were scheduled to be submitted to the HNY Integrated Care 
Board on 14 June. 
  
The Place Director confirmed that the Place team had been actively involved 
in development of the Plan, in particular the North Lincolnshire element, and 
that local Partners had been involved in the development of the HNY 
Integrated Health and Care Strategy, which sets the strategic direction for the 
HNY ICS.  
  
This work had also considered the alignment to the local direction of travel 
and vision for the North Lincolnshire Place as set out in the Strategic Intent 
and Community First Strategy.  
  
The Chairman led a discussion on the report and the Joint Forward Plan, 
highlighting the primacy of ‘Place’ and the importance of the local Community 
First Strategy.  It was confirmed that work was progressing well on local 
improvements, as detailed in the Plan, and that arrangements were in place 
to influence services that are delivered on a wider footprint. 
  
Resolved – That the Health and Wellbeing Board note the Humber and North 
Yorkshire Joint Forward Plan and the engagement which had been 
undertaken locally in the development of the Plan.  
  
  

525 APPROVAL OF COMMUNITY FIRST STRATEGY - REPORT BY THE 
NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE NHS PLACE DIRECTOR AND THE DIRECTOR: 
ADULTS AND HEALTH 
  
The North Lincolnshire NHS Place Director and the Director: Adults and 
Health submitted a joint report which highlighted that the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Place Partnership had a focus on, and commitment 
to, transforming the lives of people in North Lincolnshire through an 

Page 3



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
19 June 2023 

 

integrated health and social care system.  A key strand of this was the 
Community First Approach, and the Community First Strategy, which had 
both recently been approved by the Board and endorsed by the Place 
Partnership.   
  
The document confirmed that the Community First Approach was 
transformational.  Whilst national drivers such as the Health and Social Care 
Act 2022 and the Fuller Report highlighted the importance of, and need for, 
health and social care integration, it was the action taken locally that would 
make this integration a reality.  The Community First Approach was part of 
the action that was being taken locally, which would achieve health and social 
care integration in North Lincolnshire, enabling people, and ensuring that they 
received the right care, in the right place at the right time. 
  
The report set out how, based on prevention and enabling self-help, people 
would be able to act to keep themselves well, with the person and family at 
the heart of everything the health and social care system does.   
  
The Community First Strategy was based around three key areas:  
  

       Integrated Neighbourhood Teams – which would ensure a fully 
integrated and preventative response across health, social care, 
housing, employment, and voluntary sectors.   

  
       People would have their urgent needs met quickly by establishing an 

unplanned care response into a fully Integrated Urgent Care 
system.  

  
       People would be safe and have good quality provision enable through 

a single Integrated Strategic Commissioning and Safeguarding 
approach that maximised Place resources to best effect to meet need 
and achieve the best quality of provision for residents.  

  
It was confirmed that the Community First Strategy would ensure that local 
care and support was designed to meet people’s need at the lowest level, 
with those most in need being prioritised.   The Community First Strategy 
replaced the former North Lincolnshire Health and Care Integration Plan 
2021-2024.   
  
The Board discussed the developing model of care and support, including the 
shift to a model which emphasised prevention of poor health and wellbeing. 
  
Resolved – That the Health and Wellbeing Board approve the Community 
First Strategy. 
   
  

526 MAKING IT REAL - HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION EVENT 
UPDATE - REPORT BY THE DIRECTOR: ADULTS & HEALTH AND THE 
NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE NHS PLACE DIRECTOR 
  

Page 4



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
19 June 2023 

 

The Director: Adults and Health and the North Lincolnshire NHS Place 
Director submitted a joint report to update the Board about the ‘Making It 
Real’ Health and Social Care Integration event, hosted by the Place 
Partnership in May 2023.  Over 160 leaders from across health and social 
care took part, finding the event both useful and informative. Feedback from 
the event assures the Partnership that participants now have an excellent 
understanding of North Lincolnshire’s Community First Approach to health 
and social care integration. 
  
It was explained that further actions were being planned and implemented, 
which would build on the success of this event and the momentum it had 
created. 
  
Resolved – That the Health and Wellbeing Board note and endorse the 
update and the further actions described within the report.  
  
  

527 CHILDREN'S COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - INTEGRATED WORKING 
UPDATE - REPORT BY THE DIRECTOR: CHILDREN & FAMILIES 
  
The Director: Children & Families submitted a report to update the Health and 
Wellbeing Board of progress relating to the delivery of the Children’s 
Commissioning Strategy Refresh, specifically the focus on developing the 
local integrated children and families offer and the impact on children, young 
people and families. 
  
The Director explained that, set in the context of the One Family Approach, 
the Children’s Commissioning Strategy Refresh resets the local integration 
priorities and commissioning intent across education, health and care for 
children and families across North Lincolnshire.  This aligned with the 
refreshed Place Partnership strategic intent and the new iteration of the 
Health and Care Integration Plan.      
  
The Director highlighted some local successes, stating that the 
Commissioning Strategy aimed to support family networks across their whole 
lives, rather than being a narrow ‘child-focussed’ document. 
  
The Board discussed the report, highlighting the importance of the role of 
parents in supporting and empowering children and young people, backed up 
by local services where necessary.  Work on improving mental health 
services and reducing waiting lists was described and discussed further. 
  
Resolved – That the Health and Wellbeing Board note the update in relation 
to the delivery of the Children’s Commissioning Strategy Refresh, specifically 
the local focus on developing a shared integrated children and families offer, 
and the impact on children and families. 
  
  
  

528 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING - 11 SEPTEMBER 2023, 2PM 

Page 5



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
19 June 2023 

 

  
The Director: Governance and Communities confirmed that the Board’s next 
public meeting would be at 2pm on 11 September 2023. 
  

529 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT BY 
REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH MUST BE SPECIFIED. 
  
There was no urgent or additional business. 
  
 

 
 

Page 6



Humber and
North Yorkshire

Integrated Care Board (ICB)

We are consulting with you on changes 
to some services which are provided at 
Grimsby and Scunthorpe Hospitals 

Have your say 
Public consultation
The consultation closes on 5th January 2024

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Contents

 1. Delivering better hospital care .....................................................................................................................3

 2. Current local challenges ...........................................................................................................................................4

 3. Who we care for ...................................................................................................................................................................6

 4. Which services might change ..........................................................................................................................8

 5. What is being proposed – a better model of care ....................................................10

 6. How the proposed model of care would improve services ......................12

 7.  How we assessed which hospital should deliver ......................................................14 
these services

 8. Impact on travel time for patients, visitors and staff .........................................16

 9. Patient stories .......................................................................................................................................................................18

 10. How we developed our proposal .........................................................................................................20

 11. Understanding the impact of our proposal .........................................................................22

1 2. How to share your views ...................................................................................................................................24

1 3. Next steps ....................................................................................................................................................................................26

You can read more detailed information about the proposal and how 
they were developed in the Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) and 
supporting documentation. 

All documents are available to download from the website or can be 
provided on request. 

A summary document is also available on the website or on request.

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

32

Page 8



Delivering better hospital care
Our ambition for health services in Humber and North Yorkshire
Our highly-skilled staff work hard to improve health and social care services for people 
who live and work across the Humber and North Yorkshire area. We do this to make 
sure that everyone who needs it gets the care that they need at the right time, in the 
right place, from the right staff with the right skills. 

Sometimes, this may mean delivering care more locally; for example, opening new 
diagnostic centres in town centres and introducing more outreach services, like 
telephone follow-up appointments and children’s Hospital at Home, where we care for 
and monitor poorly children in their own homes. 

For other, more complex services, it may mean concentrating these in fewer locations so 
we can make sure the service that is being provided is the best it can be. 

In this consultation, we would like to hear what you think about our proposal to change 
the way some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and paediatric 
(children’s) services are delivered at our hospitals in Scunthorpe and Grimsby (Scunthorpe 
General Hospital and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby). 

This is a suggested proposal – you will help us make the final decision. We need your 
help to ensure what we are suggesting is the best way forward. 

We thank you for taking the time to consider this proposal and provide your feedback, 
views and ideas. 

1

We are consulting with you on changes to some services 
which are provided at Grimsby and Scunthorpe Hospitals

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital

Scunthorpe 
General Hospital

32

Page 9



Having the right workforce, in the 
right place, to meet the demand 
• Nearly a third of our staff are eligible to retire within 

the next 5 to 10 years. 

• National shortages mean we still struggle to recruit 
enough skilled staff for our speciality services. 

• Potential recruits tell us that roles are not attractive 
because of the low numbers of patients, limited 
opportunity for research, education and training. 

• Gaps in rotas put pressure on existing teams and 
increase our reliance on expensive locums and 
agency staff. This can make it harder to provide 
continuity of care for patients. 

• Our clinical teams are spread too thinly. We are 
maintaining multiple rotas and our highly skilled staff 
are not being given the opportunity to maximise 
their skills.

Very few emergency 
operations take place 
overnight (around 1 
patient per night across 
both hospitals), yet both 
hospitals must ensure 
surgical staff are  
available 24/7.

Ensuring the future quality and 
safety of some hospital services
• Our emergency departments (A&E) experience 

significant demand and we do not deliver 
national standards on waiting times or ambulance 
handovers. 

• We sometimes fail to meet national clinical 
standards because our staff are spread too thinly 
across hospital sites. 

• Senior clinicians are not always available every day, 
24/7, and our patients spend longer in hospital for 
the same care and treatment compared to other 
parts of the country.

Only two thirds of patients 
were seen and treated 
within 4 hours in our 
Emergency Departments 
(A&E) and more than  
18 people a day waited 
for over 12 hours.

Current local challenges
Doing nothing is not an option. Our aim to provide services so people get the very best 
care, in the best place, when they need it. 

Our doctors, nurses and hospital staff work hard to provide the best care possible but 
face many, increasing challenges. Our current health and care system is not always 
meeting everyone’s needs and is not set up to do so in the future.

2

AMBULANCE

54

Page 10



Providing the right care for our 
growing ageing population
• The number of older people in our area is 

rising, which can mean more complex health 
needs and increasing demand for some 
services.

In 20 years’ time nearly one 
third of the local population 
will be aged 65 and over 
(compared to around a fifth 
today).

Meeting the needs of  
our population 
• Some of our communities have much poorer 

health and need hospital care more often or 
have issues accessing healthcare services.

Healthy life expectancy is 
significantly lower than 
national average at just 56 
years for women in North 
Lincolnshire and 55 years for 
men in North East Lincolnshire.

Investing in our buildings 
• Some of our hospital buildings are old and do 

not meet modern clinical standards. 

• There is limited access to the investment 
needed to improve or replace them. A 
number of our theatres and ward areas have 
had to be closed. 

• This affects our ability to treat patients 
effectively, and our ability to recruit and  
retain staff.

Our buildings need significant 
investment just to keep 
them functioning (backlog 
maintenance issues would 
cost in excess of £100 million 
across Grimsby and Scunthorpe 
hospitals to address).

Using our financial resources 
in the most efficient way
• We need to make sure that we spend our 

limited finances in the most sensible way and 
on the most appropriate services for those who 
need them most.

Last year (2022/23) we spent 
over £37 million on temporary 
(agency and locum) staffing to 
cover gaps in rotas to ensure 
services continue to be  
delivered safely.

You can read more information about why services need to change in the 
Case for Change and the Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC, section 2). 

These documents are available to download from the website or can be 
provided on request. 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

£

54

Page 11



Who we care for
Our hospitals in Scunthorpe and Grimsby (Scunthorpe General Hospital and Diana 
Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby) work alongside other hospitals in the Humber area 
- including Goole and District Hospital, Castle Hill Hospital and Hull Royal Infirmary. 

Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS 
Foundation Trust provide a range of speciality hospital services for a large region, serving 
patients living across Northern Lincolnshire, East Yorkshire, Hull, parts of North Yorkshire 
and communities in East Lindsey and West Lindsey.

The Humber area is home to just under one million people and patients also travel from 
further afield to access some of our hospital services. 

3

Service Area

Total number of patients 
per year (2019/20)

Scunthorpe General 
Hospital

Diana Princess of 
Wales Hospital, 
Grimsby

Emergency Department 
(A&E) attendances

73,181 (per year) 75,323 (per year)

Paediatric assessment  
Unit Attendances

4,302 (per year) 5,357 (per year)

Emergency admissions  
(all adults)

19,194 (per year) 18,528 (per year)

Paediatric admissions 
(children) 

898 (per year) 951 (per year)

76

Page 12



Like in other parts of the country, our population is getting older, which can mean 
more complex healthcare needs. There are also large parts of our population who face 
extra barriers and challenges because of issues like deprivation. People living in these 
areas have poorer health outcomes than in other parts of the country. In developing 
our proposal, we have considered the barriers faced by many within our population, 
particularly those most in need of care and support.

Deprivation and health inequalities 
• Northern Lincolnshire and the East Lindsey coastline has 

some of the most deprived communities in England.

• Deprivation, particularly low income, is strongly linked to 
poor health outcomes.

• Many of our most deprived communities also live furthest 
from our hospitals.

Barriers and inequity
• Rates of car ownership are lower than average in the 

Humber area.

• Rates of homelessness are high, particularly in North East 
Lincolnshire. 

• Digital exclusion is also an issue for many of our 
communities, particularly those in the most deprived areas.

Public Health risk factors 
• Smoking, alcohol-related health condition and childhood 

obesity are all higher than the national average in England.

• A greater proportion of the Humber population have one or 
more long-term health conditions, such as diabetes and heart 
disease.

You can read more about our population in the Pre-Consultation 
Business Case (PCBC, section 1.4).

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

76

Page 13



Which services might change 
We would like to hear what you think about our proposal to change the way some 
more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and paediatric (children’s) services 
are delivered at our hospitals in Scunthorpe and Grimsby (Scunthorpe General Hospital  
and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby).

Service What is it? Things to consider

Trauma
Unit

Trauma Units are based within 
some Emergency Departments 
and provide care to patients 
with injuries who need to be 
stabilised quickly. They work 
as part of a network linked to 
a Major Trauma Centre where 
people with the most serious 
injuries are treated.

Trauma patients almost always 
arrive by ambulance, although 
some are transported by air 
ambulance and, once stabilised, 
may need to be transferred 
to another department or by 
ambulance to the regional Major 
Trauma Centre.

Emergency 
surgery 
(overnight) 
and 
inpatient 
care

Situations that require patients 
to be admitted to hospital 
straight away, usually through 
the Emergency Department, 
for monitoring, tests and 
possible emergency surgery.

If emergency surgery is needed  
it usually takes place within  
24-36 hours and, in some serious 
or life-threatening cases, may 
happen immediately including 
overnight.

Some 
medical 
specialties 
(inpatient)

Specialists in specific 
conditions and parts of the 
body can provide a higher 
level of clinical input in areas 
such as cardiology (heart), 
gastroenterology (stomach) 
and respiratory (lung) 
conditions.

7-day per week medical care 
from specialists can improve the 
quality of patients’ experiences, 
reducing the time they need to 
stay in hospital and supporting 
them to go home more quickly.

Paediatric 
overnight 
(inpatient) 
care

For children and young people 
who need to be admitted for 
more than 24-hours or need 
more specialist care.

We have been testing a ‘Hospital 
at Home’ model of care for some 
paediatric patients to reduce the 
length of time that children and 
young people have to stay in 
hospital and reduce the number 
of admissions overall.

4

98

Page 14



Major Trauma Centres and Trauma Units
• Major Trauma Centres are hospitals that provide care for people with  

severe injuries. 

• Trauma Units are based in hospitals and provide care for less serious injuries. 

• Most people with major trauma are taken straight to a major trauma centre 
for treatment, rather than a trauma unit, even if the major trauma centre is 
further away.

• Sometimes the ambulance team cannot give the life-saving treatment the 
person needs at the scene of the incident. If this happens, and if the nearest 
trauma unit is closer than the major trauma centre, the ambulance team takes 
the person to the trauma unit for quick emergency treatment. The person is 
then moved to a major trauma centre as soon as it is safe to do so.

What about other services?
No changes are proposed to planned care services, including diagnostic 
tests and outpatient services. Outpatient appointments would continue to 
be delivered at Scunthorpe, Grimsby and Goole Hospitals and would not be 
affected by the proposed changes. No changes are proposed to the services 
provided at Goole and District Hospital. 

Stroke services would not be impacted by these proposed changes and the 
Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) would continue to be provided at Scunthorpe 
Hospital. Children from the North and North East Lincolnshire areas requiring 
very specialist care would continue to be cared for in Sheffield. 

We are not consulting on specific changes to primary and community healthcare 
services (e.g. GPs and district nurses). We are, however, working with these 
colleagues to look at how we could improve services in the community to 
support the proposed changes to some hospital-based services. 

Maternity and neonatal services (care for newborn babies) are not part 
of this consultation. We will be looking at how these could be improved in the 
future across a wider area and will involve relevant stakeholders.

AMBULANCE

98

Page 15



What is being proposed –  
a better model of care

The services we are considering changing are primarily for patients who need more 
complex emergency diagnosis, treatment and care after receiving an assessment through 
one of our Emergency Departments. The proposal also covers paediatric (children’s) 
inpatient services, where a child would need to be admitted to hospital for a period  
over 24 hours. 

This is to improve services for those with the most urgent and complex needs, keeping 
them safe and of high quality in the long term.

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital: 

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought 
by ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the 
middle of the night or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by 
teams with surgical expertise.

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay 
in hospital (more than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their 
heart, lung or stomach condition.

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who 
need to stay in hospital for more than 24 hours. 

Bringing these services together in one hospital would provide access to dedicated 
services 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, with more specialised skills always being 
available. This would help us to address critical shortages in workforce by organising our 
teams more effectively and help more patients to be seen and treated more quickly and 
stay in hospital for less time. 

The vast majority of patients would continue to be seen and treated in the 
same hospital they are now. Those who would need to be treated at a different 
hospital would arrive in an ambulance or be taken by free inter-hospital 
transport. 

Urgent and emergency care for most patients would continue to be provided at both 
Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital including:

• 24/7 Emergency Department (A&E), assessment unit and short stay (up to 3 days)

• Emergency surgery (during the day)

• Overnight (inpatient) care for elderly and general medical patients (for stays longer 
than 3 days)

• Paediatric (children’s) Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours).

5

1110

Page 16



Services to be brought together at 
one hospital 

Services to remain at both hospitals

   24/7 Trauma Unit, for people 
with injuries requiring 
specialist care and who 
might need an operation or 
observation by a trauma team.

   24/7 Emergency Department 
(A&E).

   24/7 Urgent Care Service (in the 
A&E) for patients with minor 
injuries and illnesses.

   24/7 assessment units.

   Short stay emergency care  
(up to 72 hours).

   24/7 Emergency surgery and 
inpatient (overnight) care 
(more than 24 hours).

    Emergency surgery (during the 
day).

   24/7 Speciality medical 
inpatient care (for longer stays 
more than 72 hours) including 
gastroenterology (stomach), 
cardiology (heart) and 
respiratory (lung) medicine.

   Assessment and short-stay care 
with specialist ‘in-reach’ input.

   24/7 Paediatric overnight 
(inpatient) care (for longer 
stays more than 24 hours).

   24/7 Paediatric (children’s) 
Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours).

 Overnight (inpatient) care for 
elderly and general medical 
patients (for stays longer than  
3 days)

 24/7 maternity and neonatal care.

 Outpatient appointments.

24/7 Accident and Emergency would continue to be 
delivered at both Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 
Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital. We have 
recently invested £35 million to build new Emergency 
Departments and Assessment Units in both hospitals.

No changes are proposed to the services provided at Goole and District Hospital.

Proposed model of care at a glance

1110

Page 17



How the proposed model of care would 
improve services 
The proposed changes would help more patients to be seen and treated more quickly 
and stay in hospital for less time. It would also address critical shortages in workforce by 
organising our teams more effectively.

Change Benefit

Urgent Care Services would be 
expanded and improved to assess and 
treat patients with minor illnesses or 
injuries. 

  Nearly 200 people a day 
who attend our Emergency 
Departments (at Scunthorpe and 
Grimsby hospitals) would be seen 
and treated more quickly and 
pressure would be reduced on 
services for patients with the 
most serious or life-threatening 
needs.

Trauma services would be provided  
at one hospital, with Hull Royal 
Infirmary (HRI) remaining as the 
regional Major Trauma Centre (MTC). 
Patients would be taken by ambulance 
directly to one of these hospitals based 
on their clinical needs.

  Bringing trauma services together 
would provide access to more 
special skills 24/7 and allow for 
faster assessment and treatment, 
reducing the pressure on the 
Emergency Department and 
reducing the wait to be seen.

Inpatient gastroenterology (stomach), 
cardiology (heart) and respiratory (lung) 
services for patients who need:

• a higher level of speciality care, or 

•  to stay in hospital for more than  
72 hours 

would be provided at one hospital.

  We would be able to provide 
dedicated 7-day per week 
care from specialists in 
gastroenterology, cardiology and 
respiratory medicine, improving 
the quality of patient experience, 
reducing length of stay and 
supporting patients to go home 
more quickly.

6

1312

Page 18



Change Benefit

24/7 emergency surgery and acute 
surgical admissions (more than 24 
hours) would be delivered at one 
hospital. Day case emergency surgery 
would be provided across all sites.

  Bringing emergency surgery 
with 24/7 teams including 
surgeons, theatre teams, nursing 
staff together at one hospital 
will support the future 
sustainability of our workforce.

Inpatient services for children and 
young people who need to stay in 
hospital more than 24 hours would be 
provided at one hospital.

  Bringing paediatric inpatient 
services together at one 
hospital would improve training 
opportunities and support the 
future sustainability of the 
workforce. This change would 
also be supported through the 
implementation of the Hospital at 
Home model of care for paediatric 
cases which has been seen to 
reduce the need for admission and 
support earlier discharge, reducing 
length of stay.

The proposed changes would also mean that some patients, staff, 
families and loved ones would have increased travel times (see pages 
16-17 for more details). Almost all those who will have to travel to a 
different hospital than their closest will do so via ambulance or via free 
inter-hospital transport if they need to be admitted for a longer period 
of time or for more specialised care.

1312

Page 19



How we assessed which hospital should deliver 
these services
In developing the proposal, we engaged with more than 12,000 people and explored 
over 120 different ideas. 

We carefully studied the likely impacts on patients, staff and visitors of bringing these 
specific services together at Scunthorpe General Hospital or Diana Princess of Wales 
Hospital, Grimsby.

How close should 
these services be to 

communities that are 
most vulnerable to 
changes, like those 
living in the most 
deprived areas?

Which option would 
mean the fewest 
patients having 

to move between 
hospitals during  

their stay?

How many 
people would 

have to go to a 
different hospital 

if services 
moved?

How much would 
it cost and is it 

affordable?
How long would it take 

to make the changes and 
improve services, including 

how much building and 
renovation would be 

needed?

By asking questions like:

We also had to consider 
important practical and 
financial issues:

7

Which option 
would have the 

least impact 
on ambulance 

services?

1514

Page 20



Which hospital are we now proposing should deliver these services?
After completing the evaluation, we believe the only viable option is to bring these 
specific services together at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby because:

It will directly impact on fewer people 

• It is closer to more patients who have poorer health outcomes, who would 
otherwise have to travel further and may not have access to transport. 

• It would have the least impact on ambulance services. 

• Overall, it would have a lower impact on journeys to and from hospital: 

• Fewer people would have to go to a different hospital site. 

• Fewer people would have longer journeys to and from hospital. 

• Fewer patients would have to be transferred between sites if they needed to 
stay in hospital overnight. 

It makes the best use of our financial resources

• It is the only option that is affordable – it would cost three times as much 
to make changes to the buildings at Scunthorpe General Hospital to bring 
services together there. 

• Delivering the services at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby would 
allow us to make the changes within the money we have available and 
improve services far more quickly.

You can read more about how we evaluated the different potential 
options in the Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC section 10.4). 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital

1514

Page 21



Impact on travel time for patients, visitors  
and staff
We commissioned travel analyses from independent experts. The modelling was based 
on patient data from 2019/20 (because data for 2020 and 2021 was not typical due to 
the COVID pandemic).

Modelling indicates that the proposal to bring these four specific services together at 
Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby would impact a relatively limited proportion of 
service users. More than 90% of patients who currently attend Scunthorpe’s Emergency 
Department (A&E) would continue to receive all their care at Scunthorpe Hospital and 
would not be affected by the proposed changes. The number of patients affected is 
expected to be lower in the longer term as services adapt to new and improved ways  
of working.

Summary of impact

The patients impacted by these changes would either arrive at hospital via emergency 
services in an ambulance (and be taken directly to the right hospital for them) or 
would be transferred by free inter-hospital transport after initial assessment and 
treatment in Scunthorpe’s Emergency Department (A&E).

8

Number of patients who would 
receive some or all of their care at a 
different hospital

Yearly total Average  
per day

Trauma 611 1.7

Emergency surgery (overnight) and 
inpatient stays 

2,444 6.7

Some medical specialities (inpatient 
– longer stays)

1,069 2.9

Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care 935 2.6

TOTAL IMPACT 5,059 13.9

You can read more about how we modelled the travel impact of the 
different potential options in the Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC 
section 10.18). 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

1716

Page 22



How we can mitigate impacts
Our proposal ensures 24/7 Emergency Departments (A&E) would be retained in 
both Grimsby and Scunthorpe. Patients who require trauma, emergency surgery and 
paediatric admissions over 24 hours, and cardiology, gastroenterology and respiratory 
care over 72 hours, may be treated at a different hospital.

The model of care seeks to keep transfers between hospitals to a minimum by: 

• The ambulance service assessing if patients are likely to require speciality inpatient 
care and taking them to the appropriate hospital directly.. 

• Retaining same day emergency care and short stay pathways to maximise the number 
of patients treated at their local hospital (including emergency day surgery where 
appropriate). 

• For children requiring paediatric assessment, judging whether the probable post-
treatment length of stay is likely to be too short to warrant a transfer to the paediatric 
ward. 

• The implementation of children’s Hospital at Home to enable more children to be 
discharged more quickly and recover at home instead. 

Where inter-hospital ambulance transfers are required, we are:

• Working closely with our ambulance providers and other transport providers to 
develop safe solutions for timely transfers. 

• Developing options for family accommodation. 

• Exploring how we could build on the existing shuttle bus service between hospitals 
for staff and families. 

We heard during our engagement that some people are not able to travel to hospital to 
visit loved ones easily due to the cost or poor public transport links. We have established 
a Transport Group and developed an outline Transport Action Plan to examine how best 
to mitigate the impacts of travel. 

Community
transport

1716

Page 23



9 Patient stories
How might our proposed changes affect you?

Trauma Unit
Jay lives in Brigg. Jay is cleaning the gutters on their garage and 
falls from the top of the ladder. Their neighbour calls for an 
ambulance because Jay is quite badly hurt. Jay is conscious and 
does not have a serious head injury, but the paramedic thinks they 
may have broken several bones. The paramedic does a thorough 
assessment of Jay’s condition and follows triage protocols to 
take Jay to the nearest Trauma Unit, which under the proposed 
changes would be at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital in Grimsby.

The paramedic gives Jay fluids and pain relief en route. When 
they arrive at the hospital, Jay is taken directly to the Emergency 
Department to be treated by a dedicated team of trauma 
specialists who would be available 24/7 to provide the level of 
care Jay needs. 

Emergency surgery 
Geoff is 82 and lives near Scunthorpe. Geoff has fallen at 
home and broken his hip. According to national guidance, 
patients like Geoff should have their operation within 36 
hours. This target is not always being met in all our hospitals 
and as a result some older, frail residents like Geoff are waiting 
longer than they should to have their operation. 

Under the proposed changes, Geoff would not have to be 
transferred to Grimsby for his surgery, instead he could still 
have his operation during the day at Scunthorpe Hospital and 
stay overnight on the ward for frail or elderly patients both 
before and after the operation. Geoff would be looked after 
by ortho-geriatricians (specialist doctors who look after frail or 
elderly people with bone and joint problems) and therapists 
who would work with Geoff’s family, social services and 
voluntary organisations to help get Geoff home from hospital 
as soon as possible.

1918

Page 24



Some medical specialties
Alexis arrives at Scunthorpe Hospital on a Friday afternoon 
having suffered a minor heart attack. She needs a procedure 
called angiography, followed by an intervention. National 
guidance says this should happen within 72 hours. The way 
services are organised today means that Alexis will wait on 
the ward until Monday morning to be seen by a Cardiologist, 
when a decision will be made for further investigations and a 
referral made to the cardiology lab. She will then have a few 
further days of waiting to have the procedure. 

Under the proposed changes, Alexis would be diagnosed in 
the Emergency Department at Scunthorpe then transferred 
via a dedicated service to the Cardiology ward at Grimsby to 
be seen by a Cardiologist on site on the same day. She will 
have her procedure within the required timeframe because 
consultant-led care would be provided 7 days a week on that 
site. Alexis would be treated more quickly and then be able to 
go back home, hopefully within 24 hours of the procedure.

Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care 
Ellie-Mae is 6 years old and has an asthma attack at home 
one afternoon, so her dad brings her to the Emergency 
Department (A&E) at Scunthorpe Hospital. The specialist 
team in the Paediatric Assessment Unit look after Ellie-
Mae and give her nebulisers or other treatments to help 
bring her asthma under control. 

In most cases, this would be sufficient for her to go home 
within a matter of hours. If her condition was so bad that 
she needed to stay in hospital for a few days, she would 
be taken by ambulance to Grimsby for further treatment. 
Depending on how quickly Ellie-Mae is improving it might 
be possible for her to go home and be looked after by her 
dad and the Hospital at Home nurses instead.

You can read more about children’s Hospital at Home in the  
Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC section 5.3). 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

1918

Page 25



How we developed our proposal
The process to develop the proposed changes took place over two years and involved 
extensive engagement with more than 12,000 people including: clinicians, staff, 
patients, the public and other stakeholders. 

From an initial long list of 120 possible ideas, an extensive options appraisal process 
scrutinised each potential option. The following approaches, including making no 
changes, were discounted because they were not viable solutions to address the 
identified challenges.

10

Options Discounted because

Do nothing (business as usual)   Would not meet the necessary 
clinical and waiting time standards, 
address inequalities, or deliver the 
best outcomes for patients. 
 
The Clinical Senate (an independent 
panel of experts) said that the 
current model of care is not 
sustainable.

Options with all emergency/ 
unplanned services at one hospital 
and planned care only at the other

  Would cause major impacts 
on patient and staff travel, 
emergency ambulance services, and 
neighbouring healthcare providers.

Options that included bringing 
general medicine and care of 
elderly services together at one 
hospital only

  Significant impact on frail and 
elderly patients because of 
transfers between hospitals, and 
the potential impact on delayed 
discharges from hospital.

Building a new hospital in the 
middle, halfway between Grimsby 
and Scunthorpe

  Build cost and time would be  
too great.  
 
Significant impact on patient and 
staff travel, especially support staff 
who tend to live close to existing 
hospitals.

2120

Page 26



Independent
Clinical Expert

Reviews

ED Enter
and View

153
engagements

Workshops

1,422
attendees

to date

Citizen’s
Panel

involvement

Travel and 
Transport Survey

124
responses to 

survey

Staff 
drop-ins

257
attendees 

to date

Staff Surveys

746
responses to

surveys
What Matters
to You: Public

4,031
responses to

survey

Young
People, Parents
and Guardians

340
responses to

survey

A&E Survey

2,008
responses to

survey

Your
Birthing Choices

1,133
responses to

survey

Equality 
Groups

349
engagements

Why is the proposal to bring these specific services together 
at the same hospital? Why not have some at one hospital and 
some at the other? 
For some specialities, there are reasons why certain services have to be  
co-located together at the same hospital. For example:

• Surgical specialities that need to treat patients in an emergency all need to be 
located in the same hospital because they need access to operating theatres, 
anaesthetics and theatre staffing teams 24/7. 

• A Trauma Unit requires access to surgical teams 24/7 (although due to the 
small number of operations taking place overnight, these teams are currently 
not being used very effectively).

• Specialist medical services are dependent on certain other facilities  
and therefore need to be located together with other services.

You can read more about how we have listened and engaged with 
people to develop the proposal in the Pre-Consultation Business Case 
(PCBC sections 10.6 - 10.15) and engagement reports on our website. 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

2120

Page 27



Understanding the impact of our proposal
It is vital that we understand how the changes we are proposing might affect the 
population we care for. To help us to do this we have completed an extensive and 
detailed Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 

The IIA has helped us to identify groups and communities in our population who might 
be most impacted by the changes we are proposing. We want to hear from people in 
these groups to help us understand how the proposal could impact them and how any 
negative impacts could be reduced.

Age
Our population is getting older, as 
people live longer, while the birth 
rate is falling. 

In North and North East 
Lincolnshire, the older population 
(65+) is higher in rural and coastal 
areas, which are often furthest 
away from our hospitals with 
poor transport links. Some of the 
services that we are proposing to 
change are used most by older 
people, like medical speciality 
inpatient services, so there may be 
a bigger impact on older people in 
rural areas. 

Other changes, particularly to 
paediatric services, would affect 
children and young people and 
their families.

Race – including both 
ethnicity and nationality 
While the local population is less 
ethnically diverse than England 
as a whole, some areas do have 
larger Black, Asian and minority 
ethnic populations. There is strong 
evidence that people from these 
communities face greater health 
inequalities. 

The largest Asian/Asian British 
population in the Humber area 
is in North Lincolnshire, in the 
neighbourhoods closest to 
Scunthorpe General Hospital. 

11

You can download the Integrated Impact 
Assessment for this public consultation on our 
website or get in touch to request a copy. 

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

2322

Page 28



We have also considered other groups who might be particularly 
affected by these changes or who may find it most difficult to adapt to 
a new way of some services being delivered. This includes people living 
in rural areas, people who don’t speak English as their first language, 
unpaid carers, sex workers, homeless people, and those who misuse 
alcohol and drugs. 

Why is understanding the impacts of proposed  
changes important?
The Impact Assessment we have prepared helped us to evaluate the 
different possible options for change and develop the proposal we are 
consulting on now. It also helped us to plan our consultation, including 
identifying how and where we will seek views to help us further 
understand impacts on different groups and how to mitigate these.

Disability
At least 1 in every 6 people in our 
area has their day to day activities 
impacted by disability.

Some of our wider changes (e.g. 
remote telephone appointments) 
would improve the accessibility for 
many disabled people. 

However, if the proposed 
services are brought together 
and delivered from one hospital 
instead of two, we know that 
disabled people may face 
additional challenges whilst 
accessing care and/or when being 
discharged. We heard through 
our engagement that many 
wheelchair users are negatively 
affected if their wheelchair is not 
transported with them in the 
ambulance.

They may also face longer 
journeys, and some disabilities 
may also make journeys more 
difficult when visiting friends and 
loved ones. 

Carers – including  
parents and guardians 
Up to 10% of our population 
cares for a family member or 
loved one. Carers need to be 
supported to look after their own 
health, which can often suffer due 
to their caring responsibilities. 

Children and young people make 
up around 20% of the local 
population and their parents 
and guardians could also be 
impacted by the proposed 
changes, particularly to paediatric 
(children’s) services. 

The proposed changes could 
impact on carers if the person 
they care for needs to be taken to 
a different hospital for treatment. 
They may find it more difficult to 
visit and provide support. Parents 
and guardians with multiple 
children would be impacted by 
the additional travel time. 

2322

Page 29



How to share your views
Now that you have read about the proposed changes, please let us know what you 
think about them, and any other concerns or considerations you have.

Consultation questionnaire
You can do this by completing the paper questionnaire at the back of this document 
and returning it by FREEPOST (without paying for a stamp), or by visiting:

You can also use this link to find more detailed information that supports this 
consultation such as:

• Our Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC)

• Impact assessments

• Frequently asked questions and answers

• Summary documents

If you do not have internet access, you can contact us to request additional information 
or copies of this  consultation document and the questionnaire by post. We can also 
provide information in a range of formats and languages on request.

12

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

To contact us, use the details below:

Postal address: FREEPOST SS1018, PO Box 530, Swansea, SA1 1ZL

Telephone helpline: 03033 306666

Email: hnyicb.consultation@nhs.net

or scan this QR code

2524

Page 30



Come and talk to us
We are organising public meetings and other events, either online or face-to-face, 
where you can learn more and let us know what you think.

Drop-in and see us at one of our consultation exhibitions
Thursday 12th October 12 - 8pm 
The Courtyard, Boothferry Road, Goole DN14 6AE

Monday 16th October 12 - 8pm 
Grimsby Town Hall, Town Hall Square, Grimsby DN31 1HX

Friday 20th October 12 - 8pm 
The Pods, Ashby Road, Scunthorpe DN16 1AA

You can drop in at any time throughout the day. 

We will be on hand to answer any questions you have about the proposed 
changes and help you to give feedback and have your say. 

Join our online deliberative event
Wednesday 6th December 6.30 - 8pm.  
Visit our website for details on how to take part

We will also be visiting a range of community venues across the area. You can 
find out where we will be and how to take part on our website.

www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

2524

Page 31



Next steps
When the consultation closes
When the consultation closes on 5th January 2024, all the feedback received will be 
analysed by an independent research organisation, Opinion Research Services (ORS) 
www.ors.org.uk.

How will decisions be made?
We will consider the views and evidence provided during this public consultation 
alongside other material information – such as changes to policy, regulations or clinical 
standards and any updated activity or workforce modelling – before making our decision 
on how these services should be delivered in the future.

You can keep up to date with progress on by visiting  
www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

What will happen to my information
NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) has commissioned 
Opinion Research Services (ORS) to help manage aspects of the consultation, including 
analysing and reporting feedback. ORS will produce a full report of the consultation in 
which the views of individual members of the public acting in a personal capacity will 
be anonymous. However, where feedback is from representatives of organisations or 
someone acting in an official capacity, it may be attributed. 

Information will only be used to inform this consultation and any personal information 
that could identify you will be kept by ORS for no more than one year after any 
decisions have been finalised. For further information please see  
www.humberandnorthyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/privacy-policy or www.ors.org.uk/privacy 

13

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital

Scunthorpe 
General Hospital

2726

Page 32



For more information visit
www.betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk

Share your voice

Humber and
North Yorkshire

Integrated Care Board (ICB)

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



This assessment will be refreshed following the Public Consultation, using 

evidence and insight gathered during the consultation process, and form 

part of the documentation required alongside the Decision-Making 

Business Case (DMBC) to support decision-making post-consultation. 

Approval Process 

Developed 

The assessment has been collaboratively developed by the HAS senior 

leadership team, the PMO and C&E team, the Citizen's Panel and finally 

assured by the programme's Clinical leads.

Insight gathered from engagement with staff, patients, public and equality 

groups has been used alongside content from the PCBC, activity data, 

public health data and impact analysis data to inform this assessment.  

This assessment will continually be updated as further information, data 

and insight becomes available.

Reviewed

Next Steps

The impacts, scores and mitigations have been reviewed and assured by 

the programme's clinical leads and the Consultation Institue as part of our 

Quality Assurance review.

The IIA was presented to NHSE as part of the Gateway assurance process 

and formed part of the documentation required for approval to proceed to 

formal public consultation. The information has been reviewed and updated 

following completion of the NHSE review. 

P
age 35



Version Control

Title of Scheme/Project:

Name Organisation Version number Action Date Notes

Beth Norovock / Samantha 

Thompson

NLaG / Humber and North 

Yorkshire ICB
1 Initial creation Nov-22

Positive/Negative impacts pulled from 

PCBC, data modelling, engagement insight 

Samantha Thompson Humber and North Yorkshire ICB 2

update and refinement of criteria, 

removal of scoring in readiness for 

clinical input on 22.05.23

May-23 Included in discussions were LC and BN

Beth Norvock NLaG 3

Updating of activity data modelling and 

refinement of model 

description/summary 

May-23

Samantha Thompson Humber and North Yorkshire ICB 4

Clinical Leads input on scoring, 

impacts and mitigation. Updating of 

impacts within the Equality tab based 

on insight gathered from recent 

equality groups workshops 

Jun-23

Kia Alvani NLaG 5

Removal of references to maternity 

and neonatal care, due to decision 

made at ICB board on 14/06/23

15-Jun-23

Linsay Cunningham
NLaG / Humber and North 

Yorkshire ICB
6

Financial, workforce and activity 

updated following NHSE Gateway 

review

Additional population mapping 

document added

18-Sep-23

P
age 36



Summary

Title of Scheme/Project:

Project Manager:

Clinical Lead:

Programme Lead:

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO):

Finance Lead:

Quality Lead:

Equality Lead:

Business Intelligence Lead:

NHS Humber and North Yorkshire ICB
North Yorkshire Health and Care 

Partnership
Independent Sector

East Riding of Yorkshire Health and 

Care Partnership
York Health and Care Partnership Voluntary Sector

Hull Health and Care Partnership Primary Care

North East Lincolnshire Health and 

Care Partnership
Trust

North Lincolnshire Health and Care 

Partnership
Ambulance Service

Note that scores above zero indicate positive impact and below zero indicate negative impact

Links to each area 

for further detail:

Patient Experience

Patient Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Equality

Workforce

Sustainability

Finance (not on graph)

Engagement (not on graph)

Data Protection (not on graph)

Assessment completed by (name, 

role and organisation):

Date Assessment completed:

Assessment signed off by:

Chief Nurse:

Senior Responsible Officer:

Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board

Integrated Impact Assessment

Name Date

Summary of findings:

Summary of impacts graph

Which areas are impacted:

Humber Acute Service Programme - DPoW as Acute Hospital / SGH Local Emergency hospital for Urgent and 

Emergency Care and Paediatrics

Jennifer Smith

Claire Hansen 

Ivan McConnell

Proposed change:

The business case sets out a proposed new model of care for (hospital-based) urgent and emergency care and paediatric services across Northern 

Lincolnshire – for care that is needed unexpectedly. 

Within the proposed new model of care, the following specialist services would be collocated at a single hospital (DPoW) in Northern Lincolnshire:

•	Trauma Unit 

•	Specialist Medical Inpatients (for longer stays >72 hours)

•	Acute Surgery Inpatients (>24 hours or requiring overnight surgery)

•	Paediatric Inpatients (for longer stays >24 hours)

The proposals recommend that other services, including urgent and emergency care for most patients, should continue to be provided as locally as 

possible and should remain at both hospitals (SGH and DPoW).

The following services would continue to be provided at both hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire and are out of scope for the proposed changes:

•	Urgent and emergency care from a 24/7 Emergency Department, assessment unit and short stay (up to 72 hours)

•	Day case emergency surgery

•	Longer stay inpatient care for elderly and general medical patients

•	Paediatric Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours)

•	Maternity and neonatal care

•	Planned care services, including surgery, diagnostics and outpatient services (some of which may be provided in a community location e.g. GP surgery 

or Community Diagnostic Centre)

Services at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH) would continue as is.

Elizabeth Norvock

Nov-22

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

P
a
ti
e

n
t 
e

x
p
e

ri
e
n

c
e

P
a
ti
e

n
t 
s
a

fe
ty

C
lin

ic
a
l 
e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s

E
q
u
a

lit
y

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e

S
u
s
ta

in
a
b

ili
ty

Page 37



PART 2 Full Assessment

Sections to complete:

Patient Experience

Patient Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Equality

Workforce

Sustainability

Finance

Engagement

Data Protection

iPID

PID

Public Health Data

Commissioning Policy/Threshold

Pre- Consultation Business Case

Clinical guidance e.g. NICE

Reports e.g. patient experience/engagement

Local demographic data

Service user equality monitoring data

Engagement and consultation activity

Information from other agencies e.g. healthwatch, community groups, other stakeholders

Other (please state below)

Attach any supporting files to the 'Documents' tab here:

Link to Documents tab

What evidence has been used to inform this assessment?

Full Quality, Equality, Sustainability and Finance Impact Assessment

The initial assessment has indicated that the proposed change will have an impact within theTrust . Therefore you will need to consider each 

of the areas outlined below and provide a summary of the positive and negative impacts.

Additional information to support completion can be found in the QEIA user guide. Helpful hints can also be seen if you click on the individual 

boxes within each page

P
age 38



PART 1 Initial Assessment

Will the proposal have an impact on: Yes or No
If yes please complete the relevant 

section of the tool:

Tab 

colour:

Patient experience Yes Patient Experience

Patient safety Yes Patient Safety

Clinical Effectiveness Yes Clinical Effectiveness

People with one or more protected characteristics Yes Equality

Staffing within the service area or the wider workforce Yes Workforce

Sustainability Yes Sustainability

Finance

Engagement

Data Protection

If you have answered yes to any 

question in this section:

Impact substantially on duties of Humber and North Yorkshire ICB (and 

partners) 
Yes

Directly affect the services received by patients, carers and families Yes

Be likely to result in political, consumer champion or media interest or has 

already had significant public interest
Yes

Impact those eligible to access the service e.g. by changing referral 

criteria/method of access/where or when service will be delivered
Yes

What is the size of the impact on people (i.e. how many are affected)

Which localities  / populations are most affected

5059 in North Lincolnshire and Goole. 

North Lincolnshire, Goole and surrounding villages

Additional considerations:

Initial Impact Assessment - Screening Tool

This is an initial assessment which will help determine whether a more detailed assessment is required.

Please select yes or no for each row from the drop down options

In addition please consider if the proposal will:

If you have answered yes to any of the above questions, in addition to the specified 

section you must also complete the Finance, Engagement and Data Protection Impact 

sections of the tool:

Full assessment is required

P
age 39



Documents

Document name Embedded document

Pre consultation Business Case Document Library - https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/ 

IIA - Summary Feedback report Combined Feedback Report - Equality Groups 

Engagement Reports Document Library -  https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/ 

Consultation Planning - population mapping
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Consultation-Planning-population-

mapping_v4_updated-July23_UECP-only.pdf

Equality Act 2010 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance

Human Rights Act 1998 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents

ACAS Discrimination and the Equality Act 

2010
https://www.acas.org.uk/discrimination-and-the-law

Please attach any relevant documents in this worksheet. 

To embed a document go to Insert, Object, Create from file, then click browse and select your document from where it is saved. Select the tick box for Display as icon, then select Change icon and you 

can amend the text that will appear below your document.

P
age 40

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
../../../../../../:w:/r/sites/msteams_caee5e/Shared Documents/General/FINAL - PCBC Document Library/2. Engagement - How we have listened and what we have heard/h. Health Inequalities/Combined Feedback - Equality Groups Workshop WORKING COPY.docx?d=wacb7b9f53aa743a0ad1155d2a2f083a0&csf=1&web=1&e=8PkD4l
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Consultation-Planning-population-mapping_v4_updated-July23_UECP-only.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Consultation-Planning-population-mapping_v4_updated-July23_UECP-only.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.acas.org.uk/discrimination-and-the-law


Clinical Effectiveness

Link to guidance

Area
Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may 

have multiple impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I

m
p

a
c

t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e

n
c

e

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

T
o

ta
l 

S
c

o
re

Patient outcomes including health inequalities Clinical effectiveness positive rating 4 5 20

Clinical engagement Clinical effectiveness negative rating -3 3 -9

Development and improvement of pathways *See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Implementation of evidence based practice

Will it impact on variation in care

Parity of esteem

Will it deliver care in the most clinically effective way

Consolidation of paediatric inpatient services onto the acute site will help to improve the quality of care and ensure long-term safety and sustainability of inpatient care 

ensuring everyone across the Humber can access the most highly skilled professionals when they need them

This proposed model of care for paediatric care will improve compliance with constitutional and clinical standards and will meet the national set criteria of activity numbers

Paediatric Care

If Trauma and emergency surgical needs are not identified at Source (e.g. at the scene by ambulance)  and patients 

are taken to LEH (SGH) site this increases the potential of time to treatment standards being breached. 

By concentrating the workforce into a single location for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist services will have more opportunities to develop their skills, 

treating a higher number of complex cases and a wider variety of experiences. 

Through H@H children can get home more quickly or avoid an admission to hospital in the first place

The impact of Hospital @ Home on paediatric ED attendances and admissions was not included in the activity modelling due to the pilot being in a very early stage when 

this work was undertaken. Further modelling will be undertaken as part of the development of the Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC) to quantify the impact of H@H 

on paediatric activity in ED, PAU and inpatients. 

It is not guaranteed that this model will enable all college guidelines, constitutional standards and clinical standards to 

be fully met. 

Extensive work has been undertaken to develop 

clear transfer conditions and close working with 

ambulance providers will continue to ensure 

patients who are likely to need more specialist 

input at taken directly to the Acute Hospital 

wherever possible.

H@H/ Virtual wards could reduce the number of clinical contacts 

People will be able to manage their own conditions better and go to hospital less often for check-ups.

Reduction in emergency admissions as more frail or elderly patients would be seen in a community service e.g. Integrated Frailty service 

This proposed model of care for urgent and emergency services will improve compliance with constitutional and clinical standards and will meet the national set criteria of 

activity numbers 

Ambulance services, GPs, primary care practitioners and consultants will be able to send patients directly through to AAU referring via a single point of access or 

following clinical advice and guidance. Where appropriate this will reduce the delay to handovers and improve flow within the Emergency Department 

Direct booking into UCS, SDEC, AAU and other diversionary pathways will result in better outcomes - patients get to the right place, first time

Patients can get directly to the service the need and by-pass the Emergency Department 

This proposed model of care is built on a digitally delivered support infrastructure, providing remote assessments, monitoring, shared care planning and diagnostics 

access 

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Introduction/development of UCS co-located within an ED department could reduce ED attendance by 35-48% each year 

Better utilisation of theatres and more efficient workflow 

Swifter discharge of patients by working more closely with local authorities and social care 

This proposed model of care for emergency services will reduce the number of handovers within and between services, help to improve the flow of patients through the 

hospital, reduce ambulance handover delays and ensure that patients do not stay in hospital any longer than they have to. 

Fewer cancelled operations and reduction in waiting times for treatment 

An improved SDEC and Acute Assessment will support a 4% reduction in admissions and improve efficiency by enabling teams to assess treat and discharge more 

quickly 

By concentrating the workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist services will have more opportunities to develop their skills, 

treating a higher number of complex cases and a wider variety of experiences. 

Working as multi-disciplinary teams across pathways creates opportunities for different staff (GPs, specialty doctors, allied health professionals, and advanced clinical 

practitioners)  to develop their skills and provide effective and efficient care for our population 

The proposed new pathway of urgent and emergency services will improve performance on waiting time standards 

Reduction in those people who attend and ED 5 times or more per year 

Clinical Effectiveness impact assessment

Other (please state below):

Description of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts
How will this action be 

monitored

How often will this 

action be reviewed
Lead

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based) How will these impacts be monitored

Re-designing pathways for paediatric care will improve the safety, quality and effectiveness of services 

Integrated frailty services and other proposed pathway changes would improve outcomes and support faster recovery for patients 

Competency of staff in dealing with more complex cases improves

The proposed model of care will improve the quality of specialist care and ensure everyone across the Humber can access the most highly skilled professionals when 

they need them 

Work in a joined up way with ambulance services to ensure patients who need hospital care are directed to a specified area in the most appropriate local, acute or 

specialist hospital and/or supported by 'hear and treat' / ' see and treat' - ensuring as far as possible patients get to the right place for their care needs first time 

Potential for delays if insufficient capacity at the acute site to accept transfers to paeds inpatient ward

Potential for delays in transferring children from LEH (SGH), affecting patient flow and clinical effectiveness

Paediatric care

It is not guaranteed that this model will enable college guidelines, constitutional standards and clinical standards to be 

fully met. 

If Trauma and emergency surgical needs are not identified at Source (e.g. at the scene by ambulance) and patients 

are taken to LEH (SGH) site this increases the potential of time to treatment standards being breached. 

Review as part of planning for implementation

Extensive work has been undertaken to develop 

clear transfer conditions and close working with 

ambulance providers will continue to ensure 

patients who are likely to need more specialist 

input at taken directly to the Acute Hospital 

wherever possible.

This proposed model will develop improved advice and guidance so that hospital-based, specialist teams can support parents, carers, GPs and community staff, to aid 

prevention and self-management and reduce the need for children to attend hospital unnecessarily

Potential for delays if insufficient capacity at the acute site to accept transfers

Urgent and emergency care 

Review as part of planning for implementation

Right-sized services

Potential for delays in transferring patients from LEH (SGH), affecting patient flow and clinical effectiveness
Inter-hospital transport working group established 

to develop options for inter-hospital transport 

services which will be right-sized to meet 

anticipated demand.

Right-sized services

Inter-hospital transport working group established 

to develop options for inter-hospital transport 

services which will be right-sized to meet 

anticipated demand.

Page 41

mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts
mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts
mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts
mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts
mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts
mailto:H@H/%20Virtual%20wards%20could%20reduce%20the%20number%20of%20clincial%20contacts


Patient Experience

Link to guidance

Area
Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may 

have multiple impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I

m
p

a
c

t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating*

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e

n
c

e

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

T
o

ta
l 

S
c

o
re

Patient experience Patient experience positive rating 4 4 16

Patient choice Patient experience negative rating -2 2 -4

Patient access *See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Compassionate and personalised care agenda

Responsiveness

Promotion of self care and support for people to stay well

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop 

innovative transport solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

The young person may not know any of the nurses or clincal teams looking after them at the acute 

site (DPoW), this could have a negative impact on their experience 

Children and young people told us that being at home, with their family and toys would help them to 

feel better more quickly, being in a hospital further from home and family is contrary to this.  

Reference: What Matters to You: Children and Young People

18.5% of households in North Lincs do not own a car or have access to a car so would potentially 

find it difficult to visit the young person in hospital at the acute site as alternative travel options 

could be expensive. 

Car ownership rates are lowest in the central wards of Scunthorpe where deprivation is highest - in 

North Lincs 18.5% of households do not own a car (Compared with 26.9% of households in North 

East Lincolnshire)

Harder to arrange child care for other dependents if a child is admitted into a hospital further away 

from home

Continued development of the Hospital at Home model to support 

reduction in admissions and length of stay

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop 

innovative transport solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Children from North Lincs needing to be admitted will have to be transferred from the LEH (SGH) to 

DPOW (acute), this could have a negative impact on their experience and that of their families.

Continued development of the Hospital at Home model to support 

reduction in admissions and length of stay

Patients and service users have told us that availability of parking and cost of parking makes 

travelling to hospital difficult. Consolidating specialst and inpatient care onto one site could reduce 

the availabilty of parking event more.

Source: Travel and Transport Feedback Report

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop 

innovative transport solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Paediatric Care

Poor, expensive and unreliable public transport links between hospital sites would impact 

patients/families and carers being able to visit

Work is ongoing with  local authority partners to review and 

potentially redesign bus routes, exploring the possibility for direct 

transport between the hospital sites for patients, visitors and staff. 

Potential increased stress and anxiety for both patients and family members from North 

Lincolnshire area if there is a need for the patient to be transferred from the LEH (SGH)  to the 

acute site (DPoW),  which is likely to be further away from their home.

modelling indicates this will impact approx 5,059 people per year (including paediatric patients) - 

this is compared to 5,604 people per year in the option where SGH is the Acute site

Extensive work has been undertaken to develop clear transfer 

conditions and close working with ambulance providers will 

continue to ensure patients who are likely to need more specialist 

input at taken directly to the Acute Hospital wherever possible.

Potential delay in recovery and/or if admitted to a hospital further away or in another local authority 

from home with reduced access to relatives to support recovery.

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop 

innovative transport solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Potential negative impact on families/carers living in North Lincs and/or Goole area in being able to 

visit as DPoW is further away 

modelling indicates that 3,714 patients per year would have more than 30mins additional travel in 

this model  - this is compared to 4,635 people per year in the option where SGH is the Acute site

Inter-hospital transport working group established to develop 

options for inter-hospital transport services which will be right-

sized to meet anticipated demand.

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop 

innovative transport solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

NL has high levels of deprivation and areas of low car ownership so families may not be able to 

afford to travel to visit the patient at the acute site (DPoW)

In North Lincs 18.5% of households do not own a car, and 20% of neighbourhoods are in the most 

income deprived quintile in England (Compared with 26.9% of households do not have a car and 

40% of neighbourhoods are in the most income deprived quintile in North East Lincolnshire)

Urgent and Emergency Care

Paediatric Care

Hospital at Home improves continuity of carer as the needs of the child and family are known 

Hospital at Home improves mental and emotional wellbeing for children and their families as they feel more comfortable and at ease in their own environment 

How will this action be 

monitored

More services provided within the patients home (e.g. virtual wards/hospital@home/pathway changes) would allow patients to be supported at home and recover 

faster.

Developing centres of excellence for acute medical specialties will also build confidence in patients, many of whom have told us through our engagement that they 

would prefer to be treated where the specialists are and have full specialist team wrapped around them 

(Reference: Accident and Emergency - Feedback Report / Healthwatch ED Enter and View - Feedback Report / What Matters to You -Feedback Report).

Hospital at Home - Could support a reduction of paediatric inpatients by enabling children to get home more quickly or avoid admission to hospital in the first place, 

improving experiences and outcomes for patients and their families. 

It would be easier for family, friends and loved ones to provide support to the patient if more care was provided at the patient's home.

The proposed model of care retains local paediatric services at each of the three existing sites and enables children to be seen and treated initially at their local 

hospital in the Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU) 

Patient experience impact assessment

Other (please state below):

Potential delays for patients in transferring from LEH (SGH) site to the acute site (DPoW) could 

negatively impact patient experience.

The proposed model of care retains local urgent and emergency care services at each of the three existing sites and enables the NHS across the Humber to continue 

to operate three ED in the three main localities; Hull, Grimsby and Scunthorpe 

Integrated Acute Assessment model to improve flow through the hospital will provide a better experience for patient (quicker diagnosis and treatment and fewer 

handoffs) 

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based) How will these impacts be monitored

Urgent and Emergency Care

How often will this 

action be reviewed
LeadDescription of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts

The proposed model of care would reduce waiting times for patients in the Emergency Department (ED) 

A UCS co-located within an ED woud improve patient experience as it is easier to navigate and signpost to the most appropriate service (right place, first time)  - public 

feedback has shown local people are confused about where to go for what care

(Reference: Accident and Emergency - Feedback Report / Healthwatch ED Enter and View - Feedback Report / What Matters to You -Feedback Report).

The development of an AAU and SDEC would ensure patients can get directly to the service they need and by-pass the Emergency Department 

Better integration of urgent and emergency care across all health and social partners (including mental health)  would enable patients to be treated and discharged 

more quickly. 

Improvements to NHS 111 and implementation of ‘any-to-any’ booking could benefit patients as they would get directed to the service they need and by-pass the 

Emergency Department. 

Improved continuity of care and patient experience 

Services will be easier to navigate for the public, helping to reduce inequalities and barriers to access

People will be able to manage their own conditions better and go to hospital less often for check-ups. 

A 24/7 PAU will enable children to be seen, treated and discharged more quickly

A 24/7 PAU will reduce hospital admissions. CYP told us that they don't like staying in hospital. 

(Source: What Matters to You: Children and Young People)

Improved use of digital support remote monitoring, more responsive services (e.g. patient-initiated follow-up) , and reduce the overall need for patients to travel to 

hospital 

A 24/7 PAU provides better care and a better experience for patients than a time limited PAU 

Integrated frailty services and other proposed pathway changes would improve outcomes and support faster recovery for patients 

Improved discharge prcoessess and investing in social care workforce will help to reduce the length of stay for particularly frail or elderly patients

Page 42



Patient Safety

Link to guidance

Area
Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may 

have multiple impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I

m
p

a
c

t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e

n
c

e

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

T
o

ta
l 

S
c

o
re

Preventable Harm Patient safety positive rating 4 4 16

Robustness of systems and processes Patient safety negative rating -1 2 -2

Environment *See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Safeguarding

2

Urgent and Emergency Care

Time of arrival to review or procedure by service decsion makers 

Re-designing pathways for paediatric care will improve the safety, quality and effectiveness of services

Description of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts

Due to the reduction in admissions to ED, emergency services will be less pressured and able to treat emergency patients more quickly, minimising the risk of 

patients conditions deteriorating resulting in better outcomes and safer care 

Operating an integrated AAU reduces handoffs between departments, reducing the risk to patients and speeding up assessment and treatment pathways. 

Work in a joined up way with ambulance services to ensure patients who need hospital care are directed to a specififed area in the most appropriate local, acute 

or specialist hospital and/or supported by 'hear and treat' / ' see and treat' - ensuring as far as possible patients get to the right place for their care needs first 

time

Children can have shorter hospital stays or avoid them all together and be investigated and treated at home instead

Ambulance handover data

Use of other services by Amb providers

Prevelance of ambulatory care and in attendance due to long term conditioning 

LoS &  HAI data 

Performance against 7 day service standards 

Incidents 

Quality indicators 

Mortality / Patient feedback 

Standards of care - SEDIT data

KPI and Emergency care standards 

Patient safety impact assessment

Other (please state below):

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based) How will these impacts be monitored

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Improved outcomes for patients through reduced length of stay (reduced Hospital Acquired Infection / deconditioning etc)

Consolidating specialist acute services improves the quality of specialist care and ensures everyone across the Humber can access the most highly skilled 

professionals when they need them. 

Compentency of staff in dealing with more complex cases improves

Patients will receive better quality of care as they will be seen quicker in the right place, first time (supported by a 35-48% reduction in ED attendances via the 

UCS)

This proposed model provides 7 day specialty services (not currently available in all services)

By concentrating the workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist services will have more opportunities to develop their 

skills by treating a higher number of complex cases, and therefore able to provide high quality, safe care for patients.  

Staff feedback 

Recritment & Retention 

Right-sized services

Inreach 

Increased risk that North Lincs parents may discharge the patients themselves before they are clincially 

ready to be discharged to get home quicker if transferred to the acute site, especially if they have other 

dependants at home. 

Potential risk to CYP patients needing to be transferred from the LEH (SGH) to the acute (DPoW) or 

specialist hospital (HRI) due to travel time/distance if any delays are incurred (e.g. lack of staff/ambulances)  - 

their condition could deteriorate whilst waiting for the transfer or on route. 

Paediatric Care

Potential risk if no beds available at the acute/specialist hospital resulting in delays and the patient not 

receiving a quick responsive service for more serious or life-threatening emergencies in the right place with 

the right skilled staff and facilities available. 

pathways of care /support of clinical teams

Development of rotational posts and new career 

pathways to ensure strong pipeline of new staff 

coming through 

No beds available at the acute/specialist hospital resulting in the patient not receiving a quick responsive 

service for more serious or life-threatening emergencies in the right place with the right skilled staff and 

facilities available. 

Minor increased demand on the ambulance service resulting fewer ambulances available to attend high 

priority 999 calls

Modelling tells us this is approximately 0.52 additional Ambulance required /88 additional hours a week

Invest in additional ambulance crews in line with 

ORH modelling (data to be refreshed at DMBC 

stage)

Safety netting advice 
People being supported to manage their own condition are not medically trained and may miss warning signs 

/ play it down, putting their health at risk and resutling in a more serious admission. 

Ambulance service brings the patient to the incorrect site.

Transfer to clinical teams 

Right-sized services

Initial management & transfers 

Development of robust ambulance protocols

Internal transport 

Escalation policies /pathway

Efficiency flows 

Programme of work with EMAS

Number of transfer delays 

Any clinical incidents  due 

to delay in treatment 

Monthly COO

Provide better support for people and their families to avoid crisis situations through self-care and prevention 

24/7 PAU will continue to improve safety for paediatric patients because a paediatrician would be available 24/7. 

Children and young people will continue to be assessed at their local hospital, treated and discharged within 24 hours in the Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU). 

Consolidating paediatric inpatient services onto the Acute site enables CYP with more complex needs to access the specialist care they need from well-

supported, experienced teams of highly skilled professionals where the needs of the child and their family are known 

Paediatric Care 

How will this action be 

monitored

How often will this 

action be reviewed
Lead

Potential risk to patients needing to be transferred from the LEH (SGH) to the acute (DPoW) or specialist 

hospital (HRI) due to travel time/distance if any delays are incurred (e.g. lack of staff/ambulances)  - their 

condition could deteriorate whilst waiting for the transfer or on route. 

Activity Numbers weekly Speciality leads 

Number Ambulance delays Daily by Ops team COO

Number of Acute 

admissions diagnosed at 

LEH & self discharge from 

acute site 

Daily by Ops team COO

This proposed model of care may deter clinicians and nurses  living near the LEH (SGH) from remaining 

within the Trust and look for alternative employment, putting the sustainability of services at risk. 

Daily by Ops team Ambulance Providers 

Numbers Presenting at 

wrong site 
Daily by Ops team ED Clinical leads 

Increased risk that North Lincs patients may discharge themselves before they are clinically ready to be 

discharged to get home quicker if transferred to the acute site and away from family. 

Safe transfer & inreach 

Reassurance /Assurance to patients 

general repuation 

Need to be able  to manage post acute care at 

LEH site 

Page 43



Equality

Link to guidance

Area*
*see Equality guidance, Human Rights Act guidance and Population Profile 

tabs for further information.
Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may have multiple 

impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 
Im

p
a

c
t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I
m

p
a

c
t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating

C
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

T
o

ta
l 
S

c
o

re

Socio-economic deprivation positive rating 3 4 12

Socio-economic deprivation negative rating -3 3 -9

Age positive rating 3 4 12

Age negative rating -2 4 -8

Disability positive rating 4 4 16

Disability negative rating -3 4 -12

Pregnancy and maternity positive rating 3 4 12

Pregnancy and maternity negative rating -2 3 -6

Ethnicity positive rating 4 4 16

Ethnicity negative rating -2 3 -6

Religion or belief positive rating 4 3 12

Religion or belief negative rating -2 3 -6

Sex positive rating 2 4 8

Sex negative rating 0 0 0

Sexual orientation positive rating 3 4 12

Sexual orientation negative rating -2 3 -6

Marital status positive rating 0 0 0

Marital status negative rating 0 0 0

Gender reassignment positive rating 3 4 12

Gender reassignment negative rating -2 3 -6

Carers positive rating 4 5 20

Carers negative rating -3 4 -12

Any other groups positive rating 4 4 16

Any other groups negative rating -2 3 -6

*See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

People with LD – co-located UCS, easy access to local services. Easier to navigate system and find where they need to be 

Religion or Belief

Sex

Sexual Orientation

Gender Reassignment 

Carers

Low-income families from North Lincs would find it more difficult to afford the additional travel. 

(In North Lincs 13.3% of the population are classed as being income deprived and 1 in 5 children in North Lincs are 

classed as living in poverty .)

(Source: Fingertips Data) 

Looking only at maternity and paediatric activity only, both site options (DPoW as the Acute site or SGH as the Acute 

site) have a disproportionate impact on people living in the most deprived communities, compared with the overall 

spread of deprivation across the region. This could be accounted for when considering the age profile of deprivation 

across our region - notably that those living in the most deprived communities are more likely to be younger.

Age

Consolidation of paediatric inpatient services would have an impact on people below the age of 18 from North Lincs 

Activty modelling tells us that this is approximately 935 paediatric patients per year (compared with 990 in the scenario 

where these services are consolidated at Scunthorpe)

Care closer to home will reduce the financial strain on carers, particularly unpaid carers

More care closer to home – reduces overall need for carers to travel

Approximately 3.1% of the population in North Lincs provides 50+ hours of unpaid care per week

Virtual wards will allow for more accessible care – reduces overall need to travel 

Asylum Seekers - Have told us that they have a lack of knowledge and/or accessible information about what services do exist, what they may be eligible for and what rights they have to access healthcare. 

Standardising pathways across the Humber will make it easier for people from BAME backgrounds, and people where English is not their first language to navigate the system .

North Lincs Ethnicity: Asian/Asian British - 3.3%, Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Group - 1.1%, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - 0.5%. White 94.3%

North Lincs Language: Cannot speak English well - 1.5%, cannot speak English -0.2%  

Migrant Indicator: 0.5% of people living in NL were living at an address outside the UK one year ago

(Source: Census Data 2021)

Socio-economic background 

Some people in North Lincs and Goole would have to travel further to access care. The proposals increase travel times 

for some patients, service-users, families and staff members. 

NL has high levels of deprivation and areas of low car ownership so families may not be able to afford to travel to visit 

the patient at the acute site (DPoW)

In North Lincs 18.5% of households do not own a car, and 20% of neighbourhoods are in the most income deprived 

quintile in England (Compared with 26.9% of households do not have a car and 40% of neighbourhoods are in the 

most income deprived quintile in North East Lincolnshire)

Equality impact assessment

Description of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts

How will this action be monitored
How often will this action be 

reviewed
Lead

Socio-economic deprivation

Age

Disability

Pregnancy and maternity

Ethnicity

Compliance with Human Rights Act

Socio-economic background

Improved pathways to provide more holistic care, that is more responsive and better at supporting people with multiple co-morbidities to stay well.

Religion or belief

Sex

Marital status

Sexual orientation

Reducing waiting times for care and prioritising those most in need 

Improving opportunities for local people to access well-paid jobs and rewarding career pathways (supporting workforce strategy will develop local workforce of the future in partnership with local education 

partners, industry etc.).

Carers

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based)

Any other groups

Gender reassignment

Disability 

How will these impacts be monitored

PCG told us that it was really important that there was well trained staff treating their children. The proposed model supports improved workforce for paeds, specialists in one place. 

(Reference: What Matters to You: Parents, Carers and Guardians)

Freeing up staff to improve outreach provision and support (e.g. outreach clinics, virtual wards, hospital @ home) 

Virtual wards will allow for more accessible care – reduces overall need to travel 

Ethnicity 

Having a co-located UCS on-site would make it easier for people from BAME backgrounds to access to local services. 

CYP said that it was really important to them that could be in a place that they feel safe (toys/home comforts)  H@H will deliver this. 

(Reference: What Matters to You: Children and Young People)

More care closer to home – reduces overall need to travel 

19% of the population in North Lincs are disabled - compared with 20% in North East Lincolnshire

Improved frailty services.

Enhanced care in care homes and OOH enablers (falls prevention) 

Improved experience for CYP due to better joined-up services (H@H, properly staffed PAU, better quality of care) 

When considering the travel impact as a whole, the proposed model (where DPoW is the acute hospital) does not have a disproportionate impact on people living in the most deprived quintile (IMD 1 and 2) - 

the travel time impact broadly follows the aggregate pattern of deprivation across Northern Lincs

Age

We would like to engage with more members of the LGBTQ+ community as part of the consultation to help provide assurance 

that this feedback is reflective of the wider experiences of the LGBTQ+ community. 

We would like to engage with more members of the LGBTQ+ community as part of the consultation to help provide assurance 

that this feedback is reflective of the wider experiences of the LGBTQ+ community. 

Continued investment in the two major towns (Grimsby and Scunthorpe)  – keeping money in the local economy.

Work is ongoing with  local authority partners to review and potentially redesign bus 

routes, exploring the possibility for direct transport between the hospital sites for 

patients, visitors and staff. 

Work is ongoing with  local authority partners to review and potentially redesign bus 

routes, exploring the possibility for direct transport between the hospital sites for 

patients, visitors and staff. 

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Improve opportunities for staff training (unconscious bias/awareness/equality/disability etc) – Patients/Members of the public told us they want this through our engagement.

Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report

Standardising pathways across the Humber – same type of care will make it easier for people with disabilities to navigate 

Any other Groups 

Of the LGBTQ+ people we have engaged with so far nobody has identified any barriers to accessing care based on their sexual orientation - in relation to the proposals

Of the LGBTQ+ people we have engaged with so far nobody has identified any barriers to accessing care based on their gender identity - in relation to the proposals

Standardising pathways across the Humber will make it easier for people from BAME backgrounds, and people where English is not their first language to navigate the system . 

Ethnicity: Asian - 3.3%, Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Group - 0.5%, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - 1.1% Other Ethnic Groups -0.8%.

Language: Cannot speak English well - 0.8%, cannot speak English -0.1%                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Improve opportunities for staff training (unconscious bias/awareness/equality/disability etc)  – Patients/Members of the public told us they want this through our engagement.

Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report

Sex Workers - The proposed model of care would reduce waiting times for patients in ED. Sex workers in North East Lincs told us during our engagement with them that waiting times are one of the main 

barierrs when accessing care as they feel judged in waiting rooms, so if waiting for any length of time will get up and leave. This proposed model could reduce this barrier for this group of people. 

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Sex Workers - This proposed model of care allows for increased opportunities for improved joined up working with primary, secondary and community providers and allow sex workers to be looked after by 

people they trust and who support them on a day-to-day basis

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Page 44



Equality

Religion or Belief 

Sex

Some carers in North Lincs would have to travel further so that the people/person they look after could access care 

and/or to visit the person they care for should they be admitted to the acute site (DPoW)

Approximately 3.1% of the population in North Lincs provides 50+ hours of unpaid care per week, broadly similar to 

North East LIncolnshire (3.2%)

Gender reassignment

Carers

Of the LGBTQ+ people we have engaged with so far nobody has identified any barriers to accessing care based on 

their gender reassignment. 

Of the LGBTQ+ people we have engaged with so far nobody has identified any barriers to accessing care based on 

their gender reassignment. 

We would like to engage with more members of the LGBTQ+ community as part of 

the consultation to help provide assurance that this feedback is reflective of the 

wider experiences of the LGBTQ+ community. 

Sex Workers - We engaged with sex workers in North East Lincs. A key barrier for them when trying to access services 

is ease of access, for example if the appointment is too diccicult to get too, they wont attend. By consolidating 

specialst/maternity services onto one site further away from where they live could create further health inequalites for 

this group as they will find getting to an appointment too difficult so wont go and get the medical care/treatment they 

need. 

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Sex Workers - Many sex workers won’t get in an ambulance as they feel it resembles a police car and they are going 

to be judged by people in uniform. If these women are needing to be transferred to from the LEH (DPoW) to the Acute 

site (SGH) this could have a negative impact on them and create further barriers and health inequalties. 

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

We would like to engage with more members of the LGBTQ+ community as part of 

the consultation to help provide assurance that this feedback is reflective of the 

wider experiences of the LGBTQ+ community. 

Asylum Seekers -  Many asylum seekers don’t have the right paperwork to access means-tested benefits. Many don't 

drive or have access to a car. By consolidating services onto the acute site (DPoW) could create further barrier for 

access and health inequalties for this group as they are unable to travel to the appropriate site and cannot afford public 

transport.

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Low income carers / unpaid carers from North Lincs would find it more difficult to afford the additional travel. 

(In North Lincs there are approximately 19,000 carers.

13.3% of the population are classed as being income deprived and 1 in 5 children in North Lincs are classed as living 

in poverty)

(Source: Census Data 2021)

Any other Groups

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Disabled people in North Lincolnshire and Goole could face longer journeys to visit relatives or loved ones in hosptial, if 

they are admitted for care at DPoW

19% of the population in North Lincs are disabled - compared with 20% in North East Lincolnshire

Consolidation of specialist medical inpatient services (Cardiology, Respiratory and Gastroenterology) is likely to have a 

higher number of impacted patients age 65+

Activity modelling tells us that this is approximately 1,069 patients per year (compared with 1,584 in the scenario 

where these services are consolidated at Scunthorpe)

Ethnicity 

Feedback from the Muslim community: Muslim women are less likely to drive or have access to a car, making it more 

difficult if they have an ill child admitted as an inpatient at DPoW (Acute)

Feedback from Muslim community: women often chaperoned by male member the family, which could be more 

difficult if care was further away

Feedback with the BAME and Eastern European community have told us that translation services are currently a 

barrier - it is unclear whether the proposed model would improve this or not

In North Lincs men have a shorter life expectancy than women. 

(England Average - Men = 78.7 years, Women = 82.8 years)

Men = 78.9 years

Women = 83.3 years 

(Source: Census Data 2021 - Life expectancy at birth)

Sexual Orientation 

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

There is strong evidence that people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds face greater health 

inequalities. This was highlighted through the COVID-19 pandemic, which had a disproportionate impact on BAME 

populations in terms of incidence of disease and mortality. 

The neighbourhoods with the largest concentration of Asian/Asian British Population in the Humber are all in North 

Lincolnshire, in the areas close to Scunthorpe Hospital - people living in these communities could be impacted if they 

or a family member is admitted to DPoW. 

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Ongoing engagement to increase understanding of potential impacts on BAME (in 

particular Asian/Asian British) communities and develop mitigations

Ongoing engagement to increase understanding of potential impacts on Muslim 

communities and develop mitigations

Disability 

Asylum Seekers -  Fear often prevents people from accessing services and/or asking for help – particularly, fear that 

doing so might impact on asylum status or application process. Lack of knowledge and/or accessible information about 

what services do exist and where they are may only compound that fear and inhibit them from accessing services at all. 

(Source: Equality Groups - Combined Feedback Report)

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Disabled people from North Lincs have further to travel and may experience difficulties parking 

(feedback has told us that there is a lack of accessible parking on sites - Reference: Combined Equalities Group 

Feedback Report / Transport Survey - Feedback Report) 

Disabled people could face more barriers being discharged from hospital if they are admitted to DPoW when this is not 

their local hospital

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Multi-agency transport working group established to develop innovative transport 

solutions for families, carers and loved ones.

Transport working group to include estates team members to explore potential 

options to improve car parking

Disabled people have told us that wheelchairs are not able to travel with patients  and that they have no independence 

when they get to the hospital site 

Page 45



Workforce

Link to guidance

Area
Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may 

have multiple impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I

m
p

a
c

t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e

n
c

e

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

T
o

ta
l 

S
c

o
re

Effective prioritisation and management of workload Workforce positive rating 4 4 16

Staff experience as a result of workforce changes Workforce negative rating -3 2 -6

Contractual obligations *See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Workforce diversity

Workplace

Sustainability of service due to workforce issues

Anchor institues (homegrown furture workforce fom local population working closesly with schools, colleges & Universities)

Desirable staff rotas that are to improve recruitment 

Workforce impact assessment

Other (please state below):

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based) How will these impacts be monitored

By concentrating the workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist services will have more opportunities to develop 

their skills by treating a higher number of complex cases and a wider variety of experiences.

They will be able to work in larger teams, which improves resilience and enables us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to 

current and future workforce. This will create more sustainable services in the longer term 

The proposed model of care has embraced the concept of joint appointments where retiring staff from paediatrics and children's services could return to 

provide education support, advice and guidance. 

National Audits 

Local KPI's

Vacancy rate and recruitment/retention data

KPI

Outcomes on standards of Care 

National speciality Audits SEDIT/SAMIT

Staff Surveys /Feedback 

Working as multi-disciplinary teams across pathways creates opportunities for different staff (GPs, specialty doctors, allied health professionals, and 

advanced clinical practitioners ) to develop their skills and provide effective and efficient care for our population

A co-located UCS enables us to develop a staffing model that facilitates staff in a wide variety of roles to work across urgent and emergency care 

pathways and develop their skills and expertise in urgent care and emergency medicine 

Centre of excellence can attract / retain more specialist workforce

Advanced Clinical Practitioners and Nursing establishments can be complemented by Physician Associates to deliver non-complex clinical interventions 

Vacancy rate and recruitment/retention data

Staff Surveys /Feedback 

On average it takes three years to train a nurse and at least 13 years to train a consultant, so targeted action to address the shortages is critical to 

ensuring the sustainability of services over the long term.

First Contact Practitioners would rotate between the UCS and GP Practice where they can directly support patients with urgent care needs, thereby 

avoiding unnecessary referrals into UCS. 

% local recruitment & Inhouse intake 

R & D Statistics 

Staff maintain skills and meet national targets 

Competency of staff in dealing with more complex cases improves

Acute site  will attract more consultants/improve recruitment and improve staff vancanies 

Lead

The proposed pathway re-design will ensure staff working in paediatric services have the opportunities they need to keep their skills up to date and have 

the confidence to handle more complex cases when they arise. 

Opportunities for new roles and ways of working across paediatrics, including; rotational induction/preceptorship programmes, dedicated apprenticeship 

programmes, retire and return mentorship/educational support, young person's nurse specialist roles 

Description of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts
How will this action be 

monitored

How often will this 

action be reviewed

Paediatric Care 

The proposed staffing model for paediatrics has been developed considering the requirements set out in the National Quality Board on Safe Staffing  and 

Facing the Future standards to deliver their services 

Advanced Clinicial Practictioners (Physiotherapists, Paramedics and Registered Nurses)  with the ability to prescribe will provide high level clinical input 

to support patients attending the UCS wuth minor illness or injury introdcuing the role of Urgent Care Practictioners

Nursing staff - co-located UCS enables the nursing leadership and nursing workforce to be shared acorss UCS and the ED to build networks, resilience 

and maintain skills 

Implementing the proposed model of care represents a reduction of approximately 130 WTE posts within the hospitals against the ‘do nothing’ (BAU) 

position.  This would help to address the significant vacancies across the system and also support reduction in agency and locum spend.

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Staff will be able to work in larger teams, which improves resilience and enables us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to 

current and future workforce. Improved retention and recruitment of staff ensures the sustainability of services over the long term.  

Consolidation will enable more effective deployment of our skilled and specialist staff by concentrating teams in one location rather than spreading them 

across multiple units.

Improved workforce models (MDT/Training) and new models of care within urgent care will reduce demand on current staff

Reduction compared to the BAU model 

More resilient services, less likely to be impacted by key staff leaving

Consolidating longer-stay medical specialty inpatient beds on the Acute Hospital site will enable nursing teams to develop a higher level of expertise in 

particular specialties, building confidence and skills in teams who are working in a more specialist way.  

Nursing teams will largely be site-based but with career development opportunities available across the system

Better utilisation of deployment of the workforce /rotational posts Trainee Feedback

Reduce workforce pressures / Improves efficiency / productivity Trainee Feedback

Increasing apprenticeship opportunities (developing new routes into nursing, prgression & frameworks)

Increase Research and Development (R&D) jobs and capacity within our growing medi-health sector through new partnerships

Staff appraisals and training compliance 

Staff Surveys /Feedback 

%of local residents taking jobs 

Training posts

% of posts taken by AHP's vs Dr's

% of posts taken by AHP's vs Dr's as non-medical prescribers in the UCS & community 

% of practitioners able to work

Training opportunities /programmes 

Still requires multiple rotas for some specialties, paediatrics/neonatal and ED

Urgent and Emergency Care 

provide continuation of training places across both the Acute Hospital and the Local Emergency Hospital and foster a ‘one-team’ culture

Reduction in duplicated speciality rotas

Speciality medical consolidation allows targeted workforce and improved training and improves the training offer for staff  

Decreases some reliance on agency and locum workforce

Allows for increased staff training to support understanding and holistic management of the whole person (e.g. Mental health) 

Staff feedback/vacancy rate 

Vacancy rates in NLaG could continue to rise if recruitment/retention initiatives aren't successful 

making it unsustainable to maintain services. 

Work is ongoing with  local authority partners to 

review and potentially redesign bus routes, 

exploring the possibility for direct transport 

between the hospital sites for patients, visitors 

and staff. 

Can the staff working at the LEH sufficiently maintain skills and experience

Development of rotational posts and new career 

pathways to ensure strong pipeline of new staff 

coming through 

In order to improve the sustainability of our services and implement more robust models of care, it will be important to ensure the career opportunities we 

offer are rewarding so that we can retain existing skills within the system and attract new entrants into the sector. 

Staff will be able to work in larger teams, which improves resilience and enables us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to 

current and future workforce. Improved retention and recruitment of staff ensures the sustainability of services over the long term.  

Potential for reduced career opportunities/progresion for specialist, paediatric workforce at the LEH 

and/or perception of reduced opportunities.This could make the LEH a less attractive place to work, 

and make recruitment difficult.   

Development of rotational posts and new career 

pathways to ensure strong pipeline of new staff 

coming through 

Potential for dissatisfaction/low morale amongst staff at the LEH whose site base may change. These 

existing staff members may choose an alternative role or organisation rather than travel to the acute 

site, this could potentially have a negative impact on staff vacancy rates

Development of rotational posts and new career 

pathways to ensure strong pipeline of new staff 

coming through 

Additional travel and financial impact for staff rotating between sites, staff with young families would 

be particularly impacted  

Additional workforce would be needed to support the additional transfers
Development of transport solutions for inter-

hosptial transfers

Paediatric Care 

Trainee Feedback

Recruitment & Retention 

Reduction in speciality nurse roles /% of retention 

Staff appraisels and training compliance /reductions in incident reporting 

recruitment & retention 

Vacancy rate and recruitment/retention data

Vacancy rate and recruitment/retention data

Agency and locum spend

 recruitment/retention data

Alternative workforce / Recruitment & Retention 

HEE rotations PGME data 

Number of training posts /Trainee feedback

Transport working group to include estates team 

members to explore potential options to improve 

car parking

Staff have told us that poor public transport links make it difficult for them when travelling to work, and 

public transport between hospital sites is poor. This could have a negative impact on staff who rely on 

public transport if required to work at alternative sites as a result of the changes proposed within this 

model of care. 

(Source: Travel and Transport Feedback Report)

Work is ongoing with  local authority partners to 

review and potentially redesign bus routes, 

exploring the possibility for direct transport 

between the hospital sites for patients, visitors 

and staff. 

Staff have told us that parking and lack of spaces makes travelling to work difficult for them, 

consolidating some staff/services onto one site could reduce the availabilty of parking event more. 

(Source: Travel and Transport Feedback Report)

Page 46



Sustainability

Link to guidance

Area*

*See Sustainability guidance tab for more information

Note - you can select more than one box per area if a change may 

have multiple impacts e.g. both positive and negative

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 
Im

p
a

c
t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I
m

p
a

c
t

Opportunity/Consequence Rating

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e

n
c

e

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

T
o

ta
l 
S

c
o

re

Sustainability Sustainability positive rating 3 4 12

CO2 Reduction Sustainability negative rating -2 2 -4

Climate Change Adaptation *See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Rural Proofing

Urgent and emergency care

Our current buildings are not flexible and cannot easily by adapted to deliver new models of care. 

Description of negative impacts Mitigating actions of negative impacts
How will this action be 

monitored

How often will this 

action be reviewed
Lead

Sustainability impact assessment

Description of positive impacts (must include rationale and be evidence based) How will these impacts be monitored

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Design and build ‘smart buildings’ promoting increased environmental sustainability and efficiency. This will also support the delivery of the ICS's Green Plan.  

Improves financial sustainability by reducing the cost of using agency and locum staff to fill vacancies

(In 2022/23 - HUTH spent £18million and NLaG spent £37.7 million) 

Put in place virtual wards to achieve a sustainable shift from hospital to home-based care when safe to do so

Improved use of digital to support remote monitoring, more responsive and efficient services will help to reduce the overall need for patients to travel to hospital. 

Digital Infrastrature - systems that interact with each other /providing remote assessments,monitoring, shared care planning and diagnostics access

Boost economic and productivity growth across the Humber’s thriving industries, leveraging the benefits of Freeport status and working with a range of partners to 

support investment in the region.

Our investment plans are backed by a strong “Anchor Network” across the region and integral to the delivery of regional regeneration strategies, Local Authority 

Master Plans and Town Deals. Planning has been undertaken collaboratively with Local Authorities and wider partners (Universities, LEPs), adopting a “One Public 

Estate” approach, to ensure maximum return on investment, leveraging wider economic benefits through increased private sector investment in allied industries.

Paediatric Care

Put in place virtual wards to achieve a sustainable shift from hospital to home-based care when safe to do so

Raise the Humber’s prominence as the UK’s Energy Estuary within the emerging green energy sector and generate solutions to help meet the NHS Zero Carbon 

goals

Built on a digitally delivered support infrastructure, providing remote assessments, monitoring, shared care planning and diagnostics access. 

Paediatric Care

Page 47



Finance

Financial Impact Assessment - Financial Impact Assessments will be reviewed as part of planning for implementation

Current spend (£ / £k / £million)

Implementation date

No savings or minimal anticipated

Cash-releasing saving or potential for improved productivity 

Both cash savings and improved productivity is expected

Part year effect:

Full year effect:

Part year effect:

Full year effect:

Part year effect:

Full year effect:

Level of confidence in achieving savings 

- high/medium/low

Potential Savings (gross)
If you have answered 'no savings' above you 

do not need to complete this question

Potential Investment Needed (gross)

Net effect

Type of savings

P
age 48



Engagement

*See Impact Matrix tab for guidance

Area
Note - you can select more than one box per area if 

a change may have multiple impacts e.g. both 

positive and negative

(Click on box to see prompts)

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 I
m

p
a

c
t

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 I

m
p

a
c

t

Good practice

Strategy

Reputation

Patients / Carers

Staff

General public

Protected/other vulnerable groups

Relationships

Examples
NB: examples need to be assessed 

individually and are subject to local 

circumstances

Significant positive benefits for the general public as the quality of care they will receive will be much better through this 

proposed model of care, however, some may need to travel further to access it. (See patient experience tab)

Significant positive benefits for people with protected characteristcs/vulnerable as the proposed changes increase 

equity in access across the region, meaning the system is also easier to navigate, however, some may need to travel 

further to access care. (See patient experience tab and Equalities tab)

The programme has been clinically led from the start,with local authorities, partners and providers all being involved at 

every stage. 

Engagement Assessment

Description of impact

(add hyperlink or add copy of document in documents tab)

We will be able to meet clinical and constitutional standards (see clinical effectiveness tab)

The proposal has been designed and developed in line with current regional and national strategies. 

Whilst there are many positives to be gained from the proposed model of care, there is a chance that stakeholders may 

see the proposed change as services being taken away from which could have a negative impact on the reputation of 

the local NHS.

Significant positive benefits for patients/carers as the quality of care they will receive will be much better through this 

proposed model of care, however, some may need to travel further to access it. (See patient experience tab)

Significant positive benefits for staff through this proposed model of care, for example, increased career and training 

opportunities, rotational posts and opportunities to work in larger teams,  however, some may need to travel further to 

get to work. (See workforce tab)

Level of Engagement / Consultation
Level of engagement required

Please agree level of engagement activity required with your local communications and engagement lead

No engagement

• A small scale change or new service

• Affecting small numbers and/or having low impact

• There is good evidence that the change will improve or 

enhance service provision

• No obvious impact on patient experience

• No requirement for patient information

• Stakeholders have little or no influence over the change

• No obvious impact on organisational reputation

• Protected groups are not disproportionally affected 

   by the change

• Low or no resistance from other key stakeholders 

Moving a service out of the hospital 

into multiple community settings

Level 1

Information giving

• A small scale change or a new service

• Affecting small numbers and/or having low impact

• There is good evidence that the change will improve or 

enhance service provision

• Often requires an information-giving exercise (2-4 weeks)

• May require some low level engagement

The merger of services where there 

is either an improvement or no 

change to the services being offered 

service users

Extending the hours of a service

Level 3

Significant change

• A significant service change

• Affecting large numbers of people and/or having a significant impact on patient experience

• A significant change from the way services are currently provided

• Potentially controversial with local people or key stakeholders

• A service closure

• Limited information about the impact of the change

• Requires a significant engagement (3 months)

A significant change to the way a 

service operates (such as a referral 

criteria or location)

Level 2 

Minor change

• A small/medium scale change or a new service

• Affecting low numbers of people

• Often requires a small engagement (4-6 weeks)

Changing or reducing the hours of a 

service

Any additional comments

The service review has been clinically-led and, as a result, has included consideration of a wide range of potential models of care put forward by clinical teams. The programme has looked at best practice around the UK and beyond and 

used evidence and data to drive the development of potential models of care. Whilst investment in our buildings is a critical enabler of change, the programme has prioritised the development of effective models of care and developed 

estates plans around the clinical models rather than the other way around. Work has been undertaken in partnership with colleagues across the health and care system to ensure we are designing solutions that support joined-up care 

across the system. Programme plans, setting out objectives, processes, timescales and resources, have been developed and refreshed throughout the programme to ensure effective delivery and respond to changing external 

circumstances, in particular the COVID-19 pandemic.

A transparent, collaborative and inclusive approach has been adopted at all stages of the process, ensuring engagement with key stakeholders. The approach to evaluating the potential models of care has considered the levels of 

human, physical and financial resource expected to be available. Potential models of care have been developed with a focus on the possible options for the future provision of urgent and emergency care and maternity, neonatal care 

and paediatrics in Hull, Grimsby and Scunthorpe along with planned care principles for delivery across the Humber region. The programme has focused on developing models of care that deliver as much care at or close to home as 

possible. Throughout the programme all partners have maintained their commitment to provide acute hospital services that are patient-focussed, safe and sustainable, meeting the needs of our population both now and in the future

Level 4

Major change

• A major change that requires formal consultation and follows NHS England guidance

• Affects majority of the local population and or having a significant impact on patient experience

• A substantial change from the way services are currently provided

• High risk of controversy with local people or key stakeholders

• A service closure

• Limited information about the impact of the change

• Requires consultation (3 months+) and potentially pre consultation engagement

A major transformation of a large 

service

The proposed closure of a large 

service following a national directive

Page 49



Data Protection Impact Assessment - Data protection assessments will be undertaken as part of planning for implementation

Tick if 

yes

1 Will the project involve the collection of new identifiable or potentially identifiable data about individuals?

2

Will the project compel individuals to provide data about themselves or involve the processing of personal data 

not obtained directly from the individual?

i.e. where they will have little awareness or choice or where it is impossible, or would involve disproportionate 

effort, to inform the individuals that the processing is taking place

3
Will identifiable data about individuals be shared with other organisations or people who have not previously 

had routine access to the data?

4

Are you using data about individuals for a purpose it is not currently used for or in a new way?

i.e. using data collected to provide care for a service evaluation; data matching where data obtained from 

multiple sources is combined, compared or matched.

5

Where data about individuals is being used, would this be likely to raise privacy concerns or expectations?

i.e. will it include health records, genetic data, criminal records or other information that people may consider to 

be sensitive and private and may cause them concern or distress.

6
Will the project require you to contact individuals in ways which they may find intrusive?

i.e. telephoning or emailing them without their prior consent.

7
Will the project result in you making decisions in ways which can have a significant impact on individuals?

i.e. will it affect the care a person receives? Is it based on automated decision making (including profiling)?

8

Does the project involve you using new technology which might be perceived as being privacy intrusive?

i.e. using biometrics, facial recognition, Artificial Intelligence or tracking (such as tracking an individual’s 

geolocation or behaviour)

9
Is a service/processing activity being transferred to a new supplier/organisation (or re-contracted) at the end of 

an existing contract

10
Will the project involve systematic monitoring of a publicly accessible area on a large scale?

i.e. use of CCTV

11
Will the project involve the targeting of children or other vulnerable individuals?

i.e. for marketing purposes, profiling or other automated decision making

If you have answered yes to any of these questions, you will need to seek advice from the ICB Information 

Governance specialist and complete the full data protection impact assessment as provided at the link below:

Screening Questions

P
age 50



Guidance

Select link below to go to the guidance for each area:

Patient Experience

Patient Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Equality

Workforce

Sustainability

Other Useful Links and Resources

Questions/examples

Patient Reported Experience
National surveys, complaint themes and trends, PALS data, FFT 

data, incident themes and trends

Based on what we know patients are telling us about the 

service/area, will the proposal have a positive or negative impact 

on patient experience?

Patient Choice Informed choice, choice of provider, choice of location

Will patients have more choice or less choice? Can you include 

any mitigations if there is a reduction in choice i.e. through 

personal health budgets?

Patient Access

Physical access, systems or communication, travel and 

accessibility, threshold criteria, hours of service including out of 

hours, time waiting for admission or placement in a care setting, 

appointment waiting times for secondary, primary care or social 

care

 If a service is moving location will access be impacted? Have 

thresholds changed and therefore may have positive/negative 

impact on access to a service.  

Respect and Compassionate and 

Personalised Care Agenda

Patient dignity and respect, empathy, control of care, 

patient/carer involvement, care that is tailored to the patient’s 

needs and preferences

Patient-centred values, expressed needs, cultural issues, 

independence of service users

quality-of-life issues and shared decision making

 Will this support a patient centred care approach?

Responsiveness and Co-ordination

Communication, waiting times, support to patients

Coordination and integration of care across the health and social 

care system

Will the waiting times increase or decrease? Will there be support 

to patients and/or carers when they need it? 

Will care be seamless across providers

Promotion of self-care and support 

for people to stay well

People with long term conditions, social prescribing initiatives, 

social isolation, help and advice elements

Information that will help patients care for themselves away from 

a clinical setting, and coordination, planning, and support to ease 

transitions

 Does the proposal support/promote self care?

Will is improve transitions and conytinuity?

Involvement
involvement of family, friends, carers and significant others in 

decision making
Will this support the needs of others as care givers?

Information and Communication
on clinical status, progress, prognosis, and processes of care in 

order to facilitate autonomy, selfcare and health promotion;

Will this support good communication, education and information 

sharing?

Emotional support

fear and anxiety about such issues as clinical status, prognosis, 

and the impact of illness on patients, their families and their 

finances;  

Will this support improvements in emotional support for service 

users and carers?

Other
Is there anything else that may impact, positively or negatively, on 

the patient/carer experience?

Questions/Examples

Preventable Harm

Infection prevention (HCAI), waiting times/delays, staffing 

levels/competence, Serious incidents and Never Events/Always 

Events 

 Based on the information available will the proposal have a 

negative or positive impact on patient safety? Decrease 

incidents? Decrease delays in treatment/diagnosis?

Robustness of Systems 

and Processes

Governance, Clinical Audit, CQC standards, NICE and Royal 

College compliance, Surgery Checklist, Accreditation

 Is the proposal compliant with national /local guidance or 

processes? 

Environment
Cleanliness, suitability, upkeep, equipment, potential fro 

Healthcare associated infections

 Will the environment of the proposal have an impact? Improved 

facilities?

Will the propsal support ensuring a safe environment?

What is the impact on Adults or Children at risk? 

Does the change consider the needs of vulnerable patients?

Other
Is there anything else that may impact, positively or negatively, on 

the patient safety?

 Commissioning for outcomes using incentives e.g. BPT, 

contracts with outcomes incentives

Questions/Examples

Improved Patient Outcomes  Population health management
 Will the proposal lead to better patient outcomes? Include 

positive or negative outcomes.

Clinical Engagement
Evidence of clinical leadership and engagement in development 

of model and implementation plan (not just CCG staff) 

 Have clinical staff been involved and supportive of the proposal 

to ensure support for implementation. 

Development and improvement of 

pathways

 Does the proposal improve a patient pathway or have an impact 

on other pathways?

Variation in care
Positive or negative variation and will this have an impact on 

health inequalities?

 If the proposal has a positive variation in care will this lead to 

wider health inequalities?

Delivery of care in the most 

effective way
 LEAN, productive series  Will it utilise staff/equipment in a more productive way?

Other
Is there anything else that may impact, positively or negatively, on 

effectiveness?

DISABILITY

·         Services tackling known health inequalities experienced by disabled people, for example, people with learning disabilities have a shorter life expectancy than the 

·         Reasonable steps that can be taken to accommodate the disabled persons requirements, including:

o   Physical access

o   Format of information

o   Time of interview or consultation event

Adults and children at risk, no one must suffer any form of abuse 

or improper treatment while receiving care. This includes: 

Equality Guidance

AGE

·         Any discriminatory employment practices including recruitment, personal development, promotion, entitlements and retention.

·         Services should be provided, regardless of age, on the basis of clinical need alone.

·         Services tackling known health inequalities experienced by younger / older people, for example, in relation to isolation and older people.

Clinical Effectiveness Guidance

Areas to consider

Implementation of evidence based 

practice

Does the proposal fit with clinical evidence and clinical best 

practice NICE guidance, Royal College etc.

·         The provision of an interpreter for people whose first language is not English.

·         Written communication support / the use of language particularly jargon or colloquialisms etc.

·         Services tackling known health inequalities experienced by different ethnic groups, for example, high rates of diabetes amongst the Bangladeshi community etc.

o   Personal assistance

o   Interpreter

o   Induction loop system

o   Independent living equipment

o   Content of interview of course etc.

·         Steps to make reasonable adjustments to service delivery and employment practices to ensure ‘accessible to all’.

Patient Experience Guidance

Areas to consider

Patient Safety Guidance

Areas to consider

Safeguarding

·         Prayer facilities for service users and staff.

·         Equal access to recruitment, personal development, promotion and retention for female employees who are pregnant or on maternity leave.

·         Equality of opportunity in relation to health care for women irrespective of whether they are pregnant or on maternity leave or breast feeding.

·         Unlawful to treat a woman unfavourably because she is breast feeding.

PREGNANCY AND MATERNITY

ETHNICITY

RELIGION / BELIEF AND CULTURE

Page 51



Guidance

Links are provided below to each right:

Article 2: Right to life

Article 3: Freedom from torture and inhuman or degrading treatment

Article 4: Freedom from slavery and forced labour

Article 5: Right to liberty and security

Article 6: Right to a fair trial

Article 7: No punishment without law

Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence

Article 9: Freedom of thought, belief and religion

Article 10: Freedom of expression

Article 11: Freedom of assembly and association

Article 12: Right to marry and start a family

Article 14: Protection from discrimination in respect of these rights and freedoms

Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

Protocol 1, Article 2: Right to education

Protocol 1, Article 3: Right to participate in free elections

Protocol 13, Article 1: Abolition of the death penalty

Areas to consider Specific details Examples

Effective prioritisation and 

management of workload

Triage and pathways, wider system impact, staff ability to deliver 

their role effectively and appropriately

 Will the proposal impact on the workload of staff? Will staff be 

able to deliver the same standard of care?

Contractual obligations
TUPE implications, impact on terms and conditions, recruitment 

processes or options, safe staffing levels

Shift patterns longer than childcare provision?

Does policy/service  give due consideration to culture and beliefs 

of staff?

Workplace
The organisations commitment to high quality workplaces, aiming 

to be employers of choice, location and facilities

Sustainability of service due to 

workforce issues
Resilience and skills, recruitment, retention, career pathways

Other
Is there anything else that may impact, positively or negatively, on 

the workforce?

Sustainability

CO2 Reduction

Climate Change Adaptation

Rural Proofing

The NHS Constitution

The Social Value Act

Patient Safety

Equality Act

Equality Act 2010 Guidance

Public Sector Equality Duty

Sexual orientation monitoring standard

Planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients

·         Equal access to recruitment, personal development, promotion and retention.

·         Equality of opportunity in relation to health care for individuals irrespective of whether they are single, divorced, separated, living together or married or in a civil 

The process of transitioning from one gender to another.

·         Equal access to recruitment, personal development, promotion and retention.

·         Equal access to recruitment, personal development, promotion and retention.

·         Childcare arrangements that do not exclude a candidate from employment and the need for flexible working.

·         The provision of single sex facilities, toilets, wards etc.

·         Equality of opportunity in relation to health care for individuals irrespective of whether they are male, female, single, divorced, separated, living together or married.

·         Services tackling known health inequalities experienced by LGBT people, for instance, a higher rate of mental health problems.

·         Recognition and respect of individual’s sexuality.

·         Dietary requirements.

·         Gender of staff when caring for patients of the opposite sex.

·         Respect for requests from staff to have time off for religious festivals.

·         Respect for dress codes  

·         Respect in terms of religion, belief and culture.

The Sustainable Development Unit: https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/ 

This area includes waste and pollution, recycling, use of resources, ethical purchasing, biodiversity, provision of green spaces. Will this course of action increase the 

amount of non-recyclable waste? Increase air pollution?

Current issues for the NHS include recycling of unused pharmaceuticals, safe disposal of medical waste, use of anaesthetic gases, purchasing of surgical gloves, and 

engaging in ethical purchasing that does not harm biodiversity (eg no palm oil) or exploit workers in other countries.

Does this course of action increase or decrease the use of fossil fuels (gas, oil, coal, petrol)? Does it increase or reduce the amount of travel? Will buildings become more 

efficient, better insulated, use less heating/ air conditioning?

Does this take into account climate change risks for the area (increased flooding, higher summer temperatures)?

Almost a third of the CCG’s population live in rural areas – how will this course of action affect their ability to access services? Increases in age and disability lead to a 

reduced ability to drive and greater dependence on public transport. 

For further information see:

Guidance available here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-proofing 

York NHS FT Sustainable Development Plan 2017-20 https://www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk/seecmsfile/?id=2264 

Centre for Sustainable Healthcare: https://sustainablehealthcare.org.uk/ 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

Workforce diversity Differential impacts on staff groups with protected characteristics

Sustainability = how to meet the needs of the current generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs.

SEX

SEXUAL ORIENTATION

MARITAL STATUS

GENDER REASSIGNMENT

·         Equality of opportunity in relation to healthcare for individuals irrespective of whether they were male or female, Trans or ‘cis’ or ‘whether they identify with the gender 

·         The maintenance of confidentiality about an individual’s trans identity/history

·         Reasonable steps that can be taken to accommodate carer’s requirements, such as:

o   Time of meetings or interviews

o   Flexible working

o   Carer’s assessments

CARERS

·         Recognition of same sex relationships in respect to consent, next of kin, visiting etc.

·         The maintenance of confidentiality about an individual’s sexuality.

Other Useful Links and Resources

Sustainability Guidance

Workforce Guidance

Staff experience as a result of 

workforce changes

Career progression, specialisation, deskilling/upskilling , staff 

morale and satisfaction

 Will staff be impacted?

Does the change enrich staff roles and allow progression?

Page 52

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-2-right-life
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-3-freedom-torture-and-inhuman-or-degrading-treatment
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-4-freedom-slavery-and-forced-labour
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-5-right-liberty-and-security
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-6-right-fair-trial
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-7-no-punishment-without-law
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-8-respect-your-private-and-family-life
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-9-freedom-thought-belief-and-religion
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-10-freedom-expression
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-11-freedom-assembly-and-association
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-12-right-marry
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-14-protection-discrimination
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-1-first-protocol-protection-property
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-2-first-protocol-right-education
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-3-first-protocol-right-free-elections
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights-act/article-1-thirteenth-protocol-abolition-death-penalty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-proofing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-proofing
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/
https://sustainablehealthcare.org.uk/
https://sustainablehealthcare.org.uk/
https://www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk/seecmsfile/?id=2264
https://www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk/seecmsfile/?id=2264
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-value-act-information-and-resources/social-value-act-information-and-resources
https://improvement.nhs.uk/improvement-hub/patient-safety/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-quick-start-guide-to-the-public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-quick-start-guide-to-the-public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-quick-start-guide-to-the-public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/sexual-orientation-monitoring-information-standard/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/sexual-orientation-monitoring-information-standard/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/sexual-orientation-monitoring-information-standard/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-proofing
https://www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk/seecmsfile/?id=2264
https://sustainablehealthcare.org.uk/


Impact Matrix

0 5 4 3 2 1 0 -1 -2 -3 -4 -5

5 25 20 15 10 5 0 -5 -10 -15 -20 -25

4 20 16 12 8 4 0 -4 -8 -12 -16 -20

3 15 12 9 6 3 0 -3 -6 -9 -12 -15

2 10 8 6 4 2 0 -2 -4 -6 -8 -10

1 5 4 3 2 1 0 -1 -2 -3 -4 -5

5 Excellence

4 Major

3 Moderate

2 Minor

1 Negligible

Neutral 0 Neutral

-1 Negligible

-2 Minor

-3 Moderate

-4 Major

-5 Catastrophic

Opportunity and Consequence

Impact Score The proposed change is anticipated to lead to the following level of opportunity and/or consequence: 

P
o

s
it

iv
e

Multiple enhanced benefits including excellent improvement in access, experience and/or outcomes for all patients, families and 

carers. Outstanding reduction in health inequalities by narrowing the gap in access, experience and/or outcomes between 

people with protected characteristics and the general population. 

Leading to consistently improved standards of experience and an enhancement of public confidence, significant improvements 

to performance and an improved and sustainable workforce. 

Major benefit leading to long term improvements and access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected 

characteristic. Major reduction in health inequalities by narrowing the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between 

people with this protected characteristic and the general population. Benefits include improvements in management of patients 

with long term effects and compliance with national standards. 

Moderate benefits requiring professional intervention with moderate improvement in access, experience and /or outcomes for 

people with this protected characteristic. Moderate reduction in health inequalities by narrowing the gap in access, experience 

and /or outcomes between people with this protected characteristic and the general population.

Minor improvement in access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Minor reduction in 

health inequalities by narrowing the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population.

Minimal benefit requiring no/minimal intervention or treatment. Negligible improvement in access, experience and /or outcomes 

for people with this protected characteristic. Negligible reduction in health inequalities by narrowing the gap in access, 

experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected characteristic and the general population.

No effect either positive or negative

N
e
g

a
ti

v
e

Negligible negative impact on access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Negligible 

increase in health inequalities by widening the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population. 

Potential to result in minimal injury requiring no/minimal intervention or treatment, peripheral element of treatment suboptimal 

and/or informal complaint/inquiry

Minor negative impact on access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Minor increase in 

health inequalities by widening the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population.

Potential to result in minor injury or illness, requiring minor intervention and overall treatment suboptimal

Moderate negative impact on access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Moderate 

increase in health inequalities by widening the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population. Potential to result in moderate injury requiring professional intervention. 

Major negative impact on access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Major increase in 

health inequalities by widening the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population.

Potential to lead to major injury leading to long-term incapacity/disability

Catastrophic negative impact on access, experience and /or outcomes for people with this protected characteristic. Catastrophic 

increase in health inequalities by widening the gap in access, experience and /or outcomes between people with this protected 

characteristic and the general population.

Potential to result in incident leading to death, multiple permanent injuries or irreversible health effects, an event which impacts 

on a large number of patients, totally unacceptable level or effectiveness of treatment, gross failure of experience and does not 

meet required standards

Likelihood Opportunity Consequence

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

1

Unlikely2

3

Not applicable

Rare
Not expected to occur for years. Will 

occur in exceptional circumstances.

Expected to occur at least annually. 

Unlikely to occur.

Expected to occur at least monthly. 

Reasonable chance of occuring.
Possible

High Risk

4 Likely

5
Almost 

Certain

Category

Opportunity

Low - Moderate RiskExpected to occur at least daily. More 

likely to occur than not.

Expected to occur at least weekly. 

Likely to occur.

Page 53



Staff Demographic Information 

Total Staff Number
9,703 headcount

7,712 wte
Total Staff Number

6,795 headcount

5,698 wte

Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust Northern Lincolnshire & Goole NHS Foundation Trust

Age

Staff are under 30:  22.5%

Staff aged 30 – 55:  60.8%

Staff are over 55:  16.7%

Age

Staff are under 30:  20.7%

Staff aged 30 – 55:  61.3%

Staff are over 55:  18.0%

Disability

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Having no disability      62.2%

Having a disability        2.5%

Not stated/undefined   35.3%

Disability

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Having no disability       85.3%

Having a disability         2.5%

Not stated/undefined   12.2%

Pregnancy and Maternity

% of staff currently declared themselves as pregnant - not 

reportable

% of staff currently on maternity leave 1.91%

Pregnancy and Maternity
% of staff currently declared themselves as pregnant - not reportable

% of staff currently on maternity leave 2.44%

Ethnicity

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

White   85.2%

BAME    13.6%

Not stated/undefined   0.2%%

Ethnicity

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

White   84.6%

BAME    11.8%

Not stated/undefined   3.6%%

Religion and Belief

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Christian  39.6%

Other faith or beliefs 22.6%

Not stated/undefined 37.7%

Religion and Belief

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Christian  48.38%

Other faith or beliefs 29.82%

Not stated/undefined 21.8%

Gender

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Female   74.5%

Male        25.5%

Gender

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Female   77.7%

Male        22.3%

Sexual Orientation

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Heterosexual   71.3%

LGBTQ+  2.5%

Not stated/undefined 26.2%

Sexual Orientation

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Heterosexual   81.79%

LGBTQ+  2.08%

Not stated/undefined 16.13%

Gender Reassignment not accessible Gender Reassignment not accessible

P
age 54



Marriage and Civil Parenership

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Married/Civil Partnership 51.5%

Single/Divorced/Widowed 46%

Not stated/undefined 2.4%

Marriage and Civil Parenership

% of staff employed declared themselves as:

Married/Civil Partnership 53.65%

Single/Divorced/Widowed 42.63%

Not stated/undefined  3.72%

P
age 55



MenuPopulation Demographic Information 
Hull East Riding North East Lincolnshire North Lincolnshire

Population  
267,100

(Census 2021)

342,200

(Census 2021)

156,900

(Census 2021) 

169,700

(Census 2021)

Age

Aged under 15 years - 18.7%

Aged 15 to 64 years - 66.0%

Aged 65 years and over - 15.3%

(Source: Census 2021)

Hull’s population is relatively young compared to England: 

the number of people in their 20s is higher than England due 

to Hull being a University city. There are also fewer people 

aged 50+ in Hull compared to England.  (Source: Hull CCG 

website)

Aged under 15 years - 14.8%

Aged 15 to 64 years - 58.8%

Aged 65 years and over - 26.5%

(Source: Census 2021)

Aged under 15 years - 17.6%

Aged 15 to 64 years - 61.5%

Aged 65 years and over - 20.9%

(Source: Census 2021)

Aged under 15 years - 16.6%

Aged 15 to 64 years - 61.5%

Aged 65 years and over - 21.9%

(Source: Census 2021)

Disability

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 10.3%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 11.4%

Not disabled under the Equality Act - 78.3%

Source: Census 2021 - age-standardised rates

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 6.7%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 10.0%

Not disabled under the Equality Act - 83.3%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 9.0%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 11.1%

Not disabled under the Equality Act - 79.9%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 8.2%

Disabled under the Equality Act: Day-to-day activities limited 

a lot - 10.8%

Not disabled under the Equality Act - 81.0%

Pregnancy and 

Maternity

All conceptions (2020) = 3948

Live births (2020) = 3123

Conception rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 75

Maternity rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 56.6

Under 18s conceptions = 111

Conception rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 28.5

Maternity rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 19.5

Source: ONS annual conception data

All conceptions (2020) = 3280

Live births (2020) = 2618

Conception rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 66.6

Maternity rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 53

Under 18s conceptions = 77

Conception rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 14.2

Maternity rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 5.5

Source: ONS annual conception data

All conceptions (2020) = 1986

Live births (2020) = 1573

Conception rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 72.6

Maternity rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 54.8

Under 18s conceptions = 69

Conception rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 25.0

Maternity rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 17.0

Source: ONS annual conception data

All conceptions (2020) = 1986

Live births (2020) = 1558

Conception rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 69.5

Maternity rate (all conceptions) per 1000 - 54.6

Under 18s conceptions = 42

Conception rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 14.7

Maternity rate (under 18s) per 1000 - 9.5

Source: ONS annual conception data

Race/Nationality

Asian, Asian British - 2.8%

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African - 1.9%

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups - 1.7%

White - 91.8%

Other ethnic group 1.8%

(Source: Census 2021)

White British = 83.9% / Other White = 7.4%

Asian, Asian British - 1.1%

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African - 0.3%

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups - 0.9%

White - 97.4%

Other ethnic group 0.4%

(Source: Census 2021)

White British = 94.6% / Other White = 2.3%

Asian, Asian British - 1.6%

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African - 0.5%

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups - 1.0%

White - 96.2%

Other ethnic group 0.7%

(Source: Census 2021)

White British = 92.6% / Other White = 3.3%

Asian, Asian British - 3.3%

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African - 0.5%

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups - 1.1%

White - 94.3%

Other ethnic group 0.8%

(Source: Census 2021)

White British = 88.7% / Other White = 5.0%

Religion and Belief

No religion - 49.2%

Christian - 39.9%

Buddhist - 0.3%

Hindu - 0.2%

Jewish - 0.1%

Muslim - 3.5%

Sikh - 0.1%

Other religion - 0.4%

Not answered - 6.4%

(Source: Census 2021)

No religion - 39.1%

Christian - 53.3%

Buddhist - 0.3%

Hindu - 0.2%

Jewish - 0.1%

Muslim - 0.6%

Sikh - 0.1%

Other religion - 0.4%

Not answered - 6.0%

(Source: Census 2021)

No religion - 46.5%

Christian - 45.3%

Buddhist - 0.3%

Hindu - 0.3%

Jewish - 0.1%

Muslim - 1.2%

Sikh - 0.1%

Other religion - 0.4%

Not answered - 5.9%

(Source: Census 2021)

No religion - 38.6%

Christian - 52.1%

Buddhist - 0.2%

Hindu - 0.2%

Jewish - 0.0%

Muslim - 2.5%

Sikh - 0.3%

Other religion - 0.4%

Not answered - 5.5%

(Source: Census 2021)

Gender
Male - 49.9%

Female - 50.1%

(Source: Census 2021)

Male - 49.0%

Female - 51.0%

(Source: Census 2021)

Male - 48.9%

Female - 51.1%

(Source: Census 2021)

Male - 49.3%

Female - 50.7%

(Source: Census 2021)

Sexual Orientation

Straight or Heterosexual - 88.03%

Gay or Lesbian - 1.71%

Bisexual - 1.65%

All other sexual orientations - 0.41%

Not answered - 8.20%

(Source: Census 2021)       

Straight or Heterosexual - 91.22%

Gay or Lesbian - 1.04%

Bisexual - 0.81%

All other sexual orientations - 0.16%

Not answered - 6.77%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Straight or Heterosexual - 90.79%

Gay or Lesbian - 1.23%

Bisexual - 1.10%

All other sexual orientations - 0.24%

Not answered - 6.65%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Straight or Heterosexual - 90.74%

Gay or Lesbian - 1.12%

Bisexual - 0.92%

All other sexual orientations - 0.28%

Not answered - 6.93%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Home

Back to Initial 
Assessment 

Back to Equality 

Full Assessment

ICS Places IMD 
SHAPE Maps

ICS LSOA's IMD 
2019

Home

Back to Initial 
Assessment 

Back to Equality 

Full Assessment

ICS Places IMD 
SHAPE Maps

ICS LSOA's IMD 
2019

P
age 56



Gender Reassignment

Gender identity the same as sex registered at birth - 92.96%

Gender identity different from sex registed at birth - 0.64%

Not answered - 7.10%

(Source: Census 2021)       

Gender identity the same as sex registered at birth - 94.62%

Gender identity different from sex registed at birth - 0.29%

Not answered - 5.09%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Gender identity the same as sex registered at birth - 94.24%

Gender identity different from sex registed at birth - 0.45%

Not answered - 5.31%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Gender identity the same as sex registered at birth - 93.92%

Gender identity different from sex registed at birth - 0.52%

Not answered - 5.55%

(Source: Census 2021) 

Marriage and Civil 

Partnership

Never married/registed a civil partnership - 45.8%

Married - 35.4%

In a registered civil partnership - 0.2%

Separated but still married/in a civil partnership - 2.7%

Divorced or formerly in a civil partnership now legally 

dissolved - 10.1%

Widowed or survivng partner from a civil partnership - 5.7%

(Source: Census 2021)                                                                                                                                                                               

Never married/registed a civil partnership - 28.8%

Married - 51.0%

In a registered civil partnership - 0.2%

Separated but still married/in a civil partnership - 2.1%

Divorced or formerly in a civil partnership now legally 

dissolved - 10.0%

Widowed or survivng partner from a civil partnership - 7.9%

(Source: Census 2021)            

Never married/registed a civil partnership - 36.2%

Married - 42.6%

In a registered civil partnership - 0.2%

Separated but still married/in a civil partnership - 2.6%

Divorced or formerly in a civil partnership now legally 

dissolved - 11.2%

Widowed or survivng partner from a civil partnership - 7.2%

(Source: Census 2021)            

Never married/registed a civil partnership - 32.5%

Married - 47.1%

In a registered civil partnership - 0.2%

Separated but still married/in a civil partnership - 2.2%

Divorced or formerly in a civil partnership now legally 

dissolved - 10.6%

Widowed or survivng partner from a civil partnership - 7.3%

(Source: Census 2021)

P
age 57



https://shapeatlas.net/

Comments: Comments: Comments: Hull LSOA which is most deprived in the ICS area, ranked 21st most deprived nationally, whereas 

the least deprived LSOA in the ICS is in Harrogate, ranked 32, 843 i.e. the 2nd least deprived LSOA nationally – 

wide range across the geographic footprint.

Comments: Comments: Comments: 

ICS Places IMD SHAPE Maps 

North Yorkshire York Hull

East Riding North East Lincolnshire North  Lincolnshire

P
age 58

https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

1 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FRONT COVER 

 
  

18th September 2023 (v4.0) 

Page 59



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

2 
  

Version Control 

  

Version Date Changes By whom Where 

v0.5  17/12/21 Compile draft chapters into complete 
master document (pre-evaluation) 

LC/CH  

v0.6 18/03/22 Integrate feedback on v0.5 LC All chapters 

v0.7 08/07/22 Revise planned care chapter LC Chapter 6 

Integrate further feedback All chapters 

Add chapters on evaluation and approach 
to consultation 

Chapters 8 and 9 

v0.8 29/07/22 Re-structure of document to reflect 
feedback (following ICB review) 

LC All chapters 

Addition of chapter outlining proposals Chapter 4 

Update performance metrics  Chapters 2, 5, 6 and 7 

Re-structure appendices Chapter 10 

v0.9 28/11/22 Update description of clinical models 
following further clinical review 

LC Chapters 4, 5 and 6 

Add section on plan to implement Chapter 9 

V1.0 10/02/23 Update demographic and public health 
data (release of 2021 Census) 

LC Chapter 1 

Update performance metrics LC/BN Chapters 2, 5, 6 and 7 

Update modelling outputs (following 
review and sense-check of data) 

LC Appendices 

Update evaluation section to reflect latest 
position 

LC Appendices 

Update engagement timeline to include 
additional work undertaken 

LC Appendices 

V1.1 17/02/23 Update to activity modelling and summary 
charts 

LC Executive summary and 
appendices 

V2.0 29/05/23 Inclusion of financial analysis (capital and 
revenue) 

AD/LC Appendices 

Finalisation of evaluation outcomes 
(inclusion of financial analysis) 

LC Appendices and Exec summary 

Amendments to summary of proposals 
following outcomes of financial analysis 

LC Chapter 4 

V2.1 10/06/23 Amendments to Executive summary and 
addition of summary boxes 

LC/CH Executive summary and 
throughout 

Update key performance metrics LC/BN Chapters 2, 5 and 6 

Update engagement timeline to include 
additional work undertaken 

LC Appendices 

V3.0 30/06/23 Changes to consultation scope – to include 
UEC and Paeds proposals only 

LC Throughout 

Financial, workforce and activity analysis 
updated to reflect scope of proposals 

LC Chapters 4, 5 and 6 

V3.1 03/07/23 Modelling outputs updated to reflect 
refreshed scope 

LC Appendices 

V4.0 18/09/23 Description of the proposed changes 
updated following NHSE Gateway review 

LC Executive summary and 
throughout 

Financial, workforce and activity updated 
following NHSE Gateway review 

LC/BN/AD Chapters 4, 5, 6 and 
Appendices 

Page 60



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

3 
  

 

Contents 

 

Executive Summary……………………………………………………………………………………………. 5 

1. Our Population and Strategic Context ....................................................................... 18 

1.1 Background ..................................................................................................................................... 19 

1.2 Context – the Humber Health and Care System ............................................................................ 22 

1.3 Context – Policy and Strategy ......................................................................................................... 27 

1.4 Context – Our Population ............................................................................................................... 30 

2. Challenges and the Case for Change .......................................................................... 47 

2.1 Organisational Snapshot: HUTH and NLaG..................................................................................... 48 

2.2 The Changing Needs of our Population .......................................................................................... 51 

2.3 Meeting Clinical and Constitutional Standards .............................................................................. 55 

2.4 Workforce Challenges .................................................................................................................... 64 

2.5 Buildings and Infrastructure Challenges ......................................................................................... 71 

2.6 Performance and Efficiency ............................................................................................................ 75 

3. Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance ................................................................... 82 

3.1 Overview ......................................................................................................................................... 83 

3.2 Stakeholder engagement – our approach ...................................................................................... 87 

3.3 Assurance ....................................................................................................................................... 95 

4. Proposals for the Future ......................................................................................... 103 

4.1 Background ................................................................................................................................... 104 

4.2 Summary of proposals and benefits ............................................................................................. 105 

4.3 Discounted alternative solutions .................................................................................................. 112 

5. Humber-wide Pathway Changes .............................................................................. 118 

5.1 Vision for the future ..................................................................................................................... 119 

5.2 Urgent and emergency care pathways ......................................................................................... 121 

5.3 Paediatric pathways ..................................................................................................................... 133 

5.4 Benefits of pathway changes ........................................................................................................ 137 

6. Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts ................................................................ 145 

6.1 Current service configuration ....................................................................................................... 146 

6.2 Views and priorities of our population ......................................................................................... 149 

6.3 The proposed model of care ........................................................................................................ 151 

6.4 Benefits and impacts .................................................................................................................... 157 

7. Dependencies ......................................................................................................... 170 

7.1 Planned Care................................................................................................................................. 171 

7.2 Out of Hospital Care ..................................................................................................................... 185 

8. Enablers.................................................................................................................. 192 

8.1 Digital ............................................................................................................................................ 193 

8.2 Estates and Infrastructure ............................................................................................................ 198 

8.3 Workforce ..................................................................................................................................... 201 

Page 61



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

4 
  

8.4 Travel and Transport .................................................................................................................... 211 

9. Approach to Consultation and Next Steps ............................................................... 217 

9.1 Background ................................................................................................................................... 218 

9.2 Designing the Consultation .......................................................................................................... 222 

9.3 Delivering the Consultation .......................................................................................................... 226 

9.4 Reporting and decision-making .................................................................................................... 231 

9.5 Plan to implement ........................................................................................................................ 232 

10. Appendices ............................................................................................................. 240 

A. Background Information ......................................................................................... 241 

10.1 List of Health and Care Organisations in Humber ........................................................................ 242 

10.2 Current Service Configuration ...................................................................................................... 244 

B. Process – how we developed the proposals............................................................. 246 

10.3 Developing the potential models of care ..................................................................................... 247 

10.4 Evaluating the models of care ...................................................................................................... 269 

10.5 Reviews – recommendations and responses ............................................................................... 295 

C. How we have Listened and what we have heard ..................................................... 303 

10.6 Overview of what we have heard................................................................................................. 304 

10.7 Key Findings – Urgent and Emergency Care ................................................................................. 307 

10.8 Key Findings – Children and Young People .................................................................................. 310 

10.9 Key Findings – Travel and Transport ............................................................................................ 313 

10.10 Key Findings – Estates and Infrastructure .................................................................................... 316 

10.11 Key Findings – Staff Engagement ................................................................................................. 321 

10.12 Key Findings – Planned Care ......................................................................................................... 324 

10.13 Key Findings – Your Birthing Choices ........................................................................................... 328 

10.14 Citizen’s Panel Involvement ......................................................................................................... 333 

10.15 Engagement Timeline ................................................................................................................... 335 

D. Modelling Outputs .................................................................................................. 351 

10.16 Activity and displacement ............................................................................................................ 352 

10.17 Impacted patients by local authority............................................................................................ 359 

10.18 Travel modelling ........................................................................................................................... 361 

10.19 Workforce and Finance ................................................................................................................ 377 

E. Sources and Further information ............................................................................. 379 

10.20 List of Acronyms ........................................................................................................................... 380 

10.21 List of Figures ................................................................................................................................ 383 

10.22 List of Tables ................................................................................................................................. 385 

10.23 List of Maps .................................................................................................................................. 388 

10.24 List of Pictures .............................................................................................................................. 389 

  

  

Page 62



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

5 
  

Executive Summary 

The Humber Acute Services programme commenced in 2018 to address challenges faced by Northern 

Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust (NLaG) and Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

(HUTH) and design hospital services that will be fit for the future. 

This Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) sets out proposals to provide urgent and emergency care 

and paediatric hospital services differently across Northern Lincolnshire’s main hospitals – Scunthorpe 

General Hospital (SGH) and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW). These proposed changes 

will be supported by improvements across the Humber that will enable us to provide more care outside 

of hospitals, in a more joined-up way.   

The proposals have been designed to ensure that high quality hospital care can continue to be provided 

across the Humber now and in the future. They have been: 

• developed following extensive engagement with over 12,000 people over the past two years. 

• identified following a comprehensive evaluation exercise which has focussed on clinical 

standards, quality and safety, travel and access, equalities, workforce and financial affordability.  

The approach that has been taken over the past two years has been subject to:  

• ongoing assurance reviews by NHSE England  

• reviews by the ICB Executive Team and Board  

• regular Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews 

• two Clinical Senate Reviews of the proposed models of care  

• an external assurance review by the Consultation Institute of the approach taken to Pre-

Consultation engagement. 

The external assurance reviews have highlighted:  

• The Clinical Senate concluded that the current models of care are not sustainable and that the 

proposed models provide an improvement. The Clinical Senate has provided its highest level of 

assurance “Reasonable” on the key areas it reviewed. 

• The Consultation Institute have highlighted an exemplary approach to pre–Consultation 

Engagement and have not highlighted any significant areas of concern. 

Why services need to change  

Our two hospital trusts – Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust (NLaG) and Hull 

University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) – spend in excess of £1.3bn and employ more than 

15,000 people.  

On a daily basis:  

• 775 people attend our emergency departments. 

• 235 people are admitted, as an emergency, to our inpatient wards. 

• 377 operations are performed. 

• 3,000 outpatient consultations take place. 

• 24 babies are born. 

As a collective of hospitals working better, together, we can provide improved services and care for all. 

But to do so, things need to change.  

Page 63



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

6 
  

Our current health and care system is not always meeting everyone’s needs and is not set up to do so in 

the future. We face a number of challenges, including:  

• Having the right workforce, in the right place, to meet 

the demand. 

- Nearly a third of our staff are eligible to retire within 

the next 5 to 10 years.  

- National shortages mean we still struggle to recruit 

enough skilled staff for our speciality services.  

- Potential recruits tell us that roles are not attractive 

because of the low numbers of patients, limited 

opportunity for research, education and training.  

- Gaps in rotas put pressure on existing teams and 

increase our reliance on expensive locums and agency 

staff. This can make it harder to provide continuity of 

care for patients.  

- Our clinical teams are spread too thinly. We are 

maintaining multiple rotas and our highly skilled staff 

are not being given the opportunity to maximise their 

skills. 

• Ensuring the future quality and safety of some hospital 

services. 

- Our emergency departments (A&E) experience 

significant demand and we do not deliver national 

standards on waiting times or ambulance handovers.  

- We sometimes fail to meet national clinical standards 

because our staff are spread too thinly across hospital 

sites.  

- Senior clinicians are not always available every day, 

24/7, and our patients spend longer in hospital for the 

same care and treatment compared to other parts of 

the country. 

• Providing the right care for our growing ageing 

population. 

- The number of older people in our area is rising, which 

can mean more complex health needs and increasing 

demand for some services. 

 

• Meeting the needs of our population.  
- Some of our communities have much poorer health and 

need hospital care more often or have issues accessing 

healthcare services. 

 

 

Only two thirds of patients 

were seen and treated within 

4 hours in our Emergency 

Departments (A&E) and more 

than 18 people a day waited 

for over 12 hours at Grimsby 

or Scunthorpe Hospital. 
 

A&E 4-hour performance was 

68% in NLaG and 62% in 

HUTH in May 2023. 

Very few emergency 

operations take place 

overnight (around 1 patient 

per night across both 

hospitals), yet both hospitals 

must ensure surgical staff are 

available 24/7. 
 

Emergency operations 

overnight in the baseline year 

were Grimsby (172/year) and 

Scunthorpe (196/year) 

In 20 years’ time nearly one 

third of the local population 

will be aged 65 and over 

(compared to around a fifth 

today). 

Healthy life expectancy (HLE) 

is significantly lower than 

national average. 
 

HLE for women in North 

Lincolnshire = 56 years  

HLE for men in North East 

Lincolnshire = 55 years. 

Page 64



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

7 
  

• Investing in our buildings. 

- Some of our hospital buildings are old and do not meet 

modern clinical standards.  

- There is limited access to the investment needed to 

improve or replace them. A number of our theatres and 

ward areas have had to be closed.  

- This affects our ability to treat patients effectively, and 

our ability to recruit and retain staff. 

• Using our financial resources in the most efficient way. 

- We need to make sure that we spend our limited 

finances in the most sensible way and on the most 

appropriate services for those who need them most. 

The challenges we face are significant.  

The Clinical Senate have identified that our current clinical models are not sustainable and that we need 

to work differently if we are to continue to meet the acute healthcare needs of our population.  

We can improve this situation by working differently, joining up with other parts of the NHS, local 

councils and other partners, and organising our services in different ways.  

Developing the Models of Care  

Over the past two years a dedicated team have focussed on developing the potential options for change 

that could address the challenges faced locally and deliver improved care for patients. The process has 

been clinically-led, open and transparent throughout. In developing the models of care the team have 

engaged with over 12,000 people through a mixed approach of workshops, focus groups and speciality 

one to one discussions. The groups have involved patients, staff and partner organisations.1  

Over 120 potential options for change were identified in the original Case for Change.2 These early ideas 

were carefully considered and, through a comprehensive evaluation approach, were narrowed down to 

the proposed model of care set out below. The evaluation framework was co-designed through 

extensive engagement to ensure the models of care were evaluated against the things that matter most 

to our population and stakeholders.3 

The evaluation of the potential options for change looked at: 

• The potential of different models of care to deliver national standards – with a focus on quality 

and safety. 

• The need to maximise the skills of our existing workforce and the potential of different models 

of care to support plans to develop new skills and roles and build a resilient local workforce.  

• The need to ensure that patients have access to local services for regular and ongoing care. 

 
1 The extensive engagement process undertaken is summarised in chapter 3 and set out in more detail in 
appendices 10.6 to 10.15. 
2 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (November 2019) Humber Acute Services Review Case for 
Change Case for Change; see also, Interim Options Report (January 2020) Interim Options Report 
3 This process is set out in detail in section 10.4.2 

Last year (2022/23) we spent 

over £37 million on 

temporary (agency and 

locum) staffing within NLaG 

alone to cover gaps in rotas to 

ensure services continue to be 

delivered safely. 

Our buildings need significant 

investment just to keep them 

functioning. 
 

Backlog maintenance issues 

would cost in excess of £100 

million across Grimsby and 

Scunthorpe to address. 

Page 65

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HASR-Long-Case-for-Change_Final-for-Publication.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

8 
  

• The need to make best use of more specialist skills and maximise clinical time available to see 

and treat patients.  

• The need to deliver longer-term more sustainable services which are an improvement on the 

current models of care. 

• The need to deliver financial savings aligned with the need for any future model to be affordable 

from an internally funded capital pot. 

External Assurance and Review 

The potential models of care have been through multiple assurance reviews and have been assessed by 

a number of external and expert bodies including Operational Delivery Networks, Royal Colleges and 

Peer Reviews and finally by the independent Clinical Senate in March 2023. 

The Clinical Senate provided their highest level of assurance (‘reasonable’) in all three areas they 

considered and supported the proposed model of care: 

“The Senate supports the development of an Acute Hospital and Local Emergency Model 

with consolidation of Trauma on the Acute site. An Acute Hospital and Local Emergency 

Hospital affords the opportunity to consolidate specialised skills and expertise on one site.” 

 

For Urgent and Emergency Care the Clinical Senate highlighted:  

“The Senate was reasonably assured that models of care are clinically coherent, more 

sustainable and would provide quality care.” … “It remains concerned about the 

sustainability of two critical care units from a workforce perspective.  Guidance from the 

Critical Care Network is advised.” 

For Paediatrics the Senate highlighted:  

“The Senate’s findings on plans for paediatric services provided it with reasonable assurance 

that models of care are clinically coherent, more sustainable and would provide quality 

care.” … 

The Programme has also undergone multiple Assurance reviews over the past 20 months including 

monthly NHSE Review Meetings, regular Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings and an external 

risk review by the Consultation Institute (tCI) of the Engagement approach undertaken to date. The 

Consultation Institute review provided assurance that the process undertaken was robust and 

demonstrated meaningful involvement. 

The Clinical Senate concluded: 

✓ The options for the future models of care have been designed to address the challenges. 

✓ The proposals have been developed and refined through a robust process including in depth 

clinical input discussions with Clinical Design Groups, specialty project groups, a citizens panel, 

focus groups and workshops with elected members, representative groups and other 

stakeholders. 

✓ The proposed model affords the opportunity to consolidate specialised skills and expertise on 

one site. 

✓ The proposed models of care are clinically coherent, more sustainable and would provide 

quality care. 

Page 66



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

9 
  

 

Meeting the key tests for service change 

Based upon the work done to date and the assurance received we believe that our approach has 

enabled us to demonstrate that the Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board has met its 

Statutory duties under s242/244/13z2 and 14Q of the NHS Act and follows the relevant NHS 

Reconfiguration Guidance as set out below. 

Four Tests How we are meeting them Evidence of approach 

 
Strong public and 
patient 
engagement 

• Extensive engagement of patients, 
the public, staff and other 
stakeholders in design of proposals.  

• Ongoing involvement of public 
representatives and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (OSC). 

• c12,000 people engaged in pre-
consultation engagement and 
evaluation. 

• NHSE/OSC assurance. 
• Consultation Institute assurance. 

 

Consistency with 
current and 
prospective need 
for patient choice 

• Extensive clinical and public 
engagement in design, reflects 
understanding of communities and 
impact of any changes on choice. 

• Detailed population health analysis 
underpins modelling and 
engagement.  

• CCG/Place/Voluntary Sector 
(VCSE)/Community Rep Group 
engagement/MVP engagement 

• Evidence base on engagement 
substantive if cited in any future 
challenge for SoS/IRP or JR 

 Clear, clinical 
evidence base 

• Extensive clinical involvement in 
design and evaluation of proposals. 

• Models of care reviewed by Clinical 
and Professional Leaders Group, 
Clinical Senate, ODN and other 
independent clinical experts. 

• Clinical Senate provided 
reasonable assurance on 
evidence base along with 
options. 

• Reports and supporting actions 
from all reviews. 

 

Support for 
proposals from 
clinical 
commissioners 

• CCG (clinical and managerial) 
involvement in development and 
evaluation of proposals 

• ICB approval required to go to 
consultation 

• Executive Oversight Group and 
programme governance. 

• Working Groups/Place Directors/ 
Place Boards/ICB briefings etc. 

 

 

 

The Consultation Institute risk review concluded: 

✓ “The HASP team has delivered an effective pre-consultation engagement exercise, with 

significant engagement having taken place over a number of years in preparation for public 

consultation.”  

✓ The pre-consultation business case (PCBC) is robust and contains a clear summary of the work 

undertaken to date and there is evidence of influence within this from the public engagement 

undertaken.   

Page 67



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

10 
  

What is being proposed – a better model of care 

Our evaluation and formal external reviews have highlighted a proposal – or a preferred option – for the 

delivery of (hospital-based) urgent and emergency care and paediatric services across Northern 

Lincolnshire.  

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate rotas 

and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority of 

services locally.  

The proposed changes maximise our recent investment of £35 million in our two emergency 

departments and acute assessment units at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe 

General Hospital, whilst also providing an opportunity to consolidate some specialist and inpatient 

services to improve the quality and safety of services and ensure they are sustainable into the future. 

What would remain the same? 

  

The following services would continue to be provided at both hospitals: 

• Emergency Department (A&E), assessment unit and short stay (up to 3 days) 

• Emergency surgery (during the day) 

• Overnight (inpatient) care for elderly and general medical patients (for stays longer than 3 

days) 

• Paediatric (children’s) Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours) 

• Maternity and neonatal care 

• Critical care and anaesthetics 

• Planned care services, including surgery, diagnostics and outpatient services (some of which 

may be provided in a community location e.g., GP surgery or Community Diagnostic Centre) 

Services at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH) 

would also continue as is. 

What would be different?  

 

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital:  

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought by 

ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.  

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the middle of the night 

or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by teams with surgical expertise.  

The proposal recommends that urgent and emergency care for most patients would continue to be 

provided at both Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital.  

To improve the quality and safety of services and make sure they are sustainable into the future, 

the proposal recommends that some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and 

paediatric (children’s) services at our hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire (Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital) should be brought together and in future be 

delivered from just one site.  

Page 68



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

11 
  

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay in hospital (more 

than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their heart, lung or stomach 

condition (cardiology, respiratory and gastroenterology specialties).  

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who need to stay in 

hospital for more than 24 hours. 

Services proposed to be brought together at one 

hospital 

Services proposed to remain at both hospitals 

✓ 24/7 Trauma Unit, for people with injuries 

requiring specialist care and who might need 

an operation or observation by a trauma 

team.  

✓ 24/7 Emergency Department (A&E). 

✓ 24/7 Urgent Care Service (in the A&E) for 

patients with minor injuries and illnesses. 

✓ 24/7 assessment units. 

✓ Short stay emergency care (up to 72 hours). 

✓ 24/7 Emergency surgery and inpatient 

(overnight) care (more than 24 hours). 

✓ Emergency surgery (during the day). 

✓ 24/7 Speciality medical inpatient care (for 

longer stays more than 72 hours) including 

gastroenterology (stomach), cardiology 

(heart) and respiratory (lung) medicine. 

✓ Assessment and short-stay care with 

specialist ‘in-reach’ input. 

✓ 24/7 Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care 

(for longer stays more than 24 hours). 

✓ 24/7 Paediatric (children’s) Assessment Unit 

(up to 24 hours). 

 ✓ Overnight (inpatient) care for elderly and 

general medical patients (for stays longer 

than 3 days). 

✓ 24/7 maternity and neonatal care. 

✓ Outpatient appointments.  

 

How we assessed which hospital should deliver these services 

In developing the proposal, we engaged with more than 12,000 people and explored over 120 different 

ideas. We carefully studied the likely impacts on patients, staff and visitors of bringing these specific 

services together at either Scunthorpe General Hospital or Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby.4 

We considered a wide range of factors, including: 

• How many people would have to go to a different hospital if services moved 

• The travel time impact on patients and staff 

• The travel impact on ambulance journeys  

• The potential impact on communities that are most vulnerable to changes, like those living in 

the most deprived areas 

• The number of inter-hospital transfers required 

 
4 The evaluation process and outcomes are set out in detail in section 10.4. 

Page 69



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

12 
  

• The deliverability of each potential option – assessing how long it would take to make changes 

and improve services.  

• The financial affordability of each option – recognising that we are required to undertake any 

capital investment from internal resources. 

After completing the evaluation, we believe the only viable option is to bring these specific services 

together at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby because: 

• It will directly impact on fewer people 

✓ It is closer to more patients who have poorer health outcomes, who would otherwise 

have to travel further and may not have access to transport (increased travel time would 

impact around 3 people from the most deprived backgrounds per day compared with 6 per 

day).  

✓ It would have the least impact on ambulance services (½ an additional ambulance would 

be required to maintain performance compared with 1 additional ambulance).  

✓ Overall, it would have a lower impact on journeys to and from hospital:  

▪ Fewer people would have to go to a different hospital site (around 14 per day 

compared with 15 per day). 

▪ Fewer people would have longer journeys to and from hospital (around 10 per 

day compared with 13 per day). 

✓ Fewer patients would have to be transferred between sites if they needed to stay in 

hospital overnight. 

• It makes the best use of our financial resources  

✓ It is the only option that is affordable – it would cost three times as much to make 

changes to the buildings at Scunthorpe General Hospital to bring services together there.  

✓ Delivering the services at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby would allow us to 

make the changes within the money we have available and improve services far more 

quickly 

Based upon the capital affordability analysis, only one of the two site scenarios – where the specialist 

services are brought together at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) – can be delivered 

within the capital available to the system. The capital cost to deliver this site option is c.£16m, whereas 

the cost to deliver the site options where services were consolidated at Scunthorpe would cost c.£57m, 

which cannot be delivered from internal capital resources.5  

 

 

 
5 Details of the financial analysis undertaken are provided in section 10.4.3.4. 

Page 70



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

13 
  

 
 

Pathway changes and services outside of hospital 

The proposed changes do not stand alone. The changes proposed will require improvements to be made 

within a number of community and out of hospital services. We have worked with Place teams and 

partners to identify out of hospital work programmes that will support implementation, and to identify 

what needs to be in pace, how it will be resourced and when it can be implemented.  

The proposed model of care is underpinned by fundamental changes to pathways (in and out of 

hospital) and supported by a number of out of hospital enabling changes that would be put in place 

across the Humber to maximise the benefits of the proposed changes and help as many people as 

possible to avoid going to hospital if they don’t need to.  

These changes include: 

 

A number of potential alternative solutions were also evaluated and discounted, including:  

• Creating a new central hospital in Northern Lincolnshire. This idea was considered and 

discounted due to the impact on patient travel times, the impact on neighbouring providers, 

the economic impact and the level of capital investment that would be required. 

• Providing all emergency and unplanned care, maternity, neonatal and paediatric services at 

one Northern Lincolnshire hospital and all planned care at the other. This idea was 

discounted due to the significant impacts on patient travel times and the impact on 

neighbouring providers. 

• Consolidating other urgent and emergency care services – specifically, General Medical and 

Care of the Elderly inpatient care. This was considered and discounted due to the impact of 

transfers on elderly or frail patients and the potential impact on delayed discharges from 

hospital.  

• Clinical assessment closer to home to reduce conveyance rates to hospital and help more 

people to access the right service, first time.  

• Co-located urgent care service (UCS) within the Emergency Department (ED). To treat people 

with more minor injuries and illnesses more quickly and reduce pressure on the ED. 

• Integrated acute assessment model and same day emergency care (SDEC) to improve flow 

within the hospital and reduce overall levels of acute inpatient admissions. 

• Integrated frailty services across all localities in the Humber to provide more proactive support 

for people who are frail and help them to stay well and avoid injuries (e.g., falls). 

• Virtual wards, Hospital at Home and other innovative approaches that will bring more care 

that is currently provided within our hospitals to peoples’ own homes.  

• New staffing models across a range of services, including the development of new roles to 

provide long-term sustainable solutions to our workforce challenges. 

• Improved use of digital to support remote monitoring, provide more responsive services (e.g., 

patient initiated follow-up) and reduce the overall need for patients to travel to hospital. 

Page 71



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

14 
  

Summary of benefits and impacts 

The proposed models of care have been assessed by the Clinical Senate, who have confirmed they will 

provide better, more sustainable services for our population. The models of care have also been 

subject to a rigorous travel and transport mapping exercise aligned to a comprehensive Integrated 

Impact Assessment.6  

The proposed changes would help more patients to be seen and treated more quickly and stay in 

hospital for less time. It would also address critical shortages in workforce by organising our teams more 

effectively. 

Proposed change  Benefit  Impact and mitigations 

Co-located Urgent Care 
Services within the Emergency 
Departments (ED) would be 
expanded and improved to 
assess and treat patients with 
minor illnesses of injuries, 
enabling them to be streamed 
away from ED and treated 
appropriately within and Urgent 
Care pathway. 

Nearly 200 people a day who 
attend our Emergency 
Departments (at Scunthorpe 
and Grimsby Hospitals) would 
be seen and treated more 
quickly and pressure would be 
reduced on services for patients 
with the most serious or life-
threatening needs. 

 

Trauma services would be 
provided at one hospital, with 
Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI) 
remaining as the regional Major 
Trauma Centre (MTC). Patients 
would be taken by ambulance 
directly to one of these 
hospitals based on their clinical 
needs.  

Bringing trauma services 
together would provide access 
to more specialty skills 24/7 
and allow for faster assessment 
and treatment, reducing the 
pressure on the Emergency 
Department and reducing the 
wait to be seen.  

 

It is estimated this change may 
impact c.1.7 patients per day. 

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced though 
improved ambulance transfer 
protocol and advice and 
guidance for crews prior to 
conveyance. 

Inpatient gastroenterology, 
cardiology and respiratory 
services for patients who need:  

• a higher level of 
speciality care, or  

• to stay in hospital for 
more than 72 hours  

would be provided at one 
hospital. 

We would be able to provide 
dedicated 7-day per week care 
from specialists in 
gastroenterology, cardiology 
and respiratory medicine, 
improving the quality of patient 
experience, reducing length of 
stay and supporting patients to 
go home more quickly. 

 

It is estimated that the number 
of patients requiring transfer for 
specialist care would be c.2.9 
per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
provision of specialist in-reach, 
enabling more patients to be 
cared for by a General Medical 
Physician or Geriatrician on site. 

24/7 emergency surgery and 
acute surgical admissions 
(more than 24 hours) would be 
delivered at one hospital.  

Bringing emergency surgery 
with 24/7 teams including 
surgeons, theatre teams, 
nursing staff together at one 

The modelling undertaken 
suggests this could impact c.6.7 
patients per day.  

A proportion of these patients 
could be seen and treated on a 

 
6 Detailed outputs are provided in appendices 10.16 to 10.19. 

Page 72



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

15 
  

Day case emergency surgery 
would be provided across all 
sites. 

hospital will support the future 
sustainability of our workforce. 

day case basis (e.g.,, fractured 
hip pathway) and therefore the 
daily impact is expected to 
reduce as surgical pathways and 
protocols change in line with 
the model of care. 

Inpatient services for children 
and young people who need to 
stay in hospital more than 24 
hours would be provided at one 
hospital. 

Children who require admission 
post-24 hours would be 
transferred for ongoing care 
supported by a dedicated team 
to ensure safe transfers. 

The consolidation of Paediatric 
inpatient services would 
improve training and 
development opportunities and 
support the future 
sustainability of the workforce.  

 

The modelling estimates that 
this may impact c.2.6 patients 
per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
implementation of the Hospital 
at Home model of care for 
paediatric cases which has been 
seen to reduce the need for 
admission and support earlier 
discharge, reducing length of 
stay. 

 

The proposals for change will improve the quality of care, by enabling services to deliver against more 

of the nationally set clinical standards, reduce reliance on expensive agency and locum staff and 

ensure services will be more sustainable in the long term.  The proposed changes will support us to 

deliver more services outside of hospitals – in GP surgeries, new facilities such as Community Diagnostic 

Centres, and in peoples’ own homes – in a more joined-up way so that fewer people will have to travel 

to hospital in the future and their care they receive will be better suited to their needs. 

The proposed changes would also mean that some patients, staff, families and loved ones would have 

increased travel times. Almost all those who will have to travel to a different hospital than their closest 

will do so via ambulance or via free inter-hospital transport if they need to be admitted for a longer 

period of time or for more specialised care. A transport action plan has been developed to support 

timely transfers of patients between hospital sites, support people to return home after a stay in 

hospital and to consider ways to ensure relatives, carers and friends can continue to visit and support 

their loved ones when they are in hospital.  

Page 73



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

16 
  

Conclusion and Next Steps 

 

 

The proposed changes will deliver significant benefit across our health and care system. 

Our current models of care are not sustainable. We do not deliver constitutional standards or clinical 

standards in a number of areas, we have significant vacancies and struggle to recruit specialist skilled 

staff, our agency and locum use is significant as a result and we operate from an ever-deteriorating 

estate. This impacts on our ability to recruit and retain as well as our ability to deliver high quality 

services to the standards we would like.  

We cannot stand still we must make urgent change. The Clinical Senate agree that our services are 

unsustainable in their current form. We must take urgent action to address our short falls 

recognising that any change we make has the potential to have an impact on the population we 

serve and our staff.   

Making changes to consolidate some specialist aspects of care will enable us to meet the required 

clinical standards (e.g., 7-day services), diagnose and treat patients more quickly, improve training 

and development opportunities for our staff and ensure our services are sustainable in the longer 

term.  

Through improved pathways of care and joint working across the system, we would be able to see 

and treat patients more quickly and would expect to see a 4% reduction in the number of patients 

needing to be admitted on an emergency basis at our hospitals.  

When taken together across the whole workforce, the proposed model of care would require the 

equivalent of around 130 (WTE) fewer members of staff than projected business as usual (BAU) 

position, helping to significantly address the vacancy challenges across our hospitals and make 

better use of the valuable and highly skilled workforce we do have. The proposed new model of care 

would also enable us to provide better training and development opportunities and make future 

roles more attractive helping to secure the workforce we need for the future.  

This Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) proposes undertaking statutory public consultation with 

the public, patients and other stakeholders concerning proposals to change the way some more 

complex medical, urgent and emergency care and paediatric (children’s) services are delivered at 

our hospitals in Scunthorpe and Grimsby (Scunthorpe General Hospital and Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby). So that the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board, can make a 

decision about the best way to provide urgent and emergency care and paediatric hospital services 

across Northern Lincolnshire. To allow Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust, Hull 

University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and health and care partners across the Humber to provide 

high quality, safe hospital services that will be sustainable in the long term and meet the needs of 

patients across the region. 

 

Page 74



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

17 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 1 

Our Population and Strategic Context 

  

Page 75



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

18 
  

1. Our Population and Strategic Context 

  

Our population has significantly poorer health outcomes than people living in other parts of the 

country. Responding to these challenges requires a whole-system approach to deliver prevention, 

early intervention, self-help and increased support at, or close to, home to improve the overall 

health and wellbeing of our population. 

Deprivation and health inequalities 

• Some of the most deprived wards in the country can be found in the Humber region and 

there are wide disparities in income, employment, education and training, which have a 

strong correlation with poor health outcomes. We are seeking to address these underlying 

health inequalities through provision of more integrated services and by working in 

partnership to promote opportunities for people in our deprived neighbourhoods to 

progress in careers in health and care.  

• Due to the rurality of much of the region, many of those who live in the most deprived 

communities also live furthest from existing hospital sites. The programme has undertaken 

detailed analysis of the travel impacts to minimise the impact on those least able to travel.  

Public Health Risk Factors 

• A greater proportion of the Humber population has one or more long-term health 

condition(s) such as heart disease or COPD. Improved pathways of care have been designed 

to support patients with multiple co-morbidities to be treated more effectively in the 

community and avoid emergency admissions through better, more joined-up care.  

• In North Lincolnshire, around 1 in 5 children are living in poverty and in North East 

Lincolnshire it is around 1 in 4 (compared with 1 in 6 nationally), which is linked to poor 

health outcomes. Working with partners we can develop more responsive service models in 

local communities to support children and families.  

Barriers and inequity 

• Rates of car ownership are lower than average in the Humber area. We have worked with 

partners to develop a transport action plan to mitigate any impacts of changes on travel and 

support people to access care and employment opportunities.  

• Digital exclusion is an issue for many, particularly those in the most deprived areas.  We 

have developed the proposals in line with the Partnership’s digital inclusion principles to 

ensure everyone can benefit from digitally-enabled changes. 

The proposals within this business case have been developed in partnership with health and care 

providers, local authorities and voluntary sector partners, focusing on specific pathways that will 

help to tackle underlying inequalities faced by our population.  

This pre-consultation business case (PCBC) is built upon a strong foundation of collaboration across 

the Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership. Collaboration between acute hospital 

trusts, in local communities, Places and across the whole system is supporting all partners to deliver 

the aims and ambitions of the NHS Long Term Plan and other important national and local strategies.   

Page 76



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

19 
  

 
Summary Box 1.1 

1.1 Background 

The Humber Acute Services Programme commenced in 2018 to design future models of care for hospital 

services that are safe, accessible and meet the needs of local people. The acute hospital services in 

scope within this Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) are provided by:  

• Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) 

• Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust (NLaG) 

 
Map 1.1 Hospital Catchment Area HUTH and NLaG 

The map above shows the location of the five hospital sites and combined catchment area (purple line) 

for both trusts for secondary care services in scope. Hull University Teaching Hospitals (HUTH) also 

provides a range of specialist or tertiary services for a larger region, serving patients living across East 

Yorkshire, parts of North Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire.   

There is commitment from all partners to work together to address the challenges faced by our 

population, supported through strengthened Place collaborative arrangements. Improved 

pathways of care, delivered by a more flexible workforce that can move between organisations and 

sectors, will result in a more integrated, approach to meeting the health and care needs of local 

people. This, in turn, will help to address the stark health inequalities that are evident within our 

population, by delivering care that is more tailored to the needs of each individual and reducing the 

overreliance on secondary care settings that is evident within the Humber health and care system.  

Page 77



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

20 
  

Patients travel from outside of the Humber area, from Lincolnshire County Council area in particular, to 

access secondary care services at our hospital sites – the combined catchment area with an extended 

30km buffer is also displayed on the map (yellow line).  

There are residents living within the Humber area who access secondary care services from other 

hospital trusts, in particular at York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust at York, 

Scarborough and Bridlington hospitals. These services are not in scope for this programme.  

The programme began with a clinically led review of hospital services which was evidence-based and 

considered what is working well elsewhere. It also considered local health needs and reflected what has 

worked, and what hasn’t, from similar changes in other parts of the UK. The review was undertaken 

collaboratively with partners from across health and social care, the voluntary and community sector, 

patients and the public.  

Whilst the starting point for the review was a focus on those aspects of care traditionally provided 

within acute hospitals, the programme team has worked with partners across the health and care 

system to align with other aspects of care such as primary, mental health, community and social care. 

This is essential as changes in one part of the health and care system cannot be made successfully 

without other parts of the system also changing.  

The review led to three inter-linked programmes of work, which sought to design proposals for change 

over the short, medium and long term:  

• Programme 1 (Interim Clinical Plan):  This programme was about keeping services safe in the 

here and now. During 2020 to Spring 2022, a programme of work was designed to stabilise 

several services that had been identified as needing to change quickly. The programme’s aim 

was to improve the safety and the quality of these services whilst keeping them as local as 

possible, given key constraints – especially staff numbers and old estate. This work supported 

the two trusts in the Humber to put in place some important building blocks for collaboration 

(see section 1.2.4). The implementation is now being managed operationally within the acute 

trusts and is referred to as the Humber Clinical Collaborative Programme (HCCP). 

• Programme 2 (Core Hospital Services):  This programme is about designing a future model for 

hospital care that is fit for purpose for our population. The programme has looked at each of the 

building blocks of the core hospital services – urgent and emergency care (services people need 

right away), maternity, neonatal and children’s services, planned care (operations and other 

procedures which are booked in advance) and diagnostics (X-rays, CT and MRI scans) – and 

considered how and where they might be offered in a different way. This Pre-Consultation 

Business Case sets out proposals for urgent and emergency care and paediatrics that were 

developed through this programme. Other aspects of the work undertaken through this 

programme (e.g., planned care strategy; maternity and neonatal care review) are continuing in 

parallel with oversight provided by the Collaborative of Acute Providers (CAP) and the 

Integrated Care Board. 

• Programme 3 (Building Better Places):  This programme is about building the hospitals of the 

future and using major capital investment as a catalyst for regeneration and revitalisation of our 

region.  Work was undertaken to develop a Strategic Outline Case for major capital investment 

to address the significant issues with ageing infrastructure across the region. This wider 

investment is not required to deliver the proposals within this business case but will be required 

in the future to address issues with crumbling infrastructure across both trusts (see section 2.5). 

Page 78



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

21 
  

1.1.1 Principles 

The programme was undertaken in accordance with a set of nine key principles, which were agreed at 

the outset of the Humber Acute Services Review.7  

• A commitment to provide acute hospital services that are patient-focussed, safe and 

sustainable, meeting the needs of our population both now and in the future; 

• The service review will be clinically-led; 

• The review will be evidence-based and take into account best practice; 

• The review will focus on hospital services rather than hospital buildings and organisations; 

• The review will be cognisant of local developments in out-of-hospital care and work towards 

solutions that support joined-up care across the system; 

• A transparent, collaborative and inclusive approach will be adopted at all stages of the review 

process, ensuring engagement with key stakeholders from the outset; 

• Plans for the future provision of acute hospital services will be developed in accordance with the 

levels of human, physical and financial resource expected to be available; 

• Plans for the future provision will include urgent and emergency care (UEC) and maternity care 

in Hull, Grimsby and Scunthorpe; 

• The review will be undertaken in accordance with an agreed programme plan that sets out 

objectives, processes, timescales and resources. 

The approach taken to the development of the potential future models of care presented in this 

document has been iterative, based on good practice, data analysis, evidence and independent reviews 

and has taken on board learning through the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

 
Summary Box 1.2 

  

 
7 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2017) Humber Acute Services Review Principles Review 
Principles 

Our collective ambition is for everyone across the Humber to have access to the best possible 

healthcare and opportunities to live healthy, happy lives.  

This ambition is why we have developed proposals for change. Optimising opportunities across 

the Humber unlocks a range of new possibilities for the region and its people. 

Page 79

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/HASR-Principles-final.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/HASR-Principles-final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

22 
  

1.2 Context – the Humber Health and Care System 

1.2.1 Health and Care in the Humber 

Every year across the Humber region there are around 280,000 attendances at our Emergency 

Departments, more than 9,400 babies are born in our hospitals, almost 150,000 operations and 

procedures are performed and nearly 1.2 million hospital outpatient appointments take place. 

These acute hospital services are only a small part of a much wider health and care system.  Primary 

care – GP services, dentistry and optometry – supports the vast majority of the population with their 

healthcare needs on a day-to-day basis.  Across the Humber there are 19 Primary Care Networks (PCNs), 

which are made up of GP practices working together and with community, mental health, social care, 

pharmacy, hospital and voluntary services in their local areas to meet the needs of local people.  Across 

the Humber there are around 315 residential care homes, just over 100 home care companies and 

thousands of voluntary and community sector organisations (c.13,500 organisations and groups across 

Humber and North Yorkshire).8  Many people are now living longer with long term conditions or suffer 

with mental health issues and primary care networks enable more proactive, personalised, coordinated 

and integrated health and social care to address these needs. 

The health and care sector makes a significant contribution towards the local economy across the 

Humber.  Health and Social care jobs account for just over 14% of all jobs in the Humber local authority 

areas.9  

1.2.2 The Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership  

Following passage of the Health and Care Act (2022),10 the six Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

across the Humber and North Yorkshire merged to form the NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) on 1st July 

2022.  The Humber and North Yorkshire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) assumed the statutory 

responsibilities previously belonging to the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), including 

responsibility for strategic planning and consultation on major service change.  

The NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) is part of a wider Integrated Care System (ICS), which includes all 

partners from the NHS, social care, local authorities and the voluntary and community sector who have 

been working together under the auspices of the Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership 

since 2016.  This strong track record of collaboration and partnership working has enabled this Pre-

Consultation Business Case (PCBC) to be co-produced with partners from across the whole health and 

care system in the Humber. 

The ambition of the Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership is: “for everyone in our 

population to live longer, healthier lives by narrowing the gap in healthy life expectancy between the 

highest and lowest levels in our communities by 2030 and increasing healthy life expectancy by five years 

by 2035.” 

To reach that ambition, our vision is to ensure that all our people “start well, live well, age well and die 

well.”  The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has focussed the Partnership further on addressing the 

health, social care and public health needs of our communities and through wider connections on issues 

 
8 Chapman, Tony (2021) The structure, dynamics and impact of the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
sector VCSE Sector Impact Report 
9 Nomis (2020) Official census and labour market statistics Local Authority Profiles  
10 HM Government (2022) The Health and Care Act The Health and Care Act 

Page 80

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/The-structure-dynamics-and-impact-of-the-VCSE-Final-Report.pdf
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/contents.aspx
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted?view=plain


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

23 
  

such as inclusion, socio-economic development, housing, employment and environment we are 

supporting our communities and levelling-up opportunities.    

The Partnership’s priorities are: 

• improving outcomes in population health and healthcare 

• tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access 

• enhancing productivity and value for money 

• helping to support broader social and economic development 

The Partnership is working to bring about a fundamental shift in focus from picking people up when they 

fall ill, to helping to prevent people from becoming ill in the first place.  This means delivering integrated 

services and organisations that support patients, their families and carers to have a seamless 

experience, wherever possible, providing care at or close to where people live, through new 

technologies and flexible local services. For more specialist care and treatments that cannot be offered 

everywhere, it means providing the highest quality care and supporting people to access it. 

The Partnership is also focussed on the role it can play in supporting the communities it serves on wider 

issues such as supporting the local economy, employment and the environment by working as a 

collective of anchor institutions. 

1.2.2.1 A catalyst for change – our anchor network 

Anchor institutions are large, public-sector organisations that are unlikely to relocate and have a 

significant stake in a geographical area. The size, scale and reach of the NHS means it influences the 

health and wellbeing of communities simply by being there.11  One of the goals of our Partnership is to 

leverage this influence, work closely with partners across each of our places to maximise the benefits we 

can bring to the health and wellbeing of the populations we serve.  

Hospitals are significant players in their local economies, contributing value to the economy through the 

provision of jobs and wages that can be spent in local businesses, generating demand for (and spend in) 

ancillary industries, providing training and development opportunities for local people by improving the 

health and social wellbeing of those accessing the healthcare services provided. 

In North East Lincolnshire, Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust (NLaG) is the largest 

single employer within the district. In North Lincolnshire it is the second largest after British Steel. 

Across its three hospital sites and community services, NLaG employs nearly 7000 people. Hull 

University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust is similarly amongst the largest employers in the Hull and East 

Riding area, employing over 8000 staff.  Across the Humber, ‘Human health and social work activities’ is 

the third largest industry by numbers employed (after manufacturing and wholesale trade), except in 

East Riding of Yorkshire where it is the second largest (above manufacturing).12   

Research by the Health Foundation explains that access to good quality employment opportunities can 

significantly improve the physical and mental health and wellbeing of those who take up the roles. 

Young adults who are unemployed are more than twice as likely to suffer from mental ill health than 

those in work.13 In developing the potential models of care, we have worked with partners from across 

health and care, local government and the private sector to develop models of care that will support 

 
11 The Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor institution 
Building Healthier Communities 
12 Nomis (2022) official census and labour market statistics Labour Market Profiles 
13 The Health Foundation (2018) What Makes Us Healthy What Makes Us Healthy  

Page 81

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/contents.aspx
https://reader.health.org.uk/what-makes-us-healthy/4-influences-health-and-bring-about-change#good-work


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

24 
  

new career pathways and enable local people to enter the workforce and provide the staffing our 

services need now and in the future (see section 8.3.4).  

In developing plans for capital investment and rebuilding our estate, we also focused on the wider 

benefits that could be leveraged for the local economy by working in partnership with organisations 

across the public and private sectors, who are leaders in education, economic development, R&D and 

healthcare for our region. By taking a holistic approach to investment and embracing our role as anchor 

institutions, we can create opportunities for jobs, growth, social impact, environmental protection and 

innovation.14  

1.2.3 Health and Care Partners in the Humber 

 

Health and care partners across the Humber15 include: 

• 19 Primary Care Networks 

• 2 Acute hospital trusts16  

• 4 Community Services providers 

• 4 Mental Health providers 

• 2 Ambulance trusts 

• Social Care providers, supported by 5 Local Authorities 

• Secondary Care partners 

• Voluntary and community sector partners 

• Commissioners 

• Neighbouring systems 

Health and care organisations work together through Place-based partnerships in each of the four 

places – North Lincolnshire, North East Lincolnshire, East Riding of Yorkshire and Hull – and through 

sector collaboratives across the Humber and North Yorkshire area (covering the acute sector, mental 

health, primary care, community and the voluntary sector). These collaborative arrangements together 

form the Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership or Integrated Care System (ICS). 17   

A wide range of stakeholders were involved in the Humber Acute Services programme.  

 
14 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2020) Building Better Places – Economic and Social Impact 
Report ESI Report  
15 A full list of organisations is provided in appendix 10.1 
16 In addition to the two acute trusts operating within the Humber area (Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS 
Foundation Trust and Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust), many Humber residents also access acute 
services at York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
17 A list of acronyms used within this document is provided in appendix 10.20 

The Humber is served by a complex and diverse health and care economy comprised of a wide 

range of NHS organisations, social enterprises and other public, private and voluntary sector 

providers. This diversity creates opportunities to deliver services differently, leveraging the 

different assets of our social enterprises, voluntary sector organisations and wider health partners.  

Page 82

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Humber-Coast-and-Vale-Building-Better-Places-Economic-and-Social-Impact-report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

25 
  

 
Figure 1.1 Stakeholder Map 

1.2.4 Acute Trust Collaboration 

Despite operating under different systems of governance, both hospital trusts have increased their 

levels of cooperation and collaboration over recent years, recognising the benefits of bringing together 

the strengths of NLaG’s position as a Foundation Trust and HUTH’s standing as a University Teaching 

trust and tertiary centre. Both HUTH and NLaG are committed to further increasing collaboration to 

meet the needs of the population. The trusts have strengthened their governance and leadership 

arrangements to enable collective decision-making and joint ownership of challenges and solutions. 

These changes have included, for example: 

• The recruitment of a joint Chair to provide joined-up leadership and direction. 

• The creation of Committee(s) in Common with delegated responsibility from both Trust Boards 

for joint working.  

• The creation of an Executive-led Joint Development Board to oversee increased levels of joint 

working, performance management and leadership of fragile and vulnerable services. 

• The development and agreement of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) and Service Level 

Agreement (SLA) to enable joint working to take place. 

• The appointment to a number of executive joint leads.    

In November 2022, the Trust Boards made separate decisions to move to a group structure with a single 

Executive Team overseeing both trusts. The group executive management model is increasingly being 

adopted across the NHS and the boards of both organisations agreed that it is the right approach for the 

two trusts serving the Humber, enabling them to address the challenges both organisations face more 

effectively. In December 2022 a process began to appoint a Group Chief Executive, with an appointment 

made in May 2023. Work is planned to take place over the summer of 2023 to finalise the structure of 

the group, including any shared governance arrangements. 

Page 83



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

26 
  

This strengthened governance and leadership has enabled the trusts to develop and implement new 

ways of working in a number of specialties where workforce challenges and demand pressures were 

impacting upon the ability to provide safe and effective services for all. For example, from October 2021, 

the trusts brought together existing neurology teams into a single service to provide more equitable 

access to neurology services for patients from across the Humber. The service operates with a single 

patient list and a single point of access for GP referrals, but with key clinics still offered at local hospital 

sites. Working together in this way has provided greater resilience within the neurology workforce, 

which can offer a better service to patients, particularly those in North and North East Lincolnshire who 

previously faced longer waits and a less efficient pathway of care. 

 

1.2.5 Collaboration at Place 

Collaborative working across different sectors – primary, secondary, community, mental health and 

social care – has also increased in recent years and provides a strong foundation on which to build new 

models of care that are better integrated and designed around the needs of patients and service-users.  

Collaborative arrangements are organised around the four Places, which correspond to the four Local 

Authority areas: North Lincolnshire, North East Lincolnshire, Hull and East Riding of Yorkshire. Place-

based partnerships, incorporating NHS organisations, local authorities and other public, private and 

voluntary sector providers, are the key mechanism for delivering transformation for out of hospital care 

as well as helping to shape the future of hospital-based care.  

Examples of the positive impact of collaboration and new ways of working that have been developed 

through Place partnerships, include the Connected Health Network model of outpatient care (see 

section 7.1.3.1.1) that has radically reduced waiting times for cardiology outpatient appointments in 

North East Lincolnshire, completely eliminating the waiting list in just four months and the innovative 

approach to managing frailty implemented in Hull through the Jean Bishop Centre (see section 5.2.4.2), 

contributing to a 3% reduction in emergency hospital attendances, an 8% reduction in admissions and a 

28% reduction in occupied bed days for patients aged over 80.   

 

  

The continued development of the group leadership model and work through the Humber 

Clinical Collaborative Programme (HCCP) to integrate clinical teams and acute hospital services 

across the Humber will support delivery of the proposed new models of care. 

Strong Place-based collaboration and shared learning across the region will support delivery of 

the proposed new models of care. For example, we can reduce unnecessary admissions of frail 

patients and support them better in, or close to, their own homes by developing effective frailty 

models across the Humber, learning from the success of the approach in Hull.  

This trajectory towards greater collaboration – both between the acute trusts and across the 

wider health and care system – will support the delivery of new and improved models of care 

across the Humber. 

Page 84



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

27 
  

1.3 Context – Policy and Strategy 

The NHS is experiencing some of the most significant challenges since its inception. These were 

compounded during the COVID-19 pandemic. Pressures within the system include increased levels of 

emergency demand, shortages in key skills across a number of clinical specialties and increased waiting 

times for planned care. Despite these challenges, the pandemic was also a catalyst for improved 

collaboration across the health and care system and provided an opportunity to look at how we can 

implement new models of care, in particular maximising the use of remote monitoring, virtual care and 

new and emerging technologies.  

The Government has set out its overarching priorities for Health and Social Care in three key documents, 

which provide the framework within which we must deliver our services for the future:  

• the NHS Long Term Plan (2019) 

• the NHS People Plan (2020) 

• the Health and Care Act (2022) 

1.3.1 The NHS Long Term Plan 

The NHS Long Term Plan (‘the Plan’), published in January 2019, outlined the key ambitions of the NHS 

over the period to 2030.18  The Plan focuses on patients taking greater ownership of their care, with 

improved disease prevention and support, more integrated and joined up care through collaboration, 

increased use of digital technology and an emphasis on staff health and wellbeing.  

The NHS has traditionally provided a hospital-based model of care, which has relied upon people visiting 

hospitals for tests, clinical assessments and procedures.  Advances in technology and clinical techniques 

mean that significantly more care can be provided out of hospital in other settings or indeed at home, 

but these opportunities are not being fully optimised at present.  Working in new ways requires change, 

to make improvements to technology and help our staff and service-users develop the skills they need. 

In making these changes we need to understand the communities we serve and ensure we do not 

inadvertently disadvantage some communities.19 The NHS Plan require us to focus on:  

• Providing faster support to people in their own homes and improved NHS support for care homes. 

• Funding new evidence-based NHS prevention programmes, including smoking cessation, obesity 

reduction, reducing alcohol related emergency admissions and to lower air pollution. 

• Setting out specific measurable goals and mechanisms by which we will contribute to narrowing 

health inequalities in our region.  

• Expanding the number of medical, nursing, midwifery, allied health professional (AHP) and other 

staff by increasing training and international recruitment. 

• Making the NHS a more attractive place to work with mandatory flexible rostering and increased 

professional development funding. 

• Making widespread upgrades in technology to allow clinicians to access patient records and care 

plans wherever they are, and to allow patients and their carers to better manage their health 

condition. 

• Making reforms to diagnostic services including investment in new digital diagnostic imaging 

services and creation of pathology and diagnostic imaging network 

 
18 NHS England and Improvement (2019) The NHS Long Term Plan The NHS Long Term Plan 
19 See Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) for detailed analysis (see document library) 

Page 85

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

28 
  

The Plan sets out a number of areas of focus relevant to the potential models of care designed through 

the Humber Acute Services programme. 

1.3.1.1 Urgent and Emergency Care 

Urgent and emergency care systems have seen unprecedented levels of demand over recent years and 

face a number of challenges.  The NHS Long Term Plan sets out key requirements in relation to urgent 

and emergency care, including:  

• Fully implement the Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) (Urgent Care Services) model by autumn 

2020, with the option for appointments booked through NHS 111 (this was achieved in some 

areas across the Humber however, the operating model needs to be improved to increase 

patient access) 

• All hospitals with a major Emergency Department (ED) will:  

o provide same day emergency care (SDEC) at least 12 hours a day (in place) 

o provide an acute frailty service for at least 70 hours a week (in place) 

o aim to record 100% of patient activity in ED, UTCs and SDEC units via Emergency Care 

Data Set by 2020 (partially in place)  

o test and begin implementing new urgent and emergency care standards arising from 

the Clinical Standards review by October 2019 (national consultation response not yet 

finalised) 

o further reduce delayed transfers of care in partnership with local authorities.  

• By 2023, Clinical Assessment Services will typically act as a single point of access for patients, 

carers and health professionals (partially in place). 

• Develop new ways to treat those with the most serious illness and injury to receive the best 

care in the shortest time. 

• Improve responsiveness of community health crisis response to deliver services within two 

hours of referral in line with National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines. 

The Partnership strategic aim for urgent and emergency care is that “when needed, everyone within 

Humber, Coast and Vale [sic.] will have 24/7 access to information, advice and direct care that will meet 

their needs and that this will be outside of hospital wherever possible.” 20 

Over the coming years, we will streamline access to care, with a focus on NHS 111 and ensuring this is as 

effective as it can be at directing people to the appropriate service.  The aim articulated in the 

Partnership Long Term Plan was to reduce the number of people attending Emergency Departments 

(EDs) in hospitals by 10% (by 2024), by offering more joined-up care and directing people to other 

appropriate services.  In developing our potential future models of care, we have been able to push this 

target further still through the work to redesign urgent and emergency care pathways (see section 5.2). 

1.3.1.2 Paediatrics 

The areas the NHS Long Term Plan highlights a need to focus on within services for children and young 

people include:  

• Expansion of mental health services for children and young people, growing funding faster than 

overall NHS funding. 

 
20 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2020) The Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care 
Partnership Long Term Plan HCV Partnership Long Term Plan 

Page 86

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/HCV-Partnership-Long-Term-Plan-FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

29 
  

• Action to tackle the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths in people with learning 

disabilities and for autistic people, with reduced waiting times for specialist services. 

• Offer all children with cancer whole genome sequencing and actively supporting clinical trials. 

• Prioritise improvements in childhood immunisation. 

• Improve primary or community care treatment options to reduce attendance at ED. 

• Clinical network roll out for children with long term conditions, including Critical Care and 

surgical networks. 

We are working together with partners to deliver these aims and strategic objectives through 

developments in out of hospital care as well as developing the potential future models for hospital care 

described in this document.  

1.3.2 The NHS People Plan 

Across the Humber, healthcare organisations employ c20,000 whole time equivalent (WTE) members of 

staff across a range of disciplines – this includes social enterprise partners who deliver NHS services, 

primary care networks and those employed by the Integrated Care Board.  Our people are our greatest 

asset.  The NHS People Plan – created collaboratively between the NHS and its staff – outlines the NHS 

commitment to look after its staff and foster a culture of inclusion and belonging, it also sets out actions 

to grow our workforce, train our people, and work together differently to deliver patient care.21 

The commitments and priorities within the People Plan have helped to shape our plans for the future. In 

particular the focus on new ways of working to deliver care has enabled new and innovative approaches 

to be developed, working across sectors, to deliver more integrated services in the future.  These new 

workforce models and ideas are set out later in this document (see sections 8.3.4). Our proposed 

models of care look at how we recruit, retain and develop staff along with identifying new skills that 

could be developed to meet gaps within our workforce for both clinical and non-clinical staff at all 

grades. 

 

  

 
21 NHS England (July 2020) We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action for us all NHS People Plan 

This PCBC is built upon a strong foundation of collaboration across the Humber and North Yorkshire 

Health and Care Partnership. Collaboration between acute hospital trusts, in local communities, places 

and across the whole system is supporting all partners to deliver the aims and ambitions of the NHS 

Long Term Plan and improvements in experience, access and outcomes for our population. 

Our plans have been developed in collaboration with staff, patients, elected representatives and the 

public. They recognise the issues we face, the inequalities in our population base and the need for us to 

work more collaboratively to deliver services that are clinically sustainable in the long term.  

Page 87

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/We-Are-The-NHS-Action-For-All-Of-Us-FINAL-March-21.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

30 
  

1.4 Context – Our Population 

1.4.1 The Humber Population 

 
Summary Box 1.3 – Humber population overview 

1.4.1.1 Age profile 

The Humber’s age profile is trending towards an older population, and this is exacerbated by the slow 

overall growth in the population and declining birth rate. Hull has a significantly younger population 

than the national average, with more children and working-aged people. Neighbouring East Riding, 

however, has a significantly older and aging population. In North and North East Lincolnshire, the older 

population (65+) is higher in the rural fringes and the urban population is younger. 

 

  East Riding Hull  North East 

Lincs North Lincs East 

Lindsey 
West 

Lindsey 
15 and under 15.8% 19.9% 18.8% 17.8% 14.7% 16.9% 

16 – 64 57.8% 64.8% 60.3% 60.2% 54.9% 57.9% 
65+ 26.4% 15.3% 20.9% 22.0% 30.5% 25.2% 

Table 1.1 Age profile by local authority - high level categories22 

 

 
22 ONS (2022) Population and household estimates, England and Wales: Census 2021 Census 2021 

The Humber area has a diverse mix of industrial, urban, rural and coastal areas, encompassing the four 

main local authority areas – East Riding of Yorkshire, Hull, North Lincolnshire and North East 

Lincolnshire – and is home to just under one million people (935,900 people in 2021).  Taken together, 

Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) and Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS 

Foundation Trust (NLaG) serve a population of around 1,045,700 people, including coastal communities 

within Lincolnshire County Council area. Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) also 

provides a range of tertiary (specialist) services for the wider region, serving a population of up to 1.25 

million extending from Scarborough in North Yorkshire to Grimsby and Scunthorpe.  

The Humber population is growing more slowly than the rest of the country.  It is expected to increase 

by around 1.5% over the next five years, compared with 5.5% nationally and 3.5% for the Yorkshire and 

Humber region. Like in other parts of the country, our population is getting older. But people are not 

always living well in their older age, with significantly lower than average healthy life expectancy – 

which ranges between 53 and 58 years old across Northern Lincolnshire and Hull. 

As the population across Northern Lincolnshire continues to age, it is more important than ever to 

design pro-active, responsive services in communities to support older people with multiple long-

term conditions to prevent people spending time in hospital in response to an event. For example, 

pro-active falls prevention, delivered through multi-disciplinary teams, can support more of our frail 

population to access support they may not have known about and prevent the expense, stress and 

inconvenience of travel and a potential admission to hospital. 

Page 88

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/populationandhouseholdestimatesenglandandwales/census2021unroundeddata


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

31 
  

The forecast population change from 2020 to 2030, broken down across the four Humber local authority 

areas, is as follows: 

• a decrease of 0.22% in Hull 

• an increase of 2.96% in the East Riding of Yorkshire 

• an increase of 1.57% in North Lincolnshire 

• a decrease of 0.68% for North East Lincolnshire23 

A detailed analysis of the forecast increase highlights a significant increase in the older age range as set 

out in the graphs below.  

 
Figure 1.2 Population projection – proportion of people aged 65 years and over by LA, 2018 – 204324 

1.4.1.2 Ethnicity 

The Humber population is less ethnically diverse than the country as a whole, however, some 

neighbourhoods have a high concentration of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic populations. 4.98% of the 

Humber population is from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic background, with the largest group being 

Asian/Asian British (2.06% overall but ranging up to over 30% in some local areas).25 

Local Authority White Asian / 
Asian 
British 

Mixed / 
Multiple 
Ethnic Group 

Black / African / 
Caribbean / 
Black British 

Other 
Ethnic 
Group 

East Riding of Yorkshire 97.4% 1.1% 0.9% 0.3% 0.4% 

Hull 91.8% 2.8% 1.7% 1.9% 1.8% 

North East Lincolnshire 96.2% 1.6% 1.0% 0.5% 0.7% 

North Lincolnshire 94.3% 3.3% 1.1% 0.5% 1.1% 

Humber 96.4% 2.1% 1.2% 0.8% 0.9% 

England 81.0% 9.6% 3.0% 4.2% 2.2% 

Table 1.2 Ethnicity breakdown by Local Authority26 

The neighbourhoods (Lower Super Output Areas – LSOAs) with the largest concentration of Asian/Asian 

British Population are all in North Lincolnshire: 

 
23 ONS (2020) Subnational population projections for England: 2018-based Population Projections 
24 ONS (2020) Subnational population projections for England: 2018-based Population Projections 
25 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 
26 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 

Page 89

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2018based#change-by-region
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2018based#change-by-region
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

32 
  

LSOA Asian/Asian 

British      

Overall % 

Area Post Code Deprivation IMD 

Score 

Decile 
(1 = top 10% of 

LSOAs) 

E01013333 33.33% North Lincs DN15 12.49 7 

E01013332 32.39% North Lincs DN15 37.16 2 

E01013300 22.63% North Lincs DN15 46.74 1 

E01013296 21.26% North Lincs DN15 55.06 1 

Table 1.3 LSOAs with highest %age Asian/Asian British population27 

The neighbourhoods (LSOAs) with the largest concentration of Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 

population are all in Hull: 

LSOA Black/African/ 

Caribbean/ 

Black British 

Overall % 

Area Post Code Deprivation IMD 

Score 

Decile 
(1 = top 10% of 

LSOAs) 

E01012869 13.16% Hull HU5 38.89 2 

E01012854 9.61% Hull HU1 / HU3 70.60 1 

E01012855 7.51% Hull HU3 78.37 1 

E01012761 6.57% Hull HU3/HU5 53.36 1 

Table 1.4 LSOAs with highest %age of Black/African/Caribbean/Black British population28 

Across all Humber localities, the largest minority ethnic group is ‘Other White’, making up 4.42% of the 

Humber’s population (but ranging to over 30% in some neighbourhoods). 

Local Authority White: English, Welsh, Scottish, 

Northern Irish or British 

White: Other White 

East Riding of Yorkshire 94.63% 2.28% 

Hull 83.85% 7.43% 

North East Lincolnshire 92.65% 3.29% 

North Lincolnshire 88.72% 5.04% 

Table 1.5 Ethnicity by Local Authority - White/Other White29 

The neighbourhoods (LSOAs) with the largest concentration of communities identifying as ‘Other White’ 

populations are spread across the region, in Hull, Goole and Scunthorpe.  

LSOA Other White 
Overall % 

Area Post Code Deprivation 
IMD Score 

Decile 
(1 = top 10% 

of LSOAs) 

E01012871 35.16% Hull HU5 38.94 2 

E01012999 32.52% East Riding of Yorkshire DN14 29.37 3 

E01012997 32.05% East Riding of Yorkshire DN14 27.90 3 

Table 1.6 LSOAs with highest %age of ‘Other White’ population30 

 
27 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 
28 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 
29 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 
30 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS021 Census 2021 

Page 90

https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS021/editions/2021/versions/1


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

33 
  

The majority of people living within these communities identify their nationality as belonging to an EU 

country. Polish, Romanian and Lithuanian were the most common national identities and are also the 

most widely spoken languages across the Humber region. 

1.4.1.2.1 Addressing Health Inequalities in our BAME Communities 

There is strong evidence that people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds face 

greater health inequalities. This was highlighted through the COVID-19 pandemic, which had a 

disproportionate impact on BAME populations in terms of incidence of disease and mortality. It is 

important to understand the barriers and reasons for these structural inequalities. An example of how 

we are responding as a system to these challenges is the targeted vaccine programme undertaken in 

North Lincolnshire.  

 
Summary Box 1.4 Targeted vaccination programme case study 

 

 

Case Study – North Lincolnshire Targeted Vaccination Programme 

Following targeted engagement across communities, we knew we had to take vaccines to the 

people. We learned some communities only felt safe within those communities and some lacked 

trust in the NHS. We had to approach this differently to how we had done things historically.  

We visited gurdwaras, mosques, homeless shelters and set up pop-up clinics in our most deprived 

areas. These visits proved extremely successful in terms of vaccine uptake, with a number of strong 

relationships being produced.  Our pop-up clinics in Scunthorpe mosques and gurdwaras were 

extremely well utilised. The team implemented similar pop-up clinics in workplaces where there is a 

high number of Eastern European workers. We took an interpreter to build trust and saw hundreds 

more vaccinated. It proved an opportunity to converse with Polish, Slovakian and Romanian 

residents. We busted myths and developed relationships.  

Thanks to ward-level nationality data, we could target our efforts in communities where uptake was 

lower, providing information (including promotion videos) in the area’s most commonly spoken 

languages. This was promoted by BBC Radio Humberside and BBC Look North – spreading the 

message further. We took a GP and the North Lincolnshire Multi Faith Partnership so we could give 

clinical advice and speak the correct languages tailored to who we spoke with in the street. The 

initiative led to a surge of vaccinations at the nearby centre.   

We quickly learnt that for many people they live in a community within a community. For some, 

travelling past their local shop was intimidating. For others, leaving their street was intimidating. 

Only conversations with these people helped us understand why this was. Often mental or physical 

health issues were at the heart of it. For others, they only felt safe and comfortable in and around 

their home/place of worship. We adapted to fit the needs of our population.  

Following the success of taking the vaccine to the community through pop up sites in our deprived 

areas, workplaces and places of worship to increase uptake, we are now adopting the same 

approach with other remits of work such as our cardiovascular disease project to drive population 

health management by following the blueprint created. 

 

Page 91



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

34 
  

1.4.1.3 Life Expectancy 

 

 
Figure 1.3 Life Expectancy at Birth (years), 2018-202031 

Not only do people within the Humber have a lower life expectancy when compared to the England 

average but they are spending an increasing proportion of their lives living with serious health 

conditions. The age to which people can expect to live a healthy life currently stands at 63.1 years for 

men and 63.9 years for women in England. The figures for Hull, North Lincolnshire and North East 

Lincolnshire show a marked variance for both males and females when compared to the England 

average, with significantly worse outcomes in our region compared with the country as a whole.  

 
Figure 1.4 Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth (years) (2018-2020)32 

 
31 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, OHID (2022) Wider Determinants of Health – Life Expectancy at 
Birth Fingertips 
32 OHID (2022) Wider Determinants of Health – Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth Fingertips 

80.1

75.6

78
78.7

79.4

83.5

80

82.2 82.7 83.1

70

75

80

85

East Riding of
Yorkshire

Hull North East
Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire England

Life Expectancy at Birth (years), 2018-20

Male Female

65.3

53.8
55.2

58.7

63.1

67.9

57.9 57.5
56.4

63.9

50

55

60

65

70

East Riding of
Yorkshire

Hull North East
Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire England

Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth (years), 2018-20

Male Female

Our population can expect to live shorter and less healthy lives than those living in other parts of 

England. In each of the Humber local authority areas (except for the East Riding of Yorkshire), life 

expectancy rates at birth are significantly lower than the England average.  

Developing more integrated pathways, with community-based supported targeted in deprived 

communities across the Humber, will help to address these stark inequalities.  

Page 92

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/wider-determinants#gid/1938133080/ati/15
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/healthy%20life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000012/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

35 
  

When looking at ‘healthy’ life expectancy at birth, women living in North Lincolnshire can, on average, 

expect to live the last 26 years of their lives in ill health, while men in Hull can typically expect to live the 

last 22 years of their lives in ill health.  

The potential models of care were designed to meet the demographic changes that are forecast, paying 

particular attention to meeting the needs of an older population with increasingly complex health and 

care needs.  

1.4.2 Deprivation and Health Inequalities 

 

1.4.2.1 Deprivation 

The Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) ranks each small area in England (Lower Super Output Area – 

LSOA) from the most to the least deprived, taking account of many of the wider determinants of health 

such as income, employment, education, crime, housing and living environment.33 

The average Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score for the Humber areas combined is 27.4, which is 

higher (more deprived) than the England average of 21.7. There is also significant variation in 

deprivation levels between and within the local authorities in the Humber region. The East Riding of 

Yorkshire is classed within the least deprived areas of England, whilst Hull and North East Lincolnshire 

are within the most deprived areas overall.  

 
Figure 1.5 Average index of Multiple Deprivation Score (2019)34 

 
33 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, MHCLG (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 
IMD 2019 
34 MHCLG (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 IMD 2019 

15.6

40.6

31.3

22.1 21.7

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

East Riding of
Yorkshire

Hull North East
Lincolnshire

North
Lincolnshire

England

Average Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Score 2019

Some of the most deprived wards in the country can be found within the Humber region and there 

are wide disparities in income, employment, education and training and levels of crime. Many 

individuals and communities across the Humber are disproportionately affected by ill-health and 

premature death.   

Improving the quality and sustainability of hospital-based services will ensure we can better meet 

the needs of those impacted by poor health in our communities by providing healthcare services that 

meet nationally-set clinical standards.  Our wider work with partners to improve access to skills, 

training and employment will also help to address some of the underlying issues that lead to poorer 

health outcomes in the first place.  

Page 93

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835115/IoD2019_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

36 
  

Across the Humber, people live in poverty. This has ongoing impacts on their health and wellbeing and 

use of healthcare services. More than half of all neighbourhoods in Hull (51%) and 40% of 

neighbourhoods within North East Lincolnshire are classed as being among the 20% most income 

deprived in England.  

More than half of Hull’s residents live in the most deprived quintile meaning a greater number of 

families are living in poverty and may experience poorer health outcomes. Within our less deprived 

areas, such as the East Riding of Yorkshire, there is also significant variation across the places with 

pockets of very deprived communities, notably in Bridlington, Withernsea and Goole.  

 
Neighbourhoods 

(LSOAs) within 20% 

most income deprived 

Percentage of 

population that is 

income deprived 

Local Authority Rank 

for income deprivation  

(out of 316) 

Hull 51% 22.7% 6 

North East Lincolnshire 40% 19.0% 26 

North Lincolnshire 20% 13.3% 106 

East Riding of Yorkshire 10% 9.6% 194 

East Lindsey 25% 16.2% 56 

West Lindsey 17% 12.3% 123 

Table 1.7 Summary of income deprivation across Humber35 

1.4.2.2 Deprivation and Life Expectancy 

Public health analysis highlights a strong correlation between income deprivation and poor health 

outcomes. When income deprivation across the Humber is mapped against the standardised mortality 

rate for deaths considered preventable, there is a clear correlation between the two indicators as shown 

by the darker areas on the maps below. 

 
Map 1.2 Income Deprivation v Deaths from Causes considered preventable36 

 
35 ONS (2021) Exploring local income deprivation ONS visualisation 
36 OHID (2021) Local Health Local Health maps and indicators 

Page 94

https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/dvc1371/#/E06000010
https://www.localhealth.org.uk/#bbox=459766,463324,97117,69492&c=indicator&i=t4.prevdeath&view=map12


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

37 
  

Premature mortality for all causes is significantly worse within the Humber than the national average.  

The under 75 mortality rate from causes considered preventable is higher in three of the Humber local 

authority areas, and significantly higher in Hull and North East Lincolnshire.  

 Deaths from causes 
considered preventable, 

under 75 years (2016-2020) 

East Riding of Yorkshire 82.6 

Hull 162.6 

North East Lincolnshire 125.8 

North Lincolnshire 112.4 

England 100.0 Standardised mortality ratio (SMR) 
Table 1.8 Deaths from causes considered preventable, <75 years, Indirectly standardised ratio, 2016 to 202037 

High rates of premature mortality, increased incidence of chronic illness and other impacts associated 

with deprivation mean that there are significant disparities in life expectancy between those living in the 

most affluent and most deprived neighbourhoods. 

 Inequality in life expectancy at birth (years), 2018-2020 

Male Female 

East Riding of Yorkshire 6.8 3.2 

Hull 12.3 9.6 

North East Lincolnshire 12.9 8.5 

North Lincolnshire 10.9 8.1 

England 9.7 7.9 
Table 1.9 Inequality in life expectancy at birth, 2018-202038 

1.4.2.3 Deprivation and impact on children 

Deprivation is unevenly spread across the population and disproportionately affects children and young 

people – around 16% of the Humber population is classed as income deprived but nearly 1 in 4 (22%) of 

all children in the region live in poverty. There is also a higher concentration of younger people living in 

the central wards in the major towns and cities where deprivation is higher and car ownership is lower.  

  
Percentage of children 

(under 16) living in poverty 
Percentage of population 
that is income deprived 

Hull 28.20% 22.70% 

North East Lincolnshire 23.50% 19.00% 

North Lincolnshire 21.30% 13.30% 

East Riding of Yorkshire 14.80% 9.60% 

Table 1.10 Summary of income deprivation and impact on children39 

 
37 OHID (2021) Local Health Local Health maps and indicators 
38 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
39 ONS (2021) Exploring local income deprivation ONS visualisation and OHID (2022) Child Health Profiles Fingertips 

Page 95

https://www.localhealth.org.uk/#bbox=412020,481395,192609,105633&c=indicator&i=t4.prevdeath&view=map10
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1938133217/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000012/iid/92901/age/1/sex/2/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/dvc1371/#/E06000010
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

38 
  

1.4.3 Public Health Risk Factors 

 

More than 1 in 5 adults in Hull and North East Lincolnshire are smokers, 21.8% and 20.1% respectively, 

compared to 14.4% nationally (2021).40  In Hull this equates to over 45,000 current smokers and leads to 

a smoking-attributable hospital admission rate almost twice that of England as a whole.41  Furthermore, 

20.3% of new mothers in North East Lincolnshire, 17.5% in Hull, 16.5% in North Lincolnshire and 10.9% 

in East Riding are smoking at the time of delivery, compared to 9.1% nationally (2021/22).42  This is 

closely associated with premature births, which are higher than the national average in all four Humber 

local authorities.43 

The impact of alcohol and alcohol-related harm on our population is also significant.  In Hull, hospital 

admissions for alcohol-specific conditions are significantly higher (858 per 100,000 population) than the 

England average (587).44  This equates to 1,990 admissions per year, which when taken together with 

East Riding admissions (1475) represents a significant source of pressure on hospital services.  

Across Yorkshire and the Humber as a whole, 1 in 4 reception age children (24.1%) and over 1 in 3 Year 

6 children (35.8%) are overweight or obese. Rates are higher still in Hull (and) and North East 

Lincolnshire, with 28.4% and 26.1% of reception age children and 37.6% and 37% of year 6 children 

overweight or obese.45  There are wide inequalities in childhood obesity across our region, closely linked 

to deprivation.  England-wide data shows that in 2020/21, obesity prevalence was over twice as high 

for children living in the most deprived areas (20.3% and 33.8%) than for children living in the least 

deprived areas (7.8% and 14.3%) at reception age and Year 6 respectively.46  Childhood obesity impacts 

on the long-term health outcomes we can expect as those children become older.  

Levels of physical activity are lower than the national average across all four local authority areas. The 

percentage of the population considered physically inactive is worse than the England average in all 

areas.47  

 

 

 
40 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
41 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
42 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
43 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
44 OHID (2022) Public health profiles Fingertips 
45 OHID (2022) Obesity Profile Fingertips 
46 NHS Digital (2021) National Child Measurement Programme, England 2020/21 School Year Deprivation 
47 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (2022) Public health profiles Physical Activity 

A wide range of factors contribute towards people living within the Humber region being ‘less 

healthy’ compared to the national average. Levels of smoking and obesity are higher than the 

national average in Hull, North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire and levels of physical activity 

are lower than the national average in all four local authority areas.  

We can improve community-based care for people in our communities with long term conditions 

such as heart disease (CHD) and respiratory conditions (e.g., COPD) if we can release staff and other 

resources from hospitals to provide more proactive care to help people to stay healthy and on top of 

their conditions.  

Page 96

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/smoking#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/92304/age/168/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/tobacco-control#page/3/gid/1938132885/pat/6/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/93753/age/202/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133222/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/93085/age/1/sex/2/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133222/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/91743/age/235/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938132984/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000012/iid/92906/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133258/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/20602/age/201/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year/deprivation#:~:text=has%20been%20used.-,Deprivation%20%2D%20Reception,least%20deprived%20areas%20(7.8%25).
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/physical%20activity#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/93015/age/298/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-ao-0_car-do-0


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

39 
  

 East Riding 
of Yorkshire 

Hull 
North 

Lincolnshire 
North East 

Lincolnshire 
England 

%age of adults considered 
physically inactive 

24.6% 32.4% 31.8% 26.2% 23.4% 

Table 1.11 Physically inactive adults (Humber)48 

The conditions in which people live and work, combined with the impact of deprivation, mean that a 

greater proportion of the Humber population have one or more long-term health condition(s) such as 

diabetes and heart disease. Our prevalence of diabetes and coronary heart disease (CHD) is higher than 

the national average in all four Humber local authority areas.  

 
Figure 1.6 Prevalence of Diabetes across the Humber population (17+ years)49 

 
Figure 1.7 Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease (CHD) across the Humber population (all ages)50 

The higher prevalence of cardiovascular disease and diabetes puts increased pressure on both hospital 

services (planned and unplanned care), by increasing the risk for our population of stroke, heart attacks 

and diabetes-related complications.  

 
48 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (2022) Public health profiles Physical Activity 
49 NHS Digital (2020) Quality and Outcomes Framework 2019-20 QOF Report 
50 NHS Digital (2020) Quality and Outcomes Framework 2019-20 QOF Report 

7.9

7.6

7.8

8.1

7.4

7.1

6.6

6.8

7

7.2

7.4

7.6

7.8

8

8.2

East Riding of
Yorkshire

Hull North East
Lincolnshire

North
Lincolnshire

Yorkshire &
Humber

England

Diabetes Prevalence (17 years+)

4.8

3.6 3.8
4.3

3.6
3.1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

East Riding of
Yorkshire

Hull North East
Lincolnshire

North
Lincolnshire

Yorkshire &
Humber

England

CHD prevalence (all ages)

Page 97

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/physical%20activity#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/93015/age/298/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-ao-0_car-do-0
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/quality-and-outcomes-framework-achievement-prevalence-and-exceptions-data/2019-20
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/quality-and-outcomes-framework-achievement-prevalence-and-exceptions-data/2019-20


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

40 
  

1.4.4 Barriers and inequity 

 

Whilst most of the Hull and North East Lincolnshire population lives in or close to a city or large town, a 

large proportion of the Humber population lives within rural and sparsely populated areas, which 

creates additional barriers to accessing care. 

 
Figure 1.8 Percentage of population living in rural areas51 

Furthermore, rates of car ownership are lower than the national average in many parts of the Humber 

area. The number of households with access to a car or van varies considerably across the Humber 

authorities, ranging from just 64.9% in Hull to 84.2% in the East Riding of Yorkshire. Localised variation is 

considerable and many of the more deprived wards have low household motor vehicle access rates. This 

has implications for healthcare provision as a great deal of ‘need’ comes from wards with the lowest car 

ownership and many people living in these areas are dependent on public transport.  

In some neighbourhoods (LSOAs) in North East Lincolnshire, more than half of the population has no 

access to a car or van and in a number of LSOAs in North Lincolnshire between 40 and 50% of the 

population has no access to a car or van.52  

 

 
51 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) (2014) Local Authority Rural Urban Classification 
Rural Urban Index  
52 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS045 Census 2021 

17.6%

60%

0

45.6%

15.9%

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

England

East Riding of Yorkshire

Kingston upon Hull

North Lincolnshire

North East Lincolnshire

% population living in rural areas (including hub towns)

Many groups, families and individuals within our population face additional barriers to accessing 

health and care provision, which can exacerbate existing inequalities in health outcomes. Our rural 

and coastal geography, combined with high levels of deprivation, can make it difficult for people to 

get around to access healthcare, visit loved ones in hospital and access employment opportunities.  

Recognising that it is not possible to make changes without some impact, we have mapped travel 

times to limit the impact on those facing barriers to access and worked with partners across the 

voluntary and community (VCSE) sector to develop potential solutions (see transport action plan). 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2011-rural-urban-classification-of-local-authority-and-other-higher-level-geographies-for-statistical-purposes
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS045/editions/2021/versions/2


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

41 
  

 
Figure 1.9 Car ownership rates by local authority53 

Due to the rurality of the population, many of those who are living in the most deprived communities 

are also those who live furthest from our existing hospital sites. This can exacerbate existing healthcare 

inequalities linked to the difficulties faced by people living in these communities accessing hospital care. 

This is particularly pronounced in the coastal towns that are served by HUTH and NLaG, such as 

Mablethorpe, Saltfleet, Withernsea and Hornsea. 

  
Map 1.3 Rural Deprivation and Access Times54 

 
53 ONS (2022) Census 2021, dataset TS045 Census 2021 
54 SHAPE Strategic Health Asset Planning and Evaluation SHAPE tool  

 

14.1%

16.7%

15.8%

18.5%

26.9%

35.1%

85.9%

83.3%

84.2%

81.5%

73.1%

64.9%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

West Lindsey

East Lindsey

East Riding of Yorkshire

North Lincolnshire

North East Lincolnshire

Kingston upon Hull

Household Car Ownership

No cars or vans in household 1 or more cars or vans in household

Page 99

https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/TS045/editions/2021/versions/2
https://shapeatlas.net/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

42 
  

Within our region, caravan parks along the coastline are common and for some residents, despite the 

restrictions on year-round living, it is their primary accommodation. Static caravan parks present 

challenges when designing health and care services because these are often the home for older citizens 

with multiple health needs or migrant workers, but without the service provision to support them.  The 

East Lindsey coastline, for example, is home to more than 200 caravan sites and around 25,000 static 

caravans, and it is estimated that there are around 3,500 households (6,600 people) who live for some 

or all of the year in caravans or chalets.  This population is often under identified as they are less likely 

to be registered with a GP or be represented in the Census.   

The East Yorkshire and East Lincolnshire coasts are popular holiday destinations, experiencing large 

visitor numbers, particularly in the summer; East Lindsey, for example, sees over 1.3 million visitors each 

year.55 Holidaymakers and seasonal residents create peaks and troughs in demand for hospital services – 

urgent and emergency care, in particular – where these are often not the best or most appropriate 

services for their needs. This can put additional pressure on hospital services, particularly in Grimsby. 

Rates of homelessness are higher than the England average in some of our areas.  The statutory 

homelessness rate in North East Lincolnshire is 2.9 and in Hull it is 1.3, compared with an England 

average of 0.8.56  People without permanent, secure homes are at higher risk of poor health outcomes 

and face significant barriers to accessing care.  

Digital exclusion is also an issue for communities within the Humber, particularly those most deprived 

areas.  Nearly 40% of neighbourhoods (LSOAs) in Hull were classed within the least digitally able in work 

undertaken to support delivery of the 2021 census.  

 
Table 1.12 Digital Exclusion - Digital domain of the Hard to Count (HtC) index for the 2021 Census57 

Whilst there are many reasons people experience digital exclusion, there is a strong correlation between 

the LSOAs reporting higher levels of digital exclusion and areas with high levels of deprivation.  

 
The map shows areas of deprivation, measured by the Rural Deprivation Index for Health, overlayed by travel 
times (by car) to existing hospital sites. The areas outlined in red are the 10% most deprived LSOAs.  Many of these 
deprived communities are also in areas greater than 30 minutes travel time from the existing hospital sites. 
Further details of the travel mapping undertaken to support evaluation can be found in appendix 10.18. Further 
details of our work to develop transport solutions are set out in section 8.4. 
55 Visit Britain (2020) Destination Specific Research Local Authority tourism data 
56 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (2022) Local Authority health profiles Fingertips 
57 ONS (2021) Hard to Count (HtC) Index for the 2021 Census – ability to respond, driven by access and use of digital 
technology Census HtC Index – Digital 



Local Authority Number of LSOAs 1 2 3 4 5

ERY 210 41% 40% 9% 7% 2%

Hull 166 5% 20% 13% 22% 39%

NEL 106 34% 42% 11% 13% 0%

NL 101 43% 47% 4% 6% 1%

Humber 583 30% 36% 10% 12% 12%

HtC Digital

Most Able Least Able

Page 100

https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/local_authorities_spreadsheet_2019.xlsx
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/0/gid/3007000/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/202/are/E08000016/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1
https://eastriding.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=401ee9db8b6a471298c638bbf7e54306


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

43 
  

1.4.5 Reducing Health Inequalities – the ‘Core20PLUS5’ approach 

Core20 PLUS 5 is a national NHS England and NHS Improvement approach to support the reduction of 

health inequalities at both national and system level.58  The approach defines a target population cohort 

– the ‘Core20PLUS’ – and identifies ‘5’ focus clinical areas requiring accelerated improvement.  This 

approach has helped to shape the focus in developing the potential models of care and, in particular, 

when evaluating the impact of the potential models on different populations.  The aim of each of the 

pathway changes described within this business case is to contribute to a continued drive to reduce 

health inequalities within the Humber region and ensure those with the greatest needs have access to 

the services they need to stay well.  

The Core20 PLUS 5 approach identifies the target populations that systems should focus upon to ensure 

they have equitable access to healthcare and consider targeted interventions to improve healthcare 

access.  In addition, working with partners, systems should seek to deliver improvements to the wider 

determinants of health such as good quality housing and access to employment for these target 

populations.  

The Core20 described within this method refers to the most deprived 20% of the national population as 

identified by the national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). A significant proportion of the population 

within the Humber region – and in the wider region served by the two hospital trusts – live within areas 

of high deprivation, as set out in section 1.4.2.1. 

 
Picture 1:A Core20Plus5 Infographic59 

The PLUS aspect highlighted refers to specific population groups identified by Integrated Care Systems 

(ICSs) because they experience poorer than average health access, experience and/or outcomes.  This 

segmentation should identify population cohorts experiencing poorer outcomes who are not captured 

in the ‘Core20’ alone, based on ICS population health data. 

 
58 NHS England and Improvement (2022) Core20PLUS5 – An approach to reducing health inequalities Core20PLUS5 
59 NHS England and Improvement (2022) Core20PLUS5 – An approach to reducing health inequalities Core20PLUS5 

Page 101

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

44 
  

Work to fully define all population cohorts that fall within this definition is still ongoing within the 

Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership, however, some groups that have been 

identified initially include coastal communities and people with learning disabilities.  As noted above, 

people living in coastal communities are impacted by a number of factors that have a detrimental effect 

on their health and wellbeing, including poverty, ageing populations, lack of educational and career 

opportunities, low rates of car ownership, poor public transport links, long distances to healthcare 

facilities, and higher than average rates of co-morbidities and risk factors.   

People with learning disabilities have disproportionately poor outcomes and lower life expectancy. 

Some people with learning disabilities, autism or both encounter difficulties when accessing NHS 

services and can have much poorer experiences than the general population.60  Nationally, the rate of 

treatable causes of death is 403 per 100,000 deaths in people with a learning disability compared with 

just 83 per 100,000 in the general population.  It is important to consider these challenges when 

designing the models of care for the future of acute hospital services in the Humber.   

In developing this Pre-Consultation Business Case, we have sought to engage with different health 

inclusion groups – including sex workers, vulnerable migrants and asylum seekers, people with learning 

disabilities and unpaid carers – to ensure a clear understanding of their needs and the barriers they face 

have fed into service design from the outset (further details of this can be found in section 3.2.2).  

The final part of the Core20PLUS5 methodology sets out five clinical areas of focus, which are largely 

out of scope for the proposed areas of service change.  

Adopting the Core20 PLUS 5 framework to inform our approach to service redesign and to Consultation, 

is helping to ensure reducing healthcare inequalities is at the heart of our proposals for the future shape 

of hospital services across the Humber. In undertaking the programme, we have aligned with other 

projects across the Humber and North Yorkshire system to ensure a joined-up approach to tackling 

health inequalities is in place underpinning all plans as they are developed.  

 
60 NHS Improvement (2018) The learning disability improvement standards for NHS trusts Improvement Standards 
Report 

Page 102

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/v1.17_Improvement_Standards_added_note.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/v1.17_Improvement_Standards_added_note.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 1 – Our Population and Strategic Context 

 

45 
  

 
Summary Box 1.5 

 

  

Our population has significantly poorer health outcomes than in other parts of the country. We 

need prevention, early intervention, self-help and increased support at, or close to, home to improve 

the overall health and wellbeing of our population – we cannot rely on hospital services alone. 

In developing the proposals for change, we have considered the barriers to access faced by many 

within our population, including physical, cultural and socio-economic barriers to improve access, 

particularly those most in need of care and support. The pathways and site configuration proposed in 

this pre-consultation business case (PCBC) will support our health and care system to deliver more 

prevention, early intervention, self-help and increased support at, or close to, home and provide 

better, more sustainable hospital services when people do need them.  

The proposals seek to improve health outcomes for our population and minimise impact. 

• We have developed proposals that will enable services to meet nationally-set clinical 

standards, providing better care for those impacted by poor health in our communities. 

• We have developed proposals for more integrated pathways, with community-based 

supported targeted in deprived communities across the Humber, that will help to address 

stark inequalities in health and outcomes.  

• We have developed proposals that will help us to deliver more proactive care in communities 

to help people to stay healthy and on top of their conditions.  

• We have worked with partners to improve access to skills, training and employment will also 

help to address some of the underlying issues that lead to poorer health outcomes. 

• We have mapped travel times to limit the impact on those facing barriers to access and 

worked with partners across the voluntary and community (VCSE) sector to develop potential 

transport solutions. 

Improved pathways of care, delivered by a more flexible workforce that can move between 

organisations and sectors, will help to address the stark health inequalities that are evident within 

our population, by delivering care that is more tailored to the needs of each individual and reducing 

the overreliance on secondary care settings that is evident within the Humber health and care 

system.  

The next chapter sets out the challenges faced within our hospitals and why the way we deliver care 

needs to change. 

Page 103



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

46 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2 

Challenges and the Case for Change 

  

Page 104



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

47 
  

2. Challenges and the Case for Change 

 
Summary Box 2.1 

Our health and care system, as currently configured, is not always meeting the needs of everyone 

in the region and is not set up to do so in the future.  

Our population and its health needs are changing 

• Pressure on urgent and emergency care and planned care services is increasing as more 

people live longer with multiple long-term conditions and demand is significantly higher 

from those living in the most deprived areas (c.28% of the Humber population). 

We are not providing the standards we should be in all our services 

• Our services do not deliver the NHS Constitutional Standards or performance standards, 

particularly in relation to waiting times and patient access. Too many patients are waiting 

too long to be seen and treated. 

• We are struggling to meet a number of key Clinical Standards, due to workforce shortages 

and the way in which services are configured – duplicating 24/7 on-call teams across sites for 

small volumes of patients means we are unable to provide 7-day consultant reviews. 

We don’t have enough staff to continue to do everything everywhere 

• Gaps in rotas put pressure on existing teams and increase our reliance on agency staff, 

increasing costs and impacting on patient experience. 

• Over £55 million (£37m in NLaG, £18m in HUTH) was spent on temporary staffing (agency 

and locum) across the two hospital trusts in 2022/23. 

• With nearly a third of our staff eligible to retire within the next 5 to 10 years, it is imperative 

that we plan for workforce changes now. 

Some of our buildings and equipment are falling apart and are not fit for the future  

• Our ageing estate, equipment and digital infrastructure is not fit for purpose and impacts 

upon our ability to deliver effective care to meet the demands we face. 

We face structural deficits and long-running finance and performance issues  

• A structural deficit exists where we are providing the same service across multiple sites, 

which creates pressure on staff, results in double running costs and low productivity. 

To address these challenges we need to substantively change how we provide care for the 

population of the Humber.  

The proposals outlined within the PCBC seek to address these challenges through two main areas of 

change – improved pathways and changes to the configuration of services (where and how they are 

delivered).  The pathway changes will improve outcomes for patients through better, more joined-up 

care. They also create opportunities for the development of staff and new roles, working across 

sectors, to improve recruitment and retention and reduce agency spend.  The proposed 

configuration changes would enable us to make better use of our highly skilled staff, reduce 

double-running and provide services that meet key clinical and constitutional targets and that are 

clinically sustainable in the long-term. The prosed changes can be delivered within existing financial 

resources, enabling many of the identified benefits to be realised quickly. 

Page 105



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

48 
  

2.1 Organisational Snapshot: HUTH and NLaG 

2.1.1 Overview of Service Provision 

Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) and Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS 

Foundation Trust (NLaG) provide a wide range of secondary care services from five hospital sites: Hull 

Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital, Cottingham (CHH), Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH), Diana 

Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH). In addition, HUTH 

provides a range of specialist (tertiary) services for the wider region and NLaG provides community 

services in the North Lincolnshire area.61   

Organisational Snapshot 

Indicator 
HUTH 
19/20 

HUTH 
20/21 

HUTH 
21/22 

HUTH 
22/23 

NLaG 
19/20 

NLaG 
20/21 

NLaG 
21/22 

NLaG 
22/23 

Turnover £'000m £630 £726 £600 £707 £413 £477 £478 £537 

Staff (WTE) 8,062 8,390 7,920 8286 6,282 6,595 6,695 6,917 

Emergency Dept 
Attendances 

134,590 106,563 126,369 121,689 148,503 123,895 147,849 152,856 

Births (excluding 

home births) 
4,869 4,828 4,900 4,798 3,955 3,605 3,802 3,652 

Elective (day case 
+ inpatient) 

88,181 54,572 80,519 90,738 59,453 40,453 54,484 54,452 

Outpatient 
appointments 

782,371 634,166 787,872 791,848 416,993 343,952 398,317 449,444 

Table 2.1 Organisational Snapshot62 

 
Picture 2:A Summary of activity at Humber hospitals 

 
61 A detailed description of the current configuration of services by site is provided in appendix 10.2. 
62 Internal Trust data (updated June 2023)  

Page 106



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

49 
  

2.1.2 Overview of Challenges 

The Humber Acute Services programme was established in response to a number of key challenges 

faced by Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) and Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS 

Foundation Trust (NLaG) in providing effective hospital services for the population of the Humber.  

 
Summary Box 2.2 - Overview of challenges 

 

 

 

 

 

Key challenges: 

• Our population is getting older, and many people – including children – live in deprived 

areas with increasingly complex healthcare needs.  

- We need to join up better with services outside of hospital that can help people to 

stay well and avoid coming into hospital in an emergency.  

• We are not meeting national clinical standards due to the way services are organised.  

- We need to stop double-running trying to cover multiple small services across 

different sites so we can deliver better, more sustainable services in the long run. 

• Our services do not deliver the NHS Constitutional Standards or performance standards, 

particularly in relation to waiting times and patient access.  

- We need to improve our pathways so that we can see and treat people who come to 

our Emergency Departments more quickly.  

• Our staff are spread too thinly across our existing services, and we are not able to recruit 

and retain the workforce we need.  

- We need to change the way we deliver care to make roles more attractive and build 

the workforce we need for the future.  

• Many of our buildings and much of our equipment is out of date, and we have limited 

access to the investment we need to improve or replace them. 

- We need to maximise the benefit we can derive from recent investments (e.g., new 

Emergency Department buildings in Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby 

(DPoW) and Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and Community Diagnostics Centre 

in Scunthorpe town centre) and continue to seek further infrastructure funding 

where we can.  

• We face significant financial challenges, and we are not delivering efficient services due to 

their site configuration and service models.  

- We need to reduce the amount we are spending on expensive agency staff to plug 

gaps in rotas and look at other ways to make services more efficient. 

Page 107



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

50 
  

Organisational Performance Snapshot 

Indicator 
Target/ 

Benchmark 
HUTH 
20/21 

HUTH 
21/22 

HUTH 
22/23 

NLaG 
20/21 

NLaG 
21/22 

NLaG 
22/23 

CQC Rating  Good Requires Improvement Requires Improvement 

Vacancy Rate 8.3% 7.6% 4.4% 3.7% 10.3% 9.3% 11.4%63 

Emergency 
Dept (ED) 
(4hrs) 

95% 78% 58% 54% 81% 63% 60% 

Ambulance 
Handover 
(+60mins) 

0 1221 3808 7552 639 5564 708864 

ED Decision to 
Admit + 12hrs 

0 2 225 17,209 106 1802 12,949 

Diagnostic 
Procedure 
wait – 6weeks  

99% 63% 37.1% 32.2% 64.2% 69% 71% 

Cancer 62 
days to 
treatment65 

85% 63% 60% 24% 68% 63% 52% 

Cancer waits 
+104 days  

0 83 531 871 32 27 40 

18 weeks RTT  92% 52% 57% 62% 65% 72% 65% 

Inpatient non-
elective 
length of stay 

4.59 8.6 5.9 6.4 4.2 3.8 3.7 

Inpatient 
elective 
length of stay 

4.15 4.2 4.1 4.1 2.0 2.3 2.2 

No criteria to 
reside66 

12% 10.9% 7.4% 23.1% 10.1% 30.7% 24.3% 

Bed 
occupancy  

<92% 82.4% 76.8% 92.0% 82.8% 92.5% 91.8% 

Backlog 
Maintenance 
(£m) 

- 80.5 78.3 84.6 89.8 107.7 117.0 

Table 2.2 Performance challenges HUTH and NLaG 

 
63 Vacancy rate at Jan 2023 
64 Data up to Jan 2023 (full year figures not available) 
65 An additional standard was introduced in April 2021 for faster diagnosis of suspected cancer (within 28 days). 
66 This is recorded as weekly snapshot data and therefore only represents the situation at a given time not the 
overall trend. The data provided is for the first week in April 2020 and April 2021, respectively. 2022/23 data is 
provided as a full year average.  

Page 108



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

51 
  

2.2 The Changing Needs of our Population  

 
Summary Box 2.3 Population health challenges 

2.2.1 Changing levels of demand 

 

2.2.1.1 Urgent and Emergency Care – rising ED demand 

Our hospitals are experiencing a significant rise in demand and acuity in the Emergency Departments.  

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, services experienced a substantial decrease in ED demand, 

however, this has increased back to pre-pandemic levels in 2021/22. Overall, the trend has been one of 

increasing Emergency Department attendances in most hospitals year on year. 

 
Figure 2.1 Emergency Department Attendances (2018-2023)67 

 
67 Internal trust data (updated June 2023) 

137,521

72,631 72,191

134,590

75,322
73,181

106,563

64,276
59,619

126,721

74,425 75,419

121,689

76,573

76,283

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

HRI DPoW SGH

Emergency Department attendances 
(2018-2023)

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

The nearly 1 million people who live in the Humber face a number of health-related challenges and 

often face barriers to accessing services associated with living in rural or coastal communities 

and/or in areas of high deprivation.  

These challenges can lead to poorer health outcomes and increased demand for hospital care – 

particularly urgent and emergency care services (see section 1.4).   

The proposed changes have been designed to enable more care to be delivered closer to home to 

support an older population with increasingly complex health and care needs and respond to what 

children and families have told us is most important to them (see section 10.8). The proposed 

changes will help to ensure we can deliver high quality care that is sustainable in the longer term.  

The growing number of people living with one or more long-term condition is contributing to an 

increase in demand for urgent and emergency care and planned care services that needs to be met 

in a different way. 

Page 109



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

52 
  

Furthermore, natural population growth suggests a further rise in Emergency Department (ED) demand 

across the Humber in the next 10 years, with much of this expected amongst the growing frail and 

elderly population. Projections are up to a 5% rise in ED attendances by 2026 if current patterns of ED 

use continue with no change.  This equates to approximately an additional 55 patients per day in both 

DPoW and SGH and 100 patients per day in Hull. 

2.2.1.2 Planned Care – rising demand 

Planned care specialities across both trusts are experiencing year-on-year increases in referrals.  Despite 

the increase in referral volumes, staff and other resources have not increased in line with demand, 

putting additional pressure on services.   

Speciality HUTH NLaG  

ENT 27% 61% This data is patients who are referred to the two hospital 
trusts.  Independent sector providers also receive 
significant numbers of referrals especially in Orthopaedics 
and Ophthalmology without this additional capacity the 
two hospital providers would have experienced a greater 
increase. 

Gastroenterology 5% 14% 

General Surgery 21% 32% 

Orthopaedics 24% 17% 

Ophthalmology -15% 9% 

Urology 34% 44% 
Table 2.3 1st OP appointments Change between 2015/16 & 2018/1968 

Whilst referrals tailed off at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, they began to rise again in late 2020 

and have now returned to pre-pandemic levels.  The disruption to planned case services during the 

pandemic has compounded already high waiting times for many planned care specialties across the 

Humber region.  Long waiting times for planned care can have a knock-on impact on urgent and 

emergency care if a patient’s condition worsens whilst awaiting treatment.   

2.2.2 Impact of Deprivation 

 

2.2.2.1 Urgent and Emergency Care – High Intensity Users 

Use of Emergency Departments (ED) is closely correlated with deprivation, with those living in the most 

deprived areas accounting for a higher proportion of overall ED attendances and emergency admissions. 

Nationally, figures show that there were nearly twice as many attendances to Emergency Departments 

in England for the 10% of the population living in the most deprived areas (3.1 million), compared with 

the least deprived 10% (1.6 million) in 2019/20.69  

 
68 Internal trust data (June 2021) 
69 NHS Digital (2020) Hospital Accident & Emergency Activity 2019-20 A&E Activity 2019-20  

Across all service areas, the level of acuity of patients and the complexity of their healthcare needs 

is increasing.  This is driven by the population health challenges described in section 1.4 and the 

impacts of deprivation on health. Deprivation is unevenly spread across the population and 

disproportionately affects children and young people – around 16% of the Humber population is 

classed as income deprived but nearly 1 in 4 (22%) of all children in the region live in poverty.  

The proposed changes have been designed to ensure those living in the most deprived communities 

will be able to access high quality healthcare that meets national clinical standards and will continue 

to have access to a 24/7 Emergency Department when they need care unexpectedly.  

Page 110

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/hospital-accident--emergency-activity/2019-20


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

53 
  

Across the Humber and North Yorkshire region fewer than 1% of residents accounted for nearly 20% of 

all ED usage in 2020/21. This equates to just over 5,000 people having around 37,000 ED attendances.  

National evidence suggests that this small group of people also account for 29% of ambulance transfers 

to Emergency Departments.  

High intensity use – attending Emergency Departments 

(2021) East Riding Hull 
North East 

Lincolnshire 

North 

Lincolnshire 

Number of people who attended 5-10 times 1,004 1,735 876 942 

Number of people who attended between 11-19 times 57 175 83 80 

Number of people who attended more than 20 times 13 66 23 18 

Total number of people who attended over 5 times 1,074 1,976 982 1,040 

Actual number of attendances that these groups 

generated 
7,112 15,197 7,217 7,407 

Total ED attendances (all people) during this period 52,507 67,779 48,068 47,015 

% of Population who attended more than 5 times 0.35% 0.65% 0.58% 0.57% 

% of Attendances that were generated by these 

groups. 
13.5% 22.4% 15.0% 15.8% 

Table 2.4 High Intensity Users - Humber EDs70 

2.2.2.2 Child poverty 

The number of children living in poverty is significantly higher in the Humber than in England as a whole. 

1 in 3 children in Hull (30.7%), 1 in 4 children in North East Lincolnshire (24.8%) and 1 in 5 children in 

North Lincolnshire (20.8%) live in poverty. This impacts on children’s health and wellbeing and their 

future health and life chances. 

 
East Riding  Kingston 

Upon Hull 
North 

Lincolnshire 
North East 

Lincolnshire 
National 
average 

Children living in poverty under 16 
years (2021/22) 

14.8% 28.2% 21.3% 23.5% 19.9% 

Health and wellbeing of children in 
area compared to England average  

Better Worse Mixed Mixed N/A 

School pupils with social, emotional 
and mental health needs (2020) 

1.8% 2.1% 3.0% 2.3% 2.4% 

School children from minority ethnic 
background  

8.3% 21.5% 15.9% 10.1% 33.6% 

Levels of child obesity by Year 6 18.2% 23.4% 22.7% 22.6% 21.0% 

Table 2.5 Child health profiles by Local Authority71 

Obesity and a wide range of other conditions that impact upon young peoples’ physical and mental 

health and wellbeing are closely correlated with deprivation. High levels of child poverty and deprivation 

create higher demand for health services, particularly in Emergency Departments and Paediatric 

Assessment Units.  Services for the future need to be designed to support the wider health and social 

care needs of children and young people across the Humber.  

We are also working to exploit the opportunities for our hospitals, as anchor institutions, to address 

some of the wider determinants of health for young people and their families by providing good quality 

 
70 HNY Urgent and Emergency Care Network (May 2022)  
71 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities – OHID (2022) Child Health Profiles Fingertips 

Page 111

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

54 
  

employment opportunities and working with education providers to ensure those from more 

disadvantaged backgrounds are able to take advantage of those career opportunities. The work we have 

undertaken with partners in developing this PCBC will enable us to provide better entry routes for local 

young people to develop fulfilling and rewarding careers in health and care.  

2.2.2.3 Long-term conditions – planned care waiting times 

The proportion of the population living with one or more long term condition is increasing, putting 

further strain on our planned care services, with increasing demand for outpatient appointments 

already evident within our system.  Evidence shows that populations living in areas of higher deprivation 

are increasingly likely to have multiple conditions, more likely to deteriorate while waiting for surgery 

and are least likely to be able to engage with digital solutions.72 This puts pressure on our urgent and 

emergency care services as people are more likely to turn up at A&E if their condition worsens and they 

need help.  

In addition, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on waiting times for planned care has been felt 

disproportionately by those in the most deprived areas.  A year after the onset of the pandemic, those 

living in the most deprived areas were nearly twice as likely to wait more than a year for treatment 

compared to those living in the least deprived areas.73   

  

 
72 GiRFT (2022) Design and layout of elective surgical hubs – a guide for NHS systems and regions to support 
planning of effective surgical hubs GiRFT Report p.6 
73 The Kings Fund (2021) Tackling the elective backlog – exploring the relationship between deprivation and waiting 
times online article 

The growing number of people living with one or more long-term condition is contributing to an 

increase in demand for urgent and emergency care and planned care services that needs to be met 

in a different way. 

The proposed changes have been designed to ensure those living in the most deprived communities 

will be able to access high quality healthcare that meets national clinical standards and will continue 

to have access to a 24/7 Emergency Department when they need care unexpectedly. 

Page 112

https://www.gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/HVLC_2022-04-05_Guide_Design-and-layout-of-elective-surgical-hubs.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2021/09/elective-backlog-deprivation-waiting-times


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

55 
  

2.3 Meeting Clinical and Constitutional Standards 

 
Summary Box 2.4 Challenges meeting standards 

There are two key sets of standards that we are required to deliver in our acute hospital services: 

• Constitutional standards 

• Clinical standards 

In both cases, we are falling short across a range of services due to workforce challenges, limitations 

with our buildings and, crucially, due to the ways in which services are configured and operate.  

2.3.1 Constitutional Standards 

 

The NHS Constitution74 sets out key waiting time and access standards for acute hospital services. In all 

service areas, both hospital trusts face significant challenges delivering these standards.  

 

 

 
74 NHS England (2021) The NHS Constitution for England NHS Constitution 

Our staff are spread too thinly across hospital sites, with relatively small services provided from a 

number of different hospitals; this means that we are not always able to meet clinical standards set 

nationally and that jobs for our staff are tougher than in other parts of the country. We also spend 

more on agency and other temporary staffing than many other hospitals. 

We are duplicating 24/7 on-call teams across sites for small volumes of patients and we are unable 

to provide 7-day consultant reviews, meaning our patients spend longer in hospital to get the same 

care and treatment than in many other parts of the country – impacting on the efficiency of our 

services.  

Our services do not deliver the NHS Constitutional Standards or performance standards, 

particularly in relation to waiting times and patient access. Waiting times for routine surgery are 

amongst the longest in the country and last year over 30,000 people waited more than 12 hours in 

one of our Emergency Departments waiting to be admitted or treated and sent home.   

Many of our services were not meeting key standards prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic 

when the Case for Change was written and published. In most areas those challenges have been 

exacerbated by the pandemic and the situation has worsened.  

The growing demand and rising acuity of patients attending our Emergency Departments and 

waiting for treatment means that we are not meeting the standards we should be across a wide 

range of hospital services.  

The proposed changes have been designed to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of services, 

through better, more joined-up pathways of care, enabling us to meet key waiting time standards in 

the longer term. 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

56 
  

• Urgent and Emergency Care 

o A maximum four hour wait in A&E from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge.75  

o Ambulance trusts response time targets.76 

• Elective Care 

o Patients have the right to start consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 18 

weeks from referral for non-urgent conditions.77 

o Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should have been waiting fewer than six weeks 

from referral. 

o All patients who have operations cancelled, on or after the day of admission 

(including the day of surgery), for non-clinical reasons should be offered another 

binding date within 28 days, or the patient’s treatment to be funded at the time and 

hospital of the patient’s choice. 

• Cancer Care 

o The right to be seen by a cancer specialist within a maximum of two weeks from GP 

referral for urgent referrals where cancer is suspected. 

o A maximum one-month (31-day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatment for 

all cancers and a maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment. 

o A maximum two-month (62-day) wait from urgent referral for suspected cancer to 

first treatment for all cancers. 78 

 

2.3.1.1 A&E Waiting Times and Ambulance Handovers 

Our hospitals are not achieving the expected performance standards.  An increased number of 

attendances combined with new infection control measures have impacted on patient flow.  This is also 

combined with challenges around staffing.  As a result, a greater proportion of patients are now waiting 

for more than four hours to be seen and treated in our Emergency Departments across all three 

hospitals.  Performance was consistently below the 95% target throughout the whole of 2019/20 and 

worsened significantly in 2021/22, with performance continuing to deteriorate through 2022/23.   

The addition of an Urgent Care Service within Scunthorpe General Hospital (co-located with the 

Emergency Department) has enabled Scunthorpe to perform better than Hull Royal Infirmary and Diana 

Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby, but in all three Emergency Departments, performance has been 

well below the national average most months.  

 
75 A&E 4-hour standard requires that 95% of patients are seen and treated within 4 hours and that no patient 
should be in the department for longer than 12 hours. 
76 Emergency Departments are expected to enable ambulances to hand over patients within 15 minutes (100% 
target). 
77 RTT standard requires that 92% of patients begin treatment within 18 weeks of referral. 
78 Cancer 62-day target requires 85% of patients begin treatment within 62 days of urgent referral. 

Summary Box 2.5 NHS Constitutional Standards 

Page 114



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

57 
  

 
Figure 2.2 Patients seen and treated in Emergency Department within four hours79 

There are instances where patients have waited more than 12 hours in our Emergency Departments due 

to various factors from complicated clinical acuity, awaiting a bed to be admitted to a ward, transport to 

either go home or be conveyed to another hospital. This is not good practice and does not support our 

ambition to provide a positive patient experience.  The position has deteriorated significantly over the 

past 12 months and continues to be a challenge for Grimsby and Scunthorpe hospitals in particular.  

 
Figure 2.3 Patients exceeding 12 hours in ED (2019/20 to 2021/22) 80 

Pressures within the Emergency Department have a knock-on effect on ambulance handover times due 

to space and staffing, which consistently fall below the 15-minute target in all three Emergency 

Departments.  This impacts on the ability of ambulance providers to meet their constitutional targets in 

relation to response times to incidents as their crews and vehicles are tied up in hospital Emergency 

Departments. 

 
79 Internal trust data (updated June 2023) 
80 Internal trust data (updated June 2023) 

77.6
81.3

70.3

80.481.1 80.1 77.8 76.3

59.3
66.8

58.4 56.857.46
62.24 59.2

71.5

0

20

40

60

80

100

DPoW SGH HRI National average

% Patients seen and treated in Emergency Department within 4 hours 
(2019-23)

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 national target 95%

1230
600

0

942 793
3

4848
4136

220

10599

8367

5366

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

DPoW SGH HRI

Patients exceeding 12 hours in Emergency Department (2019-2023)

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 115



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

58 
  

All three hospitals have seen a spike in ambulance handover delays in recent years, worsening 

performance, which was already well below the expected level in 2019/20.  This is predominantly due to 

excessive demand, workforce shortages and the departments being at full capacity.  

 
Figure 2.4 Ambulance handovers within 15 minutes (2019 - 2022) 81 

 

2.3.1.2 Referral to Treatment (RTT) Performance 

Similar challenges also exist in relation to meeting the constitutional standards for planned care.  When 

the Case for Change was published in 2019, both trusts were in the bottom quartile for performance 

against the referral to treatment time (RTT) standard and had not met the standard for treating patients 

within 18 weeks of referral from primary care in any of the six specialties identified within the Case for 

Change for five years or more.  

The situation has worsened significantly since 2020 and the impact of the pandemic.  The total waiting 

list size and numbers of patients waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment has grown significantly as a 

result of the pandemic.  Specialties that were previously meeting or getting close to delivering the RTT 

standard are now consistently falling short.   

As a result, people living in the Humber region are waiting longer for treatment than those in other parts 

of the UK.  This means, often, that they are living for longer with pain and/or uncertainty as well as the 

knock-on effects waiting for treatment can have on an individual’s quality of life, mental health and 

ability to be economically active. It also puts additional pressure on urgent and emergency care services 

should a patient’s condition worsen whilst they are waiting for treatment. Waiting for treatment can 

also impact on an individual's ability to work or learn and for older people it can make it harder to 

maintain independence. 

 

 
81 Internal trust data (updated June 2023) 

42

55
47

52 49
45

36
44

37

23 26
22

0

20

40

60

80

100

HRI DPoW SGH

% Ambulance handovers 15 minutes or less (2019-2023)

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 National target 100%

The development of integrated assessment pathways within the hospitals will help to improve the 

flow of patients and tackle long waits at the front door.  Improved pathways and interventions 

outside of hospital will help to reduce the overall demand for our Emergency Departments and 

wider hospital services.  

Target 

100% 

 

Page 116



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

59 
  

 Total waiting list size Patients waiting >1 year 

Nov 

2019 

Nov 

2021 

Nov 

2022 

May 

2023 

Nov 

2019 

Nov 

2021 

Nov 

2022 

May 

2023 

Hull University 

Teaching Hospitals  
52,843 61,513 69,066 69,236 0 5,558 5,362 3,848 

Northern Lincolnshire 

and Goole  
25,138 30,149 35,281 37,505 9 380 411 673 

Table 2.6 Total waiting list size (HUTH and NLaG) – Covid impact82 

In addition, we do know that there are “hidden” waiting lists due to delayed referrals and people putting 

off seeking treatment. It is estimated that nationally there could be as many as 10 million patients who 

might have otherwise come forward for treatment but did not.83 

 

2.3.1.3 Cancer Waiting Times Performance 

Pressures on our diagnostic services also impact on performance against key Cancer waiting time 

targets, which is significantly below national targets in both HUTH and NLaG.  

 
Figure 2.5 Cancer 62-Day Wait (HUTH and NLaG)84 

 

 
82 NHS England (2023) Consultant-led Referral to Treatment Waiting Times (monthly snapshot data) RTT waiting 
times data 
83 NHS England (2022) Delivery plan for tackling the COVID-19 backlog of elective care Delivering Elective Recovery 
84 NHS England (2023) Cancer Waiting Times (monthly provider snapshot data) Cancer waiting times data 

Enabling plans and principles developed for planned care will help to ensure the impact of surges in 

demand for urgent and emergency care is lessened in the future – enabling the system to better 

meet constitutional targets for waiting times for care. 

Cancer 62-Day Wait 

Enabling plans for diagnostics will help to improve access to diagnostic services – enabling the 

system to better meet constitutional targets for waiting times for care. 

Page 117

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-data-2022-23/#Nov22
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-data-2022-23/#Nov22
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2022/02/C1466-delivery-plan-for-tackling-the-covid-19-backlog-of-elective-care.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/cancer-waiting-times/monthly-prov-cwt/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

60 
  

2.3.2 Clinical Standards 

 

There are many important clinical standards that need to be met to ensure services can continue to be 

provided safely on an ongoing basis. These can include services caring for a specific number of patients 

or doing a set number of procedures or operations to ensure staff maintain the necessary level of skill 

and competency. They can also relate to staffing levels, ratios of staff to patients and/or the skill mix of 

teams caring for patients.  

Clinical Standards are set by a range of organisations including Royal Colleges, regulators and advisory 

bodies (such as NICE).  Across the Humber region, many of our services are struggling to meet key 

clinical standards, some or all of the time.  Many of our services need trained staff to cover rotas 24/7, 

365 days a year and we don’t have enough staff to do this for all our services, all the time. This means 

that some staff are on the rota more than we would like them to be and gaps have to be filled with 

agency or locum staff, increasing the risk to delivering services safely on an ongoing basis and also 

having a potential negative impact on the quality of care that can be provided with unfamiliar or 

transient staff.  Current services are failing to consistently achieve the standards required across a range 

of indicators.  

Achieving Partially achieving Not achieving 
   

Clinical Standards - Urgent & Emergency Care HRI DPoW SGH 

Patients to be seen and treated within 4 hours (95% standard)       

Ambulance handovers within 15 minutes       

Consultant assessment within 14 hours of admission to determine the 
person’s care pathway      

Daily consultant review, including weekend and bank holidays    

More frequent consultant review, based on clinical need    

Royal College workforce recommendations (Emergency Medicine, 
Acute Medicine, Emergency Surgery)       

Fractured neck of femur (hip fracture) to be operated on within 36 
hours       

Suspected stroke – thrombolysis within 60 minutes of arrival for eligible 
patients    

Adults with non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) 
or unstable angina who have an intermediate or higher risk of future 
adverse cardiovascular events who are having coronary angiography 
(with follow-on percutaneous coronary intervention [PCI] if indicated), 
have it within 72 hours of first admission to hospital       

Our staff are spread too thinly across hospital sites, with relatively small services provided from a 

number of different hospitals, which means that we are not always able to meet clinical standards 

set nationally. For example, specialty medical services currently provide senior review for patients 

approx. 3 to 4 days a week only because they are spreading their rotas across two sites. This can lead 

to delays to treatment and longer lengths of stay for those patients.  

Page 118



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

61 
  

Support services to ensure transfer to community, primary and social 
care and response to urgent and emergency mental health care 7 days 
a week        

Patients aged over 65 and frail or 80 or over should have 
multidisciplinary input that includes early involvement of geriatrician 
teams       

Trauma Standards – CT within 30 / 60 minutes       

Clinical Standards - Paediatrics HRI DPoW SGH 

Consultant led care service seven days a week       

Royal College workforce recommendations (e.g., Paediatrics - facing the 
future)       

Table 2.7 Summary of performance against clinical standards (UEC/MNP)85 

2.3.2.1 Urgent and Emergency Care – key standards 

 

Emergency Departments are complex settings managing a wide range of patients and patient needs and 

are required to deliver on a number of key clinical standards published by Royal Colleges, NICE and 

other regulatory bodies.86  Many clinical standards relate to specific conditions (e.g., fractured neck of 

femur or stroke, which need to be treated within a specific time window) and others to specific patient 

cohorts (e.g., patients aged over 65 and frail or over 80).  For example, patients who require 

angiography following a heart attack (NSTEMI) or because they are at increased risk should be treated 

within 72 hours, according to national guidance.87 Currently such patients are admitted and monitored 

(often for several days), because 7-day consultant cover is not available on either site. The proposals 

have been designed to enable 7-day services to be provided, enabling patients to be reviewed by a 

consultant and treated within this time window.  

There are other clinical standards that relate to staffing levels, experience and skill mix of those working 

in Emergency Departments.88 Within our existing Emergency Departments, services are not always 

meeting these standards and other best practice guidance. In particular, it is extremely difficult to meet 

the workforce requirements and deliver the right skill mix and level of specialist input within all three 

Emergency Departments on a 24/7 basis.  For example, within the Emergency Departments at Grimsby 

and Scunthorpe, providing sufficient specialty doctors to run the departments requires three shifts per 

day, seven days a week. Between the 14 staff currently employed in these roles, they are required to 

work 1 in 4 (or 5) weekends and 1 in 4 (or 5) night shifts, which makes some of these rotas 

 
85 summary table collated from internal trust data (updated June 2023) 
86 Royal College of Emergency Medicine (2022) RCEM Clinical Standards RCEM Guidance 
87 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence – NICE (2020) Quality Standard [QS68] – Acute coronary 
syndromes in adults Quality Standard 
88 Royal College of Nursing and Royal College of Emergency Medicine (2020) Nursing Workforce Standards for Type 
1 Emergency Departments RCN Report 

We are not currently providing 7-day consultant-led services for all specialties, which means that 

patients get a different response depending on whether their emergency occurs during the day or 

overnight. This means that some patients stay longer than they need to and have poorer outcomes.  

Changing the way in which the workforce is deployed, will enable us to deliver more of the key 

clinical standards and improve outcomes for patients.  

Page 119

https://rcem.ac.uk/rcem-standards/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs68/chapter/quality-statement-3-coronary-angiography-and-pci-within-72-hours-for-nstemi-or-unstable-angina
https://www.rcn.org.uk/-/media/Royal-College-Of-Nursing/Documents/Forums/Emergency-Care-Association/Nursing-workforce-standards-for-Type-1-EDs-Oct-2020.pdf?la=en&hash=C0ADF7E36BF5A8D1798EC9088D05735D


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

62 
  

unsustainable and impacts on training.  The rota should be aiming for 1 in 8 to safely staff and reduce 

the risk of tiredness and subsequent low morale.  

The situation increases our reliance (and spend) on agency and locum staff to cover shortages and 

leaves services more vulnerable and at risk of failing should existing members of staff become ill and 

unable to work or move to another job. This has happened on a number of occasions in recent years 

within both HUTH and NLaG due to the number of services operating with shortages in key specialisms. 

We have, often at short notice, had to make changes to the way in which particular specialties are 

delivered to ensure they can continue to operate and keep patients safe.  

2.3.2.2 Facing the Future standards for Paediatric services  

 

The publication of the ‘Facing the Future’ standards in 2010 presented a vision of how paediatric care 

can be delivered to provide a safe and sustainable, high-quality service that meets the health needs of 

every child and young person, both in hospital and closer to home. 

The report Facing the Future: Standards for Acute General Paediatric Services marked a move towards 

services being delivered 24 hours a day, seven days a week with services organised around the child, 

ensuring quick access to an expert opinion.89  The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH) 

accepted that implementation of the standards would necessitate a greater degree of consultant 

presence than had previously been the case but believed that these standards would bring a level of 

consistency to what is currently quite a variable pattern of practice.  

The standards for Acute General Paediatric Services include:  

• A consultant paediatrician is present and readily available in the hospital during times of peak 

activity, seven days a week. 

• Every child who is admitted to a paediatric department with an acute medical problem is seen by 

a healthcare professional with the appropriate competencies to work on the tier two (specialty 

doctor) paediatric rota within four hours of admission. 

• Every child who is admitted to a paediatric department with an acute medical problem is seen by 

a consultant paediatrician within 14 hours of admission, with more immediate review as 

required according to illness severity or if a member staff is concerned. 

• At least two medical handovers every 24 hours are led by a consultant paediatrician. 

• Throughout all the hours they are open, paediatric assessment units have access to the opinion 

of a consultant paediatrician. 

• All general paediatric inpatient units adopt an attending consultant system, most often in the 

form of the ‘consultant of the week’ system. 

 
89 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2015) Facing the Future: Standards for Acute General Paediatric 
Services Facing the Future  

It is getting increasingly challenging to deliver key clinical standards for 7-day consultant-led 

services for children and young people across our hospital sites.  Meeting the requirements for 

training rotas and ensuring trainees have sufficient exposure to enough complex cases is difficult to 

deliver in smaller units.  

Changing the way in which services are organised will enable us to deliver more of the key clinical 

standards, improve training for staff and improve outcomes for patients.  

Page 120

https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/facing_the_future_standards_for_acute_general_paediatric_services.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

63 
  

• All general paediatric training rotas are made up of at least ten whole time equivalent posts, all 

of which are compliant with the UK Working Time Regulations and European Working Time 

Directive. 

For children and young people requiring care outside of hospital, ‘Facing the Future – Together for Child 

Health’ contains standards which apply across the unscheduled care pathway to improve healthcare and 

outcomes for children. They focus on the acutely mild to moderately unwell child.  These standards aim 

to ensure there is always high-quality diagnosis (safe, effective and caring) early in the pathway, 

providing care closer to home where appropriate (right care, right time and right place). 

The standards aim to ensure specialist child health expertise and support are available directly into 

general practice services, where the needs of the child and their family are known; and to build good 

connectivity between hospital and community settings; primary and secondary care; and paediatrics and 

general practice. 

The standards for ‘Together for Child Health’ are: 

• GPs assessing or treating children with unscheduled care needs have access to immediate 

telephone advice from a consultant paediatrician. 

• Each acute general children’s service provides a consultant paediatrician-led rapid access service 

so that any child referred for this service can be seen within 24 hours of the referral being made. 

• There is a link consultant paediatrician for each local GP practice or group of GP practices. 

• Each acute general children’s service provides, as a minimum, six-monthly education and 

knowledge exchange sessions with GPs and other healthcare professionals who work with 

children with unscheduled care needs. 

• Each acute general children’s service is supported by a community children’s nursing service 

which operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week, for advice and support, with visits as required 

depending on the needs of the children using the service. 

• Acute general children’s services work together with local primary care and community services 

to develop care pathways for common acute conditions. 

The impact of the Facing the Future Standards for paediatric services across the Humber is significant, 

with a need for increased Paediatric Consultant resource to meet all of the recommendations.  For 

example, in HUTH in 2019 it was identified that, for a medium sized unit like that at HRI, the number of 

consultants that exclusively provide acute general paediatric services would need to increase to 9.3 

WTE, based on the assumption that all consultants would provide 7.4 programmed activities of acute 

general work and no sub-specialty services.  At that time, the shortfall in programmed activities 

identified to ensure compliance with the Facing the Future Standards was 29.5 programmed activities.   

Given the geographical isolation of the Humber and its impact on recruitment, and the shortage of 

Consultant Paediatricians nationally, the continued provision of paediatric services from three hospital 

sites would require significant expansion in consultant paediatric cover in order to maintain Facing the 

Future compliant medical rotas.  This requirement comes on top of existing difficulties in recruiting to 

vacant consultant posts. 

  

Page 121



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

64 
  

2.4 Workforce Challenges 

 
Summary Box 2.6 - Workforce challenges 

2.4.1 Workforce profile 

Together HUTH and NLaG employ approximately 15,000 whole time equivalent (WTE) members of staff, 

spanning a range of core skills. 

 
Figure 2.6 Total workforce (establishment) by discipline90 

This workforce is drawn primarily from the immediate population, with most residing within easy 

commuting distance.  This is especially true of NLaG where its teams come from the immediate North 

and North East Lincolnshire communities.  In contrast HUTH draws its workforce from communities both 

to the north and south of the Humber estuary.  Recruitment into the sector is drawn mainly from the 

 
90 Internal trust data (updated June 2022) 

16

146

198

330

500

612

1197

1229

1469

36

281

287

442

537

1110

1304

1528

2187

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500 4000

Students

Add Prof Scientific and Technic

Healthcare Scientists

Allied Health Professionals

Estates and Ancillary

Medical and Dental

Additional Clinical Services

Administrative and Clerical

Nursing and Midwifery…

Total workforce (establishment) by discipline

NLaG HUTH

We have difficulties recruiting and retaining enough staff with the right skills and expertise and 

there are significant vacancy challenges in key services, such as cancer care and midwifery, which 

are often made worse by national or international shortages. Whilst for many years both trusts have 

invested significantly in recruitment and retention initiatives, some of which have been very 

successful, workforce challenges persist across the Humber’s hospital services. 

Our staff are spread too thinly across hospital sites, with relatively small services provided from a 

number of different hospitals; this means that we are not always able to meet clinical standards set 

nationally and that jobs for our staff are tougher than in other parts of the country.  

We are duplicating 24/7 on-call teams across sites for small volumes of patients, which increases 

cost and puts additional pressure on staff, limiting opportunities for training, research and 

development. 

Last year (2022/23) HUTH and NLaG spent over £55 million (£37m in NLaG, £18m in HUTH) on 

temporary staffing (agency and locum), covering gaps in rotas and ensuring services continue to be 

delivered safely. 

We do not have enough staff to continue to do everything everywhere.   

Page 122



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

65 
  

local population but there are some in senior or professional roles who do relocate into the area to take 

up employment – this is especially true for many medical and Allied Health Professional (AHP) roles.  

 
Map 2.1 Map of workforce by home postcode – HUTH91 

 
Map 2.2 Map of workforce by home postcode - NLaG92 

The age profile of staff across both trusts is such that a large proportion of staff (over 30%) are eligible 

to retire within the next 5 to 10 years.  32.8% of NLaG workforce are 50yrs+ and 29.6% of HUTH 

workforce are 50yrs+.  Some professions are eligible for retirement at 55 years. 

 
Figure 2.7 HUTH and NLaG Staff Group Age Demographics (2019/20)93 

 
91 Internal trust data (mapped May 2022) 
92 Internal trust data (mapped May 2022) 
93 Internal trust data (March 2022) 

Page 123



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

66 
  

Some services may be just about managing to deliver services now; however, we must plan now to 

ensure we can recruit and retain sufficient workforce to deliver services in the future. On average it 

takes three years to train a nurse and at least 13 years to train a consultant, so targeted action to 

address shortages is critical to ensuring the sustainability of services over the long term. 

2.4.2 Vacancy rates and skills gaps 

  

Whilst for many years both trusts have invested significantly in recruitment and retention initiatives, 

some of which have been very successful, workforce challenges – vacancies and turnover of staff within 

key skills areas – persist across the Humber’s hospital services. For example, last year (2022/23) there 

was a vacancy rate of 39.8% within the Cardiology clinical team at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 

Grimsby (DPoW) and a vacancy rate of 23.4% within the Gastroenterology clinical team at Scunthorpe 

General Hospital (SGH). Trust-wide there was a vacancy rate for registered and unregistered nursing 

staff of 12% within the medical specialties. Taken together these gaps put significant pressure on 

existing teams to deliver high quality care on an ongoing basis.   

Too often the staff we do have are spread too thinly, trying to cover multiple rotas across multiple sites 

and are not always matched to the demand for services across the system.  Duplication of services 

across multiple hospital sites is not the most efficient or effective use of resources and dilutes the skilled 

workforce. For the three main emergency hospitals, the majority of services for all specialities are 

provided 24/7 on each of the hospital sites.  Providing the specialist workforce needed across both 

Grimsby and Scunthorpe sites for relatively small services, requiring duplicate rotas 24 hours a day is 

difficult and makes it extremely challenging to ensure that senior decision makers/consultants are 

present to provide care seven days per week. As a result, it is not uncommon for patients to be admitted 

whilst they wait for review by a specialist. If services were consistently provided on a 7-day basis, those 

patients could be assessed and treated the same day, significantly shortening their length of stay and 

improving their outcomes.  

We need to change how we organise services to maximise the number of patients staff can see and 

treat.  Our plans have been developed to ensure that we are looking to fill the areas of core skill gaps, 

maximise the potential of new roles and to recruit locally where possible.  

2.4.2.1 Urgent and Emergency Care 

Vacancy rates for posts within the Emergency Departments, medical and surgical specialities fluctuate 

over time but there continue to be challenges ensuring all posts are filled and that services are fully 

staffed with the right grades and right skill mix at all times. Smaller departments like Scunthorpe and 

Grimsby are often more difficult to recruit to due to more onerous on call rotas and less exposure to 

more complex cases. 

 

We have difficulties recruiting and retaining enough staff with the right skills and expertise and 

there are significant vacancy challenges in key services, which are often made worse by national or 

international shortages. Where consultant posts are vacant, gaps in rotas are covered by SAS grade 

doctors or locums, potentially impacting on the quality and sustainability of those services for the 

longer term.  

We need to organise our workforce differently to ensure we are making best use of the skills and 

expertise we do have.  

Page 124



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

67 
  

  Vacancy Factor – Emergency Departments (medical and nursing) 

  
Consultants 

Specialty 

Doctors 

Registered 

Nurses 

Unregistered 

Nursing (HCAs) 

HRI 

2019/20 16% 42% 13% 14% 

2021/22 6% 30% 7% -1% 

2022/23 6% 0% 0.5% 0% 

DPoW 

2019/20 -8% 33% 18% 10% 

2021/22 34% 28% 7% 4% 

2022/23 13% 30% 15% 15% 

SGH 

2019/20 34% -6% 25% 11% 

2021/22 20% 14% 23% 27% 

2022/23 18% 16% 12% -25% 

Table 2.8 Summary of Emergency Department vacancy rates over time (HUTH and NLaG)94 

2022/23 Vacancy Factor – Acute Specialties (medical staff)  

DPoW SGH Trust-wide (incl. Goole) 

Cardiology 39.8% 19.7% 28.7% 

Gastroenterology -0.5% 23.4% 10.2% 

Respiratory 19.1% -10.3% 5.5% 

Surgery and Critical Care 12.2% 9.9% 11.4% 

Table 2.9 Summary of Acute specialty medical vacancy rates (NLaG)95 

Our services are supported by the good will of substantive members of staff working overtime.  This is 

not sustainable in the long run and leads to higher stress-related sickness due to overworked staff.  Our 

nursing staff sickness rates were higher than the national average (5.5% during 2022/23) in both 

Grimsby and Scunthorpe Emergency Departments. 

 
Figure 2.8 Emergency Medicine Staff Sickness (2022/23)96 

 
94 Internal trust data (June 2023) 
95 Internal trust data (June 2023) 
96 Internal trust data (June 2023) and NHS Digital (2023) NHS Sickness Absence Rates Data Dashboard 

2.06

3.79

6.18

7.27

5.5

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

DPoW SGH

Emergency Department Sickness Absence % (2022/23)

Medical Staff Nursing Staff National Average

Page 125

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

68 
  

The accumulation of workforce issues has a significant impact on patient flow resulting in long length of 

stay and deconditioning of patients’ health, waiting times, and the ability to meet the required 

standards of care. 

Workforce pressures within social care (affecting both residential care and domiciliary care) also have an 

impact on the effective provision of urgent and emergency care due to the close interdependencies 

between sectors.  The latest data available shows that across the Humber local authorities, the vacancy 

rate within the social care workforce ranged from 8.4% to 9.8% throughout 2021/22.  There continues 

to be high turnover of staff within the sector, ranging from 18.8% in North East Lincolnshire to 39.1% in 

North Lincolnshire in 2021/22, posing a major risk to service delivery.97 Feedback from the sector 

suggests that high turnover is due to a range of factors, including post-pandemic burnout and a sense of 

being undervalued, combined the availability of jobs in other sectors such as retail where staff can earn 

as much, or more. To address this, the Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Partnership are 

focusing on recruitment as a key objective, with social care being a critical area of focus. 

2.4.2.2 Paediatric services 

Within the Paediatric workforce there is also a range of workforce challenges. The workforce is not 

static, and vacancies fluctuate over time. The most pressing issue at present is a significant gap in 

training grade doctors. Not only does this put strain on the consultant workforce but it also creates a 

challenge for the long-term sustainability of the service as there are fewer new doctors coming through 

the pipeline.  

The age profile of the paediatric workforce suggests there will be significant numbers of staff retiring 

over the next 5-10 years. At NLaG 22% of paediatric staff are aged 50 years or over and at HUTH 30% of 

paediatric staff are aged over 50 years.98 This represents a potential loss of skills and experience to the 

service unless action is taken to retain these staff and ensure a strong pipeline of trainees is in place for 

the future. 

In 2019/20, there was a 19% vacancy rate within Paediatric training grade doctors on the South Bank, 

which has improved slightly to an overall vacancy rate of 12% in 2022/23, however, these vacancies are 

not spread evenly between the sites and an overprovision at DPoW masks the 35% vacancy rate within 

training grade doctor roles in Scunthorpe.  There are also gaps within the nursing workforce and in 

specialist roles, such as play specialists (where there was a vacancy factor of 44% in 2022/23). 

2022/23 Staff Vacancy Factor – Children’s Services 

DPoW SGH Trust-wide (incl. Goole) 

Consultants -8.0% -0.1% -4.5% 

Training Grade Doctors -4.6% 35.3% 12.4% 

Nursing (Registered) 5.6% 2.8% 4.4% 

Nursing (Unregistered) 23.5% 8.5% 17.4% 

Table 2.10 Summary of Children's services vacancy rates (NLaG)99 

These vacancies and gaps make covering paediatric services at two hospital sites problematic and it 

becomes increasingly difficult to ensure compliant medical rotas and to meet clinical standards (see 

section 2.3.2.2).  For those staff in post, there is increasing pressure to work over and above their 

 
97 Skills for Care (Oct 2022) Adult social sector and workforce – Local area comparison Workforce Intelligence  
98 Internal trust data (March 2022) 
99 Internal trust data (June 2023) 

Page 126

https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Adult-Social-Care-Workforce-Data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/local-information/Local-area-comparison.aspx


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

69 
  

contracted hours, which can impact on retention of staff and make posts less attractive to future 

applicants.   

 
Table 2.11 Paediatric Staff Sickness - NLaG (2022/23)100 

2.4.2.3 Agency spend 

Our hospitals seek to compensate for high vacancy rates by using temporary locum and agency staff, 

which impacts on continuity of care and results in a significant financial pressure on the system. Last 

year (2022/23) we spent over £37 million on temporary (agency and locum) staffing within NLaG alone 

to cover gaps in rotas to ensure services continue to be delivered safely.  

£000s Spend on temporary staffing £k (2022/23) 

 HUTH NLaG 

Agency Staff 11,408 30,347 

Locum Staff 6,708 7,310 

Total (Agency and Locum) 18,116 37,657 

Bank Staff 14,064 30,873 

Total (all Temporary Staffing)  32,180 68,530 

Table 2.12 Spend on temporary staffing (NLaG and HUTH) 2022/23101 

A significant proportion of this spend was related to the need to cover vacancies within medical 

specialties, to provide sufficient cover for services across multiple sites.  

£000s Spend on temporary staffing £k  
(NLaG – medicine directorate) 

2021/22 2022/23 

Agency Staff (Nursing and Medical) 19,481 12,544 

Locum Staff (Medical) 6,163 3,296 

TOTAL (Agency and Locum) 25,644 15,840 

Bank Staff (Nursing and Medical) 11,001 12,590 

TOTAL (all temporary staffing) 36,645 28,430 

Table 2.13 Spend on temporary staffing (NLaG – medicine specialties) 2021/22 to 2022/23102 

 
100 Internal trust data (June 2023) and NHS Digital (2023) NHS Sickness Absence Rates Data Dashboard 
101 Internal trust data (June 2023) 
102 Internal trust data (June 2023) 

2.49

3.91

8.67 8.57

5.5

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

DPoW SGH

Paediatric Staff Sickness % (2022/23)

Medical Staff Nursing Staff National Average

Page 127

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

70 
  

2.4.3 Research, training and innovation 

 

Challenges covering rotas means that some staff are often on the rota more than we would like them to 

be.  As a result, there are fewer opportunities for training and development, innovation and research. 

What’s more, not all our hospitals currently offer the research and teaching programmes that are 

available at other hospitals because of their relatively small size.  Operating small services – such as the 

12-bed paediatric wards in Scunthorpe and Grimsby – does not provide the same exposure to complex 

cases that trainees in other, larger hospitals can have. Not only are staff members not getting the best 

opportunities to train and develop but our organisations and the population are not getting the benefit 

of additional training and research. Limited opportunities for training and research also make roles less 

attractive and compound our recruitment challenges. 

The most recent trainee satisfaction survey results highlight a number of areas where trainee 

satisfaction is lower within NLaG than other comparable trusts and with national average scores. The 

main areas where concerns were highlighted related to workload pressures, facilities, supervision and 

quality of care. Within Paediatrics, for example, those surveyed gave a score of 59% for overall 

experience and 68% for quality of care, which was significantly below the national average.  

 Quality of 

Care 

Supervision Facilities Overall 

Experience 

 KEY 

Paediatrics NLaG 67.9% 61.1% 57.1% 59.5% 
 Within Interquartile 

Range 

HUTH 77.1% 61.0% 42.5% 74.0% 
 Lower Quartile But 

Not Outlier 

Emergency 

Medicine 
NLaG 76.4% 75.0% 60.0% 72.5%  Low-Scoring Outlier 

HUTH 58.3% 48.1% 34.6% 44.2%   

Table 2.14 Summary of trainee satisfaction survey results - Nov 2022103 

If we change what we do and how we do it, including investing in more research facilities and working 

with our universities, further education colleges, commercial research partners and other allied 

businesses, we will provide the best opportunity to be able to attract and retain more staff.  Working 

collaboratively with universities and commercial research partners could also open up and/or create 

new jobs and opportunities, which in turn could help us to recruit more staff in the longer term.   

 
103 Health Education England (2022) National Education and Training Survey (NETS) NETS 2022 Reporting Tool 

Because we spread our specialist staff thinly across small services on multiple sites, we are not 

maximising opportunities for training and research. Gaps in rotas need to be filled to keep services 

safe and so staff are not always able to be released to undertake additional training or research that 

could improve services in the long run. This impacts on trainee satisfaction, which, over time, makes 

recruitment harder. 

The models of care have been designed with new staffing models, that will improve the training 

offer and help us to build a more sustainable workforce in the longer term.  

Page 128

https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/quality/national-education-training-survey-nets/nets-2022-reporting


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

71 
  

2.5 Buildings and Infrastructure Challenges 

 
Summary Box 2.7 – Buildings and infrastructure challenges 

2.5.1 Buildings 

Whilst we have some fantastic new buildings on our sites, these are the exception rather than the rule 

and many of our hospital buildings are not fit for purpose for the delivery of modern healthcare.  As an 

example, 82% of Scunthorpe General Hospital’s critical infrastructure is at risk of failing within five years 

and we have already had to close parts of that hospital to patients because the buildings were not safe, 

which has impacted on our capacity to treat patients.  

The state of our buildings significantly impacts on our ability to provide good quality, efficient patient 

care. For example,  

• The HRI tower block suffers with poor ventilation and cooling (particularly in summer months). 

Asbestos is present within the structure causing challenges for upgrading, and there are not 

enough lifts and storage areas. 

• Many of the wards across our hospitals are smaller than current specification and do not have 

suitable ensuite facilities. Not only is this unpleasant and inconvenient for patients but also 

makes it more difficult to effectively control the spread of infection. The layout of six beds per 

bay does not meet modern standards. 

• The obstetric units at Scunthorpe and Grimsby have only one dedicated obstetric theatre 

meaning that planned caesarean sections sometimes have to be cancelled or postponed when 

emergency c-sections need to take place. 

• The CQC criticised the quality of accommodation for children within HRI, with concerns about 

patient privacy, as well as a lack of parental accommodation. 

• Significant fire safety issues were identified in relation to evacuation of patients due to the 

layout of the Coronation Building at Scunthorpe General Hospital. 

• Oxygen delivery systems are not up to modern standards and impact upon the ability to provide 

oxygen to certain parts of the hospital sites. 

The buildings we operate from today have not coped well during the COVID-19 pandemic.  Infection 

prevention and control measures have reduced the overall number of beds available and led to some 

patients receiving their care in pop-up facilities or having to wait longer for care. It has been challenging 

to adapt the current buildings to separate COVID and non-COVID patients effectively without losing 

significant capacity within the bed base.  Within Hull Royal Infirmary’s tower block, in particular, it is 

extremely challenging to create separate ‘green’ or COVID-free areas due to the layout of wards, the 

limited number of lifts serving the tower block and the configuration of particular wards within the 

tower block.  As a result, elective services within HUTH were particularly badly impacted by the 

Many of our buildings and much of our equipment and digital infrastructure is out of date and not 

fit for the delivery of modern healthcare. We have limited access to the investment we need to 

improve or replace them. This impacts on the care we can provide and makes it more difficult to 

attract the staff we need.  

The ageing condition of our estate limits the changes we can make within a capital affordability 

envelope. 

Page 129



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

72 
  

restrictions brought about by COVID-19 and it was particularly challenging to maintain elective services 

during the pandemic. 

We don’t have enough operating theatres to do the number of operations we need to – which has a 

significant impact on waiting lists and waiting times. Across the Humber hospitals, there are relatively 

few dedicated day case facilities, with most sites operating mixed theatre lists and utilising shared 

spaces for pre-op and recovery.  This increases the likelihood of patients who were listed for day case 

surgery being kept in hospital overnight and increases the overall length of stay.   

In addition, some facilities are in such poor condition they can no longer be used.  The operating 

theatres at Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) have significant issues with the estate: Theatres F and G 

within the coronation building have been closed due to issues relating to water supply and fire safety, 

which has impacted upon the types and volume of elective surgery that is able to take place on the SGH 

site.  

2.5.1.1 Investing in our buildings 

Critical infrastructure costs for both trusts significantly exceed the national median of £13.7m – within 

NLaG alone, there is almost £80 million of critical infrastructure risk (CIR), the most significant 

proportion of which sits within the Scunthorpe site.  Over the next 15 years, if we did nothing to change 

services, significant capital expenditure (>£100 million) would be required to increase capacity in our 

existing hospitals in addition to the significant investment required to keep our buildings serviceable and 

operational. The table below sets out some of the key infrastructure risks highlighted in recent six facet 

surveys (2022/23) carried out in both trusts.  

Description  HUTH  NLaG Total  

Physical Condition  £82,587,749 £103,135,699 £185,723,448 

Statutory Compliance £2,007,534 £4,611,763 £6,619,297 

Quality No data £3,139,560 £3,139,560 

Functional Suitability No data £883,724 £883,724 

Environmental  No data £5,692,500 £5,692,500 

Space No data 0 0 

Total  £84,595,283 £117,463,246 £202,058,529 

Figure 2.9 Backlog Maintenance and Investment Requirements (HUTH and NLaG)104 

In September 2021, an Expression of Interest (EOI) was submitted to the New Hospitals Programme 

seeking a total of £720 million (in April 2021 prices) across the Humber to deliver a radical improvement 

in our local hospital infrastructure.  This EOI was not successful and a position on the New Hospitals 

Programme was not secured.  Both trusts are working together to develop alternative financing options 

to address the significant buildings issues faced and deliver improved facilities across the region over the 

long term – which could deliver significant additional benefits to the local economy thanks to the 

partnerships we have developed to maximise the impact of investment locally.  In the medium term, 

however, we must find a way to deliver the clinical change that is needed within the limits created by 

the existing buildings and infrastructure because of the pressing clinical need to change. The proposals 

 
104 Internal trust data (March 2023) 

Page 130



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

73 
  

within this business case would enable clinical changes to be delivered within existing financial 

resources.105  

 

2.5.2 Equipment 

In addition to the challenges our buildings present, the equipment available to our staff is not always 

the best it could be and can hinder the potential of staff to deliver the best possible care for patients. 

Due to limited funding available, both trusts prioritise equipment based on clinical and service risk. 

Equipment replacement lists are behind with prioritisation given to the top risks only. This means that 

we have inefficient equipment in a number of departments impacting on productivity due to slow 

running and/or frequent repairs being required. It also restricts innovation and the ability to make 

longer-term strategic investments to improve efficiency and ways of working.  Within some 

departments staff have reported shortfalls in the provision of basic medical equipment in our clinical 

areas (e.g., blood pressure monitors, infusion pumps), which also impact on the timeliness and 

efficiency of care provision.   

Furthermore, there is a lack of standardisation with different types of equipment and different systems 

in place not only between the two trusts but also sometimes within them. This creates an additional 

barrier for staff working across sites as staff have to be trained on and comfortable using more than one 

type of equipment or more than one approach.  

Greater collaboration between HUTH and NLaG creates opportunities to improve our position on 

equipment, with work underway to align procurement and finance processes, under the leadership of 

the joint Director of Finance. Working together in this way will offer substantial opportunity for 

economies of scale to be realised. Standardisation of equipment across the Humber will allow staff to 

work on different sites more easily and will support the training and development of staff across sites 

and across trusts. In addition, working together across both trusts to procure, manage and maintain 

equipment using a standardised approach can contribute to financial efficiencies and improved use of 

equipment budgets.    

2.5.3 Digital infrastructure 

 

The main digital challenges facing hospital services across the Humber include: 

 

 
105 See section 8.2.3 for further detail. 

The clinical change proposals set out within this business case – and estates changes that would 

be required – can be delivered within existing financial resources, enabling many of the identified 

benefits to be realised quickly. 

Many of our digital systems are outdated and a lack of digital maturity is a significant barrier to 

providing high quality, personalised care.  

In designing the proposals for change, we have looked at opportunities to keep people out of 

hospital supported by digital and ensured plans for pathway changes are linked to planned digital 

investments across the system. 

Page 131



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

74 
  

Our systems do not talk to one another. 

• Over the years many systems have been deployed by different services, resulting in a myriad of 

different digital systems that are not as interoperable as we require. In a world where activity is 

increasingly interconnected not just between hospitals but across the wider system with 

primary, community and social care we need our digital infrastructure to match.   

• Patients need to repeat histories when they meet multiple clinicians in different organisations 

and clinical staff often do not have access to a comprehensive patient record. ‘Work around’ 

processes increase the likelihood of clinical risk if vital patient information is not available at the 

point of care.  

Some of our ways of working are very inefficient. 

• Staff spend a large amount of their time manually filling in forms that could be automated, 

freeing up more time to care for patients. The situation is not equal across both trusts, with a 

greater proportion of paper processing continuing to take place within NLaG.  

• Patients receive communication in a disparate way – that does not support their understanding 

of where they are on a waiting list or assure of timely communication with other professionals. 

This is compounded by the use of outdated appointment systems that do not support intelligent 

scheduling, coordination across departments and patient choice and control over appointment 

times.  

• We do not optimise remote monitoring in patient care particularly for those people who have 

multiple comorbidities, long term conditions or those in care homes. Furthermore, because of 

the way our systems operate, it is not always possible to identify high risk patients to ensure 

that they are managed appropriately and in accordance with a clinical management plan, which 

can result in unnecessary hospital attendances and a poor patient experience.  

We are not using the data we have to its full potential. 

• We have a wealth of data within and about our services, but we have to manually manipulate it 

to gain an understanding of performance and quality.  

• Information from other partners is sometimes not available to our clinicians resulting in reduced 

clinical empowerment. 

• We are not making use of our data to drive improved patient flow or to deliver predictive care 

planning and early intervention. Our data sources are plentiful but disparate and our use of 

advanced analytics and artificial intelligence is extremely limited.  

Working collaboratively we can address these challenges and support the proposed new models of care 

with effective digital solutions and underpinning infrastructure. Building on planned investments as part 

of the wider ICS digital strategy, enabling digital solutions and new ways of working will underpin the 

proposed models of care.  Under the leadership of the joint Chief Information Officer, Chief Medical 

Information Officer and Chief Nurse/Allied Health Professional Information Officer, HUTH and NLaG are 

working alongside partners in the wider health and care system to develop and implement the Humber 

and North Yorkshire (ICS) digital strategy, aligning investments to system-wide priorities.  

 

The clinical change proposals set out within this business case have been developed alongside and 

aligned to the Humber and North Yorkshire digital strategy to ensure the critical digital enablers 

can be delivered. 

Page 132



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

75 
  

2.6 Performance and Efficiency 

 
Summary Box 2.8 – Performancy and efficiency challenges 

2.6.1 Quality of Care 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspected both organisations in 2019/20 and again in 2022 – HUTH 

report March 2023,106 NLaG report December 2022.107  The findings from both inspections highlight a 

number of key areas for improvement within both trusts.  

 Organisation
/Site 

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall 

O
ve

ra
ll HUTH Inadequate 

Requires 
Improvement 

Good 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 

NLaG 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Good 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

U
rg

e
n

t 
an

d
 

Em
e

rg
e

n
cy

 C
ar

e
 

Hull Royal Inadequate Inadequate 
Requires 

Improvement 
Inadequate Inadequate Inadequate 

DPoW 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Good 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Scunthorpe 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Good 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

 
106 Care Quality Commission (2023) Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust – Inspection Report CQC Report 
107 Care Quality Commission (2022) Northern Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust – Inspection Report CQC 
Report  

The way in which our services are currently structured is inefficient and results in poor 

performance in a number of areas.   

We are duplicating 24/7 on-call teams across sites for small volumes of patients and we are unable 

to provide 7-day consultant reviews, meaning our patients spend longer in hospital to get the same 

care and treatment than in many other parts of the country. The number of emergency operations 

undertaken overnight at Grimsby (172/year) and Scunthorpe (196/year) combined equates to 

around one patient per night yet both have fully staffed 24/7 on-call rotas for overnight surgery. 

Planned care services often have to compete with urgent and emergency care services for resources 

(workforce, theatres and recovery space) meaning that services are impacted when there are peaks 

in urgent care demand. 

Staffing shortages and operating relatively small services means that our staff and trainees do not 

always have enough opportunity to undertake specialist training, as they are needed to cover 

rotas, and they don’t have the same opportunities as those working in larger units to see a variety of 

cases and keep their skills up, potentially impacting on the quality and sustainability of services in 

the longer-term.  

The Humber health and care system is operating under extremely challenging financial pressures, 

impacting on all organisations. Changes have to be made to ensure services can continue to be 

viable and sustainable in the longer-term. 

Page 133

https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RWA/inspection-summary
https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RJL/inspection-summary
https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RJL/inspection-summary


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

76 
  

Se
rv

ic
e

s 
fo

r 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
P

 
Hull Royal 

Requires 
Improvement 

Good Good Good Good Good 

DPoW 
Requires 

Improvement 
Good Good Good 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Scunthorpe 
Requires 

Improvement 
Good Good Good 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Table 2.15 Summary of CQC Ratings (HUTH and NLaG)108 

Many of the areas for improvement across services related to workforce shortages and/or skills gaps 

that were identified, for example: 

• Services did not always have enough nursing or medical staff with the right qualifications, skills, 
training and experience to comply with national guidance. 

• High sickness rates for qualified nurses and midwives and high use of bank staff. 

• Out of hours (duty) anaesthetist cover for obstetrics was shared with the intensive care unit and 
the CQC were not assured the anaesthetist could be immediately available to cover emergency 
work on the delivery suite, without potentially placing patients at risk.  

• Unfilled junior doctor posts had resulted in the inability to meet the demands of the service. 

Other key areas where improvements to performance and quality need to be made are around waiting 

times, cancelled operations and the potential harm to patients caused by long waits.  

2.6.2 Efficiency and productivity 

 

Until last year, all three hospitals had a higher conversion of Emergency Department attendances being 

admitted to a hospital as an emergency compared to the national average. This has been consistently 

high across all hospitals before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.  

A number of factors contribute to this higher rate of admission, including the lack of availability of 

alternative service models such as frailty services in the community, workforce availability, hospital 

admission practices and difficulty in accessing primary care that results in deterioration of a patients’ 

condition. Another key contributory factor is the need for specialist input at the early stages of the 

patient assessment and investigations – when this is absent, patients are admitted to inpatient wards 

to await review.  This practice has reduced significantly within Grimsby and Scunthorpe in the past few 

months following the introduction of the Integrated Acute Assessment Unit (IAAU) model (see section 

5.2.3). This is approach is enabling faster senior decision-making and contributing to a reduced 

conversion rate into emergency admissions. Implementation of this model within HUTH and a consistent 

approach across the Humber will support improved performance and efficiency across the region.  

 
108 Care Quality Commission (2020) Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust  CQC Report and (2022) Northern 
Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust CQC Report 

The way in which services are currently configured is inefficient in a number of ways, resulting in 

high levels of cancelled or postponed procedures, long waiting lists, poor utilisation of facilities and 

poorer outcomes for patients.   

Developing and implementing more integrated pathways within and outside of hospitals can deliver 

improvements in efficiency and productivity.   

Page 134

https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RWA/inspection-summary
https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RJL/inspection-summary


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

77 
  

 
Figure 2.10 Conversion % from Emergency Department to Inpatient Admission (2019/20 to 2021/22)  109 

The interdependencies between planned and unplanned care services – whereby they often rely on the 

same resources (workforce, theatres and recovery space) – impacts upon performance when there are 

peaks in urgent care demand.110  Even where dedicated facilities exist for elective procedures, patients 

often rely on the same support services such as critical care or an aesthetics and pressures within these 

services can lead to cancellations of planned procedures.  

Before the impact of the pandemic, significantly more operations were being cancelled or postponed 

within HUTH than the acceptable level of 0.65%.  This was exacerbated by the pandemic, particularly 

within HUTH, due to the constrained facilities within the Hull Royal tower block.  The position within 

NLaG has improved in the last year, however it has continued to deteriorate within HUTH, and the level 

of cancelled operations is significantly above national average.  

 
Figure 2.11 Cancelled operations (HUTH and NLaG)111 

 
109 Internal trust data (June 2022) 
110 There are dedicated elective facilities at Castle Hill Hospital and Goole District Hospital that deliver a mix of 
inpatient and day case procedures.  Day surgery is also provided from a separate building on the Hull Royal 
Infirmary site.  At Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW), 
elective inpatient and day case surgery is provided from within the main hospital site, utilising the same theatres 
and recovery space. 
111 NHS England (2022) Cancelled Elective Operations Data Cancelled Elective Operations  

26.3
24.8 25.2

27.2
25.4

28

24.2

32.8

23.723.9

17.2
15.5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

HRI DPoW SGH

Conversion % from emergency department to inpatient admissions (2019-2023)

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Cancelled Operations 

20% 

National 

average 

Page 135

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/cancelled-elective-operations/cancelled-ops-data/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

78 
  

2.6.3 Disjointed care – need for better integration 

 

A key contributory factor to many of the performance and quality challenges is the way in which our 

health and care services are organised, which leads to duplication, inefficiencies, poor experience and 

can mean people fall between the cracks.  Our current way of working is based around different 

organisations providing primary, community and secondary care.  Different providers of care are 

organised and funded in different ways with different strategies and targets to meet.  This leads to a 

focus on boundaries and handovers rather than a focus on the patient and what they need.  Patients tell 

us that they are frustrated by the lack of communication between different services and are frustrated 

that the current system is too complex and confusing.  Services often have different eligibility criteria 

and different referral routes or are not available equally for all our population making it difficult to 

navigate for patients and staff alike.  Patients can miss out on care or wait weeks and months for a 

hospital appointment for tests or treatment that could be completed in a primary or community care 

setting if the necessary skills, resources and time were available.  

The way we deliver care needs to adapt to the changing needs of the local population, who are living 

longer and experiencing more complex or multiple health conditions.  In order to deliver responsive, 

evidence-based and effective care, our ways of working also need to change to reflect improvements in 

technology.  More people could manage their own conditions at home or in the community if they had 

access to the right support to help them live independently.  Currently, however, our system is arranged 

in such a way that people are coming to hospital more often than they need to (particularly via our 

Emergency Departments), waiting longer than they should to be seen and staying in hospital longer than 

necessary.  

Too many patients are attending hospital emergency departments or being admitted when they could 

benefit from supporting services outside of a hospital, at their GP surgery, at home or at a dedicated 

facility on their local high street.  Hospital infrastructure costs are high, and travel can be cumbersome 

and expensive for patients.  Seeing patients in their own home or in a community setting not only helps 

to address that, but also offers a more convenient and for many people a less stressful experience.  

There is more we could be doing so that far fewer people need to go to hospital for treatment (whether 

urgent or routine) in the future.  

Our population has poorer health outcomes and a lower-than-average healthy life expectancy due 

to a range of factors, including deprivation. We need to provide services that are more proactive, 

community-based and joined-up around the needs of children and adults, in particular those with 

long-term conditions and multiple co-morbidities.  

New pathways and ways of working between health and care providers will enable us to provide 

better care for those who need it most.  

Page 136



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

79 
  

2.6.4 Financial Performance 

 

The Humber Acute Services programme was clinically driven, to ensure high quality, sustainable services 

can be provided into the future. The programme was not initiated in order to save money, however, it is 

important to recognise the challenging financial context that the health and care system across the 

Humber and North Yorkshire is operating within and seek to support system-wide efforts to address the 

financial challenge.   

The challenges faced are similar to those being experienced nationally and are exacerbated across the 

Humber, given the geography, demography and workforce pressures. Reliance on agency and premium 

cost workforce, rising demand and demographic pressures driven by deprivation and health inequalities 

all contribute to the system financial pressure. The current configuration and duplication of services 

further contributes to these challenges.  

Demand on services continues to rise and outstrips the available funding, putting pressure on all 

services, especially hospitals, GP surgeries and social care. There is insufficient funding for us to 

continue as we are.  The reconfiguration of acute hospital services forms part of the Humber system 

plan to improve services for the local population. This plan includes an ambition to redefine and expand 

community-based services in order to bring care closer to home, providing a strong base from which 

sustainable and effective services can be developed. 

Due to the way services are organised and the challenges covering rotas, our agency and locum 

spend is amongst the highest in the country. Last year (2022/23) HUTH and NLaG spent over £55 

million (£37m in NLaG, £18m in HUTH) on agency and locum staff.  

The proposed changes to pathways and models of care could help to eliminate some of the 

structural deficit that exists within the system and help to ensure services can be provided 

sustainably in the future.  

Page 137



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 2 – Challenges and the Case for Change 

 

80 
  

 
Summary Box 2.9 

 

  

The challenges we face are significant. The way in which our services are currently designed and 

delivered means that they are struggling to meet the needs of all local people now and are not 

equipped to do so in the future.   

To address these challenges we need to substantively change how we provide care for the 

population of the Humber. 

We must: 

• Link services up better in and out of hospital so we can help more people to stay well at 

home and avoid coming to hospital in an emergency.  

• Change the way we organise our services so that they can meet key clinical and waiting time 

standards and provide a high quality of care for our population. 

• Address our workforce challenges by deploying the skilled workforce we have in more 

efficient and effective ways, creating new, more attractive roles and developing a local 

workforce for the future. 

• Reduce the amount we are spending on expensive agency staff to plug gaps in rotas and 

look at other ways to make services more efficient. 

The proposals outlined within the PCBC seek to address these challenges through two main areas of 

change: 

✓ Improved pathways 

✓ Changes to site configuration – where and how services are delivered.   

Pathway changes will improve outcomes for patients through better, more joined-up care. They also 

create opportunities for the development of staff and new roles, working across sectors, to improve 

recruitment and retention.   

The site configuration options enable us to make better use of our highly skilled staff, reduce 

double-running and provide services that meet key clinical and constitutional targets and that are 

clinically sustainable in the long-term.  

The internal funding review has identified estate changes that are deliverable and would enable the 

changes to be made to address the challenges set out. 

There is an opportunity through greater collaboration, by working in partnership with colleagues in 

and out of hospital and in partnership with individuals and communities to provide care in a better, 

more effective way. This cannot be done without change.  

The next chapter sets out how we have developed the change proposals in this business case, 

though ongoing engagement with a wide range of stakeholders.  

Page 138



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

81 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 3 

Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

  

Page 139



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

82 
  

3. Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 
Summary Box 3.1 

The development of proposals for the future of hospital services across the Humber has been 

clinically-led, evidence-based and influenced by the involvement of a wide range of stakeholders. 

Timeline 

 
The design and evaluation of options was led by clinical teams from within the two acute hospital 

trusts, working with clinicians from primary care, community and mental health to design the 

proposed new pathways in and out of hospital. This has ensured that the proposals are based upon 

a clear and strong clinical evidence base and have support from clinical commissioners as well as 

clinical leads within providers.  

The process undertaken to design and evaluation the proposals within this PCBC has involved 

extensive public and patient engagement, ensuring the proposals developed are consistent with 

current and prospective patient choice.  Throughout the programme more than 12,000 people 

were involved in developing and/or evaluating the potential models of care.  

The pre-Consultation engagement was independently evaluated by the Consultation Institute (tCI) 

who concluded “the Humber Acute Services Programme team has delivered an effective pre-

engagement exercise”.  

The process undertaken has ensured the proposals for change meet the key tests for service 

change and comply with relevant guidance and statutory duties. Ongoing oversight and assurance 

were provided by partners, regulators and independent experts.  

•Developing the Case for Change (2018 - Nov 19)

•Generating outline ideas (July - Nov 19)

•Developing a long list of potential models of care (Nov 19 - Jan 20)

•Reviewing the long list of potential models of care (Jan - March 20)

•Developing and refining the potential models of care (Sept 20 - Nov 21)

•Assessing and appraising the potential models of care (Oct 21 - Dec 22)

•Evaluating the impacts of the potential models of care (Oct 22 - May 23)

Page 140



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

83 
  

3.1 Overview 

 
Summary Box 3.2 

The approach to engagement and involvement has necessarily adapted in response to challenges and 

learning through the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic influenced the manner in which engagement 

was undertaken (in particular, having to adapt to social distancing requirements and other restrictions 

to face-to-face gatherings) and the views and perspectives of clinicians, staff, patients, the public and 

other stakeholders on what is possible for the future design of healthcare.  Changing perspectives and 

learning from the pandemic helped to shape the potential clinical models proposed.112  

In designing models of care for the future, we have worked with colleagues from primary and 

community care, mental health services, social care, local authorities and the voluntary and community 

sector to ensure our proposed new pathways are designed around the needs of patients and service-

users, considering the whole patient journey, not just the part that takes place in a hospital.  Plans for 

how we deliver care outside of hospital settings have been closely aligned to the development of the 

potential models of care for acute services (see section 7.1). 

In addition, the programme undertook vanguard work to align the process of developing this Pre-

Consultation Business Case (PCBC) with the process to develop a Strategic Outline Case (SOC), for the 

wider capital investment needed for healthcare infrastructure in the Humber area. This is a new and 

innovative approach and has been both beneficial and challenging to the system. Bringing the 

programmes together has helped to ensure alignment between the clinical case for change and plans 

for future buildings and infrastructure and will help to accelerate implementation following decision-

making on a way forward. 

 
112 Yorkshire and Humber Academic Health Sciences Network (2020) Understanding our Response to COVID-19  
Humber, Coast and Vale Rapid Insights Report 

In line with the programme principles (see section 1.1.1), the development of this Pre-Consultation 

Business Case (PCBC) has been clinically-led, evidence-based and influenced by the involvement of 

a wide range of stakeholders, including: patients and service-users, clinicians, staff and partners 

across the health and social care sector, local authorities, voluntary and community sector 

organisations, the public and their representatives.  

The process undertaken to design and evaluate the proposals involved extensive public and patient 

engagement, ensuring the proposals are consistent with current and prospective patient choice.  

The design and evaluation of options was led by clinical teams from within the two acute hospital 

trusts, working with clinicians from primary care, community and mental health to design the 

proposed new pathways in and out of hospital. This has ensured that the proposals are based upon 

a clear and strong clinical evidence base and have support from clinical commissioners as well as 

clinical leads within providers.  

The proposals will deliver reduced length of stay and reduced admissions to hospital through 

pathway changes both in and out of hospital. Joint programme management arrangements are in 

place to ensure necessary out of hospital enabling changes will be delivered in line with in hospital 

changes.  

The process has been iterative and responded to feedback, suggestions and ideas throughout.  

Page 141

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Understanding-our-response-to-COVID-19-report-singles.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

84 
  

 
Summary Box 3.3 

3.1.1 Governance 

The programme has been managed by robust governance, regularly reviewed and refreshed to ensure 

effective decision-making and that all partners were fully engaged in the programme.  An Executive 

Oversight Group was established in March 2019 to provide oversight and leadership to the programme 

as a whole, replacing the previous Steering Group that led earlier phases of specialty-specific work.  The 

Executive Oversight Group provides the leadership and direction to the programme and links to formal 

decision-making forums for each of the partner organisations involved in the programme.  

The two acute trusts established joint decision-making processes through the creation of a 

Committee(s) in Common which has delegated responsibility from both Trust Boards for joint working 

(see section 1.2.4). 

The programme governance sits within the overall structure of the Humber and North Yorkshire Health 

and Care Partnership, reporting through the Executive Oversight Group into the relevant boards and 

committees of the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Humber and North 

Yorkshire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).  

 
Figure 3.1 Humber Acute Services governance chart 

Due to the complex nature of the programme, regular liaison meetings have also taken place with 

parallel programmes of work to ensure alignment of strategic objectives and approach.  External 

This chapter provides a high-level summary of the engagement and involvement activities that have 

been undertaken to support development of the potential models of care.   

The key findings and insights gathered through the engagement are summarised in section C of the 

appendices (pp.307 to 316) and set out in detail in the respective engagement reports (see p.335 for 

links to each report).  

A more detailed explanation of the process undertaken to develop and evaluate the potential 

models of care is provided in section B of the appendices (pp.247 to 298).  

Page 142



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

85 
  

assurance and engagement with wider partners have been critically important throughout the lifetime 

of the programme. This has included a wide range of working groups, task and finish groups and ongoing 

engagement meetings – a snapshot is provided in the diagram below, however, these have changed 

over the course of the programme as different groups have been stood up and down to undertaken 

specific pieces of work (see section 3.3 for further details).  

 
Figure 3.2 Working groups and engagement overview 

3.1.2 Timeline 

The Case for Change highlighted a wide range of issues and challenges facing the health and care system 

across the Humber.113  In response to those challenges, a set of proposed future clinical models were 

developed.  These potential clinical models were developed, refined and evaluated based on evidence 

and insight gathered through data modelling, clinical consideration and debate and ongoing stakeholder 

engagement.   

This work was undertaken through a number of key stages: 

 

 
113 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (November 2019) Humber Acute Services Review Case for 
Change Case for Change  

•Developing the Case for Change (2018 - Nov 19)

•Generating outline ideas (July - Nov 19)

•Developing a long list of potential models of care (Nov 19 - Jan 20)

•Reviewing the long list of potential models of care (Jan - March 20)

•Developing and refining the potential models of care (Sept 20 - Nov 21)

•Assessing and appraising the potential models of care (Oct 21 - Dec 22)

•Evaluating the impacts of the potential models of care (Oct 22 - May 23)

Page 143

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HASR-Long-Case-for-Change_Final-for-Publication.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

86 
  

Throughout each stage of the process, we have engaged with a range of stakeholders on an ongoing 

basis, responding to feedback and refining the models continuously.114  

 
Figure 3.3 Overarching engagement timeline 

3.1.3 Principles  

Our approach to the development of the potential models of care has been informed by the principles 

agreed at the outset of the Humber Acute Services Review (see section 1.1.1).  The service review was 

clinically-led and, as a result, included consideration of a wide range of potential models of care put 

forward by clinical teams. The programme looked at best practice around the UK and beyond and used 

evidence and data to drive the development of potential models of care. Whilst investment in our 

buildings is a critical enabler of change, the programme prioritised the development of effective models 

of care and developed estates plans around the clinical models rather than the other way around. Work 

was undertaken in partnership with colleagues across the health and care system to ensure we are 

designing solutions that support joined-up care across the system. Programme plans, setting out 

objectives, processes, timescales and resources, were developed and refreshed throughout the 

programme to ensure effective delivery and respond to changing external circumstances, in particular 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 

A transparent, collaborative and inclusive approach was adopted throughout, ensuring engagement 

with key stakeholders. The approach to evaluating the potential models of care considered the levels of 

human, physical and financial resource expected to be available.  Potential models of care were 

developed with a focus on the possible options for the future provision of urgent and emergency care 

and maternity, neonatal care and paediatrics in Hull, Grimsby and Scunthorpe along with planned care 

principles for delivery across the Humber region.  In all service areas, the programme focused on 

developing models of care that deliver as much care at or close to home as possible.  Throughout the 

programme all partners have maintained their commitment to provide acute hospital services that are 

patient-focussed, safe and sustainable, meeting the needs of our population both now and in the future.  

 
114 The Engagement Timeline in appendix 10.15 provides an overview of the extensive engagement and 
involvement undertaken. 

Page 144



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

87 
  

3.2 Stakeholder engagement – our approach 

 
Summary Box 3.4 

 
 Picture 3:A Overview of engagement 115 

 
115 Figures quoted in the diagram were correct as of 12th June 2023. 

We have undertaken extensive engagement and involvement activities to help shape and assess the 

different potential models of care.  Over the course of the programme, more than 12,000 people 

have contributed to the design and/or evaluation of the proposals set out in this PCBC. Our pre-

Consultation engagement has been independently reviewed and assured by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees (OSCs) and the Consultation Institute.  

The proposals help to address health inequalities by responding to some of the issues and challenges 

people have told us impact upon them and their ability to stay healthy.  

The evaluation of the potential options prioritised what people told us was most important to 

them, helping to ensure services meet the needs of local people in the future and continue to 

provide choice for patients across the Humber.  

A detailed record of the engagement undertaken is provided in the Engagement Timeline. 

Page 145

file:///C:/Users/linsay.cunningham/Documents/HAS%20work_local%20backups/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v2.1.docx%23_Engagement_Timeline


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

88 
  

3.2.1 Aims and objectives 

Involving and engaging stakeholders has played a crucial role in developing the potential models of care 

described in this Pre-Consultation Business Case. Engagement activities served to: 

• Generate ideas  

- Engagement with clinicians, patients and other stakeholders helped us to develop ideas 

about what models of care might be possible in the future. 

- Clinical and wider engagement also helped us to rule out approaches that would not be 

considered possible or safe, for example, due to clinical interdependencies. 

• Provide critique and challenge assumptions  

- Stakeholder engagement has been invaluable in shaping the underlying assumptions 

within the potential models of care and ensuring these are robust and consistently 

understood and applied across our health and care system. 

• Understand the impact  

- Ongoing engagement with clinical teams, patients and the wider public has helped to 

build our understanding of the potential impact of each of the potential models of care. 

- In particular, this has helped us to understand how impacts might differ between 

different population cohorts and in turn may impact upon regional health inequalities. 

• Support evaluation  

- Engagement and involvement activities helped us to develop a better understanding of 

the priorities and preferences of people in our communities and see how these differ 

between different population cohorts and staff groups. 

- The evaluation framework used to assess the potential models of care was co-designed 

through ongoing engagement with stakeholders on priorities and preferences. 

- A wide range of stakeholders were involved in evaluating the potential models of care.  

3.2.2 Addressing Health Inequalities 

 
Summary Box 3.5 

In July 2018, a local voluntary sector organisation – Humber and Wolds Rural Action (HWRA) – was 

commissioned to undertake targeted engagement with people and groups across the region who may 

experience barriers to accessing services or are underrepresented in healthcare decision making.  The 

Engagement and involvement activities were shaped by early analysis of the potential impacts of any 

changes and detailed analysis of the underlying health inequalities within the region. Population 

health analysis fed into the published Case for Change and was used to shape the early involvement 

work at the start of the programme.   

Regularly updated population health and impact assessments underpinned our approach to 

engagement, ensuring continued fulfilment of our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). Our 

engagement programme paid particular attention to ensure those with protected characteristics 

under the Equality Act and/or impacted by other health inequalities that exist within the population 

were provided with opportunities to be fully involved in the design and evaluation of potential 

models of care. This targeted engagement was supported by a Voluntary, Community and Social 

Enterprise (VCSE) sector working group, representative groups and trusted intermediaries and was 

assured by our Citizen’s Panel.  

Page 146



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

89 
  

purpose of the engagement was to capture the views of those who face additional barriers to having 

their voices heard because of cultural differences, disability, gender or for any other reason. The 

majority of engagement was undertaken through existing meetings or group activities, utilising the 

network of voluntary and community sector organisations known to HWRA.  Participants were drawn 

from a wide range of groups including people who are homeless or those at risk of homelessness, 

people with learning difficulties and disabilities, gypsy and traveller communities, people with physical 

disabilities and/or impacted by poor mental health, young people and people identifying as LGBTQ+.116  

In addition to helping to shape the potential models of care, this work also shaped our approach to 

engagement, highlighting steps we could take to ensure our work is as inclusive as possible.  

Following completion of the Case for Change, a further, more detailed analysis of the potentially 

impacted population(s) was undertaken to support planning of the next phase of engagement.117  Key 

target groups that were identified for engagement purposes included the following: 

• People living in deprived communities and neighbourhoods (postcode level analysis undertaken) 

• Younger mothers (using maternity services), particularly those living in deprived areas 

• People who are homeless or in temporary or insecure accommodation 

• Migrant populations, including asylum seekers and refugees 

• Children and young people, their parents and carers 

• People with severe and enduring mental illness 

• People without access to digital technology 

In planning the engagement, particular effort was made to ensure it was visible and accessible to those 

population cohorts facing the greatest health inequalities and undertaken using inclusive methods to 

address existing barriers that were identified.  This was particularly challenging given the onset of the 

COVID-19 pandemic at this time.  For example, the impact of digital exclusion was disproportionately 

high on those already identified as target populations for involvement either due to lack of 

capacity/skills to engage digitally or a lack of resources.  A range of measures were put in place to 

mitigate against digital exclusion and, more broadly, to ensure wherever possible barriers to 

involvement were removed and the programme of engagement was as inclusive as possible. Even in the 

height of the pandemic when restrictions on face-to-face interactions were most stringent, we created 

opportunities for people without internet access or skills to take part in our engagement. During the 

latter part of the programme, when restrictions had eased, engagement activities had a strong focus on 

using non-digital methods to boost opportunities amongst those most likely to be impacted by digital 

exclusion.  

Some of the measures that were adopted included: 

• Working with trusted partners to gather feedback and insight on our behalf. 

- Utilising voluntary and community sector partnerships to build connections with and 

gather feedback from potentially excluded groups (e.g.,, sex workers, people who are 

homeless). 

- Working with Healthwatch to undertake ‘Enter and View’ visits of our Emergency 

Departments and engage with those using services face-to-face. 

• Targeted paid-for advertising on social media.  

 
116 The insight gathered through these discussions is set out in full in the Engagement Report. Humber and Wolds 
Rural Action (2020) Humber Acute Services Review – Targeted Engagement Report HWRA Report 
117 See Public Health data pack within the document library 

Page 147

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Public-Health-Data-Pack.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

90 
  

- Utilising detailed postcode analysis to target online surveys and other engagement 

opportunities to those living in postcode areas with highest instances of deprivation. 

- Targeted promotion of surveys to social media users with specific characteristics in line 

with health inequalities analysis (e.g.,, younger mothers). 

• Promoting and facilitating off-line methods of involvement. 

- Hosting face-to-face conversations where possible (e.g.,, hosting a drop-in listening 

session at a soft play venue for younger mums). 

- Advertising surveys, focus groups and other involvement opportunities in venues still 

seeing high footfall of relevant target populations (e.g.,, posters in children’s centres in 

deprived areas). 

- Offering all surveys and involvement opportunities in alternative formats such as 

telephone calls or paper-based surveys. 

• Recognising and seeking to remove barriers to involvement wherever possible. 

- Offering all surveys and involvement opportunities in different languages or alternative 

formats. 

Throughout all our engagement, efforts were focused on ensuring those least able to participate were 

included wherever possible.  

3.2.3 Clinical, staff and partner engagement  

 

Clinical engagement has been critical to the success of the programme.118  For the purposes of this 

document, the term ‘clinical engagement’ is used to refer to the involvement of a wide range of health 

and care professionals including nurses, midwives, GPs, paramedics, junior and middle-grade doctors, 

consultants, social care professionals and allied health professionals (AHPs).   

Clinical engagement has been carried out through a number of different forums and using a variety of 

approaches, guided and overseen by the programme’s Clinical Design Group.  Engagement with 

clinicians and other healthcare professionals was undertaken using a range of methods including: 

• Workshops (both virtual and face-to-face) – 50 workshops in total 

• Face-to-face and virtual drop-in briefing sessions held at a range of times to enable shift workers 

to attend and available to watch on demand – 34 sessions in total 

• Virtual Question and Answer sessions led by the Trust Chief Executives and Medical Directors – 

2 sessions  

• Online and paper-based surveys – 1,717 responses  

• Online question and answer/feedback portal open to all staff and partners – 47 questions  

• Engagement through existing meetings and forums.  

 
118 Full details of our clinical, staff and partner engagement are provided in appendix 10.3. 

The design and evaluation of options was led by clinical teams from within the two acute hospital 

trusts, working with clinicians from primary care, community and mental health to design the 

proposed new pathways in and out of hospital. This has ensured that the proposals are based upon a 

clear and strong clinical evidence base and have support from clinical commissioners as well as 

clinical leads within providers.  

Page 148



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

91 
  

 

In addition to the clinical design workshops, we engaged with specific cohorts of staff (e.g.,, consultants’ 

conference, nursing workshops, junior doctor’s forum, liaison meetings with union representatives) and 

convened workshops with a range of partners to consider specific thematic areas (e.g.,, mental health, 

transport, digital) to help shape the potential models of care.  Over the course of the programme these 

workshops reached approximately 1,350 clinicians and members of staff from across the Humber 

health and care system.119   

Regular liaison meetings took place with neighbouring health economies and representatives from their 

acute services review programmes including Doncaster, Lincolnshire and Scarborough/East Coast, to 

gather feedback on assumptions about current and future activity, to share the potential models of care 

as they have been developed and to understand the impact of the different potential models of care in 

neighbouring areas. 

The clinical engagement and co-design process was supported and enabled through a comprehensive 

internal communications campaign across both acute trusts and also incorporating partners in primary, 

community and mental health care. The aims of the communications campaign were to ensure all 

members of staff working within both acute trusts were aware of the change programme, had access to 

up-to-date information about the work, could provide feedback and input into the change and knew 

how to ask questions if they had concerns or ideas about the programme. 

• Information provided on Trust intranets. 

• A regular newsletter (31 issues in total, from June 2021 to January 2023). 

• A printed leaflet distributed across both acute trusts targeting staff who don’t or can’t access 

digital communications and poster campaign. 

Over the course of the programme approximately 1,717 members of staff responded to a survey, 

1,366 clinicians and members of staff participated in a workshop, 47 questions were raised through 

the portal and the virtual engagement sessions were attended/watched by 1,323 people.120  

3.2.4 Public engagement  

 

Public engagement has been carried out using a wide variety of methods, supported by the 

programme’s Communications and Engagement Delivery Group and independent Citizen’s Panel.121   

In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, the public engagement programme had to be flexible and 

adapt to rapidly changing circumstances. A co-production approach was adopted throughout, 

supporting the design and delivery of engagement activities. In addition, a wealth of other insights work, 

undertaken by partners across the region, was drawn upon to inform the development of potential 

models of care. Engagement with patients and the public was undertaken using a range of methods 

including: 

 
119 Details of workshops held are included within the Engagement timeline. 
120 Figures collated in February 2023, additional engagement has continued and may not be included in the figures. 
121 Full details of our public, patient and service-user engagement are provided in appendix 10.6. 

A strong focus on public, patient and service-user engagement has underpinned the development 

of solutions to the challenges set out in the case for change, ensuring the proposals are consistent 

with current and prospective patient choice.  

Page 149



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

92 
  

• online and paper-based surveys – 8,402 responses. 

• workshops (both virtual and face-to-face) – 21 workshops in total. 

• focus groups (both virtual and face-to-face) – 37 sessions in total. 

• drop-in listening events – 10 sessions in total. 

• engagement via third parties such as voluntary and community sector partners and 

representative groups (e.g.,, Maternity Voices Partnerships, Healthwatch and our Citizen’s 

Panel).  

During the options development stage, public and service-user engagement focused on the following 

key areas to help shape the potential models of care: 

• Engagement with children and young people, their parents, carers and families to find out what 

their priorities are and what changes they would like to see to help shape potential models of 

care for paediatric services, in particular to ensure we fully understand any impacts of changes 

in this area on our younger patients. 

• Engagement with people who have used our Emergency Departments to find out more about 

their experiences and understand the barriers to accessing alternatives to A&E to help shape 

potential models of care for urgent and emergency care services, including getting urgent care 

provision outside of hospitals right.  

• Engagement with women, birthing people and their families about their Birthing Choices to find 

out where they would choose to give birth and why to help shape potential models of care for 

maternity and neonatal services. 

• Engagement with recent patients and those currently awaiting treatment – directly and through 

our partnership with Healthwatch – to help understand peoples’ views and perspectives about 

accessing planned care services.  

• Engagement with a wide range of stakeholders – staff, clinicians, partners, patients, service-

users, the public and their representatives – to understand the needs, priorities and preferences 

of different population cohorts. By asking What Matters to You? this engagement has shaped 

the potential models of care and the evaluation framework used to appraise them. 

Throughout 2022 and early 2023 engagement continued with a particular focus on addressing health 

inequalities, taking advantage of opportunities to undertake engagement face to face and reach 

communities who may have struggled to engage during the height of the pandemic. This engagement 

supported evaluation of the potential models of care and has been used throughout to develop and 

refine the Integrated Impact Assessment.122  

The public engagement and co-design process was supported by a wide-ranging communications 

campaign utilising a variety of channels, adapted to the relevant audience for each activity, including: 

• development of a programme website. 

• a monthly stakeholder newsletter. 

• an online question portal. 

• promotion of activities via social media across all partner organisations and channels, including 

the use of paid-for social media advertising. 

 
122 See Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) – document library. 

Page 150

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

93 
  

 

• partnership working with Healthwatch, Maternity Voices Partnerships and other service-user-

led groups. 

• establishment of a voluntary and community sector liaison group. 

Over the course of the programme approximately 8,400 people responded to a survey, 

approximately 680 people took part in a focus group or workshop, 15 questions were raised 

through the portal and targeted social media campaigns reached approximately 83,670 people.123 

 
Picture 3:B Key themes from engagement 

Ongoing engagement with patients, service-users, staff and other stakeholders influenced both the 

design and the evaluation of the potential models of care. The table below summarises some of the 

ways in which engagement has shaped the programme.124 

 

What we heard 
 

How we responded 

You said… We have… 

Travel and accessibility are key 
concerns. 

Mapped all patient journeys by postcode to understand travel 
impact of any potential changes (see section 10.18) and 
established a transport action group to address key areas of 
concern (see section 8.4.3). 

Being seen and treated quickly was 
your number 1 priority. 

Focused on developing proposals that will reduce waiting 
times and speed up diagnosis and treatment by optimising 
how we deploy skilled staff and resources (see section 7.1.3).  

 
123 Figures collated in February 2023, additional engagement has continued and may not be included in the figures.  
124 Details of the outcomes of the engagement undertaken, including how they have influenced the potential 
models of care, are provided in section C of the appendices and in the respective feedback reports. 

Page 151



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

94 
  

Safety is the number one priority 
within maternity care and 
paediatrics.  

Undertaken focused work with clinical teams to review the 
safety aspects of different potential models of care and 
options for the future (see section 10.4.3.3.1). 

Children and young people want to 
feel safe and their physical 
surroundings matter a lot to them. 

Sought to develop models of care that will support children 
and young people to stay at home for their care wherever 
possible (see section 5.3). 

Having the right workforce (and 
enough of them) is important to staff 
and patients alike. 

Modelled the workforce requirements for potential future 
models as part of the evaluation process (see section 
10.4.3.3.5). Worked with our teams and local education 
providers to explore new roles and ways to improve training 
and career development (see section 8.3.4). 

Table 3.1 Summary of engagement influence 

3.2.5 Wider stakeholder involvement 

 

Members of the team met regularly with elected representatives, leaders and colleagues from partner 

organisations and other relevant partnership bodies. We also worked hard to establish links with patient 

and service-user groups, staff and patient forums and other relevant local groups. Extensive internal 

engagement was undertaken with staff from all areas within all partner organisations.   

Stakeholder involvement and engagement activities that were undertaken and not covered in the 

sections above include: 

• liaison meetings with MPs and local councillors. 

• regular attendance at Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings (see section 

3.3.3.1). 

• briefing meetings with Council leaders and cabinets. 

• engagement with other elected members. 

• regular liaison with NHS England and Improvement (see section 3.3.1). 

• regular engagement with representatives from neighbouring health economies. 

• engagement with Place Boards, CCG Governing Bodies and committees of the Integrated Care 

Board (ICB). 

• monthly meetings with voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector leaders. 

• attendance at Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVP) meetings. 

• attendance at a range of patient representative forums. 

Ongoing dialogue with stakeholders helped to shape the development and evaluation of the potential 

models of care.   

Ongoing engagement with key stakeholders was undertaken throughout the programme to ensure 

that the views, ideas and insights from a wide range of individuals and communities who might be 

impacted by any changes to services in the future were understood and taken into account as the 

potential models of care were developed. 

Page 152



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

95 
  

3.3 Assurance 

  

3.3.1 NHS England and Improvement Assurance

Assurance from NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI) was undertaken both formally and informally 

throughout the programme.  NHSEI assurance has helped to ensure there is strategic alignment 

between the programme and other work across the region, that appropriate processes have been 

adopted throughout and that sufficient progress has been made in the context of continued operational 

challenges within the system.  Programme team representatives met with NHSEI colleagues on a 

fortnightly basis to provide updates on progress of the work and assure the direction of travel and key 

milestones. 

In addition, a number of reviews have been undertaken that have been pivotal to delivering this Pre-

Consultation Business Case.  Following completion of the Case for Change, a review meeting took place 

on 18th August 2020 with the Regional Director for NHS England and Improvement, Independent Lead 

for the Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (ICS lead) and the Executive leadership of 

the programme.  The meeting reviewed the progress made to date and agreed next steps for the 

programme to get to Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) stage – these included strengthening 

governance arrangements and developing a simple narrative to explain the aims and ambitions of the 

programme in the context of wider changes to health and care.  

Informal stocktake reviews also took place with the Regional Director and ICS leadership in March 2020, 

April 2021 and February 2022.  These sessions considered key risks and issues and ensured the 

programme could take a focused approach to completing proposals for change, in particular by aligning 

the approach to developing service change proposals with development of the strategic outline case for 

capital investment.  

A review meeting with the NHSEI regional team took place in December 2021, to consider and give 

feedback on an early draft of this Pre-Consultation Business Case.  The feedback and suggestions 

provided by NHSEI colleagues were helpful in shaping both the process and the models that have 

emerged through it.  

An informal review of the proposals by NHS England and the ICB took place in early June 2023. A key 

issue identified was that the picture and landscape in relation to maternity services, both nationally and 

regionally, has changed significantly and remains dynamic. As such, it was deemed necessary to 

decouple maternity and neonatal services from the wider programme proposals in order to undertake a 

more comprehensive review of the current provision and future delivery of these services across the full 

Humber and North Yorkshire ICB footprint. The extensive engagement that has been undertaken on 

maternity and neonatal care through the Humber Acute Services programme will help to support this 

ongoing work across the region.  

The programme has benefited from extensive involvement of external bodies to provide challenge, 

independent assessment and assurance that the models are effective and represent the best 

potential solutions to the challenges faced. 

The process and the proposed models of care have been reviewed and assured by multiple 

external bodies including the Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate, the Consultation Institute, 

independent clinical experts and NHS England.  

Page 153



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

96 
  

The Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was therefore split into two, to enable the proposals for 

changes to Urgent and Emergency Care and Paediatric Care to be taken forward for consultation whilst 

further work continues to be done on maternity and neonatal services.  

3.3.2 External review and challenge 

3.3.2.1 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate 

Clinical Senates are made up of independent diverse multi-professional experts from a broad range of 

health and care professions. They provide independent and impartial advice and guidance on any 

proposals for service change to assist in making the best decisions about healthcare for the populations 

they represent.  The Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate has undertaken multiple reviews at key 

stages of the Humber Acute Services programme.  

• Stage 1 review (January 2020) – initial review of the high-level options responding to the Case 

for Change125 

• Stage 2 review (March 2022) – review to appraise the potential models of care and variations, 

including the approach to evaluation126 

• PCBC review (February 2023) – review of the Pre-Consultation Business Case and proposed 

options for consultation127 

In January 2020, the Clinical Senate undertook a review of the Case for Change and early options 

development (Interim Options Report).  They provided a clinical assessment of the work to date, 

commenting on feasibility and sustainability of the high-level options and the extent to which they 

addressed the challenges presented in the Case for Change.  The Senate provided advice on how to take 

forward the development of options and where to focus efforts during the next phase of work.128 These 

recommendations were pivotal in shaping the next steps and development of the potential models of 

care.  

In March 2022, the Clinical Senate undertook an assurance review of the draft Pre-Consultation Business 

Case, providing clinical assurance that the models are sound and evidence-based, are in the best 

interest of patients, and will improve the quality, safety and sustainability of care.  The Senate provided 

feedback and clinical assurance on the models and variations taken through the evaluation process as 

well as commenting on the process itself.129 The feedback was considered as part of the final evaluation 

of the potential models of care and helped to confirm the exclusion of certain models (variations) from 

the options taken forward for consultation.  

The PCBC review by the Clinical Senate in February 2023, was undertaken to provide an additional level 

of assurance that the proposals and options being put forward for public consultation are clinically 

 
125 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (November 2020) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services on 
behalf of Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership Senate report 
126 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (June 2022) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services at 
North Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust and Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on behalf of 
The Clinical Commissioning Groups of: NHS Hull, NHS East Riding, NHS North Lincolnshire and NHS North East 
Lincolnshire Senate report 
127 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (April 2023) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services on behalf of 
Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board Senate report 
128 The recommendations made during this review are set out in appendix 10.5.1. 
129 The feedback provided by the Senate panel is summarised in appendix 10.5.2.   

Page 154

http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20-%20Humber%20Acute%20Services%20-%20November%202020.pdf
http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20%20HASR%20-%20ratified%20final.pdf
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.yhsenate.nhs.uk%2Fmodules%2Freports%2Fprotected%2Ffiles%2FYH%2520Senate%2520Final%2520Ratified%2520Report%2520-%2520HASR.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Clinsay.cunningham%40nhs.net%7Cbfa9e560b93740eae09908db56d528fe%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638199245726296524%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=3NL6qrWWh%2BmVKb3lXgBHn4Ykz1RQnc42dE5x1jjB6l4%3D&reserved=0


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

97 
  

viable and will ensure services are more sustainable, support the improvement of health inequalities, 

and provide good quality care for the future. The Senate was asked: 

1. To provide assurance, from a clinical perspective that the evaluation process has resulted in 

clinically viable proposals that ensure services are: 

• More sustainable 

• Provide good quality of care for the future 

• Support the improvement of health inequalities 

2. To provide assurance that the assumptions have been fully considered in relation to: 

• Demand for services 

• Patient flow 

• Travel and access for patients and staff 

• Impact on neighbouring providers of secondary care 

• Impact on interdependent/related services (e.g., ambulance/community/primary care) 

3. To provide assurance that the clinical models have taken account of the relevant clinical 

interdependencies and whether there is anything that has not been included in the proposed 

clinical models, within the current ability of the system to enact, that should be considered. 

The Senate provided the highest level of assurance against all three questions posed and highlighted 

several areas for further consideration.130  

 

3.3.2.2 Independent Clinical Advisors 

To ensure the development of models of care, service options and assumptions were viable, 

independent confirm and challenge was incorporated in the design process by inviting expert clinical 

advisors to comment on the work at key stages, within their professional remit.131  

Independent Urgent and Emergency Care clinical leads were engaged to provide an independent 

assessment of the models that were in development.  This included review sessions with emergency 

medicine consultant leads and primary care leads in June and September 2021, who provided an 

independent assessment of the shortlisted models, advising on any clinical risks or safety concerns. In 

 
130 The Senate panel feedback is summarised in appendix 10.5.3.   
131 The advice, comments and recommendations made and how they have influenced the proposals developed are 
detailed in appendices 10.5.4 and 10.5.5.  

The Clinical Senate concluded: 

✓ The options for the future models of care have been designed to address the challenges. 

✓ The proposals have been developed and refined through a robust process including in depth 

clinical input discussions with Clinical Design Groups, specialty project groups, a citizens panel, 

focus groups and workshops with elected members, representative groups and other 

stakeholders. 

✓ The proposed model affords the opportunity to consolidate specialised skills and expertise on 

one site. 

✓ The proposed models of care are clinically coherent, more sustainable and would provide 

quality care. 

Page 155



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

98 
  

addition, they provided advice on future workforce models and technology advancements and 

assurance on the planned activity shift into community and primary care. 

In July 2021, independent midwifery and obstetric reviews were undertaken in parallel to provide 

independent assurance and assessment of the potential models of care being developed for maternity, 

neonatal care and paediatrics.  The reviews highlighted some of the issues in relation to current service 

provision and compliance with standards. They also advised on future workforce models and how the 

potential models of care could be delivered safely as well as suggesting potential mitigations for any 

scenarios that result in consolidation of obstetric services. 

In addition to these reviews, we incorporated expertise, support and advice from regional Operational 

Delivery Networks (ODNs) for Neonatal services, Major Trauma and Critical Care.  As part of the planned 

care elements we also engaged with ‘Getting if Right First Time’ (GiRFT) regional leads for planned care. 

3.3.2.3 The Consultation Institute 

The Consultation Institute was commissioned in November 2022 to carry out a risk review of the 

programme to identify issues and challenges that could compromise best practice and create grounds 

for challenge early enough to minimise them.  A desktop review of documentation was undertaken in 

December 2022, which was supplemented by interviews with key stakeholders during February and 

March 2023.  

The review was undertaken whilst work was ongoing on a number of aspects of the programme and as 

such recognised that some elements of risk have been addressed since the assessment was undertaken. 

Overall, tCI did not identify any areas of serious risk from the desk review and concluded that the 

Humber Acute Services Programme team has delivered an effective pre-engagement exercise. 

 

The review work undertaken will support formal quality assurance of the consultation, which will be 

undertaken during the planning and delivery phases of the Consultation.  

3.3.2.4 Citizen’s Panel  

To ensure our approach to engagement and involvement was effective and meaningful throughout, we 

recruited a Citizen’s Panel to provide oversight and independent assurance of the programme and, in 

particular, its approach to engagement and involvement.  The Panel is made up of citizens from across 

the Humber – up to five from each local authority area – who represent a wide range of stakeholders, 

patient and public groups, including local voluntary organisations and community groups.  

When the panel was established, the four Humber Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were 

responsible for recruiting up to four members from their respective geographical areas to sit on the 

Citizen’s Panel and represent the voices of their communities.  Humber and Wolds Rural Action (HWRA) 

The Consultation Institute risk review concluded: 

✓ “The HASP team has delivered an effective pre-consultation engagement exercise, with 

significant engagement having taken place over a number of years in preparation for public 

consultation.”  

✓ The pre-consultation business case (PCBC) is robust and contains a clear summary of the work 

undertaken to date and there is evidence of influence within this from the public engagement 

undertaken.   

Page 156



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

99 
  

was responsible for recruiting the remaining panel members with protected characteristics as part of 

their targeted engagement work (see section 3.2.2). This was to ensure that a broad range of views and 

perspectives were able to inform and influence the development of potential models of care.  

Initially, this approach did not result in a full complement of panel members and the Humber Acute 

Services Programme team had to re-recruit a number of times. The panel was periodically refreshed 

with new membership over the course of the programme, to ensure new ideas and perspectives were 

continually being added. As of September 2022 the Citizen’s Panel had the following representation: 

Area / Represented Group Number of 

Panel Members 

Population Cohorts Represented 

North Lincolnshire  3  Children with disabilities, deprived communities 

North East Lincolnshire 4  People with long-term conditions 

Hull 2  Deprived communities 

East Riding of Yorkshire 4  People with long-term conditions, parent-carers 

Protected Characteristics / 

Health Inclusion groups  

3  Carers, migrants and people from BAME 

backgrounds, people with learning disabilities 

CCG Lay Member  1   

Table 3.2 Citizen's Panel membership 

Panel members were involved in designing engagement and communication resources – ensuring 

information is presented in a meaningful way, free from jargon – evaluation workshops, focus groups 

and other activities to test and challenge our approach.  The Citizen’s Panel provided invaluable insight 

into the needs and ambitions of our population and helped to ensure patients and service-users were at 

the heart of our design process.132  

3.3.3 Statutory engagement with local authorities 

Health scrutiny is a statutory function of top-tier local authorities and is usually discharged through 

appointed Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees (HOSCs).  HOSCs form part of the overall 

accountability and governance arrangements of local health and care systems.  The primary aim of 

health scrutiny is to act as a lever to improve the health of local people, ensuring their needs are 

considered as an integral part of the commissioning, delivery and development of health services. 

Current legislation requires NHS bodies to consult with the appropriate local authorities where there are 

any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provisions of health services (substantial 

service reconfiguration) in the area(s) of a local authority under consideration.  Details are set out in the 

Local Authority (Public health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.133  

The Regulations also make provision for the establishment of mandatory joint health overview and 

scrutiny committees (JHOSC) where NHS bodies plan to consult more than one local authority in relation 

to any specific proposed substantial service reconfiguration.  Plans around the establishment of a formal 

JHOSC are being developed, in line with plans for consultation on the potential models of care (see 

chapter 9).   

 
132 A summary of the work undertaken by the Citizen’s Panel, details of the outputs and the impact of their 
involvement in provided in appendix 10.14. 
133 HM Government (2013) The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Board and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations the Regulations 

Page 157

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

100 
  

Future legislative requirements around local authority health scrutiny powers may change as part of the 

formalisation of Integrated Care Systems / Boards and is being kept under close review.  In the 

development of this Pre-Consultation Business Case we have followed the existing legislation and 

continue to adhere to the Regulations until such time that these may be superseded.  Working with our 

local authorities, we will respond accordingly to any changes to the legislative framework governing the 

Humber Acute Services Programme.  

3.3.3.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

Regular and proactive engagement with the four constituent local authority Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees (HOSCs) has been an important aspect of our ongoing engagement in developing 

the potential models of care in this PCBC.134 Updates on the progress of the Programme have been 

provided, with regular attendance at formal committee meetings, written briefing papers and a series of 

informal engagement workshops, which formed part of the What Matters to You? engagement 

programme (findings from which are included in the feedback report).135   

During 2021 we extended our engagement to include Lincolnshire County Council’s Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee – to reflect the flow of patients from parts of Lincolnshire County, particularly 

communities in Mablethorpe and Louth, many of whom would routinely access hospital services at 

Diana, Princess of Wales Hospital in Grimsby.  

In November 2021, we outlined the ambition to formally consult with the public on potential clinical 

models in Summer 2022 (subject to the associated governance and assurance processes) and advised 

HOSCs that we have started to develop our plans for consultation.  We also signalled our intention to 

seek views on draft plans for consultation from relevant HOSCs ahead of launching the consultation.  

Our ongoing engagement with Local Authority health scrutiny committees highlighted a number of key 

areas of focus which were either added to or undertaken in greater depth as part of the programme. 

These key themes and how they influenced the development of proposals are summarised in appendix  

10.5.6.   Feedback gathered through engagement with OSCs has helped to shape the potential future 

models of care as well as the engagement approach undertaken through the programme. 

 

In addition to engaging formally with top tier local authorities through current and proposed future 

scrutiny arrangements, we are continuing to develop our involvement mechanisms across the region to 

ensure our consultation approach will include dialogue with the relevant district councils within 

Lincolnshire County and, where they exist, parish councils across the Humber in recognition of the 

important role these local democratic bodies play in representing the people living within their local 

areas.  

 
134 Full details of meetings attended, and issues raised, are provided in appendix 10.5.6. 
135 HAS Programme (2021) What Matters to You? Public, Staff and Stakeholder Engagement Feedback Report 
WMTY Report (pp.37-43) 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees of the Humber Local Authorities have: 

✓ Been involved in developing the evaluation framework – through What Matters to You? 

workshops. 

✓ Reviewed and provided assurance on pre-Consultation engagement activities. 

Page 158

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 3 – Stakeholder Engagement and Assurance 

 

101 
  

Summary Box 3.6

The Humber Acute Services Programme is a hugely complex programme of change, seeking to 

design the optimum way to organise services for the future. In order to ensure the potential models 

of care for the future proposed represent the best possible solutions for the local population, the 

process to develop them has involved a wide range of internal and external stakeholders over a 

number of years.  

The process has been iterative and responded to feedback, suggestions and ideas throughout.  

By undertaking a robust process with extensive engagement and involvement, we can demonstrate 

compliance with the key tests for service change and ensure the proposals will deliver 

improvements for patients and service-users: 

Four Tests How we are meeting them 

 

Strong public and 
patient engagement 

• Extensive (c12,000 people) engagement of patients, the public, staff 
and other stakeholders in design of proposals.  

• Ongoing involvement of public representatives and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (OSCs). 

 

Consistency with 
current and 
prospective need for 
patient choice 

• Extensive clinical and public engagement in design, reflects 
understanding of communities and impact of any changes on 
choice. 

• Detailed population health analysis underpins modelling and 
engagement.  

 

Clear, clinical 
evidence base 

• Extensive clinical involvement in design and evaluation of 
proposals. 

• Models of care reviewed by Clinical and Professional Leaders 
Group, Clinical Senate, ODN and other independent clinical experts. 

 

Support for proposals 
from clinical 
commissioners 

• Clinical Commissioning Group/Integrated Care Board (clinical and 
managerial) involvement in development and evaluation of 
proposals. 

 

In addition, the strong collaborative working across the system will ensure necessary out-of-hospital 

enabling changes will be delivered in line with in-hospital changes to deliver reduced length of stay 

and reduced admissions to hospital through pathway changes both in and out of hospital.  

As demonstrated through the Clinical Senate review, the proposed models of care are clinically 

coherent, more sustainable and would provide quality care.  

The next chapter describes the change proposals and the alternative solutions that were considered 

as part of the options development and evaluation process. 

Page 159



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

102 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 4 

Proposals for the Future 

  

Page 160



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

103 
  

4. Proposals for the Future  

 
Summary Box 4.1  

To improve the quality and safety of services and make sure they are sustainable into the future, it is 

recommended that some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and paediatric 

(children’s) services at our hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire (Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 

Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital) should be brought together and in future be delivered 

from just one site.  

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital:  

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought by 

ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.  

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the middle of the 

night or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by teams with surgical 

expertise.  

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay in hospital (more 

than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their heart, lung or stomach 

condition.  

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who need to stay in 

hospital for more than 24 hours. 

It is also recommended that urgent and emergency care for most patients would continue to be 

provided at both Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital.  

Services at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH) 

would continue as is. 

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

To maximise the benefits of these proposed changes and help as many people as possible to avoid 

going to hospital if they don’t need to, a number of supporting changes both in and outside of 

hospital would be put in place across the Humber. 

Based upon the detailed financial affordability analysis, only one of the two site scenarios – where 

the specialist services are provided at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) – can be 

delivered within the capital available to the system and therefore is the recommended site option. 

This chapter provides an overview of the proposals and outlines a number of potential alternative 

solutions that were evaluated and discounted. More detailed descriptions of the proposals for each 

service area – including new integrated pathways with out of hospital – are provided in chapters 5 

and 6. 

 

Page 161



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

104 
  

4.1 Background 

In line with the principles established at the outset of the programme, the development of solutions has 

been clinically-led and evidence-based.  A wide range of potential solutions was considered, ranging 

from creating a single Urgent and Emergency Care hospital for the whole of the Humber population, 

splitting all hospital activity on the south bank of the Humber to provide all unplanned services (urgent 

and emergency care, maternity, neonatal care and paediatrics) at one hospital and all elective care 

(planned care) at the other, to consolidating a range of services at one hospital on the south bank but 

retaining the three existing Emergency Departments.  

The process to develop the potential models of care took place over 18 months and involved extensive 

engagement with clinicians, staff, patients, the public and other stakeholders and is set out in detail in 

appendix B.  Detailed work was undertaken in parallel to design new Humber-wide pathways of care 

that would reduce reliance on hospital-based care, improve responsiveness of services and meet the 

needs of the local population better.  

Beginning with a long list of around 120 potential models of care, these were reduced through an 

iterative process to three potential models of care136 and a short list of 15 potential site-specific 

solutions – including different combinations of service models for urgent and emergency care, 

paediatrics, maternity and neonatal care.  The evaluation process reduced the short list further to the 

proposed model of care described within this business case.137   

The proposed model of care was evaluated against both scenarios with specialist services being 

provided at either Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) or Scunthorpe General Hospital 

(SGH).  A wide range of factors was considered, including, impact on health inequalities, impact on 

travel times for staff, patients and emergency services, deliverability and financial affordability – in term 

of the ongoing revenue impact and the capital investment that would be required to deliver the models 

in each of the potential site options.   

Only one of the two site scenarios – where the services are brought together at Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) – is viable as it can be delivered within the capital available to the system.   

 

This business case recommends taking these proposals for change through a formal public consultation 

process to gather views on the preferred way forward, to develop a better understanding of the 

potential impacts of the proposed changes and co-produce mitigations with those most likely to be 

impacted by the proposed changes. Given the significant challenges within current hospital services, it is 

essential that the system can move forward with changes to ensure services can remain clinically safe 

and sustainable in the medium and longer term.  

 
136 Detailed descriptions of the potential models of care are provided in appendix 10.3.6. 
137 The evaluation process undertaken is detailed in appendix 10.4. 

Initial long list of 
120 potential 

models of care

Short list of 15 
models/variations 

evaluated

Clinically viable 
models/ 

variations

Proposals for 
consulation

Page 162



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

105 
  

4.1.1 Vision for the future 

Working with clinicians, patients, service-users and other stakeholders, we defined an overarching vision 

that describes – at a very high level – how services will look in the future and what will be different as a 

result of any proposed changes to models of care.  

Summary Box 4.2 Vision for the Future 

Delivering this vision requires all parts of the health and care system to change, not just the core 

hospital services described in this business case.  

4.2 Summary of proposals and benefits 

4.2.1 Humber-wide pathway changes 

 

The proposed pathway changes are set out in more detail in the following chapter, as they relate to 

each service area (see sections 5.2, 5.3 and 7.1.3).  Broadly they include: 

• Clinical assessment closer to home to reduce conveyance rates to hospital and help more people 

to access the right service, first time.  

• Co-located urgent care service (UCS) within the Emergency Department (ED). To treat people with 

more minor injuries and illnesses more quickly and reduce pressure on the ED.  

• Integrated acute assessment model (IAAU) and same day emergency care (SDEC) to improve flow 

within the hospital and reduce overall levels of acute inpatient admissions. 

• Integrated frailty services across all localities in the Humber to provide more proactive support for 

people who are frail and help them to stay well and avoid injuries (e.g., falls). 

In order to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of current hospital services across the Humber, 

promote integration with services provided outside of hospitals and provide more streamlined care 

for patients, a number of proposed pathway changes were developed.   

Proposals were designed in collaboration with partners from across the health and care system and 

align with other system plans.  

✓ Everyone across the Humber will have access to the best possible healthcare and opportunities 

to help them live healthy, happy lives. 

✓ People will only use hospitals if they really need to. 

✓ More care and treatment people need will be offered in other places – e.g., GP surgeries, at 

home or on the high street. 

✓ Care will be provided by a flexible, committed and valued workforce, who will be supported to 

deliver the best care.  

✓ Local people will be able to access state of the art treatments from highly skilled, specialist 

staff. 

✓ The use of technology – where appropriate – will be an increasingly important feature in the 

delivery of care and treatment and we will support people to make the most of the 

opportunities digital can bring. 

Page 163



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

106 
  

• Virtual wards, Hospital at Home and other innovative approaches that will bring more care that is 

currently provided within our hospitals to peoples’ own homes.  

• New staffing models across a range of services, including the development of new roles to provide 

long-term sustainable solutions to our workforce challenges. 

• Improved use of digital to support remote monitoring, provide more responsive services (e.g., 

patient initiated follow-up) and reduce the overall need for patients to travel to hospital. 

 

 

                  
Figure 4.1 summary of benefits (Humber-wide pathway)138 

 
138 The benefits of proposed pathway changes are set out in more detail in chapters 5 and 7. 

H
U

M
B

ER
-W

ID
E 

P
A

TH
W

A
Y

 C
H

A
N

G
ES

 

✓ Patients with urgent care needs will be seen and treated more quickly. 

✓ Services will be easier to navigate for the public, helping to reduce 

inequalities and barriers to access. 

✓ Emergency services will be less pressured and able to treat emergency 

patients more quickly. 

✓ More efficient EDs will reduce ambulance handover delays. 

✓ Improved SDEC and Acute Assessment will support a reduction in 

emergency admissions. 

✓ Proactive support in the community, including integrated frailty services, 

will reduce emergency admissions. 

✓ Improved continuity of care and patient experience. 

✓ Reduced length of stay in hospital. 

✓ Reduction in demand for ambulance service and Emergency Department 

✓ Patients can get directly to the service they need and by-pass the 

Emergency Department. 

✓ Adults and children can have shorter hospitals stays or avoid them 

altogether and be investigated and treated at home instead. 

✓ People will be able to manage their own conditions better and go to 

hospital less often for check-ups. 

✓ Improved outcomes for patients (reduced Hospital Acquired Infection / 

deconditioning etc.). 

✓ Better utilisation of theatres and more efficient workflow. 

✓ Reduced waiting time for patients. 

Picture 4:A Example pathway change 

Page 164



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

107 
  

4.2.2 Proposals for reconfiguration of services 

 

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital:  

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought by 

ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.  

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the middle of the night 

or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by teams with surgical expertise.  

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay in hospital (more 

than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their heart, lung or stomach 

condition.  

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who need to stay in 

hospital for more than 24 hours. 

 

The following services would continue to be provided at both hospitals: 

• Emergency Department (A&E), assessment unit and short stay (up to 3 days) 

• Emergency surgery (during the day) 

• Overnight (inpatient) care for elderly and general medical patients (for stays longer than 3 

days) 

• Paediatric (children’s) Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours) 

• Maternity and neonatal care 

• Critical care and anaesthetics 

• Planned care services, including surgery, diagnostics and outpatient services (some of which 

may be provided in a community location e.g., GP surgery or Community Diagnostic Centre) 

Services at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH) 

would also continue as is. 

4.2.3 Site selection  

In developing the proposal, we engaged with more than 12,000 people and explored over 120 different 

ideas. We carefully studied the likely impacts on patients, staff and visitors of bringing these specific 

services together at either Scunthorpe General Hospital or Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby.139 

The detailed evaluation considered: 

 
139 The evaluation process and outcomes are set out in detail in section 10.4. 

To improve the quality and safety of services and make sure they are sustainable into the future, the 

proposal recommends that some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and 

paediatric (children’s) services at our hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire (Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital) should be brought together and in future be 

delivered from just one site.  

 

The proposal recommends that urgent and emergency care for most patients would continue to be 

provided at both Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital. 

Page 165



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

108 
  

• The potential of different models of care to deliver national standards – with a focus on quality 

and safety. 

• The need to maximise the skills of our existing workforce and the potential of different models 

of care to support plans to develop new skills and roles and build a resilient local workforce.  

• The need to ensure that patients have access to local services for regular and ongoing care. 

• The need to make best use of more specialist skills and maximise clinical time available to see 

and treat patients.  

• The need to deliver longer-term more sustainable services which are an improvement on the 

current models of care. 

• The need to deliver financial savings aligned with the need for any future model to be affordable 

from an internally funded capital pot. 

 

The only viable option is to bring these specific services together at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 

Grimsby because: 

• It will directly impact on fewer people 

✓ It is closer to more patients who have poorer health outcomes, who would otherwise 

have to travel further and may not have access to transport.  

✓ It would have the least impact on ambulance services.  

✓ Overall, it would have a lower impact on journeys to and from hospital:  

▪ Fewer people would have to go to a different hospital site. 

▪ Fewer people would have longer journeys to and from hospital. 

✓ Fewer patients would have to be transferred between sites if they needed to stay in 

hospital overnight. 

 Consolidate services at 
Grimsby (DPoW) 

Consolidate services at 
Scunthorpe (SGH) 

Emergency ambulance  
(additional hours dual-crewed emergency 
ambulance per week) 

88 
½ additional 

ambulance 
140 

1 additional 

ambulance 

 Per year Per day Per year Per day 

Displacement impact  
(total no. of patients who would be treated at a 
different hospital) 

5,059 13.9 5,604 15.4 

Patient travel impact  
(total no. of patients with >30min additional 
travel) 

3,714 10.2 4,635 12.7 

Travel impact – health inequalities 
(total no. of patients with increased travel time of 

>10mins from most deprived decile)  
1,010 2.8 2,037 5.6 

Table 4.1 Summary of impacts, DPoW vs. SGH140 

 
140 Details of the options evaluation process that was undertaken are provided in section 10.4.3 

The only option that has been identified as viable is to consolidate these specific services at Diana 

Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby. 

Page 166



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

109 
  

• It makes the best use of our financial resources  

✓ It is the only option that is affordable – it would cost three times as much to make 

changes to the buildings at Scunthorpe General Hospital to bring services together there.  

✓ Delivering the services at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby would allow us to 

make the changes within the money we have available and improve services far more 

quickly 

Based upon the capital affordability analysis, only one of the two site scenarios – where the specialist 

services are brought together at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) – can be delivered 

within the capital available to the system. The capital cost to deliver this site option is c.£16m, whereas 

the cost to deliver the site options where services were consolidated at Scunthorpe would cost c.£57m, 

which cannot be delivered from internal capital resources.141  

The proposed changes would help more patients to be seen and treated more quickly and stay in 

hospital for less time. It would also address critical shortages in workforce by organising our teams 

more effectively and help to tackle underlying health inequalities by improving quality and 

effectiveness of the care provided across our hospitals.142   

All the potential options that were considered would result in some patients having to travel further for 

care. The proposed model has the lowest travel impact of all the potential options that were considered. 

To mitigate against any adverse impacts, travel and transport plans are being developed to support the 

proposals and will continue to be developed and refined through consultation, decision-making and 

implementation.  

This pre-consultation business case proposes statutory public consultation on the proposed new model 

of care and variations to gather information on the potential impact of the proposals to support 

decision-making on the best way forward for acute hospital services across the Humber. The 

consultation will seek views from staff, patients, the public and other stakeholders. Public consultation 

will enable us to develop a better understanding from those who may be impacted by the changes of 

what the changes would mean for them and how the impacts will differ under each of the potential 

options.  In addition, we will also be seeking suggestions and ideas for mitigations against any potential 

negative impacts for our patients, service-users, staff and those who care for and support patients.  

4.2.4 Summary of changes, benefits and impacts 

The proposed models of care have been assessed by the Clinical Senate, who have confirmed they will 

provide better, more sustainable services for our population. The models of care have also been 

subject to a rigorous travel and transport mapping exercise aligned to a comprehensive Integrated 

Impact Assessment.143  

 

 

 

 
141 Details of the financial analysis undertaken are provided in section 10.4.3.4. 
142 The benefits of the proposed models are provided in more detail in section 6.4. 
143 Detailed outputs are provided in appendices 10.16 to 10.19. 

Page 167



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

110 
  

Proposed change  Benefit  Impact and mitigations 

Co-located Urgent Care 
Services within the Emergency 
Departments (ED) would be 
expanded and improved to 
assess and treat patients with 
minor illnesses of injuries, 
enabling them to be streamed 
away from ED and treated 
appropriately within and Urgent 
Care pathway. 

Nearly 200 people a day who 
attend our Emergency 
Departments (at Scunthorpe 
and Grimsby Hospitals) would 
be seen and treated more 
quickly and pressure would be 
reduced on services for patients 
with the most serious or life-
threatening needs. 

 

Trauma services would be 
provided at one hospital, with 
Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI) 
remaining as the regional Major 
Trauma Centre (MTC). Patients 
would be taken by ambulance 
directly to one of these 
hospitals based on their clinical 
needs.  

Bringing trauma services 
together would provide access 
to more specialty skills 24/7 
and allow for faster assessment 
and treatment, reducing the 
pressure on the Emergency 
Department and reducing the 
wait to be seen.  

 

It is estimated this change may 
impact c.1.7 patients per day. 

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced though 
improved ambulance transfer 
protocol and advice and 
guidance for crews prior to 
conveyance. 

Inpatient gastroenterology, 
cardiology and respiratory 
services for patients who need:  

• a higher level of 
speciality care, or  

• to stay in hospital for 
more than 72 hours  

would be provided at one 
hospital. 

We would be able to provide 
dedicated 7-day per week care 
from specialists in 
gastroenterology, cardiology 
and respiratory medicine, 
improving the quality of patient 
experience, reducing length of 
stay and supporting patients to 
go home more quickly. 

 

It is estimated that the number 
of patients requiring transfer for 
specialist care would be c.2.9 
per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
provision of specialist in-reach, 
enabling more patients to be 
cared for by a General Medical 
Physician or Geriatrician on site. 

24/7 emergency surgery and 
acute surgical admissions 
(more than 24 hours) would be 
delivered at one hospital.  

Day case emergency surgery 
would be provided across all 
sites. 

Bringing emergency surgery 
with 24/7 teams including 
surgeons, theatre teams, 
nursing staff together at one 
hospital will support the future 
sustainability of our workforce. 

The modelling undertaken 
suggests this could impact c.6.7 
patients per day.  

A proportion of these patients 
could be seen and treated on a 
day case basis (e.g.,, fractured 
hip pathway) and therefore the 
daily impact is expected to 
reduce as surgical pathways and 
protocols change in line with 
the model of care. 

Page 168



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

111 
  

Inpatient services for children 
and young people who need to 
stay in hospital more than 24 
hours would be provided at one 
hospital. 

Children who require admission 
post-24 hours would be 
transferred for ongoing care 
supported by a dedicated team 
to ensure safe transfers. 

The consolidation of Paediatric 
inpatient services would 
improve training and 
development opportunities and 
support the future 
sustainability of the workforce.  

 

The modelling estimates that 
this may impact c.2.6 patients 
per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
implementation of the Hospital 
at Home model of care for 
paediatric cases which has been 
seen to reduce the need for 
admission and support earlier 
discharge, reducing length of 
stay. 

Table 4.2 Summary of changes, benefits and impacts 

The proposed new models of care would deliver a range of benefits.   

                  
Figure 4.2 summary of benefits (clinical model changes) 

 

 

  

C
LI

N
IC

A
L 

M
O

D
EL

 C
H

A
N

G
ES

 ✓ Ability to deliver clinical standards across a range of services. 

✓ Improved ability to recruit and retain skilled workforce. 

✓ Helps to address workforce challenges. 

✓ Increased confidence in patients – access to specialist teams. 

✓ Competency of staff in dealing with more complex cases improves. 

✓ More resilient services, less likely to be impacted by key staff leaving. 

✓ Opportunities to create more specialist teams. 

✓ Improved quality of care. 

✓ Provide responsive services 24/7, with local access maintained. 

✓ Swifter discharge of patients working with local authorities and social 

care. 

✓ Fewer cancelled operations and reduction in waiting times for 

treatment. 

✓ Reduced waiting times and better outcomes for patients. 

Page 169



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

112 
  

4.3 Discounted alternative solutions 

 
  

A number of potential alternative solutions were also considered. Following extensive engagement 

and evaluation, a number of these were discounted because they were not considered to be viable 

solutions to the challenges faced across the Humber. 

Figure 4.3 Summary of discounted alternative solutions 

Proposed Changes for 

Consultation 

New hospital for 
Northern Lincolnshire 

Consolidating Care of the 
Elderly & General Medical 

Inpatients 

Complete Planned / 
Unplanned split 

• Impact on neighbouring 
health economies.  

• Travel time for patients.  
• Impact on ambulance 

services. 

• High number of secondary 
transfers => poor patient 
experience and outcomes. 

• Impact on ambulance 
services and staffing 
requirements for transfers. 

• Potential to worsen delayed 
discharges. 

• Impact on neighbouring 
health economies. 

• Travel time for patients. 
• Impact on ambulance 

services. 
• Difficulty recruiting 

support workforce (bands 
1-4). 

• Potential to widen health 
inequalities. 

Potential models of care 

Time-limited Paediatric 
Assessment Unit 

• Safety concerns associated 
with paediatric walk-ins to ED 
out of hours. 

• High number of potential 
secondary transfers  

Page 170



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

113 
  

4.3.1 Splitting all Planned and Unplanned Care in Northern Lincolnshire 

One of the possible scenarios considered was to adopt the same model on the south bank of the 

Humber as on the north bank by providing all emergency and unplanned care, maternity, neonatal and 

paediatric services at one Northern Lincolnshire hospital and all planned care at the other.  On the north 

bank, Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI) provides the vast majority of urgent and emergency and acute care 

services with an Emergency Department and acute specialties delivered on site (with some limited 

exceptions, e.g., cardiology and urology) and Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) functions as a separate elective 

centre providing planned care on an inpatient and day case basis.  Both hospitals are specialist centres 

and provide a range of additional specialist/tertiary services (e.g., Major Trauma Centre at HRI and the 

regional Cancer Centre at CHH).144 

A similar approach – splitting all planned and unplanned care was considered with either Scunthorpe 

General Hospital or Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby providing Acute (unplanned) care and the 

other site providing Elective (planned) care.145  

During our engagement, this model was the preferred approach of many clinicians, in particular 

surgeons, due to the significant benefits it could bring in relation to delivering more effective and 

efficient planned care.  In the April 2022 review, the Clinical Senate also identified a number of 

important benefits of this model.146  The key benefits of having a separate, dedicated elective hospital 

included: 

• Ability to deliver clinical standards and best practice through consolidated workforce. 

• Ability to deliver constitutional standards, particularly for planned care and diagnostics. 

• More effective deployment of workforce. 

• Reduced risk of planned activity being cancelled due to demand on emergency services. 

• Reduces/eliminates the need for secondary transfer of patients as all acute patients would go 

directly to the Acute hospital site because there would be no Emergency Department on the 

Elective site. 

However, this model also had significant impacts on patients, staff and neighbouring providers that 

were considered too great for the model to present a viable solution for the region. These key negative 

impacts included: 

• Significant displacement of activity to neighbouring health economies (particularly in the 

scenario where all unplanned care services were provided at DPoW) – potential to destabilise 

Doncaster’s Emergency Department. 

• Significant additional travel for a large number of patients (particularly in the scenario where all 

unplanned care services were provided at Scunthorpe) – long distances for population on the 

Lincolnshire Coast to travel to access an Emergency Department. 

 
144 Full details of the evaluation process that was undertaken and the outputs used to discount alternative 
potential models of care are provided in appendix 10.4. 
145 This model of care (described at the options development stage as the Acute/Elective model) is explained in 
section 10.3.6.1.2 and details of the impacts can be found in section D of the appendices. 
146 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (June 2022) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services at 
North Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust and Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on behalf of 
The Clinical Commissioning Groups of: NHS Hull, NHS East Riding, NHS North Lincolnshire and NHS North East 
Lincolnshire Senate report 

Page 171

http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20%20HASR%20-%20ratified%20final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

114 
  

4.3.2 Consolidating General Medical and Care of the Elderly Inpatient Services 

In addition to the services proposed to be consolidated, another variation of the model was considered 

during the model development and evaluation stage. In this variation all inpatient care, including Care of 

the Elderly and General Medical inpatient beds, (post-72 hours) would be consolidated at one hospital 

for Northern Lincolnshire. 147   

Whilst this potential solution did offer some additional benefits, for example greater potential for 

consolidation of workforce and delivery of key clinical standards, it was discounted for a number of 

reasons, most notably concerns from clinicians and patient representatives about the impact of 

secondary transfers on acutely ill, frail and elderly patients.  These concerns were also reflected by the 

Clinical Senate in their review of the potential models of care.148  The detailed modelling quantified the 

number of elderly and/or frail patients requiring a secondary transfer for a Care of the Elderly/General 

Medical bed as between 4,581 and 5,223, which equates to around 12-14 additional transfers per day 

on average (depending on where the service was located).   

In addition to the potential negative impact of the journey itself on the patients, the large number of 

transfers required would have a significant impact on ambulance services (see section 10.18.2 for 

details) and staffing required to support transfers.  In addition, consolidating inpatient services for frail 

and elderly patients would have a number of negative knock-on effects, which were highlighted through 

our ongoing engagement and dialogue.  This includes, making it harder and more costly for family 

members to visit and support relatives as well as making it more difficult to coordinate with social care 

services across multiple local authorities to put in place packages of care and support swift discharge 

from hospital. 

4.3.3 Operating a Time-Limited Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU) 

A further variation that was considered and modelled within the paediatrics workstream was the 

potential scenario to operate the Paediatric Assessment Unit on a time-limited basis only, closing 

overnight when attendances were likely to be lowest.  This variation was considered during the first step 

evaluation process and not carried forward for further evaluation through step two.  

This model was considered because it could potentially reduce the staffing requirements within the 

paediatric service, by only requiring paediatric cover for 14 hours a day rather than 24/7. This would 

represent a further improvement to the workforce situation within paediatrics. Nevertheless, it was 

noted by clinicians involved in the evaluation that paediatricians would still be required on-site to 

support with neonatal care and so the gains would not be realisable if maternity and neonatal care 

continued to be provided.  

A further consideration was that a significant proportion of paediatric patients attending the PAU are 

seen, treated and discharged within 24 hours. If the PAU was only operating with limited hours, a 

significant number of children would need to transfer to the other hospital for care lasting <24hours, 

causing significant additional stress to the children and their families for relatively little gain. With the 

introduction of virtual wards and hospital at home the number of children who can be discharged within 

 
147  The evaluation process and outputs are covered in more detail in appendix 10.4 
148 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (June 2022) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services at 
North Lincolnshire and Goole NHS Foundation Trust and Hull University Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on behalf of 
The Clinical Commissioning Groups of: NHS Hull, NHS East Riding, NHS North Lincolnshire and NHS North East 
Lincolnshire Senate report 

Page 172

http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20%20HASR%20-%20ratified%20final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

115 
  

24 hours of admission could potentially be increased further still.149  Some clinicians also raised concerns 

that the model could pose safety implications for children or young people presenting to the Emergency 

Department out of hours when the PAU is closed and not having access to paediatric trained staff. 

4.3.4 A new hospital for Northern Lincolnshire  

Another potential idea that was raised through our ongoing engagement was to build a new hospital for 

Northern Lincolnshire in a location half-way between the existing hospitals in Grimsby and Scunthorpe 

and consolidate most or all of existing hospital services onto that site.  Different variations of this idea 

have been proposed in previous programmes to look at hospital services across the Humber and 

throughout our engagement this was a very popular idea amongst clinicians as well as patient and public 

representatives.  

The key benefits and reasons why this model was particularly popular include: 

• Ability to deliver clinical standards and best practice through consolidated workforce. 

• Ability to deliver constitutional standards, particularly for planned care and diagnostics. 

• More effective deployment of clinical workforce. 

• Easier for the public to understand (everything is in one place). 

• Reduces/eliminates the need for secondary transfer of patients as all acute patients would go 

directly to the new hospital – there would be no Emergency Department at either of the existing 

hospital sites. 

• A new, purpose-built facility could bring additional benefits:  

o More efficient services (digitally enabled ‘Smart’ hospital). 

o More attractive to staff. 

o More pleasant surroundings for patients. 

However, this potential solution also had significant impacts on patients, staff, neighbouring providers 

and the local economy that were considered too great for the model to present a viable solution for the 

region. These key impacts included: 

• Significant displacement of activity to neighbouring health economies – potential to destabilise 

Doncaster’s Emergency Department. 

• Significant additional travel for a large number of patients. 

• Difficulty recruiting sufficient support workforce (including estates and facilities staff and other 

ancillary services, who mostly live within 2 miles of existing sites). 

• Potential to widen health inequalities – those from most deprived communities and other 

health inclusion groups would face the biggest barriers accessing an ‘out of town’ site. 

• Negative impact on local economy in Grimsby and Scunthorpe by taking a large number of jobs 

out of the towns. 

Additionally, the level of capital funding required for this scale of clinical change and redevelopment is 

not available within the required timescales to address the pressing issues and urgent challenges within 

services today, meaning this is not a viable option to take forward for public consultation.  

 

 

 
149 see section 5.3.2 for further details of the Hospital at Home model. 

Page 173



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 4 – Proposals for the Future 

 

116 
  

 

 
Summary Box 4.3 

  

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

The proposals outlined in this business case address the key challenges set out within the case for 

change: 

• Changing population needs. 

• Poor performance and not delivering clinical or waiting time standards. 

• Workforce shortages and skills gaps. 

• Inadequate buildings, equipment and digital infrastructure.  

• Inefficient or unsustainable models of care.   

The proposed changes would deliver more effective services that are better able to meet the 

changing health needs of our population.  They make better use of the workforce we have and 

enable us to develop more effective staffing models in the future and create attractive career 

prospects for our current and future workforce.  The proposed changes have been designed to 

support delivery of clinical standards in areas where services are currently falling short, improve 

clinical outcomes for patients and help to reduce inequalities of access and outcomes.  

To maximise the benefits of these proposed changes and help as many people as possible to avoid 

going to hospital if they don’t need to, a number of supporting changes both in and outside of 

hospital would be put in place across the Humber. 

More detailed descriptions of the proposals, benefits and impacts for each service area – including 

new integrated pathways in and out of hospital – are provided in chapters 5 and 6. 

 

Page 174



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

117 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 5 

Humber-wide Pathway Changes  

Detailed proposals, benefits and impacts 

 

  

Page 175



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

118 
  

5. Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 
Summary Box 5.1 

 

 

 

 

To maximise the benefits of the proposed changes and help as many people as possible to avoid 

going to hospital if they don’t need to, we have worked with colleagues across the health and care 

system to design a number of supporting changes that would be put in place across the Humber.  

• Clinical assessment closer to home to reduce conveyance rates to hospital and help more 

people to access the right service, first time.  

• Co-located urgent care service (UCS) within the Emergency Department (ED). To treat people 

with more minor injuries and illnesses more quickly and reduce pressure on the ED.  

• Integrated acute assessment model (IAAU) and Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) to improve 

flow within the hospital and reduce overall levels of acute inpatient admissions. 

• Integrated frailty services across all localities in the Humber to provide more proactive support 

for people who are frail and help them to stay well and avoid injuries (e.g., falls). 

• Virtual wards, Hospital at Home and other innovative approaches that will bring more care that 

is currently provided within our hospitals to peoples’ own homes.  

• New staffing models across a range of services, including the development of new roles to 

provide long-term sustainable solutions to our workforce challenges. 

• Improved use of digital to support remote monitoring, provide more responsive services (e.g., 

patient initiated follow-up) and reduce the overall need for patients to travel to hospital. 

We recognise that we can only deliver the models of care successfully if there are changes in how 

we provide care outside of hospitals too. We have worked with Place and ICB teams to map the 

programmes that are underway and identify those which we need to support implementation of 

the proposed model of care. We are working together on five priority projects, which will help to 

ensure the proposed new models of care are successful. 

The key benefits of improved pathways of care in and out of hospital include: 

✓ Simpler access for public – ensuring more people get the right care, first time. 

✓ Faster assessment, treatment and discharge and reduced ambulance handover delays. 

✓ Make the best use of skilled workforce – reduced duplication.  

✓ Ensure patients with most complex needs can access specialist care. 

✓ Support more people to stay well, be seen and treated at or close to home.  

Page 176



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

119 
  

5.1 Vision for the future 

The Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership integrated health and care strategy sets 

out the Partnership’s overarching ambition, vision and strategy for health, care and wellbeing in the 

region.   

 

To reach the ambition, the Partnership’s vision is to ensure that all our people start well, live well, age 

well and die well. These strategic aims and ambitions have shaped the pathways and proposals within 

this business case. 

5.1.1 Our vision – right care, right time, right place 

Urgent and emergency care and paediatric services in hospital are closely intertwined and reliant on 

community, primary, social and mental health care services provided outside of hospital settings.  This is 

particularly important for preventing unnecessary urgent and emergency care episodes and supporting 

patients to recover following an urgent or emergency care episode to avoid readmission or a return 

attendance at the Emergency Department.  Better early identification and proactive care can prevent 

someone’s condition deteriorating and support faster recovery. Early intervention and prevention is also 

vitally important to improve the mental and physical wellbeing of our population, in particular our 

children and young people.  

Our proposals for improving hospital services across the Humber have therefore been developed in 

close collaboration with partners from across the system and seek to enhance the integration of 

hospital, community, primary, mental health, social care and voluntary sector support.   

Working together more closely will ensure we can provide seamless care and deliver the Partnership’s 

ambition to “ensure every one of our citizens can get the best start in life”, backed by a commitment to 

support every child and young person to thrive.150 To achieve this we have worked with partners across 

primary, community, mental health, social care and the voluntary sector to develop plans for paediatric 

services that will better support children and young people, maximise the provision available outside of 

hospital settings and provide the most responsive service possible for children in our communities who 

experience injury or ill-health and need care and support.  

The proposed changes will help us to deliver the vision of the Humber and North Yorkshire Urgent and 

Emergency Care Network: 

 
150 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2020) The Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care 
Partnership Long Term Plan HCV Partnership Long Term Plan 
Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (2023) Integrated Health and Care Strategy Reimagining 
Health and Care – An Integrated Strategy 

Our ambition is: 

for everyone in our population to live longer, healthier lives by narrowing the gap in healthy life 

expectancy between the highest and lowest levels in our communities by 2030 and increasing 

healthy life expectancy by five years by 2035. 

Page 177

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/HCV-Partnership-Long-Term-Plan-FINAL.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Reimagining-Health-Care-an-Integrated-Strategy.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Reimagining-Health-Care-an-Integrated-Strategy.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

120 
  

 
Summary Box 5.2 Urgent and Emergency Care Network vision 

This overarching vision, informed by our ongoing engagement with patients, service-users, the public, 

clinicians, staff and other stakeholders, is what we are aiming to deliver through the new pathways and 

proposed model of care.  

  

Our vision is to provide outstanding urgent and emergency care services at the 

right time, in the right place, delivered by the right skilled healthcare 

professionals.   

We want to provide a responsive service for patients with life threatening and non-

life-threatening injuries and illnesses both within our hospitals and in other 

community settings.  We want to provide as much care as possible in the 

community or in people’s own homes to avoid admissions to hospital where 

appropriate.  

When someone does need to be admitted to hospital, we want our emergency 

inpatient services to be sustainable and efficient, delivering consultant-led seven-

day care to best practice standards. We also want to ensure services are in place to 

ensure quick and efficient discharge home, supported by appropriate community, 

primary and social care.  Our vision for the future is that admissions to hospital will 

be for those who require specialist care and time spent in hospital will be minimal. 

We want to ensure we are designing services which are attractive to staff, that 

facilitate great training, provide development opportunities and lead to high levels 

of staff satisfaction. 

 

Page 178



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

121 
  

5.2 Urgent and emergency care pathways 

 

We have worked with clinical teams and partners to re-design the pathway for urgent and emergency 

care across the Humber.  We propose to implement these pathway changes in all three Emergency 

Departments, supported by the required out of hospital provision across the region, a new workforce 

model and enabled by improved digital connectivity and infrastructure.   

Our core aims for urgent and emergency care across the Humber are to: 

• Integrate urgent and emergency care services across all health and social care partners 

(including mental health) to work as one system. 

• Have sufficient skilled workforce to meet the demand, working in a multi-disciplinary team 

approach. 

• Provide better support for people and their families to avoid crisis situations through self-care 

and prevention. 

• Support high intensity users of the Emergency Departments through multidisciplinary support. 

• Support people who need urgent care to be able to access advice and services in the right place, 

at any time which includes providing responsive services for minor injuries, illnesses and mental 

health support seven days a week. 

• Provide quick responsive services for more serious or life-threatening emergencies in the right 

place with the right skilled staff and facilities. 

• Put in place virtual wards to achieve a sustainable shift from hospital to home-based care when 

it is safe to do so (children and adults). 

• Work in a joined-up way with Ambulance services to ensure patients who need hospital care are 

directed to a specified area in the most appropriate local, acute or specialist hospital and/or 

supported by ‘hear and treat’ / ‘see and treat’ – ensuring as far as possible patients get to the 

right place for their care needs first time. 

• Make use of improved facilities and environments that exceed minimum standards and are 

supported by digital and technology solutions. 

• Be built on a digitally delivered support infrastructure, providing remote assessments, 

monitoring, shared care planning and diagnostics access. 

The proposed future pathway of care for patients across the Humber is set out below, summarising how 

each element will help to address one or more of the challenges facing our current services.  

Our population is ageing but many people are living for longer with one or more long-term 

condition and healthy life expectancy is lower in our region than elsewhere in the country.  

Our service models need to adapt so that they can provide better, more responsive care and support 

more people to manage their own health and avoid the need for emergency hospital admissions.  

We worked with clinical teams and partners to review and re-design the pathways of care for urgent 

and emergency care services across the Humber to help to address the challenges facing our current 

services and provide more joined up care and support for people across the region. 

We propose to implement these pathway changes across the Humber region, supported by the 

required out of hospital provision, new workforce models and enabled by improved digital 

connectivity and infrastructure.   

Page 179



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

122 
  

Responsibility for the delivery of many of the pathway elements outlined below sits with the Out of 

Hospital programme.151  

5.2.1 Clinical assessment closer to home 

One of the barriers to using Urgent Treatment Centres (UTCs) or other primary care-led services rather 

than an Emergency Department identified through our engagement is the lack of clarity or 

understanding of whether they could provide the level of care required and meet the person’s need at 

that time.  Most people were willing to use alternative provision, where they have confidence that it will 

meet their needs, however, they default to the Emergency Department because they know it will always 

be open and have confidence it will meet their needs.  Urgent care services must be as easy to access as 

Emergency Departments if they are to be successful. 

A key focus of our efforts to join-up health and care services will be ensuring that citizens across the 

Humber are able to access advice, care and support in an urgent or emergency situation. Our aim is that, 

when needed, everyone will have access to services whether through information, advice or direct care 

that will meet their needs in hospital or in the community 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Access will 

be straight-forward and easy for our public to understand.  The overall model focuses on clinical 

assessment closer to home and to the first contact of the patient, whilst reducing the need for patients 

ending up in an Emergency Department.  The model ensures that people are cared for by the most 

appropriate person to meet their urgent or emergency need by initially accessing:  

• 111 via phone or online who provide a clinical assessment service, usually provided by senior 

nurses and senior paramedics. 

OR 

• 999 for life threatening situations. 

Where clinically appropriate, patients will be directed to a service other than the Emergency 

Department in the first instance, including: 

• Primary care services – includes general practice, community pharmacy, optometry and 

dentistry, all should have an on the day facility for urgent care needs as GP surgeries are often 

the first port of call for all urgent health care needs by the public. 

• Community services – a range of services provided closer to the patient’s home, this could 

include, for example, a rapid response falls service, community care practitioners, social care. 

• Urgent Care Service – a facility for patients with urgent care needs that allows 111 calls to be 

booked into an appointment slot or where individuals can walk in and be seen and treated.  This 

maybe co-located at the hospital front door or may be provided through a standalone Urgent 

Treatment Centre (existing or new). 

• Same day emergency care – services provided within the hospital on the day for people that 

have an acute care need (enables them to be seen and treated in the same day without the 

need for a hospital admission).  

There are opportunities already within the system to direct people to alternative services if these are 

available.  Most of those surveyed sought advice before turning up at the Emergency Department, most 

commonly through NHS 111.  We intend to build on this opportunity to work with partners to develop 

 
151 Section 7.2.1 describes the integrated approach being taken to align this programme with the Out of Hospital 
programme and ensure the enabling changes out of hospital are in place to support the service reconfiguration 
proposals set out within this business case. 

Page 180



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

123 
  

the NHS 111 service. This will include working as a system to review the potential options for developing 

Clinical Advisory Services (CAS) at a Humber and North Yorkshire level to help more people to access the 

right care, first time. 

Our model works towards a future scenario where NHS 111 will provide the primary route of access for 

most people with urgent care needs. The development of an ‘any-to-any’ booking system will enable 

more patients to bypass the Emergency Department through provision of direct access to the services 

people need.  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Excessive (and increasing) 
Emergency Department 
demand 

Lack of clarity for patients on 
where to go for help – leading 
to a default to A&E 

NHS111 triage and divert 
(developing Clinical Assessment 
Services) 

Direct booking into Urgent Care 
Service (UCS), Same Day 
Emergency Care (SDEC), Acute 
Assessment Unit (AAU) and 
other diversionary pathways 

Reduction in ED attendances  

Better experience for patients 
(easier to navigate) 

Better outcomes – patients get 
to the right place, first time 

Table 5.1 Clinical assessment closer to home - summary benefits 

5.2.2 Co-located Urgent Care Service (UCS)  

For the Humber’s three Emergency Departments, demand is increasing resulting in a higher number of 

attendances compared to the national average.  If current patterns of ED use continue with no change, 

there could be approximately 55 additional patients per day in both EDs at DPoW and SGH and 100 

additional patients per day in Hull’s ED within the next 5 years. 

Analysis of activity in the baseline year across the three Emergency Departments demonstrated that a 

high proportion of attendances could be seen in an Urgent Care Service (UCS) and did not require the 

specialist provision within an ED.  Detailed modelling carried out through the programme suggests that 

in the region of 35,000 to 46,000 annual attendances per hospital could access an Urgent Care Service 

(UCS) rather than the ED. In the baseline year, between 35% and 48% of total Emergency Department 

attendances across the three Humber hospitals could potentially be seen and treated in an UCS, 28% of 

these are accessing the Emergency Department out of hours when the existing Urgent Care Services in 

DPoW and SGH are not currently in operation. 

A key element of the proposed new Humber-wide pathway is the expansion of co-located Urgent Care 

Services (UCS) so that they are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week at all three hospital 

Emergency Departments, in addition to other urgent care services, such as Urgent Treatment Centres 

(UTCs), provided in other locations across the region.  This will enable people in need of urgent care to 

be seen and treated in a timely manner and for those who are severely ill or have life threatening 

conditions to be seen and treated quickly by dedicated emergency care staff.   

Within Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) and Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH), an 

Urgent Care Service was introduced in April 2022 in front of the ED to support the streaming of patients 

to the right place, to reduce demand on the departments.  The proposed future model of care would 

extend the operating time of the existing services in DPoW and SGH and introduce a co-located Urgent 

Care Service (UCS) within Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), building on existing streaming and redirection 

pathways in place for patients attending the ED with urgent care needs.  

Page 181



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

124 
  

The proposed UCS pathway in Hull could be delivered in a range of different ways – at the front of ED to 

support streaming and gatekeeping to the Emergency Department or as an alongside, but separate, 

service. If operating as an alongside service, it could also be expanded and developed as a Primary Care 

Access Centre or into a full Urgent Treatment Centre.  Some of the benefits of co-location (e.g., enabling 

teams to work flexibly across UCS and ED) would be reduced if not located in the same place, however, 

from an estate’s perspective a separate, alongside service would be easier to implement in the short 

term. A local, place-based review of options with all providers is currently being undertaken to assess 

the different potential delivery models for the proposed UCS in Hull. Further details of the proposed 

delivery model for each UCS will be described in detail in a Decision-making Business Case (DMBC) 

subject to approval of the proposals within this PCBC. 

5.2.2.1 Staffing Model – Urgent Care Service (UCS) 

The specific delivery model for each UCS will be set out at DMBC stage.  The outline workforce model 

that has been developed, however, is GP or practitioner led and seeks to maximise the benefits of co-

location to enhance skills and training for practitioners and ensure clinical decision-making is swift and 

effective. The UCS staffing model will be developed, working with clinical teams, to comprise: 

• Nurse staffing – co-located Urgent Care Services enables the nursing leadership and nursing 

workforce to be shared across UCS and the Emergency Department to build networks, 

workforce resilience and maintain skills.  

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners (Physiotherapists, Paramedics and Registered Nurses) with the 

ability to prescribe will provide high level clinical input to support patients attending the Urgent 

Care Service with minor illness or injury introducing the role of Urgent Care Practitioners. 

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners and Nursing establishments can be complemented by Physician 

Associates to deliver non-complex clinical interventions. 

• First Contact Practitioners would rotate between the Urgent Care Service and GP practice where 

they can directly support patients with urgent care needs, thereby avoiding unnecessary 

referrals into urgent and emergency services. First Contact Practitioners would provide 

immediate urgent care for minor MSK injury: 

o Paramedic First Contact Practitioners would rotate between GP/UEC services and their 

respective Ambulance Trust. Work is already underway within EMAS to develop new 

paramedic roles that can support the new urgent and emergency care pathways.  

o Physiotherapist First Contact Practitioners would rotate between GP/UEC and their 

respective clinical service. 

Developing co-located Urgent Care Services, rather than standalone centres in other locations, enables 

us to develop a staffing model that facilitates staff in a wide variety of roles to work in multi-disciplinary 

teams across urgent and emergency care pathways and develop their skills and expertise in urgent care 

and emergency medicine.  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Excessive (and increasing) 
Emergency Department 
demand  

Co-located Urgent Care Service 
(UCS) 

35-48% reduction in demand for 
ED services by treating patients 
differently through the UCS (on 
site). 

Table 5.2 Urgent Care Service - summary benefits 

Page 182



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

125 
  

5.2.3 Integrated Acute Assessment and improved flow 

In addition to co-located Urgent Care Services (UCS), the Humber-wide urgent and emergency care 

pathway proposed also seeks to standardise the approach to assessment across the Humber’s hospitals 

to improve flow through our Emergency Departments (EDs) and support the proposed model of care 

and configuration proposed (see section 6.3).  

The model is based on providing a multi-disciplinary acute care service which can assess and treat 

patients without necessarily being admitted under a speciality, with the exception of a small number of 

specialties (paediatrics, acute cardiac, trauma, stroke patients and obstetrics). The model also promotes 

speciality input at the front door for those more acute patients that need it. 

Operating an integrated acute assessment service (AAU), providing frailty, ambulatory care, assessment, 

Same Day Emergency Care (SCED) and short stay (<72 hours), supports specialist teams to work in a 

joined up multidisciplinary manner. This way of working reduces handoffs between departments, 

reducing risk to patients and speeding up assessment and treatment pathways and supports the 

delivery of the Local Emergency Hospital model described below. 

When a patient needs a short stay in hospital of less than 72 hours, they would be admitted to the short 

stay ward, rather than a hospital specialty base ward. Patients identified as requiring specialty care or 

requiring hospital stays of more than 72 hours (short stay) at assessment would be promptly transferred 

to the relevant specialty ward.  There would be in-reach into the AAU by specialties for those patients 

who can go home within 3 days but need specialty input. 

In the proposed model, Ambulance Services, GPs, primary care practitioners and consultants would be 

able to send patients directly through to AAU referring via a single point of access or following clinical 

advice and guidance. All three hospitals have seen a spike in ambulance handover delays in the past 

year (see Figure 2.4).  By enabling ambulance crews to have direct access to AAU, where appropriate, 

we can reduce the delay to handovers and improve flow within the Emergency Department.   

The new Emergency Department buildings at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital (DPoW) and Scunthorpe 

General hospital (SGH) will create the additional space required to enable full implementation of the 

Integrated Acute Assessment Model described above. They will facilitate appropriate streaming of 

patients to UCS, ED, Acute Assessment and Same Day Emergency Care, improve flow throughout the 

hospital and reduce ambulance handover delays. The new assessment area buildings are due for 

completion in 2023. 

Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI) already has Same Day emergency assessment services in place for surgical, 

medical and paediatric acute assessment located in various parts of the hospital site (in individual 

specialty areas). The proposed Humber-wide pathway for urgent and emergency care proposes that 

medical and surgical assessment units are brought together into an integrated assessment unit to 

enable joint assessment, reduce handovers and support a continued reduction in length of stay. These 

changes would require significant changes to the current estate within HRI and would need to be 

considered alongside broader ambitions for the re-provision of the upper floors of the tower block. 

Implementation of this proposed pathway within HRI is not essential for the delivery of the 

reconfiguration proposals set out in section 6.3 and therefore it is proposed that the estates solutions 

be considered as part of the Trust’s long-term estates planning over a phased period.  

 

Page 183



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

126 
  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Excessive (and increasing) 
Emergency Department 
demand 

Ambulance handover delays 

Integrated Acute Assessment 
model to improve flow through 
the hospital 

Reduced length of stay 

Better experience for patients 
(quicker diagnosis and 
treatment and fewer handoffs) 

Reduction in ambulance 
handover delays 

Table 5.3 Integrated Acute Assessment - summary benefits 

5.2.4 Integrated Frailty services  

Currently across the Humber region there are variations of access to services for the frail and elderly 

population with exemplar integrated community services provided in the Hull area but not within the 

other Humber localities.  Services such as these provide care in a proactive way to avoid the need for 

patients to attend a hospital and ultimately avoid an emergency situation.  Given the projected rise in 

age and frailty, these services will be essential to enable equity of access and reduce demand on urgent 

and emergency care services across the Humber. 

Under the proposed pathway changes, out of hospital provision would be scaled up to shift significant 

activity from hospitals to the local community system where safe and appropriate to do so.  For urgent 

and emergency care this means a focus on frailty conditions and long-term conditions as part of the 

integrated frailty programme. The integrated frailty programme, working across the Humber, has 

identified three elements within their Ageing Well workstream, which will support the transition of care 

away from hospital services: 

• Urgent community response (UCR) – integrated models in each locality (at ‘place’) to support 

those who are frail with urgent care needs or in crisis to stay at home or in the community when 

it is best to do so (includes NHS 111 First, Frailty Clinical Assessment Service with a specific focus 

on falls)  

• Enhanced Health in care homes – enhanced support and better co-ordinated care, reablement 

and rehabilitation. Rolling out Enhanced Health in Care homes Models across the Humber. 

• Anticipatory management – helping people with complex needs stay healthy and functionally 

able. This involves the use of risk stratification to shift the focus of delivery towards models of 

early intervention, planning future care and prevention. 

In order to achieve these changes, clinical assessment will be delivered close to first contact wherever a 

person enters the urgent and emergency care pathway to ensure they are on the right pathway to meet 

their needs and not ending up in an Emergency Department or being admitted to hospital when they 

don’t need to be there.   

5.2.4.1 Urgent Community Response 

In line with national policy, a range of urgent response services have been developed across Humber 

and North Yorkshire to support people in our communities who are frail, particularly those who recently 

returned home from hospital, who are at a much higher risk of attending a hospital Emergency 

Department and being admitted into hospital in an emergency situation.   

The 2-hour Urgent Community Response Service (2UCR) supports adults who, if not seen within 2 hours, 

are likely to need to attend an Emergency Department and potentially an unplanned admission to 

Page 184



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

127 
  

hospital. To date over 90% of calls to the service are made by paramedics on site within patients’ homes 

(including care homes). Feedback from paramedics has been positive and conveyance rates from 

ambulance dispatches to patients in crisis are consistently low.   

The service is structured slightly differently in each locality to best meet local needs. Across Hull and the 

East Riding of Yorkshire, for example, the 2UCR service is offered, from 8am to 8pm 7 days per week. 

The service is led by three community-based Consultant Geriatricians, supported by GPs with Enhanced 

Roles (GPwER) and a full multidisciplinary professional team.  

Urgent Community Response Services have been in place since October 2021 and are supporting 

clinicians to deliver urgent clinical care in the patient’s preferred place of care, helping to reduce 

conveyances to hospital and unnecessary admissions. The vast majority of patients who access 2UCR are 

frail and there are clear links to social deprivation and recent hospital admissions. Data around the 

service is recorded so that demand, activity, reasons for referral and treatment can accurately be 

analysed to improve the pathways further in the future. 

5.2.4.2 Anticipatory Care 

Within the Humber, we are already delivering a nationally recognised best-practice approach to 

Anticipatory Care at the Jean Bishop Integrated Care Centre (ICC) in Hull. The approach was designed by 

local community geriatricians and GPs working in partnership with patients and a range of partners. GPs 

in Hull use the Electronic Frailty Index (eFI) tool to identify patients at risk of moderate to severe frailty 

and invite them to a half-day appointment at the ICC where they receive a number of multi-disciplinary 

reviews of their care. The team providing care and services at the centre includes GPs with extended 

roles, community geriatricians, pharmacists, advanced practitioners, social workers, carer support and 

therapists who link up with other speciality teams within the community, including the Fire Service 

operating a falls intervention and support service.  

The ICC aims to take a proactive approach (identifying people at risk of frailty using a risk stratification 

tool) rather than a reactive approach (responding when people go into crisis or require help for a 

medical condition). By working with elderly and frail residents to ensure they have the support they 

need to stay well, rather than waiting until they have an issue that needs to be addressed, the ICC has 

contributed to significant reductions in ED attendances, emergency admissions and re-admissions for 

Hull’s frail population. 

• Compared with the 12 months prior to review at the ICC, those who have been seen at the ICC 

have had (on average) a 13% reduction of Emergency Department attendances and a 24% 

reduction of unplanned hospital admissions. 

• Those who had attended ED more than 5 times in the preceding year had the greatest benefit 

with a 34% reduction in ED attends and 100% reduction in admissions. 

With a focus on quality improvement and data, the ICC team have now expanded to include those who 

are moderately frail plus other conditions. The team are also working together with partners across the 

Humber to learn from and expand the approach across other parts of the region. This includes a virtual 

model of delivery which is now in place within East Riding (Holderness area) with plans to expand 

further across the region. 

 

 

Page 185



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

128 
  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Excessive (and increasing) 
Emergency Department 
demand  

Unnecessary admissions of frail 
elderly patients 

Integrated frailty services 

• rapid response/UCR 
• anticipatory care 
• enhanced care 
• front door assessment  

Improved outcomes and faster 
recovery for frail patients 

Reduction in emergency 
admissions 

Table 5.4 Integrated Frailty - summary benefits 

5.2.5 Virtual wards  

Taken together, our hospitals have long lengths of stay for emergency admissions of up to one day 

higher than national average.  This has improved significantly in DPoW and SGH in 2021/22 as the new 

models of care for assessment and same day emergency care described above are being implemented, 

however, the position in Hull has deteriorated in recent years.  Inpatient admissions where there is an 

increased length of stay (LoS) can impact on quality of care.  They also have a considerable financial 

impact and reduce capacity for patients requiring acute admission and care. 

 
Figure 5.1 Length of Stay for emergency admissions in days (2019/20 to 2021/22) 152 

Our acute hospital services can work more effectively with partners in primary and community care to 

avoid the need to attend hospital, through the use of virtual wards. Virtual wards allow patients to get 

the care they need at home safely and conveniently, rather than being in hospital.  Virtual wards are in 

place already in many parts of the country, with the approach being developed during the COVID-19 

pandemic to provide care for COVID positive patients within their own homes through the use of 

remote pulse oximetry and other interventions that could be provided remotely. People with other 

conditions can also be treated in a virtual ward, for example people living with frailty and people with 

acute respiratory infection including children. 

Across the Humber, we are seeking to introduce virtual wards to support more people at home 

(including within care homes).  The approach will be underpinned by improvements to digital 

technology as a critical enabler and will ensure many more patients, particularly those who are frail who 

require an intervention that does not need to be in a hospital setting, will be able to stay at home to 

receive their care.  Primary care, community services, hospital wards, the Emergency Department, the 

Ambulance Service and NHS 111 will all have the ability to refer a patient to be triaged and referred to 

 
152 Internal trust data (June 2022) 

5

4.6 4

5.3

4.3
3.7

5.7

3.8
3.3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

HRI DPoW SGH

LoS - Non elective admissions (2019-2022)

19/20 20/21 21/22 national average

Page 186



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

129 
  

the virtual ward if they meet the eligibility criteria. When required the community response team can be 

dispatched for a face-to-face clinical assessment after which the patient will either be admitted to the 

virtual ward, taken to hospital or referred to an alternative service that better suits their needs.  

Initially the key focus will be on integration and interoperability of existing services and workforce for 

high volume pathways within respiratory and frailty, evolving at pace to include other areas e.g., heart 

failure. 

The benefits of this approach include an improved experience for the patient who is able to get well 

more comfortably in their own environment where it is easier for loved ones to visit and support and 

where they are less likely to deteriorate. There are also benefits in terms of increased capacity and 

improved flow in hospitals and benefits to Primary Care and other partners by reducing the ‘bounce 

back’ rates for these patients by providing a better, more responsive service the first time around.  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Delayed discharge, long stays in 
hospital (contributing to 
ambulance handover delays and 
long ED waits) 

Virtual wards – people can get 
home more quickly or avoid an 
admission in the first place 

Reduction of adult inpatients 
through reduced length of stay 

Table 5.5 Virtual wards - summary benefits 

5.2.6 Discharge from hospital 

Ensuring patients can leave hospital as soon as they are medically fit to do so is critically important to 

enabling flow through the hospital and tackling the challenges of ambulance handover delays and long 

waits within the Emergency Department.  If the back door of the hospital is functioning well, this has a 

significant positive impact on performance at the front door. 

Whilst it was a major area of focus prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the mandate and resources 

provided during the early phase of the pandemic to rapidly improve discharge from hospitals was an 

important catalyst to improving the approach to hospital discharge across the region.  NHS and Local 

Authority partners were able to work closely on developing more streamlined processes to manage the 

discharge to assess scheme.  Within NLaG a successful way of working had already been introduced in 

North East Lincolnshire, with social services, mental health and NHS staff working together in a base to 

attend front door and also discharge assessments.  In North Lincolnshire, the teams adopted a 

prevention and early discharge approach, utilising virtual wards.   

Within NLaG the discharge HUB, staffed by a multi-disciplinary team, ensures all patients requiring 

support on discharge are discharged within 24 hours of the request on the relevant pathway. The trust 

length of stay during implementation of this new approach improved significantly. 

Making further improvements to streamline the discharge processes across all hospital sites in the 

Humber is an important enabler of pathway improvements that are proposed through this business 

case.  A crucial blockage that remains, however, is the lack of staff and high levels of vacancies within 

the care sector, including domiciliary care and nursing/care homes.  This leads to increasing strain and 

frustration across all sectors.  The workforce and OD plans developed through the programme aim to 

support improvement in this vitally important area.153  The development of new roles and the creation 

 
153 See section 8.3 for further details of our workforce plans. 

Page 187



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

130 
  

of rotational posts working across different organisations and different sectors presents an opportunity 

to develop the social care workforce and offer development opportunities to staff by enabling them to 

work across the NHS and social care.  This approach to developing a one Humber workforce will support 

the staff across all sectors to consistently access training and development opportunities, improve 

staff’s understanding of the processes and ways of working in other sectors and could also help to 

improve consistency in staff pay and conditions across sectors (including domiciliary care staff). 

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Delayed discharge, long stays in 
hospital (contributing to 
ambulance handover delays and 
long ED waits) 

Improving discharge processes 
and investing in social care 
workforce 

Reduction in length of stay, 
particularly for frail or elderly 
patients. 

Table 5.6 Discharge Improvements - summary benefits 

5.2.7 Mental Health – increased integration 

People with prolonged severe mental illness (SMI) are particularly vulnerable to poor physical health. 

Patients diagnosed with SMI have almost seven times more emergency inpatient admissions and half of 

these admissions unrelated to their mental health but driven by an urgent physical healthcare need.154 

Regionally 14% of people aged 16 -24 have mental health disorders and this is expected to rise along 

with recent national increases.155  In addition, our region has higher than average rates of suicide and 

self-harming.156    

For many people experiencing mental health crisis, sanctuaries, safe havens and crisis cafes provide a 

more suitable alternative to an Emergency Department (ED). However, it was clear from our 

engagement with patients, the public and staff that it can be very difficult to know where to go and the 

Emergency Department often becomes the default position.  It was also identified that although 

attempts had been made to integrate mental health and secondary care hospital teams, there have 

been varying levels of success in each locality.  Mental health teams are supporting police and 

ambulance call centres, but there remains some confusion amongst partners as to where else patients 

can be diverted and often the Emergency Department becomes the default. 

The table below details how many people present at our Emergency Departments with a recorded 

mental health condition – this may or may not be the reason they are attending the ED.  This data 

demonstrates the importance for ED teams to have a good understanding and competency in managing 

patients with mental health conditions.  

 Mental Health Attendances at ED 

2019/2020 2021/2022 

DPoW SGH HRI DPoW SGH HRI 

Paediatrics 87 88 302 81 99 267 

17 to 25 276 423 1,057 230 333 1,168 

25+ 960 1,350 2,862 908 1,199 3,147 

 
154 Nuffield Trust (2015) Focus on: People with mental ill health and hospital use Focus on report 
155 NHS Digital (2020) Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2020: Wave 1 follow up to the 2017 
survey Follow up survey 
156 Office of National Statistics (ONS) (2022) Suicides in England and Wales by local authority ONS data. 

Page 188

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/research/focus-on-people-with-mental-ill-health-and-hospital-use
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-wave-1-follow-up
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/suicidesbylocalauthority


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

131 
  

Total 1,323 1,861 4,221 1219 1631 4,582 

Table 5.7 Mental Health Attendances at ED157 

We are working in collaboration with our Mental Health care providers to ensure patients receive the 

best possible care and immediate response in the right place and at the right time.  The overall model is 

to ensure equity of access in a safe place with the right skilled teams to support crisis situations where 

urgent and emergency services are required.   The aim is to develop future opportunities to improve 

Mental Health services across the Humber and address areas such as: 

• Staff training to support understanding and holistic management of the whole person 

• Partnership working across all health sectors and collaboration across Mental Health providers 

• 24/7 support to those who need to access it (i.e. in a crisis, enhanced liaison) 

• Improved communication and information sharing 

5.2.7.1 Training and improved collaboration 

An important enabler for this proposed approach will be changes to culture and ways of working for our 

teams. Our clinicians and professionals need to work more closely together with a multi-disciplinary 

team approach to support skill set training and the ability to be flexible to manage workforce challenges 

and vacancies.  Training all staff on how to spot mental health needs and ensuring a clear directory for 

support and signposting is in place, will be essential to prevent unnecessary attendances at ED and 

ensure patients receive the best care at the right time by the right skilled services.   

As pressure on acute pathways continues to build – the time and space to ensure staff are trained in 

holistic assessment will always be a challenge until we can do something to address this.  The proposals 

set out within this business case (PCBC) offer alternative models of care that can alleviate that pressure 

and allow the acute hospital the space and time to address this important training need. 

5.2.7.2 Mental Health Liaison staffing model 

Mental Health Liaison is a nationally recognised service that should be available in every acute trust. In 

each of our Emergency Departments (HRI, SGH and DPoW) core 24 mental health liaison services are in 

place.  Across Hull and East Riding, the Mental Health Liaison service is provided by Humber Teaching 

NHS Foundation Trust. The service provides a dedicated team who offer a service to patients presenting 

at Hull Royal Infirmary or Castle Hill Hospital with self-harm behaviour, acute mental illness or emotional 

distress, which also offers support and advice to urgent care services in the area. Work is ongoing to 

extend mental health response services into Goole District Hospital, working in partnership with 

Humber FT.  Within DPoW and SGH, the mental health liaison service delivers the specification required 

to support patients presenting to either Emergency Department or acute care with mental health needs, 

where there is sufficient demand across the 24-hour period to merit a full service. 

In order to ensure our renewed pathways and models of care for urgent and emergency care meet the 

needs of all patients and service-users, acute services will continue to work alongside mental health care 

provider partners to develop workforce skills and roles.  In particular, improving understanding of 

urgent and emergency care teams that mental health problems can be integral to a patient’s physical 

disorder and vice versa meaning that neither can be treated in isolation.  

 
157 Internal trust data (June 2022) 

Page 189



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

132 
  

We will continue to work to ensure liaison mental health is integrated with our other hospital services 

and pathways, working collaboratively with our mental health partners to develop a culture of 

partnership working, effective risk assessments across settings and integrated policies and guidelines.  

  

  

More integrated pathways for urgent and emergency care both in and out of hospital will improve 

the experience for patients and improve performance on key waiting time targets.  

The key benefits of these improved pathways include: 

✓ Reduction in ED attendances  

✓ Better experience for patients (easier to navigate)  

✓ Better outcomes – patients get to the right place, first time 

✓ 35-48% reduction in demand for ED services by treating patients differently through the 

consolidated Urgent Care Service (on site). 

✓ Reduced length of stay 

✓ Better experience for patients (quicker diagnosis and treatment and fewer handoffs) 

✓ Reduction in ambulance handover delays 

✓ Improved outcomes and faster recovery for frail patients 

✓ Reduction in emergency admissions   

A shift of resources from the acute hospital sector into primary, community and other out of 

hospital provision has been assumed within the financial modelling to support these improved 

pathways and deliver the benefits highlighted.  

Page 190



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

133 
  

5.3 Paediatric pathways 

 

The population of the Humber area faces a number of health challenges.158  A quarter of children in 

North East Lincolnshire and nearly a third in Hull live in poverty. Levels of childhood obesity are high. 

The proportion of 10–11-year-olds who are obese ranges from 18% in East Riding to 23% across 

Northern Lincolnshire and Hull.159 These underlying socio-economic factors mean that a growing 

number of children and young people are affected by complex long-term conditions including both 

physical and mental health conditions.  

Managing these long-term conditions in children and young people requires a joined-up 

multidisciplinary approach in order to get the best results and support children and families to live 

happy, healthy lives. Research shows that new approaches need to be collaborative service-models – 

not “drag-and-drop” replicas of hospital clinics in the community.160 We have therefore developed our 

new approaches to paediatric services based on collaborative working between different professions, 

learning through the pandemic of what works and what does not and supporting all new initiatives with 

good quality digital infrastructure.  Digital technology offers multiple new opportunities. It enables the 

hospital to come to a patient’s home, it supports professionals from different organisations to share 

information and make collective decisions with patients and their families and it also provides engaging 

opportunities for children and young people to get more involved in managing their own health and 

wellbeing.  

Through the community paediatrics (ill child) programme, several key projects are contributing to 

reducing the need for children to come to or stay in hospital.  

5.3.1 Paediatric advice and guidance 

Too many children and young people attend our Emergency Departments (ED) in the absence of 

appropriate alternatives. Across the Humber region it is recognised that many paediatric attendances to 

our Emergency Departments are inappropriate, but parents/carers of children, and young people 

themselves, attend due to a lack of information, advice and guidance or services within primary care and 

the community.  On average, 31% of paediatric ED attendances receive advice and guidance only.  We 

are developing improved advice and guidance so that hospital-based, specialist teams can support 

 
158 See section 1.4.1 for further details.  
159 OHID (2022) Child and Maternal Health profile Obesity profile 
160 Singh, Ritvij, Edward Maile, Dougal Hargreaves, Mitch Blair and Georgia Black (2022) Back to the future? What 
we can learn from the history of integrated paediatric care in England Nuffield Trust Blog 

The needs of children have changed, and it is important that our service models adapt to reflect 

these changes and meet the needs of children, young people and their families better.   

We worked with clinical teams and partners to review and re-design the pathways of care for 

paediatrics across the Humber to help to address the challenges facing our current services and 

provide more joined up care and support for children and young people across the region. 

We propose to implement these pathway changes across the Humber region, supported by the 

required out of hospital provision, new workforce models and enabled by improved digital 

connectivity and infrastructure.   

Page 191

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133258/pat/6/par/E12000003/ati/402/are/E06000011/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/back-to-the-future-what-we-can-learn-from-the-history-of-integrated-paediatric-care-in-england


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

134 
  

parents, carers, GPs and community staff, to aid prevention and self-management and reduce the need 

for children to attend hospital unnecessarily.   

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

High levels of paediatric 
Emergency Department 
attendances. 

Improved advice and guidance. Reduction in paediatric ED 
attendances. 

Table 5.8 Advice and Guidance - summary benefits 

5.3.2 Hospital at Home 

In addition, we will continue to develop the ‘Hospital at Home’ service, harnessing digital technology to 

provide diagnostic tools and paediatric consultations remotely to prevent unnecessary attendances to 

the Emergency Department or admissions to hospital.  The provision of ‘hospital at home’ care to 

children means that children who would normally have to attend hospital either through an Emergency 

Department or being admitted to the paediatric ward can instead receive multidisciplinary team support 

in their own homes and avoid travelling to hospital for their care.  It also supports paediatric teams to 

discharge patients sooner, reducing length of stay and improving the outcomes for patients.  Avoiding a 

hospital admission is not only more convenient for the child and their family but it provides additional 

benefits, such as enabling families to stay together, reducing disruption and impact on siblings and other 

family members and it can lead to better clinical outcomes for children who are able to recover in 

comfortable and familiar surroundings. This model of care supports us to deliver what children and 

young people have told us matters most to them – being in a physical environment where they feel safe 

and well looked after.161  

The Hospital at Home model began as a pilot in North East Lincolnshire in November 2021 and is looking 

after an average of around 17 children each week, many of whom would otherwise have ended up in 

the hospital Emergency Department and/or being admitted onto the paediatric ward.  Referrals were 

higher during the winter months and the service supported a large number of infants with respiratory 

conditions, forming a key element of the system response to winter pressures.  Feedback from clinicians 

during the pilot was extremely positive, confirming that the service gives them increased confidence in 

sending children home and/or treating children at home who would previously have been admitted for 

observation.  Rolling this approach out across the Humber will support delivery of the proposed model 

of care for paediatrics and help ensure more children can be seen and treated in their own home 

instead of attending an Emergency Department or being admitted to hospital.  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Long stays in hospital for some 
children and young people 

Hospital at Home – children can 
get home more quickly or avoid 
an admission to hospital in the 
first place 

Improved experience and 
outcomes for patients and their 
families  

Reduction in paediatric 
Emergency Department 

 
161 See section 10.8 for further details of what we heard from children and young people. 

Page 192



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

135 
  

attendances and unplanned 
admissions162 

Table 5.9 Hospital at Home - summary benefits 

5.3.3 Children and Young People’s Mental Health 

Significant challenges exist within children and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) both locally 

and nationally and, as a result, many children and young people experience long waits for mental health 

support. CAMHS services are outside of the scope of the Humber Acute Services programme, however, 

we have worked with mental health partners to design the pathways of care for acute and community 

paediatrics to maximise the opportunities for joint working and ensure we support children and young 

people to access care and support as quickly as possible.  

The Hospital at Home model supports a reduction in admissions to hospital and improved mental and 

emotional wellbeing for children and their families. Similarly, our aims to improve remote or virtual 

access to paediatric outpatient appointments can support more children and young people to access the 

expert advice and treatment they need in their own environment where they can be more comfortable 

and at ease.  Developing local community hubs will support better integration across community, 

mental health and acute services working together to improve mental health and wellbeing in our 

children and young people.  

5.3.4 Staffing Model – Paediatric Community Hubs 

The concept of developing Paediatric Community Hubs emerged through the workforce planning to 

support development of the Pre-Consultation Business Case.  Under this approach a blended workforce 

model would be developed, comprising of unregistered and registered professionals from GP practices, 

acute children’s services, social care and public health, providing an integrated location for community-

based paediatric outpatient appointments and children’s diagnostics as well as: 

• Public health information to positively impact on reducing health inequalities. 

• Specialist health advice and guidance for children and families. 

• Social care advice and support for families, especially within deprived areas. 

This proposal has also embraced the concept of joint appointments where retiring staff from paediatrics 

and children’s services could return to provide education support, advice and guidance within 

community and Women and Children’s Integrated Care hubs. 

 
162 The impact of Hospital @ Home on paediatric ED attendances and admissions was not included in the activity 
modelling due to the pilot being in a very early stage when this work was undertaken. Further modelling will be 
undertaken as part of the development of the Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC) to quantify the impact of 
H@H on paediatric activity in ED, PAU and inpatients.  

Page 193



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

136 
  

 

  

Deprivation in the Humber has a disproportionate impact on children and young people, with as 

many as 1 in 3 living in poverty in parts of our region. This has an impact on their health and 

wellbeing and can put increased demand on healthcare services. 

More integrated pathways for children and young people both in and out of hospital help to 

ensure paediatric services are sustainable in the long-term and can meet the needs of children and 

young people, delivering more care and support at or close to home and ensuring children only go to 

hospital and spend time there when it is absolutely necessary.  

The key benefits of these improved pathways include: 

✓ Reduction in paediatric ED attendances  

✓ Reduction in paediatric admissions 
✓ Improved experience and outcomes for patients and their families  

A shift of resources from the acute hospital sector into primary, community and other out of 

hospital provision has been assumed within the financial modelling to support these improved 

pathways and deliver the benefits highlighted.  

Page 194



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

137 
  

5.4 Benefits of pathway changes 

 

The Humber-wide re-design of urgent and emergency care and paediatric pathways will enable more 

people to have their needs met within or closer to their own homes and reduce the overall demand and 

pressure on Emergency Departments (ED) and inpatient care.  The volumes accessing our urgent and 

emergency care services in the baseline year (2019/20) are outlined in diagram below:  

 
Figure 5.2 Current volumes of activity - UEC Humber163 

In 2019/20, out of the above totals: 

• 55% of emergency ambulance journeys were seen and discharged from ED on the same day 

• 35-48% of total attendances at ED could have been seen in an Urgent Care Service (e.g., UTC) 

• 6-8% of emergency admissions could have been managed by an Integrated Frailty service in the 

community and avoided the hospital Emergency Department 

By re-designing the overall pathway of care, we will seek to support more people in community and 

other settings outside of hospital, to reduce overall demand on Emergency Departments across the 

Humber. This work has been undertaken in collaboration with the out of hospital programme, which is 

delivering a number of projects that will support this overall vision (as detailed above).  

As services are re-designed, more care will be provided closer to home by multi-disciplinary teams 

across all domains of urgent and emergency care as illustrated in the diagram below. As usage of Urgent 

Treatment Centres and Urgent Care Services increases, this will reduce the overall demand on 

Emergency Departments across the Humber, supporting all EDs to run more effectively, avoid delays in 

ambulance handovers and enable rapid assessment of patients to take place. NHS 111, supported by an 

effective ‘any-to-any’ booking system (currently under development), will play a pivotal role in 

delivering this better, more joined up approach and help to ensure every patient gets to the right place, 

first time, enabling assessment by the right person.  

 
163 Internal trust data (June 2021) 

More integrated pathways both in and out of hospital will improve the experience for patients, 

reduce the need for people to go to hospital for care and treatment and improve performance on 

key waiting time targets.  

Page 195



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

138 
  

 
Figure 5.3 Future vision for UEC activity – Humber164 

The proposed new pathway for urgent and emergency care across the Humber is expected to deliver the 

following key benefits: 

• 35-48% of total ED attendances seen in an Urgent Care Service (co-located within the hospital 

ED) or Urgent Treatment Centre. 

• 4% of emergency admissions avoided and seen in a community service e.g., Integrated Frailty 

service.165 

• Reduction of adult inpatient stays, through extended use of virtual wards. 

• Reduction in those people who attend an Emergency Department 5 times or more per year. 

5.4.1.1 Patient perspective – urgent and emergency care 

From the perspective of patients using our services, the changes will mean fewer people needing to 

travel to hospital to have their urgent care needs met due to having more responsive services outside of 

hospital where these are clinically appropriate.  

These changes would mean fewer trips to hospital for a typical patient like Peter, who is 80 years old, is 

frail and has a fall at home.  Typically, someone like Peter would be taken to hospital by ambulance.  

With the current pressures within the system, he may have to wait several hours for the ambulance to 

arrive and potentially be cared for by paramedics in the ambulance for several hours before being able 

to access the Emergency Department.  Historically Peter would been admitted to hospital overnight to 

await a clinical review by the specialist frailty team, with a strong likelihood of his overall health 

deteriorating during that time.   

 
164 Modelling outputs (refreshed January 2023) – see appendix D 
165 An additional 4% reduction is assumed in BAU as a result of out of hospital programmes that are already in 
place and delivering changes.  

Page 196



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

139 
  

 
Picture 5:A Traditional pathway for frail patient with a fall 

The introduction of the Integrated Acute Assessment Model and same day emergency care services is 

improving the pathway of care for patients like Peter in some of our hospitals (see section 5.2.3).  The 

Acute Assessment Model reduces the number of clinical contacts and is helping to reduce the need for a 

patient like Peter to be admitted overnight to await clinical review. This model is now in place within the 

Emergency Departments in Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital 

(DPoW) and is being developed within Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI). The new Emergency Department and 

assessment buildings at SGH and DPoW – due for completion in 2023 – will enable this model to be 

delivered more effectively.   

 
Picture 5:B Integrated Acute Assessment pathway for frail patient with a fall 

The further pathway changes described above would mean that Peter could be assessed by an urgent 

response team at home and avoid coming to hospital at all.  

Page 197



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

140 
  

 
Picture 5:C Future pathway for frail patient with a fall 

5.4.1.2 Patient perspective – paediatrics  

From the perspective of patients using our services, many of the changes described will mean fewer 

children and families needing to travel to hospital to have their urgent care needs met due to having 

more responsive services outside of hospital, where these are clinically appropriate.  

These changes would mean fewer trips to hospital for a typical patient like Aisha, who is newborn baby 

with the condition neonatal jaundice, which is caused by the build-up of bilirubin in the blood. 

Treatment for neonatal jaundice is not usually needed because the symptoms normally pass within 10 

to 14 days, however, in some cases, like Aisha’s, the condition is serious enough that she needs to have 

a treatment called phototherapy.   

Typically, a baby like Aisha would be admitted to hospital for up to five days to undergo phototherapy 

treatment.  Then, when the treatment is finished, her family would have to bring her back to the 

hospital for a simple blood test, more than 12 hours but less than 18 hours later. This approach to 

treatment is highly disruptive for a family such as Aisha’s, particularly if, like many families in the 

Humber, they do not have access to a car.   

Page 198



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

141 
  

 
Picture 5:D Current pathway for patient with neonatal jaundice 

With the introduction of Hospital at Home and related pathway changes, Aisha could receive her 

treatment at home, under supervision from the hospital team, leading to a significantly better 

experience for Aisha’s family in her first few days.  How this would work in practice is set out in the 

picture below.  

 
Picture 5:E Future pathway for patient with neonatal jaundice 

This is just one example of the more integrated pathways that will support the proposed new models of 

care across the Humber and enable us to deliver our ambition of reducing the overall need for patients 

to travel to hospital for their care. 

 

Page 199



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

142 
  

5.4.1.3 Humber pathway redesign impact 

Overall volumes of Emergency Department (ED) attendances can be reduced by ensuring urgent care 

services are available and easily accessible by the Humber population.  The potential models of care – in 

all scenarios – include a 24/7 Urgent Care Service (UCS) co-located with the EDs across the Humber.  The 

table below shows the forecast reduction in total ED attendances and the diversion to on-site urgent 

care services, enabling ED teams to focus on life-threatening injuries and illnesses and dedicated multi-

skilled teams to provide round the clock urgent care for those conditions which are not life threatening. 

Focusing on integrated community pathways will enable patients to be supported and seen closer to 

home and avoid the need for a hospital attendance or admission where appropriate with the integration 

of frailty models, virtual wards and support for high intensity users. Continued collaborative working 

with partners across the Humber will support development and delivery of these pathway changes.  

  
Figure 5.4 Pathway change impact - ED Attendances and Admissions 
(Humber)166 

By working in these new ways, we can significantly reduce the overall levels of demand faced by all our 

Emergency Departments.  Applying 5 years of expected growth to the baseline shows the continued rise 

in demand in ED and admissions, which would put additional pressure on services already struggling to 

cope with the current levels of demand.  The Business As Usual (BAU) model shown in the chart below 

includes a 4% reduction in admissions in line with the integrated Acute Assessment Unit pathway 

changes described above (see section 5.2.3), which have already begun to be implemented within 

Grimsby and Scunthorpe. Full implementation of this pathway change, plus other pathway changes 

described, would lead to a further 4% reduction in emergency admissions and significant reduction in ED 

attendances over the period. 

 
166 Modelling outputs (refreshed January 2023) – see appendix D 

283,078

171,890

119,994
85,818 84,314

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

ED
Attendances

(baseline)

Proposed ED
Attendances

Proposed
Urgent Care
Attendances

Admissions
(baseline)

Proposed
Admissions

Combined baseline and proposed changes Combined impact 
(HRI/SGH/DPoW) 

Pathway changes => reduction 

in ED attendances of 35-48% 

attending urgent care services 

instead (co-located with ED or 

at a local UTC). 

Pathway changes => reduction 

in emergency admissions of 

medical patients by 4% 

receiving care in the community 

or same day emergency care 

(SDEC) instead. 

Page 200



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 5 – Humber-wide Pathway Changes 

 

143 
  

 
Figure 5.5 UEC baseline activity, growth assumptions and impact of pathway redesign167 

 

 

 

  

 
167 Modelling outputs (refreshed January 2023) – see appendix D 

283,078 291,884

171,890

119,994

85,818 91,646 84,314

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

350000

400000

450000

Baseline Do nothing
(5 year growth)

Proposals
(5 year growth + pathway

changes)

Combined baseline, BAU and pathway changes impact

ED attendances UCS attendance Emergency Admissions

More integrated pathways for urgent and emergency care both in and out of hospital will improve 

the experience for patients and improve performance on key waiting time targets.  

The key benefits of these improved pathways include: 

✓ Reduction in ED attendances (adults and children) 

✓ Better experience for patients, carers and families (easier to navigate)  

✓ Better outcomes – patients get to the right place, first time 

✓ 35-48% reduction in demand for ED services by treating patients differently through the 

collocated Urgent Care Service (on site). 

✓ Reduced length of stay 

✓ Better experience for patients (quicker diagnosis and treatment and fewer handoffs) 

✓ Reduction in ambulance handover delays 

✓ Improved outcomes and faster recovery for frail patients 

✓ Reduction in emergency admissions (adults and children)  

The impact of the changes on activity levels includes: 

✓ reduction in ED attendances of 35-48% attending urgent care services instead (co-located 

with ED or at a local UTC). 

✓ reduction in emergency admissions of medical patients by 4% receiving care in the 

community or same day emergency care (SDEC) instead. 

A shift of resources from the acute hospital sector into primary, community and other out of 

hospital provision will enable these improved pathways and deliver the benefits highlighted.  

Page 201



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

144 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 6 

Proposed Models of Care 

Detailed proposals, benefits and impacts 

  

Page 202



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

145 
  

6. Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

Summary Box 6.1 

  

To improve the quality and safety of services and make sure they are sustainable into the future, the 

proposal recommends that some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and 

paediatric (children’s) services at our hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire (Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital) should be brought together and in future be 

delivered from just one site.  

Other services, including urgent and emergency care for most patients, should continue to be 

provided as locally as possible and should remain at both hospitals. 

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital:  

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought by 

ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.  

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the middle of the 

night or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by teams with surgical 

expertise.  

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay in hospital (more 

than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their heart, lung or stomach 

condition.  

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who need to stay in 

hospital for more than 24 hours. 

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

The key benefits of the proposed model of care include: 

✓ Make the best use of skilled workforce – reduce duplication.  

✓ Ensure patients with most complex needs can access specialist care from well-supported 

teams of highly skilled professionals. 

✓ Improve training and development opportunities for staff.  

✓ Develop Centres of Excellence for specific services, building confidence in patients and staff. 

✓ Support more people to stay well, be seen and treated at or close to home.  

We recognise that any changes we make will have an impact on patients, carers and staff and for 

some people will mean longer journey times to access particular hospital services. Detailed impact 

analyses have been undertaken to quantify the likely impact and develop mitigations. 

 

Page 203



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

146 
  

6.1 Current service configuration 

 

Our population have told us they find services confusing, disjointed and difficult to navigate. They want 

to be seen and treated quickly and are willing to use alternative services (to the hospital Emergency 

Department) if they are confident that they will meet their needs.  

Patients of all ages have increasingly complex needs, which require staff with specialist skills, knowledge 

and experience.  Our current services in North and North East Lincolnshire are small in comparison to 

others in the country and this makes it more challenging to achieve the required national standards, 

such as ensuring we have the right mix of skilled professionals dedicated to specific elements of the 

service and we are not relying on staff to cover multiple roles at the same time.  With the teams of 

nurses, doctors and other professionals that are available to us, meeting every standard all of the time is 

extremely difficult.   

6.1.1 Current service configuration    

Across the Humber the NHS provides a wide range of urgent and emergency care services and paediatric 

services, which play a role in supporting patients when they need medical help quickly.  

• Urgent care is medical care provided for illness and injuries which require prompt attention but 

are typically not of such seriousness to require the services of an Emergency Department. 

• Emergency care is required when a person has a life-threatening accident, injury or illness and 

has to be immediately assessed and treated in a hospital Emergency Department.  

Emergency care is currently provided 24/7 across three hospital sites in the Humber – Hull Royal 

Infirmary (HRI), Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) and Scunthorpe General Hospital 

(SGH).  These hospitals operate an Emergency Department, acute assessment service with same day 

emergency care (SDEC) and emergency admissions for most specialities, supported by 999 and 

emergency ambulance services, mainly provided by Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust (YAS) on the 

north bank of the Humber and East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EMAS) on the south bank. 

Hull Royal Infirmary provides the adult Major Trauma Centre (MTC) for the region.  Major Trauma 

provision for children is delivered from regional centres in Sheffield and Leeds.  A Major Trauma Centre 

(MTC) is a specialist centre with equipment and skilled staff who are trained in dealing with the most 

serious and life-threatening injuries.  An MTC operates as part of a major trauma network, supported by 

Trauma Units where patients can be stabilised and transferred as appropriate.  In addition, Hull provides 

tertiary services for neurosurgery, vascular, specialist cardiology and cancer services.  Most of these 

services are provided from Hull Royal Infirmary, but emergency care is also provided from Castle Hill 

Hospital, Cottingham for cardiology, cardio-thoracic and urology acute and specialist services.  

Both Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) 

operate 24/7 Emergency Departments and have designated Trauma Unit status.  This means that they 

We want to continue to provide the best care for those living in our region and invest in the many 

specialist services our hospitals provide. As a collective of hospitals working better, together, we can 

provide improved services and care for all. But to do so, things need to change.  

The proposals have been designed to ensure that high quality hospital care can continue to be 

provided across the Humber now and in the future. 

Page 204



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

147 
  

can see and treat all urgent and emergency patients who attend themselves or in an ambulance (except 

major trauma) and have the capability to do emergency surgery 24/7.  Both hospitals have wards for 

medical patients and surgical patients, however, some acute services are consolidated on one or other 

site (e.g.,, Hyper Acute Stroke Unit, urology and ENT).  

A range of other urgent care services are provided across the Humber, including Urgent Treatment 

Centres (UTCs) in Goole, Beverley, Bridlington and Bransholme in Hull.  There is a GP walk in service 

provided at Storey Street in Hull and planned care centres that provide treatment for minor injuries 

(accessed via NHS 111) in Driffield and Withernsea.168  In addition, an Urgent Care Service (UCS) has 

recently been introduced within the hospitals at DPoW and SGH at the hospital front door for managing 

patients with urgent care needs, in line with the latest national guidance.169  

For children and young people, Paediatric Assessment Units are provided within the three hospitals – 

HRI, DPoW and SGH – available 24/7. Acute paediatric inpatient services are also provided at all three 

sites.  In addition, Hull Royal Infirmary is a tertiary centre and provides surgical paediatric care, as well as 

specialist services.  Paediatric intensive care is accessed in Leeds or Sheffield for patients living within 

the Humber region.  Whilst some tertiary referrals are made to HRI, much of the specialist paediatric 

patient activity from NLaG flows out of the Humber area to Sheffield Children’s Hospital. Specialist 

outpatient paediatric clinics are delivered in partnership with Sheffield and Leeds at both Scunthorpe 

and Grimsby through a hub and spoke model.  

6.1.2 Current activity 

Each year there are around 283,000 attendances at our Emergency Departments (EDs), which is roughly 

one attendance for every 3 people living in the Humber. Emergency Department Demand was impacted 

during the initial onset of the pandemic, but attendances have since returned to pre-pandemic levels.170  

Each year there are around 85,818 emergency admissions, which equates to around one admission 

every 7 minutes. 

Of the approximately 775 people who attend one of the three Emergency Departments (EDs) in the 

Humber each day, on average only 471 of them (~60%) will be seen and treated within the expected 

four hours,171 falling far short of the 95% target.  Based on recent performance data, as many as 25 

people a day could be waiting for more than 12 hours.172 In addition, up to 150 people each day wait 

longer than they should (15 minutes) in the ambulance they arrived in because there are not enough 

staff or beds in the department for the ambulance crews to safely hand patients over.  

Around 20% of people attending our Emergency Departments are children (16 years and under), many 

of whom have minor injuries or illnesses that can be quickly treated.  In addition, our Paediatric 

Assessment Units (PAUs) see approximately 15,588 children every year and around 4,193 are admitted 

to hospital for an overnight stay. These numbers are not consistent throughout the year, however, and 

there are significant seasonal variations with increased demand in winter and, for Grimsby in particular, 

summer. 

 
168 Potential delivery models for urgent care services for the population of the west of Hull are currently subject to 
a place-based review of options with all providers, which could result in additional UTC provision and/or changes 
to the services provided at Storey Street (see also section 5.2.2). 
169 A more detailed explanation of the current configuration of services is provided in appendix 10.2.  
170 See section 2.2.1.1 for activity over time. 
171 See Figure 2.2 – %age of patients seen and treated in ED within 4-hours, 2021/22 
172 See Figure 2.3 – Ambulance handovers within 15 minutes, 2019 - 2022 

Page 205



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

148 
  

The number of children admitted for an overnight stay in our hospitals is relatively small, particularly in 

the children’s wards in Scunthorpe and Grimsby (around 2-3 per day at each unit).  New clinical 

standards combined with national and regional shortages of specialist paediatric staff mean that it is 

becoming increasingly difficult to provide the level of cover required in our paediatric services at all 

times and ensure our teams and new trainees have sufficient exposure to more complex cases in order 

to maintain the high level of skills and expertise our current teams have.  

 
Figure 6.1 Baseline ED attendances and admissions (2019/20) 173 

 
Figure 6.2 Baseline PAU attendances and admissions (2019/20)174 

  

 
173 Internal trust data (June 2021). NOTE: 2019/20 was used as the baseline line against which the different 
potential changes were modelled due to the pandemic impact on 2020/21 data, which was the most recent data 
available when the options development work was undertaken.  Details of the modelling assumptions used and 
activity modelling outputs are provided in appendix 10.16 and in the document library. 
174 Internal trust data (June 2021). NOTE: paediatric ED attendances are within the ED numbers in figure 6.1.  

75,322 73,181

134,590

18,528 19,194

48,096

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

DPoW SGH HRI

Baseline UEC activity (2019/20)

Emergency Dept Attendances Emergency Admissions

5,357

4,302

5,929

951 898

2,344

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

DPoW SGH HRI

Baseline Paediatric activity (2019/20)

Paediatric Assessment Unit Paediatric Admissions

The way in which services are currently designed, is not meeting the required standards in a system 

that is experiencing unprecedented challenges and ever-increasing demand. 

Urgent and emergency care and paediatric services need to change to ensure we can continue to 

meet the needs of our population now and into the future.   

The total annual ED attendances in 

2019/20: 

- HRI = 134,590 

- DPoW = 75,322  

- SGH = 73,181 

These include walk-ins and patients 

brought in by ambulance. 

The annual emergency admissions 

in 2019/20 were: 

- HRI = 48,096 

- DPoW = 18,528  

- SGH = 19,194 

The total annual PAU attendances 

in 2019/20: 

- HRI = 5,929 

- DPoW = 5,357  

- SGH = 4,302 

The annual emergency paediatric 

admissions in 2019/20 were: 

- HRI = 2,344 

- DPoW = 951  

- SGH = 898 

Page 206

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

149 
  

6.2 Views and priorities of our population 

Over the course of the programme we engaged with over 9,000 patients and 

service-users and involved more than 3,000 clinicians and members of staff in 

our clinical design process, through workshops, focus groups and surveys.175  

This engagement has been critical in helping to shape and to evaluate the 

proposals within this business case, ensuring they reflect the priorities and preferences expressed by 

our local population.  

Some key highlights were:  

• Being seen and treated quickly was the most important thing to most people when it comes to 

hospital care.  

o Overall, respondents to the What Matters to You survey said that being seen and 

treated quickly was most important.  

o Many of the people we engaged with had a good understanding of the challenges within 

the NHS both locally and nationally and were willing to accept changes (e.g., by using 

online services or going to a different location for care) if it could help them to be seen 

more quickly.  

o Poor communication and a lack of transparency around waiting times and alternative 

options were raised as areas for improvement.  

• Safety was comparatively more important to parents, carers and guardians than the public as 

a whole. 

o In our Children and Young People, Parent, Carer and Guardian and Your Birthing Choices 

surveys, “being kept safe and well looked after” ranked the number one priority overall. 

o This was in contrast to wider public responses, which ranked it either second or third, 

after “being seen and treated as quickly as possible”. 

o Parents and prospective parents were consistent in prioritising safety above other 

factors.  

• Accessibility and experience were also very important for parents and guardians. 

o Parents and guardians provided feedback on how hospital visits can be stressful and 

made suggestions on how they could be improved.  

o Parents highlighted the need for more experienced and well-trained paediatric staff 

working in Emergency Departments (ED), wards and clinics.  

• Having the right workforce – and enough of them – is important to staff and patients alike.  

o Compassionate and caring staff were the most common reason for a positive experience 

of care. The public recognise the pressures on hospital staff and want to see things 

change and for staff to have time to care.  

o A healthy work/life balance and making a difference to patients are the things that 

matter most to our staff. Staff we engaged with want to ensure any future models of 

care will be adequately staffed. 

o Our workforce wants to work differently and try new approaches. 

 
175 Further details of the methods and findings is provided in appendices 10.7 to 10.15. 

Page 207



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

150 
  

• Most people attend an Emergency Department because someone advised them to go there. 

o The vast majority of people we heard from told us that they went to an Emergency 

Department because they were advised to go by a medical professional – most 

commonly a GP or NHS 111. 

• People are willing to use alternative urgent care provision if they are confident that it is 

appropriate for their needs. 

o Knowledge of alternatives to the Emergency Department was mixed across the region. 

o Many people knew about other services but were not confident they would meet their 

needs. 

o For some communities the hospital is easier to get to than alternatives.  

• Models of care for the future need to be simple and easy to understand. 

o Urgent and emergency care provision is currently too disjointed and confusing. 

o People told us they want to ‘do the right thing’ and use the most appropriate service but 

they find the NHS confusing and don’t always know where they should go for help, 

particularly in an urgent or emergency situation.  

o If people do not know where to go or have difficulty accessing other services, they 

default to the Emergency Department because they know it is ‘always open’ and they 

will be able to get help there. 

• There is an opportunity to tackle some of the challenges faced by providing direct access to the 

services people need (bypassing the Emergency Department) if services are better coordinated 

‘behind the scenes’. 

o Many people in our communities already use NHS 111 (or NEL Single Point of Access) 

and would welcome improvements to the treatment options available via 111. 

• People face a lot of existing barriers that make accessing care difficult. These sometimes 

include travel and transport challenges but can be impacted by a much wider range of factors.  

o Throughout our engagement people told us that travel and accessibility issues are not 

all about distance. Simple changes like better signage, improved communication and 

more accessible parking spaces could significantly improve their experience of coming 

to hospital.  

The proposals have been designed to improve performance on waiting times and help to ensure more 

people are seen and treated more quickly. They have been designed to address key workforce concerns 

– raised by patients and staff – that staff do not have as much time as they would like to spend with 

patients as they are spread very thinly across multiple services. The proposed pathway changes (see 

sections 5.2 and 5.3) have been designed to make services more accessible, less disjointed and 

ultimately easier to navigate so people get the right care, first time, every time.  

 

The engagement work undertaken has shaped the overall vision for urgent and emergency care 

services, paediatric services and the proposed models of care for the future.  

Our proposals have been designed and evaluated based upon what patients, staff, carers, families 

and other stakeholders have told us is most important to them.  

Page 208



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

151 
  

6.3 The proposed model of care 

To improve the quality and safety of services and make sure they are sustainable into the future, the 

proposal recommends that some more complex medical, urgent and emergency care and paediatric 

(children’s) services at our hospitals in Northern Lincolnshire (Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby 

and Scunthorpe General Hospital) should be brought together and in future be delivered from just one 

site.  

The proposed services would be brought together at one hospital:  

• Trauma Unit – for people with injuries requiring specialist care (typically brought by 

ambulance) and who might need an operation or observation by a trauma team.  

• Emergency surgery (overnight) – for people who need an operation in the middle of the night 

or who need to stay in hospital overnight and be looked after by teams with surgical expertise.  

• Some medical specialities (inpatient) – for people who need a longer stay in hospital (more 

than 3 days) and to be looked after by a specialist team for their heart, lung or stomach 

condition.  

• Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care – for children and young people who need to stay in 

hospital for more than 24 hours. 

The proposal recommends that urgent and emergency care for most patients would continue to be 

provided at both Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby and Scunthorpe General Hospital. 

The following services would continue to be provided at both hospitals: 

• Emergency Department (A&E), assessment unit and short stay (up to 3 days) 

• Emergency surgery (during the day) 

• Overnight (inpatient) care for elderly and general medical patients (for stays longer than 3 

days) 

• Paediatric (children’s) Assessment Unit (up to 24 hours) 

• Maternity and neonatal care 

• Critical care and anaesthetics 

• Planned care services, including surgery, diagnostics and outpatient services (some of which 

may be provided in a community location e.g., GP surgery or Community Diagnostic Centre) 

Services at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital (GDH) 

would also continue as is. 

 

6.3.1.1 Proposed changes – trauma and emergency surgery 

Our staff are spread too thinly across hospital sites, with relatively small services provided from a 

number of different hospitals; this means that we are not always able to meet clinical standards set 

nationally and that jobs for our staff are tougher than in other parts of the country. We are duplicating 

24/7 on-call teams across sites for small volumes of patients and we are unable to provide 7-day 

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally. 

Page 209



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

152 
  

consultant reviews, meaning our patients spend longer in hospital to get the same care and treatment 

than in many other parts of the country.  

 

The proposed changes will make better use of our skilled workforce, enable us to deliver on key clinical 

standards and help to improve staff recruitment and retention by offering more attractive jobs and 

innovative ways of working.  The proposed changes are summarised in the table below. 

Service Current 

situation 

Proposed change What would be different 

Trauma Major Trauma 
Centre (adults) 
at Hull Royal 
Infirmary 
and Trauma 
Units located in 
both Grimsby 
and Scunthorpe 
Hospitals. 

Trauma services would be 
provided at one hospital, with 
Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI) 
remaining as the regional 
Major Trauma Centre (MTC). 

Patients would be taken by 
ambulance directly to one of 
these hospitals based on their 
clinical needs.  

Bringing trauma services together 
would provide access to more 
specialty skills 24/7 and allow for 
faster assessment and treatment, 
reducing the pressure on the 
Emergency Department and reducing 
the wait to be seen.  

It is estimated this change may 
impact c.1.7 patients per day. 

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced though improved 
ambulance transfer protocol and 
advice and guidance for crews prior to 
conveyance. 

Surgery Emergency 
Surgery is 
currently 
provided from 
both Grimsby 
and Scunthorpe 
Hospitals (and 
Hull Royal 
Infirmary).  

Workforce 
challenges 
impact on 
surgical teams 
across the 
Humber.  

24/7 emergency surgery and 
acute surgical admissions 
(more than 24 hours) would be 
consolidated at Grimsby 
Hospital.  

Emergency surgery that is 
appropriate to be dealt with as 
a day case would also be 
provided at Scunthorpe 
Hospital. 

Bringing emergency surgery with 24/7 
teams including surgeons, theatre 
teams and nursing staff together at 
one hospital will reduce out of hours 
on-call and support the future 
sustainability of our workforce. 

Modelling suggests this could impact 
c.6.7 patients per day.  

A proportion of these patients could 
be seen and treated on a day case 
basis (e.g., fractured hip pathway) 
and therefore the daily impact is 
expected to reduce as surgical 
pathways and protocols change in line 
with the model of care. 

 

Table 6.1 Summary of proposed change (surgery and trauma) 

The number of emergency operations undertaken overnight at Grimsby (172/year) and Scunthorpe 

(196/year) combined equates to around one patient per night yet both have fully-staffed 24/7 on-

call rotas for overnight surgery. 

Page 210



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

153 
  

What this would mean for patients who experience trauma or require emergency surgery across the 

Humber: 

• Trauma services would continue to be provided across the Humber and North Yorkshire through 

a Major Trauma Network with Hull Royal Infirmary as the Major Trauma Centre, proving care for 

those with severe injuries (sustained anywhere across the region). 

• In addition, there would continue to be a Trauma Unit provided at Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW), caring for less serious injuries and stabilising any seriously injured 

patients before transferring them to the Major Trauma Centre (MTC). 

• Ambulances would take patients requiring care from a trauma service directly to the Trauma 

Unit or MTC depending on level of severity of injury, location of accident and clinical need 

with clear pathway direction. 

• Patients who arrive at Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) themselves (walk-ins) who require the 

services provided within a Trauma Unit would be transferred to DPoW. 

• Patients requiring surgery in an emergency would continue to be treated at any of the three 

hospital sites and patients would go to their nearest hospital. 

• Out of hours surgery would be provided at DPoW and HRI only, meaning patients who need 

surgery out of hours or need to be looked after overnight on a surgical ward would transfer 

from SGH to DPoW. 

 

 

Case Study – Fall from a ladder (Trauma Unit) 

Jay lives in Brigg. Jay is cleaning the gutters on their garage and falls from the top of the ladder.  

Their neighbour calls for an ambulance because Jay is quite badly hurt. Jay is conscious and does not 

have a serious head injury, but the paramedic thinks they may have broken several bones.  

The paramedic does a thorough assessment of Jay’s condition and follows triage protocols to take 

Jay to the nearest Trauma Unit, which under the proposed changes would be at Diana Princess of 

Wales Hospital in Grimsby. The paramedic gives Jay fluids and pain relief en route. When they arrive 

at the hospital, Jay is taken directly to the Emergency Department to be treated by a dedicated team 

of trauma specialists who would be available 24/7 to provide the level of care Jay needs. 

Case Study – Broken Hip (Emergency surgery) 

Geoff is 82 and lives near Scunthorpe. Geoff has fallen at home and broken his hip.  

According to national guidance, patients like Geoff should have their operation within 36 hours. This 

target is not always being met in all our hospitals and as a result some older, frail residents like Geoff 

are waiting longer than they should to have their operation.  

Under the proposed changes, Geoff would not have to be transferred to Grimsby for his surgery, 

instead he could still have his operation during the day at Scunthorpe Hospital and stay overnight on 

the ward for frail or elderly patients both before and after the operation.  

Geoff would be looked after by ortho-geriatricians (specialist doctors who look after frail or elderly 

people with bone and joint problems) and therapists who would work with Geoff’s family, social 

services and voluntary organisations to help get Geoff home from hospital as soon as possible. 

Page 211



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

154 
  

6.3.1.2 Proposed changes – urgent care and medical specialties 

Our services are seeing increasing demand for A&E, ambulances and urgent treatment services and 

continuing to manage the elective backlog created by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our services do not 

deliver the NHS Constitutional Standards or performance standards, particularly in relation to waiting 

times and patient access. Too many patients are waiting too long to be seen and treated for both urgent 

and emergency care needs and for planned care and treatment. 

 

The proposed changes will help to ensure more people are seen and treated quickly and improve 

performance against waiting time, access and clinical standards.  The proposed changes are summarised 

in the table below. 

Service Current situation Proposed change What would be different 

Urgent 
Care 

High volumes of 
patients 
attending 
Emergency 
Departments for 
urgent care 
needs.  

Poor 
performance on 
A&E waiting 
times  

Co-located Urgent Care 
Services within the Emergency 
Departments (ED) would be 
expanded and improved to 
assess and treat patients with 
minor illnesses of injuries, 
enabling them to be streamed 
away from ED and treated 
appropriately within and 
Urgent Care pathway. 

Nearly 200 people a day who attend 
our Emergency Departments (at 
Scunthorpe and Grimsby hospitals) 
could be seen and treated more 
quickly and pressure would be 
reduced on services for patients with 
the most serious or life-threatening 
needs. 

Specialty 
Medicine 

Speciality 
inpatient services 
currently 
provided from 
both Grimsby and 
Scunthorpe 
Hospitals. 

Current services 
provide senior 
review for 
patients approx. 
3-4 days a week 
only, leading to 
longer length of 
stay. Current 
services do not 
meet clinical 
standards. 

Inpatient gastroenterology, 
cardiology and respiratory 
services for patients who need:  

• a higher level of 
speciality care, or  

• to stay in hospital for 
more than 72 hours  

would be provided at Diana 
Princess of Wales Hospital, 
Grimsby (DPoW).  

Care would be provided at 
Scunthorpe with specialist in-
reach into the assessment, 
short stay wards and general 
medical/care of the elderly 
inpatient admissions. 

We would be able to provide 
dedicated 7-day per week care from 
specialists in gastroenterology, 
cardiology and respiratory medicine, 
improving the quality of patient 
experience, reducing length of stay 
and supporting patients to go home 
more quickly. 

It is estimated that the number of 
patients requiring transfer for 
specialist care would be c.2.9 per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
provision of specialist in-reach, 
enabling more patients to be cared 
for by a General Medical Physician or 
Geriatrician on site. 

Table 6.2 Summary of proposed changes (medicine) 

Last month (May 2023), only two thirds of patients were seen and treated within 4 hours in our 

Emergency Departments (68.3% in NLaG, 62.2% in HUTH) and more than 18 people a day waited for 

over 12 hours. 

Page 212



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

155 
  

What this would mean for patients across the Humber is: 

• Patients with minor injuries or illnesses could be seen and treated more quickly in a co-located 

Urgent Care Service (UCS) at their local hospital.  

• Patients who do not require specialist medical input can be treated locally at their nearest 

hospital. Specialist in-reach would be provided into the assessment, short stay wards and 

general medical/care of the elderly inpatient wards to enable as many patients as possible to 

stay in their local hospital. 

• Patients who require additional clinical input from specialist teams would be transferred to 

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW). Where patients are brought by ambulance, 

they will be taken directly to DPoW (or Hull Royal) if it is identified they will require ongoing 

specialist care.  

 

6.3.1.3 Proposed changes – paediatrics 

The needs of our population are changing, and our models of care are outdated. High levels of 

deprivation, increased risk factors in pregnancy and other environmental factors mean that more 

children are living with complex health and care needs, contributing to an increased complexity of need 

that must be met in a different way. Our current models of care focus on hospital first. We can provide 

much better care if we change how we work and support more people to stay well at home and access 

the care and treatment they need at home or in their local community. 

 

The proposed changes will enable us to deliver more responsive care in the community, make better use 

of our skilled workforce and improve the training offer for current and potential future staff.  The 

proposed changes are summarised in the table below. 

Case Study – Minor heart attack (some medical specialties) 

Alexis arrives at Scunthorpe Hospital on a Friday afternoon having suffered a minor heart attack.  

She needs a procedure called angiography, followed by an intervention. National guidance says this 

should happen within 72 hours. The way services are organised today means that Alexis will wait on 

the ward until Monday morning to be seen by a Cardiologist, when a decision will be made for 

further investigations and a referral made to the cardiology lab. She will then have a few further days 

of waiting to have the procedure.  

Under the proposed changes, Alexis would be diagnosed in the Emergency Department at 

Scunthorpe then transferred via a dedicated service to the Cardiology ward at Grimsby to be seen by 

a Cardiologist on site on the same day. She will have her procedure within the required timeframe 

because consultant-led care would be provided 7 days a week on that site. Alexis would be treated 

more quickly and then be able to go back home, hopefully within 24 hours of the procedure. 

The number of children living in poverty is significantly higher in the Humber than in England as a 

whole. 1 in 3 children in Hull (30.7%), 1 in 4 children in North East Lincolnshire (24.8%) and 1 in 5 

children in North Lincolnshire (20.8%) live in poverty. This impacts on children’s health and wellbeing 

and their future health and life chances. 

Page 213



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

156 
  

Service Current 

situation 

Proposed change What would be different 

Paediatrics Paediatric 
inpatient 
services 
currently 
provided at 
both Grimsby 
and Scunthorpe 
Hospitals. 

Inpatient services for children 
and young people who need 
to stay in hospital more than 
24 hours would be provided at 
one hospital. 

Paediatric Assessment Units 
would continue to be provided 
at both DPoW and Scunthorpe, 
providing 24/7 assessment and 
care for up to 24 hours. 

Children who require 
admission post-24 hours would 
be transferred for ongoing care 
supported by a dedicated team 
to ensure safe transfers. 

The consolidation of Paediatric 
inpatient services would improve 
training and development 
opportunities and support the future 
sustainability of the workforce.  

The modelling estimates that this may 
impact c.2.6 patients per day.  

This could be mitigated and 
potentially reduced through the 
implementation of the Hospital at 
Home model of care for paediatric 
cases which has been seen to reduce 
the need for admission and support 
earlier discharge, reducing length of 
stay. 

Table 6.3 Summary of proposed change (paediatrics) 

What this would mean for children and young people across the Humber region: 

• Children and young people with urgent or emergency care needs would continue to be seen 

and treated at the Urgent Care Service, Emergency Department and/or Paediatric Assessment 

Unit at any of the three hospital sites.  

o Development of Urgent Care Services within the Emergency Departments (ED) and 

improved assessment pathways will support more children and young people to be 

seen and treated more quickly. 

• Children and young people who can be assessed, treated and discharged within 24 hours 

would be treated in the Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU) at their nearest hospital. 

• Children and young people at Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) who are acutely ill and/or 

require additional clinical input from specialist teams would be transferred and admitted for 

treatment at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW). 

 

  

Case Study – Asthma attack (paediatric inpatient care) 

Ellie-Mae is 6 years old and has an asthma attack at home one afternoon.  

Her dad brings her to the Emergency Department (A&E) at Scunthorpe Hospital. The specialist team 

in the Paediatric Assessment Unit look after Ellie-Mae and give her nebulisers or other treatments to 

help bring her asthma under control.  

In most cases, this would be sufficient for her to go home within a matter of hours. If her condition 

was so bad that she needed to stay in hospital for a few days, she would be taken by ambulance to 

Grimsby for further treatment. Depending on how quickly Ellie-Mae is improving it might be possible 

for her to go home and be looked after by her dad and the Hospital at Home nurses instead. 

Page 214



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

157 
  

6.4 Benefits and impacts 

 

6.4.1 Overview 

The proposed model of care focuses on providing specialist services from dedicated skilled workforce 

operating from fully equipped facilities on one hospital site for Northern Lincolnshire, reducing 

duplication and helping to address the significant workforce and performance challenges described 

within the case for change.176   

The consolidation of specialty inpatient beds ensures patients with more complex needs can access the 

specialist care they need from teams of highly skilled professionals who are well-supported and have 

increased opportunities to develop their skills and competencies. Within the proposed model of care, 

this is supported by an in-reach model covering Scunthorpe Hospital 7 days a week for emergency 

speciality needs. 

The consolidation of paediatric inpatient beds will ensure children and young people can access the 

specialist care they need from teams of highly skilled professionals who are well-supported and have 

increased opportunities to develop their skills and competencies. The proposed model of care will 

support delivery of improved training and development and open up wider opportunities for our teams 

to develop their skills and expertise in treating patients with more complex needs.  

Effective assessment and same day emergency care services (for both adults and children) will continue 

to be developed and improved to ensure as many patients as possible can be assessed, treated and 

discharged locally, within 72 hours of arrival at hospital (24 hours for children).  In addition, General 

Medical and Care of the Elderly inpatient services would continue to be delivered in Scunthorpe Hospital 

(as well as DPoW and HRI). This reduces the need to transfer patients from SGH to DPoW, particularly 

those who are frail or elderly. 

The Hospital at Home service will continue to be developed to minimise the need to admit paediatric 

patients after the initial assessment period, enabling more children to be cared for at home in their own 

beds with support from specialist teams. 

Working closely with the ambulance services, severely ill or injured patients would be directed at source 

to HRI or DPoW depending on clinical need and distance, ensuring patients are seen in the right place at 

the right time, reducing the need for secondary transfers from Scunthorpe.   

 
176 See section 2.4 for further details. 

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

Some patients and some staff would be impacted by longer travel times. The travel impacts have 

all been mapped and a transport action plan is in development to mitigate against these impacts.  

Page 215



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

158 
  

6.4.2 Staffing Models 

In developing the proposals, engagement with staff and clinical teams has ensured there are robust 

workforce and staffing assumptions behind each of the models of care and proposed changes. 

 

6.4.2.1 Urgent and Emergency Care 

A correctly configured and resourced workforce is critical to pathway redesign and delivering the 

proposed model of care. We need to take a number of actions to stabilise services and deliver high 

quality care in the future. This includes developing the staff, including considering General Medical 

Council (GMC) Certificate or Eligibility for Specialist Registration (CESR) pathways, supporting 

unregistered staff into registered roles and looking beyond the acute workforce to find solutions.  

To do this we aim to create a future urgent and emergency care workforce model which:  

• is ‘Senior Decisionmaker-led, Team delivered’  

• delivers timely and safe urgent and emergency care through the introduction of new roles, 

developed system partnerships and shared resources 

• strengthens the training and educational offer to all of our clinical workforce 

• embraces new talent pipelines, new roles and ways of working to improve staff recruitment and 

retention 

To deliver the future workforce we require, a comprehensive workforce plan has been developed as 

part of the programme to underpin the proposed new models of care.177  There are a number of 

potential new roles that can support the delivery of these models of care, which are summarised in the 

diagram and set out in more detail below.  

Out of 

Hospital Care 

Urgent Care 

Service 

Emergency 

Department 

Critical Care 

Services 

Acute 

Inpatient 

Wards 

Out of 

Hospital Care 

    

 

 

 

 

  

Figure 6.3 Overview of new roles (UEC) 

 
177 See section 8.3.4 for further details.  

The proposed models of care seek to make best use of existing skilled staff and maximise the 

opportunities for and benefits of new roles and ways of working. This will help to ensure services 

are sustainable in the long run.  

Physician Associates/Surgical Practitioners 

Multi-disciplinary team 

(generic role) 

GP with specialist interest 

First Contact Practitioners 

Advanced Clinical Practitioners 

Acute Care 

Navigator 

Social Services Liaison 

Advanced HCA 

Page 216



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

159 
  

6.4.2.1.1 Emergency Department and Assessment staffing model 

The proposed Emergency Department service on all three sites will operate in line with all the Royal 

College standards, delivered by a Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) led by Senior decision makers.  

• Speciality medical staff working alongside doctors in training, provide medical expertise within 

the Emergency Department. 

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners (ACP) and First Contact Practitioners (e.g., extended scope 

physiotherapists) based at the front door to immediately treat appropriate patients referred via 

triage. In turn this enables the more appropriate use of medical workforce for more acutely 

unwell patients. 

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners (ACP) with ‘injury competence’ and the ability to prescribe to 

support specialty doctor rotas, helping to address shortages and build resilience within teams. 

These could be rotational post operating between the Urgent Care Service and Emergency 

Department to build competence.  

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners (ACP) with ‘acute medical competence’ within the Same Day 

Emergency Care service would rotate into community frailty teams. Cumulatively these 

rotations will build networked teams, aid staff resilience and business continuity through 

flexible teams. 

• Rotational Paramedics working across the Urgent Care Service, Emergency Department and 

ambulance services. These rotational posts develop competencies and support with the delivery 

of see and hear and treat, reducing the overall conveyance rates to hospital.   

• Physician Associates (PA) support Doctors in training rotas to release time for Foundation Year 1 

and Year 2 doctors to receive an improved training experience, aiding future recruitment and 

retention of emergency medicine trained medical staff and, in their role, provide continuity of 

care for inpatients.  

The remaining Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) would comprise of a complement of reporting 

Radiographer (Diagnostic), Sonographer, Operating Departmental Practitioners (within resuscitation 

services) and multi-skilled clinical support workers trained in unregistered competencies such a 

phlebotomy.  Additional digital, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and administration support will be considered 

for the department to relieve medical staff and ACPs from the need to divert time away from direct 

clinical activity. 

The Emergency Department staffing model has also been designed with flexibility to enable partnerships 

with GP practices and primary care networks to be developed over time, leading to additional roles and 

benefits such as: 

• GPs with Enhanced Role (GPWER) to work across primary care and acute care settings – the 

specialist knowledge they would develop would be used within their practice and primary care 

networks to avoid unnecessary urgent and emergency care referrals and helps staffing Urgent 

and Emergency Care roles in hospitals. 

• Seek support from the Yorkshire and Humber Deanery to increase GP Vocational Training 

Scheme numbers within the North and North East Lincolnshire, Hull and East Riding urgent, 

emergency care and frailty services (both in hospital and in the community). 

• GPs, who wish to take flexible retirement and continue to practice post-retirement could be 

offered opportunities within our Urgent Care Service. 

Page 217



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

160 
  

6.4.2.1.2 Acute Inpatient Wards staffing model 

Acute inpatient wards will continue to observe Royal College guidance on Safe Medical Staffing178 and 

the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) staffing for Adult Inpatient Ward 

standards.179 Acute inpatient wards would be supported by the full range of medical staff, registered 

and unregistered nurses in line with Safer Nursing Care Tool (SNCT) guidance.180 Additionally Allied 

Health Professional, Physicians Associates, Advanced Care Practitioners, and Therapists will continue to 

advise on rehabilitation plans to support the safe and timely discharge of patients.  

In the model, discharges would be supported by: 

• Physician Associates for continuity of care 

• Acute Care Navigator and Social Services Liaison posts; liaison between these posts would be 

critical in ensuring the timely and coordinated discharge of patients. 

• Community and Social Care Nursing roles operating within acute care alongside Acute Care 

Navigators and the discharge teams to ensure community nursing and social care support 

packages are proactively in place to support the safe and timely discharge of patients to aid 

patient flow and reduce unnecessary long stays in hospitals for patients.  

• Voluntary Sector partnerships to aid patient transport solutions and provide patients with 

wraparound support, such as the provision of food shopping, prescription collection and the 

support of other domestic requirements. 

Most medical teams would be based at the DPoW site, providing in-reach into Scunthorpe Hospital with 

the option of rotational posts covering both sites. This approach will facilitate daily senior decision 

making, continuity of care for patients and provide continuation of training places across both hospitals, 

fostering a ‘one-team’ culture.  Nursing teams will largely be site-based but with career development 

opportunities available across the system.   

Further detailed work will be undertaken at the decision-making business case stage to firm up the 

specific workforce models and rota plans for each element of the proposed pathway changes and 

reconfiguration proposals.  

6.4.2.2 Staffing Models – Paediatrics 

The staffing model for the proposed model of care for Paediatric services has been developed 

considering the requirements set out in the National Quality Board guidance on Safe Staffing181 and 

Facing the Future182 standards to deliver their services. 24/7 consultant cover will continue to be 

required at both Northern Lincolnshire hospitals to provide leadership to the Paediatric Assessment Unit 

team and support maternity and neonatal services, as required. Consolidation of paediatric inpatient 

services to Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) helps to support improved development 

and training for the specialist paediatric workforce and improve the long-term sustainability of 

paediatric services.  Developing the Hospital at Home services creates opportunities for specialist 

 
178 The Royal College of Physicians (RCP) (July 2018) Guidance on safe medical staffing RCP Guidance 
179 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2014) Safe staffing for nursing in adult inpatient wards 
in acute hospitals NICE Guidance 
180 The Shelford Group (2023) Safer Nursing Care Tool SNCT Guidance 
181 NHS England (2016) National Quality Board guidance on Safe Staffing Safe Staffing Guidance 
182 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2015) Facing the Future: Standards for Acute General Paediatric 
Services Facing the Future 

Page 218

https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/10367/download
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/sg1
https://shelfordgroup.org/safer-nursing-care-tool/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/national-quality-board-guidance-on-safe-staffing/
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/facing_the_future_standards_for_acute_general_paediatric_services.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

161 
  

paediatric nurses and other highly-skilled professionals to work more flexibly supporting the PAU and 

Hospital at Home elements of the pathway in all localities.  

A range of potential new roles and new ways of working for the paediatric workforce are being 

developed through ongoing engagement to support the implementation of the proposed new models of 

care. These include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Rotational induction programme for all new starters, which enables staff to rotate through all 

service locations and teams. This would help the workforce to develop end-to-end awareness of 

the services activities as well as develop effective staff networks. 

• A dedicated apprenticeship programme across all current unregistered nursing and maternity 

roles (e.g., Paediatric Healthcare Support Workers) to allow those with capability and motivation 

to progress from unregistered to registered roles. 

• Supernumerary ‘retire and return’ mentorship/educational supervisor posts to support newly 

appointed staff, staff undertaking apprenticeships and university students across paediatric 

services. Joint appointments where retiring staff could return to provide education support, 

advice and guidance. 

• Young Person’s Nurse specialist role – dedicated to providing clinical care, advice and support 

to young people to support the transition from paediatric to adult services (c.16-25 years). This 

role would be especially effective in supporting young people with complex long-term 

conditions or other underlying reasons for health inequalities (e.g., looked after children) as 

trust in relationships can be key to young people engaging in the care plan. 

New ways of working and innovative new roles working across sectors and disciplines will continue to be 

developed following decision-making regarding the future model of care to ensure services make best 

use of the skills within the current workforce and continue to develop a diverse and multiskilled 

workforce for the future. 

6.4.2.3 Workforce Impact 

Extensive workforce modelling was undertaken to determine the impact of each of the potential models 

of care on the workforce challenges faced and was a key part of the evaluation process.183 Workforce 

modelling has incorporated the benefits of new roles and ways of working that have been developed 

and has also ensured compliance with key clinical standards, many of which are not currently being met.  

Implementing the proposed model of care represents a reduction of approximately 130 WTE posts 

within the hospitals against the ‘do nothing’ (BAU) position.184 This would help to address the significant 

vacancies across the system and also support reduction in agency and locum spend.185    

The proposed model of care will improve the quality of specialist care and ensure everyone across the 

Humber can access the most highly skilled professionals when they need them.  By concentrating the 

workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist services will have 

more opportunities to develop their skills, treating a higher number of complex cases and a wider 

variety of experiences.  They will be able to work in larger teams, which improves resilience and enables 

 
183 See appendix 10.19 for outputs. 
184 Further detailed workforce modelling will be undertaken as plans for implementation are developed following 
consultation and decision-making on the way forward.  
185 Workforce modelling outputs (revised, Sept 2023) – see appendix D  
NOTE: this is an aggregate number which includes significant investment in some cohorts of staff (e.g., ACPs and 
maternity theatre staff) and reductions in other areas (e.g., vacant consultant and junior doctor posts). 

Page 219



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

162 
  

us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to current and future workforce. This will 

create more sustainable services in the longer term.   

Consolidating longer-stay medical specialty inpatient beds, trauma and acute surgery inpatients at one 

hospital for Northern Lincolnshire will enable nursing teams to develop a higher level of expertise in 

particular specialties, building confidence and skills in teams who are working in a more specialist way.  

Developing centres of excellence for acute medical specialties will also build confidence in patients, 

many of whom have told us through our engagement that they would prefer to be treated where the 

specialists are and have full specialist team wrapped around them. 

 

6.4.3 Digital requirements 

Integration of systems and improvements to our digital infrastructure are critical enablers of change and 

will form part of any/all future models of care. Digital enablers will be aligned across all the future 

models of care to ensure investment in new digital solutions is focused on the top system priorities to 

maximise the benefit to patients, staff and partners.  

The key digital developments that will support the proposed model of care are highlighted in the table 

below.  Working with digital leads across the Humber and North Yorkshire, the digital enabling projects 

have been mapped to the existing ICS digital portfolio, which has been prioritised and categorised 

according to the level of confidence that funding is available or will be available to implement.  

Digital Enabler Intended Output Status 

Yorkshire and 

Humber Care Record 

To provide access to records for all urgent and 

emergency care disposition points to all clinical 

contacts along the pathway who require the 

information – at the point of care. 

High priority 
programme 
High degree of cost 
confidence 

Any to Any booking To allow patients to be referred into the relevant 
service regardless of their entry point, therefore 
reducing demand on the care system and ensuring 
consistent access to the right service to 
appropriately manage the clinical needs of patients.  

High priority 
programme 
Medium cost 
confidence 

Remote monitoring Establishing technology-enabled remote monitoring 
at a regional level across the care sector, mental 
health, long term conditions management and 
virtual wards. 

High priority 
programme 
Medium cost 
confidence 

Virtual wards Develop and implement of a standardised Virtual 
Wards solution with integration to the data 
warehouse and reporting through development of a 
reporting dashboard.  

High priority 
programme 
Medium cost 
confidence 

The proposed model of care would require the equivalent of around 130 (WTE) fewer members of 

staff than our projected BAU position, helping to significantly address the vacancy challenges across 

our hospitals and make better use of the valuable and highly skilled workforce we do have.  

The proposed new model of care would also enable us to provide better training and development 

opportunities and make future roles more attractive helping to secure the workforce we need for 

the future.  

Page 220



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

163 
  

Clinical messaging To simplify teamwork for care workers, connecting 
them with relevant colleagues and patient 
information required to make decisions, at the point 
of care.  
Electronic message from streaming source 
(Ambulance/primary care/UTC) => reduction in ED 
attendances. 

High priority 
programme 
Medium cost 
confidence 

Digital Red Book The digital red book programme is focused on 
transferring the current physical maternity red book 
to digital platform, accessed virtually by care 
providers and citizens. It will cross boundaries 
between maternity care and into Health Visiting, 
Safeguarding Children and other children’s social 
care services.  

Low priority 
Medium cost 
confidence 

Table 6.4 Summary of digital enablers186 

Further detailed work will be undertaken at the decision-making business case stage to firm up the 

specific deliverables for each element of the proposed pathway changes and reconfiguration proposals.  

 

6.4.4 Estates and capital investment 

The new-build Emergency Departments at Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and DPoW will deliver 

improved ED facilities and fully functional integrated acute assessment areas in 2023. This will provide a 

significant increase in capacity and enable the integration of assessment services supporting increased 

same day emergency care and delivery of the new pathways described.  The new builds also include 

capacity for a co-located urgent care service to deliver improvements in waiting times and outcomes for 

patients.  The new builds will be fit for purpose to support the proposed model of care, including the 

collocation of trauma services at DPoW.  

To deliver the other proposed service changes, investment would be required to either refurbish, 

relocate or expand clinical areas at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) to accommodate 

additional patients for the consolidated services. 

Additional investment would be required to deliver: 

• an increase in non-elective inpatient beds  

• an increase in critical care capacity  

• an increase in the capacity of the paediatric inpatient ward  

Critical Care at DPoW is currently running from a temporary location with a reduced number of beds.  

Investing in additional critical care capacity at DPoW would support the opportunity to create a co-

located critical care service which will be fit for purpose and meet the required standards. The additional 

investments would also support delivery of better clinical adjacencies by relocating adult short stay and 

creating space for consolidated inpatient services. Family accommodation would also be expanded to 

 
186 Humber and North Yorkshire (2022) Digital Transformation Investment Plan (DTIP) Portfolio Overview and 
Humber and North Yorkshire (2023) Digital Strategy Digital Strategy. 

The proposed model of care will be supported by enabling digital developments, aligned to the wider 

system strategy for digital transformation.  

Page 221

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/HNY-Digital-Strategy-v3.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

164 
  

facilitate implementation of the proposed changes, however, this can be done using existing facilities 

and assets and therefore there is no requirement for additional capital investment.  

The anticipated capital investment required to deliver the proposed changes is £16 million, which 

could be phased over a three-year period.187 

NHS England require any service change to be financially affordable from within existing financial 

resource.  Initial work demonstrated that this level of investment is affordable from within existing 

capital resource and this has been supported through the NHS England Gateway assurance process.  The 

proposed investments could be accommodated within the Trust’s internal capital programme over a 

period of three years.188   

 

6.4.5 Financial analysis 

The Humber Acute Services programme was clinically driven, to ensure high quality, sustainable services 

can be provided into the future. The programme was not initiated in order to save money, however, it is 

important to recognise the challenging financial context that the health and care system across the 

Humber and North Yorkshire is operating within and seek to support system-wide efforts to address the 

financial challenge.   

Financial modelling was undertaken to determine the revenue impact of the potential models of care. 

This was undertaken as the final stage of the evaluation process and was reviewed as part of the NHS 

England Assurance process prior to launching public consultation. The financial modelling undertaken to 

support the PCBC focussed on staffing requirements for each of the models, linked to activity and 

growth assumptions since pay is generally 70% of the cost base.  

Running duplicate services across multiple sites presents significant workforce challenges and can result 

in a poor employee experience for some of the Trust’s medical and non-medical teams. This compounds 

an already challenging recruitment environment and leads to difficulty in recruiting the right substantive 

workforce to provide high quality safe care.  

The current service configuration and the requirement for consultants and other specialist staff to cover 

all hospital sites can, at times, limit their ability to provide senior patient reviews. In addition, services 

are unable to achieve Royal College guidance standards in many areas. Challenges are similar for the 

non-medical workforce, with senior expertise split across a number of sites.  In addition, the learning 

environment and provision of workforce development is challenging. The current configuration 

continues to create cost pressures for premium rate working, poor economies of scale and duplication 

of rotas as well as exacerbating the Trust’s ability to resource ‘hard to fill’ posts. 

The proposed new model of care would utilise the current workforce in more efficient and effective 

ways and result in an overall reduced staffing requirement of approximately 130 WTE against the 

business as usual (BAU) scenario. The workforce models have been designed to foster a more attractive 

work environment, with reduced reliance on agency and premium staffing.   

 
187 Financial modelling outputs (revised, Sept 2023) – see appendix D.  
188 See section 10.4.3.4 for further details.  

The prosed changes – and estates changes that would be required – can be delivered within existing 

financial resources, enabling many of the identified benefits to be realised quickly. 

Page 222



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

165 
  

The key drivers for revenue savings include: 

• Activity and pathway driven changes in workforce e.g., improved pathways of care leading to 

faster diagnosis and treatment and reduced length of stay, bed reduction, improved rota 

management and removal of duplication, reducing reliance on high-cost temporary staffing. 

• Productivity driven reductions in workforce, leading to fewer WTE to deliver a given quantity of 

activity e.g., use of technology and improved processes. 

• Reduction in the cost per WTE of the future establishment e.g., ensuring that staff spend a 

greater proportion of their time conducting tasks appropriate to their grade through role re-

design and the introduction of more advanced practitioner roles.  

• More attractive place to work, innovative and therefore improving recruitment and retention, 

reducing agency use. 

The gross impact on the revenue position of the proposed model of care a £7.5 million reduction 

against the business as usual (BAU) projection. 

 

6.4.6 Travel and displacement impact 

The proposed model of care seeks to address the key challenges identified in the case for change, 

improve outcomes for patients whilst minimising the impact on the local population across North and 

North East Lincolnshire.  A number of alternative models of care and variations were considered and 

rejected due to the larger impact on the number of patients who would have to travel further or safety 

implications for the model of delivery.   

The changes proposed would result in some patients, service-users and staff, as well as visitors, carers 

and loved ones, having to travel to a different hospital that the one they currently use, which in many 

cases would result in an increased travel time.  

The table below shows the number of patients who would go to a different hospital to where they go 

currently to access care. These impacts have been modelled using postcode level data for all patients in 

the baseline year (based on distance to nearest site, not patient choice) and do not account for all the 

potential impacts of improved pathways (e.g., Hospital at Home) and changes to behaviour. These 

activity estimates are therefore considered the maximum potential impact, likely transfer numbers are 

expected to be lower in the longer term. Under the proposed model of care, these patients would be 

transferred by trained teams with the required skills and expertise to undertake inter-hospital transfers. 

 

 

The proposed model of care would reduce the ongoing revenue cost of providing hospital services 

versus BAU across Northern Lincolnshire by making better use of skilled staff and organising services 

in a more effective and efficient way.  

The proposed changes to pathways and models of care could help to eliminate some of the structural 

deficit that exists within the system and help to ensure services can be provided sustainably in the 

future.  

Page 223



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

166 
  

Summary of displacement impact 
Number of patients transferred from Scunthorpe to Grimsby in the proposed model 

Yearly 
total 

Average 
per day 

Trauma  611 1.7 

Emergency surgery (overnight) and inpatient stays 2,444 6.7 

Some medical specialties (inpatient – longer stays) 1,069 2.9 

Paediatric overnight (inpatient) care 935 2.6 

TOTAL IMPACT 5,059 13.9 

Table 6.5 Patient displacement impact189 

The changes to patient travel times are summarised in the tables below.  

Summary Travel Time Impacts 

Impact Description 
ED 

Attends 
UEC 

Admissions 
Paediatric 
inpatients 

TOTAL 

Positive impact 
Reduction in journey time by more 10 
minutes 

3 354 17 374 

Neutral impact 
Reduction in journey time by less than 
10 minutes and/or increase in journey 
time by less than 10 minutes 

52 451 75 578 

Negative impact 
(moderate) 

Increase in journey time by 10 to 30 
minutes 

333 2,244 260 2,837 

Negative impact 
(significant) 

Increase in journey time by more than 
30 minutes 

575 2,589 550 3,714 

        

Activity Not impacted or unrouteable  147,594 79,990 3,291 230,875 

Total Activity  148,557 85,628 4,193 238,378 

Table 6.6 Travel impact summary190 

The changes also have a (minimal) impact on ambulance service providers. 191  The ambulance 

modelling shows that approximately 88 additional hours per week would be required to maintain 

performance of the ambulance service with the proposed model of care. This equates to approximately 

half a dual-crewed emergency ambulance. 192  

There would be no change for 93 out of 100 people who currently attend Scunthorpe’s Emergency 

Department (A&E). Those who would have some or all of their care at a different hospital (6.75%)193 

would arrive in an ambulance or be taken by free inter-hospital transport. 

 

 
189 Activity modelling outputs (refreshed Feb 2023) see section 10.16 for detailed outputs 
190 Travel modelling outputs (October 2022) see section 10.18 for detailed outputs 
191 Full details of modelling outputs are provided in appendix section D  
192 168 hours = 1 additional ambulance 24/7 
193 5,059 people impacted out of an anticipated 74,988 ED attendances as modelled (including 5-year growth) see 
section 10.16 for detailed outputs 

Page 224



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

167 
  

6.4.7 Conclusion 

The proposed model of care retains local services at each of the three existing sites and enables the 

NHS across the Humber to continue to operate three Emergency Departments with specialist Paediatric 

Assessment Units (PAU) operating 24/7 in the three main localities: Hull, Grimsby and Scunthorpe, with 

access to urgent care services across the region. This will help to ensure sustainable services are in place 

across the Humber now and into the future.  

Consolidation of emergency surgery, specialist medical and paediatric inpatient services will help to 

improve the quality and ensure long-term safety and sustainability of inpatient care ensuring everyone 

across the Humber can access the most highly skilled professionals when they need them.  By 

concentrating the workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those delivering specialist 

services will have more opportunities to develop their skills, treating a higher number of complex cases 

and a wider variety of experiences.  They will be able to work in larger teams, which improves resilience 

and enables us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to current and future 

workforce. This will create more sustainable services in the longer term.  Providing general medical and 

care of the elderly inpatient care at both Northern Lincolnshire hospitals will minimise the requirement 

for secondary transfers. 

Consolidating specialist services will enable nursing teams to develop a higher level of expertise and gain 

more experience in supporting patients with complex needs, building confidence and skills in teams who 

are working in a more specialist way.  It will also help us to develop research, training and development 

opportunities for staff working there. Specialist nurses will be able to work across community and acute 

settings, building skills, confidence and expertise. 

Developing centres of excellence will also build confidence in patients, many of whom have told us 

through our engagement that they would prefer to be treated where the specialists are and have full 

specialist team wrapped around them. 

The proposed new pathways of care will improve performance on waiting time standards by reducing 

the number of handovers within and between services, helping to improve the flow of patients through 

the hospital, reducing ambulance handover delays and ensuring that patients do not stay in hospital any 

longer than they have to. 

By maximising opportunities for collaboration with partners across the Humber and focusing on how we 

can provide more care at home or in other out of hospital settings we will support the overall ambition 

to bring care closer to home for as many people as possible. 

Page 225



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 6 – Detailed Proposals, Benefits and Impacts 

 

168 
  

 

 

Consolidation of specialist services will help to improve the quality and ensure long-term safety 

and sustainability of inpatient care ensuring everyone across the Humber can access the most 

highly skilled professionals when they need them.   

The key benefits of the proposed model of care include: 

✓ Make the best use of skilled workforce – reduce duplication.  

✓ Ensure patients with most complex needs can access specialist care from well-supported 

teams of highly skilled professionals. 

✓ Improve training and development opportunities for staff.  

✓ Develop Centres of Excellence for specific services, building confidence in patients and staff. 

✓ Support more people to stay well, be seen and treated at or close to home.  

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

We recognise that any changes we make will have an impact on patients, carers and staff and for 

some people will mean longer journey times to access particular hospital services. Detailed impact 

analyses have been undertaken to quantify the likely impact and develop mitigations. 

The impact of the changes includes: 

✓ A maximum of 14 patients per day would be impacted by the proposed change, needing to 

travel to a different hospital site for some or all of their care. 

✓ Those who would have some or all of their care at a different hospital (approximately 6.75% 

of people attending Scunthorpe’s Emergency Department) would arrive in an ambulance or 

be taken by free inter-hospital transport. 

✓ Transfer solutions are in development to support timely and safe transfers where required. 

Page 226



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

169 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 7 

Dependencies  

Planned Care and Out of Hospital Integration 

  

Page 227



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

170 
  

7. Dependencies 

 
Summary Box 7.1 

The proposals in this business case have been designed to address challenges within acute hospital 

services. The solutions to those challenges, however, require the whole health and care system to 

work together differently. To ensure the proposed changes within urgent and emergency care and 

paediatrics can be delivered effectively, they were designed alongside plans for interdependent 

services and out of hospital enabling changes.  

The proposals were developed alongside a high-level strategy for the future of planned care across 

the Humber, due to the strong interdependencies between planned and unplanned care. The 

planned care principles seek to improve efficiency, productivity and performance, particularly in 

relation to waiting time standards and elective recovery, by protecting planned care better from 

demand pressures within urgent and emergency care services.  

Planned Care Principles 

 

The potential models of care were designed in collaboration with colleagues from across all 

sectors and are aligned to wider out of hospital and mental health strategies. Joint PMO 

arrangements are in place to ensure critical out of hospital enabling projects are in place to support 

implementation of the proposals for service change set out in this business case.  

Priority Projects Link to PCBC proposals 

Frailty Supports proposals for integrated urgent and emergency 

care – key enablers to reduce ED attendances and 

hospital admissions. 
Falls prevention 

Enhanced health in care homes 

Community ill child programme Supports proposals for paediatrics – key enabler to 

reduce ED attendances and hospital admissions and 

reduce impact of consolidation of inpatient paediatrics. 

Community diagnostic centres Supports proposals by bringing planned care closer to 

home – key enabler to reduce outpatient attendances at 

hospital sites. 

 

 

PLACE-based care wherever possible ensuring equity of access

Taking outpatient care out of the hospital delivering local care

Faster diagnosis, closer to home maximising community diagnostics

Dedicated facilities and resources protecting elective activity

Day case and elective hubs increasing productivity

Complex surgery at main site(s) reducing duplication

Page 228



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

171 
  

7.1 Planned Care 

 
Summary Box 7.2 Planned Care 

7.1.1 Background and context 

Across the Humber the NHS provides a wide range of planned (or elective) care services. Planned care 

incorporates a wide range of services and modes of delivery, from initial outpatient appointments to 

diagnostic tests and procedures to surgeries or other treatments. These services can be split into 

outpatient appointments, outpatient procedures, day case procedures and inpatient care. Elements of 

planned care services are delivered at all five of the Humber’s hospital sites, however, the specific 

configuration differs on a service-by-service basis.194 The vast majority of planned patient attendances 

to hospital are for outpatient care.  About 90% of all patient trips to hospital are for outpatient 

appointments with smaller levels of activity for day case operations.  The proportion of planned activity 

that requires an overnight stay is even smaller still (less than 2% of all planned care activity).   

 
Figure 7.1 Activity numbers by Inpatient, Daycase and Outpatients (all specialties - baseline)195 

 
194 A service schedule is provided in section 10.2, which sets out which services are provided at which hospital site. 
195 Internal trust data (June 2021).  

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

CHH HRI SGH DPoW Goole

Planned Care Activity (Humber-wide)

Procedure OP

Follow-Up OP

First OP

Day Case

Inpatient

The configuration changes proposed for public consultation encompass urgent and emergency care 

(and associated acute services) and paediatrics.  In addition, our hospitals provide a wide range of 

services on a planned basis (pre-booked appointments) and maternity and neonatal services for 

women and birthing people (which are out of scope of these proposals).  The way in which planned 

care services are currently delivered means that they are sometimes impacted by surges in demand 

for unplanned services, for example, relying on the same medical workforce and sharing facilities 

such as operating theatres, recovery areas and support services such as anaesthetics and critical care 

can lead to delays or cancellations for elective patients.  

The proposals for change in this business case have been developed alongside a high-level strategy 

for the future of planned care across the Humber, which seeks to improve efficiency, productivity 

and performance, particularly in relation to waiting time standards and elective recovery by 

protecting planned care from demand pressures within urgent and emergency care services better. 

The planned care principles developed seek to deliver more integrated care with hospital and out of 

hospital services working together to support the needs of the patient and deliver a radical reduction 

in the need for people to travel to hospital sites for tests, advice and procedures.  

Page 229



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

172 
  

Heading into the COVID-19 pandemic, many patients in the Humber area were already waiting longer 

than they should be for planned care, including outpatient appointments, tests, surgery or other 

treatments. The impact of responding to urgent and emergency care needs throughout the pandemic 

and since has worsened this position further still.  

The way in which services are currently designed, is not meeting the required standards in a system that 

is experiencing unprecedented challenges and ever-increasing demand.  Waiting lists are growing, and 

people are not being seen as quickly as they would be if services were organised differently. Operating 

theatres and other facilities sometimes get taken up with emergency cases, which means some people 

who had a planned operation booked have it cancelled and have to wait even longer. The COVID-19 

pandemic had a significant impact on planned care as appointments and operations were postponed. 

Across the Humber over 10,000 patients have been waiting more than a year for treatment, compared 

with only 9 prior to the pandemic. 

 

7.1.2 Planned care principles 

Initially the potential models of care were designed for the six specialties identified within the Case for 

Change as being particularly challenged. However, the significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 

elective care required us, as a programme, to look more broadly at all planned care activity and develop 

a strategy that could help put services on a sustainable footing for the long term.196 The work to develop 

and implement this planned care strategy is being undertaken by the Humber and North Yorkshire 

Collaborative of Acute Providers (CAP), building on the work undertaken through the Humber Acute 

Services programme.  

The reconfiguration proposals described in this business case – for urgent and emergency care and 

paediatrics – were designed alongside a set of core principles for how planned care would be delivered 

in the future.  These core concepts will underpin the system-wide planned care strategy and were 

designed in line with national strategies to deliver improvements against the current challenges.  

The process of ongoing engagement with clinicians, partners, service-users and the public helped to 

develop and define a collective vision for the future of planned care and planned diagnostic services 

across the Humber.  This includes addressing inequalities in health by putting the patient at the heart of 

decision-making, redesigning and integrating pathways of care and delivering improved outcomes and 

experiences for patients.  

 
Summary Box 7.3 Planned Care Vision 

 
196 An early evaluation of different potential models of care was undertaken and the outcomes are detailed in 
appendix 10.4, which sets out the alternative proposals that were also considered and explains the approach taken 
to planned care within this business case. 

We need to make changes to our urgent and emergency care services and provide planned care 

differently in the future so that it will not be impacted by fluctuations in urgent and emergency care 

needs and ensure a long-term sustainable model of care is in place to meet the needs of our 

population.  

Our vision is… 

to deliver more responsive, easier to access planned care and diagnostics – closer to home for 

people living across the Humber region. 

Page 230



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

173 
  

This means that: 

• People will only come to hospital if they absolutely need to and will not stay any longer than is 

absolutely necessary.  

• People will be supported to make the most of the opportunities digital can bring as it becomes 

an increasingly important feature in the delivery of care and treatment.  

A key focus of the programme has been to re-design current patient pathways to make them more 

responsive to the needs of patients and more efficient so that they can provide care safely and in a 

timely manner.  Building on the feedback gathered through our engagement, we have re-designed 

pathways of care by focusing on how to: 

• Make best use of the workforce we have to ensure staff have time to care. 

• Fully integrate services across primary, secondary and community care. 

• Provide accessible services for patients across the Humber. 

Wherever possible, planned care pathways have been designed to enable the provision of outpatient 

and routine care outside of hospital environments often with different staff groups working 

collaboratively to deliver the care. Future pathways will be supported by: 

• Multidisciplinary workforce models of care (working across sectors in new ways) 

• Harnessing technology (e.g., remote monitoring, smart scheduling) 

• Integration of information systems (improved data sharing enabling seamless care) 

• Integration of care, treatment and diagnosis within a community setting 

• Resources provided within a community setting – workforce, estates and digital technology. 

The proposed Planned Care concepts are summarised in the diagram below. 

 
Figure 7.2 Planned Care Concepts 

These proposals have been developed collaboratively with the out of hospital programme to ensure 

close alignment across system plans.  

 

PLACE-based care wherever possible ensuring equity of access

Taking outpatient care out of the hospital delivering local care

Faster diagnosis, closer to home maximising community diagnostics

Dedicated facilities and resources protecting elective activity

Day case and elective hubs increasing productivity

Complex surgery at main site(s) reducing duplication

Page 231



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

174 
  

7.1.3 Future models of care 

Developing the future shape of planned care according to these core principles will support our 

ambition to reduce the overall level of activity taking place in hospitals and help to deliver more 

responsive, easier to access care and diagnostics, closer to home, whilst also providing the highest 

quality specialist care for those who need complex or more specialist interventions.  The types of 

changes and what they might mean for patients are summarised below.  

 

Outpatient Services 

• Working with GP practices, more patients could have their initial appointments in their local 
practice and not be required to go to hospital.  

• More people will be able to talk to their clinician over the phone or via video call when they 
are not required to attend face to face. 

• More people with long-term conditions can request a follow-up appointment when needed 
rather than waiting for a set period of time between reviews. 

• Wherever possible, outpatient appointments will continue to be provided at local hospital 
sites for those patients who cannot be managed remotely or seen in their GP practice or 
other community clinic. 

Routine Diagnostics  

• More patients will be able to go straight to test before being referred to a hospital service, 
meaning they can get a result more quickly and avoid unnecessary delays in their care. 

• Increasingly, diagnostic testing will take place away from the hospital sites at Community 
Diagnostic Centres or at a mobile clinic serving more rural communities. 

Day Case Surgery/Procedures 

• Where possible, pre- and post-operative care (e.g., pre-op questionnaire, post-op wound 
check etc.) will be offered remotely or at a local centre – not necessarily the hospital where 
the operation is taking place. 

• A greater proportion of surgeries will be completed on a day case basis, enabling more people 
to be seen locally and recover at home.  

• Day case hubs will be developed, to increase efficiency and treat more people more quickly. 
Wherever possible, day case facilities will have their own theatres, recovery areas and nursing 
staff to ensure care can continue unaffected by winter pressures or pandemics and maximise 
the efficiency of those services.  

• Facilities for day case procedures will be provided locally. This does not mean that every day 
case procedure will be offered on every site, this will be dependent on plans within individual 
specialties to determine the most efficient way of organising care within that specialty.  

Inpatient Care 

• Inpatient elective care will become an increasingly small proportion of planned care. In order 
to ensure patient safety and deliver efficient and sustainable services, inpatient care may be 
consolidated onto fewer sites, particularly in smaller specialities.  

• Complicated procedures that are done infrequently may be concentrated in one centre to 
ensure the teams delivering those procedures can maintain their high level of skills and offer 
the best possible care to our populations.  Different specialisms may be concentrated at 
different hospitals across the Humber. 

Figure 7.3 Summary of pathway changes (Planned Care) 

Page 232



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

175 
  

7.1.3.1 Transforming outpatient services 

Too often people are travelling for hours to a hospital appointment that lasts a few minutes.  We know 

from our engagement with patients, carers and other stakeholders that this can be frustrating, incur a 

great deal of expense and inconvenience.  If the service was provided in a different way, we could save 

patients time, cost and stress.  We have an ambition to deliver more care closer to or at home, but this 

will not work if we try to lift and shift our existing models of care into community or primary care 

buildings or expect primary care to absorb more work without the additional workforce to support it. 

Instead, we will work together to develop new pathways for patients that make the best use of the 

workforce and assets we have – in our hospital teams, primary care networks, community and mental 

health teams, local authorities, social care and across the voluntary and community sector. We have an 

opportunity to do things differently and better.  

7.1.3.1.1 Connected Health Network approach 

The Connected Health Network model provides a blueprint for how hospital-based outpatient services 

can be turned on their head and operate in a more joined up, patient-focused way and demonstrates 

how this can be done without putting undue pressure on already stretched primary care services.  The 

Connected Health Network (CHN) model began as a pilot between cardiology and a Primary Care 

Network in North East Lincolnshire. The cardiology pilot saw the creation of a new model of care where 

primary and secondary care (GPs and hospitals) work together as one clinical network, putting the 

patient at the heart of how we provide their care, reducing multiple appointments at the hospital.  This 

model of care dispenses with the need for the GP to make a referral to a hospital, instead they work 

directly with the hospital specialist to agree what treatment can be safely delivered in primary care. This 

means that access to specialist advice is always available in providing ongoing care, and if specialist 

diagnostics are required, or the patient needs to see a specialist, it is arranged quickly and efficiently. 

By working in this way, waiting times for patients drastically reduced (typical wait time for CHN referral 

= 1 week compared with 16 weeks wait time for new outpatient appointment), the backlog of follow-up 

appointments for Meridian PCN cardiology patients was cleared within 4 months. Only 30% of patients 

required a hospital-based intervention and ‘in person’ clinical attendances were significantly reduced 

through supporting patients to make use of digital communication.  Important to its success, a digital 

maturity assessment is carried out with all patients at the outset to ensure those who need it are given 

support to use digital communications methods or provided with non-digital alternatives.  

 
 Picture 7:A Summary of benefits of Connected Health Network model 

The CHN model is currently being rolled out in cardiology across additional Primary Care Networks and is 

being considered within other specialties across the Humber.  

Page 233



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

176 
  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Long waits for first outpatient 
appointment following GP 
referral. 

This could potentially lead to 
delays in starting treatment and 
added anxiety for patients 
whilst they are waiting.  

Connected Health Network 
model of care.   

Patients are managed by 
primary and secondary care 
working together as part of one 
team.  

Reduction in journeys to 
hospital for outpatient 
appointments (75% of OP work 
can be delivered away from 
hospitals) 

Specialist input available to GPs 
at the click of a button. 

Reduced waiting time and 
better experience for patients.  

Table 7.1 Summary benefits - Connect Health Network 

7.1.3.1.2 Outpatient clinics – workforce models 

The traditional model for planned care being delivered in the community consists of a consultant-run 

outreach clinic based in a community hospital or GP practice.  This approach, however, will not alleviate 

the workforce challenges we face across our services and can lead to increases in overall cost and 

inefficiencies if services are spread even more thinly trying to cover multiple geographical areas. 

Recognising these challenges, we are looking at the problem in a different way and seeking to build a 

sustainable workforce for the future that can deliver traditional hospital-based services in communities 

in a different way.  

Collaboration and support across primary/community and secondary care will enable care to be 

delivered jointly by the GP and secondary care clinician, putting education at the core of our approach, 

redesigning the patient pathway and the roles of the professionals. This can be achieved in a number of 

ways by enhancing the skills of GPs and other health care professionals in both diagnosis and treatment 

through: 

• Outreach clinics jointly staffed by hospital consultants and other health care professionals (such 

as Advanced Care Practitioners and GPs). In this approach, benefits accrue beyond the patients 

seen in clinic, as GPs and other healthcare professionals gain confidence and experience to 

manage similar cases themselves in primary care.  

• Consultant-run email and telephone helplines that provide advice for GPs, nurses and other 

health care professionals to enable them to better diagnose and treat patients in primary care 

or make more appropriate referrals.  

• Consultant participation in multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings, which brings specialist input 

into the management of patients in the community and facilitates joint learning.  

• Consultant-run education sessions; for instance, one-to-one sessions for GP practices on topics 

of their choice, education sessions at MDT meetings and education sessions for GPs and other 

health care professionals across an area.  

• Consultants supporting staff to work in extended roles. In consultant-led intermediate care 

services, consultants can support nurses and other healthcare professionals to run clinics that 

would traditionally be staffed by doctors. 

• Rotation of GPs, nursing and AHP staff in and out hospital (including through the use of virtual 

technology) to understand services available, challenges, and opportunities provide a range of 

perspectives. 

Page 234



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

177 
  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Lack of capacity within primary 
care to undertake additional 
work. 

Insufficient workforce within 
acute teams to run outreach 
clinics in every locality. 

New roles, rotational posts and 
development of joint teams 
across primary and secondary 
care. 

Increased skills and knowledge 
for GPs, ACPs and other primary 
care staff. 

Better experience for patients 
as care professionals work 
together as part of one team.  

Table 7.2 Summary benefits - new workforce models 

7.1.3.1.3 Patient-Initiated Follow-Up (PIFU) 

A large proportion of outpatient appointments are taken up providing routine follow-up for patients 

with long-term conditions.  Under the current, traditional model of care, the patient experiences 

multiple follow-up appointments, which are often overdue and/or not at a point where the patient’s 

condition required the review.  The patient’s condition can deteriorate in the interval between 

appointments, and this can lead to emergency appointments and complex interventions being required 

that could have been avoided with more proactive support.  

 
Picture 7:B Current pathway - Planned Care 

Under an integrated pathway, with Patient-Initiated Follow-Up available, the patient would have far 
greater control over their own condition and be able to access care, support and advice when they need 
it, rather than having to wait for a specified period of time. Under this type of approach there would be 
minimal secondary care input, instead medical applications would support the patient to stay well with 
health tips and advice and direct access to specialist advice when needed.  Deteriorations in the 
condition spotted at a very early stage where minimal interventions (e.g., dietary advice) or minor 
interventions (e.g., medication changes) may be all that is required to help the patient stay well.  When 
there is requirement for clinical involvement, they have access to data about how the patient’s 
condition has changed over time to support the appropriate and timely intervention.  This model is 
associated with improved outcomes for the patient and a reduction in impact on urgent and emergency 
care. 

Page 235



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

178 
  

 
Picture 7:C Future pathway - Planned Care 

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Pressure on GP services, 
Emergency Department and 
hospital services treating 
patients whose long-term 
condition has deteriorated.  

This could potentially have been 
avoided if the condition was 
managed more proactively.  

Integrated community 
pathways for management of 
chronic conditions.  

Patient Initiated Follow-Up 
(PIFU), supported by remote 
monitoring and other digital 
tools. 

Support patients to have better 
control over their own 
condition. 

Reduce likelihood of 
unmanaged deterioration. 

Better outcomes for the patient 
and a reduction in attendances 
in ED and primary care. 

Table 7.3 Summary of benefits - integrated pathways for long-term condition management 

7.1.3.2 Community Diagnostic Centres 

A key enabler for improving performance within planned care and ensuring patients are seen and 

treated as quickly as possible is the development of local Community Diagnostic Centres.  CDCs will 

enable patients to undergo examinations to help inform the management plans prior to being referred 

into secondary care, reducing referrals that do not need to be seen in an acute setting and allowing an 

earlier decision for the patient on the most appropriate management plan. 

In October 2020, NHS England published a report entitled ‘Diagnostics: Recovery and Renewal’, which 

concluded that the configuration, delivery and capacity of diagnostic services would need to be 

significantly enhanced to meet future needs and to support post-COVID recovery across the NHS.197  The 

report set out a number of recommendations, including the provision of new and improved facilities and 

equipment, expansion and development of the workforce and a shift of planned diagnostic services into 

community-based facilities, away from busy acute hospital sites.  

 
197 NHS England (2020) Diagnostics: Recovery and Renewal – Report of the Independent Review of Diagnostic 
Services for NHS England Diagnostics Review 

Page 236

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/diagnostics-recovery-and-renewal-report-of-the-independent-review-of-diagnostic-services-for-nhs-england/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

179 
  

Our proposals for change are supported and enabled by the development of Community Diagnostic 

Centres within the Humber, which seek to:  

• Increase the range of diagnostic service provision in a locality setting. 

• Develop primary health care services. 

• Support workforce expansion through increased training and clinical placement opportunities. 

• Drive improvement in diagnostic pathways. 

• Improve service access and reduce health inequalities. 

• Promote clinical collaboration. 

• Develop Community Diagnostic Centres to be anchor institutions for communities. 

• Deliver a better diagnostic experience for patients. 

Plans are in an advanced stage for new Community Diagnostic Centres in Scunthorpe and Scarborough 

with further plans being developed for improved community diagnostic provision across the region.  

Business cases have also been developed to support the expansion of diagnostic service provision in a 

number of existing community-based facilities, including community hospitals, and for further mobile 

facilities that can be used flexibly to provide easier access for people living in the rural and coastal 

communities across Humber and North Yorkshire.  A workforce approach is being explored that 

combines rotational opportunities, with sub contracts that mitigate the potential loss of staff from the 

acute sector and provides opportunities for development at the same time. 

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Long waits for first outpatient 
appointments and diagnostics. 

Unnecessary or inappropriate 
referrals into secondary care.  

Patients required to travel to 
hospital for planned diagnostic 
tests.  

Community Diagnostic Centres 
and improved straight to test 
pathways.  

 

 

Reduced demand for 
diagnostics within secondary 
care settings. 

Improved experience and faster 
diagnosis for patients. 

Potential disbenefit – impact on 
planned care waiting lists due to 
increased demand for services.  

Table 7.4 Summary benefits - Community Diagnostic Centres 

7.1.3.3 Elective Care Hubs 

Our planned care services within the hospitals often have to compete with urgent and emergency care 

services for resources (workforce, theatres and recovery space) meaning that performance is impacted 

when there are peaks in urgent care demand.   

One of the key principles set out in the national plan for elective recovery,198 and prior to that within the 

NHS Long Term Plan,199 is the importance of separating elective care facilities from those for urgent and 

emergency care, to reduce disruptions to care and build resilience in services. The pandemic reinforced 

issues and challenges that were already well understood within the health service in relation to the 

fragility of some of our service models and susceptibility of planned care to disruption caused by peaks 

in demand for urgent and emergency care services.  

 
198 NHS England (2022) Delivery plan for tackling the COVID-19 backlog of elective care Delivering Elective Recovery 
199 NHS England and Improvement (2019) The NHS Long Term Plan The NHS Long Term Plan 

Page 237

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2022/02/C1466-delivery-plan-for-tackling-the-covid-19-backlog-of-elective-care.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

180 
  

The way in which services are currently configured across the Humber is mixed, with some dedicated 

facilities and some that are integrated with facilities for unplanned care.200 Even where dedicated 

facilities exist for elective procedures, patients often rely on the same support services such as critical 

care or anaesthetics and pressures within these services can lead to cancellations of planned procedures 

if the staff or beds are not available when required.  

To support the effective delivery of planned care services for the future, we propose developing the 

concept of elective care hubs across the Humber’s hospital sites to ensure elective care can continue to 

be delivered unaffected by surges in demand for urgent and emergency care.  The exact configuration of 

individual specialties will be determined by the work undertaken to support elective recovery and 

develop the system-wide planned care strategy, however, they will be developed on the basis of 

facilitating the separation of emergency and planned care wherever possible.  

Whilst a complete split of planned and unplanned care across the two Northern Lincolnshire sites was 

not considered a viable option for consultation,201 the key benefits of the model have been replicated 

within the proposals wherever possible. Specialty-specific plans (developed as part of planning for 

implementation) will seek to deliver the maximum separation of acute and elective care provision across 

the Humber hospitals.  

It is proposed that existing elective facilities in Castle Hill Hospital (CHH) and Goole and District Hospital 

(GDH) will continue to be developed to enable them to deliver the most efficient services possible 

through their theatres and other infrastructure.  This would include the continued development of day 

case facilities for high volume and low complexity procedures. In line with the proposals outlined for 

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) and Scunthorpe General hospital (SGH) for urgent 

and emergency care and paediatrics provision, both hospitals would continue to provide facilities for 

planned care on site.  

Specialty-specific plans will be developed following consultation and focus on developing the most 

efficient configuration of day case and inpatient care to align with the configuration for urgent care that 

is determined following the consultation process. It is anticipated for most specialties this will include 

consolidation of complex, low volume and/or all inpatient work onto a reduced number of sites across 

the Humber to make the most efficient use of highly skilled clinical teams and other resources to 

provide the best and quickest care for patients, in line with what we have heard through our ongoing 

engagement.  

Challenge Solution Benefit / Impact 

Cancelled operations and long 
waiting times for elective 
procedures.  

Separation of elective and 
urgent care services (facilities 
and staffing) and development 
of Elective Care Hubs. 

Patients are seen and treated 

more quickly. 

Table 7.5 Summary benefits - Elective Care Hubs 

 
200 There are dedicated elective facilities at Castle Hill Hospital and Goole District Hospital that deliver a mix of 
inpatient and day case procedures. Day surgery is provided from a separate building at Hull Royal Infirmary. At 
Scunthorpe General Hospital and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby, elective inpatient and day case 
surgery is provided from within the main hospital site, utilising the same theatres and recovery space. 
201 See section 10.4 for an overview of the evaluation process. 

Page 238



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

181 
  

7.1.3.3.1 Elective hubs – workforce models 

Developing elective hubs also offers potentially attractive new roles supporting with recruitment and 

retention across the region. Operating efficient elective hubs, at maximum productivity, requires teams 

of highly skilled staff to be available from early morning to late evening, however, there are multiple 

ways teams can be organised to deliver this that can offer a range of benefits to staff within those 

teams, including: 

• Predictable working hours  

• Career advancement opportunities and new roles  

• Improved staff wellbeing and morale 

• Recruitment and retention improvements  

A theatres working group has been developed to work up the detailed staffing model for all theatre staff 

to ensure we can operate high productivity elective hubs. Future staffing models for will seek to 

maximise opportunities for career development and progression amongst theatre and support staff.  

Working with partners across the Integrated Care Partnership, we will develop an integrated career 

pathway for theatre staff (bands 2 to 7) to improve recruitment and retention for the longer term. In 

addition, we are exploring training for various Allied Health Professionals in critical care, enabling them 

to provide additional support to existing medical rotas. 

7.1.3.4 Day Surgery 

When considering how to maximise the separation of planned and unplanned care, a key area where all 

specialties are continuing to develop is in increasing the proportion of activity undertaken on a day case 

basis.  Not only does day case surgery provide a better experience for the patient, who is able to 

recuperate in their own bed, it also enables services to be provided more efficiently and supports the 

overall system ambitions to cut waiting times for planned care. Day surgery is highly cost effective, 

improves efficiency, staff morale and increases capacity for elective care and frees up inpatient beds.202  

It allows for “a quicker recovery, less disruption to you and your home life and also cuts the risk of 

hospital acquired infections.”203 Day surgery is particularly beneficial for elderly patients, patients who 

are obese and those with underlying conditions such as diabetes.  Day surgery helps to prevent 

deterioration in a patients’ overall health that can arise from an extended stay in hospital.  

Guidance from GiRFT is that day surgery should be delivered from a dedicated unit, ideally situated 

away from other parts of the hospital. 204  Admissions, pre-op areas, secondary recovery and discharge 

lounge, should not include facilities that support an overnight stay (e.g., showers) and should be located 

in areas geographically separated from inpatient wards.  This is because combined units often send 

mixed messages to patients and nursing staff – admission into an inpatient bed may be seen as an easier 

option than discharge home and day surgery patients cared for post-operatively alongside inpatients 

can get mixed messages.  

Currently, such facilities are only available at Hull Royal Infirmary (HRI), which has a small day surgery 

unit providing a limited range of services and at Castle Hill Hospital (CHH).  In December 2021, through 

the Targeted Investment Fund, HUTH secured £10million investment to develop day surgery facilities at 

Castle Hill Hospital.  The new Day Surgery Unit will include four additional dedicated day case theatres, 

 
202 GiRFT (2020) National Day Surgery Delivery Pack GiRFT Report 
203 Academy of Royal Colleges (2019) Royal College of Anaesthetists and Royal College of Surgeons England 
Choosing Wisely 
204 GiRFT (2020) National Day Surgery Delivery Pack GiRFT Report 

Page 239

https://www.gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/National-Day-Surgery-Delivery-Pack_Sept2020_final.pdf
https://choosingwisely.co.uk/recommendations-archive/#1476651640539-f279ec69-9e40
https://www.gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/National-Day-Surgery-Delivery-Pack_Sept2020_final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

182 
  

which will improve efficiency of day surgery provided at CHH. At Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 

Grimsby (DPoW) and Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH), there is a day surgery ward but no dedicated 

theatres, instead day surgery is done at beginning and end of a list. At Goole and District Hospital (GDH) 

the majority of activity is day surgery, however, some inpatient operations are also listed within the 

same lists, using the same theatres and staff teams.  Within the Humber’s hospitals, day surgery rates 

have increased marginally over recent years, however, they continue to sit at or below national average 

in NLaG and are significantly lower than national average in HUTH.  For example, Day surgery rates at 

NLaG for general surgery are below 75% and within HUTH do not reach 70% in comparison to a national 

average of 90%.205 

The Department of Health and Social Care states that “day surgery performed using inpatient wards and 

inpatients operating theatres is less successful and cannot be recommended. The stay-in rate 

(unsuccessful discharge of patients home on day of surgery) rises from 2.4% in a freestanding unit to 

14% in an inpatient ward.”206 

The proposed model of care set out in this business case includes provision on all five existing hospital 

sites for some planned care activity (subject to speciality-specific business cases to define configuration 

of each service, to be developed as part of the system planned care strategy).  To enable services to 

operate efficiently and effectively across those sites, we will seek to develop day case hubs.  Within the 

constraints of the existing buildings and infrastructure, we will seek to implement day case hubs through 

operating arrangements to ensure the most efficient and effective use of facilities to deliver more 

activity and treat more patients quickly and effectively. The development of physical hubs will continue 

to form part of future ambitions, subject to securing the additional capital investment required.   

7.1.4 Humber Pathway Redesign Impact 

 

In addition, shifting a further proportion of care from inpatient to day case will enable more people to 

stay closer to home.  Around 1.1 million outpatient appointments took place during 2019/20 across the 

Humber, meaning millions of journeys to our hospital sites.  In the future we expect that to change 

significantly with more of these appointments taking place virtually or within primary care and other 

community settings. 

Importantly, the resources to deliver these new approaches would follow the activity to ensure they can 

be delivered effectively given the current pressures on out of hospital and primary care providers. This 

means investing in additional staffing, equipment and buildings in community settings to deliver 

planned care in a different way, working across the traditional primary and secondary care divide. We 

are working with partners across the health and care system to design future models of care that are 

 
205 Internal trust data (June 2022) 
206 GiRFT (2020) National Day Surgery Delivery Pack GiRFT Report, p.12 

The development of integrated pathways for planned care will result in a significant reduction in 

overall travel to hospital sites and support delivery of the proposed changes by: 

• Reducing unnecessary outpatient appointments. 

• Moving a substantial proportion of outpatient care to community settings and virtual 

appointments. 

• Shifting a greater proportion of existing day case procedures to outpatient procedures that 

can be carried out in a community setting. 

Page 240

https://www.gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/National-Day-Surgery-Delivery-Pack_Sept2020_final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

183 
  

fully integrated from the perspective of the patient and exploring innovative workforce models – such as 

rotational posts and staff passports – to ensure we can deliver these models effectively.  

The table below sets out the anticipated impact of implementation of new integrated pathways of care 

in conjunction with work being undertaken through the outpatient transformation program to reduce 

unnecessary travel to hospital for outpatient appointments. Assumptions are applied on top of growth 

(from 19/20 baseline) to give a 5-year projection with the efficiency impacts. 

Measure Impact Actions/contributory factors 

Outpatient attendance 

reduction 

8% Outpatient Transformation 

Patient-initiated Follow Up (PIFU) 

Patient Knows Best (PKB) 

Pathway redesign 

Outpatient shift off-site 15% (face-to-face only) Outpatient activity undertaken within a 

community setting 

Outpatient shift from face-to-

face to virtual 

50% for non-procedures 

(applied after attendance 

reduction and shift off-site) 

Digitally enabled changes 

 

Elective to day case shift 100% of 0 day LoS 

6% of 1-2 day LoS 

Day case hubs 

Day case to outpatient 

procedure 

10% Day case hubs and outpatient 

transformation 

Elective inpatient admission 

avoidance (adults only) 

8% Multi-disciplinary place-based teams, 

consultant connect, greater primary 

and community care input 

Table 7.6 Efficiency assumptions (year 0-5 only) 207 

Based on these assumptions, the following activity figures have been calculated for all planned care 

activity at baseline and baseline plus five years.  

 
Figure 7.4 Humber Pathway redesign impact – outpatient care208 

 
207 Modelling assumptions – see document library 
208 Modelling outputs (refreshed January 2023) – see appendix D 

Baseline
(2019/20)

5 year growth
with no changes

5 year growth
with pathway

changes

Procedure 370,815 391,039 325,602

Follow Up 511,686 535,145 443,534

First 214,895 223,796 182,982

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000
Outpatient Activity - pathway changes impact

First Follow Up Procedure

Outpatient impacts  
 

Without pathway changes, F2F 
activity is expected to increase 
by: 

• First Appointments: ↑4.1% 

• Follow Up: ↑4.6% 

• Procedures: ↑5.5% 

 

With pathway changes, F2F 
activity in hospital would 
decrease by:  

• First Appointments: ↓14.9% 

• Follow Up: ↓13.3% 

• Procedures: ↓12.2% 

Page 241

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

184 
  

Without the integration and transformation of outpatient services, the level of outpatient activity within 

the acute trusts would increase by an average of 5% in five years. Given current challenges facing both 

trusts in relation to delivering care for the current demand, this would lead to a further deterioration of 

the planned care position across the Humber.  With the integration and transformation of outpatient 

services, demand for outpatient services would be reduced thereby creating capacity for patients who 

are required to attend a hospital for treatment. 

In addition, shifting activity from inpatient to day case and from day case to outpatient, will support the 

overall reduction of activity that needs to be undertaken in a hospital setting.  

 
Figure 7.5 Humber Pathway redesign impact – inpatients and day case209 

7.1.5 Key benefits 

 

Putting in place workforce models that support the separation of planned and unplanned care will 

improve performance on waiting time standards by maximising productivity and throughput for 

elective procedures, protecting staff and facilities from the impact of surges in urgent and emergency 

care demand and increasing opportunities for collaboration across the region.   

Developing dedicated day case facilities and centres of excellence for particular specialties and/or 

procedures will also build confidence in patients, many of whom have told us through our engagement 

that they would prefer to be treated where the specialists are and have full specialist team wrapped 

around them.  By concentrating the workforce in fewer locations for the most specialist care, those 

delivering specialist services will have more opportunities to develop their skills, treating a higher 

number of complex cases and a wider variety of experiences.  They will be able to work in larger teams, 

which improves resilience and enables us to design rotas to cover services that will be more attractive to 

current and future workforce. This will create more sustainable services in the longer term.  

 
209 Modelling outputs (refreshed January 2023) – see appendix D 

Baseline
(2019/20)

5 year growth
with no changes

5 year growth
with pathway

changes

Inpatient 20,901 22,436 17,543

Day case 116,930 131,131 128,260

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

Elective Activity - pathway changes impact

Day case Inpatient

Making changes to the pathways for planned care to increase integration between primary, 

community and secondary care will enable us to provide better quality services, an improved 

experience for patients and their families and ensure people are kept safe now and into the future. 

Elective activity (day case 
and inpatient) impacts  

 

Without pathway changes, 
activity is expected to 
increase by: 

• Day Case: ↑12% 

• Inpatient: ↑7% 

 

With pathway changes 

• Inpatient activity would 
decrease by ↓16% 

• Day case activity would 
increase by ↑9.7% as 

inpatient activity becomes 
day case. 

Page 242



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

185 
  

7.2 Out of Hospital Care 

 
Summary Box 7.4 Out of Hospital Care 

7.2.1 Adopting a collaborative approach 

Across the Humber there is a wide network of organisations responsible for planning and delivering 

health and care services outside of hospital, including NHS organisations, Local Authorities, social 

enterprises, community and voluntary sector organisations, other public sector and private sector 

providers (see appendix 10.1 for a list of key partners). 

Place-based partnerships are the key mechanism for these organisations to collaborate and to oversee 

transformation of out of hospital care. Place boards and place-based partnerships have been actively 

engaged in the development of this Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC). The Place partnerships are: 

• North East Lincolnshire Place  

• North Lincolnshire Place  

• Hull Place  

• East Riding of Yorkshire Place  

In designing approaches to care for the future, we have worked to break down the barriers between 

different parts of the health and care system to ensure our services in the future will be designed 

around the needs of patients not organisations, building on strong collaborative relationships between 

health and care organisations in our region.  

We can only deliver the proposed models of care successfully if there are changes in how we 

provide care outside of hospitals too.  

There are strong linkages and interdependencies between hospital services and other health and 

care services and support provided in our communities through primary care, community services, 

mental health providers, residential and domiciliary care, voluntary and community sector agencies, 

carers, family members and friends. Making changes to the acute hospital elements of health care 

provision is only part of the story and will only be successful if aligned to changes within the other 

parts of the health and care system. 

In developing the proposed new models of care, we have adopted a patient-centred system 

approach. This means looking how best to ensure an individual’s needs are met and working back 

from there to design models of care for the future. To do this we have engaged with and involved 

partners across the health and care system to ensure our potential models of care have been 

designed in a way that takes account of dependencies and wider system impacts.  

The potential future models of care have been designed to reduce the overall need for patients to 

travel to hospital sites by meeting their needs closer to home, ensuring a better overall experience 

for our patients and staff. They make use of alternative staffing models – blurring the boundaries 

between primary, secondary, community and mental health care. 

We have worked with local teams to map the out of hospital programmes that are underway and 

identify those which we need to support implementation of the proposed model of care. We are 

working together on five priority projects, which will help to ensure the proposed new models of 

care are successful. 

 

Page 243



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

186 
  

7.2.2 Principles and ways of working 

In primary and community care the aim is to care for people rather than specific diseases. This covers a 

broad range of physical, psychological and social problems rather than specialists in a particular disease 

area. Traditionally, a secondary (hospital) care opinion is then sought from consultants and their teams 

in a secondary care hospital setting if required.   

During the COVID-19 pandemic there have been great strides in working together collaboratively across 

the sectors of primary, community and secondary care – offering advice and guidance, and reviewing 

patients virtually to support decision making as to whether a referral is required and whether further 

prevention and management can occur to prevent it requiring acute intervention. As a system we have 

built on this learning as we designed the future shape of services. 

Working in this more joined up way represents an important shift whereby consultants begin to look 

beyond the patients in their clinic to consider the needs of their patient population at each stage of their 

care pathway from home to hospital and back home. This changes the consultant role from an individual 

acting alone to a member of a multidisciplinary team working across all health care sectors to deliver a 

package of services for their local community. In order to do this, partners across the Humber have 

already started to strengthen their clinical leadership and create a culture receptive to change with 

Humber-wide clinical leads working together with Primary Care Network (PCN) leads in developing new 

ways of working. The form and function of this collaboration was established through the Humber Acute 

Services Programme and is now being operationalised through the collaborative arrangements in place 

between the two acute trusts.210 

We have worked with partners from across the health and care system, in particular with colleagues 

leading the Out of Hospital Programme in the Humber, to develop a set of shared principles and 

strategic goals that underpin the proposals for pathway changes set out in this business case.  

  Picture 7:D Principles – Out of Hospital and Humber Acute Services 

 
210 Collaborative arrangements are described in more detail in section 1.2.4. 

Patient needs 
and values at 
centre of care 

plans

Right 
information 

easily 
accessible, 

and shared in 
a timely 
manner Easy 2/3-way 

conversations 
between 

patient, GP 
and specialist

Regular use 
and support of 

digital 
technology 

and pathways
removal of 
barriers in 

accessing GP, 
specialist and 

wider MDT

Shared 
responsibility 

between 
patient, GP 

and specialist

Ability to 
review and 

prioritise case 
load easily

Page 244



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

187 
  

7.2.3 Future models of care 

We have an ambition to deliver more care at, or closer to, home, but this will not work if we try to lift 

and shift our existing models of hospital care into community or primary care buildings or if we expect 

primary care services to absorb more work without the additional workforce to support it. Instead, we 

will work together to develop new pathways for patients that make the best use of the workforce and 

assets we do have – in our hospital teams, primary care networks, community and mental health teams, 

local authorities, social care and across the voluntary and community sector.  We have an opportunity to 

do things differently and better.   

In each of the core service areas, a future vision for service provision has been developed in partnership 

with out of hospital colleagues to ensure alignment of plans across the system.  The potential future 

models of care consider all aspects of a patient’s journey, not just the part that is the traditional reserve 

of the acute hospital.   

7.2.3.1 Priorities for action 

The key areas of focus, enablers and dependencies between the programmes of work are summarised 

in the table below, which describes the specific actions and impacts that support the delivery of the 

Humber-wide pathway changes and potential future models of care proposed in this business case.  

Area Key Enablers Impact Dependency  

Urgent and 
Emergency 
Care (UEC) 

• Urgent Care Services (co-

located in Emergency 

Departments) 

• Urgent care hubs (primary) 

• 2-hr crisis community 

response 

• Education/behavioural 

change in accessing UEC 

services 

• Self-care and prevention 

• Integrated frailty and long-

term conditions support in 

the community 

• Mental health services/ 

improved access 

• Reduced attendance in 

Emergency Departments 

and waiting times 

• Improved access to urgent 

care 24/7 

• Reduced emergency 

admissions 

• Improved patient flow to 

right place, right time 

• Reduced waiting time for 

mental health support 

• Compliance with clinical 

and constitutional 

standards 

• Hospital/Primary/ 

Community/Mental Health/ 

MDT working 

• Workforce education and 

training – new skills/roles 

• Facilities/equipment 

• Digital enablers 

Paediatrics • Community Paediatrics 

(advice and guidance, 

prevention and self-

management, hospital at 

home, high intensity users) 

• Mental health services 

• Education, self-care and 

prevention 

• Reduced attendance in 

Emergency Departments  

• Reduced emergency 

admissions 

• Increased support closer to 

home 

• Improved patient flow to 

right place, right time 

• Compliance with Facing the 

Future Standards, including 

increased support to 

primary care 

• Hospital/Primary/ 

Community/Mental 

Health/MDT working  

• Workforce education and 

development – new 

skills/roles 

• Facilities/equipment 

• Digital enablers 

Page 245



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

188 
  

• Reduced waiting times for 

mental health service input 

to ED and inpatient wards 

• Improved access 

• Reduced waiting times for 

outpatient appointments 

(paediatrics) 

• Making every contact count 

Planned 
Care and 
Diagnostics 

• Integrated patient pathways 

in a community setting 

• Community Diagnostic 

Centres 

• Day case to outpatients in 

the community 

• Optometrists’ pathways for 

imaging and treatment 

following Advice and 

Guidance 

• Care closer to home 

• Improved access 

• Improved outcomes 

• Improved satisfaction 

• Patients supported to stay 

well 

• Reduced waiting times for 

diagnosis and treatment 

• Reduced referrals and 

secondary care waiting lists 

• Hospital/Primary/ 

Community/ MDT working 

• Facilities in the community - 

Estates and equipment 

• Skills, Roles, Recruitment 

• Digital enablers 

Table 7.7 Out of hospital priorities for action 

The approach described for out of hospital services does not pass the capacity pressures to another area 

of the system without supporting it with redesigned pathways and resources (workforce, buildings, 

equipment and technology).  The new ways of working described – incorporating revised roles, 

increased education, digital advancements and collaborative working to redesign pathways – will 

support the changes required in the acute hospital setting set out within this business case. 

7.2.4 Delivering the change 

The Humber out of hospital programme is extensive and made up of many different and distinct 

projects, which are all in varying stages of maturity.  Some projects are in pilot stage in one place, for 

example, the Hospital at Home project, which is supporting children in North East Lincolnshire to avoid a 

hospital admission and/or have a reduced length of stay in hospital and be cared for at home instead.211  

Some services are well established and making a difference for a population in one place, for example, 

the Jean Bishop Integrated Care Centre, which is reducing the likelihood of for people living with frailty 

in Hull needing to be admitted to hospital for care in an emergency by looking after their needs 

proactively.212  

The aim of the out of hospital programme, working closely with the Humber Acute Services programme, 

is to develop and scale-up successful pilot projects, implementing changes across the Humber to ensure 

the benefits are delivered across the whole region.  

We have worked collaboratively with colleagues working on out of hospital projects, holding monthly 

meetings to map interdependencies, identify any gaps or areas of duplication and ensure alignment of 

plans and proposals.  The following diagram outlines the key programmes of work, what stage of 

development they are at and where increased joint working between hospital services and out of 

hospital services is required to support new ways of working, shifting the focus of care away from 

hospital buildings and into services that are more responsive to the needs of patients where they are.   

 
211 See section 5.3.2 for further details. 
212 See section 5.2.4.2 for further details. 

Page 246



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

189 
  

 
Picture 7:E Out of Hospital Dependencies 

 

 

 

Many of the projects highlighted in the diagram above are enablers for implementing changes to acute 

services and/or as integral aspects of proposed new pathways. The table below provides links to where 

these projects are described within this business case.  

Urgent and Emergency Care Paediatrics Planned Care and Diagnostics 

Frailty (Integrated Frailty 

Service) 

Integrated Health and Care 

Community Hub 

Long term conditions 

Urgent Treatment Centre/ 

Urgent Care Service 

Community Care (the Ill Child) Community Diagnostic Centres 

Urgent Community Response 

(2hrs) 

 Connected Health Network 

(CHN) 

Virtual Wards   

Anticipatory Care   

Clinical Assessment Service   

Mental Health   

Any-to-any booking   

Table 7.8 Out of Hospital enabling projects 

In order to ensure the proposals for hospital services can be successfully delivered, we developed an 

integrated programme management office (PMO) to maintain oversight and ensure delivery of the key 

out of hospital enabling projects.  The integrated PMO is initially focusing on five priority projects, 

adding new projects on a rolling basis to ensure the necessary out of hospital developments will be in 

place within the required timeframe to support proposed changes in acute services.  

Key 

• Already in place or can be undertaken now 

• In development but not yet active 

• Opportunities for working together in the future 

*PIFU = Patient Initiated Follow Up (see section 7.1.3.1.3) 

 

Page 247



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 7 – Dependencies 

 

190 
  

The role of the integrated PMO is to coordinate the projects within the out of hospital programme and 

provide assurance that they will deliver the outcomes required to facilitate the changes in acute hospital 

services described in this business case.  The integrated PMO will support by ensuring a consistent 

approach to data analysis is utilised and that there is alignment across all workstreams.  

The first five projects are: 

• Frailty  

• Enhanced health in care homes 

• Falls prevention 

• Community Diagnostic Centres 

• The community ill child programme (Hospital at Home) 

These initial five projects were selected because they are priority areas where change is needed to 

enable the proposed changes to acute hospital services to take place. Frailty, enhanced health in care 

homes and falls admission prevention all contribute to improved pathways for Urgent and Emergency 

Care across the Humber by reducing the need to convey patients to hospital, particularly those who are 

frail and/or elderly. The community ill child programme is an important enabler for changes to 

paediatric services within the hospital. In particular, it can support us to minimise the impact on families 

of making changes to hospital-based services by supporting more children and young people in their 

own homes and improving experiences for children and young people who need care and support. 

Community Diagnostics Centres (CDCs) will play an important role in the future shape of planned care 

services. It is important the pathway of care and routes to access CDC services are fully integrated with 

the new models of care both in and out of hospital to ensure maximum benefit for the population and 

the system. 

Priority Projects Link to PCBC proposals 

Frailty Supports proposals for integrated urgent and emergency 

care – key enablers to reduce ED attendances and hospital 

admissions. 
Falls prevention 

Enhanced health in care homes 

Community ill child programme Supports proposals for paediatrics – key enabler to reduce ED 

attendances and hospital admissions and reduce impact of 

consolidation of inpatient paediatrics. 

Community diagnostic centres Supports proposals by bringing planned care closer to home – 

key enabler to reduce outpatient attendances at hospital 

sites. 

Table 7.9 Out of hospital priority projects and linkages to PCBC proposals 

 

 
Summary Box 7.5

 

Building on strong collaborative relationships between health and care organisations in our region 

will ensure we provide the best possible access to care and services for conditions and treatments 

that do not need to be provided within a hospital and enable the proposed models of care for 

hospital services to work effectively.  

Page 248



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

191 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 8 

Enablers 

Digital, estates, workforce and transport  

Page 249



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

192 
  

8. Enablers 

 
Summary Box 8.1  

There are a number of areas where changes need to be made in order to enable the proposals to be 

implemented successfully and bring about the benefits described. These key enablers have been 

considered and action plans have been developed to support the proposed models of care.  

The proposed new models of care have been developed alongside to the Partnership digital strategy 

and investment portfolio to ensure we can maximise the benefit of current and planned future 

digital investments.  The proposals have also been designed to take account of the Partnership’s 

digital inclusion principles to ensure everyone can benefit from digitally-enabled changes. 

Digital Action Plan 

• Digital solutions that “just work” – getting the basics right. 

• Digital first, digital for all – developing systems that work for everyone. 

• Addressing Digital Exclusion – breaking down barriers, offering alternatives. 

Detailed capital planning work has been undertaken to demonstrate that the proposals within this 

business case – and the estates changes needed to implement them – can be delivered within 

existing financial resources are not dependent on securing external capital investment. 

Estates and Infrastructure Ambitions 

• Better buildings for improved clinical outcomes – spaces that work and enhance care. 

• Stronger, Greener Buildings – supporting carbon reduction goals. 

• Levelling Up Humber – leveraging investment to boost the local economy. 

The proposals for change are supported by innovative workforce models, new roles and new ways of 

working that will make better use of the workforce we have today and help us to attract and retain 

the workforce we need for tomorrow. 

Workforce Action Plan 

• New roles and ways of working – one Humber team, centred on the needs of the patient. 

• Flexible and rewarding careers – supporting retention and attracting new workforce. 

• Levelling Up Humber – maximising our impact as anchor institutions. 

Recognising that it is not possible to make changes without some impact, we have mapped travel 

times to limit the impact on those facing barriers to access and worked with partners to develop 

potential transport solutions for patients, visitors and staff.  The proposed new models of care and 

pathway changes will support efforts to design out unnecessary travel and ensure people only go to 

hospital when it is absolutely necessary.  

Transport Action Plan 

• Understand holistic needs – responsive services that flex about the patients’ needs. 

• Design out unnecessary travel – reduce overall need to travel for care. 

• Make transport easier – simplify the transport offer. 

Across all of these areas, system partners are working together to ensure we can deliver change in a 

way that meets the needs of our population best. 

 

Page 250



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

193 
  

8.1 Digital 

 
Summary Box 8.2 Digital 

Health and social care organisations across Humber and North Yorkshire have invested in technology 

and digital solutions over the past ten years to varying degrees. But our hospitals are not maximising the 

potential of digital technology for the delivery of modern healthcare services (see section 2.5.3). 

Within the Humber’s acute hospital settings, the two trusts have historically worked independently on 

developing their digital strategies in isolation. Investment made to date has varied in terms of scale and 

areas of focus between the two organisations, which has led to different starting points for the two 

organisations. Nevertheless, strategic alignment of approach and solutions is underway and significant 

progress has been made in recent years to build the infrastructure that is needed to support 

collaborative working between the acute providers and with the wider health and care sector in the 

Humber.  

8.1.1 Current Position 

Over recent years, investments have been made in key areas such as: 

• Underpinning infrastructure and equipment – improved cybersecurity, more resilient networks 

and upgraded devices and equipment. 

• Communication systems – e.g., Patient Portal (Patient Knows Best – PKB), E-correspondence to 

Primary Care, video consultations. 

• Systems to improve efficiency – such as E-prescribing, E-observations, live tracking of assets, 

consumables and patients.  

To support joint working across the organisations and across sites, digital teams created a link between 

the two trust’s Electronic Patient Record (EPR) systems to share patient information for patients being 

seen within both organisations. To facilitate collaborative working more effectively in the long-term, the 

trusts are working together to implement a joint Patient Administration System (PAS) and align 

Electronic Patient Record (EPR) systems, data warehousing solutions and other areas where 

opportunities to work jointly arise.  

The progress made in recent years to align and integrate digital systems lays an important foundation 

for greater collaborative working to support the potential models of care described in this business case.  

Despite investment over recent years, the digital infrastructure within our hospitals continues to 

pose significant challenges. In particular, the lack of integration between different systems poses a 

barrier to implementing the proposed new models of care and maximising the benefits for staff and 

patients.  

Digital exclusion is also an issue for many people in the Humber region, particularly those in the 

most deprived areas.  Many people lack the skills, knowledge or equipment to make use of the new 

opportunities that digital can bring.  

The proposed new models of care have been developed alongside to the Partnership digital strategy 

and investment portfolio to ensure we can maximise the benefit of current and planned future 

digital investments.  The proposals have also been designed to take account of the Partnership’s 

digital inclusion principles to ensure everyone can benefit from digitally-enabled changes. 

Page 251



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

194 
  

8.1.2 Our Vision – digital first, digital for all 

Digital technology is an enabler of new and better ways of working rather than an end in itself. In all 

aspects of our day to day lives digital is already transforming how we work, shop, play and live. It also 

has the potential to transform how we deliver care so that it is more efficient, more joined-up and more 

responsive to the needs of our communities.  

From our ongoing engagement with stakeholders, we know that there is a strong willingness to engage 

in using new technology, but patients and service-users want us to do our bit and “get with the times” 

too.213 For both patients and staff, shared care records, with consistent and accurate information across 

all care settings are a must and are required to underpin our efforts to develop more integrated service 

models. Virtual appointments and different ways of interacting with clinicians are broadly welcomed by 

our population, but views vary between different cohorts of service-users.  

 
Summary Box 8.3 Vision for Digital 

In developing the potential models of care for the future, digital technology will underpin and 

support all of the models in a number of important ways:   

Patient experience   

• Self-booking and smart scheduling   

• Remote monitoring  

• Patient alerts – health condition monitoring/appointments  

• Patient record access   

• Remote appointments – where appropriate   

Data and analytics   

• Improved data sharing through interoperable systems   

• Use of artificial intelligence and predictive analytics to model patient flow and demand and 

resource allocation   

Clinician and staff experience 

• Shared care record   

• Faster access to accurate information 

• Automated completion of forms 

• Easy and instant referral processes 

• Patient recorded information available as standard 

• Appropriate equipment 

• A holistic understanding of other agencies involved  

 
213 See appendix 10.10.2 for a fuller description of what we have heard about digital through our engagement. 

Our vision is for digitally enabled care that is joined up around the needs of the patient (or 

service-user) where things “just work” like they should.   

We want to deliver improvements to the experiences of those using hospital services and those 

working within them, with digital inclusion at the heart of our approach.  

 

Page 252



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

195 
  

Infrastructure   

• Design and build of ‘smart buildings’ promoting increased environmental sustainability and 

efficiency   

• Interoperable systems reducing data transfer risk   

• Increased use of robotics in both buildings and service management and point of care delivery   

• Systems accessible, transparently from any location 

• Maximising the use of innovative digital technologies could overtime change the building and 

infrastructure needs with the potential to reduce the overall estate footprint  

• Radio frequency identification (RFID) where people and equipment can be tracked without 

human intervention 

• A more integrated Care Coordination Centre not only across acute care, but with the capability 

to expand across a region would link up the care pathway across multiple providers and inputs 

enabling the best use of resources across all those linked to the provision of care.  This requires 

robust digital foundations with interoperable data flows. 

Digital can also help to predict workflow whether that be through attendances predicted for ED or 

monitoring footfall to identify the areas that need more domestic staff, to automatically ordering 

equipment as soon as an operation is booked.  Advanced technologies such as Robotic surgery can also 

be used to great effect in surgery.   

By prioritising the right investments and working in a joined-up way across Humber and North Yorkshire, 

we can radically improve the digital infrastructure upon which services are built. The changes and 

improvements described in this document cannot be delivered without the underpinning digital 

infrastructure. Putting those building blocks in place, brings a multitude of benefits to staff, patients and 

the system as a whole. We can free up staff time from doing manual administrative tasks, ensure staff 

have time to care, which is what both patients and staff have told us is most important to them. Digital 

technology also underpins greater collaboration between clinical teams and is a vital enabler to allow 

our clinical teams to work seamlessly across primary, community and secondary care. It also empowers 

patients to take control of their own health. 

8.1.2.1 Addressing Digital Exclusion 

Digital Inclusion is an important strategic priority of the Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care 

Partnership. The Partnership’s Digital Inclusion Group created a set of Digital Inclusion Core Principles, 

which guide the work of all organisations with the Partnership and underpin the approach to digital 

technology used within this programme.214 The principles provide a simple checklist for organisations to 

help determine appropriate actions when implementing digital service transformation projects. 

The Digital Inclusion principles are: 

• Put people at the heart of everything you do 

• Empower and enable people to be digitally included 

• Remove digital inequalities 

• Always work collaboratively 

• Do the hard work to make it simple 

• There’s always got to be another way 

 
214 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (2021) Digital Inclusion Core Principles Digital 
Inclusion Core Principles 

Page 253

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/11055-Digital-Incusion-HNY.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/11055-Digital-Incusion-HNY.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

196 
  

• Adopt ‘Digital Future Proofing’ 

In designing and implementing our technology solutions we will adopt an approach that actively 

promotes digital inclusion. We will look for creative and innovative ways to promote greater digital 

inclusion and help people who may struggle with the tools and learning to be able to access services and 

improve their health and wellbeing. We will consider people’s experience from beginning to end 

including infrastructure and any processes involved so that our solutions are easy to use for staff and 

patients alike. We will be innovative and willing to think outside the box. We will undertake digital 

maturity assessments of our patients and staff before implementing new approaches or offering new 

ways of access and only make use of technology in care delivery where it is safe and appropriate to.  

8.1.3 Our Digital Action Plan 

 

8.1.3.1 A Collaborative Approach 

As with other aspects of the programme, we have adopted a collaborative approach to co-produce the 

digital action plan to support this business case. Over recent years, digital leads from across all parts of 

the health and care sector in Humber and North Yorkshire have been working together collaboratively 

and established a strong set of governance and collaborative arrangements. These structures have 

supported the development of joint strategies and plans that will underpin much of the work required 

to deliver the future models of care described in this business case.  

To support in the development of an action plan specific to this programme, we also held a bespoke 

workshop to generate further ideas and refine the next steps for partners. The workshop included input 

from a range of tech sector organisations, including Microsoft, Wincanton and Argent, as well as local 

sector leaders from clinical and technology backgrounds. The workshop provided an opportunity for 

networking, collaboration and innovative thinking and produced an action plan with priorities and next 

steps. 

8.1.3.2 Priorities and Actions 

The high-level ambitions for the system across the Humber, which will also support and enable the 

change proposals described within this business case, are set out in the table below.  

I year 5 years 10 years 

- Paperless working across 
both acute trusts. 

- Improved data sharing – 
consistent data capture. 

- Removal of unnecessary 

Information Governance 

barriers. 

- Shared system across all 
providers and/or alignment 
of systems to enable more 
agile working between and 
across organisations. 

- Use of advanced robotics. 
- Smart buildings. 
- Data driven assessment. 
- Face to face clinical review 

by exception. 

The proposals for change are underpinned by a high-level digital action plan, which was developed 

in collaboration with partners across Humber and North Yorkshire and is aligned to wider system 

strategies.  

Digital inclusion – for staff, patients and communities – is at the heart of our digital action plan.  

Page 254



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

197 
  

- Removal of unnecessary 
Information Governance 
barriers. 

- Voice driven digital dictation. 
- First Version of Shared Care 

Record live with sharing of 
secondary and Primary Care 
information as standard. 

- A Plan in Place to ensure 
compliance with national 
What Good Looks Like (WGLL) 
requirements. 

- Understanding the full 
potential of current solutions. 

- Shared care record covering 
all care providers, feeding 
real time population health 
management (PHM) 
solutions. 

- Improved access for patients 
in a community setting. 

- Single Electronic Patient 
Record (EPR) across the 
whole Partnership (ICS). 

Table 8.1 Digital priorities215 

There are significant requirements to invest in digital infrastructure across both acute trusts and the 

wider health and care sector and a number of existing programmes and/or planned investments across 

the system. Recognising this complex picture, the programme team worked with digital leads to map 

planned digital investments across the Humber to the priorities and key deliverables within the Humber 

Acute Services programme. This has identified the key investment requirements and areas where plans 

are already in place to deliver the digital enablers that are required.  

The table below highlights the most important digital enablers that will be required to support delivery 

of the proposals within this business case.  These are all existing priority programmes within the 

Integrated Care System and are considered high priority schemes.  

Enabling scheme Specialty area Priority for ICS Funding 

Confidence 

Yorkshire and Humber Care Record All areas High  High 

Shared Patient Administration System (PAS) and 

alignment of Electronic Patient Record (EPR) 

All areas High  High 

Any to Any booking UEC High  Medium 

Virtual ward (digital support) UEC and 

paediatrics 

High  Medium 

Table 8.2 Summary of digital enabling schemes 

Details of the digital enabling programmes set out in section 6.4.3. Further information on timescales 

and current funding status of each programme is set out in the Humber and North Yorkshire Digital 

Transformation Investment Plan and Partnership Digital Strategy.216  

 
215 Initial action list developed through digital workshops – see the Engagement Timeline for further details of the 
workshops and outputs. 
216 Humber and North Yorkshire (2022) Digital Transformation Investment Plan (DTIP) Portfolio Overview and 
Humber and North Yorkshire (2023) Digital Strategy Digital Strategy. 

Page 255

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/HNY-Digital-Strategy-v3.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

198 
  

8.2 Estates and Infrastructure 

 
Summary Box 8.4 Estates and Infrastructure 

8.2.1 Current position 

The current position of both trusts in terms of servicing their hospital estate is significantly challenged. 

Critical infrastructure costs for both trusts significantly exceed the national median of £13.7m – within 

NLaG alone, there is almost £80 million of critical infrastructure risk (CIR).  Over the next 15 years, if we 

did nothing to change services, significant capital expenditure (>£100 million) would be required to 

increase capacity in our existing hospitals to meet predicted increases in demand for services. In 

addition, significant further investment would be required to keep our buildings serviceable and 

operational.  Addressing all known Backlog Maintenance issues (including CIR), would require an overall 

investment of at least £190m. 

• Our ageing estate is not fit for purpose and impacts upon our ability to deliver effective care to 

meet the demands we face. 

• Our existing buildings in most areas are unable to meet infection control standards. 

• We have significant issues of backlog maintenance and critical infrastructure failure risk. 

• Equipment investment has been limited and is not standardised for ease of use across sites. 

• Our buildings are not flexible and cannot easily be adapted to delivery current models of care. 

• The environments for our staff are often cramped, with lack of facilities to take breaks and 

change. 

 

8.2.2 Our Vision – future-proofed buildings, anchors for the community  

Whilst buildings and infrastructure were not the top concern for most people when they were forced to 

rank preferences, we heard through our feedback about the significant impact that good quality, well 

designed buildings can have on patients and staff. Making our buildings easier to navigate, creating ways 

Many of our hospital buildings across the Humber are outdated, inefficient and do not make it 

easy for our teams to provide the best possible care to patients. We have limited access to the 

investment we need to improve or replace them. This impacts on the care we can provide and makes 

it more difficult to attract the staff we need.  

If we did nothing to change our clinical models, the additional estate that would be required across 

all sites would be significant and require substantial investment (c.£100 million) just to manage 

growth in demand – this is in addition to the investment required to keep the buildings in good 

working order.  

The ageing condition of our estate limits the changes we can make within a capital affordability 

envelope.  

Nevertheless, the clinical change proposals set out within this business case – and estates changes 

that would be required – can be delivered within existing financial resources, enabling many of the 

identified benefits to be realised quickly. 

 

 

 

These challenges significantly impact on our ability to provide good quality, efficient patient care 

and limit the potential options for change within the envelope of capital affordability. 

Page 256



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

199 
  

to connect with nature and improving access, facilities and privacy were all important to patients and 

staff. We want to be able to provide services from buildings that are fit for purpose and provide pleasant 

environments for staff to work in. We have many problems with our existing infrastructure: we want to 

take a strategic approach to addressing them, ensuring that we are investing in the right buildings for 

the right services. We also recognise the potential to bring additional benefits to our communities 

through the investments we do make in our infrastructure and have designed our capital investment 

programme with this aim in mind (see section 1.2.2.1 for details on our anchor network ambition).  

In parallel to developing the potential models of care described in this Pre-Consultation Business Case, 

we have also developed comprehensive capital investment plans to support the delivery of new models 

of care and address the estates and infrastructure challenges we face. In September 2021, the 

Partnership submitted an Expression of Interest to become part of the next phase of the New Hospitals 

Programme, seeking £720 million (in April 2021 prices) of capital investment across the Humber. The 

EOI sought substantial investment in new buildings to enable a radical improvement in local hospital 

infrastructure and support the creation of new, high-quality jobs in fields such as research, innovation, 

construction, engineering and much more, helping to grow the local economy. 

In putting together the bid for funding, we developed an innovative approach to estates and 

infrastructure investment built on strong partnerships with local authorities, education providers and 

the private sector to maximise our impact as an anchor network. By working in this way we will be able 

to leverage any infrastructure investments to maximise the opportunities for local people to gain good 

employment opportunities and maximise the benefit to the local economy through supply chain and 

related opportunities.217  

 

8.2.3 Delivering proposals for clinical change 

Additional work was undertaken during 2022 to determine what would be required from an estates and 

capital investment perspective to deliver the proposed clinical changes set out in this business case, 

given the high degree of uncertainty around the timescale and process for progressing additional 

schemes through the New Hospitals Programme at that time. It was subsequently confirmed that the 

Expression of Interest to the New Hospitals Programme was not successful and therefore the capital 

investment required to implement the clinical change proposals would need to be delivered from within 

existing financial resources.  

Assumptions were taken into consideration based on existing service provision, forecast change in the 

near future (e.g., Emergency Department builds in DPoW and SGH that are nearing completion) and the 

space requirements and clinical adjacencies to achieve the future potential of the models of care. The 

potential models (that remained in scope) were reviewed against current service provision and whether 

investment would be required for new builds or refurbishment to ensure successful delivery of the 

services in the future.   

 
217 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2021) Building Better Places: Our ambition to build a 
healthier future for the Humber Healthier Humber Prospectus 

We have adopted a unique approach to our capital investment programme to ensure that it serves 
as a catalyst for economic and social revitalisation on a much grander scale, transforming the lives 
and welfare of people and communities across the Humber region. 

Page 257

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Building-Better-Places-Healthier-Humber-Prospectus.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

200 
  

In undertaking this work, the following assumptions and considerations were made: 

• The space requirements are based on the ‘original Models 5yr growth’ forecasted models. 

• The existing bed space numbers/quantities for the UEC areas are based on the completion of 

both new Emergency Department projects at SGH and DPoW. 

• There is a working assumption that the proposed capital solutions are operationally and 

technically deliverable, further feasibility work is required to provide a detailed technical 

solution. 

• The calculations are based on retaining exiting bed/space/place/theatre quantities without 

undertaking further upgrades to achieve full HTM/HNB Compliance. 

• There is a working assumption that the existing/generated spare capacity can be re-utilised to 

address shortfalls under each of the models. 

The projected outline costs are net of any investment that would be required to respond to growth in 

demand (not associated with the proposed service changes) or comply with legal or regulatory 

requirements. 

The anticipated capital investment required to deliver the proposed changes is £16 million, which 

could be phased over a three-year period.218 

In terms of capital affordability, the proposed investments could be accommodated within the Trust’s 

internal capital programme over a period of three years.  The alternative site option that was considered 

– where specialist services were consolidated at Scunthorpe General Hospital – was not deliverable due 

to the significant capital that would be required over and above the internal capital investment that is 

available to the Trusts. 

 

  

 
218 Details of the capital investments required to deliver the proposed changes are set out in section 6.4.4. 

The proposals within this business case – and the estates changes needed to implement them – 

can be delivered within existing financial resources are not dependent on securing external capital 

investment. 

Page 258



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

201 
  

8.3 Workforce 

 
Summary Box 8.5 Workforce 

8.3.1 Current position 

HUTH and NLaG together employ more than 15,000 whole time equivalent (WTE) staff across the two 

acute hospital trusts. There are a further 6,800 (WTE) roles in primary, community and mental health 

providers and approximately 21,700 (WTE) within social care across the Humber.  We know from our 

engagement with staff that making a difference to patients is really important to them and the main 

reason that many feel proud to work within health and care. We also heard from staff that many feel 

under pressure due to the impact of vacancies or staff shortages within their department or teams. A 

healthy work/life balance was the top priority for staff surveyed and they told us the one thing we have 

to get right through this programme of work is workforce, specifically staffing levels and ensuring staff 

are involved and feel valued.  

The current workforce position across both trusts is detailed in section 2.4. Both HUTH and NLaG face 

challenges recruiting to clinical roles, doctors, nurses, midwives and allied health professionals (AHPs). 

Despite active recruitment campaigns, there are still significant vacancies across all hospitals (especially 

in specialist positions) and key roles that cannot currently be filled. Most of the resulting gaps in rotas 

are being filled through a mixture of agency and locum staff and our existing staff undertaking additional 

overtime. This in turn increases pressure on remaining staff within our organisations.  

Within the next decade we can expect well above 30% of our staff, including those in hard-to-fill posts, 

to retire. Our Primary Care Networks are also experiencing an increase in GPs retiring with lower 

number of GPs in training to replace them. Social care partners experience difficulty recruiting and 

extremely high staff turnover rates – up to 30% in some localities. Upwards of 40% of registered clinical 

staff and professional corporate staff who leave, relocate away from the Humber to pursue career 

development opportunities that they cannot find locally.  

This situation is not sustainable in the long term, and it is important that we offer our staff rewarding 

careers that do not stretch them too thinly. 

Our workforce is our biggest asset, yet we are struggling to recruit and retain the expert clinical staff 

we need to continue to deliver safe, high-quality services.  

Our current staff are under pressure due to vacancies and (national and international) skills 

shortages. They are often stretched too thinly trying to cover services across multiple sites and are 

not always being deployed in the most effective ways. They do not always get the time and 

opportunities to train and develop their skills. 

There is an appetite – and a necessity – to work differently.  

The proposals for change are supported by innovative workforce models, new roles and new ways 

of working that will make better use of the workforce we have today and help us to attract and 

retain the workforce we need for tomorrow. 

Page 259



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

202 
  

8.3.2 A collaborative approach 

To support the proposals for clinical change within this pre-consultation business case, a robust 

approach to workforce considerations was required. This involved comprehensive workforce planning to 

model future workforce requirements for each of the potential models of care (detailed in section 

10.19). It also involved looking at the wider strategic ambitions for our workforce across the Humber 

health and care system and considering new and innovative approaches to tackling our workforce 

challenges.  

During 2021/22 in depth evaluation of the Humber health and care workforce was undertaken. This 

included a review of: 

• The size, skills, demographics, vacancy and staff turnover over rates as well as key equality 

profiling analysis of HUTH and NLaG staff. 

• The number of staff, by staff group, of the other Humber primary care, community and mental 

health providers workforce. 

• A Staff ‘What Matters to You’ survey, to understand staff needs and wants from the Humber 

Acute Services change programme. 

• Existing workforce feedback and data from other sources, such as the NHS national staff survey, 

Workforce Race Equality Survey, Workforce Disability Equality Survey and Gender Pay Gap data. 

Using the intelligence and ongoing engagement with staff, HR directors, clinical teams and staff-side 

representatives, the Humber Acute Services People Proposal was developed. Representatives from Hull 

University and Lincoln University have been involved in the development and evaluation of the potential 

clinical models and proposals within this business case. This is important because universities require 

sufficient notice to make changes to their syllabus and be clear on placements for students applying for 

their courses. It has also been extremely beneficial to have our local universities involved from the 

outset because they offer a different perspective on what could be done differently in the future. 

University teams have met with the programme team and wider clinical stakeholders to discuss how 

further opportunities can be developed, identifying a number of areas for action. 

8.3.3 Our Vision – One Humber workforce 

We worked with staff across health and care in the Humber and with partners in education to develop a 

workforce vision and strategy, to support the proposals within this business case. The vision goes 

beyond staffing the clinical models within this PCBC and will support the broader development of the 

health and care workforce across the Humber.  

The Humber Acute Services workforce vision is closely aligned to the Humber and North Yorkshire 

People Strategy.219 The vision and wider strategy have been informed by ongoing staff engagement, 

which has highlighted the core elements that will enable staff to thrive and deliver the various new 

models of care. 

The concept of having a ‘One Humber’ workforce in the future, was a vital part of the vision developed. 

This concept is about making it easier for staff to work across different parts of the health and care 

system, to gain wider experience and open up more opportunities for staff to develop their knowledge 

and skills within our region. A more collaborative approach will also prevent organisations competing for 

 
219 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (2022) People Strategy and Function (April 2022 – 
March 2027) People Strategy  

Page 260

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/20220713-10i-People-Strategy-Final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

203 
  

the same pool of talented individuals and fixing a problem in one area by creating a new one elsewhere 

in the system. Improving staff experience and developing a more collaborative and supportive culture 

underpins the delivery of this vision.  

 
Picture 8:A Humber workforce strategy 

8.3.4 Our Workforce Action Plan 

From this vision, we developed a workforce action plan, that will support delivery of the proposals for 

change to pathways and models of care detailed in this business case. The workforce action plan 

incorporates a range of actions, grouped under three key themes. 

 
Summary Box 8.6 Workforce action plan 

• New roles and ways of working – one Humber team, centred on the needs of the patient.  

• Flexible and rewarding careers – supporting retention and attracting new workforce.  

• Levelling Up Humber – maximising our impact as anchor institutions. 

Page 261



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

204 
  

8.3.4.1 New roles and ways of working – One Humber team 

 

The proposed new ways of working include opportunities for staff from different organisations to form a 

blended team, working shoulder to shoulder in GP practices, other primary care locations, and within 

new town centre locations nearer to the patient to improve access. We have begun the journey of 

developing more cross-organisational opportunities and supporting new ways of working but there is 

much still to do. Across the two acute hospital trusts – HUTH and NLaG – we have developed a number 

of joint clinical roles and a mechanism for supporting collaborative working across both trusts. We will 

build on the successes of this approach, working with a wider range of partners across the health and 

care system to develop more flexible ways of working and opportunities for our staff to develop their 

skills and work ways that follow the patient and their needs, rather than being constrained by 

organisational boundaries.  

To support these new ways of working we will: 

• Co-design new training models with our university and further education providers. Our HE 

partners have embraced this and have confirmed their ability to assume multi-site and multi-

team working practices into their training, including lone working competencies, within their 

under-graduate and post-graduate courses.  

• Introduce digital workforce solutions that support these new ways of working and link not just 

clinical systems but people for enhanced communication. Our digital partners are fully engaged 

in this aspiration. 

• Work with providers across health and care to create new career pathways that operate across 

organisational boundaries and span the length and breadth of patient pathways. This will 

create the means for staff to move to roles within the pathways they have trained in without 

feeling that they need to relocate out of the Humber to gain new opportunities.  

• Invest in multi-provider site orientation inductions to provide all staff across all locations with 

the induction programme they need to establish themselves in these new roles. Agile working 

and agile leadership models will be explored. Supervision and accessible, timely clinical support 

and supervision would be provided through digital solutions.  

• Consider how we can support staff mobility, particularly considering the locations where many 

of our current staff live and limited availability to transport options. Our approach to staff 

transport will be addressed through the transport action plan. 

• Seek to align pay and non-pay benefits across organisations through the creation of a local 

Humber Terms and Conditions agreement. The Humber Terms and Conditions will seek to 

harmonise, wherever possible, all local pay reward in addition to providing a robust portfolio of 

non-pay staff benefits to all staff across the health and care sector and reduce instability and 

turnover with staff moving between organisations within the same care pathway. 

Our staff are spread too thinly across hospital sites, with relatively small services provided from a 

number of different hospitals; this means that we are not always able to meet clinical standards set 

nationally and that jobs for our staff are tougher than in other parts of the country.  

The proposed models of care are made possible with blended staffing models where some roles 

become multi-locational to provide timely care to patients and to improve patient flow. They 

maximise the opportunities for staff to work differently and gain experience across the whole 

pathway of care, improving the experience for patients and creating opportunities for exciting 

careers in our region.  

Page 262



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

205 
  

• Look to reduce organisational and system barriers that stifle movement of staff between roles 

and providers so staff can find the roles, the career opportunities and the terms and conditions 

that provide what they are seeking.   

The proposed pathway changes and potential clinical models all identify the importance of developing 

alternative roles, such as Physician Associates, Advanced Care Practitioners, Nursing Associates and a 

wide range of Allied Health Professional roles. We are working with our Higher Education partners to 

ensure the relevant training opportunities and placement environments will be available to maximise 

the uptake of training for current and prospective future staff into these diverse roles. This will be 

critical to enabling us to deliver the new models of care described.  

The specific ways in which new workforce models could be deployed and descriptions of the types of 

new roles being developed to support the models of care and proposals for change are set out in detail 

as part of the description of the proposals (see section 6.4.2).  

8.3.4.1.1 Pathway Career Plans 

To create a system workforce, we need to embrace system working across all aspects of the workforce. 

We will therefore create career pathways aligned to patient pathways and transcending organisational 

boundaries.   

Both trusts have developed ongoing staff retention plans to reduce the number of avoidable leavers, for 

example the NLaG Nursing Retention Plan, supported by the ICS Workforce Consortium, which focuses 

on areas such as individual career development, flexible working practices and ensuring nurses are able 

to work in environments and cultures that meet their expectations. We are exploring the creation of 

‘pathway career plans’ which will allow staff to take their previous training and experiences and develop 

these across the entirety of the patient pathway. In turn this means we must create the opportunities 

for staff from multiple providers to come together and train and from this reduce the burden of 

bureaucracy within recruitment practices to allow the ease of movement of staff between providers 

(without reducing the rigour or safety of the recruitment process).  

Supporting pathway career plans, also increases the scope for career progression and range of roles 

available within the Humber. Examples of new roles and how they can support career progression 

through pathway career plans include the following: 

• Midwifery Healthcare Support Roles (Band 4 – a stepping stone for those wishing to progress to 

train as a Registered Midwife through an Apprenticeship or Higher Education route)  

• Advanced Clinical Practitioners (Band 7/8a – for those wishing to develop higher level clinical 

skills to complement Junior Doctor positions or higher-level nursing/midwife/AHP roles) 

• Paramedic Consultants (Band 7/8a – to support Primary Care and/or diversionary schemes to 

reduce unnecessary Emergency Department attendances) 

• Physician Associates (Band 7/8a – to complement Junior Doctor positions within Primary Care, 

some acute specialities and Emergency Departments) 

We will aim to provide newly appointed staff rotational induction periods where they can work along 

the length and breadth of the pathway, rotating through employers so they understand each aspect and 

role and how it fits within the system. This could include working across health, social care and even 

voluntary and community sector organisations as we seek to integrate our ways of working further 

across all parts of the system. Within the pathways new and extended roles will be championed to 

support career development for those seeking it, to ensure we can retain skills within the Humber area 

wherever possible.  

Page 263



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

206 
  

Pathway Career Plans will: 

• Signpost Step On/Step Off points so staff can see what is required to progress through the 

career plan.  

• Show clear linkages between different career plans with transfer points i.e. the skills and 

competence needed to move between patient pathways and different career paths/roles. 

• Support multi-provider and multi-staff group joint training opportunities (to develop pathway 

networks and learning from others different perspectives and experiences). 

The ability for our staff to move between roles and organisations, developing their skills, competencies 

and relationships will become increasingly important to enable the pathways changes and models of 

care proposed within this business case.  

8.3.4.2 Flexible and rewarding careers 

 

8.3.4.2.1 Research, training and development opportunities  

Recruitment to small specialty teams can be a problem, particularly for medical staff. Consultants often 

prefer to work within larger teams, offering them opportunities to experience the wide-ranging aspects 

of their chosen clinical discipline, and participate in research activity and educational roles. These are 

important aspects of a consultant’s on-going development and a key consideration for candidates 

looking to apply for consultant roles. Small departments can also be less attractive to new consultants 

due to the increased demands to provide out of hours on-call services. The ability to have a work-life 

balance is a key consideration of future employees across all areas of the workforce when choosing 

where they wish to work.  

For our nursing, midwifery and AHP workforce, working within small teams can similarly limit the 

training and development opportunities that our trusts can offer. Ensuring staff have time to take up 

training opportunities can be more challenging in smaller teams where the impact of vacancies or 

absence is greater. Moreover, staff working in services with lower activity numbers can have fewer 

opportunities to treat patients with rare or more complex conditions.  

A key consideration in developing the proposals for change has been ensuring our workforce can have 

rewarding careers, working more flexibly and having ample opportunities to develop their skills and 

expertise in their chosen field. Working in larger teams across the organisations, with the ability to 

rotate between sites and sectors (as appropriate), will enable us to provide more opportunities for staff 

to undertake research – working with our academic partners in both Hull and Lincoln – training, and 

professional development, offering a wide range of attractive careers in the Humber area. 

8.3.4.2.2 Our workforce of the future 

Whilst a large proportion of our current workforce is due to retire within the next ten years, population 

growth statistics show a significant net increase in students from 10 years of age over the same period 

Staff told us that having a good work/life balance was important to them. A significant number of 

staff also told us that good career development opportunities and feeling valued for what they do 

was most important to them.  

In order to improve the sustainability of our services and implement more robust models of care, it 

will be important to ensure the career opportunities we offer are rewarding so that we can retain 

existing skills within the system and attract new entrants into the sector.  

Page 264



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

207 
  

of time. It is more important than ever that we can successfully engage with children and young people 

in our region to encourage them to consider a career within the health and care sector.  

There are many good examples in our region of partnerships between healthcare providers and 

educational establishment, such as the St Marys College in Hull which has become a Medical, Health and 

Social Care Academy. However, there is much more that could be done to embed good practice within 

schools across the Humber and offer more children and young people the opportunity to develop their 

careers within our sector. We aim to address this through the programme by forming greater 

partnership working with schools, colleges and other education partners, sharing best practice and 

investing in the work undertaken through the Humber and North Yorkshire Workforce Consortium. 

Feedback from local school academies and Further Education (FE) colleges is that not all students want 

to or are able to go to university. Many students aspire to join the health and social care workforce but 

are seeking direct entry and opportunities to train ‘on the job’. We will partner with apprenticeship 

providers to offer extended apprenticeships which: 

• Support direct entry in the health and care workforce. 

• Provide apprenticeships of longer durations to support those with lower academic ability. 

• Partner with private sector employer to provide rotations so trainees can experience different 

working locations and practices. 

In partnership with the Humber and North Yorkshire Workforce Consortium, we aim to provide a job 

shop/career service to everyone in our communities to raise the profile of health and social care 

careers. In particular, we will work with our education partners to deliver career interventions in school, 

support with the provision of information and advice and deliver a work experience programme for 

those considering careers within the sector.  

A solid and sustained investment in local students will support the retention of local talent and help to 

build a more resilient workforce for the future. It also supports economic regeneration, putting money 

into our local educational establishments and retaining more spending within the local economy. 

Working proactively with students from our deprived communities to offer genuinely attractive career 

prospects can improve educational attainment levels and support the narrowing of health inequalities.  

8.3.4.3 Levelling up Humber 

 

Across the Humber, ‘Human health and social work activities’ is the third largest industry by numbers 

employed (after manufacturing and wholesale trade), except in East Riding of Yorkshire where it is the 

second largest.220  Many of the staff working within our sector live in deprived communities and face a 

 
220 Nomis (2022) official census and labour market statistics – jobs by industry Labour Market Profiles 

Some of the most deprived wards in the country can be found within the Humber region and there 

are wide disparities in income, employment, education and training and levels of crime. Many 

individuals and communities across the Humber are disproportionately affected by ill-health and 

premature death.   

Working with partners to improve access to skills, training and employment will help to address 

some of the underlying issues that lead to poorer health outcomes in our population and support 

improved health through good quality jobs and career opportunities.  

Page 265

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157109/report.aspx?town=hull#tabjobs


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

208 
  

wide range of health inequalities. The Humber population has lower educational attainment level and 

higher unemployment rates than the England average.  

Location No Quals Other 
Quals 

NVQ1 or 
above 

NVQ2 or 
above 

NVQ3 or 
above 

NVQ4 or 
above 

East Riding  4.6% 3.7% 91.7% 81.2% 61.3% 41.8% 

Hull 11.3% 6.8% 81.9% 65.9% 44.6% 23.4% 

North Lincolnshire 7.5% 8.1% 84.4% 72.6% 52.8% 32.4% 

North East Lincs. 12.1% 8.5% 79.4% 68.2% 43.2% 25.2% 

Yorkshire & Humber 7.0% 6.2% 86.9% 75.9% 57.7% 37.3% 

England 6.2% 5.7% 88.2% 78.2% 61.3% 42.8% 

Table 8.3 Population Educational Attainment Levels by Local Authority221 

As anchor institutions we are working with partners to do more to support local people to access 

training opportunities to gain the skills and qualifications to gain direct entry into paid employment in 

the health and care sector.  

8.3.4.3.1 Expanding apprenticeships 

Apprenticeships can expand the scope of career progression within the workforce for those not able to 

pursue university or Higher Education degree routes, which is particularly important for staff with family 

commitments when considering career progression. In addition, they can support new workforce to 

enter the sector from within our local communities. Apprenticeships are a key part of the pathway 

career model described above. Targeted investment within deprived communities, with support through 

accessible career pathways and supported apprenticeships, will help to increase the skills base and 

employment levels within those communities and make a significant impact on underlying health 

inequalities.  

Presently HUTH and NLaG offer over 48 different apprenticeships, delivered by 30 training providers, 

ranging from Business Administration (Level 2/3) through to Senior Leadership (Masters Level 7). 

Apprenticeships for clinical registered roles, such as Physiotherapy (Level 6), Operating Departmental 

Practitioner (Level 6) and Occupational Therapist (Level 6) are beginning to be offered too at HUTH. 

 Clinical apprenticeship 

programmes offered: 

Non-Clinical apprenticeship 

programmes offered: 

TOTAL 

HUTH 20 21 41 

NLaG 11 23 33 

TOTAL 31 44  

Table 8.4 Current apprenticeship programmes (NLaG and HUTH)222 

The majority of apprenticeships are offered to current staff. As part of our commitment through the 

anchor network we are seeking to expand the offer of direct entry to students from local school 

academies and colleges of further education who meet the apprenticeship specification and display the 

values and behaviours sought within the NHS workforce. In designing new apprenticeship programmes 

we will seek to provide placements across a range of service locations and providers to develop pathway 

workforce teams and develop the ‘One Humber workforce’. The system-wide apprenticeship approach 

 
221 Nomis (2022) official census and labour market statistics – qualifications Labour Market Profiles 
222 Internal trust data (June 2022) 

Page 266

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157109/report.aspx?town=hull#tabquals


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

209 
  

to career pathways will open up opportunities for unpaid carers, volunteers and social care staff to 

move into NHS roles as part of flexible career development routes.  

We will continue to work with partners across the health and care sector and in the wider economy to 

develop new and exciting career opportunities for local people. Opportunities that we are currently 

exploring with local businesses include:  

• NHS electrician and engineering apprentices holding rotational placements in the offshore wind 

and renewable energy industry. 

• Accountants holding rotational placements in local auditors and accountancy firms. 

• Healthcare Support Workers spending time in the independent social care sector. 

This reciprocal approach would increase the health and social care talent pools and provide our 

communities with occupational training leading to sustainable employment with health and social care 

organisations.  

This approach, combined with expanding the range of apprenticeships offered, would begin to address 

the forecast workforce shortfalls HUTH and NLaG will experience within the coming 5 to 10 years. This is 

particularly acute within Allied Health Professional occupations.  

HUTH AHP workforce age profile NLaG AHP workforce age profile 

• 26.1% of Radiology (Diagnostic) are 50yrs+ • 58% of Dieticians are 50yrs+ 

• 21% of ODPs are 50yrs+ • 36.5% of OT staff are 50Yyrs+ 

• 18.3% of Orthotics/Optic staff are 50yrs+ • 23.1% of Radiology (Diagnostic) are 50yrs+ 

• 17.1% of Dieticians are 50yrs+ • 22.2% of Chiropodists are 50yrs+ 

• 12.7% of OT staff are 50yrs+ • 20% of SALT AHPs are 50yrs+ 

• 11.5% of Physiotherapy are 50yrs+ • 15% of Physiotherapy are 50yrs+ 

• 10.9% of SALT AHPs are 50yrs+ • 12.5% of Orthotics/Optic staff are 50yrs+ 

• 5.6% Radiology (Therapeutic) are 50yrs+  

Table 8.5 AHP workforce age profile223 

8.3.4.3.2 Developing volunteering and working with the voluntary sector 

A wide range of volunteering opportunities exist already within our acute trusts. These include roles for 

former patients supporting others through rehabilitation, volunteer fundraisers, befrienders, gardeners 

and more.  

In addition, the voluntary and community sector plays an increasingly important role in delivering the 

new pathways described in this business case, both through volunteers and paid staff, who are a vital 

part of the health and care workforce. Voluntary, community and social enterprise sector partners can 

support delivery of the new models of care in a number of ways, including: 

• Delivering transport solutions enabling timely discharges and improving patient flow. 

• Supporting patients to get online and access digital systems. 

• Providing support with food, shopping and company for patients going home from hospital or 

support at home to prevent the need for an admission to hospital in the first place. 

• Providing a range of social and emotional support for people waiting for treatment or living with 

particular conditions.  

 
223 Internal trust data (March 2022) 

Page 267



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

210 
  

Many of our current volunteers in acute hospitals and voluntary sector providers are older people who 

are retired. They are an incredibly important part of the unpaid workforce and we must continue to 

support them. Nevertheless, there is an opportunity to diversify our volunteer base and link 

volunteering opportunities to defined career pathways. The work we will undertake to develop pathway 

careers will support us to link volunteering and work experience opportunities to apprenticeships, 

training courses and jobs within the sector. With support of the Humber and North Yorkshire Voluntary, 

Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector Collaborative, we are actively exploring how we can 

increase opportunities for volunteering for younger people and those who are unemployed or 

economically inactive in our region to open up career development opportunities, grow our own local 

workforce and help to tackle the underlying health inequalities our communities face.  

8.3.4.3.3 Support to get to work 

The cost and availability of transport to get to work can be a problem for many, especially those living 

within our most deprived communities. Car ownership rates are low with 35% of household in Hull and 

27% in North East Lincolnshire having no access to a car. Public transport links between our hospitals 

and major population centres are in place for the most part, however, links between hospital sites and 

between hospitals and other healthcare facilities (e.g., primary care centres) are poor or non-existent.  

Travel bursaries are available for students to access placements, however, many are not eligible for the 

support because they already travel a significant distance to access their University course. Working 

with our Higher Education and Further Education partners we are exploring how these barriers can be 

addressed via virtual learning or local campuses.  

At least a fifth of the current Humber workforce use public transport or other means, such as walking or 

cycling, to commute to work, therefore we are actively considering how we support staff to work and/or 

training across multiple locations. Following feedback from current staff, we are also considering how 

support for staff with childcare and other caring responsibilities could be improved. This includes 

considering on-site provision and working with local businesses and our Local Authorities to address 

supply-side issues as well as looking at shift patterns and rota planning to provide greater flexibility to 

staff with caring responsibilities. This will not only help existing staff but also increase uptake of 

employment opportunities amongst those in our local communities.  

 

The proposals for change are supported by innovative workforce models, new roles and new ways 

of working that will make better use of the workforce we have today and help us to attract and 

retain the workforce we need for tomorrow. 

Maximising opportunities for staff to work differently and gain experience across the whole pathway 

of care, will improve the experience for patients and create opportunities for exciting careers in our 

region. 

Working with partners to improve access to skills, training and employment will help to address 

some of the underlying issues that lead to poorer health outcomes in our population and support 

improved health through good quality jobs and career opportunities.  

Page 268



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

211 
  

8.4 Travel and Transport 

 
Summary Box 8.7 

8.4.1 Current position  

Each year more than 280,000 people arrived at our Emergency Departments, around 1.2 million 

outpatient appointments take place, there are around 148,000 surgeries and inpatient stays in our 

hospitals and nearly 9000 babies are born at one of our sites. Over 15,000 (WTE) members of staff work 

in our hospitals, typically coming into work between 3 and 6 days per week. When added together that 

is a lot of journeys (around 25,000 every day) as people travel across the region to access care and 

employment. 

Many of our patients and their loved ones find it difficult to get to our hospitals. Those who access our 

services more often (people in the most deprived areas, older residents, those with mental health issues 

etc.) are also those least likely to have access to reliable and affordable transport. The range of 

transport options available and the criteria for accessing them is complex, confusing and inconsistent. 

This makes it difficult for patients, carers, visitors and staff to navigate. Transport for patients is 

currently commissioned separately in each locality, with different arrangements in place between health 

organisations and local authorities.   

In many of our neighbourhoods, particularly the more rural areas, public transport provision is limited, 

which can mean a journey of several hours (each way) for an appointment, that lasts 20 minutes. Due to 

problems with accessing timely and affordable transport some patients are struggling to attend 

appointments. When being discharged from hospital, some patients have to wait for transport to 

become available, which at times means they are waiting on wards and impacting on their patient 

experience and also on the numbers of beds available for incoming patients. Staff also find it difficult to 

get to work, and parking is often challenging, resulting in unnecessary stress at the start of a shift. 

The impact on travel times for each of the proposals have been modelled and were considered through 

the evaluation process to determine which models of care were viable to be taken forward for public 

consultation (see section 10.4.3.3.5). Whilst the pathway changes proposed will reduce the overall need 

for patients to travel to hospital sites, there would be a travel time impact on remaining patients. In 

addition, the new ways of working proposed, whilst beneficial to staff development could also mean a 

greater need for staff to travel to provide care in different localities as they work in more integrated 

teams across primary, community, social care and hospital services. There is a continued need to focus 

on improving transport solutions so that staff and patients can get to the places where they need to be.  

Many groups, families and individuals within our population face barriers to accessing health and care 

provision, which can exacerbate existing inequalities in health outcomes. Our rural and coastal 

geography, combined with high levels of deprivation, can make it difficult for people to get around to 

access healthcare, visit loved ones in hospital and access employment opportunities.  

Recognising that it is not possible to make changes without some impact, we have mapped travel times 

to limit the impact on those facing barriers to access and worked with partners in local authorities, the 

private sector and across the voluntary and community (VCSE) sector to develop potential transport 

solutions for patients, visitors and staff.  

Page 269



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

212 
  

8.4.2 A Collaborative Approach 

Recognising the vital importance of travel and transport issues to the success of any change programme, 

we adopted a co-production approach to developing travel and transport solutions. In developing this 

pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) we have taken a proactive approach to engaging with key 

stakeholders. We developed a transport working group to bring together the key stakeholders who can 

help put in place the transport solutions we require to make the models of care work and address 

existing and potential future barriers to access.  

Our transport working group includes representation from a wide range of stakeholders with a role to 

play in transport issues, including: 

• Local Authority transport planners 

• Public transport providers 

• Community transport providers 

• Patient transport providers 

• Ambulance services 

• Voluntary and community sector organisations 

• Citizen representatives 

• Healthwatch 

Through the transport working group, we co-produced a high-level transport action plan, which 

identifies key themes and areas for action, building on existing Local Authority strategic transport plans 

and other intelligence gathered through our ongoing engagement with patients, staff and the public. 

The transport action plan will continue to be developed through and beyond public consultation as the 

requirements and needs of patients, staff, carers and visitors become clearer through the consultation. 

8.4.3 Our Transport Action Plan 

Co-produced through the Transport Working Group, we developed a transport action plan with three 

key strategic aims.  

 
Summary Box 8.8 Transport action plan 

The transport action plan will continue to be developed throughout the next stages of the programme. 

The actions required will be influenced by what we hear through public consultation.  

8.4.3.1.1 Understanding holistic needs 

As we have developed the proposed pathway changes and potential models of care, we have sought to 

refocus care around the needs of the patient. This approach is required also when it comes to transport 

solutions. In our engagement with service-users, staff and the public it was clear that a transport need 

does not always require a transport solution to address it. Sometimes, the solution can be changing the 

way care is provided or supporting a patients’ needs in a different way.  

• Understand holistic needs – responsive services that flex about the patients’ needs. 

• Design out unnecessary travel – reduce overall need to travel for care. 

• Make transport easier – simplify the transport offer. 

Page 270



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

213 
  

We will continue to work with our Local Authority and VCSE sector partners to improve the digital 

literacy of our population, enabling them to access services that are increasingly available digitally. This 

not only improves their access to healthcare but can also support with improving overall wellbeing by 

increasing connection with friends, family and wider society. In addition, Local Authority partners will 

lead on addressing poor Wi-Fi / connectivity in villages and areas without connection, supporting this 

system ambition. 

We will work with our transport providers across public, private and voluntary sector to develop 

transport solutions around the opening times of services, including “out of hours”, making it easier for 

both patients and staff to access them. This will become increasingly important as more planned care 

services open longer hours, to maximise efficiency and productivity.  

As funding becomes available, we seek to implement intelligent scheduling to enable people to book 

appointments at times that suit them and for services to meet the broader needs of the patient. 

Intelligent scheduling means taking into account if someone requires patient transport, and if so, put 

them later in the clinic to allow time for pick up, or understanding if someone requires disabled parking 

and the optimum time of the day to book the appointment.  

8.4.3.1.2 Design out unnecessary travel 

The way in which our hospital services are currently configured, generates a lot of unnecessary journeys. 

This occurs for a number of reasons, for example: 

• We schedule appointments around the needs of the service not the needs of the patient 

meaning the same person often has to make multiple journeys when they could have had all 

their tests and appointments on the same day. 

• We bring a lot of people to hospital regularly for check-up or follow-up appointments that may 

not be needed (but then when they actually do need help, they have to wait a long time until 

the next scheduled follow-up or end up being admitted as an emergency). 

• We often require an initial outpatient appointment before ordering diagnostic test which rules 

out the need for them to be under hospital consultant care, rather than enabling GPs or other 

healthcare professional to direct them straight to the test. 

The pathway changes proposed in this business case for urgent and emergency care and for planned 

care in particular, will support us to tackle these inefficient and ineffective ways of working to better 

meet the needs of our patients.  

Increased access to outpatient appointments and diagnostics in GP and community settings, more 

virtual clinics and services such as Hospital at Home and virtual wards will all contribute to reducing the 

need for patients and their loved ones to travel to and from hospital sites.  

 

8.4.3.1.3 Simplify transport options 

The transport working group recognised the situation described by patients, carers and staff that the 

current transport offer is incredibly disjointed and difficult to navigate. The working group brings 

together the key planners, funders and providers of transport across the region and therefore will be an 

The proposed new models of care and pathway changes will support efforts to design out 

unnecessary travel and ensure people only go to hospital when it is absolutely necessary.  

Page 271



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

214 
  

important mechanism for delivering the ambitions in the action plan to reduce the complexity and make 

it easier for our population to get from A to B.  

A range of actions will be taken forward by the group, including looking at how we can improve the 

information provided by hospitals and other healthcare providers at the point of referral. Simple 

changes such as making clear to people where on the site they need to be, which car park is best to park 

in and how long they can expect it to take to get to the building can make a big difference to patients 

and their loved ones. In response to feedback from patients, staff and other stakeholders we will also 

consider our approach to car parking and public transport provision to ensure we are putting in place 

sustainable options for the future, considering the environmental impact of travel between sites.  

We will look to simplify information to patients about their transport options, ensuring patients who do 

not meet criteria for patient transport are signposted to alternatives such as community transport.  

We will work with our local authority partners to review and redesign bus routes, exploring the 

possibility for direct transport between the hospital sites for patients, visitors and staff. We will also 

work with community transport providers and voluntary car drivers to explore how we could build 

resilience in the services and offer greater consistency across the region.  

8.4.3.1.4 Supporting inter-hospital transfers 

Timely and safe transfers of care between hospital sites is a fundamental element to ensuring the 

proposed model of care operates effectively. The number and type of transfers likely to be required was 

modelled in detail as part of developing the different potential models of care and was a factor 

considered through the evaluation of the different options.224 The workforce required to support timely 

and safe transfers, particularly of paediatric patients, has been identified and included within the 

workforce modelling.  

We will continue to work with partners, including local authorities, ambulance providers and other 

public, private and third sector bodies to design the required transport solutions as part of planning for 

implementation.  

8.4.3.2 Priorities and Actions 

The action plan covers three key areas and has identified a number of key actions under each theme: 

 
224 See section 10.4.3.3.3 and 10.4.3.3.5 for further details. 

Theme 1 year 5 years 10 years 

Understanding holistic 
needs 

Provide more 
responsive services 
that flex around 
patient needs 
(including transport 
and accessibility 
constraints) 

• Improve information 
provided in 
appointment letters 
based on patient 
feedback 

• Intelligent 
appointment 
booking system – 
recognises individual 
needs (e.g., caring 
responsibilities/ 
access needs) 

• MDTs across 
departments/ 
sectors 

• More accessible 
buildings 

• Design-in 
accessibility, drop-
off areas etc. 

Page 272



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 8 – Enablers 

 

215 
  

Table 8.6 Summary of transport action plan priorities 

The Transport Action Plan will continue to be developed over the coming months and following 

consultation – taking into account the feedback provided by patients, their loved ones, carers, staff and 

other key stakeholders – to ensure suitable transport options are in place that enable patients and staff 

to access the services they need. 

 

 
Summary Box 8.9  

Design out 
unnecessary travel 

Reduce the need for 
patients to travel to 
hospital, bringing more 
care closer to home 

• Hospital at Home 
and virtual wards  

• Transformation of 
outpatient services 

• Hospital at Home 
and virtual wards 

• Community 
Diagnostics Centres 

• Intelligent 
appointment 
booking system – 
prevents duplication 
and long waits  

• Continued expansion 
of telehealth 
solutions 

Make transport easier  

Simply the transport 
offer to make it easier 
for people to get the 
help they need 

• Single directory of 
services (linking all 
transport available 
and how to apply all 
in one place) 

• Explore potential 
expansion of staff 
shuttle bus to 
patients/visitors 

• Work with local 
authorities to review 
public transport 
routes and explore 
park and ride 
opportunities 

• Explore potential 
reductions and/or 
fee-free crossings for 
staff and patients 
with the Humber 
Bridge Board  

 

Addressing the challenges within our hospital services requires a system response and changes 

across the whole health and care system.  Where specific pathways or projects need to be in place 

to enable the proposed clinical model to work, joint management arrangements are in place the 

ensure these deliver within the relevant timescales.  

System-wide collaborative arrangements are in place to design and deliver the critical enabling 

projects that will be required to make the proposals work – this includes developing the workforce, 

transport, digital and estates solutions that will be required.  

The next chapter describes how we intend to approach public consultation on the proposals within 

the business case and what will happen next.  

Page 273



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

216 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 9 

Approach to Consultation and Next 

Steps 

  

Page 274



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

217 
  

9. Approach to Consultation and Next Steps 

 
Summary Box 9.1 

 

 

The purpose of this Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) is to demonstrate the need for significant 

changes to be made to the way in which hospital services are organised and delivered across the 

Humber region and present potential options for the future that represent the best solutions to the 

challenges faced. The proposals set out within this PCBC seek to deliver high quality, safe and 

sustainable health services for the people of the Humber.  

it is vitally important that decision-makers have a full understanding of the potential impact of these 

changes to enable them to make informed decisions about the best way forward. Undertaking 

formal public consultation will provide a richer understanding of the views, priorities and concerns of 

those who might be impacted by the proposals to support the decision-making process. 

Our Consultation approach will ensure the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board 

(ICB) meets all of its statutory duties and legal requirements in relation to service change being 

mindful of:  

• NHS Integrated Care Board legal duties 

• Local authority scrutiny functions 

• The Gunning Principles 

Our Consultation approach will be shaped by guidance, best practice standards and learning from 

others to ensure it is undertaken in an open and inclusive way. Underpinned by key principles to be 

open, inclusive and accessible, we will: 

• Identify the appropriate target audiences and adapt methods of engagement to meet their 

needs and expectations. 

• Be innovative and creative, going beyond the traditional ‘town hall’ approach and getting out 

into communities. 

• Rely on independent expertise to ensure a robust approach to collection and analysis of 

data. 

 

Our aim is to design and deliver a consultation that will seek out the views of those most likely to 

be impacted by change and will ensure that everyone who wants to take part and share their 

views is given sufficient opportunities, sufficient information and sufficient time to do so. 

•Activity

•Travel

•Public health

•Rurality

•Car ownership

•Engagement

Identify 
potentially 
impacted 

populations

•Consultation 
document

•Questionnaire

•Marketing

•Comms

•Outreach

•Roadshows

Open 
engagement

•Digital exclusion

•English 
proficiency

•Alternative 
languages

•Seldom heard

•Excluded groups

Targeted 
engagement

Page 275



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

218 
  

9.1 Background 

This Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) demonstrates the need for significant changes to be made to 

the way in which hospital services are organised and delivered across the Humber region. It proposes a 

new model of care for urgent and emergency care and paediatrics across Northern Lincolnshire, 

supported by Humber-wide pathway changes and improved integration with out of hospital services.  

The proposals within this document have been designed in partnership with clinicians, staff, patients, 

carers, the public and their representatives over a period of several years. The benefits and impacts of 

the proposals and alternative solutions that were considered are set out in chapter 4 (see also appendix 

10.4).  This information will be included in the information provided to the public and stakeholders 

through consultation.  

Building on the extensive engagement undertaken to support the development of the options, statutory 

public consultation will provide a fuller understanding of the views, priorities and concerns of those who 

might be impacted – positively or negatively – by the proposals and options for change to inform the 

Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board’s (HNY ICB) decision on the future shape of hospital 

services for the Humber. 

 

9.1.1 Legal Duties 

Subject to approval of this Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC), we are committed to undertaking a 

full public consultation to test the ideas and proposed options for the future of acute hospital services 

described in the document. Public involvement is vital, not just because of the legal requirements to do 

so. Services work better when they are designed in partnership with those who use them and those who 

provide them.  

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the 

Health and Care Act 2022), NHS Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and NHS England have duties to involve 

the public in commissioning of healthcare services. Integrated Care Boards assumed the responsibilities 

previously carried out by Clinical Commissioning Groups from 1st July 2022. These duties are set out 

under sections 14Z2 and 13Q, respectively. 

The Integrated Care Board must make arrangements to secure that individuals to whom the services are 

being or may be provided are involved (whether by being consulted or provided with information or in 

other ways):  

(a) in the planning of the commissioning arrangements by the group  

(b) in the development and consideration of proposals by the group for changes in the 

commissioning arrangements where the implementation of the proposals would have an impact 

on the manner in which the services are delivered to the individuals or the range of health 

services available to them and  

A high-level outline of the approach that will be adopted for the consultation is set out below. 

We intend to co-design the consultation approach with partners and interested stakeholders 

to ensure the methods used are the best ones to reach the relevant target populations and 

therefore the final programme of activities undertaken is likely to differ from the approach 

described.  

Page 276



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

219 
  

(c) in decisions of the group affecting the operation of the commissioning arrangements where the 

implementation of the decisions would (if made) have such an impact.225 

Under section 242(1) of the NHS Act 2006, NHS Commissioners and providers (e.g., Acute Hospital 

trusts) are subject to similar legal duties and are required to ensure that patients and / or the public are 

involved in: 

• The planning and provision of services. 

• The development and consideration of proposals for change in the way services are provided.  

• Decisions to be made by NHS organisations that affect the operation of services. 

In addition, Section 244 of the NHS Act 2006 requires NHS organisations to consult with relevant Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees (HOSCs) on any proposals for a substantial development or variation 

of the health service the area of the Local Authority, where patients are impacted. 

9.1.2 Local authority health scrutiny functions 

Local authority health scrutiny functions are usually discharged through appointed Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees (HOSCs), which form part of the overall accountability and governance 

arrangements of local health and care systems.  Through HOSCs, local authorities may review and 

scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services within the 

boundaries of the local authority.  HOSCs act as a lever to improve the health of local people and serve 

to ensure people’s needs are considered as an integral part of the commissioning, delivery and 

development of local health services. 

Under current legislation226, NHS bodies must consult with the appropriate local authorities where there 

are any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provisions of health services (substantial 

service reconfiguration) in the area(s) of a local authority where those services are located, or whose 

residents routinely access those services.   

The duty to formally consult local authorities on proposed substantial service reconfigurations should 

also be seen within the context of, and complementary to, the overall duties for NHS bodies to involve 

and consult the public (see section 9.1.1 above).227 Details of what constitutes a substantial service 

reconfiguration is not defined in legislation but is generally considered to involve changing how and 

where patients might access large scale services, alongside when services are delivered.   

The approach to working with and engaging local authority HOSCs that has been adopted throughout 

this programme, and by the Partnership as a whole, is summarised in the table below.  This framework 

has been used to assess and make recommendations on the appropriate level of HOSC involvement in 

relation to service changes in the Humber and North Yorkshire ICB area and determine the requirement 

for formal public consultation on the change proposals set out within this business case. 

 

 

 
225 Health and Social Care Act 2012, section 14z2 (Health and Social Care Act 2012) 
226 Local Authority (Public health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 
227 More details are available in the Department of Health ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ guidance document: 
Department of Health (2014) ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

Page 277

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/section/26/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

220 
  

Degree of proposed service change / variation  Level of involvement 

Category 4 – Substantial or Major variation or development 

Introduction of a new service, proposed service reconfiguration – changing 

how/where and when large scale services are delivered.  

Consult 

Category 3 – Significant variation or development 

Change in demand for specific services or modernisation of services, 

changing provider of existing service, pathway redesign impacting on a 

wide range of people 

Engage 

Category 2 – minor change 

Proposals made based on routine patient/service-user feedback or activity, 

proposal to extend or reduce opening hours 

Advise 

Category 1 – ongoing operational change 

Identified need for modernisation with no / minimal impact on how, where 

and when patients access services.  Changes to support / administration 

services and other non-patient facing parts of a pathway.  

Inform 

Table 9.1 Levels of Local Authority involvement in development of health services 

If proposing formal consultation on specific proposals, when providing formal notification of the 

intention to formally consult local authorities, NHS bodies must provide the: 

a) Proposed date by which a decision as to whether or not to proceed with the proposal is 

intended to be taken; and, 

b) Date by which the local authorities must provide any comments on the proposals.  

Subsequently, NHS bodies must also inform local authorities of any changes to the proposed date of 

decision and/or the date by which the local authorities must provide any comments on the proposals. 

NHS bodies must also publish details of the proposed dates and any subsequent changes to those dates.  

Engagement with local authority scrutiny committees has been ongoing throughout the programme 

(see section 3.3.3) to ensure members are regularly updated on progress and the development of the 

potential future models of care. Formal notification has not yet been provided to Local Authorities 

setting out the date for a decision to be taken, however, when this is confirmed (following approval of 

this business case) this action will be taken right away to ensure all legal duties are met.  

9.1.2.1 Mandatory Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

Where NHS bodies plan to consult more than one local authority in relation to any specific proposed 

substantial service reconfiguration, the Regulations1 also make provision for the establishment of 

mandatory Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JHOSC).  

Where the need for a mandatory JHOSC has been identified, the identified local authorities must 

appoint a JHOSC for the purposes of that consultation and it is only the established JHOSC that may: 

a) Make formal comments on the proposal(s) under consideration – i.e. submit a formal 

consultation response. 

b) Require the provision of information about the proposal(s) under consideration; or 

c) Require a member or employee of the relevant NHS body to attend before it to answer 

questions in connection with the consultation and the proposal(s) under consideration. 

Page 278



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

221 
  

The programme team wrote to local authority chief executives in May 2022 to inform that work was 

underway to complete a pre-Consultation Business Case for the Humber Acute Services Programme and 

that it was likely that we would bring forward consultation on options for substantial service change 

across the Humber. It is anticipated that potential changes could impact on the services and populations 

within the boundaries of the following top-tier local authority areas: 

• East Riding of Yorkshire Council 

• Hull City Council 

• Lincolnshire County Council 

• North East Lincolnshire Council 

• North Lincolnshire Council  

The five local authorities involved have now put in place the required mechanisms to enable the JHOSC 

to be formed, either by making the necessary arrangements through Council or via existing delegated 

authority. A draft Terms of Reference has been developed and will be ratified at the first meeting of the 

committee.  

9.1.2.2 Future legislative framework 

The legislative framework that supports local authority health scrutiny outlined above are correct at the 

time of writing, however, future legislative requirements and the associated local authority health 

scrutiny powers may change as a result of secondary legislation and/or further guidance being issued 

following the passage of the Health and Care Act 2022. The role of local Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees (HOSCs) and the requirement to involve them in reconfigurations will remain part of the 

future legislative framework. 

The Act includes new powers for the Secretary of State to intervene in local service reconfigurations. 

Late changes were included in the Act to limit these powers to complex and substantial changes to 

services and include provisions to ensure that NHS organisations and local authorities affected are 

consulted and place a six-month time limit by which time the Secretary of State must make a decision. 

There will be a phased approach to the implementation of the new health and care legislation. The 

proposed new Secretary of State intervention power did not commence at the same time as statutory 

Integrated Care Systems came into being (1st July 2022).  

Further guidance is anticipated within the coming months, which is expected to include:  

• New Regulations, replacing the existing health scrutiny Regulations from 2014. 

• New statutory guidance directed at the Secretary of State setting out the powers to intervene, 

and how those powers will need to be used. 

• New statutory guidance setting out more detail on health scrutiny and its powers. 

Changes to the service reconfiguration process and the implementation of the new Secretary of State 

powers to intervene will be subject to its own separate statutory guidance / secondary legislation, with 

any changes unlikely to take effect until April 2023.  As a programme we will keep these changes under 

review and response accordingly when further guidance is issued.  

9.1.3 The Gunning Principles 

Acting fairly is an important duty which applies to all public bodies. The courts have established guiding 

principles for what constitutes a fair consultation exercise – usually referred to as the ‘Gunning’ 

principles.  

Page 279



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

222 
  

• Consultation must take place when the proposal is still at a formative stage. 

Meaningful consultation cannot take place on a decision that has already been made. Decision 

makers can consult on a single proposal or ‘preferred option’ (of which those being consulted 

should be informed) so long as they are genuinely open to influence. There is no requirement, 

and it would be misleading, to consult on adopting options which are not genuinely under 

consideration or are unrealistic or unviable – but it may be necessary to provide some 

information about arguable alternatives (and explain why they have been ruled out).  

• Sufficient information and reasons must be put forward for the proposal to allow for 

intelligent consideration and response. 

Those being consulted should be provided with sufficient information to enable them to 

understand what the proposal is, the reasons for it and why it is being considered. They should 

be made aware of the basis on which a proposal for consultation has been considered and will 

be considered thereafter, including any criteria to be applied or factors to be considered. This 

may involve providing information about (or at least making reference to) arguable alternatives 

and the reasons why they are not also being considered. The level of detail provided will depend 

on the circumstances.  

• Adequate time must be given for consideration and response. 

People must have enough time to properly consider and respond to the consultation. There is 

no automatically required timeframe within which the consultation must take place.  

• The product of consultation must be conscientiously taken into account. 

Decision makers must properly consider what they have heard during the consultation when the 

ultimate decision is taken. 

Through consultation, we will aim to gather a broad range of views from our local communities, service 

users, and partners on our proposals whilst they are still at a formative stage, to hear if they can be 

improved and whether people have better ideas that we might have missed. We will listen carefully to 

the views of our communities and local stakeholders who have an interest in health.  

The decision about what changes to make to services will be made after the full public consultation has 

taken place and all of the information, including the feedback from the consultation has been 

considered by the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board in line with Gunning 

principle 4 “that the product of consultation is conscientiously taken into account when finalising the 

decision.” 228 

9.2 Designing the Consultation 

9.2.1 Commitment to best practice 

We aim to deliver a best practice consultation, which will be founded on the commitment to inform and 

listen. It will be anchored against the following key sets of guidance: 

• The Gunning Principles229 

• The Consultation Institute – Consultation Charter230  

 
228 The Local Government Association (2019) LGA guide to engagement The Gunning Principles 
229 The Local Government Association (2019) LGA guide to engagement The Gunning Principles 
230 The Consultation Institute (2017) ‘The Consultation Charter - The 7 Best Practice Principles’ tCI Charter 

Page 280

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf
https://www.consultationinstitute.org/consultation-charter-7-best-practice-principles/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

223 
  

• NHS England – Planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients231 

• NHS England – Planning for participation.232  

The consultation will also be assured against the government’s four tests of service change: 

• Strong public and patient engagement 

• Consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice 

• Clear, clinical evidence base 

• Support for proposals from clinical commissioners 

And the additional test introduced by NHS England from April 2017, requiring any proposal including 

plans to significantly reduce hospital bed numbers. This requires commissioners to evidence they can 

meet one of the following three conditions: 

i. Demonstrate that sufficient alternative provision, such as increased GP or community services, 

is being put in place alongside or ahead of bed closures, and that the new workforce will be 

there to deliver it; and/or  

ii. Show that specific new treatments or therapies, such as new anti-coagulation drugs used to 

treat strokes, will reduce specific categories of admissions; or 

iii. Where a hospital has been using beds less efficiently than the national average, that it has a 

credible plan to improve performance without affecting patient care (for example in line with 

the Getting it Right First Time programme). 

The Consultation will be assured by the Consultation Institute (tCI) through their comprehensive six-step 

Quality Assurance process to ensure it meets all required guidance and best practice.  

9.2.2 Aims and objectives 

The aim of the public consultation is to seek views and explore options in developing proposals for the 

future shape of services. The purpose of the consultation exercise will be to gather evidence of the 

impact of each of the potential options on individuals, groups and relevant populations, identify ideas 

for potential mitigations and to ensure that decision-makers are well-informed when making decisions 

about the future shape of services for the region. 

In order to successfully deliver those core aims, the consultation will: 

• Be open and accessible to all who may be impacted by the potential changes. 

• Be as simple as possible to complete. 

• Make additional efforts to reach out to those who might be most impacted by the potential 

changes. 

• Make additional efforts to reach out to those who might find it most difficult to engage / 

respond to the consultation. 

• Proactively seek views from relevant statutory bodies and external experts. 

• Be innovative and flexible in approach, particularly in relation to the use of alternative 

engagement methods (including digital and social media). 

• Use evidence-based approaches to data collection, analysis and reporting. 

• Meet all relevant statutory requirements. 

 
231NHS England (2018) Planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients NHS England Guidance 
232 NHS England (2015) Planning for Participation NHS England Guidance 

Page 281

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v6-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/bs-guide-plann-part1.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

224 
  

9.2.3 Principles for communications and engagement 

Our engagement to date has been underpinned by the following guiding principles for communication, 

engagement and consultation, established in 2018. Our commitment to these principles will continue as 

we enter public consultation:  

• Open – Decision makers are accessible and ready to engage in dialogue. When information 

cannot be given, the reasons are explained.  

• Corporate – The messages communicated are consistent with the aims, values and objectives of 

the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board and wider Partnership vision. 

• Two-way – There are opportunities for open and honest feedback, and people have the right to 

contribute their ideas and opinions about issues and decisions. 

• Timely – Information arrives at a time when it is needed, is relevant to the people receiving it, 

and is able to be interpreted in the correct context.  

• Clear – Communication should be in plain English, jargon free, easy to understand and not open 

to interpretation. 

• Targeted – The right messages reach the right audiences using the most appropriate methods 

available at the right time.  

• Credible – Messages have real meaning; recipients can trust their content and expect to be 

advised of any change in circumstances which impacts on those messages.  

• Planned – Communications are planned rather than ad-hoc and are regularly reviewed and 

contributed to by senior managers, and staff, as appropriate.  

• Consistent – There are no contradictions in messages given to different groups or individuals. 

• Efficient – Communications and the way they are delivered are fit for purpose, cost effective, 

within budget and delivered on time.  

• Integrated – Internal and external communications are consistent and mutually supportive.  

As public consultation progresses, we will regularly review our communications to ensure they meet the 

principles outlined above.  

9.2.4 Co-designing our consultation plan  

Our consultation plan will outline how we intend to listen to and gather insight from our local 

communities and partners. We will continue to use local public health data, census and other 

demographic information and insights gathered through pre-Consultation engagement to help us 

understand our population and their needs. This insight will help to ensure our consultation plan is 

targeted and inclusive, providing opportunities for all communities and groups who may be positively or 

negatively impacted by any potential changes to how services are delivered in the Humber to get 

involved and provide feedback.  

Our consultation plan will be co-produced with the Executive Oversight Group, Clinical leads, Citizen’s 

Panel and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee members (through the required Joint scrutiny 

arrangements), Communications and Engagement Delivery Group and VCSE Liaison Group. In particular, 

we will work closely with groups and trusted representatives we have built relationships with over the 

course of the programme and through other local partnerships with local engagement teams in place 

and through our Local Authority partners. This includes groups parent and representative groups such as 

the Maternity Voices Partnerships who co-designed the pre-consultation engagement exercise with 

women and families that helped to shape the potential models of care (see sections 10.3.5.2.2 and 

10.13).  

Page 282



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

225 
  

The approach we will take to consultation design is outlined in the diagram below.  

 

             

Figure 9.1 Approach to consultation design 

We will continue to test and refine the approach in ongoing engagement with stakeholders, partners 

and regulators.  

The Consultation Institute (tCI) are undertaking a quality assurance role, reviewing and providing 

feedback on our plans for consultation. We will continue to develop our consultation plan by working 

closely with tCI, our Citizen’s Panel and partners to ensure that all our statutory duties are met. 

  

• Activity

• Travel

• Public health

• Rurality

• Car ownership

• Engagement

Identify 
potentially 
impacted 

populations

• Consultation 
document

• Questionnaire

• Marketing

• Communications

• Outreach

• Roadshows

Open 
engagement

• Digital exclusion

• English 
proficiency

• Alternative 
languages

• Seldom heard

• Excluded groups

Targeted 
engagement

Our approach will be data-

driven, focusing on the 

communities most likely to be 

impacted by any changes. 

The Consultation will be open 

to anyone to respond – we will 

promote it widely using a range 

of channels. 

We will use a wide range of 

methods, adapting to ensure 

we reach those who find it 

hardest to be heard.  

Page 283



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

226 
  

9.3 Delivering the Consultation 

We are committed to ensuring information pertinent to the consultation is available, accessible, and 

easily interpretable for consultees to enable them to provide an informed response. We will use a range 

of materials and methods, both digital and non-digital, to enable local people to take part in the 

consultation and talk to us about our proposals.  

We have learnt a lot from our early engagement and pre-consultation engagement and will ensure this 

learning informs our approach to consultation.  

We will specifically target communities and groups of people we know to already be experiencing 

greater health inequalities, we will go to where people are and not expect them to come to us, and we 

will adapt our methods and approach to ensure everyone has an opportunity to get involved and have 

their say.  

9.3.1 Audiences 

9.3.1.1 Identifying potentially impacted populations 

We will use population health data, activity data and travel impact analysis data to identify individuals, 

communities and groups who may be negatively or positively impacted by the proposals and different 

potential options for change. The detailed activity, displacement and travel impact modelling that was 

undertaken through the options development and evaluation (see sections 10.3 and 10.4), combined 

with public health data and local areas needs assessments (see section 1.4) provide the insight needed 

to map different population cohorts by the extent to which they might be impacted by change against 

their ability to engage in the consultation.  

We will undertake detailed analysis of the activity data and carry out population segmentation to 

identify target cohorts based on age, gender, locality, deprivation and other relevant socio-economic 

factors.233 This will shape decisions about the methods used to engage.  

The approach taken to consultation will be a targeted one, reaching out to identified communities and 

populations through a wide variety of methods and not expecting people to come to us. This will involve 

working closely with and drawing upon the strong partnerships we have developed with voluntary and 

community sector partners to co-create opportunities for involvement within our more deprived 

communities. It will require us to build upon local relationships and use trusted intermediaries to reach 

communities who face barriers to accessing care and where mistrust or scepticism hinders our ability to 

reach out. We will build on our experience of working with local trusted partners (as described in 

section 3.2.2) and our strong links with the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector.  

In addition, we will comprehensively map all relevant stakeholder organisations to ensure they are 

aware of and, where relevant, invited to respond to the consultation. This will include statutory 

consultees (e.g., local authorities), local organisations who may be impacted by the proposals (e.g., 

neighbouring trusts and Integrated Care Boards), local and national expert bodies (such as Royal 

Colleges and independent reviewers), key staff groups and staff-side representatives, local community 

groups and key public representatives.  

 
233 Humber Acute Services Programme (September 2023) Consultation Planning population mapping (see 
document library) 

Page 284

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

227 
  

9.3.1.2 Target audiences and key stakeholders 

At a high-level, the consultation aims to engage as effectively as possible with the following groups 

across North Lincolnshire, North East Lincolnshire, Hull, East Riding of Yorkshire and surrounding areas – 

in particular areas of East Lindsey and West Lindsey whose populations access health services within the 

Humber. We will determine who the relevant stakeholders are with reference to the likelihood that any 

changes to services will have an impact (either positive or negative) upon them.  

• Patients and service-users  

o Urgent and Emergency Care – patients who have recently received emergency care, 

people who are likely to need emergency care in the future, the wider public and other 

stakeholders.  

o Paediatrics – children and young people, their parents, carers and guardians who are 

either currently receiving paediatric care, have recently received paediatric care or who 

are more likely to need paediatric care in the future.  

• Carers – Paid and unpaid, including young carers.  

• Under-represented or seldom heard groups – people living in areas of deprivation, people living 

with long-term conditions, people with protected characteristics, people with learning 

disabilities and other health inclusion groups.   

• Voluntary and community sector – Healthwatch, local charities and patient 

support/representative groups.   

• Clinicians and staff – Clinical and non-clinical staff working in primary care, secondary care, 

social care, mental health, commissioning, this will also include their trade unions.   

• Partners and providers – local partners and providers of services such as ambulance trusts, 

community services providers and mental health providers. 

• Political stakeholders – Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, individual Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Health and Wellbeing Boards, Members of Parliament and 

Local Councillors. 

• Media – Local, regional and national media outlets including radio, online and newspapers, 

social media commentators including bloggers and vloggers.  

• Local and national government and regulators – Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate, NHS 

England, NHS Improvement, Secretary of State.  

Information will also be shared with neighbouring NHS organisations, healthcare providers, key 

stakeholders and interest groups in neighbouring geographical areas.  

This list of stakeholders is not exhaustive, and we will continuously review the evidence we receive 

during the consultation to ensure we are constantly updating our stakeholder list and adapting our 

approach as required to allow us to target stakeholder groups effectively.  

9.3.2 Consultation materials and methods 

9.3.2.1 Consultation materials 

Engagement materials will be accessible, informative and tailored to their intended audience to ensure 

consultees have ‘sufficient information to give intelligent consideration’.  

Page 285



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

228 
  

A detailed list of materials and timeline for production will be worked out iteratively as we co-produce 

the engagement plan, however, we anticipate producing the following as a minimum: 

• Consultation document – available in online and offline versions. The document will clearly 

explain why we are consulting, providing enough information to enable people to fully consider 

the proposed options and make an informed response. Information about how to access 

alternative formats and additional support will also be contained within the document.  

• Consultation questionnaire – available in online and offline versions.  A structured 

questionnaire will be attached to the printed consultation document with a Freepost return 

address and also be available online.  

• Website – we will create a microsite for the consultation, containing all the necessary 

information to enable people to take part in the consultation. The microsite will meet required 

accessibility standards and support our digital marketing strategy.  

• Infographics and/or videos – we will use a series of creative assets to provide accessible 

information to the public and other stakeholders to enable them to take part in the 

consultation. This could include animations, explainer videos, posters and/or graphics for social 

media posts.  

A wide range of communication channels will be supported in the lead up to and during consultation, to 

ensure anyone who requires support or further information can access it. This will include, as a 

minimum, a dedicated email address and/or web contact form, a dedicated response and enquiry 

telephone line (monitored during office hours) and a Freepost address.  

We will use our website as an online hub and encourage people to use this as their first port of call. At 

the same time, we will actively seek to address digital exclusion and provide hard copies and offline 

materials wherever necessary. We will begin by using data to pinpoint the communities with the highest 

level of digital exclusion and map this against those most likely to be impacted by changes to services. 

Where these two populations align, we will take a targeted approach to engagement using suitable 

offline methods.  

9.3.2.2 Engagement approach 

The methods and engagement approaches 

used during consultation will be determined 

with reference to our detailed stakeholder 

mapping and impact assessment to ensure 

the methods use reach the people they need 

to reach.  

We will adopt a tiered approach, to ensure 

effective targeting of priority stakeholder 

groups (as set out in the diagram opposite).  

 

  

Picture 9:A Summary engagement approach 

Page 286



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

229 
  

A detailed list of engagements and timeline for events will be worked out iteratively as we co-produce 

the engagement plan, however, we anticipate undertaking the following as a minimum: 

• Drop-in information sessions – we expect to hold a number of open access drop-in events, with 

at least one in each major population centre/locality (Grimsby, Scunthorpe and Goole). We will 

take advice from Healthwatch and our Citizen’s Panel into account when considering venues and 

times to ensure we are making the sessions available for as many people as possible and not 

excluding them if they are all held during working hours or across school drop off times.  

• Roadshow events – we will consider how to combine these drop-in public events with roadshow 

events in rural communities, partnering with GP practices, local authorities and other 

organisations to offer opportunities to get involved to those in rural or isolated communities. 

This engagement will help us to talk to people who may not have ordinarily engaged with the 

consultation or be aware of it at all, actively encourage them to respond to the consultation, 

raise awareness and continue to develop our stakeholder database. 

• Targeted listening sessions – we anticipate holding a minimum of 10 targeted focus groups or 

listening events to reach specifically targeted population cohorts who we may not otherwise 

hear from. These sessions will be targeted at the groups most likely to be impacted by changes 

but where barriers exist that make it more difficult to secure their participation in the 

consultation through open access methods (e.g., children and young people, particular religious 

or ethnic minorities, people for whom English is not their first language). Where relevant, we 

will work with trusted partners from the voluntary and community sector, providing small grants 

or other support as required, to facilitate engagement with seldom heard groups. The approach 

taken to these groups, including the number of sessions and people involved, will be dictated by 

the population analysis and segmentation.  

• Staff engagement – we will continue to engage with our workforce and providers across 

secondary care, primary care, social care, mental health and commissioning. We will build on 

the established channels developed during our pre-consultation engagement and utilise existing 

forums, team meetings and communication channels as well as hosting drop-in events for staff 

at existing hospital sites.  

In addition, we will seek views on our engagement and consultation plans from the Joint Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

9.3.2.3 Social media approach 

To support our consultation plan we will co-develop a social media strategy, which will set out our 

approach and commitment to communicating key messages with the public, staff and partners online.  

It will also set out how we will continually monitor the reach of our social media posts, record 

interactions and gather soft intelligence from conversations taking place online. This will allow us to 

adapt and target our social media presence to ensure the right people, groups and communities have 

access to timely, accurate information.  

9.3.3 Integrated Impact Assessment 

In parallel to the consultation process there are a set of detailed analyses that need to be carried out on 

the proposals for consultation. The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) provides a robust mechanism to 

consider and document how different changes could impact different people and different groups of 

people, both positively and negatively.  

Page 287



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

230 
  

The IIA provides an assessment of impact against six different areas: 

• Patient experience 

• Patient safety 

• Effectiveness 

• Equality 

• Workforce 

• Sustainability 

Bringing all the evidence together in this way will support decision-makers to see how different options 

could affect different groups. The Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) element considers how changes 

could impact on people with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 – age, disability, 

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 

sex and sexual orientation. To ensure decision-makers comply with their duties under the Equality Act, 

the Impact Assessment (IIA) will provide a robust analysis to identify any areas where changes could 

have a disproportionate impact on any groups or individuals based upon one or more protected 

characteristic. The Integrated Impact Assessment will also look more broadly at people who face 

additional barriers to accessing healthcare for other reasons, such as poverty or rural isolation, to 

enable the ICB to show due consideration to their responsibility to reduce health inequalities. 234 

The information gathered during consultation will be used to update and refine the Integrated Impact 

Assessment. The outputs will be provided to the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 

prior to finalisation of their responses to the consultation. 

  

 
234 A detailed Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) of the proposals has been completed. See document library 

Page 288

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

231 
  

9.4 Reporting and decision-making 

To support the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) to meet their 

responsibility to conscientiously take into account the responses to the consultation, a robust approach 

to collation, analysis and reporting will be adopted. Opinion Research Services (ORS) has been 

commissioned to deliver consultation design, analysis and reporting on behalf of the programme. ORS is 

an experienced full-service consultation design, delivery and reporting service provider with experience 

working on similar complex and large-scale change programmes.  

ORS will be responsible for: 

• Developing and delivering a suitable online and printed consultation questionnaire. 

• Processing all responses, coding free-text comments to identify key themes and concerns. 

• Analysing and reporting on questionnaire findings and feedback received separately to the 

questionnaire. 

• Incorporating feedback gained from all engagement activities, e.g., focus groups, in-depth 

interviews, meetings, and workshops. 

• Providing robust mid-point, interim (‘emerging findings’) and final reports, accessible summaries 

and presentations. 

• Presenting overall findings to decision-makers.  

Working with external, independent experts to develop and design our consultation document and 

questionnaire and undertake the analysis and reporting on feedback captured during the consultation 

will ensure a high degree of transparency and objectivity.  

The consultation findings report will be presented to the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(JHOSC) and the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB).  

Following consultation, further work will be done to refine proposals covering:  

• Additional analysis based on questions raised during consultation.  

• Further detail on options still under consideration.  

• Any additional Integrated Impact Analysis.  

This analysis will be brought together in a Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC), which will be 

submitted to the Integrated Care Board (ICB) to enable it to make a decision on the proposals and 

determine a way forward for service reconfiguration for the Humber. 

  

Page 289



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

232 
  

9.5 Plan to implement 

9.5.1 Our approach to implementation planning 

Detailed implementation planning cannot be undertaken until the outcome of the consultation is known 

and a decision is taken on which proposals, if any, should be taken forward. This section provides an 

overview of the proposed approach to implementing change that is anticipated; an implementation plan 

will be developed in full following consultation and formal decision-making. 

Implementation is a key element of any programme. If implementation is not carried out correctly, not 

only is there a risk that the programme will not work the way it was intended, but there could be other 

unintended consequences, such as decreased staff morale, lack of participation or increased costs. To 

ensure success, implementation will be clinically led and will involve a wide range of clinical 

professionals from different backgrounds and organisations. Patients, carers and members of the public 

will also be invited to participate in the transition and implementation planning.  

The first stage of planning will involve agreeing the following:  

• The workstreams for this phase.  

• Responsibility for undertaking the work.  

• Key milestones for the planning phase.  

• How the plans will be challenged and signed off.  

• Evaluation review schedule. 
 
A critical success factor for implementation will be the clear allocation of accountability and clear 

governance structures. Accountability for delivery will sit with the Acute Trusts (NLaG and HUTH), 

overseen by the Integrated Care Board (ICB) during this phase. Governance structures and decision-

making arrangements will be set out in a Programme Implementation Plan. It is proposed that the 

governance structures established to support the development of the Pre-Consultation Business Case 

(see section 3.1.1) continue in place to support implementation, but that reporting is more closely 

aligned to the joint decision-making structures of the two Acute Trusts (as detailed in section 1.2.4).  

9.5.2 Programme management arrangements 

A core programme management (PMO) team will be created that will co-ordinate and oversee timelines 

and direction of travel.  A link into each division/health group within the trusts will support the teams to 

lead the operationalisation themselves, ensuring good governance is adhered to.  The core team will 

consist of an implementation SRO and Programme Director, a Human Resources lead, a communications 

lead, a senior programme manager, an estates lead, a digital lead, a finance lead and an information 

lead.  Project Managers will also be required to support implementation reaching into the clinical teams. 

 

Page 290



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

233 
  

 
Figure 9.2 Proposed implementation team structure 

The PMO will track and develop performance metrics and targets to track and manage progress against 

key milestones or enablers of change (e.g., reductions to acute average length of stay, increasing urgent 

care service throughput for displaced minors’ activity from the Emergency Department, shifts in care to 

community settings). The implementation of changes will draw on lessons learnt from other health 

service changes elsewhere. Regular update reports, milestone reports and programme reports will be 

made available during implementation alongside financial reviews and risks/mitigation reports.  

9.5.2.1 Managing risk 

They will ensure a consistent approach to risk management is used across the programme. This ensures 

outline principles of measuring, managing and reporting risk are maintained. It provides a framework for 

the management of risk through rigorous governance arrangements and regular review by the 

Programme Board.  

Key risks will be reviewed and mitigation developed in areas such as: 

• Delays in implementing workforce transformation, including staff training / migration from 
acute to community in addition to development of new roles.  

• Delays to the capital procurement process and/or lack of availability of capital to create the 
required changes to physical capacity across the Humber. 

• Removal of training accreditation / temporary service closure due to safety concerns, impacting 
on the planned sequencing of service transfer.  

• Risk that acute hospital services fail in advance of reconfiguration.  

• Risk to recruitment and retention through ongoing poor media coverage and damage to 
reputation of organisations. 

• Risk that changes to care outside of hospital and other critical enabling works do not deliver 
within the required timeframe to support implementation of acute pathway changes.  

9.5.3 Workstreams 

In order to develop and deliver the implementation plan a number of workstreams will need to be 

established.  Each workstream will be responsible for planning the service transformation and 

Page 291



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

234 
  

reconfiguration programme, with governance assurance under the Executive Oversight Group reporting 

through to the ICB, escalating any risks, issues and dependencies they are unable to resolve internally.  

The workstreams currently identified as being required for the implementation planning phase include: 

 
Figure 9.3 Overview of implementation workstreams 

9.5.3.1 Workforce strategy 

We will need to outline the approach to how staff changes during implementation will be managed. The 

impact on staffing numbers and structures is potentially one of the most complex areas for transition 

and one likely to create significant concern amongst our current workforce. Policies for staff transition 

will be developed and communicated effectively and regular briefings developed and communicated to 

all staff in those providers likely to be affected by the proposed reconfiguration.  

The proposals contained within this business case involve changes to settings of care, consolidation of 

resources in different areas and changes to the way in which we provide services. Changes in service 

delivery models may mean that staff require additional training or further development of existing skills. 

Changes of this nature would have an impact on the workforce in the Humber, including:  

• A requirement for training / recruitment to develop new skills within the local health economy.  

• A requirement for staff to move to work on different sites and potentially for different 

employers.  

• Changes in the overall mix of skills / grades required across different settings of care.  

• Improved integrated working across organisational boundaries, including closer working 

between health and social care.  

• New roles development, such as care coordinators, urgent care practitioners, specialist 

community nursing, intermediate care clinicians and senior clinical leaders for community care.  

• Greater number of roles requiring rotation between acute and community settings.  

 

To support implementation, a number of key workstreams would be required to progress these 

transitions and the new workforce models proposed in this business case.  

The Organisational Development (OD) and business change workstream will be critical in supporting the 

clinical workstreams to make the necessary workforce transformation. We will need to continue to 

actively engage staff as stakeholders during implementation. To build awareness of the reconfiguration 

proposals and to consider and promote their central role in making these changes happen. 

Workforce

Organisational 
Development and 
business change

Human Resources 
(operational HR)

Clinical

Demand and 
capacity

Clinical support 
services

Travel and patient 
transport

Infrastructure

Estates and 
equipment

Facilities

Digital and IT

Corporate

Communications

Supplier 
engagement

Legal

Page 292



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

235 
  

The Implementation Plan will also need to detail the approach to how staff changes during 

Implementation will be managed. A robust approach to HR change will be required and supported by 

sufficiently resourced operational HR team. Preparatory activities will include collecting complete data 

about existing staff in the areas likely to be affected, including their current terms and conditions, 

lengths of service. This information will be needed for any staff that may be transferred under the TUPE 

process to other organisations if a service is to be transferred, or for staff asking to retire early as part of 

the process. Policies for staff transition will need to be developed and communicated effectively.  

Clinical workstreams 

Clinicians will need to be actively involved in the planning and implementation of service change to 

ensure patient safety is not compromised as changes are made.  There will be a range of clinical 

workstreams to focus on the service changes needed. These will be agreed when the implementation 

plan is being prepared, and are currently identified as Urgent and Emergency Care and Paediatrics.  In 

order to plan effectively these groups will need to be broken down into specialties to understand the 

granular detail of proposed changes to services (a full list of specialty working groups will be developed 

at the implementation planning phase). 

Further work will be required to review, test and assure assumptions around demand and capacity. 

Detailed confirmation and assurance on the forecasted demand will be undertaken for the service 

option selected following consultation to ensure capacity (in terms of workforce, beds, chairs, etc.) will 

meet future demand. 

Changes in service configuration will have implications for the provision of clinical support services 

including diagnostics, theatres, clinical administration and similar. Workstreams will be established to 

ensure these important interdependencies are considered.   

Depending on the option selected and feedback gathered through consultation, there will be additional 

action needed to change or enhance transport options, including public transport, patient transport and 

blue light services. This will require coordination with key stakeholders including Local Authorities, 

patient transport providers, the voluntary sector, and ambulance services.  

Infrastructure 

Ensuring the required infrastructure and resources are in place to implement the chosen service model 

and clinical changes will be an extremely important aspect of implementation.  

Estates planning will be undertaken in detail prior to the implementation phase so that lead-in times for 

changes to configurations are properly understood and the full scope of activities are built into the 

implementation plan (design, planning, defining and awarding contracts, oversight of delivery, 

commissioning the new/ refurbished buildings, completion and snagging). There will also be elements of 

the estate that may become redundant and need to be closed down or reutilised for other services. The 

planning for this workstream will include planning for the management of transition (when facilities may 

be temporarily re-used) as well as investment/divestment of existing premises to reach the desired end 

state.  

Alongside future estates planning, facilities management planning will be undertaken to ensure 

implications of any changes to configuration for the facilities needed in the hospitals – such as cleaning 

and catering so these are fully understood and planned for.  

Detailed planning will also be undertaken with digital and informatics teams to ensure all the enabling 

works identified within this business case can be delivered to enable the clinical changes to be put in 

Page 293



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

236 
  

place. This will include reviewing the enabling works following decision-making to confirm the digital 

requirements to support the new models of care. Physical transfer and implementation of supporting IT 

infrastructure will also form a key part of the implementation plan.  

Corporate support 

A range of other supporting workstreams will also be required to ensure the implementation plan 

considers all potential areas of risk and can deliver change successfully within the required timeframe.  

Communications and media handling activities will be critical during implementation. It will be key to 

ensuring that communications are continued during the planning phase – to maintain engagement, 

particularly with clinicians, and ensuring that there is a coherent communications plan in place to 

underpin implementation.  

There will also need to be a workstream that focuses on engagement with existing external suppliers. 

This will need to include collecting information on relationships and contracts with external suppliers so 

that services are not compromised during the transition. The relationships will consequently need to be 

managed to ensure that contracts can be extended if required to maintain safe delivery of services 

during transition and to keep suppliers informed of future opportunities.  

Legal work will contribute across the workstreams, but is identified as a separate workstream, as the 

programme will need to call on legal resources throughout the process.  

Workstreams will report through the PMO and programme governance arrangements and reviewed 

regularly to ensure the infrastructure is in place to deliver the changes that are agreed upon following 

consultation. 

9.5.4 Timeline and next steps 

A detailed timeline for implementation will be produced as part of the Decision-Making Business Case 

(DMBC), when it is clearer what specific changes will be implemented and what the required enabling 

projects will be. At this stage, an indicative timeline has been developed, that will be subject to review 

at DMBC stage.  

Page 294



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

237 
  

 
Figure 9.4 Indicative timeline for implementation 

Potential changes may be phased over a period of time and therefore not all elements of the change 

proposals would be implemented according to the milestones set out below. The detailed phasing of 

projects will be described within the implementation plan when it is developed.   

 

 

 

 

 

Q2/3 
(2023/24)

Public 
consultation

Q4 
(2023/24)

Analysis of 
consultation 

responses

Review 
Integrated 

Impact 
Assessment

Consultation 
findings report

Decision-
making

Q4 
(2023/24)

Review/finalise 
clinical model, 

workforce, 
finance and 

benefits

Decision-
Making 

Business Case 
(DMBC)

Q1 
(2024/25)

Implementation 
SRO and 

governance 
identified

Implementation 
planning

Governance and 
workstreams 
established

Communication
s commence

Q2/3 
(2024/25)

SOP(s) 
complete

Complete 
designs

Procurement

Q4 
(2024/25)

Commence 
enabling works

Q1 
(2025/26)

Start 
construction 

Training and 
recruitment

Change 
management

Q3/4 
(2025/26)

Implementation

Q1 
(2026/27)

Post-project 
evaluation

Page 295



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Chapter 9 – Approach to Consultation 

 

238 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

We want to continue to provide the best care for those living in our region and invest in the many 

specialist services our hospitals provide. As a collective of hospitals working better, together, we can 

provide improved services and care for all. But to do so, things need to change.  

Our health and care system is facing unprecedented challenges. We face chronic shortages of 

doctors, nurses and hospital support staff. We can’t recruit enough new staff or support our existing 

staff to keep up with the specialist skills required to provide the quality and safety you deserve. 

Sitting back and doing nothing is not an option. 

The proposals set out within this business case will help us to improve recruitment and retention, 

reduce the burden on our current staff and reduce how much we spend on expensive agency staff, 

deliver high quality clinical care, reduce waiting times by providing more efficient services and 

provide more care at home or close to home.  

Public consultation will support good decision-making by providing a clearer understanding of the 

potential impacts of each of the different options for change. 

Page 296



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

239 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

  

Page 297



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

240 
  

10. Appendices 

 

A. Background Information ......................................................................................... 241 

10.1 List of Health and Care Organisations in Humber ........................................................................ 242 

10.2 Current Service Configuration ...................................................................................................... 244 

B. Process – how we developed the proposals............................................................. 246 

10.3 Developing the potential models of care ..................................................................................... 247 

10.4 Evaluating the models of care ...................................................................................................... 269 

10.5 Reviews – recommendations and responses ............................................................................... 295 

C. How we have Listened and what we have heard ..................................................... 303 

10.6 Overview of what we have heard................................................................................................. 304 

10.7 Key Findings – Urgent and Emergency Care ................................................................................. 307 

10.8 Key Findings – Children and Young People .................................................................................. 310 

10.9 Key Findings – Travel and Transport ............................................................................................ 313 

10.10 Key Findings – Estates and Infrastructure .................................................................................... 316 

10.11 Key Findings – Staff Engagement ................................................................................................. 321 

10.12 Key Findings – Planned Care ......................................................................................................... 324 

10.13 Key Findings – Your Birthing Choices ........................................................................................... 328 

10.14 Citizen’s Panel Involvement ......................................................................................................... 333 

10.15 Engagement Timeline ................................................................................................................... 335 

D. Modelling Outputs .................................................................................................. 351 

10.16 Activity and displacement ............................................................................................................ 352 

10.17 Impacted patients by local authority............................................................................................ 359 

10.18 Travel modelling ........................................................................................................................... 361 

10.19 Workforce and Finance ................................................................................................................ 377 

E. Sources and Further information ............................................................................. 379 

10.20 List of Acronyms ........................................................................................................................... 380 

10.21 List of Figures ................................................................................................................................ 383 

10.22 List of Tables ................................................................................................................................. 385 

10.23 List of Maps .................................................................................................................................. 388 

10.24 List of Pictures .............................................................................................................................. 389 

 

 

  

Page 298



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

241 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A. Background Information 

 

  

Page 299



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

242 
  

10.1 List of Health and Care Organisations in Humber 

Primary Care 

Networks 

North East 

Lincolnshire 

Freshney Pelham 

Meridian Health Group 

Panacea 

Apollo 

Genesis 

North 

Lincolnshire 

East Care Network 

South Care Network 

West Care Network 

North Care Network 

Hull 

Hull Association of Similar Practices (HASP) 

Haxby 

Marmot 

Medicas 

Modality 

Symphonie 

Venn 

East Riding of 

Yorkshire 

Beverley 

Bridlington 

Cygnet 

Harthill 

Holderness 

River and Wolds 

Yorkshire Coast and Wolds 

Community Services Providers 

Care Plus Group 

NLaG - Community Health Services  

City Healthcare Partnership (CHCP) 

Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust 

Mental Health Providers 

Navigo CiC 

Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust 

Humber Teaching NHS Foundation Trust 

Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

Ambulance Trusts 
East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust  

Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust 

Social Care Providers, supported 

by Local Authorities 

North East Lincolnshire Council 

North Lincolnshire Council 

Page 300

https://www.careplusgroup.org/
https://www.nlg.nhs.uk/hospitals/community-health/
https://www.chcpcic.org.uk/
https://www.lincolnshirecommunityhealthservices.nhs.uk/about-us
https://www.navigocare.co.uk/
https://www.rdash.nhs.uk/about-us/
https://www.humber.nhs.uk/
https://www.lpft.nhs.uk/
https://www.emas.nhs.uk/
https://www.yas.nhs.uk/
https://www.nelincs.gov.uk/
https://www.northlincs.gov.uk/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

243 
  

Hull City Council 

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 

Lincolnshire County Council 

Secondary Care Partners 

Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust 

Sheffield Children’s NHS Foundation Trust 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust  

Voluntary and community sector 

partners 

A wide range of partners supporting people and communities 

across the Humber (an estimated 13,500 registered and 

unregistered groups across Humber and North Yorkshire) 

Commissioners NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

Neighbouring Systems 
NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

NHS South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

Place-based partnerships 

incorporating many of the 

organisations listed above 

North East Lincolnshire Place Board 

North Lincolnshire Place Board 

Hull Place Board  

East Riding of Yorkshire Place Board  

 

  

Page 301

https://www.hull.gov.uk/
https://www.eastriding.gov.uk/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/
https://www.sth.nhs.uk/
https://www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk/
https://www.ulh.nhs.uk/
https://www.dbth.nhs.uk/
https://www.dbth.nhs.uk/
https://www.sheffieldchildrens.nhs.uk/
https://www.leedsth.nhs.uk/
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/
https://lincolnshire.icb.nhs.uk/
https://southyorkshire.icb.nhs.uk/about-us


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

244 
  

10.2  Current Service Configuration 

10.2.1  Service provision by site 

Specialty Hull Royal Infirmary 

(HRI) 

Castle Hill Hospital 

(CHH) 

Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital (DPoW) 

Scunthorpe General 

Hospital (SGH) 

Goole District Hospital 

(GDH) 

Emergency Department ✓  ✓ ✓  

Acute Medicine ✓  ✓ ✓  

Cardiology Diagnostics ✓ ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Respiratory ✓ Outpatients ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Gastroenterology ✓  ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Elderly Care/Geriatric 

Care 
✓  ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Stroke Hyperacute Stroke  

Unit 
 Rehabilitation 

Hyperacute Stroke  

Unit 
Rehabilitation 

Endocrinology ✓  ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Dermatology   ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Neurology ✓   ✓ ✓   

Oncology/Haematology   ✓ ✓ Day care/outpatients   

Rheumatology ✓ Outpatients ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Renal Service ✓ ✓ ✓ (led by Hull) ✓ (led by Hull)   

Critical care ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   

General Surgery  ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Colorectal   ✓ ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Upper GI Day case/outpatients ✓ ✓ ✓   

Urology Outpatients ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Trauma  Major Trauma   ✓ ✓   

Orthopaedics ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Ophthalmology ✓ day case only ✓ ✓ ✓ 

P
age 302



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

245 
  

ENT/Audiology ✓ ✓ ✓ Day case/outpatients Outpatients 

Oral Maxillofacial    ✓ ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Breast Surgery   ✓ ✓ ✓   

Gynaecology ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Gynaecology Oncology ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   

Anaesthetics ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Endoscopy ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   

Cardiac Surgery    ✓ Outpatients Outpatients   

Thoracic Surgery   ✓ Outpatients Outpatients   

Neurosurgery  ✓     Outpatients   

Plastic Surgery    ✓       

Vascular Surgery ✓         

Maternity  ✓   ✓ ✓ Outpatients/birthing unit 

Neonatal ✓   ✓ ✓   

Paediatrics Medicine  ✓   ✓ ✓ Outpatients 

Paediatric Surgery  ✓         

Radiology/diagnostics ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Complex Rehabilitation   ✓     ✓ 

Infectious Diseases   ✓       

Immunology ✓ Outpatients Outpatients Outpatients Outpatients 

Allergy    Outpatients       
Table 10.1 Service provision by hospital site (HUTH and NLaG) 

 

P
age 303



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

246 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Process – how we developed the proposals 

 

  

Page 304



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

247 
  

10.3 Developing the potential models of care 

10.3.1  Timeline and Approach 

In line with the Humber Acute Services principles established at the outset of the programme, the 

development of solutions has been clinically-led and evidence-based. A wide range of stakeholders have 

been involved in shaping the potential models of care set out in this document.   

The diagram below sets out the approach that has been taken to developing the models of care and 

potential options for change. This has been an iterative and dynamic process to ensure multiple 

stakeholders have had the opportunity to be involved and to help shape the outputs of the process. As 

new information and insight has been gathered, the models under consideration have been adapted, 

new models have been added and other models have been discounted at various stages.  

 
Figure 10.1 Process to develop potential models of care 

10.3.2  Developing Outline Ideas (July to Nov 2019)  

From July to November 2019 clinical, public and stakeholder engagement was undertaken to clarify 

current challenges (which were documented in the Case for Change) and identify outline ideas that 

might address those challenges across the three core service areas or ‘building blocks’ of hospital 

services: 

• Urgent and Emergency Care 

• Maternity and Paediatrics 

• Planned Care  

Some early concepts came through stakeholder engagement including during the first round of clinical 

design sub-group workshops for each service area and the Case for Change research.  Other models of 

care (from other parts of the UK and beyond) that could help address the challenges identified in the 

Humber area were reviewed and used to generate outline ideas for wider testing. These possible 

approaches were displayed along a continuum from least to most change and covered a wide range of 

possible service configurations across the Humber region. These outline ideas were discussed with 

Page 305



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

248 
  

clinical representatives across both trusts, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and other health and 

care partners and shared with patients and their representatives at a series of open events.  

 
Figure 10.2 Approach to developing early ideas235 

10.3.2.1 Clinical Engagement 

Two rounds of clinical design workshops occurred (between August and October 2019) and were well 

attended with clinical and operational representation from our health and care partnerships and 

organisational members across both trusts as well as the stakeholders such as Humber, Coast and Vale 

Health and Care Partnership’s clinical and professional leads, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and 

Ambulance Trusts. These workshops highlighted concerns and potential solutions, which in turn shaped 

the clinical models that were developed. The following provides a snapshot of these suggestions and 

ideas and how they shaped the potential models of care considered. 

Challenges identified Ideas suggested Action taken/impact 

Small specialties are difficult 

to sustain 

use hub and spoke models to deliver 

care throughout the region 

inform planned care potential 

models 

Insufficient doctors to run 

the services as we would like 

concentrate obstetric-led care in NLaG 

onto one site 

inform MNP potential models 

invest in upskilling current staff in UEC inform UEC potential models 

and workforce planning 

Split site working can be 

inefficient  

consolidate NLaG inpatient paediatric 

care on one site, with PAU at other site 

inform MNP potential models 

move to Hot/Cold site models to reduce 

duplication of out of hours staffing 

inform UEC, MNP and planned 

care potential models 

Meeting national standards is 

currently challenging  

develop planned care ‘Centres of 

Excellence’ 

inform planned care potential 

models 

improve Surgical Assessment Unit (SAU) 

to bypass ED 

inform UEC potential models 

 

 
235 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report – see also document library 

Page 306

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

249 
  

Both Trusts have high 

backlog maintenance lists 

build a new hospital  inform capital investment 

plans (SOC in development) 
invest in estates 

It’s difficult to recruit staff joint contracts and recruitment across 

the Humber 

work in progress 

Limited digital maturity joint digital solutions – providing access 

to notes between the trusts 

work in progress 

develop digital outpatient software to 

reduce face-to-face 

work in progress/build on 

implementation through 

COVID-19 

Rural population and 

distances between hospitals 

is a challenge for staff and 

patients 

improve hospital transport links work in progress – transport 

group established (see section 

8.4) 

Table 10.2 Summary of clinical engagement on early ideas236 

10.3.2.2 Public engagement 

In parallel, a series of public workshops took place (throughout October 2019), to enable service-users 

and members of the public to feed into the development of the long-list of potential models of care. The 

events took place in various locations across the Humber area in accessible venues and were attended 

by a total of 77 people (excluding facilitators).  

This engagement provided rich insight and a range of perspectives in relation to the different ideas and 

whether they would have a positive or negative effect on them and their families. Some of the key 

themes that emerged were: 

• Quality and safe services – the thing that was most important to most people was getting good 

quality and safe care and having the best possible chance of getting well.  

• The right workforce – participants recognised the pressures on staff and identified 

opportunities to develop and make the best use of staff. 

• Access and travel – many participants said they were willing to travel further, particularly to 

access specialist services, however, raised concerns about the impact for people living far away. 

Using technology (including telephone) to reduce the need for people to travel to hospital was 

suggested. 

• Digital technology – participants had ideas such as increasing the use of virtual consultations to 

reduce travel; improving information sharing (e.g., health records) and using technology to 

provide better information (e.g., live waiting times). 

• Give patients more information and knowledge – recent patients were eager for hospitals to 

manage their expectations around waiting times and get slicker at communicating with them. 

The following provides a snapshot of key ideas that were used to help shape the long list of potential 

models – a full write-up of responses is provided in the feedback report.237 

 

 
236 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report – see also document library 
237 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (2019) Hospital Services for the future – Patient Workshop 
Feedback Report Feedback Report 

Page 307

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HASR-Oct-2019-engagement-report_FINAL-1.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

250 
  

Challenges identified Ideas suggested Action taken/impact 

Hospital waiting times are too 

long 

We are willing to travel further if we 

know we are getting the highest quality 

care 

inform planned care 

potential models 

Lengthy travel times is a huge 

issue for patients 

Invest in better patient transport work in progress – transport 

group established (see 

section 8.4) 
Work with local authority to improve 

transport infrastructure  

Technology could be used for video 

consultations to save patients travelling 

and consultants time 

inform planned care 

potential models (high 

volume services close to 

home)  

Workforce shortages Having centres of excellence would 

make the roles more appealing and 

attract more staff 

inform potential models 

appoint staff to the whole Humber 

region not just a particular hospital 

work in progress (ongoing) 

upskilling staff and allowing them 

training and development opportunities 

would help retain them 

inform workforce plan 

Multiple sites won’t solve the 

staffing issue 

Build a purpose-built centre on the 

south bank, somewhere near Brigg or 

Barnetby Top to provide an equitable 

service 

inform UEC/MNP potential 

models of care 

Communication is poor  Improve information to patients about 

what services are available 

work in progress (ongoing)  

Continuity of carer is not 

available everywhere – feels 

like a postcode lottery 

Implement continuity of carer in 

maternity services across the region 

inform MNP potential models 

of care 

Table 10.3 Summary of public engagement on early ideas238 

At the workshops (both clinical and public facing), participants provided detailed feedback on the 

strengths and weaknesses of the different clinical models that were set out in the sessions. This 

feedback has been incorporated into our evaluation process alongside more recent feedback on 

advantages and disadvantages of the different clinical models (see section 10.4). 

There are a number of ways in which this involvement influenced thinking, as highlighted above. In 

particular, we have responded to the perspectives shared on travel and access (and continued to engage 

on this topic to gather more views from more people). In designing how any potential future models of 

care are implemented, a critical success factor will be thinking about the accessibility of services in the 

round. This includes thinking differently about the location of one-off treatments versus locations for 

ongoing and follow-up care. The insights gained in relation to workforce have helped to shape our 

workforce strategy (see section 8.3.4), in particular, building on the support of local people to market 

our region and work to encourage more young people into careers in health and care.   

 
238 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report – see also document library 

Page 308

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

251 
  

10.3.3  Developing a Long List – Interim Options Report (Nov 2019 to Jan 2020)  

Drawing on evidence from elsewhere in the UK and beyond, the outline ideas gathered through the 

workshops were refined to develop a set of potential models of care for consideration. These focused 

initially on models of care for acute services (Urgent and Emergency Care, Maternity, Neonatal and 

Paediatrics) with the intention of incorporating further work in respect of Planned Care later in the 

programme. The process undertaken to develop these potential models of care is detailed in the Interim 

Options Report (January 2020)239 and summarised briefly below.  

Potential models of care for urgent and emergency care and maternity, neonatal and paediatrics varied 

from ‘do nothing’, to differentiation of services between the two south bank hospital sites (providing a 

particular range of services on one site and a different range of services on the other), to development 

of a new single site either for the whole of the Humber or for the south bank only. 

Stakeholder feedback was used to refine the service models to those that were most workable and had 

the potential to address the challenges identified in the case for change. This process is documented in 

the Interim Options Report.240 

Led by the Clinical Design Group, the interdependencies of clinical specialties, specifically within the 

Humber area, were considered. Developing a comprehensive view of the clinical interdependecies as 

they apply to the local area was an important step in refining the potential models of care and enabling 

some combinations to be ruled out. A detailed matrix of clinical interdependencies, and how they were 

arrived at, is set out in the Interim Options Report.241  

Exploring clinical interdependencies at the workshops demonstrated that the greatest number related 

to services that were required to be co-located in order to support Urgent and Emergency Care 

provision. Three high-level service models for Urgent and Emergency Care were identified: 

1. Acute Care Hubs at each of any of the current Emergency Departments 

2. Hot-Warm: One NLaG site provides a wider range of inpatient acute services, the other NLaG 

site provides a ‘local emergency hospital’ model 

3. Hot-Cold: One NLaG site provides all inpatient acute services, the other NLaG site has an Urgent 

Treatment Centre242 

In addition, Maternity and Paediatrics services have strong interdependencies with neonatal care and 

when combined this created six site-agnostic combinations or high-level service models for maternity, 

neonatal care and paediatrics. 

1. NICU differentiation + Hot-Warm paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with an OLU and level 1 neonatal care and 

paediatric assessment unit 

2. NICU differentiation + Hot-Cold paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with an OLU and level 1 neonatal care (no 

acute paediatric services) 

 
239 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report – see also document library 
240 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report pp. 31-37 – see also document library 
241 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report pp. 39-43 – see also document library 
242 As the models have been developed further, this model has been amended such that the Urgent Treatment 
Centre/ Urgent Care Service (UTC/UCS) could be provided at the hospital site or in another location within the 
same town. 

Page 309

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

252 
  

3. Hot-Warm maternity + Hot-Warm paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with an standalone MLU, level 1 neonatal care 

and paediatric assessment unit 

4. Hot-Warm maternity + Hot-Cold paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with an standalone MLU (no acute paediatric 

services) 

5. Hot-Cold maternity + Hot-Warm paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with a paediatric assessment unit (no facilities 

for births) 

6. Hot-Cold maternity + Hot-Cold paeds: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care 

and acute paediatric service, the other NLaG site with no acute paediatric services and no 

facilities for births 

Bringing together potential models of care for Urgent and Emergency Care, Maternity (including 

neonatal care) and Paediatrics generated a matrix with 18 possible high-level combinations. Each 

combination had up to eight theoretically possible variants when applied to the specific sites across the 

Humber, which meant at this stage there were a total of 120 potential variants to be considered. 

Checks of the extent to which models were considered sufficient to address the challenges set out in the 

Case for Change, and were compatible when configured on a site together, identified those service 

models that warranted further detailed consideration.   

This produced a preliminary list of 12 high level site-specific variants as set out in the diagram below, 

which were explored through a number of further engagement events.  

 
Figure 10.3 Preliminary Long List (12 site-specific variants) 243 

 
243 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report p.59 – see also document library  

Page 310

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

253 
  

Further engagement244 resulted in three additional models being added to the long list for further 

consideration. These were: 

1. Continuing to consider the idea of a new hospital for the South bank, in principle at a yet to be 

determined location somewhere between Scunthorpe and Grimsby.  

2. Continuing to consider the idea of a new hospital for Urgent and Emergency Care for the whole 

of Humber. 

3. Continuing to consider a Maternity Service Model which involves the differentiation of neonatal 

care (Level 2 at one site, Level 1 at the other) at two Obstetric-Led Units on the NLaG sites.  

As a result, an additional six variants were added, making a final “long list” of 18 potential models of 

care for modelling and assessment, as set out in the diagram below: 

 
Figure 10.4 Final long list (18 site specific variations)245 

This “longlist” underwent its first evaluation on 16th December 2019, details of which are contained 

within the Interim Options Report.246 Following this early evaluation, the Yorkshire and Humber Clinical 

Senate was asked to review the work to date and provide recommendations on the next steps. 

10.3.4  Clinical Senate Review (Jan to March 2020)  

The Interim Options Report was agreed by the Executive Oversight Group in January 2020. The work was 

also subject to a review by the Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate in early 2020. Supporting 

documentation was shared with the Senate and distributed to the clinical panel in mid-November 

(2019), prior to a site visit, which took place on 17th January 2020. The Clinical Senate was asked to 

 
244 This included clinical engagement events on 13th and 14th November 2019 at Northern Lincolnshire and Goole 
NHS Foundation Trust (NLaG), an Urgent and Emergency Care engagement event at Hull University Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust (HUTH) on 25th November 2019 and a Citizen’s Panel meeting on 21st November 2019. 
245 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report p.68 – see also document library 
246 Interim Options Report (January 2020) Options Report pp. 85-99 – see also document library 

Page 311

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

254 
  

provide an independent clinical assessment of whether the potential models of care currently under 

consideration were clinically feasible and sustainable given the volumes of activity, case mix, local health 

needs and constraints presented in the case for change and whether any other models or combinations 

thereof should be actively considered.  

The recommendations of the Clinical Senate following that review are set out in detail in the report.247 A 

number of these have already been taken up and implementation is underway, for example, the 

recommendation to improve compatibility of IT between the two trusts. Other recommendations were 

instrumental in moving from a long list of high-level models to workable models of care, as set out in 

this document.  Notably, the Senate recommended: 

• reducing the number of options under consideration as rapidly as possible in order to maintain 

momentum and allow the development of detailed proposals. 

• working with neighbouring health economies to understand the impact of any changes. 

• focusing options development for Urgent and Emergency Care in Northern Lincolnshire on 

exploring a two-site model of an acute site and a less acute site. 

• putting in place a number of specific actions/mitigations in relation to maternity, neonatal and 

paediatric services. 

Following the Clinical Senate review, the Clinical Design Group met in February 2020 to review the 18 

potential models of care currently under consideration and, following the advice of the Clinical Senate, 

worked to reduce these to a more manageable number to allow for the development of detailed 

proposals.  

The Clinical Design Group agreed not to do any further development of the model for a single Humber-

wide urgent and emergency care hospital. It was not considered to be a viable clinical model because 

on-site essential clinical services would not be available in order to deliver a safe service. Specifically, it 

was highlighted by the Clinical Design Group that it would not be possible under this model to safely 

provide paediatric services and obstetric-led maternity services on the existing hospital sites which 

would effectively have a ‘Cold’ urgent and emergency care offer under this model. In addition, it was 

noted that the model would potentially clash with other services (not in scope) such as major trauma 

and tertiary services, which would require those regional services to co-locate to the new Humber-wide 

centre, having a knock-on effect on services that are out of scope of the programme.  

Further application by the Clinical Design Group of clinical interdependencies – between urgent and 

emergency care services and maternity, neonatal and paediatric services – reduced the 18 (site-specific) 

potential models of care down to seven (site-specific) or four (site-agnostic) models: 

 
Figure 10.5 Preliminary short list for detailed modelling 

 
247 Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate (November 2020) Clinical Senate Review of Humber Acute Services on 
behalf of Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership Senate report 

Page 312

http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20-%20Humber%20Acute%20Services%20-%20November%202020.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

255 
  

Responding to the Clinical Senate recommendation, this smaller number of potential models of care 

enabled the programme to move forward with more detailed modelling to develop and refine the 

potential solutions that could address the challenges within the Case for Change and meet the future 

healthcare needs of the Humber population. 

This detailed, next step of the programme was due to commence in March 2020 but was temporarily 

suspended in response to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic within the UK and the need for NHS 

partners to respond to the immediate pressures and challenges brought about by the pandemic.  

10.3.5  Developing the Potential Models of Care (Sept 2020 to Nov 2021)  

Following a short hiatus in the initial period of responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, work continued to 

develop detailed potential models of care across all three core hospital service areas – urgent and 

emergency care; maternity, neonatal care and paediatrics and planned care and diagnostics – based on 

the outline models developed in 2019 and feedback from the Clinical Senate. 

In August 2020, the programme’s Executive Oversight Group recommended not developing the model 

S1 (a new South Bank Hospital for urgent and emergency care, maternity neonatal care and paediatrics) 

through the detailed modelling phase, but instead to focus on two-site models across Northern 

Lincolnshire, building on feedback from the Clinical Senate and Clinical Design Group. This model was, 

however, reconsidered within the evaluation process that took place from November 2021 to November 

2022 to ensure a consistent approach to evaluation was applied to all the potential models of care.  

The next phase of clinical design work was undertaken through an iterative process of extensive co-

production, involving clinicians, partners, patients, service-users, the public and their representatives, 

supported by a comprehensive programme of communications and engagement.  

To effectively model the impact of potential models of care, the clinical design process was undertaken 

in parallel for the three service areas, then brought together into potential service models, which were 

then evaluated to determine which would address the challenges most fully and provide the optimum 

configuration of services across the Humber. Building on the remaining high-level models described in 

the Interim Options Report, clinical and public engagement was used to refine these into workable 

solutions and identify the likely impact of each model on different cohorts of the Humber population. 

This work was supported by detailed data modelling (set out in appendix section D) and ongoing 

engagement with clinicians, patients, service-users, the public and other stakeholders (see appendix 

section C).  

10.3.5.1 Urgent and Emergency Care – Potential Models 

10.3.5.1.1 Clinical engagement/design  

In the domain of urgent and emergency care, detailed modelling and clinical design of potential models 

of care took as its starting point the two high-level models for urgent and emergency care described in 

the Interim Options Report: 

• Hot-Warm: One NLaG site provides a wider range of inpatient acute services, emergency care 

and trauma, the other NLaG site provides a ‘local emergency hospital’ model 

• Hot-Cold: One NLaG site provides all inpatient acute services, emergency care and trauma, the 

other NLaG site (or another site within the same town) has an Urgent Treatment Centre 

In addition, it built on the detailed recommendations from the Clinical Senate in relation to urgent and 

emergency care, which included the following:  

Page 313



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

256 
  

• To focus option development on the south bank to the options of exploring a two-site model of 

an acute site and a less acute site or the option of one acute site on the south bank. 

• Both sites could deliver an emergency service that will operate using different clinical models.  

This could include: 

o emergency medicine consultant service for defined hours and/or a same day or 

ambulatory emergency care service for defined clinical pathways on the less acute site.  

o a walk-in service utilising both GPs and Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs) with 

appropriate referral to secondary care clinicians in medicine and surgery.   

o ambulance patients would go directly to a secondary care assessment and both units 

should have a co-located frailty service.   

o The need for the models to support sustainable staffing from the anaesthetic and 

critical care perspective.  

• All sites need to offer “front of house” frailty service to allow frail elderly patients to be seen 

and assessed immediately.  

• There are alternative roles that can be further considered particularly in terms of avoiding 

admissions and unnecessary attendance at Emergency Departments.   

• There are developing models where Emergency Department care can be run by an 

interdisciplinary medical team with support from specialists when needed. 

Further engagement with clinicians, patients and the public facilitated the development and refinement 

of a series of potential models of care that could address the challenges faced within urgent and 

emergency care.  

Taking the high-level models as a starting point, multidisciplinary clinical design workshops – supported 

by detailed data modelling – developed and assessed the variations of models of care that could be 

applied to the Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) and Diana Princess of Wales Hospital (DPoW) sites 

based upon the challenges of providing duplicate services across both sites as detailed in the case for 

change. 

The focus of the variations was on the potential different ‘warm’ models of care that could be provided. 

This was based on examples of services currently provided across the country ranging from limited 

opening times of ED to 24/7 opening but with consolidation of specialty services.  Detailed modelling of 

clinical interdependencies, transfer conditions and potential staffing models was undertaken to support 

the development of the potential models of care.  

The first workshop was held in September 2020 which commenced the assessment of the various 

models with a wide range of expertise across the acute hospitals, primary, community and ambulance 

stakeholders. This was followed by an extensive series of workshops and other engagement activities 

bringing together a wide range of key stakeholders to support, inform, confirm and challenge the 

development and output of the proposed models.248 In total 12 workshops took place in support of the 

urgent and emergency care programme with a total attendance across the workshops of 401 people. 

Ongoing engagement also identified a number of opportunities to improve access to and/or strengthen 

provision of urgent and emergency care outside of a hospital setting to better meet the needs of the 

population in the future. Out of hospital enabling changes and proposed new integrated pathways – in 

and out of hospital – were developed in parallel to support delivery of the potential models of care. 

 
248 See engagement timeline (section 10.15) 

Page 314



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

257 
  

10.3.5.1.2 Public engagement  

To support the development of potential models of urgent and emergency care, a better understanding 

of what drives behaviour and demand for urgent and emergency care services in our region was 

required. In particular, we wanted to understand: 

• What motivates people to go to an Emergency Department (ED). 

• The extent to which people know about alternative urgent care services such as NHS 111, 

Urgent Treatment Centres and other treatment options such as Pharmacy, etc. 

• What the barriers are to using alternatives to ED. 

Public engagement and insight work was undertaken to answer these questions and also to gather ideas 

and perspectives on the potential ways forward for urgent and emergency care provision across the 

Humber.  

During July to August 2020, an engagement exercise was undertaken across the Humber, Coast and Vale 

(HCV) area to understand the reasons why people attend Emergency Departments (ED) in our region. 

The engagement exercise was designed in partnership with the Humber, Coast and Vale Urgent and 

Emergency Care Network to provide insight to support the rollout of the NHS 111 First Campaign across 

the region and the Humber Acute Services Programme to inform the modelling work within the Urgent 

and Emergency Care workstream.  

A hybrid approach was adopted which involved using paper surveys and promotional posters in 

Emergency Departments supplemented by an online survey promoted through a targeted social media 

advertising campaign. In total, 2008 people responded to the survey, of which around half had used one 

of the three Emergency Departments within the Humber: Scunthorpe General Hospital (271 responses), 

Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (311 responses) and Hull Royal Infirmary (331 responses). The 

findings provided rich feedback on their experiences of Urgent and Emergency Care and views on using 

alternative provision. Full details of the approach taken and findings from the engagement are set out in 

Feedback Report.249  

This engagement exercise was supplemented by additional engagement undertaken in person at the 

three Emergency Departments by Healthwatch across the Humber.  Healthwatch staff and volunteers 

visited the three Emergency Departments (EDs) 11 times in total between 17th and 26th November, 

providing an independent opportunity for people to share their views and experiences face-to-face 

through a trusted third-party.  This helped to ensure we heard from those without the means to take 

part in earlier online engagement. Healthwatch spoke to around 153 people about their experiences 

and produced a report on their findings.250  

Some of the key findings that influenced the development of potential models for urgent and 

emergency care include: 

• Most people attended ED because someone advised them to, most commonly NHS 111 or a 

GP. 

• Levels of awareness of alternative provision are mixed, with lower awareness of urgent care 

provision in Grimsby and Scunthorpe than amongst people in Hull. 

 
249 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (October 2020) Accident & Emergency/Emergency 
Department Patient/Public Survey Feedback Report Feedback Report 
250 Healthwatch Humber Network (January 2022) Emergency Department Enter and View Report Healthwatch 
Report 

Page 315

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/3.2.4.-Accident-Emergency-Feedback-Report-Full.pdf
https://healthwatchnortheastlincolnshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Emergency-Department-Enter-and-View-Report-003.pdf
https://healthwatchnortheastlincolnshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Emergency-Department-Enter-and-View-Report-003.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

258 
  

• People are willing to use alternative provision if they are confident that it is appropriate for 

their needs. Most respondents who attended ED felt it was the most appropriate place for their 

needs.  

Further detail of engagement with recent patients and the public in relation to urgent and emergency 

care is provided in appendix 10.7. 

10.3.5.2 Maternity, Neonatal Care and Paediatrics – Potential Models 

10.3.5.2.1 Clinical engagement/design  

Working in parallel to urgent and emergency care, detailed modelling and clinical design for maternity, 

neonatal care and paediatrics took as its starting point the two high-level maternity, neonatal care and 

paediatrics described in the Interim Options Report: 

• Hot/Hot-Warm/Warm: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care and acute 

paediatric service, the other NLaG site with an OLU, level 1 neonatal care and paediatric 

assessment unit  

• Hot/Hot-Cold/Cold: One NLaG site with an OLU with level 2 neonatal care and acute paediatric 

service, the other NLaG site with outpatient maternity and paediatric services only 

In addition, it built on the detailed recommendations from the Clinical Senate in relation to maternity, 

neonatal care and paediatrics, which included the following:  

• Any proposals to redesign the services which retain either 2 Obstetric Led Units, or a Local 

Neonatal Unit, in Northern Lincolnshire must include actions that mitigate the concerns 

highlighted with workforce availability, critically interdependent services and levels of activity. 

• Any proposals which include a freestanding Midwifery Led Unit in Northern Lincolnshire must 

demonstrate that the activity will be sufficient to ensure the sustainability of both the MLU and 

the Northern Lincolnshire neonatal service. 

• To fully consider the workforce, resuscitation, stabilisation and transfer skills needed to support 

the paediatric model which will be required for an inpatient paediatric service at one Northern 

Lincolnshire site. 

• To develop the community paediatric services to support the hospital-based service 

Further engagement with clinicians, midwives and other professionals, service-users, patients, parents, 

carers and the public facilitated the development and refinement of a series of potential models of care 

that could address the challenges set out in the case for change.  

Beginning in September 2020, a series of co-production workshops took place with clinical staff across 

the Humber. In the first workshop attendees reviewed the longlist of clinical models and Clinical Senate 

review feedback to produce a shortlist based on the Senate recommendations.  As a result of the first 

workshop additional variations were introduced.  

This was followed by a series of further workshops and other engagement activities bringing together a 

wide range of key stakeholders to support, inform, confirm and challenge the development and output 

of the proposed models (details of the workshops undertaken can be found within appendix 10.15). In 

total 14 workshops took place in support of the maternity, neonatal care and paediatrics programme 

with a total attendance across the workshops of 417 people. 

Consideration was given through the workshops to how patient pathways may change and implications 

for delivery of care out of hospital.  Attendees also considered workforce implications, changes in skill 

Page 316



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

259 
  

mix, opportunities for the development of new roles and any educational implications.  The workshops 

also considered any additions/changes needed to the clinical models, for example, consideration of 

standalone and/or alongside midwifery-led units.  

Ongoing engagement also identified multiple opportunities to improve access to and/or strengthen 

provision of maternity and paediatric care outside of a hospital setting to better meet the needs of the 

population in the future. Out of hospital enabling changes and proposed new integrated pathways – in 

and out of hospital – were developed in parallel to support delivery of the potential models of care. 

The MNP programme secured independent clinical reviews from a Consultant Obstetrician/ 

Gynaecologist, Consultant Obstetric Anaesthetist and an Independent Midwife to undertake 

independent assessments of the shortlisted options and advise on any clinical risks or safety concerns. 

They also provided advice and ideas on potential new ways of working and future workforce models. 

The outputs from the reviews were used to develop further the clinical models. Independent reviews for 

paediatrics and neonatology were not obtained due to the suspension of such work by the Royal College 

of Paediatrics and Child Health during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

10.3.5.2.2 Public engagement – maternity and neonatal care 

To support the development of different clinical models for maternity and neonatal care, a better 

understanding of how new and expectant mothers, women trying to conceive, surrogates and other 

birthing people in our region feel about the different choices available to them was needed. These 

choices range from home births, standalone midwifery led units, midwifery-led units within/alongside a 

hospital to obstetrician-led maternity units. In particular, we wanted to understand: 

• Where people having babies, their partners and support people would prefer to give birth and 

why. 

• What concerns women and birthing people have around the different birthing options and what 

could be put in place or provided differently to alleviate those concerns.   

• What influences peoples’ choices on where to give birth. 

• What services (e.g., access to pain relief or a birthing pool) are a priority to them when deciding 

where to give birth. 

• What is important to them when choosing their birthing environment (e.g., Home-from-home 

feel, or a private room).  

• What women and birthing people perceive to be important to them, should their baby(ies) 

require neonatal care when first born, or what was important to them if they have lived 

experience of neonatal care.  

An engagement exercise to capture the views and experiences of women and birthing people was co-

produced in partnership with the service-user led Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVPs) across the 

region. The questionnaire, engagement artwork and animated video was designed by the working 

group, which was made up of the North & North East Lincolnshire MVP Chair, Lincolnshire MVP Chair, 

York & District MVP Chair, representatives from Hull MVP and East Riding MVP, the Humber, Coast and 

Vale Local Maternity System Lead, a parent with neonatal experience and the Humber Acute Services 

programme engagement manager. The co-design group helped ensure service user feedback was 

gathered by testing materials with friends and MVP members as well as with clinical staff and midwives.  

Due to COVID-19 restrictions in place at the time the engagement was undertaken, the majority of the 

engagement was undertaken digitally (though an online questionnaire and virtual focus groups) and 

promoted through social media. Paid-for Facebook advertising was used to promote the survey (to 

Page 317



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

260 
  

those living in areas of greatest deprivation and younger mums in areas with higher rates of teenage 

pregnancies) as well as utilising existing communication channels across all partner organisations and 

the MVP network. In total, 1,133 people completed the digital questionnaire, 753 of whom provided a 

postcode within the Humber region, 11 from the Lincolnshire area and 13 from Doncaster. 

To ensure those unable to access the digital survey could still take part, the opportunity to request a 

paper copy and alternative formats and languages of the questionnaire, or take part in a telephone 

interview, was highlighted wherever the survey was promoted. Using population health data, children’s 

centres, schools and nurseries located within areas of highest deprivation (IMD score of 1) were 

identified and posters, with details of how to be involved, were posted out to them to be displayed in 

waiting areas and areas with high footfall. In addition, a series of targeted focus groups were set up to 

provide opportunities for Young Families, Families from BAME backgrounds, Dads / Partners / Co-

Parents and Families with lived experience of neonatal care to have their say. Full details of the 

approach taken and findings from the engagement are set out in the Your Birthing Choices – Feedback 

Report.251 

Some of the key findings that have influenced the development of potential models of care for 

maternity and neonatal services include the following: 

• Alongside Midwifery-led Units were the most popular option overall, but not everyone’s first 

choice. For Northern Lincolnshire women, Obstetric-led units were a more popular choice. 

• Preferences were not uniform across the different geographical areas. 

• Views on standalone midwifery units were equivocal. 

• The facilities and services available were comparatively more important than the physical 

environment and location when making decisions about where to give birth. 

• Safety was comparatively more important to maternity service-users than the public as a 

whole. 

Working collaboratively with the Maternity Voices Partnership group and Local Maternity System across 

Humber, Coast and Vale has also provided a wealth of other insight, which has been drawn upon to 

support development of potential models of care for maternity and neonatal services. This includes a 

number of surveys carried out by the MVP network from 2019 to 2021, which gathered views from over 

1800 women and birthing people in total on a range of topics including: 

• The impact of and experiences during COVID-19 (540 responses)252 

• Continuity of carer – peoples’ experiences and expectations (778 responses)253 

• The use of virtual/telephone appointments in pre- and post-natal care (1319 responses)254 

• Making informed choices in pregnancy and in relation to birthing choices (559 responses)255 

 
251 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (June 2022) Hospital Services for the future – Your 
Birthing Choices Feedback Report Your Birthing Choices Report 
252 Humber, Coast and Vale Maternity Voices Partnership (Sept 2020) The impact of and experiences during COVID-
19 
253 Humber, Coast and Vale Maternity Voices Partnership (Nov 2021) Continuity of carer – peoples’ experiences and 
expectations 
254 Humber, Coast and Vale Maternity Voices Partnership (Mar 2021) The use of virtual/telephone appointments in 
pre- and post-natal care   
255 Humber, Coast and Vale Maternity Voices Partnership (June 2020) Making informed choices in pregnancy and in 
relation to birthing choices  

Page 318

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/73f6f316-286f-4330-a193-f9dcd279898d/YBC%20Feedback%20Report_WORKING%20COPY_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

261 
  

The feedback reports from each of these engagement activities helped to inform the development of 

clinical models. Some key findings that have influenced the development of potential models of care for 

maternity services include: 

• Maternity service-users show a strong preference for face-to-face interaction and would not 

want to see a continuation to virtual appointments that were used during the pandemic. 

• There is strong support for ‘continuity of carer’ amongst women who have experienced this 

model of care. 

Further detail of how engagement with service-users has shaped the potential models of care for 

maternity and neonatal services and the feedback they have given is provided in appendix 10.13.  

10.3.5.2.3 Public engagement – Children and Young People 

To support the development of different clinical models for paediatrics, a different approach was 

needed to gather views and ideas from existing and future patients of paediatric services and their 

parents and carers. In particular, we wanted to understand: 

• What matters most to children and young people about their care. 

• What concerns children and young people have about coming to hospital and how we could 

respond to these in our design of future services. 

• What improvements children and young people think we could make to our paediatric 

provision.   

To undertake this engagement effectively and ensure younger people could respond in a way that was 

meaningful to them, a child-friendly approach was developed in partnership with play specialists in the 

two hospital trusts. For young children (aged approximately 5-11) a fun activity booklet was developed 

featuring drawing, matching activities and space to write or leave comments. For older children/young 

people (aged approximately 12-17) a bespoke questionnaire was produced with simplified questions 

and open space to provide free text or drawings. Participation was incentivised with a prize giveaway 

and parental consent was built into the survey design.  

 
Picture 10:A Children's feedback booklet 

Page 319



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

262 
  

Both resources were thoroughly tested by a reference group of children and young people of a variety 

of ages to ensure accessibility and appropriateness. Patient experience teams and nurse specialists 

within both trusts delivered the engagement activity to ensure any patients coming onto the paediatric 

wards at Hull, Grimsby or Scunthorpe had the opportunity to take part. In addition, the online survey 

was promoted via social media and other channels (e.g., staff and stakeholder newsletters), targeted 

particularly at parents and carers seeking their support to enable their children to take part. Additional 

offline methods were used to reach out to children and young people in more deprived communities 

and those who might face other barriers to access, for example, working with local kid’s club providers 

to distribute paper copies of the booklet. 

A parent and carer survey and campaign to promote it was also used to give parents and carers an 

opportunity to share their perspectives. This utilised the What Matters to You Survey but with a 

bespoke communications campaign to promote the opportunity to parents and carers across the 

Humber.  

In total, 63 children and young people took part by completing a booklet or the online questionnaire and 

277 parents and carers responded to the online questionnaire. Full details of the approach taken and 

findings from the engagement are set out in the feedback reports.256   

Some key findings that have influenced the development of potential models of care for paediatric 

services include: 

• Being kept safe and well looked after was the most important thing to parents, carers and 

guardians and for children and young people themselves. 

• Accessibility and experience were also very important (e.g., waiting times, car parking, local 

services). 

• The building and physical environment was comparatively more important to children and 

young people than the population as a whole. 

• Better communication – clear and consistent information presented in an understandable way 

– was important to both parents and carers and children and young people.  

Further detail of how engagement with children, young people and their parents and carers has shaped 

the potential models of care for paediatric services is provided in appendix 10.8.  

10.3.5.3 Planned Care – Potential Models 

10.3.5.3.1 Clinical engagement/design  

Early work on potential models for planned care was undertaken in parallel to development of the Case 

for Change in late 2019. A series of outline conceptual models for planned care were also presented to 

the Clinical Senate for review, alongside the potential models for urgent and emergency care and 

maternity, neonatal care and paediatrics.  

In relation to planned care, the Clinical Senate provided positive feedback on the work to date and made 

one key recommendation: 

 
256 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (March 2022) What Matters to You – Children and Young 
People; patient and stakeholder engagement feedback report CYP Feedback Report AND Humber, Coast and Vale 
Health and Care Partnership (March 2022) What Matters to You – Parents, Carers & Guardians; public and 
stakeholder engagement feedback report Parents, Carers and Guardians Feedback Report 

Page 320

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b85126f7-e2ca-4907-bc82-5354107b184e/CYP%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/8d9be464-6e48-4da2-a60a-f006aa704479/Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

263 
  

• To take action ahead of the wider reconfiguration, particularly in ophthalmic surgery, urology 

and ENT to develop clinical networks working across Hull and East Riding and Northern 

Lincolnshire to change the way that the workforce delivers care. 

With respect to planned care the Senate identified a recurrent theme of stretching the workforce too 

thinly across multiple sites, particularly when delivering out of hours care. The Senate supported models 

that split elective (planned) care from urgent care, which would enable elective care to be provided 

more efficiently. The Senate also identified a need for increased integration and collaboration across the 

trusts, centralising the workforce, supported by regional multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) for specialties 

and standardised pathways of care.  

Taking the split of planned and unplanned care as a starting point and building on the feedback provided 

by the Clinical Senate, further engagement with clinicians, patients and the public was undertaken to 

develop and refine a series of potential models of care that could address the challenges set out in the 

case for change.  

This began with the first planned care workshop in March 2021 and continued through a series of 

further workshops exploring the drivers for change and what potential models of care could be 

developed to address the issues described in the case for change. In total 12 workshops took place in 

support of the planned care programme with a total attendance across the workshops of 359 people.  

The potential models of care were also reviewed and refined through the Planned Care steering group, 

the Executive Oversight Group and the Clinical Design Group.   

Potential models of care and proposed new pathways were initially developed for the six specialties 

identified within the Case for Change.  The original Case for Change, however, was completed prior to 

the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has had a significant impact on delivery of planned care 

across the region.  

The Elective Recovery programme – and efforts to respond to the pressures in the system exacerbated 

by the COVID-19 pandemic – will drive changes in how planned care is delivered in the Humber (and 

nationally) over the coming months and years. We have therefore worked closed with the Elective 

Recovery programme and colleagues working to address the backlog that has built up as a result of the 

pandemic to collectively design the potential models and concepts for planned care (see section Error! R

eference source not found. for further details). The work undertaken in preparing this Pre-Consultation 

Business Case sets out the broader, long-term vision for planned care, that will underpin the delivery of 

elective recovery in the here and now as well as providing a more sustainable platform for planned care 

services to develop future models of care delivering within and outside of hospital settings. 

Ongoing engagement identified multiple opportunities to improve access to and/or strengthen provision 

of planned care outside of a hospital setting to better meet the needs of the population in the future. 

Out of hospital enabling changes and proposed new integrated pathways – in and out of hospital – were 

developed in parallel to support delivery of the potential models of care. 

10.3.5.3.2 Public engagement – planned care 

In developing the potential models of care for planned care services, we wanted to understand what 

was most important to people in terms of how they access hospital care and to understand what makes 

a positive experience of planned care. Because of the extensive potential patient-base for planned care, 

broad-based public engagement was undertaken to supplement the engagement that was undertaken 

earlier in the programme with current patients in particular specialties. In addition, we drew upon 

Page 321



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

264 
  

existing intelligence and insight gathered by partners to provide additional ideas to help shape potential 

models for planned care. In particular, we wanted to know: 

• What matters most to people accessing planned care (including operations, outpatient 

appointments, diagnostic tests, and support for long-term conditions). 

• What ideas and concerns people have about accessing aspects of their care in an ‘out of 

hospital’ setting (including remotely via telephone or video conferencing). 

• Whether people were willing to travel, and if so under what conditions, to access care and 

treatment.  

To ensure anyone with an interest in hospital services was able to share their views and experiences at 

an early stage, a broad-based questionnaire was designed and promoted through a public campaign 

asking, “What Matters to You?”. Initially, the campaign ran from March to May 2021 and the survey re-

opened in August 2021 until the end of November. The What Matters to You? engagement exercise had 

two main purposes: 

1. to gather ideas and suggestions about how future models of care could best meet peoples’ 

needs.  

2. to gather views and perspectives from a wide range of stakeholder on their priorities and 

preferences in relation to hospital care, or which factors are relatively more important than 

others.257  

A range of methods was used to gather the views of different stakeholders. Given the continuation of 

restrictions at the time this exercise was carried out, the methods adopted included a digital 

questionnaire and a series of (virtual) workshops with identified stakeholder groups. To increase 

accessibility particularly amongst those facing digital exclusion, the opportunity to request a paper copy 

of the questionnaire was highlighted wherever the survey was promoted. People were also offered the 

opportunity to compete the questionnaire over the telephone or via a video call and were given the 

opportunity to request the survey in different languages and formats. The survey was also promoted 

using paid-for social media advertising, targeted to reach those living in areas of highest deprivation 

(IMD bottom decile).  

The online questionnaire was initially open for five weeks, from 8th March to 12th April 2021. A total of 

3883 people completed the online questionnaire over that period. The What Matters to You? 

questionnaire was reopened in August and received a further 148 responses.  

In addition to the questionnaire, six stakeholder workshops took place between February and May 2021, 

which included members of the following stakeholder groups (63 people in total attended one of the 

workshop sessions): 

• Citizen’s Panel 

• Local Councillors (from the four Humber Local Authorities) 

• NLaG Trust Governors 

• Non-Executive Directors from both hospital trusts 

Of those who responded to the survey, more than half (60%) had used planned care or diagnostic 

services within the last two years. Around half (53%) had used Accident and Emergency services and a 

 
257 The feedback on priorities and preferences is covered in more detail below – see section 10.4.2.1. 

Page 322



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

265 
  

small proportion had experience of maternity or paediatric services (11% and 9% respectively).258 Full 

details of the approach taken and findings from the engagement are set out in the What Matters to 

You? – Feedback Report.259   

In addition to engagement undertaken through the What Matters to You survey, a number of other 

sources of feedback and/or insight helped to shape thinking about the future strategy for planned care: 

• Targeted engagement undertaken to support the programme. 

• Survey on virtual outpatient appointments undertaken by HCV outpatient transformation 

programme (2778 participants).260 

• Healthwatch hospital survey (37 responses).261 

• Surveys to gather views from current or recent patients and staff using/working within a 

number of specific specialties where temporary service changes had been made, namely: 

Urology, ENT, Oncology and Haematology (524 responses).262 

• Focus groups to gather views from current or recent patients of a number of specific specialties, 

namely: Neurology, Cardiology, Critical Care, Complex Rehabilitation and Stroke (77 

participants).263 

To support the introduction of virtual (video) consultations implemented in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic in Spring/Summer 2020, the acute trusts across Humber and North Yorkshire gathered 

feedback from patients who had used virtual outpatient appointments during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

This feedback was used to improve the service in real time and also brought together and analysed to 

help inform work to transform outpatient care for the longer term across the region. Feedback from 

those using the service was largely positive with 89% of patients who had attended a virtual 

appointment at NLaG saying they would recommend video consultations to friends and family.264  

Healthwatch designed a survey targeted at current patients, in particular those who are currently on a 

waiting list for hospital services. The survey was launched in October 2021 and continued through to 

Spring 2022. Interim findings were provided to the programme team to inform the developing models 

for planned care. 

 
258 Note: it was possible to select more than one option if respondents had used more than one service therefore 
the percentages do not add up to 100. 
259 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (May 2021) What Matters to You: public, staff and 
stakeholder engagement feedback report What Matters to You AND Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care 
Partnership (January 2022) What Matters to You – Revisited: public, staff and stakeholder engagement feedback 
report What Matters to You – Revisited 
260 Humber, Coast and Vale Outpatient Transformation Programme (Nov 2020) Outpatient Transformation 
engagement: listening to and acting on patient feedback 
261 Healthwatch Humber Network (March 2023) COVID-19 Impact Survey Report Healthwatch Report 
262 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (October 2020) Review of temporary changes to Oncology 
Services Oncology Feedback Report; Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (March 2022) Review of 
temporary changes to ENT Services ENT Feedback Report; Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership 
(March 2022) Review of temporary changes to Urology Services Urology Feedback Report AND Humber, Coast and 
Vale Health and Care Partnership (March 2022) Review of temporary changes to Haematology Services 
Haematology Feedback Report 
263 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (April 2019) Hospital Services for the future – Focus Group 
Feedback Report Focus Group Feedback Report 
264 Humber, Coast and Vale Outpatient Transformation Programme (Nov 2020) Outpatient Transformation 
engagement: listening to and acting on patient feedback 

Page 323

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2dd0d3ff-8a55-4b79-8376-f90101b88d49/MASTER%20COPY%20WMTY%202.0%20Feedback%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.healthwatchnorthlincolnshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Covid-Impact-Survey-final.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9ca1ae03-2ff0-4e3b-b72a-5abe12497c27/Oncology%20Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/bd6f3696-8662-47cc-8258-8f7b78014ed6/ENT%20Patient%20Feedback%20Report_Temp%20Changes_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b81d9e05-351a-424c-8e4b-9f055f12fa98/Urology_Patient%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/f9a9c926-b525-4a33-9c97-805efaf6940f/Haematology%20Patient%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c14dbb4d-eb80-4c8b-841b-bb714a592a02/Focus-Groups-Feedback-Report_final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

266 
  

Some key findings that have influenced the development of thinking about the future of planned care 

across the Humber include: 

• Compassionate and caring staff were the most common reason for a positive experience of 

care, highlighting the need to develop appropriate and effective staffing models that give staff 

time to care. 

• Accessibility of services – in the broadest sense – matters, highlighting the need to think about 

travel and accessibility in the round and not just focus on distance travelled. 

• On the whole, there is willingness to travel for care where it is necessary (i.e. the benefits are 

significant and well understood) and well-supported (i.e. appointment times are sensible and 

car parking is available).  

• Patients recognise and welcome the opportunity to reduce unnecessary appointments. 

• Those who have used virtual appointments have, on the whole, found them positive. 

• Communication needs to improve, particularly between different parts of the NHS. 

Further detail of how engagement with patients and the public has shaped thinking about planned care 

is provided in appendix 10.9. 

10.3.6  Summary of Potential Models of Care 

The extensive engagement, modelling and development work that was undertaken resulted in three 

potential models for urgent and emergency care, three potential models for maternity neonatal care 

and paediatrics and four potential models for planned care.  

The potential models for urgent and emergency care, maternity neonatal care and paediatrics included: 

• Model 1 – Acute / Local Emergency Hospital (LEH) 

• Model 2 – Acute / Local Emergency Hospital (LEH) variation 

• Model 3 – Acute / Elective 

In addition, four potential models for planned care were initially developed, including: 

• Model PC1 – operations in 3 hospitals, day case in all five 

• Model PC2 – operations in 3 hospitals (including Goole) 

• Model PC3 – operations in 2 hospitals  

• Model PC4 – one hospital for all operations (Humber-wide hub) 

Initially planned care models were developed for the six priority specialties identified within the Case for 

Change.  As a result of feedback gathered during step 1 of the evaluation process, and in response to 

wider changes in the strategic context (specifically, the pandemic impact and the requirements of the 

elective recovery programme), the planned care programme was broadened to consider all planned 

care specialties, developing the core principles and outline strategy described in section 7.1.  

To ensure a robust and consistent process was followed, all possible combinations of the models 

developed through the clinical design phase for urgent and emergency care and maternity, neonatal 

care and paediatrics, were combined and taken through step 2 of the evaluation process (unless there 

was a clear rationale from step 1 to discount). This approach was adopted to ensure all models and 

potential variations were considered objectively. This included reviewing some previously discounted 

ideas (such as a new central hospital for Northern Lincolnshire).  

 

Page 324



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

267 
  

In all, 15 different scenarios were considered through the evaluation process, which included: 

• Acute / Local Emergency Hospital model (x6 variations, 12 site-specific scenarios) 

• Acute / Elective model (x2 variations, 3 site-specific scenarios)  

10.3.6.1.1 Acute / Local Emergency Hospital Model 

The Acute / Local Emergency Hospital model is based upon the Hot-Warm model from the Interim 

Options Report and describes a scenario whereby one of the sites in Northern Lincolnshire – Diana 

Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) or Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) – would be an Acute 

Hospital with a Trauma Unit, the other would be a Local Emergency Hospital. Hull Royal Infirmary would 

continue to operate as a specialist acute hospital and the Major Trauma Centre.  

Within this model, six potential variations of the Local Emergency Hospital remained following step 1 of 

the evaluation. This included the following considerations (and combinations thereof): 

• Provision of General Medical and Care of the Elderly inpatient beds (post-72 hours) on the Local 

Emergency Hospital and Acute Hospital site or on the Acute Hospital site only. 

• Provision of Obstetric-Led Unit on the Local Emergency Hospital and Acute Hospital site or on 

the Acute Hospital site only. 

• Provision of Standalone Midwifery-Led Unit on the Local Emergency Hospital. 

In addition, each variation could be applied to either site configuration option – either Diana Princess of 

Wales Hospital, Grimsby as the Acute hospital or Scunthorpe General Hospital as the Acute hospital. This 

resulted in 12 different site-specific scenarios that were considered through the evaluation process. 

Acute / Local Emergency Hospital Model 
 

Acute Hospital   Local Emergency Hospital  Specialist Acute Hospital 

- Emergency Department and 

Trauma Unit 

- Urgent Care Service 

- Assessment/Same Day 

Emergency Care 

(SDEC)/Short stay (<72 hours) 

- Specialty Medical Inpatients 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Acute Surgery Inpatients  

- Paediatric Assessment Unit 

- Paediatric Inpatients 

- Obstetric-Led Unit 

(+Midwife-Led Service) 

- Neonatal Levels 1&2 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

 - Emergency Department 

- Urgent Care Service 

- Assessment/Same Day 

Emergency Care/Short stay 

(<72 hours) 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Day Case Emergency Surgery 

- Paediatric Assessment Unit 

- Obstetric-Led Unit 

(+Midwife-Led Service) 

- Neonatal Level 1 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

 - Emergency Department and 

Major Trauma Centre 

- Urgent Care Service 

- Assessment/Same Day 

Emergency Care (SDEC)/Short 

stay (<72 hours) 

- Specialty Medical Inpatients 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Acute Surgery Inpatients  

- Paediatric Assessment Unit 

- Paediatric Inpatients 

- Obstetric-Led Unit 

(+Midwife-Led Unit) 

- Neonatal Levels 1-3 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

 variations:  

 With or without: 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Obstetric-led Unit 

- Midwife-led Unit 

- Neonatal Level 1 

 

Figure 10.6 Summary of Acute / Local Emergency Hospital Model 

Page 325



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

268 
  

10.3.6.1.2 Acute / Elective Model  

The Acute / Elective model is based upon the Hot-Cold model from the Interim Options Report and 

describes a scenario whereby one of the sites in Northern Lincolnshire (DPoW or SGH) would be an 

Acute Hospital with a Trauma Unit, the other would be an Elective Hospital. Urgent Care Services would 

be provided in Scunthorpe, Grimsby and Hull (in addition to other localities with existing UTCs), which 

may be located at a different site to the hospital (e.g., in a town centre location). In this model, as with 

the others, Hull Royal Infirmary would continue to operate as a specialist hospital and the Major Trauma 

Centre.  In the Acute / Elective model maternity care, neonatal care and paediatric services would be 

consolidated onto a single site in North and North East Lincolnshire. Hull Royal Infirmary would continue 

to operate as a specialist hospital providing Obstetric-led maternity care (OLU), with an alongside 

midwifery-led unit (MLU), level 3 neonatal intensive care (NICU) and paediatric inpatient services.  

This model could be applied to either site configuration option – either Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, 

Grimsby as the acute hospital or Scunthorpe General Hospital as the acute hospital.  In addition, the 

potential variation of having a single acute site at a new location in Northern Lincolnshire (between the 

two towns) was also considered. This resulted in 3 different site-specific scenarios that were considered 

through the evaluation process. 

Acute / Elective Model 
 

Acute Hospital   Elective Hospital  Specialist Acute Hospital 

- Emergency Department and 

Trauma Unit 

- Urgent Care Service 

- Assessment/Same Day 

Emergency Care 

(SDEC)/Short stay (<72 hours) 

- Specialty Medical Inpatients 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Acute Surgery Inpatients  

- Paediatric Assessment Unit 

- Paediatric Inpatients 

- Obstetric-Led Unit 

(+Midwife-Led Service) 

- Neonatal Levels 1&2 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

 - Urgent Care Service 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

 

 - Emergency Department and 

Major Trauma Centre 

- Urgent Care Service 

- Assessment/Same Day 

Emergency Care (SDEC)/Short 

stay (<72 hours) 

- Specialty Medical Inpatients 

- General Medical Inpatients 

- Care of the Elderly Inpatients 

- Acute Surgery Inpatients  

- Paediatric Assessment Unit 

- Paediatric Inpatients 

- Obstetric-Led Unit 

(+Midwife-Led Unit) 

- Neonatal Levels 1-3 

- Critical Care/Anaesthetics 

- Outpatients for all specialties 

  

  

Figure 10.7 Summary of Acute / Elective Model

Page 326



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

269 
  

10.4  Evaluating the models of care 

10.4.1  Overview 

In line with the programme principles, the evaluation of the potential models of care in this Pre-

Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was clinically-led, evidence-based and influenced by the involvement 

of a wide range of stakeholders, including patients and service-users, clinicians, staff and partners across 

the health and social care sector, local authorities, voluntary and community sector organisations, the 

public and their representatives.  

An iterative, multi-faceted process was adopted to gradually narrow down the possible solutions to the 

options that are most able to address the issues identified within our Case for Change and provide the 

best possible solutions for our population.  A comprehensive evaluation framework was co-produced 

and continually refined through ongoing engagement with staff, partners, patients, the public and other 

interested stakeholders.  The evaluation framework reflects the key priorities and preferences of 

stakeholders and asks questions to help identify which of the potential solutions best meets the needs 

and expressed priorities of our local populations.  

10.4.1.1 Timeline and approach 

The potential clinical models were refined and evaluated based on evidence and insight gathered 

through data modelling, clinical consideration and ongoing stakeholder engagement.  The following key 

assumptions underpinned the approach that was taken:  

• Evaluation is an iterative and continuing process (not a simple tick-box exercise). 

• Not every criterion requires evaluation at the same time. 

• Certain groups are better placed to contribute to some aspects than to others; for example, 

patients and service users may be more confident in contributing to assessing patient 

experience than cost effectiveness. 

• The evaluation has both qualitative judgement-based elements as well as quantitative elements 

supported by an analytical model. 

• The evaluation framework is a dynamic tool which will be used iteratively throughout the 

evaluation process and can undergo further refinement as and when required. 

Grounded in these assumptions, an extensive and multifaceted approach to evaluation was adopted 

utilising a number of different analytical models to explore the likely impact of the different potential 

models of care and the extent to which they can address the challenges in the Case for Change. 

This work was undertaken through a number of key stages: 

• Developing (and refining) the evaluation framework (January 2021 to January 2022) 

• Evaluation Step 1 Workshops (October to December 2021) 

• Evaluation Step 2 Workshops (February to March 2022) 

• Evaluation Step 2 Multifaceted Analysis (September 2021 to January 2023) 

• Financial and Affordability Analysis (January to May 2023) 

Throughout each stage of the process, we have engaged with a range of stakeholders on an ongoing 

basis, responding to feedback and refining the approach continuously. The diagram below provides an 

overview of the evaluation process at a high level. 

Page 327



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

270 
  

 
Figure 10.8 Overview of Evaluation Process 

Some elements of work were undertaken concurrently and at each stage stakeholder engagement 

helped to shape the process and outcomes.  

10.4.1.2 Stakeholder engagement 

Stakeholder engagement helped to shape the work of the programme in a number of important ways. 

During the evaluation phase, engagement activities served to: 

• Identify / aid understanding of impact. 

- Ongoing engagement with clinicals teams, patients and the wider public has helped to 

build our understanding of the likely impact of each of the potential models of care. 

- Involvement with a range of stakeholders, including local authorities, overview and 

scrutiny committees and other public representatives, has informed the development of 

the evaluation framework and helped to identify priorities for areas to be analysed and 

assessed. 

- Stakeholder engagement helped us to understand how impacts might differ between 

different population cohorts and how they might, in turn, impact upon regional health 

inequalities. 

• Support evaluation. 

- Engagement and involvement activities have also helped us to develop a better 

understanding of the priorities and preferences of people in our communities and how 

these differ between different population cohorts and groups such as staff. 

- Understanding priorities and preferences has enabled us to build an evaluation 

framework to assess the things that are most important to our local populations and 

also supported our evaluation of the potential models of care against those priorities.  

- Stakeholders have also been actively involved in assessing the potential models of care 

and providing their perspective on the relative advantages and disadvantages of each 

model, through workshops, focus groups and other engagement opportunities. 

Almost 250 stakeholders from a wide range of backgrounds and perspectives were actively involved in 

evaluating the potential models of care through multiple rounds of evaluation workshops.265  

 
265 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (July 2022) Hospital Services for the future: Evaluation 
Workshops Feedback Report Evaluation Feedback Report 

Page 328

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9d5765c1-ebbc-4c08-b77f-644f6c4df82e/HAS%20Step%201_2%20Evaluation%20Options%20Process%20-%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

271 
  

The approach undertaken to engagement and findings from our work have been shared regularly with 

local authority overview and scrutiny committees and the approach to early engagement was endorsed 

by members. We listened to their suggestions and requests in relation to mapping travel impact, in 

particular, and providing detailed information on the potential impact of any changes to their local 

residents.266 Ongoing dialogue with OSCs will continue and we will continue to seek advice from elected 

members as plans for consultation are developed. 

10.4.2  Co-producing the Evaluation Framework 

 

10.4.2.1 Understanding priorities and preferences 

A key facet of involvement activity through the programme has been focused on gathering views about 

what is most important to patients, staff and other stakeholders when it comes to their hospital care. 

This element of engagement activity continued throughout the programme and generated a significant 

volume of data and insights helping to shape the potential models of care and support the evaluation 

process.  

A variety of approaches was adopted to gather views from stakeholders on their priorities, preferences 

and key issues and concerns. This included forced ranking questions, free text questions which ask 

participants to identify the most important (or top 3 or top 5) factors to them and a distributive voting 

system whereby participants had a fixed number of votes that they could distribute amongst the 

different categories according to which were most important.   

The consistent focus on priorities and preferences means it is possible to track broad themes over time 

and draw conclusions about the relative importance of various factors to different stakeholder groups.  

These conclusions helped to inform the approach taken to evaluating the potential models of care, 

alongside other important factors such as national policy, local strategies, resource availability 

(especially workforce) and other local priorities.  

10.4.2.2 Co-designing the evaluation framework  

Building on early involvement work that was undertaken in the Case for Change phase of the 

programme267, a high-level evaluation framework was co-designed with the programme team, capital 

development team and Citizen’s Panel in early 2021. This framework set out nine key criteria against 

which potential models of care would be evaluated to assess the extent to which they would deliver the 

optimal solution for the local population.  

 
266 See appendix 10.5.6 for further details.  
267 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (October 2018) Hospital Services for the future: Public 
Engagement Feedback Report Issues Paper Feedback 
Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (April 2019) Hospital Services for the future – Focus Group 
Feedback Report Focus Group Feedback Report 

The evaluation framework used to assess the potential models of care was built through an extensive 

process of listening and engaging with the public, patients, service-users, staff, partners, governors, 

elected members and other key stakeholders. Over the course of the programme, we have engaged 

with over 12,000 people, helping to shape the potential models of care and the framework used to 

evaluate them. 

Page 329

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/68e7dfc6-b8ff-4a59-b121-9d3baddb994d/Issues-Paper-Feedback-Report.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c14dbb4d-eb80-4c8b-841b-bb714a592a02/Focus-Groups-Feedback-Report_final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

272 
  

To enable us to engage with a wider group of stakeholders and understand what was most important to 

them, the Citizen’s Panel helped to devise a clear and easy-to-understand set of headings (I statements) 

that correlated with each of the criteria. 

 
Figure 10.9 Evaluation Framework - I statements 

These statements – and the nine evaluation criteria they correspond to – were agreed at the start of 

2021 and used throughout the engagement work that supported the development of this Pre-

Consultation Business Case (PCBC). 

In the What Matters to You? questionnaire a ranking question was used. Respondents were asked to 

rank the nine decision-making criteria in order of importance to them.  In the focus groups and 

workshops an online instant survey tool called Mentimeter was used, enabling participants to provide 

feedback in real-time on their priorities and preferences.  

In total the What Matters to You? survey reached 4029 people. In addition, the same ‘What Matters to 

You?’ question was incorporated in all other questionnaires and engagement activities undertaken 

throughout 2021, including: 

• Your Birthing Choices (1133 responses) 

• Parents and Carers (277 responses) 

• Children and Young People (63 responses)268 

• Specialty patient surveys (466 responses) 

• Staff surveys (241 responses) 

The Mentimeter exercise was repeated in many of the clinical and thematic workshops held throughout 

2021 with a wide range of stakeholders including clinicians, lay members, elected members, voluntary 

sector partners and others.  

 
268 Our engagement with children and young people used an adapted version based on user testing. Six simple 
statements were provided, linking to the more popular categories from the other engagement undertaken to date, 
and participants were asked to give a gold, silver and bronze medal to the best three. 

Page 330



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

273 
  

Furthermore, the nine ‘I Statements’ (criteria) were used to group and analyse feedback gathered 

through a wide variety of sources, including: responses to open text questions posed within 

questionnaires, questions asked through the staff, partner and public-facing online question portals and 

feedback provided via informal briefing sessions.   

Adopting the What Matters to You I statements as an analytical framework helped to ensure 

consistency in feedback reporting and also provided ongoing, real-time updates of the key themes and 

issues emerging from engagement as it was being undertaken. This approach enabled the evaluation 

framework and approach to assessment of the potential models of care to be refined to ensure it 

accurately reflected the priorities and preferences of stakeholders and the key issues and concerns they 

raised.269  

10.4.2.3 Priorities – key issues and themes 

The public told us that the most important thing to them was being seen and treated quickly.270 Being 

kept safe and well looked after and having sufficient staff with the right training and skills were also 

considered very important.  

 
Figure 10.10 What Matters to You? Priorities and Preferences271 

Safety was comparatively more important to women and birthing people who responded to the Birthing 

Choices questionnaire. Of all the cohorts of service-users, patients and public, those who were 

interested in maternity services prioritised safely most highly. This is also reflected in the qualitative 

feedback provided throughout the engagement undertaken on maternity and neonatal services.   

 
269  A summary report of findings across all engagement streams on priorities and preferences was produced: What 
Matters to You? – Combined Summary Responses WMTY Summary Report 
270 Participants were asked to rank the nine criteria in order of importance from most (score of 9) to least (score of 
1) important. The numbers provided in the bar charts present the weighted average score calculated for each 
answer for all participants and provides an indication of the relative importance of each criterion.  
271 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (May 2021) What Matters to You: public, staff and 
stakeholder engagement feedback report What Matters to You 

2.348

3.328

4.389

4.890

5.514

5.617

6.226

6.615

6.939

Services are good value for money

I am looked after in good quality buildings that have…

I am able to get there

I know services will be there when I need them

Everyone can access care, especially those most in…

Things go well for me and I am satisfied with the care…

There are enough staff with the right skills and…

I am kept safe and well looked after

I am seen and treated as quickly as possible

Page 331

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/What-Matters-to-You-Combined-Summary-Responses.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

274 
  

 
Figure 10.11 Your Birthing Choices - Priorities and Preferences272 

Children and young people, their parents and carers, also prioritised safety more highly than the 

population as a whole. Being kept safe and well looked after was comparatively more important to 

parents, carers and guardians who completed the What Matters to You? questionnaire and was also 

ranked very highly by the children and young people themselves in their bespoke questionnaire. The 

physical environment was also comparatively more important to children and young people than other 

stakeholder groups. 

 
Figure 10.12 Children and Young People - Priorities and Preferences273 

Whilst within survey responses travel and accessibility consistently ranked in the bottom three across all 

stakeholder groups, concerns about travel, transport and accessibility were consistently raised in focus 

group and workshop discussions demonstrating that it is an area of concern for patients, staff and other 

stakeholders. Other areas of concern highlighted through ongoing engagement include digital exclusion, 

wider health inequalities and barriers to accessing care. 

The findings from the What Matters to You? engagement (and other ongoing engagement activities) 

were used to inform the development of the evaluation framework and approach. It is important to 

note, however, that the rankings were not applied numerically to weight the different criteria within the 

 
272 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (June 2022) Hospital Services for the future – Your 
Birthing Choices Feedback Report Your Birthing Choices Report 
273 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (March 2022) What Matters to You – Children and Young 
People; patient and stakeholder engagement feedback report CYP Feedback Report 

1.300

3.294

4.191

4.368

5.295

5.880

6.665

6.766

7.635

Services are good value for money

I am looked after in good quality buildings that have…

I know services will be there when I need them

I am able to get there

Everyone can access care, especially those most in need

Things go well for me and I am satisfied with the care…

There are enough staff with the right skills and…

I am seen and treated as quickly as possible

I am kept safe and well looked after

0.78

1.15

1.44

1.48

1.74

2.48

It is easy to get to (Travel and Accessibility)

Things are fair for everyone (Health (in)Equalities)

The building is nice and has everything I need (Estates and
Infrastructure)

There are enough doctors and nurses (Workforce)

I don't have to wait too long (Constitutional Standards)

I feel cared for and safe (Clinical Standards)

“Would like toys 

to play with 

while waiting.” 

“Can't see 

the trees…” 

Page 332

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/73f6f316-286f-4330-a193-f9dcd279898d/YBC%20Feedback%20Report_WORKING%20COPY_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b85126f7-e2ca-4907-bc82-5354107b184e/CYP%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

275 
  

framework. Whilst the engagement undertaken was extensive and wide-reaching, the total number and 

demographic spread of responses is such that the findings cannot be considered to be statistically 

significant and therefore it would not be appropriate to weight the criteria on this basis. Instead, they 

have been used to inform and refine the overall approach to evaluation and the manner in which the 

information is presented to stakeholders and decision-makers.  

When displaying the outputs from the various stages of evaluation, the nine criteria have been listed in 

order of importance (as expressed by our stakeholders) to enable stakeholders and decision-makers to 

make their own judgements on the overall acceptability of the different models of care based on their 

relative performance against each of the criteria.  

10.4.2.4 Refining the Evaluation Framework – developing the questions 

Upon completion of the What Matters to You? engagement activities, further work was undertaken to 

refine the evaluation framework. This refinement was undertaken to ensure the framework could be 

applied robustly to all potential models of care and provide a complete picture about the relative 

strengths and weaknesses of each potential solution.  

The nine evaluation criteria and ‘I statements’, which had been defined with support from the Citizen’s 

Panel, were developed into a framework with questions, definitions, benefit statements and clear 

scoring definitions. This work was undertaken to support stakeholders to provide an assessment of the 

different potential models of care against the questions within the framework, using the definitions set 

out within it. 

The questions and definitions were built through a process of engagement with clinical leads and key 

partners (such as public health colleagues), taking into account feedback from the Citizen’s Panel and 

other lay members. For each criterion, a set of sub-questions was developed, based on relevant national 

policy or guidance, and linked to the issues within the Case for Change. The policy and guidance 

documents drawn upon include (but are not limited to): 

• The NHS Constitution274 

• The National Outcomes Framework275 

• Royal College workforce recommendations e.g., Facing the Future276 

• Nationally defined clinical standards e.g., for trauma, neonatal care277 

• National guidance e.g., Urgent actions to address inequalities in NHS provision and outcomes278   

These sub-questions were used to develop a richer understanding of how each model might perform 

and deliver improvements in the areas for improvement identified within the Case for Change. The 

questions, definitions and benefit statements are set out in the table below.  

 

 
274 NHS England (2021) The NHS Constitution for England NHS Constitution 
275 Department of Health (2016) NHS Outcomes Framework: at a glance NHS Outcomes Framework 
276 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2015) Facing the Future: Standards for Acute General Paediatric 
Services Facing the Future 
277 A wide range of NIEC quality standards, Royal College guidance and standards from other national clinical 
bodies was considered, including, for example; NICE (2018) Quality Standard – Trauma [QS166] Trauma QS.  
278 NHS England (2020) Implementing phase 3 of the NHS response to the COVID-19 pandemic Urgent Actions to 
address inequalities 

Page 333

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/513157/NHSOF_at_a_glance.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/facing_the_future_standards_for_acute_general_paediatric_services.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs166
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/C0716_Implementing-phase-3-v1.1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/C0716_Implementing-phase-3-v1.1.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

276 
  

Evaluation 
Criteria 

Question Definition Benefit statement(s) 

Constitutional 
Standards 

Does the model 
deliver Constitutional 
standards? 

We are confident that the 
model will deliver the 
relevant standards as listed 
in the NHS Constitution 

I am seen and treated as quickly as 
possible 
- waiting times for treatment and 

care will be reduced 
- fewer people will be waiting for 

treatment and care overall 

Clinical 
Standards 

Does the model 
deliver Clinical 
standards? 

We are confident that the 
model will deliver services 
that meet Clinical 
standard(s) and are better 
able to meet standards 
referred to in clinical 
guidance 

I am kept safe and well looked after 
- services will be provided safely 

24/7 (I will receive care of the 
same standard at all times of 
day) 

- the people looking after me will 
have the right level of training 
and get enough experience/ 
practice to maintain their skills 

Workforce 
  
  
  
  

Does this model 
enable sufficient 
recruitment and 
retention (to address 
workforce challenges 
within the case for 
change)? 

We are confident the model 
will address the current 
workforce challenges and 
enable the Humber health 
and care system to recruit 
and retain the workforce 
required to staff this model 
of care 
 

There are enough staff with the 
right skills and experience to look 
after me 
- there are enough of the right 

staff to provide the care I need 
- the people treating me have time 

to care 

Does this model 
provide sufficient 
flexibility to meet our 
wider workforce 
ambitions (e.g., 
improve training 
opportunities, R&D)? 

We are confident the model 
will be flexible enough to 
enable our workforce to 
access a range of wider 
opportunities and achieve 
wider ambitions 

- we provide the best training, 
development and research 
opportunities for our teams  

Clinical 
Outcomes  
  
  

Does the model 
deliver good patient 
outcomes? 

We are confident that the 
model will deliver good 
outcomes for patients and 
support delivery of the 
National Outcomes 
Framework  

Things go well for me… 
- I am given the best possible 

chance of recovering from illness 
or injury 

- my care and treatment will help 
me to have a good quality of life 

Does the model 
deliver good patient 
experience? 

We are confident that the 
model will ensure people 
have a positive experience 
of care  

… and I am satisfied with my care 
- when I do need to go to hospital, 

it will be the best possible 
experience 

Health 
(in)Equalities 

Does the model 
improve equity of 
access to services? 

We are confident that the 
model reduces barriers for 
those who find it more 
difficult to access care 

Everyone can access care, especially 
those most in need 
- care and treatments are of the 

same standard for all patients 
regardless of where they live 

- people who find it most difficult 
to access care are prioritised to 
ensure their needs are met 

- ways of working help to improve 
the life chances of people in our 
more deprived areas 

Does the model 
contribute to 
reducing health 
inequalities in the 
Humber?  

We are confident the model 
can contribute to reducing 
health inequalities in the 
Humber in the longer term  

Page 334



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

277 
  

Sustainability  
  
  
  
  

  

Is the model 
sustainable to 
implement and 
deliver in the long 
term? 

We are confident the model 
will "future-proof" services 

I know services will be there when I 
need them 
- services are fit for the future and 

can be maintained in the longer-
term 

Does the model have 
a negative impact on 
partners or other 
providers? 

We are confident the model 
will not destabilise 
neighbouring health 
systems or put significant 
extra pressure on partners 
within the Humber health 
and care system 

- changes made in one area won't 
cause other services to be 
overwhelmed or disappear 

Travel & 
Transport 

Does the model 
improve transport 
and accessibility of 
care? 

We are confident that 
transport will be available 
for patients and carers to 
get to the place of care 
 
  

I can get there (and park)? 
- services will be easy to get to 
- transport will be available 

Does the model 
impact on travel 
times for patients? 

We are confident that 
overall patients and service-
users will be able to get to 
the place of care 

- people in need will be able to get 
to where they need to be 

Is there any travel 
impact on blue light 
services  

We are confident the model 
will not have a negative 
impact on overall demand 
for ambulance services 

- ambulances will be able to get to 
people in need 

Estates and 
Infrastructure 

Is the infrastructure 
needed to support 
the model available? 

We are confident that the 
physical and digital 
infrastructure will be there 
to enable the model to 
work, and the scale of 
investment required is 
realistic and achievable in 
current circumstances 

I am looked after in good quality 
buildings that have the latest 
equipment  

- buildings are improved so that 
services can work better 

- digital systems can talk to each 
other and are more efficient 

Finance 
  

Is the option 
affordable? 

We are confident that the 
model can be delivered 
within the resource 
envelope available 

Services are good value for money 

Will the model be 
cost effective to 
implement and 
deliver in the long 
term? 

Table 10.4 Evaluation Framework 

 

Page 335



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

278 
  

10.4.3  The Evaluation Process 

 
Summary Box 10.1 – overview of evaluation process 

10.4.3.1 Step 1 Workshops – Advantages and Disadvantages 

Following the development of the potential models of care for Urgent and Emergency Care, Maternity, 

Neonatal Care and Paediatrics and Planned Care, an assessment of the models and site-specific options 

commenced in late 2021.  

A series of workshops took place during November and December 2021 involving clinicians and wider 

partners from across the health and care sector to provide analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of 

each of the different potential models of care. Over 150 stakeholders were invited via email to take part 

in the workshops. This included: 

• Clinicians from both acute trusts, primary and community care across the Humber.  

• Managerial and other non-clinical professionals from acute trusts, CCGs and other providers.  

• Citizen’s Panel members, patient representatives, voluntary sector partners and other lay 

members including representation from neighbouring counties. 

In total, five workshops took place involving approximately 117 people. This included three clinical 

workshops, a workshop with the Programme’s Citizen’s Panel and other VCSE stakeholders279 and an 

 
279 Due to adverse weather conditions, this workshop was cancelled. However, two participants still attended, and 
their feedback was captured and detailed in the Evaluation Feedback Report. The same participants were invited 
to take part in the workshops as part of Step 2. 

The evaluation process was iterative and responsive to feedback and issues raised through our 

engagement. The process adopted a multi-step, multi-faceted approach, to gradually narrow down the 

possible solutions to the options that are most able to address the issues identified within our Case for 

Change and provide the best possible solutions for our population.  

Evaluation Workshops – Step 1 (October to December 2021) 

• Workshop approach to consider advantages and disadvantages of high-level models. 

Evaluation Workshops – Step 2 (February to March 2022)  

• Balanced room workshops to assess a range of possible combinations and variations. 

• Use of small multiples approach. 

Multifaceted Analysis (September 2021 to January 2023) 

• Safety of maternity models (Ockenden review) 

• Travel and accessibility 

• Displacement impact on neighbouring health economies 

• Economic and Social impact 

• Workforce modelling 

Financial Affordability Analysis (January to May 2023) 

• Capital impact assessment 

• Revenue impact analysis 

 

Page 336



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

279 
  

additional workshop with the Humber, Coast and Vale Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVP) Group280 to 

specifically consider the models for Maternity, Neonatal Care and Paediatrics. Further details of the 

workshops can be found within the engagement report.281  

Clinicians, managerial teams and public and service-user representatives were asked to identify the key 

advantages and disadvantages of each of the potential models of care across the three workstreams. 

Three high level models for Urgent and Emergency Care and Maternity, Neonatal care and Paediatrics 

were evaluated together and strengths and weaknesses of each considered; Planned Care models were 

considered separately. 

As a result of the feedback, some models / variations were not taken forward into the next stage of 

evaluation and some previously discounted models were reconsidered for further evaluation.  The 

workshops undertaken during step 1 of the evaluation also helped to identify key areas of focus for the 

remaining phases of evaluation.282  

The actions taken and outcomes from this stage of evaluation are summarised in the table below.  

Timeline Action Taken Outcomes 

October to 

December 2021 

Five workshops reviewed the high-level 

models for Urgent and Emergency Care, 

Maternity, Neonatal Care and Paediatrics 

and Planned Care. 

Advantages and Disadvantages of each 

model identified by multi-disciplinary 

stakeholder group. 

Some models ruled out based on 

strong clinical consensus 

regarding safety (hurdle criteria) 

and effectiveness of the service 

model. 

Table 10.5 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 1 Workshops 

10.4.3.2 Step 2 Workshops – Small Multiples 

The next stage of the evaluation process was undertaken from January to May 2022. This involved 

multiple workshops, following a balanced room approach.  

In total, five workshops took place during March 2022.  Over 300 stakeholders from a range of different 

perspectives were invited to take part to ensure a wide range of perspectives across clinical, non-clinical 

and public/patient representation.  This included: 

• Clinicians, nurses and allied health professionals from acute, primary and mental health care 

• Managerial and other non-clinical professionals from acute trusts, CCGs, local authorities, 

universities and wider partners 

• Citizen’s Panel members, patient representatives, voluntary sector partners and other lay 

members 

 
280 Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVPs) are teams of women and their families, commissioners and providers, 
working together to review and contribute to the development of local maternity care. MVPs serve the needs of 
local women and families, gathering feedback and advising those planning and delivering services from a service-
user perspective. 
281 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (July 2022) Hospital Services for the future: Evaluation 
Workshops Feedback Report Evaluation Feedback Report 
282 Evaluation Summary Report (July 2022) see document library 

Page 337

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9d5765c1-ebbc-4c08-b77f-644f6c4df82e/HAS%20Step%201_2%20Evaluation%20Options%20Process%20-%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

280 
  

A total of 130 people participated in the workshops and stakeholders also had the opportunity to access 

the scoring process outside of the workshop if they were unable to attend. A small number of 

individuals took up this opportunity. 

To increase participation and accessibility, a hybrid approach to the workshops was adopted with both 

virtual and in-person options for people to join. Attendees used the co-produced evaluation framework 

and questions to methodically evaluate and score all of the models, potential variations and site options 

using small multiples to provide a judgement on how well each model/variation met the different 

criteria based on their particular area of knowledge and expertise. Participants were encouraged to 

discuss their proposed scoring and reasoning within their small groups (minimum of 2 participants and 

maximum of 10). 

Within the workshops, participants were asked to use small multiples to express their views on the 

relative benefits and disbenefits of each model.283 This approach has been adopted due to the variation 

of objective and subjective evaluation criteria.  In general, the small multiples that were applied within 

the evaluation process can be defined as: 

 

These were applied to each of the models of care and site options supported by: 

• Key questions against each category (criterion) 

• Definition against each key question 

• Definition against each small multiple 

A comprehensive evaluation evidence pack was shared with all participants involved in advance of the 

workshops to support them to participate. The evidence pack included supporting data and references 

specific to each of the criteria.284 

To ensure a robust and consistent process to evaluation was undertaken, step 2 of the evaluation 

process reviewed all possible combinations of the models for urgent and emergency care and maternity, 

neonatal care and paediatrics, unless there was a clear rationale from step 1 to discount the 

model/variation. This included reviewing some previously discounted models/variations.  

As a result of the feedback and scoring provided, key areas for further analysis were identified in order 

to complete step 2 of the evaluation process and confirm the models of care to be taken forward for 

public consultation. The outputs of the Step 2 evaluation workshops are set out in detail within the 

feedback report.285 

The actions taken and outcomes from this stage of evaluation are summarised in the table below.  

 

 
283 Small multiples are a mechanism of displaying multiple forms of analysis compared in an array side by side or 
grouped to allow for a simple visual comparison of options. They are based upon a simple definition and use a 
consistent form of representation to allow the reader to interpret impact. 
284 HASR Evaluation Evidence pre-reading pack – see document library 
285 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (July 2022) Hospital Services for the future: Evaluation 
Workshops Feedback Report Evaluation Feedback Report 

Page 338

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9d5765c1-ebbc-4c08-b77f-644f6c4df82e/HAS%20Step%201_2%20Evaluation%20Options%20Process%20-%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

281 
  

Timeline Action Taken Impact 

January to March 

2022 

Five workshops reviewed the possible 

models (site-specific options) for 

Urgent and Emergency Care and 

Maternity, Neonatal Care and 

Paediatrics. 

Small multiple analysis of each model 

undertaken. 

Proposed some models be ruled out 

based on strong clinical consensus 

regarding safety (hurdle criteria) and 

effectiveness of the service model. 

Identified areas of focus to complete 

evaluation. 

Table 10.6 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 Workshops 

10.4.3.3 Multifaceted Analysis – approach 

To provide a fully rounded evaluation of each of the potential models of care, detailed modelling work 

was undertaken in a number of key areas. Some of this work took place prior to the evaluation 

workshops, some was undertaken concurrently, and some was commissioned following the workshops, 

based on feedback that identified some areas as requiring further information/analysis.  

A comprehensive library of assumptions was developed and agreed, across all key stakeholders to 

underpin the modelling work undertaken.286 The assumptions were tested and sense-checked against 

strategies and plans in parallel programmes of work to ensure consistency of ambition and strategic 

direction across the Humber health and care system, taking account of a range of factors, including: 

• Natural population growth using ONS projections. 

• Non-demographic specialty-specific growth. 

• Changes to demand based on pathway changes or other interventions. 

The following areas of analysis were undertaken to support evaluation of the potential models of care: 

• Ockenden review – reassessment of safety within the maternity models 

• Displacement impact on neighbouring health economies 

• Travel and accessibility 

• Economic and social impact and health inequalities 

• Workforce modelling 

These analyses were undertaken to support application of the evaluation framework that was co-

produced through our engagement with clinicians, patients, the public and other stakeholders.  

10.4.3.3.1 Ockenden review 

The findings, conclusions and essential actions from the independent review of maternity services at the 

Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital NHS Trust report (the Ockenden report), was published on 30th March 

2022.287 The majority of the work undertaken to develop the potential models of care took place prior to 

the publication of the report. It was important therefore to review the models in light of the report and 

its recommendations.  

 
286 Assumptions Log – see document library 
287 Ockenden, Donna (2022) The independent review of maternity services at the Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital 
NHS Trust The Ockenden Report (part 2) 

Page 339

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1064302/Final-Ockenden-Report-web-accessible.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

282 
  

The key recommendations include requirements in relation to: 

• Training and development – Ensuring sufficient staffing capacity to provide the required 

training and development opportunities for midwives at all stages of their careers and ensure all 

staff have up to date skills training and know how to handle common obstetric emergencies. 

• Risk management – ensuring women with additional risk factors are provided with the specialist 

care they need, ensuring all women have access to information to make informed choices about 

where to give birth and putting in place safe staffing models. 

• Staff skills and safer care – ensuring staff with relevant skills in neonatal care and high 

dependency maternity care are always available where women are birthing babies. 

The potential models of care (and variations) were reviewed against the recommendations from the 

Ockenden Report, in particular those relating to workforce, training and skills. Workforce modelling and 

assumptions were re-worked, based on the recommendations and these were tested with a multi-

disciplinary group of clinicians and key stakeholders.  A workshop took place in May 2022, bringing 

together obstetric and midwifery teams, the programme team and other key stakeholders and partners 

to review the key Ockenden recommendations and confirm the models of care (and variations) that 

could be safely delivered in light of those recommendations and findings.   

  

10.4.3.3.2 Displacement impact on neighbouring health economies 

Detailed activity modelling was undertaken to provide an understanding of the impact of each of the 

potential models and site options on patients. This activity modelling provided the foundation for 

mapping the travel impact, identifying the workforce and estates requirements to deliver the different 

models of care, and identifying the potential impact on neighbouring providers of healthcare services.   

Using 2019/20 patient-level activity data, data models were built to support assessment of the different 

potential models of care as these were developed by clinical teams.288 The activity modelling for Urgent 

and Emergency Care and Planned Care potential clinical models was undertaken using a bespoke data 

model designed by our in-house analytical teams.  

Activity modelling within the maternity, neonatal care and paediatric workstream utilised a data model 

developed by Deloitte, which was commissioned specifically for the Humber Acute Services Review and 

developed during the Case for Change stage of the programme. There were parts of the Deloitte model 

which did not provide the necessary functionality and therefore additional analysis was undertaken 

locally. This including the following: 

• Neonatal care provision: The Yorkshire and Humber Neonatal Operational Delivery Network 

(ODN) were already modelling this provision in response to the national Neonatal Critical Care 

 
288 2019/20 was used as the baseline year because this was the latest complete year of data that was available to 
the programme that was not skewed by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 2019/20 activity data was used 
throughout the development of clinical models to ensure consistency across the different workstreams. 

This work confirmed the views expressed by staff, service-user representatives and other 

stakeholders through the evaluation workshops that a Standalone Midwifery-led unit (MLU) could 

not be delivered safely on the Local Emergency Hospital site and therefore should not be included 

as an option within the proposals taken to consultation. 

Page 340



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

283 
  

Review. To ensure consistency and avoid duplication of effort, it was agreed to use the outputs 

of the ODN modelling. 

• Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU): the Deloitte model was not configured in such a way to 

model PAU activity so local analysis had to be undertaken outside of the model and factored 

back in to the model. 

Activity data was aggregated from postcode level to LSOA (Lower Layer Super Output Area) which is a 

geographic hierarchy used for reporting small area statistics to ensure anonymity of patients, 

particularly in small post-code areas. Drive times for each LSOA to hospital site were applied to establish 

the nearest sites for each scenario. This was used to determine displacement and out of area impact as 

well as travel time impact of each scenario.  

Postcode sensitivity analysis was applied to the activity modelling to identify the numbers of patients 

per specialty that could be displaced to a neighbouring hospital due to the service configuration changes 

under each of the shortlisted options, each of which were mapped against their nearest hospital to 

understand impact by each provider and site.  Attendance numbers were divided by the average 

admission rate and multiplied by the average length of stay to give the number of bed days increase this 

would mean over a year.  The potential increase in bed days was then divided by 365 to give the 

expected number of additional beds that would be required in each scenario.   

Assumptions regarding admission rates and average length of stay were discussed and agreed through 

regular liaison meetings with Lincolnshire and Doncaster systems and acute trust representatives. The 

impact of displacement on neighbouring trusts was reviewed during regular liaison meetings to identify 

the threshold whereby neighbouring systems could be destabilised.289 

 

10.4.3.3.3 Travel and accessibility 

All patient journeys within the baseline year (2019/20) were mapped against the patient’s postcode and 

activity type to develop models that could be used to quantify the impact of each model in terms of 

increase or decrease to average patient journey time to existing or new sites for care. 290   

This baseline has been used to measure the impact of each of the potential future models of care in 

terms of travel time for patients to access care. Under the different potential models of care, travel 

times are likely to increase for some patients and decrease for others and these impacts are different for 

each model and site option.  

Journey time changes were grouped into categories to support analysis: 

 

 
289 A summary of the outputs from this analysis is set out in appendix 10.16.2.2. 
290 All modelling was undertaken using postcode-level analysis to calculate travel distances between patient 
postcodes and the hospital sites.  To enable the travel impact of the new central site model to be undertaken, the 
postcode DN38 6DW, near Barnetby Top, was utilised.  It is important to note that land in this area is not owned by 
the local NHS nor have any site evaluations been undertaken regarding the feasibility of the site for a hospital to be 
built there. The postcode was used for modelling purposes only.   

The substantial impact on neighbouring providers in Lincoln and Doncaster of displaced activity 

was a key factor in ruling out the potential Acute / Elective model. 

Page 341



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

284 
  

Definition Description Label 

Positive impact (all) Reduction in journey time by more 10 minutes < -10mins 

Neutral 
Reduction in journey time by less than 10 minutes and/or 

increase in journey time by less than 10 minutes 

-10 mins to < 

10mins 

Negative impact 

(moderate) 
Increase in journey time by 10 to 30 minutes 

10 mins to 30 

mins 

Negative impact 

(significant) 
Increase in journey time by more than 30 minutes > 30 mins 

Table 10.7 Journey time categories 

Travel time impacts were mapped across all the potential models of care to provide a total impact for 

each potential model (variation) on a site-specific basis.291 The models (variations) were then ranked 

from least to most impact across all of the different site options.  Travel impact maps were created for 

all models.292   

Alongside travel time mapping for patients accessing care themselves, we also considered the impact on 

ambulance services of the potential models of care. A specialist organisation ORH (Operational Research 

in Health Ltd) was commissioned to model the impacts of the potential clinical models on the operations 

of our ambulance service provider in Northern Lincolnshire – East Midlands Ambulance Services NHS 

Trust (EMAS).  The review undertaken by ORH involved modelling changes to services provided at 

Grimsby Diana Princess of Wales (DPoW) and Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH). 

2019/20 EMAS clinical impression data was collected to determine patients who would no longer travel 

to either DPoW or SGH as a result of the potential models and proposed changes.  The 2019/20 EMAS 

clinical impression data included diagnosis from clinicians on scene, which enabled the programme team 

to determine which patients would be taken to the Acute site or Local Emergency Hospital within the 

different potential clinical models. Within the Acute/Elective model, emergency ambulance transport is 

effectively removed from the Elective hospital site.  

The programme team also identified the number of secondary transfers that would be required from 

the Local Emergency Hospital to the Acute hospital based on historical activity data and clinical review 

of transfer conditions within each model.  It was assumed (based on historic activity data) that 20% of 

these transfers would be undertaken by EMAS emergency crews, with the remaining 80% on a separate 

contract and not included within the ORH modelling. 

Using their simulation model, ORH modelled the changes to patient flows in each of the different 

scenarios, including the impact of secondary transfers and the additional demand this would create for 

EMAS. This provided an assessment of the impact of each model on ambulance response times, travel 

times and hospital flow against the potential models of care.  The outputs also provide an assessment of 

any additional resourcing required to mitigate any impacts. 293 

 
291 Impact was measured in terms of change to existing travel times and the outputs of the analysis are expressed 
as increases or decreases on the current travel time rather than as absolute or total travel times.  This means that 
within the category of “significant negative impact”, where the patient’s journey time has increased by more than 
30 minutes, the real time impact could vary substantially between different individuals. For example, the impact 
for one individual could be an increase from a current travel time of 5 minutes to a new travel time of 40 minutes 
and for another individual it could represent an increase from a current travel time of 60 minutes to a new travel 
time of 95 minutes. 
292 Details of the travel modelling outputs are set out in appendix 10.18.1. 
293 A summary of the outputs from this analysis is set out in appendix 10.18.2.  

Page 342



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

285 
  

In addition to any impact on patients of having to travel to a different hospital site, it was also important 

to consider the impact on staff of the different potential models of care.  Analysis and geo-mapping of 

where all existing staff live by service and type was undertaken to enable consideration of the impacts 

of different potential models on different staff groups to be undertaken at a high level.294 

 

 

10.4.3.3.4 Economic and social impact and health inequalities 

Another important aspect of the evaluation framework was identifying the impact of the models on our 

local economy and the potential impacts in relation to existing health inequalities, that we are seeking 

to address through improved pathways and provision of better, more joined up care.   

Access to healthcare services, particularly acute hospital care, plays only a small role in tackling health 

inequalities. However, hospitals can play a significant role in addressing some of the social determinants 

of health, particularly in their roles as employers. Hospitals are significant players in their local 

economies, contributing value to the economy through the provision of jobs and wages that can be 

spent in local businesses, generating demand for (and spend in) ancillary industries and providing 

training and development opportunities for local people.295  

By far the biggest driver of economic impact is the role the hospital trusts play in creating employment 

opportunities for people living in the local area. The provision of jobs, careers and good employment 

opportunities generates direct benefits to the local economy such as: 

• increased household disposable income that can be spent in the local economy. 

• increased tax revenue from income tax and NI receipts. 

• reduced reliance on taxpayer-funded benefits, such as Job Seekers Allowance. 

It also generates a number of indirect benefits (that can be harder to quantify / measure), such as: 

• improvements to health and wellbeing of those in work, specifically the benefits of ‘good work’. 

• increased retention of local talent through better opportunities for local people. 

• increased revenue for educational institutions. 

To support the evaluation of the potential models of care, the existing workforce was mapped using 

their home postcode by function and by band to determine the likely impact on staff of moving services 

from their current site, particularly those on lower incomes (bands 1-4).296  

 
294 Details of the staff geo-mapping outputs are provided in appendix 10.18.3. 
295 See section 1.2.2.1 for further details.  
296 The outputs from the staff travel mapping are set out in appendix 10.18.3. 

The substantial impact on patients, carers and staff of additional travel time and the impact on the 

ambulance service were key factors in ruling out the potential Acute / Elective model (including 

the scenario involving a New Hospital for Northern Lincolnshire). 

The impact on patients, carers and staff of additional travel time and the significant number of 

secondary transfers required were key factors in ruling out the potential variation to consolidate 

Care of the Elderly and General Medical inpatient beds within the Acute / Local Emergency 

Hospital model.  

Page 343



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

286 
  

In addition, we undertook additional analysis of the outputs of the travel analysis to provide a deeper 

level of understanding as to whether the models would have a disproportionate impact on people from 

more deprived communities.  The travel mapping outputs were analyses against IMD index of 

deprivation to provide an overview of the differential impact on more deprived communities in terms of 

additional travelling time.297  

 

10.4.3.3.5 Workforce modelling 

Extensive workforce modelling was undertaken to determine the impact of each of the potential models 

of care on the workforce challenges faced. In addition, it provided vital information to support the 

financial analysis of the models.  A nine-step approach to workforce modelling was adopted, relying 

heavily on clinical input/stakeholder engagement, the application of critical reference points (such as 

the various Royal College safer staffing standards and Ockenden recommendations) combined with 

traditional gap analysis and feasibility testing.  

 
Figure 10.13 Summary of workforce modelling methodology 

 
297 The outputs from this analysis – showing the total number of people impacted within each scenario mapped 
against IMD deciles – is set out in appendix 10.18.1.3. 

The potential negative impact on health inequalities and impact on the local economy in 

Scunthorpe and Grimsby was a factor in ruling out the New Hospital for Northern Lincolnshire 

potential model. 

Page 344



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

287 
  

Underpinning the nine-step methodology is a ‘Zero Basing’ approach where the workforce plan has 

been built from the ground up. This purposeful approach was taken so inefficiencies in the current 

workforce, including non-compliance with workforce standards, are not carried forward into any future 

workforce plan. This resulted in increases to some staff groups against the current baseline in order to 

meet key standards that are not currently being delivered.  

Within the nine-step approach, wherever possible, recognised workforce planning methodologies were 

used, such as the Safer Nursing Care Tool (SNCT), HUTH/NLaG patient acuity audits and recognised 

Health Education England (HEE) establishment modelling tools. Where established tools could not be 

used for zero-basing298 current workforce plans/budget establishments were adapted using a 

percentage upscaling approach, using evidence from contemporary business cases. Finally, the 

methodology utilised the activity modelling undertaken through the programme to define the required 

workforce for the anticipated future levels of activity.  

To develop the workforce plan key assumptions were agreed and consistently applied to the 

development of the plans.  

Medical staffing was calculated using the following assumptions: 

• Consultants/SAS WTE was calculated on National Standard 10PA job plan contract (40hr week).  

• Consultant time was modelled on 8 PAs per week providing direct clinical care and associated 

duties (DCC) and 2 PAs per week for leadership, training and other responsibilities (SPA 

entitlement). 

• Specialist and middle grade doctors were modelled on 1PA per week for SPA time and the 

remaining 9 on providing direct clinical care and associated duties (DCC).  

Nursing and AHP staffing requirements were calculated using the following assumptions: 

• The Safer Nursing Care Tool (SNCT) and recognised workforce methodology was utilised for 

calculating the establishments required, which takes account of patient acuity levels within 

different settings and specialties and provided a recommended nursing requirement for each 

model. Outputs were triangulated via the Chief Nurse team.299  

An uplift was applied across all workforce modelling to account for absence due to sickness and training 

– the respective uplift for each workforce cohort was calculated based on recent trends.300 Staffing 

excluded community midwifery, community paediatric nursing, CNS’s, senior nursing managers.  

Elective staffing levels were modelled using GiRFT standards and these were applied to both BAU and all 

models.  

 

 
298 For example, BirthRate+ methodology is NHS endorsed but not widely available, SNCT tool for EDs is not 
presently available. 
299 Ward staffing proposed is based on Dec 2021 acuity (the last audit available at the time of modelling). 
300 Outputs from the workforce modelling are set out in appendix 10.19. 

Workforce modelling outputs showed that the potential models of care will help to address the 

workforce challenges set out within the Case for Change. 

Page 345



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

288 
  

10.4.3.3.6 Summarising evaluation outputs 

To provide a better overall picture of the impacts of each of the potential scenarios considered, all 

outputs from the evaluation workshops, activity modelling, travel mapping, economic and workforce 

analyses were brought together into a single evaluation matrix. This work was undertaken iteratively 

and, as a result, not every scenario has an output for every line of evaluation as different scenario were 

excluded at different stages in the process.  

A RAG rating system was used, combined with the summary numbers of each of the elements of 

modelling to provide a visual summary of the evaluation outputs. These outputs were incorporated 

alongside the used in addition to the scoring provided by stakeholders through the evaluation 

workshops.  The table below describes the thresholds used to produce the RAG rating.  

Criterion Measure Thresholds 

All 
Clinical Senate Review 
(2022) 

No concerns Some concerns Significant 
concerns  

Workforce 
Workforce total WTE 

requirement 
BAU -5%  
(2915) 

BAU ‘do nothing’ 
(3068) 

BAU + 5% 
(3221) 

Clinical 
Outcomes 

Ockenden Review 

high degree of 
confidence can 
comply with 
recommendations 

 little or no 
confidence can 
comply with 
recommendations 

Sustainability 

Displacement impact 
(total activity displaced) 

<1% of all patient 
activity impacted 

5% of all patient 
activity impacted 

10% of all patient 
activity impacted 

Displacement impact 
(activity displaced to Out 
of Area hospitals) 

no additional 
activity  
(0) 

5 additional 
patients per day 
(1825) 

10 additional 
patients per day 
(3650) 

Travel and 
Transport 

Patient travel impact 
(no. of patients >30min 
additional travel) 

<1% of all patient 
activity impacted 

5% of all patient 
activity impacted 

10% of all patient 
activity impacted 

Patient travel impact 
(no. of patients >10min 
additional travel) 

<1% of all patient 
activity impacted 

5% of all patient 
activity impacted 

10% of all patient 
activity impacted 

Emergency ambulance 
(additional hours dual-
crewed ambulance/week) 

no additional 
ambulance hours 
(0) 

one additional 
ambulance 24/7 
(168) 

2 additional 
ambulances 24/7 
(336) 

Non-emergency patient 
transfers between sites 

no journeys (0) 10 additional 
journeys per day 
(7,300) 

20 additional 
journeys per day 
(10,950) 

Estates and 
Infrastructure 

Minimum capital 
requirement  

Affordable within 
internal capital 

 Unaffordable with 
internal capital 

Finance Revenue cost (£m) 
BAU -5%  
(245) 

BAU ‘do nothing’ 
(258) 

BAU + 5% 
(271) 

Table 10.8 Thresholds used within evaluation matrix 

Timeline Action Taken Impact 

September 2021 to 

January 2023 

Comprehensive and wide-ranging 

analysis of the impacts and benefits of 

each of the potential models of care. 

15 (site-specific) potential solutions 

were considered; 11 variations were 

discounted. 

Table 10.9 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 – Multifaceted analysis 

Page 346



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

289 
  

The table below summarises the outputs from across all evaluation streams and highlights key factors that enabled some of the potential models to be ruled out.  

 
Figure 10.14 Summary of Evaluation outcomes 

 

 

providers. 

• Significant impact on patient and staff travel. 

• Demand for emergency ambulance services. 

Standalone Midwifery-led Unit discounted due to 

• Safety concerns of Clinical Senate, staff, service-

users. 

• Low anticipated demand. 

Consolidation of Gen Med and Care of 

Elderly discounted due to 

• Impact on frail, elderly patients of 

secondary transfers. 

 Acute / Elective Model discounted due to 

• Destabilising impact on neighbouring 

providers. 

• Significant impact on patient and staff travel. 

• Demand for emergency ambulance services. 

Acute / Local Emergency 

Hospital (both with OLU) 

Acute / Local Emergency 

Hospital (without OLU) 

This evaluation table was finalised prior to the decision to decouple maternity and neonatal care from the business case (see section 10.4.3.5 below) and therefore some 

of the numbers are inconsistent with the reduced scope because they include additional service lines no longer in scope.  

P
age 347



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

290 
  

10.4.3.4 Financial Analysis  

Financial analysis of the proposals was undertaken after the other elements of the evaluation process 

had been completed. Financial analysis was only undertaken on those models and variations that were 

considered clinically viable and able to improve the quality and sustainability of services and address the 

issues highlighted within the Case for Change.  

This included two potential variations on the models of care – the Acute / Local Emergency Hospital 

model with an Obstetric-Led Unit (OLU) at both hospitals and the Acute / Local Emergency Hospital 

model with an Obstetric-Led Unit at the Acute Hospital only.  

The models were also considered against the two potential site options – either Diana Princess of Wales 

Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) or Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) as the Acute Hospital.  

10.4.3.4.1 Capital Affordability  

Early in the programme it was envisaged that the Trusts would be successful with their bid against the 

New Hospitals Programme for substantial capital investment to upgrade the hospitals. Confirmation was 

received on 24th May 2023 that the Expression of Interest submitted in September 2021 was not 

successful in securing investment through the New Hospitals Programme and therefore change 

proposals would have to be delivered from within existing financial resources. There were only 5 from 

128 submissions that could be accommodated within the national capital allocation, which were 

schemes prioritised based on significant safety concerns.   

Delivering the changes within each of the potential models of care would require some changes to site 

configuration either on a small or larger scale and as such require a level of capital investment to enable 

the changes to be made. 

The scale of capital investment required to deliver the two potential site options was evaluated. The 

potential models were reviewed against current service provision and whether investment would be 

required for new builds or refurbishment to ensure successful delivery of the services in the future, 

taking into account the space requirements and clinical adjacencies to achieve the future potential of 

models of care. 

The level of capital investment required to deliver the model of care with DPoW as the acute site, was 

initially estimated as being between £25 and 35 million, whereas the investment required to deliver the 

model with SGH as the acute site was estimated at £89 to 105 million. Capital investment requirements 

were reviewed following the decision to decouple maternity and neonatal care from the business case 

(see section 10.4.3.5 below) and estimates were revised accordingly.  

NHS England require any service change to be financially affordable from within existing financial 

resource.  This level of investment is not deliverable within the Trust’s internal resources and therefore 

the option was ruled out as unviable.  

 

Based upon the capital affordability analysis, only one of the two site scenarios – where specialist 

urgent and emergency care and paediatric inpatient services are consolidated at Diana Princess of 

Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) – was considered viable to be taken forward for consultation.  

Page 348



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

291 
  

10.4.3.4.2 Revenue Affordability 

The Humber Acute Services programme was clinically driven, to ensure high quality, sustainable services 

can be provided into the future. The programme was not initiated in order to save money, however, it is 

important to recognise the challenging financial context that the health and care system across the 

Humber and North Yorkshire is operating within and seek to support system-wide efforts to address the 

financial challenge.   

Financial modelling was undertaken to determine the revenue impact of the potential models of care. 

This was undertaken as the final stage of the evaluation process and initial outputs from the financial 

modelling indicated that both variations of the potential models of care considered viable would deliver 

revenue savings to the system. 

Timeline Action Taken Impact 

January to May 

2023 

Financial analysis of potential models 

of care (capital and revenue impacts). 

One potential site option discounted 

due to unaffordable capital 

requirements. 

Table 10.10 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 – Multifaceted analysis 

10.4.3.5 Review of scope – decoupling maternity and neonatal care 

An informal review of the proposals by NHS England and the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire 

Integrated Care Board (ICB) took place in June 2023. A key issue identified was that the picture and 

landscape in relation to maternity services, both nationally and regionally, has changed significantly and 

remains dynamic. As such, it was deemed necessary to de-couple maternity and neonatal services from 

the other proposals within the Humber Acute Services Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC) in order to 

undertake a more comprehensive review of the current provision and future delivery of these services 

across the full ICB footprint.  

This work will continue in parallel and build upon the detailed work and extensive engagement that was 

undertaken on maternity and neonatal care through the Humber Acute Services programme.  

De-coupling maternity and neonatal care from the other proposals within the business case therefore 

left only one model of care remaining, which is the proposed changes set out within this business case 

(since the remaining variation related to maternity and neonatal care only).  

Following the decision to de-couple maternity and neonatal care from the other changes within the 

business case, the workforce and financial modelling was reviewed and updated in line with the change 

of scope. De-coupling maternity and neonatal care from the other proposals did not materially change 

the capital and revenue implications from those associated with the model that was evaluated which 

included maternity services on both sites and crucially, the level of capital investment that would be 

required to deliver the proposed changes set out within this business case at Scunthorpe General 

Hospital instead of Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby, remains unaffordable to the system.  

All activity, displacement and travel modelling were undertaken separately in each service area and then 

aggregated up, taking account of all relevant interdependencies and therefore it was possible to 

disaggregate the impact of the proposed service changes only. The relevant service lines have been 

included in the modelling outputs in appendix 10.16 and the summary tables throughout this PCBC have 

been updated to reflect the revised scope.  

Page 349



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

292 
  

This approach has been adopted to enable the proposals for changes to Urgent and Emergency Care and 

Paediatric Care to be taken forward for consultation whilst further work continues on maternity and 

neonatal services given the pressing need for change and the challenges within these services. 

Timeline Action Taken Impact 

June 2023 Decision to de-couple maternity and 

neonatal care services from the 

proposals. 

One proposal remaining to take 

forward for public consultation. 

Table 10.11 Outcome of decision to de-couple maternity and neonatal care from proposals 

10.4.3.6 Summary of refreshed financial analysis 

The financial impact of the proposed new model of care was reviewed following the decision to de-

couple maternity and neonatal care services from the proposal.  

As set out in section 6.4.5, the financial modelling undertaken to support the PCBC focussed on staffing 

requirements for each of the models, linked to activity and growth assumptions since pay is generally 

70% of the cost base. Running duplicate services across multiple sites presents significant workforce 

challenges and can result in a poor employee experience for some of the Trust’s medical and non-

medical teams. This compounds an already challenging recruitment environment and leads to difficulty 

in recruiting the right substantive workforce to provide high quality safe care.  

The proposed new model of care would utilise the current workforce in more efficient and effective 

ways and result in an overall reduced staffing requirement of approximately 130 WTE against the 

business as usual (BAU) scenario. The workforce models have been designed to foster a more attractive 

work environment, with reduced reliance on agency and premium staffing.   

The key drivers for revenue savings include: 

• Activity and pathway driven changes in workforce e.g., improved pathways of care leading to 

faster diagnosis and treatment and reduced length of stay, bed reduction, improved rota 

management and removal of duplication, reducing reliance on high-cost temporary staffing. 

• Productivity driven reductions in workforce, leading to fewer WTE to deliver a given quantity of 

activity e.g., use of technology and improved processes. 

• Reduction in the cost per WTE of the future establishment e.g., ensuring that staff spend a 

greater proportion of their time conducting tasks appropriate to their grade through role re-

design and the introduction of more advanced practitioner roles.  

• More attractive place to work, innovative and therefore improving recruitment and retention, 

reducing agency use. 

The gross impact on the revenue position of the proposed model of care is a £7.5 million reduction 

against the business as usual (BAU) projection. 

Based on the revised analysis and reduced scope, the anticipated capital investment required to deliver 

the proposed changes to consolidate services at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) is 

approximately £16 million, which is affordable and deliverable from within internal resources. The 

anticipated capital investment required to deliver the changes required to consolidate services at 

Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) is approximately £57 million and as such remains unaffordable to 

the system.  

Page 350



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

293 
  

The £16 million capital investment required could be delivered through internal resources over a three-

year period.301 

 

10.4.3.7 Summary and next steps 

The financial modelling to date has focussed on the WTE numbers and the correlation with activity and 

growth assumptions.  Detailed work will be undertaken on staffing rosters and the opportunities that 

some of the reconfigurations proposed would bring in terms of more efficient rostering and more 

attractive and sustainable rotas.  This will help to provide assurance on the current assumed minimum 

level of savings compared with the BAU model. In addition, more work will be required to assess the 

impact of the changes on other support and corporate staff.  The focus to date has been on medical, 

nursing, theatre staffing and midwifery.   

As pay is generally 70% of the cost base, this has been the focus of the financial assessment at PCBC 

stage.  More detailed work will be undertaken to assess the impact on non-pay costs, including clinical 

consumables, travel, equipment maintenance, facilities costs, including energy costs, depreciation and 

PDC (public dividend capital). 

The PCBC has clearly identified significant benefits and the benefits realisation plans will be enhanced as 

we develop our Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC). This further work will include quantification of 

benefits in terms of patient outcomes and experience, staff benefits, increased efficiency, reductions in 

risk and potential cost savings. 

 

 
301 Financial modelling outputs (revised, Sept 2023) – see appendix D.  

The proposed model of care would reduce the ongoing revenue cost versus BAU by making better 

use of skilled staff and organising services in a more effective and efficient way.  

Page 351



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

 

294 
  

 

Consolidation of specialist services will help to improve the quality and ensure long-term safety 

and sustainability of inpatient care ensuring everyone across the Humber can access the most 

highly skilled professionals when they need them.   

The key benefits of the proposed model of care include: 

✓ Make the best use of skilled workforce – reduce duplication.  

✓ Ensure patients with most complex needs can access specialist care from well-supported 

teams of highly skilled professionals. 

✓ Improve training and development opportunities for staff.  

✓ Develop Centres of Excellence for specific services, building confidence in patients and staff. 

✓ Support more people to stay well, be seen and treated at or close to home.  

The proposed changes would enable us to address critical shortages in workforce, consolidate 

rotas and improve patient access, waiting times and length of stay, whilst maintaining the majority 

of services locally.  

We recognise that any changes we make will have an impact on patients, carers and staff and for 

some people will mean longer journey times to access particular hospital services. Detailed impact 

analyses have been undertaken to quantify the likely impact and develop mitigations. 

Page 352



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

295 
  

10.5  Reviews – recommendations and responses 

10.5.1  Clinical Senate Review (2020) 

 Recommendation Response 

G
en

er
al

 R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s 

Reduce the number of options under consideration as 

rapidly as possible in order to maintain momentum and 

allow the development of detailed proposals 

Long list was reduced 

following Clinical Senate 

review to enable detailed 

clinical modelling to take place 

Work with neighbouring health economies to understand 

the impact of any changes 

Regular meetings established 

with Doncaster and 

Lincolnshire 

Focus option development on the south bank to the options 

of exploring a two-site model of an acute site and a less 

acute site or the option of one acute site on the south bank. 

Provided focus for clinical 

modelling phase 

U
rg

en
t 

an
d

 E
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
 C

ar
e

 

Both (northern Lincolnshire) sites could deliver an 

emergency service that will operate using different clinical 

models.  This could include: 

• emergency medicine consultant service for defined 

hours and/or a same day or ambulatory emergency 

care service for defined clinical pathways on the less 

acute site.  

• a walk-in service utilising both GPs and Advanced 

Care Practitioners (ACPs) with appropriate referral 

to secondary care clinicians in medicine and surgery.   

• ambulance patients would go directly to a secondary 

care assessment and both units should have a co-

located frailty service.   

• The need for the models to support sustainable 

staffing from the anaesthetic and critical care 

perspective.  

Recommendations for less 

acute site incorporated into 

Local Emergency Hospital 

model 

UCS model developed 

Frailty service in place 

Anaesthetics and critical care 

staffing requirements 

considered through modelling 

All sites need to offer “front of house” frailty service to allow 

frail elderly patients to be seen and assessed immediately. 

Frailty service 

recommendations in place – 

ideas developed further to 

progress integrated frailty 

service in the community 

There are alternative roles that can be further considered 

particularly in terms of avoiding admissions and unnecessary 

attendance at Emergency Departments 

Considerable work undertaken 

to look at new roles and 

services as models were 

developed (e.g., Hospital at 

Home / virtual wards) 

There are developing models where Emergency Department 

care can be run by an interdisciplinary medical team with 

support from specialists when needed. 

Integrated Acute Assessment 

Model developed in 

Scunthorpe and Grimsby 

Page 353



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

296 
  

M
at

e
rn

it
y,

 N
eo

n
at

al
 a

n
d

 P
ae

d
ia

tr
ic

s 

Any proposals to redesign the services which retain either 2 

Obstetric Led Units, or a Local Neonatal Unit, in Northern 

Lincolnshire must include actions that mitigate the concerns 

highlighted with workforce availability, critically 

interdependent services and levels of activity. 

Workforce availability 

considered through detailed 

modelling phase and 

incorporated into proposed 

options 

Any proposals which include a freestanding Midwifery Led 

Unit in Northern Lincolnshire must demonstrate that the 

activity will be sufficient to ensure the sustainability of both 

the MLU and the Northern Lincolnshire neonatal service. 

Model was considered, 

evaluated and discounted, 

taking these factors into 

account. 

To fully consider the workforce, resuscitation, stabilisation 

and transfer skills needed to support the paediatric model 

which will be required for an inpatient paediatric service at 

one Northern Lincolnshire site. 

Detailed work undertaken as 

part of developing the clinical 

models (ongoing). 

To develop the community paediatric services to support the 

hospital-based service 

Hospital at Home service 

piloted and being developed 

across the Humber to support 

the proposals. 

P
la

n
n

ed
 C

ar
e To take action ahead of the wider reconfiguration, 

particularly in ophthalmic surgery, urology and ENT to 

develop clinical networks working across Hull and East 

Riding and Northern Lincolnshire to change the way that the 

workforce delivers care. 

Work undertaken to progress 

this through the Interim 

Clinical Plan (Programme 1) 

Table 10.12 Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2020) 

10.5.2  Clinical Senate Review (2022)  

 Recommendation Response 

M
o

d
el

s 
o

f 
ca

re
 

There will be a need to ensure there are robust links with a 

primary care system that has capacity to respond to system 

demands, especially out of hours, to ensure the success of 

many aspects of the acute care provision. 

Joint working with the out of 

hospital programme to deliver 

enabling workstreams. 

Further in-depth travel and transport impact assessments 

will be required to fully understand the implications of each 

of the options on both patients, staff and the ambulance 

provider and with neighbouring hospital trusts to reach a 

common understanding of potential changes in patient flows 

as a result of any change. 

Travel modelling undertaken 

and set out in appendix 0 

Consideration should also be given to the ambulance 

service’s ability to respond to the patient transfers that may 

result from the options that were presented and whether a 

dedicated patient transport service would be of benefit. Any 

patients transfers from one site to another would need to be 

carried out in a timely way that did not result in delays to 

patient care 

20% of transfers modelled 

within emergency ambulance 

impacts and non-emergency 

transfers modelled separated 

as part of an additional 

contract (details set out in 

appendix 10.18.2) 

There would be a need to ensure that there was sufficient 

available assessment, short stay and inpatient bed capacity, 

Capacity modelling 

undertaken to support 

Page 354



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

297 
  

including at times of surge and increased demand, at the 

Acute Hospital and LEH sites, under those relevant options, 

to prevent delays or bottlenecks in patients accessing care. 

workforce modelling, capital 

planning and to ensure 

services are right-sized. 

There would also be a need for well-developed plans on how 

patients will be discharged both quickly and safely, and for 

adequate capacity to be built out of hours to ensure 

throughput. 

Joint working with the out of 

hospital programme to deliver 

enabling workstreams. 

It is imperative to assess the impact of the proposed options 

on the health inequalities in the local populations, a process 

which would normally be ongoing throughout a programme 

such as HAS, to ensure that any proposals do not lead to an 

adverse impact and that appropriate mitigations are put in 

place. 

IIA work undertaken 

throughout (see Integrated 

Impact Assessment) 

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e

 

The Senate agreed that the first order problem is the 

recruitment and retention of appropriate workforce for the 

services to be delivered and, whilst this was not presented 

as an option for the Senate to consider, it is possible that a 

new build, single site option might have the most benefit for 

workforce recruitment and retention. 

 

The programme team are encouraged to undertake an in-

depth staff travel and transport impact assessment to fully 

understand the effect of the options on staff displacements 

and the impact this would have on workforce retention as 

well as the ambition to be an Anchor organisation. 

Staff travel impacts set out in 

appendix 10.18.3. 

To address recruitment and retention difficulties in some 

staff groups the panel encourages consideration of a system-

wide, multi professional workforce model, incorporating 

new roles like advanced care practitioners and advanced 

paramedics able to work within the whole system and with 

an aim to avoid admissions. 

Forms part of the workforce 

plan – see section 8.3 

To address current and future workforce constraints, the 

Senate encourages the Trusts to work closely with local 

universities and medical schools to encourage and promote 

more local people to train in health care professions. This 

will encourage a local supply of workforce more likely to 

remain in the area. 

Forms part of the workforce 

plan – see section 8.3 

D
ig

it
al

 

The Trusts and partner organisations are encouraged to 

implement an electronic medical record system that would 

attain a digital maturity of level 5 against the Healthcare 

Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) 

standards. This would enable interoperability between 

systems that would support patient care in hospital and non-

hospital settings. 

Forms part of the digital plan – 

see section 8.1 

Page 355



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

298 
  

A high level of digitalization will be a key enabler to effective 

and efficient clinical care across both sites. In particular the 

development of telemedicine is encouraged to allow access 

to clinical expertise that would reduce the need for travel 

and patient transfers. 

Forms part of the digital plan – 

see section 8.1 

Table 10.13  Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2022) 

The feedback provided by the Senate panel was considered as part of the final evaluation of the 

potential models of care. The advice from the Senate helped to confirm the exclusion of certain models 

(variations) from the options taken forward for consultation and supported the approach that was taken 

to carrying out the evaluation process (see section 10.4.3.3).  

10.5.3  Clinical Senate Review (2023)  

G
e

n
e

ra
l R

e
co

m
m

e
n

d
at

io
n

s 

The HAS team is advised to maintain focus on health 

inequalities on an ongoing basis to ensure they are not 

being made worse by the impacts of the programme. It is 

advisable to include in the programme an evidence-based 

view on capturing vulnerable people at "first contact" with 

services that are accessed, to prevent exclusion. 

IIA work undertaken 

throughout and will continue 

through the consultation and 

into implementation planning. 

  

It is strongly recommended to gain an understanding from 

neighbouring organisations as to whether they can 

manage the impacts of the potential options. 

Regular meetings ongoing with 

Doncaster and Lincolnshire – 

potential impact of each option 

on activity and beds numbers 

shared. 

It may be useful for the HAS team to undertake and 

demonstrate modelling undertaken to stress test bed 

occupancy in the different options to ensure there is 

sufficient capacity to meet demand. 

Will be undertaken as part of 

developing the DMBC. 

It may be helpful for the HAS team to have a clear position 

that interdependencies will be managed strategically to 

deliver the ideal interdependencies going forward. 

Joint working with the out of 

hospital programmes to deliver 

enabling independencies  

Continued engagement with colleagues in the local 

authority is advised to ensure all elements of the health 

and social care system are working in tandem towards the 

same goals and ambitions. 

Continuous engagement is in 

place with local authority, Place 

and system partners. 

U
rg

en
t 

an
d

 E
m

e
rg

en
cy

 C
ar

e
 The Humber Acute Services team are advised to consult 

with the Yorkshire Critical Care Network to ensure that it is 

supportive of the plans to maintain a level two critical care 

service on the LEH site. 

Ongoing engagement with the 

North Yorkshire & Humber 

Critical care Network is in place 

to ensure it is aligned and 

supportive of plans to maintain 

a level two critical care service 

on both the Acute and LEH 

sites. Detailed demand and 

capacity forecasting being 

Page 356



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

299 
  

undertaken (for inclusion in 

DMBC). 
M

at
e

rn
it

y,
 N

eo
n

at
al

 a
n

d
 

P
ae

d
ia

tr
ic

s 
The Senate has made clear that the maintenance of two 

obstetric units, with the required theatre and midwifery 

staffing on both sites remains at high risk of being 

undeliverable/unsustainable. If the HAS programme team 

wishes to consult on the provision of two Obstetric led 

units there must be a high degree of confidence that they 

are deliverable and sustainable, including that they can 

support two staffed theatres on two sites and can recruit 

and retain the necessary staff. 

High-level workforce plans are 

in place and will continue to be 

developed (for inclusion in 

DMBC). 

The Senate’s recommendation 

regarding the option for two 

Obstetric-Led Units will be 

shared through the 

consultation.  

Table 10.14 Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2023) 

10.5.4  Independent Clinical Review – Urgent and Emergency Care 

Advice provided Response 

Supported the co-location of Urgent Treatment Centres/Urgent 

Care Services with Emergency Departments across the Humber 

to ensure equity of access to urgent care for the population and 

reduce demand on the Emergency Department. 

Incorporated in models 

To define the workforce modelling to support patient pathways 

including consistency of skill set, roles and training 

• focus on paramedic practitioners, emergency care 

practitioners, advanced nurse practitioners and urgent 

care practitioners  

• consider roles, training alignment and recognise the 

skill training required for both illnesses and injury 

• work these up and agree as a system so training can 

commence early (to be governed through provider 

collaboratives across the system) 

The work has progressed alongside 

clinical modelling 

To ensure the patient journeys within each of the potential of 

models of care and variations are clearly articulated and well 

understood 

Patient journey graphics and 

narratives developed 

Through the evaluation process, ensure the impacts of the 

Acute Hospital with Trauma Unit and Local Emergency Hospital 

model are clearly defined.  

Comprehensive Integrated Impact 

Assessment undertaken – impacts 

described and refined through this 

work. 

Table 10.15  Summary of independent UEC review and response 

 

 

Page 357



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

300 
  

10.5.5  Independent Review – Maternity, Neonatal Care and Paediatrics 

Advice provided Response 

Highlighted the positive impact of early engagement with 

various stakeholders such as local authorities, ambulance trusts 

and transport providers, academic institutions and members of 

the public alongside various user groups. In particular, the role 

Maternity Voices Partnerships have played in ensuring women 

and their families have been able to express their needs for 

future services and the challenges for if services were to be re-

located.   

Continued engagement with key 

stakeholders and joint working 

with MVPs. 

The continued provision of local antenatal and postnatal 

services (with access to diagnostic ultrasound facilities, day 

assessment units and local community midwifery teams) should 

be a foundation for any future service configuration. 

Taken into consideration in all 

models. 

To consider travel impact for midwifery staff, particularly if 

changes come after new staffing models (e.g., continuity of 

carer teams) are embedded as this could be highly disruptive. 

Current staff mapped by home 

postcode by staff cohort to enable 

detailed analysis of impact to be 

undertaken.  

To consider service-user choice – highlighting that it is not 

unusual for women to choose a service other than their nearest 

provider if there are other benefits  

Engagement with service-users 

sought views on factors shaping 

choice. This approach to continue 

through the consultation.  

To look at staffing models and potential solutions to shortages 

within Obstetrics and Gynaecology such as development of 

resident consultant posts. 

Considered through workforce 

planning.  

That the programme reconsider provision of a stand-alone 

Midwife-Led Unit (MLU) at the less acute site. 

Included at the evaluation stage 

and thoroughly reviewed. It was 

not recommended as a viable 

option due to the low levels of 

anticipated usage and safety 

concerns operating this model on a 

Local Emergency Hospital site.  

Provides a number of potential mitigations for any scenarios 

that result in consolidation of obstetric services onto fewer 

sites than present. 

Incorporated into Integrated 

Impact Assessment (IIA). 

Table 10.16 Summary of independent MNP review and response 

10.5.6  Feedback from OSCs  

We have provided opportunities to update the Chair and Members of relevant Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees, through a combination of written updates, informal briefings and formal 

attendance at Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees: 

Page 358



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

301 
  

East Riding of 

Yorkshire Council  

Hull City Council North East 

Lincolnshire 

Council 

North Lincolnshire 

Council 

Lincolnshire 

County Council 

Dec 2022 (written 

update provided) 

Dec 2022 (written 

update provided) 

Dec 2022 (written 

update provided) 
19th Dec 2022 

Dec 2022 (written 

update provided) 

July 2022 (written 

update provided) 

July 2022 (written 

update provided) 

July 2022 (written 

update provided) 

July 2022 (written 

update provided) 

July 2022 (written 

update provided) 

7th Dec 2021 10th Dec 2021 24th Nov 2021 26th Nov 2021 15th Dec 2021 

9th March 2021 12th March 2021 17th March 2021 19th March 2021302  

20th Oct 2020 16th Oct 2020 16th Sept 2020 15th Sept 2020  

10th March 2019     

11th Sept 2018 14th Sept 2018 12th Sept 2018 17th Sept 2018  

6th March 2018 16th March 2018 11th April 2018 26th March 2018  

Table 10.17 OSC briefing dates 

Our ongoing engagement with Local Authority health scrutiny committees highlighted a number of key 

areas of focus which were either added to or undertaken in greater depth as part of the programme.  

Theme Recommendation Response 

Workforce Ensuring clinical input to the design of 

future service models will be critical – 

maintain and prioritise involvement of 

staff  

Design of future service models have 

been clinically-led (see section 

10.3.2.1).  

Access to 

services 

Transport and access issues – 

understanding how patients might be 

impacted, what is the potential scale of 

any impact and what can be done to 

mitigate impact of any changes  

All patient activity has been mapped 

by postcode to undertake 

comprehensive travel analysis. 

Ambulance journey mapping also 

undertaken. Transport group 

established to look at support and 

mitigations (see section 8.4). 

Care closer to home – what does this 

mean in practical terms? 

Collaboration with out of hospital 

programme to develop a wide range 

of alternatives to hospital-based care 

(see section 7.2) 

What are the implications for individual 

places and communities – want to 

understand the impact for their local area 

not just aggregate, overall impact  

Activity volumes mapped by site and 

local population characteristics 

considered through impact 

assessment (see Integrated Impact 

Assessment – document library). 

Digital inclusion – supporting individuals 

and communities to use digital  

Humber and North Yorkshire Digital 

Inclusion strategy underpinning any 

changes (see section 8.1.3). 

Communications 

and Engagement 

Sharing plans – welcomed updates on 

engagement approach and continuation 

Continued engagement with OSCs 

and other stakeholders  

 
302 Meeting cancelled by OSC Chair due to unavoidable circumstances. Paper provided to all members of the Panel.  

Page 359

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

302 
  

of ongoing and timely engagement with 

HOSCs 

Ensure engagement approaches reach the 

right groups 

Engagement and consultation 

activities targeted to reach 

potentially impacted communities 

(see section 3.2.2). 

Focus on 

Delivery  

(make things 

happen, don’t 

just talk about 

change) 

Deliver on improvement areas identified 

previously – turn plans into action 

Plan for implementation developed 

as part of PCBC 

Technology / Digital Transformation Digital enablers considered to ensure 

alignment with wider system plans 

Understanding proposals and implications Clinical modelling / evaluation / IIA 

Table 10.18 Summary of OSC feedback and responses 

Feedback gathered through engagement with OSCs has helped to shape the potential future models of 

care as well as the engagement approach undertaken through the programme. 

 

  

Page 360



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

303 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C. How we have Listened and what we have heard   

  

Page 361



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

304 
  

10.6 Overview of what we have heard  

Through surveys, focus groups and workshops we have listened to over 12,000 patients, 

service-users, staff, and other stakeholders to influence the design and evaluation of potential 

models of care.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 362



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

305 
  

Staff and teams – What Matters to you? – To enable us 

to better understand what really matters to our workforce we actively sought 

views from staff through a number of surveys.  Overall, staff told us things 

most important to them are: 

A healthy work-life balance. 

Making a difference to patients.  

Feeling appreciated for the work they do.  

Everyone being treated respectfully and as equals. 

Staff also said that staffing levels need to be increased to reduce 

stress and workloads. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What Matters to You – We wanted to know what was most  

important to people when accessing hospital services.  

Overall, people said: 

Being seen and treated as quickly as possible was their top priority. 

It was also very important to people that: 

They were kept safe and well looked after.  

There were enough staff with the right skills.  

 The full feedback report and summary report are both available on our website. 

Page 363

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/4a49ff95-e86a-4934-b8b1-b64f51a41c1f/What%20Matters%20to%20You%20-%20Exec%20Summary%20-%20final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

306 
  

Children and Young People – We actively sought views from 

children and young people about what worried them about coming into hospital, 

what was ok and what they would change. Overall, they said: 

Being kept safe and well looked after was most important 

Nice food, cuddles with their parents, and technology (e.g., iPads) 

would help them to feel better quickly. 

The worst things about being in hospital was not being able to see 

the trees, having blood tests and not being able to leave their room 

to interact with nature.   

The full feedback report and summary report are  

both available on our website.  

In addition, we asked parents, carers, and guardians to  

share their experiences. 277 responses were received.  

Being kept safe and well looked after was most important 

Being seen and treated as quickly a possible was also important  

The full feedback report and summary report are  

both available on our website. 

  Urgent and Emergency Care – We wanted to better  

understand what motivates people to go to an Emergency Department,  

their knowledge of alternative urgent care services and what the barriers  

are to using these alternatives. Overall, people told us: 

They mostly attended an Emergency Department because someone 

advised them to (e.g.,, NHS 111 or their GP). 

Levels of awareness of alternative provision are greater in Hull and 

East Riding of Yorkshire than in North and North East Lincolnshire.  

Overall, people are willing to use alternative provision if they are 

confident that it is appropriate for their needs. 

The findings are available to read in full here. 

Page 364

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b85126f7-e2ca-4907-bc82-5354107b184e/CYP%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/81d443c7-92a5-4501-844e-8632f3049829/CYP%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/8d9be464-6e48-4da2-a60a-f006aa704479/Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c91b2dc8-89e0-445d-b1dc-2aa6c1153af3/WMTY%20PCG%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://www.eastridingofyorkshireccg.nhs.uk/data/uploads/get-involved/ae-feedback-report-2020-final-draft.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

307 
  

10.7 Key Findings – Urgent and Emergency Care 

In responding to the challenges set out in the Case for Change, and detailed above, we have sought to 

gather views, experiences and ideas from a range of stakeholders to help shape our vision for the future 

and potential future models of care. The approach we took to engaging with clinicians, partners, 

patients and the public is set out in detail in section 10.3.5.1 and in the engagement timeline with copies 

of all relevant engagement reports included in the document library.  

Some of the key findings from our engagement that helped to shape the vision for the future and have 

influenced the development of potential models for urgent and emergency care include the following: 

• Most people attend an Emergency Department (ED) because someone advised them to go. 

The most common reason for attending the Emergency Department was that respondents were 

advised by a healthcare professional to attend. This was the case for 68% of respondents to the 

A&E Survey and 73% of responses to the follow-up Healthwatch report (in the following, figures 

are given for both cohorts of respondents, firstly to the A&E survey followed by the Healthwatch 

data).  

Of those who said they were advised to attend ED (599 and 112 people), this was most 

commonly via NHS 111 (39%, 29%), a GP at my local surgery (22%, 57%) or 999/ambulance 

service (22%, 0%). “I couldn’t get an appointment at my GP surgery” was selected by fewer than 

6% of respondents as a reason for choosing ED in the A&E survey. When the follow-up 

Healthwatch work was undertaken, this had risen to 18.8% of respondents.  

 
 Figure 10.15 A&E survey - why did you choose ED? 

• Levels of awareness of alternative provision are mixed. 

Most people had received information about when it is appropriate to attend the Emergency 

Department – Scunthorpe (72%), Grimsby (75%), Hull (86%) (A&E survey). When asked about 

specific types of provision, the levels of awareness and utilisation of Urgent Treatment Centres 

(UTCs) was significantly lower amongst respondents who used the Emergency Departments in 

Scunthorpe or Grimsby.  

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

I don’t have a GP

It’s convenient, I live nearby

I am not aware of other services

I thought the A&E/ED Department is for any health…

I couldn’t get an appointment at my GP surgery

There is not an Urgent Treatment Centre near to me

The injury is life threatening

I have confidence in A&E/ED that I will be seen and…

I was advised by a health care professional to visit…

Hull Grimsby Scunthorpe

Page 365

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

308 
  

 
 Figure 10.16 A&E survey - knowledge and views of UTCs 

These inconsistent levels of knowledge or awareness of different services continued to be 

reflected in the engagement undertaken by Healthwatch. 

  
 Figure 10.17 Knowledge of available services - Healthwatch report 

• People are willing to use alternative provision if they are confident that it is appropriate for 

their needs. 

When asked “If a healthcare professional could see and treat you/the patient quicker, would 

you use an alternative service?”, very few people answered no. However, a large proportion of 

respondents did not believe the alternatives identified would have been appropriate for them or 

their condition. 

0%

50%

100%

Hull Grimsby Scunthorpe

Urgent Treatment 
Centres

Not heard of it, not used

Heard of it, but not used

Heard of it, used

Page 366



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

309 
  

 
Figure 10.18 A&E survey - willingness to use alternatives to ED 

  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Pharmacy

NHS 111

Urgent Treatment Centre

GP

Yes No Not appropriate for my condition

The insight gathered through engagement with people who had recent experience of using one of the 

Emergency Departments in the Humber highlighted the following key factors that were taken into 

account when developing the overall vision and potential models of care: 

• Models of care for the future need to be simple and easy to understand. 

o Most people were willing to utilise alternative provision, where they have confidence 

that it will meet their needs, but default to the Emergency Department where this is 

not the case. 

o The public must have a clear understanding of the services offered and have 

confidence they will meet their needs. 

o Urgent care services must be as easy to access as Emergency Departments if they are 

to be successful. 

• There is an opportunity to tackle some of the challenges faced by providing direct access to 

the services people need (bypassing the Emergency Department) if services are better 

coordinated ‘behind the scenes’. 

o Most of those surveyed sought advice before turning up at the Emergency 

Department, which means there is an opportunity to direct people to alternative 

services if these are available and easy to access when required. 

o NHS 111 was the most commonly used route for seeking advice, therefore there is an 

opportunity to work with partners to develop the NHS 111 service to support new 

models of care and supporting more people to access the right care. 

The insights and ideas gathered from patients and the public have been used alongside extensive 

data modelling and learning from elsewhere to guide the development of potential models for urgent 

and emergency care. The overarching future vision seeks to simplify access points and make it easier 

for people to get to the right care in the right place at the right time.  

Page 367



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

310 
  

10.8 Key Findings – Children and Young People 

In addition to the wider ‘What Matters to You’ Engagement Exercise, the Programme also undertook a 

targeted engagement exercise to canvas the views of children and young people, their parents, carers 

and other important adults in their life.   We asked them to tell us what worried them about coming into 

hospital, what is ok and what they would change.   

A child-friendly approach was developed.  For young children (aged approximately 5-11) a fun activity 

booklet was developed featuring drawing, matching activities and space to write or leave comments. 

For older children/young people (aged approximately 12-17) a bespoke questionnaire was produced 

with simplified questions and open space to provide free text or drawings.  Parents and carers were 

provided with an opportunity to share their perspectives via an online survey.  

Key findings from this engagement include 

• Being kept safe and well looked after was the most important thing to children and young 

people as well as their parents, carers and guardians. 

 
 Figure 10.19 Summary of What Matters - Children and Young People 

• Accessibility and experience were also very important. 

Parents and guardians provided feedback on how hospital visits can be stressful and made 

suggestions on how they could be improved. For example, many highlighted the importance of 

appointments running on time and short waiting times in A&E as it is difficult for children to wait 

and delays can lead to increased stress and anxiety.  Parents highlighted the need for more 

experienced and well-trained paediatric staff working not only in EDs, but also across wards and 

clinics.  

Parents asked that more appointments are available after school or at more convenient times 

and for improvements to be made to car parking to make attending appointments easier.  In 

addition, access to local services was highlighted as important by many respondents.  

It is easy to get to (Travel and Accessibility)

Things are fair for everyone (Health
(in)Equalities)

The building is nice and has everything I need
(Estates and Infrastructure)

There are enough doctors and nurses
(Workforce)

I don't have to wait too long (Constitutional
Standards)

I feel cared for and safe (Clinical Standards)

Page 368



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

311 
  

 
 Figure 10.20 Summary of key themes - Children and Young People's feedback 

• The building and physical environment was comparatively more important to children and 

young people than the population as a whole. 

Many comments from children and young people who responded to the surveys highlighted 

aspects about the physical environment that either improved their experience or made it worse. 

Examples included, sleeping in a comfy bed with friendly nurses and doctors working hard to 

look after them helped them to feel better quickly.   

Suggestions from children and young people for areas where improvements could be made, 

included better access to toys and digital technology, better food, and being able to interact 

with nature (e.g., not being able to see the trees from their hospital bed was a negative point 

raised). 

• Better communication – clear and consistent information presented in an understandable way 

– was important to both parents and carers and children and young people. Parents also 

highlighted the need for more consideration from staff when communicating or looking after 

children with additional needs (SEND).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 369



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

312 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

The insights gathered through engagement with children and young people, their parents, carers 

and other important adults in their lives across the Humber region highlighted a number of really 

important factors that have influenced the development of potential models of care for paediatric 

services in the future: 

• Models of care for the future should prioritise safety. 

o The ability of the models to deliver safe care is a key factor within the evaluation of 

the models of care for paediatric services. 

• Models of care for the future should be designed to meet the needs of parents and families 

as far as possible, particularly in relation to attending appointments and accessing care.  

o Service-users were clear that they would prefer greater choice when it comes to 

appointment times (e.g., after school), with appointments running on time to avoid 

increased stress and anxiety for children and young people.  

o Access to local services with ample accessible parking was very important to parents 

and carers.  

• Models of care for the future of paediatric services need to consider the building and 

physical environment, as these factors are comparatively more important to children and 

young people than the population as a whole. 

o Preferences from children and young people included better access to toys and 

technology, comfy beds, better food and being able to interact with nature and see 

the trees from their hospital beds.  

o Wherever possible, children and young people should be included in the design of 

spaces where their care will be provided to ensure they are suitable and meet their 

needs and expectations.   

Page 370



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

313 
  

10.9 Key Findings – Travel and Transport 

Whilst travel and accessibility have consistently ranked as comparatively less important amongst all 

stakeholder groups, it continues to be an important theme emerging from the engagement work we 

have undertaken.  

In our targeted engagement and work with health inclusion groups the topic of transport and 

accessibility was raised as an important area for consideration and similarly was highlighted by a large 

number of respondents to the What Matters to You? questionnaire.303 In the Your Birthing Choices 

engagement exercise with maternity service-users, we gathered opinions on how they currently travel 

to access care and how far they felt was a reasonable distance to travel. Travel and transport were also 

key themes in engagement work undertaken on temporary service changes in oncology, haematology, 

urology and ENT (undertaken as part of the parallel work on the Interim Clinical Plan). Issues relating to 

travel and accessibility were also consistently raised in our engagement with elected representatives, 

through our What Matters to You? workshops and our ongoing dialogue with overview and scrutiny 

committees in particular.  

Through this engagement it is possible to identify a number of key themes in relation to travel and 

transport: 

People face a lot of existing barriers that make accessing care difficult. 

Across the engagement work undertaken a range of barriers to access were highlighted by participants. 

These included: 

• The cost of parking, particularly when appointments are delayed. 

• The availability of car parking – trying to find somewhere to park when attending an 

appointment can be stressful. 

• The lack of availability of transport (public and private) and/or the cost. 

• Poor accessibility on the site, particularly for disabled people. 

It is important to note that these barriers applied to experiences of accessing ‘local’ hospital services as 

well as those further afield, and also to out of hospital services such as primary care, recognising the low 

rates of car ownership within the region, particularly in parts of Hull and North East Lincolnshire (as 

detailed in section 1.4.2.5). 

Travel and accessibility issues are not all about distance. 

Across the engagement undertaken, the issues people raised to do with accessing care were often not 

linked to the overall distance to travel, but with things that affect the experience of travelling and ability 

to access care when arriving at the venue. For example: 

• Does the venue have a bus shelter with comfortable seats and information about the wait times 

for the next service? 

• If you are taking a poorly relative to an appointment, is there somewhere you can drop them off 

and someone you can leave them with while you go and park the car if they are not well enough 

to get themselves to where they need to go? 

• Is it easy to get from where you have parked your car to the part of the hospital you need to be 

at? And how easy is it to find my way around? 

 
303 In response to the question: “Is there anything we have missed?” 16% of responses (123 out of 775) related to 
travel and accessibility. 

Page 371



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

314 
  

Participants were almost unanimous in their views that all of these access issues should be considered 

when looking at transport and access, not just overall distances between sites. Those taking part in the 

engagement exercises highlighted that going to hospital is often a stressful experience, they might be 

worried about the outcome of a test or anxious about a procedure, the person attending hospital can be 

quite unwell and this makes finding their way around and getting from A to B much more difficult. The 

way our hospitals have been built and developed and they way we utilise the sites can exacerbate these 

issues by making it more difficult for patients and their loved ones to get to where they need to be. 

Many patients and service-users express a willingness to travel further for care under certain 

circumstances. 

Participants in the targeted engagement undertaken by Humber and Wolds Rural Action reported that, 

in general, they were happy to travel from north bank to south bank, from east to west and out of area 

to receive specific treatments.  For some people they preferred to travel further to gain what they 

considered to be a ‘better experience’ but this was based on practical aspects of parking, transport 

availability, cost and access to the building.304 

Similarly, most respondents to the oncology survey said that despite the extra miles and time taken to 

get to and from appointments at the specialist cancer centre, they are happy to do so to receive such 

high-quality care.305 However, overall they expressed a strong preference to receive their cancer care 

closer to home to avoid long journeys, which they described as painful, difficult and stressful. They also 

wish to avoid further inconvenience to family members who have to take more time off work to drive 

them to their appointments. Respondents are also worried about the financial impacts associated with 

changes in location, including additional fuel costs, taxi costs now they are unable to use public 

transport, parking costs and bridge tolls.   

The views of women and birthing people on what they felt was an acceptable distance to travel to give 

birth varied quite significantly by area.306 Those living in the more rural areas of North Lincolnshire, 

Lincolnshire County and East Riding were, on average, prepared to travel further than respondents from 

North East Lincolnshire and Hull.  

Across all geographies, the travel distance people deemed to be acceptable was, on average, further 

than their current stated travel distance. However, it is important to note that over 50% of respondents 

stated that their current travel distance was 0-5 miles with a further 23.4% selecting 5-10 miles. The 

most popular selection for an acceptable travel distance was 5-10 miles (34.3%) followed by 10-15 miles 

(23.2%). Fewer than 10% of respondents currently travel 20 miles or more and only 7.5% thought that 

travelling 20 miles or more was an acceptable distance. 

Simple changes could have a big impact. 

Participants in our engagement highlighted some ‘simple’ changes that can make a real difference to 

accessing and experiencing acute hospital services, these included:  

• Flexible visiting times (different times for each ward) reducing the demand for car parking at key 

times. 

 
304 Humber and Wolds Rural Action (2020) Humber Acute Services Review – Targeted Engagement Report HWRA 
Report 
305 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (October 2020) Review of temporary changes to Oncology 
Services Oncology Feedback Report 
306 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (June 2022) Hospital Services for the future – Your 
Birthing Choices Feedback Report Your Birthing Choices Report 

Page 372

https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9ca1ae03-2ff0-4e3b-b72a-5abe12497c27/Oncology%20Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/73f6f316-286f-4330-a193-f9dcd279898d/YBC%20Feedback%20Report_WORKING%20COPY_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

315 
  

• Making buildings more attractive and welcoming. 

• Removing glass screens from reception areas which make it difficult to communicate and 

removes confidentiality. 

• ‘Meet and greet’ to welcome and assist people who are ‘lost’ or anxious. 

• Signage (simple language and visual) which makes it easier to navigate around the site/building. 

• Easier access to onsite facilities (location of accessible toilets was particularly important). 

• Creation of a quiet, comfortable physical space to respond to people’s needs, enable them to 

relax and prevent escalation of behaviour. 

  

 

  

The insights gathered through engagement with current and potential future patients across the 

Humber region highlighted a number of really important factors that have influenced the 

development of potential models of care: 

• Where possible we should seek to provide care close to or at home. 

o Going to hospital is a stressful experience for individuals, their families and carers.  

o Wherever possible, we should design models of care that don’t require individuals 

to make multiple trips to hospital where it is not necessary.  

o We should consider the travel impact of any potential models of care that are 

developed as part of the evaluation process.  

• Models of care for the future need to be accessible.  

o Whilst distance to care clearly does matter to our patients, it is also clear from the 

feedback that accessibility is about much more than distance from A to B.  

o It is important that future models of care consider all aspects of travel and 

accessibility and seek to provide as much care as is possible at or close to home. 

o When patients do have to travel, we should make that experience less complicated 

and stressful than it is today and consider how we can support people who face 

barriers to accessing the support they need.  

• We need to design our future hospitals with patients and their families in mind, making it 

easy for them to find where they need to be. 

o When opportunities become available to develop new facilities, we should seek to 

involve end-users in their design to ensure they are as accessible as possible this. 

Where changes can be made now, these have been considered by operational teams within both 

trusts. These ideas and insights will also be considered as part of any plans for implementation that 

may be drawn up following decision-making on the future models. 

Page 373



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

316 
  

10.10 Key Findings – Estates and Infrastructure 

10.10.1 Buildings and Equipment 

Throughout our patient and public engagement ‘being treated in good quality buildings that have the 

latest equipment’ was consistently ranked eighth out of the nine decision making criteria, suggesting 

that it relatively unimportant to the stakeholder groups we engaged with. ‘Services are good value for 

money’ was the only criterion to consistently rank lower.  

It was, however, comparatively more important to Children and Young people, ranking fourth out of the 

six criteria posed to them.  

Despite being relatively less important than aspects such as safety or timeliness of care, a number of 

participants in the engagement activities provided feedback or comments in relation to buildings and 

infrastructure that have helped to shape our ideas. Key themes to emerge from the free-text comments 

provided by respondents during our ‘What Matters to You’ and ‘Your Birthing Choices’ engagement 

included: 

• Respondents like to have their own rooms, particularly when using maternity services, and 

would like to see more rooms with en-suite facilities.  

• Respondents were generally impressed with the cleanliness of the buildings, particularly during 

the COVID-19 pandemic.  

• Respondents would like to see better signage, more facilities to get drinks and refreshments, 

better accessible toilets, and increased seating in busy waiting areas.  

• There was a recognition that many of our buildings are old and need major investment, 

examples provided included a respondent seeing plaster falling off the walls.  

• Respondents would like to be treated with modern equipment that isn’t prone to breaking and 

to know that operating theatres are also well equipped with the latest equipment.   

Children and young people told us that being able to sleep in comfy beds, have better access to toys and 

digital technology such as Wi-Fi, gaming devices and Netflix would help them to feel better quickly. 

Things that they didn’t like about coming into hospital buildings included being on wards where they 

couldn’t see the trees or interact with nature. Although the transformation plans will reduce the amount 

of time children need to be in hospital, there will always be a need for some, and addressing this will 

support their recovery. 

10.10.2 Digital Technology 

Throughout our engagement with different stakeholder groups, the use of digital technology has 

continued to be an important theme. Through the programme we have gathered a wealth of insight into 

the views of clinicians and staff, patients, service-users and the public on how digital technology could 

be used to transform and improve their experience of care.  NHSx has also released a “What Good Looks 

Like” (WGLL) framework that forms the basis of the digital maturity assessment that will be used to 

track how providers are meeting the functionality required to deliver safe quality care. NHSx has also 

released a “What Good Looks Like” (WGLL) framework that forms the basis of the digital maturity 

assessment that will be used to track how providers are meeting the functionality required to deliver 

safe quality care. 

In our targeted engagement and work with health inclusion groups participants commented on the use 

of digital technology, providing suggestions, ideas and raising issues. It was also a key theme explored 

through focus groups undertaken as part of early engagement as well as stakeholder workshops 

Page 374



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

317 
  

undertaken as part of the What Matters to You? engagement exercise.  In addition, insights gathered by 

our Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVPs), outpatient transformation programme and primary care 

partners provide a wealth of insight into changing views and perceptions of virtual consultations in 

particular and the use of digital more broadly. 

Through this engagement it is possible to identify several key themes in relation to digital technology: 

There is a strong willingness to engage in using new technology, but patients and service-users want 

us to do our bit and “get with the times.” 

In our early engagement307 participants highlighted that they were keen to see hospitals making the 

most of technological innovations to improve services and make the most of scarce resources (especially 

workforce) and were frustrated by the sense that health and care services were ‘behind the times’ in 

terms of adopting technological solutions.  

Using digital technology to improve how things work ‘behind the scenes’ was a common thread that has 

continued throughout more recent engagement as well. Some of the suggestions and comments from 

patients and service-users include: 

• Support better cross-site working through the use of technology (for example, video 

conferencing between clinicians). 

• Use technology to provide better, more timely information to patients (e.g., live waiting times 

for Emergency Departments, like systems used in theme parks, or the ability to track test results 

or appointments, similar to how you can track parcels).  

• Invest in wearables and other technology to improve remote monitoring and make services 

more responsive. 

• Get the basics right and keep things simple (why do we need to access multiple different online 

systems for GP appointments, hospital communications etc.?). 

Patients, service-users and other stakeholders we have engaged with relate to other aspects of their 

lives where digital technology has improved their experience and question why these approaches have 

not been deployed in their health services.  

Shared care records are a must. 

Throughout our engagement work, participants were consistent in reinforcing the need for appropriate, 

relevant information to be shared across providers. This was particularly strong from those with long-

term conditions or who access services more frequently, who had more experience of services not 

sharing information and the burden falling on them. Sharing information and having access to health 

and social care records was seen as critically important in all potential models of care when our Citizen’s 

Panel and other stakeholder groups provided feedback on them at all stages.  

Virtual appointments are broadly welcomed but views vary between different cohorts.  

Both before and after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we gathered a wide range of views on the 

relative pros and cons of virtual consultations (including online and telephone). On the whole, patients 

and service-users were positive about their use and the potential to reduce travel and improve services, 

 
307 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (April 2019) Hospital Services for the future – Focus Group 
Feedback Report Focus Group Feedback Report; Humber and Wolds Rural Action (2020) Humber Acute Services 
Review – Targeted Engagement Report HWRA Report 

Page 375

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c14dbb4d-eb80-4c8b-841b-bb714a592a02/Focus-Groups-Feedback-Report_final.pdf
https://humberandnorthyorkshire.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

318 
  

however, this was not the case across the board and different groups of patients and service-users had 

different views and/or raised differing concerns. Views amongst clinicians were also varied. 

Participants in our targeted engagement work, including conversations with health inclusion groups and 

people with protected characteristics, found that most people could see a place for the use of virtual 

consultations in reducing the need for outpatient and post-operative appointments. It was felt that 

these appointments were often a ‘waste of time’ for all concerned when there was no physical 

examination and after a few questions the patient was then discharged. 

“I live near Scunthorpe and had to return to (Diana Princess of Wales Hospital) Grimsby three 

times to say “I’m okay” my daughter had to take three days off work to take me, could this just 

have been a telephone call, there was no physical examination on each occasion”.  

The introduction of virtual appointments was also suggested by participants in focus group discussions 

that took place in 2019.  

Following the widespread roll-out of virtual appointments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic a 

range of insights work was undertaken across Humber and North Yorkshire, which has been drawn upon 

by this programme to support the design of potential models of care.  

• Those who had experienced an online consultation for acute hospital services reported positive 

experiences on the whole and were very supportive of this method of care. 

• Whilst most patients are generally willing to use virtual appointments, it is only the preferred 

method for a minority. 

• On the whole, telephone calls are usually more acceptable than video calls.   

 

 
 Figure 10.21 Reponses to Humber Primary Care survey - preferred method of access 308 

 

 
308 Humber CCGs (Dec 2020) Primary Care Response to COVID-19 Engagement Report Primary Care Report (p.20) 

Page 376

https://northlincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/202012-primary-care-response-to-covid-19-engagement-report-vs.-1.4.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

319 
  

 
 Figure 10.22 Patients' preferred method of follow-up care (Oncology) 309 

Maternity service users demonstrated a much stronger preference for face-to-face appointments for 

their pre- and post-natal care and did not want to see the continuation of virtual appointments that had 

taken place during the pandemic. This is consistent with feedback from staff where home visits or seeing 

the mother and baby together physically in person can alert to various factors that need to be explored 

further.  

In most cases (with the exception of maternity services), stakeholders were supportive of increasing the 

use of virtual consultations, where appropriate mitigations and support could be put in place. For 

example, some suggested providing video conferencing facilities in GP surgeries and community 

hospitals to provide supported access to specialists and reduce the need for patients to travel long 

distances to hospital sites. Through the What Matters to You? focus group discussions, a range of 

stakeholders noted the need to maintain patient choice and alternative methods of access to avoid 

widening health inequalities through digital exclusion (detailed in section 1.4.2.5) of those without the 

means or skills to access services digitally.310 

 

 
309 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (October 2020) Review of temporary changes to Oncology 
Services Oncology Feedback Report (p.28) 
310 Humber, Coast and Vale Health and Care Partnership (May 2021) What Matters to You: public, staff and 
stakeholder engagement feedback report What Matters to You (p.42) 

Page 377

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9ca1ae03-2ff0-4e3b-b72a-5abe12497c27/Oncology%20Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

320 
  

 

  

The insights gathered through engagement with current and potential future patients across the 

Humber region highlighted a number of really important factors that have influenced the 

development of potential models of care: 

• We need to improve our hospital buildings and consider how we can provide better 

environments for patients and staff. 

o When opportunities become available to develop new facilities, we should seek to 

involve end-users in their design to ensure they are as accessible as possible this. 

• In designing the future shape of hospital services we should seek to radically improve our 

digital offer but ensure non-digital options remain for those who need them. 

o Work ‘behind the scenes’ to connect services and clinical teams could reduce the 

burden on patients of having to travel. 

o Patients expect record sharing as standard and for their journey between different 

services to be seamless. 

o Many patients want to have more convenient services and a more customer-

focused approach offering a choice of appointment times, virtual appointments, 

text reminders and live waiting time information. 

• Consideration must be given to digital exclusion and plans put in place to address its 

impacts. 

o Stakeholders, particularly elected representatives and our Citizen’s Panel stressed 

the need to ensure the increased use of digital supports more people to access care 

and doesn’t exclude those unable to get online.  

o The reasons for digital exclusion are multifaceted and therefore a multifaceted 

approach to addressing this will be important.  

Where changes can be made now, these have been considered by operational teams within both 

trusts. These ideas and insights will also be considered as part of any plans for implementation that 

may be drawn up following decision-making on the future models. 

Page 378



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

321 
  

10.11  Key Findings – Staff Engagement 

Throughout our pre-consultation engagement we have engaged with and listened to over 3,000 

members of staff, through a variety of methods including workshops, focus groups, question and answer 

sessions, briefings, newsletters and surveys. This process of engagement is described in section 10.3.2.1. 

Some of the key findings and how they have influenced the development of potential models of care 

include the following: 

A healthy work/life balance and making a difference to patients is the thing that matters most to our 

staff. Consistently through our engagement we have heard from staff that they are values-driven and 

want to do the best for their patients and service-users. Many of the areas identified for improvements 

involve the removal of barriers that prevent staff from providing the care they want to give, most 

notably work pressures due to vacancies.  

  
 Figure 10.23 Staff What Matters to You? survey 

• Staff were asked what the one thing was the HAS programme had to get right for them. 37% 

said ‘Workforce’, in particular improving staff morale and communication, addressing staffing 

levels, and better HR and wellbeing support. 

• The barriers faced with shift patterns and childcare were also raised throughout ongoing staff 

engagement.  

• The cost of travel for staff if their base were to change, especially as the country is experiencing 

a cost-of-living crisis, was raised by staff members who attended our drop-in sessions in late 

2022.  

Staffing levels and how any future models of care will be adequately staffed, continued to be a key 

theme throughout engagement with staff. There is also some scepticism amongst those we have 

engaged with about whether changes will actually happen due to the current pressures faced by the 

NHS.  

Our workforce wants to work differently and try new approaches. We have held many workshops with 

different staffing groups, and all have ideas on how new roles and new ways of working could improve 

patient care and support a different workforce model for the future.  Allied Health Professionals, in 

Page 379



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

322 
  

particular, have a wealth of ideas on how their skills could be utilised to greater effect as part of 

multidisciplinary teams to streamline pathways and help address shortages of specialist staff in some 

service areas.  

• Staff feel more could be done to maximise the potential of new roles. 

  
Figure 10.24 Joint Consultants Conference feedback 

• The opportunities identified through our engagement include – maximising new roles could 

increase productivity and efficiency within teams, help to incentivise staff to stay as there 

would be more career development opportunities. Using the skills and expertise of ACP’s and 

specialist nurses would allow consultants to have more capacity to see and treat more complex 

patients.  

• At the drop-in sessions held in late 2022, staff identified that they wanted to see increased 

training and career development opportunities including bursaries and rotations (including 

working in the community) and explore the potential for better integration with primary care, 

mental health and community services. 

• Barriers identified include – HR processes take too long, lack of funding, time and capacity for 

training is limited due to staffing levels, workload and operational pressures, morale amongst 

staff is also low so willingness to take on additional responsibilities or skills could be limited. 

The desire to get further engaged and to have their ideas listened to, and to have the skills to make 

their service improvement ideas happen, consistently came through in the engagement undertaken 

with staff. This process of listening will continue throughout the consultation, as we recognise that by 

listening to our teams we can develop not only the best clinical pathways but also create conditions for 

our staff and teams to thrive 

 

8

34

24

14

Yes Could do more Could do a lot more No not at all

Page 380



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

323 
  

 
  

The insights gathered through engagement with current staff across the Humber hospitals 

highlighted a number of really important factors that have influenced the development of potential 

models of care: 

• Models of care for the future need to address workforce levels and support a better work-

life balance. 

o Greater focus on flexible, family friendly / agile working to support staff members 

with young families/caring responsibilities. 

o Increased training and career development opportunities which will help improve 

retention and recruitment. 

o Realistic workloads with opportunities to take annual leave and breaks.  

o Realistic workloads to allow staff time to provide high quality care and spend time 

with patients. 

• Models of care for the future need to support collaborative working.  

o Provide an environment that allows for collaborative working and supports teams to 

work together towards a common goal. 

o Single Humber teams that share training, expertise and resources.  

• The process taken to make decisions about and implement change needs to ensure staff 

feel respected and valued with strong support from management.  

o Visible managers who listen to staff and engage in honest communication with 

teams.  

o Empowering staff so they feel valued, respected and appreciated for work 

completed. 

The proposals within this business case have been developed by clinical teams with significant input 

from staff and partners. Throughout the change programme, engagement with staff and teams will 

continue to be prioritised to ensure the people delivering care across our hospitals have an 

opportunity to shape the future of those services.  

 

Page 381



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

324 
  

10.12 Key Findings – Planned Care 

An extensive programme and engagement and involvement with the public, patients and clinicians was 

undertaken to support the development of a future direction for planned care services.  

Some of the key findings and how they have influenced the development of potential models for 

planned care include the following: 

• Compassionate and caring staff were the most common reason for a positive experience of 

care. 

The most common reason given by patients and their families for a positive experience was 

linked to the staff providing the care. Almost half of all the responses provided to the question – 

what was the best thing about your experience? – mentioned the staff providing the care (see 

What Matters to You? survey).  Respondents highlighted how they felt listened to and 

supported throughout their treatment and care. 

• Being seen and treated quickly is most important (to the general public). 

When asked what was most important to them in terms of their hospital care, overall, 

respondents to the What Matters to You survey said that being seen and treated quickly was 

most important. This is perhaps unsurprising in the context of record waiting times within our 

area and across the country for planned care.   

• Accessibility of services – in the broadest sense – matters. 

Whilst participants in the What Matters to You survey undertaken in 2021, ranked travel and 

accessibility low (it consistently ranked 7 out of 9) compared with other factors such as being 

seen and treated quickly and being kept safe, when asked what could improve their experience 

of care a large proportion of responses were linked to peoples’ experiences of travel and 

accessing care (12% of responses). The majority of respondents highlighted areas to do with 

practicalities of getting to appointments rather than the distance from their home. For example, 

not having enough car parking spaces created added stress at an already difficult time and the 

size and layout of hospital sites made it difficult, confusing and stressful getting themselves or 

their loved one from the car park to the part of the hospital they need to be in.  

In the targeted engagement undertaken with people with protected characteristics, the broad 

range of issues that need to be considered in relation to accessibility was also highlighted. In 

particular, the need to consider wider family, carers and support systems when making changes, 

and the importance of considering the availability of transport options even for things that are 

‘close to home’ (close to home doesn’t always mean easy to get to).311  

• Communication, particularly between different parts of the NHS, needs to improve. 

The impact of poor communication and disjointed services on people’s experience of services 

and, sometimes, their outcomes were also highlighted through the What Matters to You? 

feedback report. For example, respondents noted that “communication between GP surgeries 

and the hospital needs to be improved upon.” 

 
311 Humber and Wolds Rural Action (March 2020) Humber Acute Services Review Targeted Engagement Report 
HWRA Engagement Report 

Page 382

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Humber-and-Wolds-Rural-Action-Targeted-Engagement-Report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

325 
  

In addition to engagement undertaken through the What Matters to You? survey, a number of other 

sources of feedback and/or insight helped to shape the potential models and high-level concepts for 

planned care. This includes: 

• Targeted engagement undertaken to support the programme (as set out in section 3.2.2). 

• Survey on virtual outpatient appointments undertaken by HCV outpatient transformation 

programme (2778 participants). 

• Healthwatch hospital survey (136 responses). 

• Specialty-specific surveys undertaken to gather views from current or recent patients and staff 

using or working within specific specialties where temporary service changes had been made, 

namely: Urology, Ear, Nose and Throat services, Oncology and Haematology (524 responses). 

• Focus groups undertaken through programme as part of the early engagement to gather views 

from current or recent patients of a number of specific specialties, namely: Neurology, 

Cardiology, Critical Care, Complex Rehabilitation and Stroke (77 participants). 

The feedback reports for each of these engagement activities are included in the document library. 

Some key findings that have influenced the development of potential models of care for planned care 

include: 

• On the whole, there is willingness to travel for care where it is necessary (i.e. the benefits are 

significant and well understood) and well-supported (i.e. appointment times are sensible and 

car parking is available).  

A willingness to travel further for specialist care, in particular, was highlighted by participants in 

a number of engagement exercises. For example, during the focus groups undertaken in the 

early stages of the programme participants said they were happy to travel to the best place for 

specialist treatment – “we don’t mind travelling to Hull from where we live in Cleethorpes if we 

get good treatment” – but were concerned about transport being available for all.  

Transport and access were discussed by most groups and participants shared stories about the 

challenges they have faced in terms of physically getting to appointments and accessing 

treatment and care. Often the access issues were not linked to the overall distance to travel, but 

with things that affect the experience of travelling and ability to access care when arriving at the 

venue. For example:  

o Is it easy to find a car parking space when you arrive, and will it be anywhere near the 

venue for your appointment? 

o Does the venue have a bus shelter with comfortable seats and information about the 

wait times for the next service? 

o If you are taking a poorly relative to an appointment, is there somewhere you can drop 

them off and someone you can leave them with while you go and park the car if they 

are not well enough to get themselves to where they need to go?  

Participants were almost unanimous in their views that all of these access issues should be 

considered when looking at transport and access, not just overall distances between sites. 

Similar views were expressed in later workshops and Citizen’s Panel meetings regarding wider 

aspects of accessibility.  

Interim findings from the hospital survey undertaken by Healthwatch across the Humber (Nov 

2021 to March 2022) suggest that local people are more willing to travel for one-off treatments 

than for regular, ongoing care.  

Page 383

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

326 
  

 
 Figure 10.25 Healthwatch findings - willingness to travel 

• The majority of those who have experienced virtual appointments found them beneficial.  

To support the introduction of virtual (video) consultations implemented in response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic in Spring/Summer 2020, the acute trusts across Humber and North 

Yorkshire gathered feedback from patients who had used virtual outpatient appointments 

during the COVID-19 pandemic. Feedback from those using the service was largely positive with 

89% of patients who had attended a virtual appointment at NLaG saying they would 

recommend video consultations to friends and family. 

It is important to note that maternity service users gave a very different view in relation to this 

question and in general were not supportive of virtual consultations (see section 10.13). 

In early engagement work undertaken prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, a number of 

participants expressed a desire for more virtual or remote appointments. This was particularly 

relevant to people with long-term conditions who were required to travel long distances to 

attend regular check-up appointments. Many of them expressed a view that they were wasting 

their own time and their consultants’ time by travelling to a routine appointment that could be 

conducted online or over the phone.  

 

18

28

13

7

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

For regular appointments (e.g. a course of
chemotherapy/radiotherapy or regular check-ups)

For a one-off appointment (e.g. a planned operation
or a diagnostic scan)

Would you be willing to travel to another hospital if it meant you could be 
seen more quickly?

Yes No

Page 384



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

327 
  

  

The insights gathered through engagement with current and potential future patients of planned 

care across the Humber region highlighted a number of really important factors that have 

influenced the development of potential models of care for planned care services in the future: 

• Models of care for the future need to ensure staff have time to care. 

o Potential models of care for planned care have been designed to make the best use 

of the skills, talents and experience of the workforce, including those who will 

make up the workforce of the future.  

o The creation of dedicated facilities for planned care (not impacted by surges in 

demand for urgent care) should help to respond to this. 

• Models of care for the future need to be integrated across primary, secondary and 

community care. 

o To respond to the priorities identified by patients in their feedback, the potential 

future models of care seek to provide seamless care for patients irrespective of 

whether they are being seen by a GP, a social worker, a consultant, a therapist, a 

nurse or any other health and care professional.  

o We must take the opportunity we have through this programme to build in 

effective communications from the outset as a fundamentally important part of 

providing good quality healthcare.  

• Models of care for the future need to be accessible. 

o Whilst distance to care clearly does matter to our patients, it is also clear from the 

feedback that accessibility is about much more than distance from A to B.  

o It is important that future models of care consider all aspects of travel and 

accessibility and seek to provide as much care as is possible at or close to home. 

When patients do have to travel, we should make that experience less complicated 

and stressful than it is today. 

The insights and ideas gathered from patients and the public have been used alongside extensive 

data modelling and learning from elsewhere to guide the development of potential models for 

planned care. The overarching future vision seeks to provide more responsive care, streamline 

diagnosis and treatment pathways, reduce waiting times, reduce unnecessary travel and improve 

the overall quality of care for patients.  

 

Page 385



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

328 
  

10.13 Key Findings – Your Birthing Choices 

We co-designed a programme of engagement with local Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVPs) to 

understand what is important to women and birthing people, birthing partners and support people 

when choosing where to give birth (see section 10.3.5.2.2),. Full details of the approach taken and 

findings from the engagement are set out in the Your Birthing Choices – Feedback Report, which 

contains over 100 pages of data and analysis.312 

A very brief snapshot of some of the key findings and how they have influenced the development of 

potential models for maternity and neonatal care is provided below: 

• Alongside Midwifery-led Units (MLU) were the most popular option overall, but not 

everyone’s first choice.  

85.6% of respondents overall (85.9% of Humber respondents) said they would choose to give 

birth at an Alongside Midwifery-led Unit (MLU). Most of the comments explaining this choice 

identified safety as the key factor and stated that an alongside unit feels a safer option with 

additional support close by if needed.  

When all preference were taken into account, alongside midwifery units were the most popular 

option overall, however, the most commonly selected first choice overall was a Hospital 

Maternity Unit (38.3%), followed by Alongside MLU (28.7%) then birth at home (21.3%) with 

Standalone MLU being the least popular first choice (selected by 11.4% of respondents).  

For women from North and North East Lincolnshire, a Hospital Maternity Unit was the most 

popular choice overall. 

 
 Figure 10.26 Overall birthing preferences (YBC survey) 

• Preferences were not uniform across the different geographical areas and views on 

standalone midwifery units were equivocal.  

Overall respondents in North and North East Lincolnshire showed a stronger preference for 

giving birth at a Hospital Maternity Unit, followed by Alongside MLU, whereas for Hull and East 

Riding an Alongside MLU was more popular overall.  

 
312 Humber and North Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership (June 2022) Hospital Services for the future – Your 
Birthing Choices Feedback Report Your Birthing Choices Report 

Page 386

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/73f6f316-286f-4330-a193-f9dcd279898d/YBC%20Feedback%20Report_WORKING%20COPY_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

329 
  

 
 Figure 10.27 Birthing preferences by local authority area 

When asked whether they would consider giving birth in a Standalone MLU, around half to two 

thirds of respondents said no, and results varied appreciably by area. The idea of birthing at a 

standalone MLU was least popular amongst women from East Riding, the only area within the 

Humber to previously have had such a facility.  

 
 Figure 10.28 Views on standalone midwifery-led units by local authority area 

• The facilities and services available were comparatively more important than the physical 

environment and location when making decisions about where to give birth. 

When looking at the weighted average of responses, the most important factor in determining 

where to give birth was the availability of facilities for birthing partners to stay in the same 

room. 

The availability of neonatal care was also a very important factor, ranked second most 

important overall and receiving the highest number of first choices. 70.5% of respondents said 

that if neonatal care was not available on the same site it would influence where they would 

choose to give birth. For respondents from North and North East Lincolnshire this figure was 

76.7%.  

Location and proximity to home was ranked second to last in the list of factors considered when 

making decisions about where to give birth (it was selected by just 2% of respondents as the 

most important factor in influencing where to give birth).  

 
Yes   No 

If you were able, would you choose to give birth at a Standalone MLU? 

Page 387



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

330 
  

 
 Figure 10.29 Influencing factors when choosing where to give birth 

The views of women and birthing people on what they felt was an acceptable distance to travel 

to give birth varied quite significantly by area. Those living in the more rural areas of North 

Lincolnshire, Lincolnshire County and East Riding were, on average, prepared to travel further 

than respondents from North East Lincolnshire and Hull.  

 
 Figure 10.30 Current travel distances for maternity service-users (self-reported) 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

0-5 Miles 5-10 Miles 10-15 Miles 15-20 Miles 20-30 Miles 30-40 Miles 50 Miles+

How far do you currently travel?

Hull East Riding of Yorkshire North East Lincolnshire North Lincolnshire

Page 388



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

331 
  

 

 

 Figure 10.31 Preferred future travel distances for maternity service-users 

Across all geographies, the travel distance people deemed to be acceptable was, on average, 

further than their current stated travel distance. However, it is important to note that over 50% 

of all respondents stated that their current travel distance was 0-5 miles. Fewer than 10% of 

respondents currently travel 20 miles or more and only 7.5% thought that travelling 20 miles or 

more was an acceptable distance. 

• Safety was comparatively more important to maternity service-users than the public as a 

whole. 

In answering the question What Matters to You? respondents to the Birthing Choices survey 

ranked “I am kept safe and well looked after” as the most important factor to them. In wider 

responses to the What Matters to You survey (see 10.4.2.1), this criterion has consistently 

scored highly (either second or third place for most population cohorts), but it was 

comparatively more important to maternity service users.  

The theme of safety came through strongly throughout the engagement exercise. For example, 

the biggest concern amongst respondents about giving birth in a midwife-led setting (including 

at home) was the potential risk to mother and baby if complications arise during labour.  

Working collaboratively with the Maternity Voices Partnership group and Local Maternity System across 

Humber and North Yorkshire has also provided a wealth of other insight, which has been drawn upon to 

support development of potential models of care for maternity and neonatal services. This includes a 

number of surveys carried out by the MVP network from 2019 to 2021, which gathered views from over 

1800 women and birthing people in total on a range of topics. The feedback reports for each of these 

engagement activities are included in the engagement evidence pack. Some key findings that have 

influenced the development of potential models of care for maternity services include: 

• Maternity service-users show a strong preference for face-to-face interaction. 

Engagement undertaken to seeking views of women and birthing people about their 

experiences of virtual appointments for both pre- and post-natal appointments (put in place in 

response to COVID-19), demonstrated a strong preference for face-to-face interaction. More 

than 60% of respondents would not be happy with a phone/video appointment for the 16-week 

midwife appointment and more than 80% of respondents prefer to see both their midwife and 

consultant (where applicable) in person. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

0-5 Miles 5-10 Miles 10-15 Miles 15-20 Miles 20-30 Miles 30-40 Miles 50 Miles+ None of the
above

How far are you prepared to travel?

Hull East Riding North East Lincolnshire North Lincolnshire

Page 389



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

332 
  

• There is strong support for ‘Continuity of Carer’ amongst women who have experienced this 

model of care 

Responses to an MVP survey seeking views on the introduction of Continuity of Carer (CofC) 

models across the region demonstrated an improvement in birthing women and peoples’ 

experiences of care when supported by CofC teams. Whilst not seen as necessary by many 

people, women who knew a midwife present during labour and birth were comparatively 

happier with their experience. 

  

The insights gathered through engagement with women and birthing people across the Humber 

region highlighted a number of really important factors that have influenced the development of 

potential models of care for maternity and neonatal services in the future: 

• Models of care for the future should prioritise safety 

o The ability of the models to deliver safe care is a key factor within the evaluation of 

the models of care and clinical input has focused on the question of safety when 

developing the models. 

• Models of care for the future should seek to maximise the opportunities for women and 

birthing people to exercise informed choice 

o preferences are varied both between and within geographies, therefore it is 

important that wherever possible opportunities to make choices about where to give 

birth are available and women and birthing people have the information they need to 

make informed decisions about what is best for them. 

• Models of care for the future should consider how to provide midwifery-led services and 

environments  

o Alongside MLUs were a popular choice and are not currently available to many 

women and birthing people in the region. Many women described this as their 

preferred option because it was seen as safer as it is close to specialist care if 

complications arise, yet more relaxed and less clinical than a traditional hospital 

labour unit. 

o In response to the Your Birthing Choices feedback, midwifery-led units (both 

alongside and standalone) were considered for inclusion in the potential models of 

care. Different ways to deliver this type of care will be considered through the 

consultation depending on availability of capital investment for development of 

facilities.  

• Models of care for the future need to give clear information and explanations about the 

provision of neonatal care  

o Service-users were very clear that they wanted information about the provision of 

neonatal care to enable them to make choices about where to give birth. 

 

Page 390



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

333 
  

10.14 Citizen’s Panel Involvement 

To ensure our approach to engagement and involvement was effective and meaningful throughout, we 

recruited a Citizen’s Panel to provide oversight and assurance throughout our design process. The Panel 

was established at the beginning of the programme to provide oversight and independent assurance of 

the programme and, in particular, its approach to engagement and involvement. The Panel is made up 

of citizen’s from across the Humber – up to five from each local authority area – who represent a wide 

range of stakeholders, patient and public groups, including local voluntary organisations and community 

groups.  

When the panel was established, the four Humber Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were 

responsible for recruiting four members each from their respective geographical areas to sit on the 

Citizen’s Panel and represent the voices of their communities.  Humber Wolds Rural Action were 

responsible for recruiting a number of panel members with protected characteristics as part of their 

targeted engagement work (see section 3.2.2) undertaken early in the programme. This was to ensure 

that a broad range of views and perspectives were able to inform and influence the development of 

potential models of care.  

Initially, this approach did not result in a full complement of panel members and the Humber Acute 

Services Programme team had to re-recruit a number of times subsequently. As of November 2021 the 

Citizen’s Panel had the following representation: 

Area / Represented Group Number of Panel Members 

North Lincolnshire  3 

North East Lincolnshire 4 

Hull 2 

East Riding of Yorkshire 4 

Protected Characteristics / Health 

Inclusion groups  

3 (Carers, BAME and people with learning disabilities) 

CCG Lay Member  1 (North Lincolnshire) 

Total Number 17 

Table 10.19 Citizen's Panel membership 

In addition to the geographical spread across the Humber area, the Panel includes representatives of 

the following specific stakeholder groups: 

• Carers 

• People with long-term conditions 

• Children and young people (including those with disabilities and/or long-term conditions) 

• Deprived communities 

• People from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds  

Panel members have been engaged throughout the programme to support in the design of engagement 

materials and communication resources – ensuring information is presented in a meaningful way to 

members of the public and free from jargon. In addition, they have been involved in early stages of 

evaluation and worked with us to test our approach to the development of the potential models of care.  

 

Page 391



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

334 
  

Meeting Date Location Purpose 

12th Dec 2018 Barton Upon Humber Outlined aims and ambitions of the programme  

Understanding the role of the panel 

20th March 2019 Barton Upon Humber Evaluation of patient involvement events  

Co-produced feedback report  

Development of decision-making criteria  

24th July 2019 Hessle Evaluation of targeted engagement feedback report 

Speciality Discussions  

Co-produced public-facing documentation 

21st Nov 2019 Hessle Feedback on Case for Change  

13th March 2020 Hessle Evaluation of potential models (Interim Options Report) 

9th July 2020 Virtual  Briefing on current position and impact of COVID-19 

29th Oct 2020 Virtual Co-produced public-facing documentation  

18th Feb 2021 Virtual Development of Decision-making criteria 

What Matters to You (co-produced workshop approach) 

22nd Sept 2021 Virtual Co-produced public-facing documentation 

16th & 17th March 

2022 

Brigg and Willerby 

(option for virtual) 

Balanced room evaluation workshops 

11th October 2022 Humberside Airport Co-production workshop – Integrated Impact Assessment 

Table 10.20 Overview of Citizen's Panel involvement 

The Citizen’s Panel has provided invaluable insight into the needs and ambitions of our populations and 

helped to ensure the patients and service-users we serve remain at the heart of our design process. Key 

documents from the Citizen’s Panel involvement are provided within the document library.  

 

 

Page 392

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/programme-documents/


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

335 
  

10.15 Engagement Timeline 

The table below provides a comprehensive overview of the engagement activities undertaken to support the 

programme and shows how stakeholders have been involved in developing and evaluating the potential models 

of care.  

 

 
Timeframe 

 
Engagement 

 
Stakeholder 

Group(s) 

 
Engagement  

method 

 
Purpose/Scope 

 
Who took 

part 

 
Link to Feedback Report  

 

Mar - Sept 
2018 

Issues Paper Public, staff Survey To start a conversation about the issues 
and challenges facing the acute 

hospitals across the Humber. 

393 
responses 

Issues paper feedback report 

 

Mar - April 
2018 

 

Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committees 

Elected 
Members – East 

Riding of 
Yorkshire, Hull, 

North East 
Lincolnshire, 

North 
Lincolnshire 

Councils 

Meeting  Outline briefing to Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees on the 

forthcoming review of acute hospital 
services in the Humber area 

37 
attendees 

 
 

Sep 2018 Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committees 

Elected 
Members – East 

Riding of 
Yorkshire, Hull, 

North East 
Lincolnshire, 

North 
Lincolnshire 

Councils 

Meeting  Briefing to Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees on the 

forthcoming review of acute hospital 
services in the Humber area 

N/A  

Oct 2018 - 
Apr 2019 

Focus Groups – five 
specialties 

Public, patients Focus Group 
x8 

Deliberative focus groups to support 
the development of change plans 

focusing on five specialties: Cardiology; 

119  
participants 

Speciality Focus Group – Feedback Report 

Key 

 Clinical, Staff, and Partner engagement  

 Public, Patient, and service-user engagement  

 Wider Stakeholder involvement  

P
age 393

https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/43
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c14dbb4d-eb80-4c8b-841b-bb714a592a02/Focus-Groups-Feedback-Report_final.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

336 
  

Complex rehabilitation; Critical Care; 
Neurology; Stroke. 

(Across 8 
events) 

Dec 2018 Citizen’s Panel Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting  First Meeting - The Citizen’s Panel will 
act independently to provide critique, 

support, and advice to ensure the views 
of patients and the public are 

considered throughout all stages of the 
Humber Acute Services Review. 

14  
members 
recruited 

 

 

Jan - Oct 2019 
 

Targeted 
Engagement 

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

Focus group 
(x18) 

Humber and Wolds Rural Action 
commissioned to undertake a series of 

targeted engagement activities with 
hard-to-reach groups/communities to 

understand the impact changes to 
services may have. 

192  
participants 

Humber and Wolds Rural Action - Targeted 
Engagement Feedback Report 

Mar 2019 Citizen’s Panel Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting  To support developing the wording of 
the HASR decision making criteria and 
evaluate patient involvement events 
providing insight on how they can be 

improved for the future.  

N/A Feedback on Decision-Making Criteria 

March 2019 
(10th) 

Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

East Riding of 
Yorkshire 
Council 

Meeting  Briefing to the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the forthcoming 
review of acute hospital services in the 

Humber area 

N/A  

Jul 2019 
(9th) 

Citizen’s Panel Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting  To review last meeting, consider the 
clinical senate report, and consider next 

steps. 

N/A  

23 Aug 2019 Maternity, 
Neonatal and 

Paediatrics 

Clinical Staff Workshop Workshop to establish potential models 
of care for Maternity, Neonatal and 

Paediatric care. 

23 
participants 

 

3 Sep 2019 Urgent and 
Emergency Care,  

Planned Care 
Maternity and 

Paediatrics 

CCG’s, Acute 
Trust Leads, 
Primary Care 
Leads (clinical 

and 
operational) 

Workshop Clinical Design Workshop to generate a 
longlist of potential models of care 

 

15 
participants 

 

P
age 394

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/1ef6ce20-6fbf-43ab-94aa-59069ee61dc0/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/1ef6ce20-6fbf-43ab-94aa-59069ee61dc0/HWRA-Targeted-Engagement-report_final_11.02.20.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-%E2%80%93-Feedback-on-Decision-Making-Criteria-March-2019.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

337 
  

Oct 2019 
(9th, 11th, 16th) 

Urgent & 
Emergency Care 
Maternity and 
Paediatrics and 
Planned Care   

Clinical Staff Workshop Clinical Design Workshop to longlist the 
potential models of care 

 
 

15 
participants 

 

Oct to Nov 
2019 

Workshops – core 
hospital services 

Public 
Patients 

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

Workshops 
x7 

Workshops undertaken to gather 
patient and public feedback on long-list 

of models for core hospital services: 
Urgent and emergency care; Maternity 

and paediatrics 
Planned Care 

77 
participants 

 

Hospital Services for the Future – Patient 
Workshop – Feedback Report 

 Oct 2019 

(10th) 

Maternity, 
Neonates & 
Paediatrics 

Clinical Staff Workshop Workshop to establish potential models 
of care 

 

c24 
participants 

 

 

21 Nov 2019 
 

Citizen’s Panel Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting  Feedback on Case for Change N/A Citizen’s Panel Feedback on Case for Change and 
Interim Options 

Nov 2019 
(13th & 14th) 

Clinical 
Engagement 

Clinical Staff Workshops 
x2 

Further engagement on the longlist for 
potential models. 

 

39 
participants 

Interim Options Report   

Dec 2019 
 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care, 

Planned Care, 
Maternity, 

Neonates and 
Paediatrics 

HAS models 
evaluation 

Clinical Staff  

Workshop HUTH/NLaG/CCGs 

 

c30 
participants 

Interim Options Report   

Jan 2020 
(8th, 9th) 

 

Planned Care 
workshops x 2 

Service Model 
Development Part 

2 

Speciality Leads 

 

Workshops 
x2 

To develop outline ideas through 
workshops and targeted engagement 

with speciality leads 

27 
participants 

 

P
age 395

https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/48
https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/48
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-%E2%80%93-Feedback-on-Case-for-Change-and-Interim-Options-November-2019.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-%E2%80%93-Feedback-on-Case-for-Change-and-Interim-Options-November-2019.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Interim-Options-Report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

338 
  

12 Feb 2020 
 

Clinical Design 
Group 

Planned Care 

Clinicians Workshop Reviewing Clinical Co-Dependency of 
Acute Services and Assessment against 

the Evaluation Criteria   

15 
participants 

 

13 March 
2020 

Citizen’s Panel Public, 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting Provide feedback on the different 
options from the perspective of access 

and experience 
 

N/A Citizen’s Panel Feedback on Options Development 
 

9 July 2020 Citizen’s Panel Public, 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting Feedback session to update members 
on current position of review and 

apprise them of the work undertaken 
during Covid-19. 

N/A  

July to Aug 
2020 

Accident and 
Emergency Survey  

Public, 
Patients 

Survey  Online survey undertaken through the 
Humber, Coast and Vale Partnership to 
understand behaviours, attitudes and 
barriers to using alternatives to A&E 

across the region. 

2008 
responses  

Accident & Emergency- Feedback Report (Full)  
 

Accident & Emergency – Summary Feedback 
Report 

18 Sep 2020 
 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Defining the 
models of care, 

workshop 1 

NLAG/HUTH: 
Medical 

Directors, 
Clinicians, 

Nursing Leads,  
CCG’s 

Other Partners, 
Ambulance 
Providers 

Workshop To define list of models of care. 
 6 proposed models were presented 

including 4 variations of a warm model 

41 
participants 

 

24 Sep 2020 
 

Maternity, 
Neonatal and 

Paediatric Care 

Workshop 1 

Clinicians, 
Department 

Leads, 
Nursing Leads 

Workshop To set the framework for the modelling 
of the next stages of a reduced number 
of options for Maternity, Neonates and 

Paediatrics 

30 
participants 

 

Sep – Oct 
2020 

Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Elected 
Members – East 

Riding of 
Yorkshire, Hull, 

North East 

Meeting Provide members with an update on 
the progress of the Humber Acute 

Services Programme 

N/A  

P
age 396

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-%E2%80%93-Feedback-on-Options-Development-March-2020.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/7110d85a-ec54-4913-af1e-773c090aab5d/ae-feedback-report-2020-final-draft.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Accident-Emergency-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Accident-Emergency-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

339 
  

Lincolnshire, 
North 

Lincolnshire 
Councils 

29 Oct 2020 Citizen’s Panel Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting Developing public facing information; 
Review and update Terms of Reference 

N/A  

November 
2020 

Stage 1: Yorkshire 
and Humber 

Clinical Senate 
Review  

Yorkshire and 
Humber Clinical 

Senate 

Independent 
Expert Review 

Independent review of Case for Change 
and early options development by 

Clinical Senate 

N/A Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate Review 
Report 

16 Dec 2020 
 

Your Birthing 
Choices Working 

Group  

Maternity 
Voices 

Partnerships 
Chairs 

Focus Group Initial meeting to begin developing our 
approach to engagement with women 

and birthing people.  

6 
participants 

 

29 Jan 2021 
 

Your Birthing 
Choices 

Working Group 

Maternity 
Voices 

Partnerships 
Chairs 

Focus Group To co-produce engagement materials 
including questionnaire, animation, 

digital artwork and social media posts 

N/A  

25 Feb 2021 
 

Maternity, 
Neonatal and 

Paediatric Care 
Workshop 2 

Clinicians, 
Department 

Leads, 
Nursing Leads 

Workshop To consider how Maternity, Neonatal 
and Paediatric Services will look in 5-10 
years’ time and what that will mean for 

patients and staff 

45 
participants 

 

26 Feb 2021 
 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Defining the 
models of care, 

workshop 2 

NLAG/HUTH –  
Clinicians, 

CCG’s, Other 
partners, 

Workforce,  
Ambulance 

trusts 

Workshop To define list of models of care with 
relevant people together supported by 

initial assessment of the 3 proposed 
models 

62 
participants 

 

Feb 2021 Citizen’s Panel – 
What Matters to 

You 

Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Meeting  Development of Decision-Making 
Criteria  

N/A What Matters to You - Feedback Report (Full) 
 

P
age 397

http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20-%20Humber%20Acute%20Services%20-%20November%202020.pdf
http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20-%20Humber%20Acute%20Services%20-%20November%202020.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

340 
  

Feb to May 
2021 

What Matters to 
You 

Patients, Staff, 
public 

Workshops – 
Citizen’s Panel, 

Councillors, 
Trust 

Governors, 
Non-Exec 
Directors. 

Survey and  
Workshop 

x6 

Engagement exercise undertaken to 
gather the views and perspectives of a 

range of stakeholders to enable 
decision-making within the programme 
to reflect the priorities and preferences 
of local people. The engagement took 

the form of an online survey and a 
series of focus groups. 

3946 
participants 
(3883 survey 
responses. 

63 workshop 
participants) 

What Matters to You - Feedback Report (Full) 
 

What Matters to You – Executive Summary 

 

Mar 2021 Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Elected 
Members – East 

Riding of 
Yorkshire, Hull, 

North East 
Lincolnshire 

Councils  

Meeting  Briefing on the forthcoming review of 
acute hospital services in the Humber 

area 

N/A  

18 Mar 2021  Planned Care 
Workshop - ENT, 

Orthopaedics, 
General Surgery, 

Urology 

CCG 
Clinicians 

CCG  
Other partners 

Nurse leads 

Workshop Develop potential models of planned 
care 

 

42 
participants 

 
 

May to July 
2021 

Your Birthing 
Choices 

 

Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Survey and 
Focus Group 

x9 

To support the development of options 
for maternity and neonatal care in the 

Humber and North Yorkshire area. 

1136  
(1133 survey 
responses. 

3 Focus 
Group 

participants) 
 

Your Birthing Choices - Feedback Report (Full) 
 

Your Birthing Choices – Executive Summary 
 

17 June 2021 
 

Planned Care  
Gastroenterology 

CCGs, 
Clinicians, 

Other partners 
Nurse leads 

Workshop Determine potential models for Planned 
Care 

 

43 
participants 

 

22 June 2021 
 

Chief Executive’s 
Question Time 

Clinical Staff Q&A Online Question and Answer Session for 
Staff members with NLaG’s Chief 

Executive 

38 
participants 

 

25 June 2021 
 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Clinicians, CCGs, 
other partners  

Workshop To undertake an independent 
assessment of the shortlisted options 

6 
participants 

Independent Review – summary feedback 

P
age 398

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/a55d3d89-9923-4908-96df-062073d99920/MASTER%20COPY%20-%20WMTY%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/4a49ff95-e86a-4934-b8b1-b64f51a41c1f/What%20Matters%20to%20You%20-%20Exec%20Summary%20-%20final.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/73f6f316-286f-4330-a193-f9dcd279898d/YBC%20Feedback%20Report_WORKING%20COPY_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/67d620b7-889a-4195-ad0a-1d578a6f1bb7/YBC%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

341 
  

Independent 
Clinical review  

and advise on any clinical risks or safety 
concerns. To identify potential new 
ways of working that will improve 

outcomes. To provide advice/assurance 
on the planned activity shift into the 

community and primary care 

June – Jul 
2021 

Speciality Specific 
engagement to 
support Interim 

Clinical Plan  

Patients, clinical 
staff, admin 

staff, partners 

Survey To review temporary changes made to 
speciality services: Haematology, 

Oncology, Urology and Ear, Nose and 
Throat (ENT) and understand the 
impact the changes have had on 

patients and staff 

524 
participants 

Haematology Patient Feedback Report (Full) 

Haematology Staff Feedback Report (Full) 

Haematology Staff Feedback – Executive Summary  

Oncology Patient Feedback Report (Full) 

Oncology Staff Feedback Report (Full) 

Urology Patient Feedback Report (Full) 

Urology Patient Feedback – Executive Summary  

Urology Staff Feedback Report (Full) 

Urology Staff Feedback – Executive Summary  

Ear Nose and Throat Patient Feedback Report 
(Full) 

Ear Nose and Throat Patient Feedback – Executive 
Summary  

Ear Nose and Throat Staff Feedback Report (Full) 

Ear Nose and Throat Staff Feedback – Executive 
Summary  

 

June – Aug 
2021   

Staff Briefing 
Sessions  

Clinical staff, 
admin staff  

Drop-in  
x28  

open to all staff members to attend, to 
hear more about various aspects of the 
programme and ask any questions they 

might have had.   
  

Video views: 
1,323 
(Via 

YouTube) 
 

Session Videos:  
Programme One (Interim Clinical Plan)  

Programme Two (Core Hospital Services)  
Programme Three (Building Better Places)  
Our Engagement (What Matters To You)  

Maternity, Neonatal & Paediatric Services  
Urgent & Emergency Care  

P
age 399

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/f9a9c926-b525-4a33-9c97-805efaf6940f/Haematology%20Patient%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/f192d27d-97b5-4f90-ba62-38c94e00e86b/Haematology_Staff%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2407e940-ffcf-47e5-85e2-ed32b2dab8b9/Haematology%20(staff)%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/9ca1ae03-2ff0-4e3b-b72a-5abe12497c27/Oncology%20Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/196fd93c-020f-46d2-8202-e22580c54bb3/Oncology%20Staff%20Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b81d9e05-351a-424c-8e4b-9f055f12fa98/Urology_Patient%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/dc910a87-1295-4689-badd-ce412a0e59cf/Urology%20Patient%20Survey%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/f7ee7d33-8f98-450b-abc5-74005aa12812/Urology_Staff%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/12a32d31-6c54-4e9f-b9b6-4a22e2eb3d42/Urology%20Staff%20Survey%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/bd6f3696-8662-47cc-8258-8f7b78014ed6/ENT%20Patient%20Feedback%20Report_Temp%20Changes_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/bd6f3696-8662-47cc-8258-8f7b78014ed6/ENT%20Patient%20Feedback%20Report_Temp%20Changes_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/0cea65d9-c69f-488a-ac5f-bda7ab64a35d/ENT%20Patient%20Elective_Exec%20Summary_FINAL%20.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/0cea65d9-c69f-488a-ac5f-bda7ab64a35d/ENT%20Patient%20Elective_Exec%20Summary_FINAL%20.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2f533a5b-73c2-478d-acf1-28ec264954a0/ENT%20Staff%20Feedback%20Report_Temp%20Changes_FINAL(1).pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/104d368b-0a3b-4ecc-8a9f-abd6d29f4b7b/ENT%20(staff)%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL%20.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/104d368b-0a3b-4ecc-8a9f-abd6d29f4b7b/ENT%20(staff)%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL%20.pdf
https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7cyqjW30mSPqpx9nSvGMOoauabI%2fIvdUOl6YgrthIPs7X07kEX5f2rFjIWRXi2pXDVpA66r5UBtyl75895pr%2fxljBQqxhb5D0Yv5qN6zGA7YjwGPIvusAVCWIdJNY0AX4XRUx5nt7d%2b21aUCSX3dMRC4m1YviRuqYs%2fyXwFAkiaMrI3pfRnY%2f8b4nQ5BSElSJefrz1zamPljOZs%2fSWMV6Khm6a3uGGtoYtsdaOT7jOHlzMRWOSXqLK9AIsuuSzqDWxsyK7Q56y%2bBzSRhPmyExa2gyHFuXd3NlNUw97J55dz3OkbAP7%2fObt5ZrMvB24VbfpbRHTdM0BFsJYwwQJBiBugKvn5k%2fB50nvTio9%2fhAdZVQC73VxlEg2Jq5cb2qaGdvO9bthVQQW%2f4lB6CpPHZCk8Z8GddRzoBs2KFFAacPGkXr%2fRjzbjdLIOMrBXdcQK9SU
https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7cAbybFs%2f98ZFcnzHP7NiEvEKjTP0FRdYRjVfw9CmbnH4Em81jLLalDY%2fflJOhzVUtHwfyt4iueMUMYrbQoeHzPFmxDVWm%2bG3BMOAmDHzGw6lNSXmXFmcRQnObyDeZnd%2f2C3%2bzCe4SCPBWyBrFc3Pdsg4fpCswSOLUscVh9JR20j2yC6CHLQBnrXyEa4HO8tcXknMyThz%2fEb3F8gaYq9%2fQ6dvOJD91tQQqiW3zb%2bnMp1AMv69d%2bNcPJVXnQ1BiF%2bDe6eg3h6FKPpI9%2fJYamJnM3dK9WuL35oCgNmAJ1g0jF0EqrCfCFx%2feQc7Az6ZCx87Uy8jumm%2fCF2p3v%2b1b7nZ6auSt%2frLdGa21irVEXk6kvvPwmJ0WMOCIind%2fcNfs025p490JPhV%2fD8IIdp2m4aZkcKzVO0hQdpsX6YxA15wblpjui%2fUSoyNYiouhNtlVd26a
https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7cBlNPXqftwRyhHTVJcgCOa%2fJvv68Zc2VYce%2fULwY8Go1KdDb462U2tYgIGMd8MdJFAfcxKHr3YV6710K%2bgAdLmhkDa2lYLtanTDYxbK58hPGRspavD2urcE7uKU7pcce6zku0kdfVbaJC4xrZzR0AJTd0%2bgvVtP7Yg9LDx3lTGFGJFwg1GGS%2bx42owraZ5TfXLoktNo22%2bn0ogEhTUXJUiNuWdzN1T1GbyKNf4B02BXljGtGYmW1QE6CVeTyKkqqTn8fpYOMYGbdjhY4BY2O0SfvoKrLzBcISW9KppSOzXDXDYAs%2f%2bxdOIjyH%2fWeTi0Ruy8JSGtE8mn1kxgY%2fzV0%2boWej3jOtBBtkRqPxP0kQ4wbTiXfb7GXf%2baM0GTnK0Pyz5YtJ76ecgCLzuIwlpgYtCrgnAlCDtNxmd0xzJlcIClH7SU%2f1wjovF6hecBDIAvkC
https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7cNH%2fJYyEFasr2%2bRDfpDJceeDk5ausBOvz%2bIb8hpB2%2f3j56tpBtchy4VLAy6IEwL%2fRhx6odomB7jIOxA8Ctj2LVR%2fXF8ZI65clBRxEqrGJSnuR3ue10yV7NyYjq3yG%2fKGjKiDjxSbKgaOhrPLmvVIMRPgOVBSjAcO40jjUj%2bGxo7wJ%2bwksZdLX%2fTfubZR6UIekaTTGo4ygWFGdV8Ir3ApcQZLcLzS6bERmb6Go22vJONEShT78ZQU1JLHGni5WdjzJ3bY3sYvtF%2bbau6cJV8GdJGKrYGCPuMYAKQ4w6FRJTZu18yEKGdRz5NfNYHlIuCMhy37jXfJGEgCljYsstBQ6vJ%2fKmf8jkWMLdEZ6AM67gEJsLZP4X97MOy%2fvIs%2fLr9pqNZnY34MkYlbUoh6ztxf8zOJaz5vInNxjYL6E14fy4JFEnMWXc4%2fb37UfGlWwM2kG
https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7clgyqbyishAHBCqUy3gNoqF%2bIkV5%2bsAsNBdFWaczCEVU1VbxV9yinFdDg1xRHHCXZWPBcDBp5zNme27YEqxqeQnp%2fa%2f4lZ1auGhDGtKybtnL4sM6hdYFozaO1oUkSB3hJVIjtrpAqQUl0MO0d8gK7oMBkN5n6h7tvrjKc%2f50emyrrn2otU%2bhQ7%2f0sdXqOXaTQD7C%2bEHb%2fqgVAFB0VjZoDtWOsFGBOk88svpvp%2bgikQAECDjGa1sYtbBcqJT2pJRiC1SKevygWDwVRvtfQ5RvB%2bmlsW8zYXyN%2fHThHpTWZ%2bOe9ev7UN%2baGXL3wdbXF8vyUUJX4ZiQnpw85uaF89l%2bYOmG66mNV2wwiRXD3cdAG6GpjZKCZ8nY%2fMd5P4sN2ivPsQ%2f5nOlCtB7ctFo6SEJrHQ0AXgld0GtqePxj0fwdvjqtPI6Anu9oSIqbzaT%2b8cyru
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PvqECq6iF7k&feature=youtu.be


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

342 
  

Videos available to view afterwards and 
included in each staff newsletter edition 

since.    

Planned Care & Diagnostics  

1 Jul 2021 
 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care, 

Maternity Neonatal 
and Paediatrics, 

Planned Care and 
Diagnostics – 

Matrons, Ward 
Managers Deputies 

and CNS’s  - 
Workshop 1 

Nurses, other 
staff 

Workshop To define the current proposed models 
of care and discuss pros and cons and 

supporting pathways 
Transport and transfer concerns (inc. 

anaesthetics); Travel distance for staff; 
Workforce impacts and opportunities; 

Community hubs more locally 

43 
participants 

 

Jul 2021 What Matters to 
You – Our Staff and 

Teams 

Clinical Staff Survey  To understand what is most important 
to staff when thinking about their day-

to-day roles, their teams and their 
aspirations 

563 
participants 

What Matters to You our staff and teams - 
Feedback Report 

6 July 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Workshop - 
Defining the 

Models of Care  

NLAG/HUTH –  
Clinicians, 

CCG’s, VCSE, 
Ambulance 

Providers VCSE 
groups, out of 

hospital 
providers 

Workshop Joint HASR/Out of Hospital Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network - to define list 
of models of care integrated with Out of 

Hospital programmes and develop 
pathway and joint workforce models 

to focus on specific areas (i.e. pathways, 
workforce) 

26 
participants 

  
 

 

9 July 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care, 

Maternity Neonatal 
and Paediatrics, 

Planned Care and 
Diagnostics – 

Matrons, Ward 
Managers Deputies 

and CNS’s - 
Workshop 2 

Nursing staff Workshop To define the current proposed models 
of care and discuss the pros/cons 

including supporting pathways 
 
 

41 
participants 

 

P
age 400

https://server.smartmailer.tractivity.co.uk/link.aspx?q=2022%7c2BjjUSdVR0cNa%2fZ%2b8HYpKisstaN1rGxE%2fcJ%2bH2JMlZE6DuR6BGvP2lrUj%2fLIcgaGmOCTjzzrMcB4IiHQH77Ng932rOLoNuVqHmi3EvFADSTcy8JU75ZBd6GTt1FUI96sASpzETUigWTNZ9UYBl1H9WeEMKCKFhQr5wYYxZe9cfX2KoxXBlkMn7np4Y%2bGmXpZbhiWNMeSKVmtToSfy7BeAyTw1DidLou65LrIti%2bM4ut6yLzsS3q9rSBED6oJr38cS58DWRWS%2bV03sy%2fqoSb37fq8bnthENLGZPy3LYlNI9%2bscBMmZIAtH3dSoXKmpCWCMe6i9L6zNlwCjPK8oozR55pr1nJv1w7BdGmLwfvBWa2Dk3VnGvRbSmIjFFpdWEwfyegO4YXjfbDIhn5H1q%2f5GOzm5uh8E9GYrJHy6UWyYDlBI3%2fXzS2JJdSYdtOppzwd
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Staff-What-Matters-to-You-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Staff-What-Matters-to-You-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

343 
  

July 2021 Obstetrics 

Independent 
Review 

David Howe, 
Clinicians 

N/a To consider the effects of the proposed 
changes on the provision of maternity 
care by their services and to comment 
on the proposed options for change.   

N/A Independent Review – summary 
recommendations  

July 2021 Maternity 

Independent 
Review 

B. Kuypers, 
Clinicians 

N/a  To Assess compliance of current service 
provision. Undertake an independent 
assessment of the shortlisted options 

and advise on any clinical risks or safety 
concerns.  Identify potential new ways 
of working that will improve outcomes 
and assist with further modelling of the 

shortlisted options.  Advise on future 
(midwifery) workforce models.  

N/A Independent Review – summary 
recommendations 

10 Aug 2021 Maternity, 
Neonatal and 
Paediatrics, 
Workshop 3 

Clinicians, 
Nursing and 

Midwifery Staff, 
Admin staff 

Workshop To review the scenarios being modelled 
for Maternity, Neonatal and Paediatrics.  
To consider the interdependencies with 
other services and the potential impact 
that the scenarios may have on those 

services 

38 
participants 

 

19 Aug 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Workshop: 
Defining the 

Models of Care - 
HASR/Integrated 

Frailty 

Clinicians, 
partner 

agencies, 
Ambulance 
providers 

Workshop To review the existing Integrated frailty 
model and align to longer term 

proposals 
 
 

29 
participants 

 

Aug – Sep 
2021 

Our Staff and 
Teams - Making 

Your Voice Heard 

 

Staff Survey To understand how staff and teams 
across HUTH and NLaG prefer to be 

communicated with to ensure they are 
provided with opportunities to get 

involved and have their say  

183 
participants 

Our Staff and Teams – Making your Voice Heard – 
Feedback Report  

Aug - Nov 
2021 

What Matters to 
You – Revisited 

Patients, staff, 
public 

Survey  Engagement exercise undertaken to 
continue gathering the views and 

perspectives of a range of stakeholders 

148 
participants 

What Matters to You - Revisited - Feedback Report 
(Full) 

 

P
age 401

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Our-Staff-and-Teams-%E2%80%93-Making-your-Voice-Heard-%E2%80%93-Feedback-Report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Our-Staff-and-Teams-%E2%80%93-Making-your-Voice-Heard-%E2%80%93-Feedback-Report.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2dd0d3ff-8a55-4b79-8376-f90101b88d49/MASTER%20COPY%20WMTY%202.0%20Feedback%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2dd0d3ff-8a55-4b79-8376-f90101b88d49/MASTER%20COPY%20WMTY%202.0%20Feedback%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

344 
  

 to enable decision-making within the 
programme to reflect the priorities and 

preferences of local people. 

What Matters to You – Revisited – Executive 
Summary 

Oct - Dec 
2021 

What Matters to 
You: Equality 

Groups  
Targeted 

Engagement  

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

Drop in 
x3 

Listening events with equality groups 
more likely to be adversely impacted by 

any changes (including sex workers, 
families living in areas of high 

deprivation, asylum seekers, refugees 
and migrants) 

c12 
participants 

 
 
 

Equalities Group – Combined Feedback Report 

1 Sept 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Workshop: 
Clinical Inter-
dependencies 

Clinicians Workshop To review the existing scenarios 
modelled for U&EC including the 

overview of Humber wide pathway 
redesign. 

20 
participants 

 

7 Sept 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Workshop: 
Transport 

NLaG, HUTH 
Ambulance 

Transport VCSE 
Groups, Local 

Authorities 
Public 

Transport 
Services, Public 

Workshop To understand the current challenges 
with transport and travel (non-

emergency 999) across the community 
and to plan the future opportunities for 

the longer term 

36 
participants 

 

 

 

Sep 2021 
7th and 17th 

Staff 
workshops 

What Matters to 
You – Our Staff and 

Teams – Focus 
Groups 

Staff Workshops 
x2 

What was most important to our staff 
when thinking about their day-to-day 

roles, their teams and their future 
career aspirations within the NHS or 

health and care 

11 
participants 

What Matters to You our staff and teams - 
Feedback Report  

21 Sept 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Independent 
Clinical Review 2 

Clinicians, 
partner 

agencies, out of 
hospital 

providers 

N/a To undertake a further independent 
assessment of progressed models of 

care, to confirm and challenge on inter-
dependencies and any further clinical 

risks 

7 
participants 

Independent Review – summary feedback 

P
age 402

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/969bf252-b908-42b3-aeaa-38ade51df7e7/What%20Matters%20to%20You%20%E2%80%93%20Revisited_Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/969bf252-b908-42b3-aeaa-38ade51df7e7/What%20Matters%20to%20You%20%E2%80%93%20Revisited_Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Equality-Groups-Combined-Feedback.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Staff-What-Matters-to-You-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Staff-What-Matters-to-You-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

345 
  

4 Oct 2021  Workshop: 
Mental Health 

Hospital and 
local authority 

transport 
organisations 

 

Workshop To recognise the current situation and 
understand the current challenges with 

Mental Health Services across the 
community. To plan for the future and 

start to work up collaborative 
opportunities for the longer term. 

44 
participants 

 

 

October to 
December 

2021 

Children and Young 
People’s 

Engagement 

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

Survey  Targeted engagement with children and 
young people to find out what was 

important to them when visiting 
hospital. 

63 
participants 

Children and Young People - What Matters to You 
- Feedback Report (Full) 

 
Children and Young People - What Matters to You 

- Executive Summary 
 

October to 
December 

2021 

What Matters to 
You – Parents and 

Carers 

Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Survey  Targeted engagement with Parents and 
Carers to understand what is important 

to them when visiting hospital with a 
child or young person 

277 
participants 

Parents, Carers and Guardians - What Matters to 
You - Feedback Report (Full) 

 
Parents, Carers and Guardians - What Matters to 

You - Executive Summary 
 

Nov – Dec 
2021 

Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Elected 
Members – East 

Riding of 
Yorkshire, Hull, 

North East 
Lincolnshire, 

North 
Lincolnshire, 
Lincolnshire 

County Council 

Meeting  Briefing on the forthcoming review of 
acute hospital services in the Humber 

area 

N/A  
 

2 Nov 2021 Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Workshop: U and 
EC Workforce Skills 

and Roles 

NLAG/HUTH  
clinicians, non-

clinical staff, 
CCG’s, other 

partners 

Workshop To Identify the skills and roles needed 
to deliver the UEC services (both in and 

out of hospital) 
 

46 
participants 

 

Nov – Dec 
2021 

Step 1 Evaluation  Workshop 
X 4 

Review current models and consider 
advantage / disadvantages to each 

117 
participants 

Options Evaluation Feedback Report 

P
age 403

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b85126f7-e2ca-4907-bc82-5354107b184e/CYP%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/b85126f7-e2ca-4907-bc82-5354107b184e/CYP%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/81d443c7-92a5-4501-844e-8632f3049829/CYP%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/81d443c7-92a5-4501-844e-8632f3049829/CYP%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/8d9be464-6e48-4da2-a60a-f006aa704479/Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/8d9be464-6e48-4da2-a60a-f006aa704479/Feedback%20Report%20_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c91b2dc8-89e0-445d-b1dc-2aa6c1153af3/WMTY%20PCG%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/c91b2dc8-89e0-445d-b1dc-2aa6c1153af3/WMTY%20PCG%20-%20Exec%20Summary_FINAL.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Options-Evaluation-process-–-feedback-report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

346 
  

5th, 17th, 24th, 
2 Dec 

workshops Clinicians, 
nurses, Citizen’s 

Panel 

 

10 Nov 2021 Chief Executive’s 
Question Time 

Clinical Staff Q&A Online Question and Answer Session for 
Staff members with NLaG’s Chief 

Executive 

31 
participants 

  

 

15 Nov 2021 Planned 
Care/Diagnostic 

workforce 
workshop 

Clinicians, 
nurses 

Workshop Consider what new roles / skill sets may 
be required to deliver the planned care 

models 
 

49 
participants 

 

23 Nov 2021 Maternity, 
Neonatal and 
Paediatrics, 
Workshop 4 

Clinicians, 
Nursing and 

Midwifery Staff, 
Admin staff 

 

Workshop Identifying the skills and roles needed 
to deliver the Maternity, Neonatal and 
Paediatric services (both in and out of 

hospital)  Agreeing new roles, or 
different ways of doing things, that 

avoid the current ‘system’ and 
workforce issues 

37 
participants 

 

29 Nov 2021 Mental Health HUTH, out of 
hospital 

providers, VCSE 
groups, 

Ambulance 
providers  

Workshop To recognise the current situation and 
understand the current challenges with 

Mental Health Services across the 
community. To plan for the future and 
start to work up future opportunities 
for the longer term working with all 

providers. 

22  
participants 

 

 

Oct to Dec 
2021 

Accident and 
Emergency 

engagement 

Public 
VCSE groups 

Survey Collaboration with Healthwatch to 
undertake ‘Enter and View’ visits and 

gather insight from people attending A 
and E about their experiences. Gather 

further insight into behaviours and why 
people choose A&E and the barriers to 

using alternative provision. 

153 
participants 

Healthwatch Humber ED Enter and View -
Feedback Report 

8 Dec 2021 Surgery in Children Clinical Staff Workshop To consider potential implications of the 
different models of care for surgery in 

children (to consider interdependencies 

c20 
participants  

 

P
age 404

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/74dca703-5add-4297-9e0b-44c130db03ad/4.3.1.%20Healthwatch%20Humber%20Emergency%20Department%20Enter%20and%20View%20-%20Feedback%20Report.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/74dca703-5add-4297-9e0b-44c130db03ad/4.3.1.%20Healthwatch%20Humber%20Emergency%20Department%20Enter%20and%20View%20-%20Feedback%20Report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

347 
  

between planned care and paediatric 
workstreams)  

9 Dec 2021 Transport 
Workshop 2 

Ambulance 
providers 

 

Workshop To recognise the current situation and 
understand the current challenges with 

transport and travel (non-emergency 
999) across the community. To build an 
action plan for the future and start to 
work up future opportunities for the 

longer term. 

11 
participants 

 

March 2022 Healthwatch 
engagement 

(planned care) 
 

Public, 
Patients 

 

Survey Collaboration with Healthwatch to 
undertake survey of current patients 

(particularly those on waiting lists) 
regarding their opinions and 
experiences of planned care. 

37 
participants 

Healthwatch Report 

March 2022 
4th, 7th, 16th, 

17th 

Step 2 Evaluation 
Workshops,  

Clinicians, non-
clinical staff, 
public, other 

partners 
 

Workshop 
x4 

Physical and virtual workshops were 
held to gather views and scoring on 

possible models based on the 
evaluation criteria 

130 
participants 

Options Evaluation Feedback Report 

 

May 2022 Maternity 
workshop 

(Ockenden Review) 

Clinicians, 
nursing and 
midwifery 

teams, partners 

Workshop To work through the potential models 
of care, linking to all the inter-

dependencies including anaesthetics, 
paediatrics and gynaecology and what 
these current potential models of care 

mean when applying Ockenden  

17 
participants  

 Options Evaluation Feedback Report 

June 2022 Stage 2: Yorkshire 
and Humber 

Clinical Senate 
Review Report 

Yorkshire and 
Humber Clinical 

Senate 

Independent 
Expert Review 

Independent review of shortlisted 
options and evaluation process by 

Clinical Senate  

N/A Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate report 

July 2022 IIA: Equalities 
Groups 

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

Drop in 
(x1) 

Experts By Experience Meeting - 
Targeted engagement with ex-carers, 
current carers, people with learning 

disabilities, mental health issues, 
autism, and communication difficulties 

9 
participants  

Equalities Group – Combined Feedback Report 

P
age 405

https://www.healthwatchnorthlincolnshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Covid-Impact-Survey-final.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Options-Evaluation-process-–-feedback-report.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Options-Evaluation-process-–-feedback-report.pdf
http://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/modules/reports/protected/files/YH%20Senate%20Report%20%20HASR%20-%20ratified%20final.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Equality-Groups-Combined-Feedback.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

348 
  

Sept 2022 
 

Joint Consultants’ 
Conference  

Clinical Staff Workshop  Joint event bringing together 
consultants from HUTH and NLaG for 
training and development. The HAS 

Programme had a dedicated workshop 
gathering feedback on workforce 

transformation.  

126 
participants  

 

  

Sept – Oct 
2022  

IIA: Equalities 
Groups 

Health Inclusion 
Groups 

 

1:1   1:1 session with an Imam from the 
Islamic Centre in Scunthorpe and VCSE 

worker supporting Sex Workers in 
Grimsby to gather feedback on what 

the impacts would be to these groups of 
people and communities if services 

were delivered differently in the future, 
to support the development of the 

Programme’s IIA. 

2 
participants  

Equalities Group – Combined Feedback Report 

Oct 2022  IIA: Lincolnshire 
Maternity Service 

Users  

Patients, Public  Drop In 
(x4) 

Listening events at various locations 
across Lincolnshire to gather feedback 
on what the impacts would be to these 
communities if maternity, neonatal and 

paediatric services were delivered 
differently in the future to support the 
development of the Programme’s IIA.  

33 
Participants 

Feedback Report  
 

Outcomes 

Oct 2022 IIA: Citizen’s Panel 
Workshop  

Public,  
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Workshop  To gather feedback on how any future 
changes to hospital services may impact 
groups of people and communities who 
already face barriers and disadvantage, 

to support the development of the 
Programme’s IIA.  

11 
Participants 

Citizen’s Panel Joint Equalities Workshop – Impact 
Assessment Feedback Report 

Oct 2022 IIA: Equality Groups  
 

Public,  
Health Inclusion 

Groups  

Drop In Listening event at the Experts By 
Experience Meeting – representation 

included ex-carers, current carers, 
people with learning disabilities, mental 

health issues, autism, and 
communication difficulties around what 

the impacts would be to them and 
people they represent if hospital 

services were delivered differently in 

11 
Participants  

Equalities Group – Combined Feedback Report  

P
age 406

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Equality-Groups-Combined-Feedback.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/6447f42f-5ff4-4685-a23d-54414cbc47f4/Summary%20Feedback%20Report_FINAL.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/76
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-and-Equality-Groups-Impact-Assessment-Feedback-October-2022.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Citizens-Panel-and-Equality-Groups-Impact-Assessment-Feedback-October-2022.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Equality-Groups-Combined-Feedback.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

349 
  

the future, to support the development 
of the Programme’s IIA.  

Nov – Dec IIA: Staff 
Engagement  

 

Maternity, 
Neonatal, 

Paediatrics, 
Urgent and 

Emergency Care 
teams at NLaG  

 
Drop-Ins 

X4 

Targeted engagement with clinical 
teams to answer questions on the 
potential models of care, gather 

feedback on any concerns and ideas 
staff members have to help decision-

makers understand the potential 
impacts of change and to inform the 

development of the Programme’s IIA.  

c54 
Participants  

Staff IIA Engagement Feedback Report 
 

Dec Health Overview 
Scrutiny 

Committees  

Elected 
Members – 

North 
Lincolnshire 

Council   

Meeting  Briefing update provided to North 
Lincolnshire Council’s HOSC on progress 
to date of the HAS Programme and next 

steps.  
Briefing paper sent virtually to all other 

Humber HOSCS 

N/a  

Jan 2023 AHP Engagement Clinical teams Workshop  A joint workshop led by AHP Leaders 
and the programme team to 

understand scope for AHPs training and 
development opportunities, ideas to 

improve recruitment and retention and 
what AHPs feel we should prioritise 

within our workforce plan. 

32 
Participants 

 

 

Jan 2023 Accord online 
engagement event  

 

Public 
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Drop In Update provided to members on the 
progress to date of the HAS Programme 

and next steps.  

c40 
participants 

  

Jan 2023 IIA: Equality Groups  Public,  
Health Inclusion 

Groups 

Drop In Listening event with Winterton Seniors 
Forum – representation included 
elderly, ex-carers, current carers, 

people with dementia, and 
communication difficulties around what 

the impacts would be to them if 
hospital services were delivered 

differently in the future, to support the 
development of the Programme’s IIA. 

16 
participants 

Equalities Group – Combined Feedback Report 

P
age 407

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Staff-IIA-Feedback-Report-Summary.pdf
https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Equality-Groups-Combined-Feedback.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

350 
  

Jan 2023 Transport Survey 
 

 

Patients, Staff, 
Partners, Public 

 

Survey  Online survey to gather further 
feedback on the key themes, challenges 

and opportunities emerging around 
travel and transport from the 

Programme’s engagement so far.   

124 
participants  

Feedback Report  
 

Outcomes 

 

Feb 2023 Maternity 
Engagement  

(North Lincolnshire, 
North East 

Lincolnshire and 
Goole) 

Patients / 
service-users 

Drop In  
(x5) 

Listening events at antenatal clinics at 
East and West Marsh Children’s Centre, 

Epworth, Cottage Beck and Goole 
Hospital to gather feedback on what the 
impacts would be to these communities 

if maternity services were delivered 
differently in the future to support the 
development of the Programme’s IIA. 

44 
participants  

Feedback Report  
 

Outcomes 

Feb 2023 North Lincolnshire 
and North East 

Lincolnshire Health 
and Care 

Partnership 
Leadership Group 

Briefings 

Staff, Primary 
Care, Local 
Authority 
Partners 

Briefing 
Sessions 

Briefing sessions for the North 
Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire 
Health Care Partnership members. The 

briefings were presented by the 
programme director with clinicians in 
attendance to answer questions and 

explain the proposed models.  
 

North East 
Lincolnshire 

9 
participants 

 
North 

Lincolnshire 
8 

participants 

 

 

Feb 2023 Factory Workers 
Engagement – 

Drop-in Session 

Patients, Public Drop-Ins 
(x2) 

Drop in sessions at Cranswick Food 
Factory, Hull in partnership with Ask a 

Midwife and Infectious Disease Team to 
engage with factory workers, in 

particular Eastern European workers to 
understand the barriers faced when 

accessing hospital/health care 

5 
participants  

 

April 2023 Stage 3: Yorkshire 
and Humber 

Clinical Senate 
Review Report 

Yorkshire and 
Humber Clinical 

Senate 

Independent 
Expert Review  

Independent review of Pre-Consultation 
Business Case by Clinical Senate  

N/A Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate Report (April 
2023)  

June 2023 Staff Equality 
Networks 

Engagement 

Staff Equality 
Network 
Members 

Workshops  
(x3) 

Workshops held to hear the voices of 
the LGBTQ+, BAME and Disability 

equality network members. 

4 
participants 

 

Running Total (Approx.) 13,016 

P
age 408

https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/edafc33b-df28-4900-a46a-5c4f7071b7ee/Travel%20and%20Transport%20Feedback%20Report_Final%20for%20publication.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/edafc33b-df28-4900-a46a-5c4f7071b7ee/Travel%20and%20Transport%20Feedback%20Report_Final%20for%20publication.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/98
https://humbernorthyorkshire.tractivity.co.uk/images/blob/2226b5bc-0eaf-4bab-836b-cfefa0a50017/Summary%20Feedback%20Report_NLAG%20MVP_Final%20for%20publication.pdf
https://humbernorthyorkshire.engage-360.co.uk/surveys/107
https://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/media/reports/YH%20Senate%20Final%20Ratified%20Report%20-%20HASR.pdf
https://www.yhsenate.nhs.uk/media/reports/YH%20Senate%20Final%20Ratified%20Report%20-%20HASR.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

351 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D. Modelling Outputs   

 

 

 

Page 409



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

352 
  

10.16 Activity and displacement 

10.16.1 Proposed option and impacts 

10.16.1.1 Consolidating four specific services at Diana Princess of Wales Hospital, Grimsby (DPoW) 

 
Table 10.21 Activity modelling outputs - proposed model (four services consolidated at DPoW) 

Key: 

DPoW Diana Princess of Wales Hospital  

SGH Scunthorpe General Hospital 

HUTH Hull University Teaching Hospital 

DRI Doncaster Royal Infirmary  

LCH Lincoln County Hospital 

PHB Pilgrim Hospital Boston 

YTH York Teaching Hospital 

The total number of patients displaced – who would potentially need to transfer to DPoW for an inpatient ward 

admission – is 5,059.  

788 patients are identified with the Emergency Department line as displaced by the proposed changes. This 

number has not been included in the total to avoid double-counting, as these patients would be expected to 

require an inpatient admission. 

Whilst the emergency department in Scunthorpe will provide a service for the majority of patients attending, 

the patients that make up the 788 are those who would require direct transfer via the ambulance service to 

receive specialist care.  

P
age 410



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

353 
  

10.16.2 Discounted models and impacts 

10.16.2.1 Consolidating four specific services at Scunthorpe General Hospital 

 
Table 10.22 Activity modelling outputs – discounted site option (four services consolidated at SGH) 

P
age 411



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

354 
  

10.16.2.2 Consolidating general medical and care of the elderly services at DPoW 

 
Table 10.23 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (general medical and care of the elderly consolidated at DPoW) 

P
age 412



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

355 
  

10.16.2.3 Consolidating general medical and care of the elderly services at SGH 

 
Table 10.24 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (general medical and care of the elderly consolidated at SGH) 

P
age 413



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

356 
  

10.16.2.4 Consolidating all emergency/unplanned care at DPoW and all planned care at SGH 

 
Table 10.25 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (all emergency/unplanned care consolidated at DPoW) 

P
age 414



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

357 
  

10.16.2.5 Consolidating all emergency/unplanned care at SGH and all planned care at DPoW 

 
Table 10.26 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (all emergency/unplanned care consolidated at SGH) 

P
age 415



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

358 
  

10.16.2.6 Building a new hospital in the middle, halfway between Grimsby and Scunthorpe 

 
Table 10.27 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (building a new hospital in the middle) 

  

P
age 416



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

359 
  

10.17 Impacted patients by local authority 

Displacement from Scunthorpe General Hospital 

ICB  Local Authority Name Trauma  
Emergency Surgery 
Admissions >24hrs 

Specialist Medical 
Inpatients >72 hrs 

Paediatrics Inpatients 
 >24hrs 

Total  

Humber  
and North  
Yorkshire  

North Lincolnshire 449 1731 852 754 3786 

East Riding of Yorkshire 72 172 94 79 417 

North East Lincolnshire 7 248 19 9 283 

Kingston upon Hull, City of 5 5 0 0 10 

Selby 3 8 1 4 16 

York 0 2 0 0 2 

Richmondshire 0 0 0 0 0 

Ryedale 0 1 0 0 1 

Lincolnshire  

West Lindsey 61 171 79 73 384 

East Lindsey 2 61 5 0 68 

Lincoln 1 2 0 1 4 

South Holland 0 0 0 0 0 

Boston 0 0 0 0 0 

South Kesteven 0 0 0 0 0 

North Kesteven 0 1 0 0 1 

South Yorkshire 
and Bassetlaw 

Doncaster 5 9 3 3 20 

Bassetlaw 3 4 1 1 9 

Rotherham 0 1 0 0 1 

Barnsley 0 0 0 1 1 

Sheffield 0 1 2 0 3 

West Yorkshire  Wakefield 1 0 0 0 1 

Other    2 2 1 9 14 

  NULL 0 25 12 1 38 

  TOTAL  611 2444 1069 935 5059 
Table 10.28 Impacted patients by local authority (proposed model) 

P
age 417



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

360 
  

The table provides a breakdown of the number of patients who would potentially be impacted by the proposal and have some or all of their care at a different 

hospital to Scunthorpe General Hospital (where they previously attended) by local authority area. This is based on the activity modelling in the baseline year 

2019/20. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 418



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

361 
  

10.18 Travel modelling 

10.18.1 Patient Travel Time impact  

10.18.1.1 Urgent and Emergency Care 

U&EC Emergency Department attendances (adults and children, exc. growth) 

  

Acute/LEH Acute/LEH (without COE & GM) Acute/Elective  

DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute Central Site 

Positive impact 3 13 3 13 1,527 1,642 3,635 

Neutral impact 52 27 52 27 5,350 3,714 17,293 

Negative impact (moderate) 333 280 333 280 11,798 16,362 55,443 

Negative impact (significant) 575 614 575 614 18,905 17,219 506 

 
            

Activity not impacted or unrouteable  147,594 147,623 147,594 147,623 110,977 109,620 71,627 

Total Activity  148,557 148,557 148,557 148,557 148,557 148,557 148,504 

Table 10.29 Summary travel impact - ED Attendances 

U&EC - Emergency Admissions (adult only, exc. growth, inc. transfer conditions) 

  

Acute/LEH Acute/LEH (without COE & GM) Acute/Elective  

DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute Central Site 

Positive impact 354 267 581 343 1,147 796 1,846 

Neutral impact 451 266 807 403 2,707 2,224 9,274 

Negative impact (moderate) 2,244 2,382 3,998 3,916 6,650 7,661 26,090 

Negative impact (significant) 2,589 3,253 4,848 5,312 8,877 8,070 337 
                

Activity not impacted or unrouteable  79,990 79,460 75,758 75,654 66,247 66,877 48,081 

Total Activity  85,628 85,628 85,628 85,628 85,628 85,628 85,628 

Table 10.30 Summary travel impact - UEC inpatient activity 

P
age 419



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

362 
  

10.18.1.2 Paediatrics 

Paediatrics admissions (>24 hrs, exc. growth) 

  

Acute/LEH Acute/LEH (time-limited PAU) Acute/Elective  

DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute Central Site 

Positive impact 17 35 17 35 17 35 127 

Neutral impact 75 24 75 24 75 24 575 

Negative impact (moderate) 260 127 260 127 260 127 1,152 

Negative impact (significant) 550 768 550 768 550 768 1 
                

Activity not impacted or unrouteable  3,291 3,239 3,291 3,239 3,291 3,239 2,338 

Total Activity  4,193 4,193 4,193 4,193 4,193 4,193 4,193 

Table 10.31 Travel impact summary – Paediatrics 

 

 

 

 

The following categories were used to analyse the travel time impacts 

Positive impact Reduction in journey time by more 10 minutes 

Neutral impact 
Reduction in journey time by less than 10 minutes and/or 
increase in journey time by less than 10 minutes 

Negative impact (moderate) Increase in journey time by 10 to 30 minutes 

Negative impact (significant) Increase in journey time by more than 30 minutes 

  

Travel impacts were mapped using historic activity (all patients in the baseline year, 

2019/20). Changes to travel times as a result of each of the models explored were 

mapped against postcode to nearest hospital and therefore do not take account of 

patient choice. Some patients within the baseline data did not use their nearest 

hospital.  

 

P
age 420



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

363 
  

10.18.1.3 Travel time impact by deprivation 

 

  

1010

2037

894

714
652

1046

379

847

928

473

594

325

876

830

354

332

704

693

153

126

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Consolidating services at DPoW Consolidating services at SGH

Travel impact by IMD decile 
(all services - excluding maternity and neonatal)

1 (Most Deprived) 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (Least Deprived)

Travel impacts were mapped 

against IMD decile to provide an 

understanding of any potential 

impact on health inequalities 

associated with each of the 

potential models of care.  

The charts in this section include 

all those who would be impacted 

either moderately (10-30 

minutes additional travel time) 

or significantly (30+ minutes 

additional travel time) by the 

proposed change mapped 

against levels of deprivation.  

 

P
age 421



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

364 
  

10.18.1.3.1 Travel impact by IMD decile summary – discounted options 

 

Acute / Local Emergency Hospital Model  
(with OLU) 

Acute / Local Emergency Hospital  
(without OLU) 

Population 
Baseline 

IMD_Decile 
DPoW = Acute | SGH = 

LEH (with OLU) 
SGH = Acute | DPoW = 

LEH (with OLU) 
DPoW = Acute | SGH = 

LEH (without OLU) 
SGH = Acute | DPoW = 

LEH (without OLU) 

 

1 (Most Deprived) 22.26% 27.64% 23.15% 30.28% 20.77% 

2 12.97% 9.29% 14.39% 8.80% 8.21% 

3 11.88% 16.23% 11.20% 15.61% 10.14% 

4 8.50% 8.34% 8.04% 7.88% 8.21% 

5 12.86% 5.50% 12.12% 5.50% 9.66% 

6 6.33% 4.88% 6.40% 4.28% 7.73% 

7 11.75% 9.41% 11.45% 9.04% 13.53% 

8 4.00% 5.40% 4.08% 5.05% 8.70% 

9 8.60% 10.79% 8.19% 11.08% 10.14% 

10 (Least Deprived) 0.85% 2.51% 1.00% 2.49% 2.90% 
Table 10.32 Travel impact summary by IMD decile 

  

P
age 422



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

365 
  

10.18.2 Emergency transport 

Ambulance impact summary 

  

Acute/LEH Acute/LEH (without OLU) Acute/Elective  

DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute DPoW Acute SGH Acute Central Site 

Total number of patients diverted 2,298 3,593 2,377 3,700 18,176 22,798 40,974 

Additional DCA hours required313 88 140 96 154 238 616 406 

Table 10.33 Emergency ambulance impact summary table314 

ORH drew the following conclusions in relation to patient divert impacts from their analysis: 

• More patients are diverted when SGH is the acute than DPoW; in the acute/elective model, 25% more patients are diverted than with DPoW as the acute. 

• Due to the geography of the county and patient origins, travel time impacts are c.46% greater with SGH as the acute compared to DPoW as the acute. 

• Arrival to handover was longer at SGH in 2019/20; diverted DPoW patients would experience longer times. 

• The Barnetby Top site results in the largest number of diverts as patients from both Scunthorpe and Grimsby are affected. 

ORH drew the following conclusions in relation to resourcing requirements from their analysis: 

• As indicated by the patient divert modelling, the impacts on EMAS with SGH as the acute are much greater than with DPoW as the acute. 

• This is particularly true for the acute/elective scenario, where the requirement of 616 additional ambulance hours per week is equivalent to a 9.3% 

increase in ambulance resourcing across Lincolnshire. 

• The Central site model produces impacts between the two scenarios; volumes diverted are higher, but travel time impacts are lower as this provides a 

central location. 

 

 
313 DCA = double crewed ambulance; 168 hours = one 24/7 ambulance 
314 ORH (2022) Humber Acute Service Review: ORH EMAS Modelling – Final Report ORH Report  

Different definitions are used within the ambulance service (EMAS) clinical impression data, which was used 

within the ORH modelling, and the Trust admissions data, which was used to undertake the activity modelling 

and design the proposed model of care.   

P
age 423

https://betterhospitalshumber.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Humber-Acute-Service-Review-ORH-EMAS-Modelling-Final-Report.pdf


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

366 
  

10.18.3 Staff travel 

Current NLaG staff who might be impacted by proposed changes to clinical models outlined in this business case tend to live in North or North East Lincolnshire 

close to where they work. This is especially true for: 

• Medical Staff (Consultants and SAS) due to contractual requirements. 

• Estates, clinical support and general administration staff within pay bands 1 to 4 (for economic reasons). 

• Registered Nurses, Midwives and Allied Health Professional (Therapists, ODPs and Radiographers) are more likely to live near the service they work in but 

live in a wider area, including away from the main Grimsby and Scunthorpe geographic locations. 

 
Map 10.1 NLaG Medicine Division staff home postcodes 

Medical Division staff 
(home postcode) P

age 424



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

367 
  

 
Map 10.2 NLaG Surgical and Critical Care staff home postcodes 

 

Surgery and Critical 

Care staff (home postcode) 

P
age 425



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

368 
  

 
Map 10.3 NLaG Estates and Facilities staff home postcodes 

 

 

Estates and Facilities staff 
(home postcode) 

P
age 426



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

369 
  

10.18.4 Travel Impact Maps  

10.18.4.1 Proposed option – Urgent and Emergency Care 

 

 

Specialist services 

consolidated at DPoW 

Map 10.4 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at DPoW 

Page 427



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

370 
  

10.18.4.2 Proposed option – Paediatrics 

 
Map 10.5 Paediatrics Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at DPoW  

 

  

Paediatric inpatients 

consolidated at DPoW 

NOTE: the different scale represented by the coloured dots 

Page 428



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

371 
  

10.18.5 Discounted Models 

10.18.5.1 Proposed UEC model of care – services consolidated at Scunthorpe 

 

 

Specialist services 

consolidated at SGH 

Map 10.6 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at SGH 

Page 429



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

372 
  

10.18.5.2 Proposed Paediatric model of care – services consolidated at Scunthorpe 

 
Map 10.7 Paediatrics Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at SGH  

 

Paediatric inpatients 

consolidated at SGH 

NOTE: the different scale represented by the coloured dots 

Page 430



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

373 
  

10.18.5.3 Discounted models – Consolidation of General Medical and Care of the Elderly 

at DPoW 

 
Map 10.8 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact - DPoW Acute / SGH Local Emergency Hospital 

 

 

 

DPoW as Acute / SGH as 

Local Emergency Hospital 

Page 431



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

374 
  

10.18.5.4 Discounted models – Consolidation of General Medical and Care of the Elderly 

at SGH 

 
Map 10.9 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact - SGH Acute / DPoW Local Emergency Hospital 

 

 

  

SGH as Acute / DPoW as 

Local Emergency Hospital 

Page 432



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

375 
  

10.18.5.5 Discounted models – Complete Acute/Elective Split 

 
Map 10.10 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact - DPoW Acute / SGH Elective Hospital 

 

 

 

DPoW as Acute / SGH as 

Elective Hospital 

Page 433



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

376 
  

 

 
Map 10.11 Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) Travel Time Impact - SGH Acute / DPoW Elective Hospital 

 

  

SGH as Acute / DPoW as 

Elective Hospital 

Page 434



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

377 
  

10.19 Workforce and Finance 

10.19.1 Summary impacts 

Summary revenue impacts  

 WTE reduction Revenue impact (£m) 

Medical staffing  ↓74.04 ↓4.14 

Surgical staffing  ↓38.41 ↓2.10 

Critical Care Pathway Re-design ↓17.40 ↓1.22 

Total ↓129.85 ↓7.46 

Table 10.34 Summary of workforce and revenue impact 

The cost of the proposed model is £7.5m less than the ‘Business As Usual’ projection. 

10.19.1.1 Potential Agency Savings 

Potential Savings for Agency Spend 
(based on vacancy rate assumptions) 

Year Vacancy % % vs Year 0 
Total Agency 

Spend £m 

Gross Agency 

Saving £m 

Saving £m at 30% 

Premium 

Year 0 (current) 10.6% 100.0% 30.3 0.0 0.0 

Year 1 9.5% 90.5% 27.2 3.1 0.9 

Year 2 8.6% 91.4% 24.6 5.7 1.7 

Year 3 7.3% 92.7% 20.9 9.4 2.8 

Year 4 6.2% 93.8% 17.8 12.6 3.8 

Year 5 5.3% 94.7% 15.2 15.2 4.6 

Table 10.35 Potential Agency Savings – high level summary 

  

P
age 435



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

378 
  

10.19.2 Capital implications and potential phasing of investment 

To deliver the change where Diana Princess of Wales Hospital (DPoW) is the acute site, investment would be required in the following key areas: 

• an increase in non-elective inpatient beds  

• an increase in critical care capacity  

• an increase in the capacity of the paediatric inpatient ward  

Expanded family accommodation could be provided using existing facilities that are available on-site at DPoW and do not require additional capital investment.  

This could be delivered for c.£16 million, phased over three years, which is affordable within existing resources.  

To deliver the change where Scunthorpe General Hospital (SGH) is the acute site, investment would be required in the following key areas: 

• an increase in non-elective inpatient beds (requiring a mix of repurposing current clinical areas and building new ward blocks) 

• an increase in critical care capacity and relocation of existing critical care facilities 

• relocation of obstetric department to enable additional beds and critical care to be co-located315 

• an increase in the capacity of the paediatric inpatient ward  

• extension of theatres 

• additional family accommodation 

These changes would require c.£57 million to deliver, which is not affordable within existing resources.  

 
315 Capital investment estimates were reviewed following the decoupling of maternity and neonatal services from the scope of the proposed changes. Relocation of the Obstetrics 
Unit would still be required to enable the changes to Urgent and Emergency Care, Acute wards and Crit Care changes required by the model. The model remains unaffordable. 

P
age 436



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

379 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E. Sources and Further information 

  

Page 437



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

380 
  

10.20 List of Acronyms 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

A&G   Advice & Guidance   

AAU   Acute Assessment Unit   

ACP Acute Care Practitioner 

ACSA   Anaesthesia Clinical Standards Accreditation   

AHP   Allied Health Professional   

AI   Artificial Intelligence   

BAPM British Association of Perinatal Medicine 

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

BAU Business as Usual 

BI   Business Intelligence   

BP   Blood Pressure   

CAMHS Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CAP Collaborative of Acute Providers 

CAS  Clinical Advisory Service 

CCG   Clinical Commissioning Group   

CDC Community Diagnostic Centre 

CESR Certificate or Eligibility for Specialist Registration 

CHCP   City Healthcare Partnership   

CHH   Castle Hill Hospital   

CHD Coronary Heart Disease 

CHN   Connected Health Network   

CIR Critical Infrastructure Risk 

COPD   Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease   

CQC   Care Quality Commission   

DC   Data Controller   

DMBC Decision Making Business Case 

DPOW   Diana Princess of Wales   

ED   Emergency Department   

eFI Electronic Frailty Index 

EMAS   East Midlands Ambulance Service   

ENT   Ear Nose and Throat   

EPR   Electronic Patient Record   

EQIA Equality Impact Assessment 

FE Further Education 

GDH   Goole District Hospital   

GIRFT Getting it Right First Time 

GMC   General Medical Council   

GP General Practitioner 

GPAS   Guidelines for the Provision of Anaesthesia Services   

GPwER GP with Enhanced Roles 

HAS   Humber Acute Services   

HASR   Humber Acute Service Review   

Page 438



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

381 
  

HBN Health Building Note 

HCV   Humber, Coast and Vale   

HDU High Dependency Unit 

HED   Health Evaluation Data   

HEE Health Education England 

HEI   Higher Education Institute   

HNY ICB Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board 

HOSC  Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

HR Human Resources 

HRI   Hull Royal Infirmary   

HtC Hard to Count 

HTM Health Technical Memorandum 

HUTH   Hull University Teaching Hospitals   

HWRA   Humber and Wolds Rural Action   

ICB Integrated Care Board 

ICC Integrated Care Centre 

ICS   Integrated Care System   

IIA Integrated Impact Assessment 

IMD   Index of Multiple Deprivation   

IT Information Technology 

JHOSC   Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee   

LA  Local Authorities   

LEH Local Emergency Hospital 

LDRP   Labour Delivery Recovery Postnatal   

LMS/LMNS Local Maternity System / Local Maternity and Neonatal System 

LNU   Local Neonatal Units   

LoS   Length of Stay   

LSOA  Lower Super Output Area  

MCoC Midwifery Continuity of Carer 

MDT   Multi-Disciplinary Team   

MH   Mental Health   

MLU   Midwifery Led Unit   

MNP Maternity, Neonates and Paediatrics 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding 

MP Member of Parliament 

MSK Musculoskeletal  

MTC   Major Trauma Centre   

MVP   Maternity Voices Partnerships   

NCCR Neonatal Critical Care Review 

NEL North East Lincolnshire 

NHSE  National Health Service England 

NICE   National Institute of Clinical Excellence   

NICU   Neonatal Intensive Care Unit   

NLaG   Northern Lincolnshire and Goole   

ODN   Operational Delivery Network   

Page 439



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

382 
  

OLU   Obstetric Led Unit  

ONS   Office for National Statistics   

OOA   Out of Area   

OP  Outpatients 

ORH   Operational Research in Health   

OSC   Overview and Scrutiny Committees   

OT   Occupational Therapy   

PA Physicians Associates 

PAS   Patient Administration System   

PAU   Paediatric Assessment Unit   

PCBC   Pre-Consultation Business Case   

PCN   Primary Care Network   

PHE   Public Health England  

PHM Population Health Management 

PIFU Patient Initiated Follow Up 

PKB Patient Knows Best 

PMO Programme Management Office 

PPGs Patient Participation Groups 

RCOG   Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists   

RFID Radio frequency Identification 

RTT   Referral to Treatment   

SAS Speciality and Specialist 

SCU Special Care Unit 

SDEC   Same Day Emergency Care   

SGH   Scunthorpe General Hospital   

SLA Service Level Agreement 

SMI   Serious Mental Illness   

SMR Standardised Mortality Ratio 

SOC   Strategic Outline Case   

T&F Task and Finish 

TU   Trauma Unit   

U&EC/UEC  Urgent and Emergency Care   

UCR Urgent Community Response 

UCS   Urgent Care Service   

UTC   Urgent Treatment Centre   

VCSE   Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise   

VLBW   Very Low Birth Weight   

WHO   World Health Organization   

WTE   Whole Time Equivalent   

YAS   Yorkshire Ambulance Service   

 

 

  

Page 440



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

383 
  

10.21 List of Figures 

Figure 1.1 Stakeholder Map ....................................................................................................................... 25 

Figure 1.2 Population projection – proportion of people aged 65 years and over by LA, 2018 – 2043 .... 31 

Figure 1.3 Life Expectancy at Birth (years), 2018-2020 .............................................................................. 34 

Figure 1.4 Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth (years) (2018-2020) ............................................................... 34 

Figure 1.5 Average index of Multiple Deprivation Score (2019) ................................................................ 35 

Figure 1.6 Prevalence of Diabetes across the Humber population (17+ years) ......................................... 39 

Figure 1.7 Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease (CHD) across the Humber population (all ages) .......... 39 

Figure 1.8 Percentage of population living in rural areas .......................................................................... 40 

Figure 1.9 Car ownership rates by local authority ..................................................................................... 41 

Figure 2.1 Emergency Department Attendances (2018-2023) .................................................................. 51 

Figure 2.2 Patients seen and treated in Emergency Department within four hours ................................. 57 

Figure 2.3 Patients exceeding 12 hours in ED (2019/20 to 2021/22) ........................................................ 57 

Figure 2.4 Ambulance handovers within 15 minutes (2019 - 2022) .......................................................... 58 

Figure 2.5 Cancer 62-Day Wait (HUTH and NLaG) ..................................................................................... 59 

Figure 2.6 Total workforce (establishment) by discipline .......................................................................... 64 

Figure 2.7 HUTH and NLaG Staff Group Age Demographics (2019/20) ..................................................... 65 

Figure 2.8 Emergency Medicine Staff Sickness (2022/23) ......................................................................... 67 

Figure 2.9 Backlog Maintenance and Investment Requirements (HUTH and NLaG) ................................. 72 

Figure 2.10 Conversion % from Emergency Department to Inpatient Admission (2019/20 to 2021/22) . 77 

Figure 2.11 Cancelled operations (HUTH and NLaG) ................................................................................. 77 

Figure 3.1 Humber Acute Services governance chart ................................................................................ 84 

Figure 3.2 Working groups and engagement overview ............................................................................. 85 

Figure 3.3 Overarching engagement timeline ............................................................................................ 86 

Figure 4.1 summary of benefits (Humber-wide pathway) ....................................................................... 106 

Figure 4.2 summary of benefits (clinical model changes) ........................................................................ 111 

Figure 4.3 Summary of discounted alternative solutions ........................................................................ 112 

Figure 5.1 Length of Stay for emergency admissions in days (2019/20 to 2021/22) .............................. 128 

Figure 5.2 Current volumes of activity - UEC Humber ............................................................................. 137 

Figure 5.3 Future vision for UEC activity – Humber ................................................................................. 138 

Figure 5.4 Pathway change impact - ED Attendances and Admissions (Humber) ................................... 142 

Figure 5.5 UEC baseline activity, growth assumptions and impact of pathway redesign........................ 143 

Figure 6.1 Baseline ED attendances and admissions (2019/20) .............................................................. 148 

Figure 6.2 Baseline PAU attendances and admissions (2019/20) ............................................................ 148 

Figure 6.3 Overview of new roles (UEC) ................................................................................................... 158 

Figure 7.1 Activity numbers by Inpatient, Daycase and Outpatients (all specialties - baseline) ............. 171 

Figure 7.2 Planned Care Concepts ............................................................................................................ 173 

Figure 7.3 Summary of pathway changes (Planned Care)........................................................................ 174 

Figure 7.4 Humber Pathway redesign impact – outpatient care ............................................................. 183 

Figure 7.5 Humber Pathway redesign impact – inpatients and day case ................................................ 184 

Figure 9.1 Approach to consultation design ............................................................................................ 225 

Figure 9.2 Proposed implementation team structure ............................................................................. 233 

Figure 9.3 Overview of implementation workstreams ............................................................................ 234 

Figure 9.4 Indicative timeline for implementation .................................................................................. 237 

Figure 10.1 Process to develop potential models of care ........................................................................ 247 

Figure 10.2 Approach to developing early ideas ...................................................................................... 248 

Figure 10.3 Preliminary Long List (12 site-specific variants) .................................................................... 252 

Figure 10.4 Final long list (18 site specific variations) .............................................................................. 253 

Page 441

https://nhs-my.sharepoint.com/personal/linsay_cunningham_nhs_net/Documents/HAS/PCBC%20drafts%20folder%20-%20limited%20access/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v4.0.docx#_Toc146204899


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

384 
  

Figure 10.5 Preliminary short list for detailed modelling ......................................................................... 254 

Figure 10.6 Summary of Acute / Local Emergency Hospital Model ......................................................... 267 

Figure 10.7 Summary of Acute / Elective Model ...................................................................................... 268 

Figure 10.8 Overview of Evaluation Process ............................................................................................ 270 

Figure 10.9 Evaluation Framework - I statements ................................................................................... 272 

Figure 10.10 What Matters to You? Priorities and Preferences .............................................................. 273 

Figure 10.11 Your Birthing Choices - Priorities and Preferences ............................................................. 274 

Figure 10.12 Children and Young People - Priorities and Preferences .................................................... 274 

Figure 10.13 Summary of workforce modelling methodology ................................................................ 286 

Figure 10.14 Summary of Evaluation outcomes ...................................................................................... 289 

Figure 10.15 A&E survey - why did you choose ED? ................................................................................ 307 

Figure 10.16 A&E survey - knowledge and views of UTCs ....................................................................... 308 

Figure 10.17 Knowledge of available services - Healthwatch report ....................................................... 308 

Figure 10.18 A&E survey - willingness to use alternatives to ED ............................................................. 309 

Figure 10.19 Summary of What Matters - Children and Young People ................................................... 310 

Figure 10.20 Summary of key themes - Children and Young People's feedback ..................................... 311 

Figure 10.21 Reponses to Humber Primary Care survey - preferred method of access  ......................... 318 

Figure 10.22 Patients' preferred method of follow-up care (Oncology)  ................................................. 319 

Figure 10.23 Staff What Matters to You? survey ..................................................................................... 321 

Figure 10.24 Joint Consultants Conference feedback .............................................................................. 322 

Figure 10.25 Healthwatch findings - willingness to travel ....................................................................... 326 

Figure 10.26 Overall birthing preferences (YBC survey) .......................................................................... 328 

Figure 10.27 Birthing preferences by local authority area ....................................................................... 329 

Figure 10.28 Views on standalone midwifery-led units by local authority area ...................................... 329 

Figure 10.29 Influencing factors when choosing where to give birth ...................................................... 330 

Figure 10.30 Current travel distances for maternity service-users (self-reported) ................................. 330 

Figure 10.31 Preferred future travel distances for maternity service-users ............................................ 331 

 

  

Page 442



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

385 
  

10.22 List of Tables 

Table 1.1 Age profile by local authority - high level categories ................................................................. 30 

Table 1.2 Ethnicity breakdown by Local Authority..................................................................................... 31 

Table 1.3 LSOAs with highest %age Asian/Asian British population .......................................................... 32 

Table 1.4 LSOAs with highest %age of Black/African/Caribbean/Black British population ....................... 32 

Table 1.5 Ethnicity by Local Authority - White/Other White ..................................................................... 32 

Table 1.6 LSOAs with highest %age of ‘Other White’ population .............................................................. 32 

Table 1.7 Summary of income deprivation across Humber ....................................................................... 36 

Table 1.8 Deaths from causes considered preventable, <75 years, Indirectly standardised ratio, 2016 to 

2020 ............................................................................................................................................................ 37 

Table 1.9 Inequality in life expectancy at birth, 2018-2020 ....................................................................... 37 

Table 1.10 Summary of income deprivation and impact on children ........................................................ 37 

Table 1.11 Physically inactive adults (Humber) .......................................................................................... 39 

Table 1.12 Digital Exclusion - Digital domain of the Hard to Count (HtC) index for the 2021 Census ....... 42 

Table 2.1 Organisational Snapshot ............................................................................................................. 48 

Table 2.2 Performance challenges HUTH and NLaG .................................................................................. 50 

Table 2.3 1st OP appointments Change between 2015/16 & 2018/19 ..................................................... 52 

Table 2.4 High Intensity Users - Humber EDs ............................................................................................. 53 

Table 2.5 Child health profiles by Local Authority ..................................................................................... 53 

Table 2.6 Total waiting list size (HUTH and NLaG) – Covid impact ............................................................ 59 

Table 2.7 Summary of performance against clinical standards (UEC/MNP) .............................................. 61 

Table 2.8 Summary of Emergency Department vacancy rates over time (HUTH and NLaG) .................... 67 

Table 2.9 Summary of Acute specialty medical vacancy rates (NLaG) ....................................................... 67 

Table 2.10 Summary of Children's services vacancy rates (NLaG) ............................................................. 68 

Table 2.11 Paediatric Staff Sickness - NLaG (2022/23) .............................................................................. 69 

Table 2.12 Spend on temporary staffing (NLaG and HUTH) 2022/23 ........................................................ 69 

Table 2.13 Spend on temporary staffing (NLaG – medicine specialties) 2021/22 to 2022/23 .................. 69 

Table 2.14 Summary of trainee satisfaction survey results - Nov 2022 ..................................................... 70 

Table 2.15 Summary of CQC Ratings (HUTH and NLaG) ............................................................................. 76 

Table 3.1 Summary of engagement influence ........................................................................................... 94 

Table 3.2 Citizen's Panel membership........................................................................................................ 99 

Table 4.1 Summary of impacts, DPoW vs. SGH ........................................................................................ 108 

Table 4.2 Summary of changes, benefits and impacts ............................................................................. 111 

Table 5.1 Clinical assessment closer to home - summary benefits .......................................................... 123 

Table 5.2 Urgent Care Service - summary benefits .................................................................................. 124 

Table 5.3 Integrated Acute Assessment - summary benefits ................................................................... 126 

Table 5.4 Integrated Frailty - summary benefits ...................................................................................... 128 

Table 5.5 Virtual wards - summary benefits ............................................................................................ 129 

Table 5.6 Discharge Improvements - summary benefits ......................................................................... 130 

Table 5.7 Mental Health Attendances at ED ............................................................................................ 131 

Table 5.8 Advice and Guidance - summary benefits ................................................................................ 134 

Table 5.9 Hospital at Home - summary benefits ...................................................................................... 135 

Table 6.1 Summary of proposed change (surgery and trauma)............................................................... 152 

Table 6.2 Summary of proposed changes (medicine) .............................................................................. 154 

Table 6.3 Summary of proposed change (paediatrics) ............................................................................. 156 

Table 6.4 Summary of digital enablers ..................................................................................................... 163 

Table 6.5 Patient displacement impact .................................................................................................... 166 

Table 6.6 Travel impact summary ............................................................................................................ 166 

Page 443



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

386 
  

Table 7.1 Summary benefits - Connect Health Network ........................................................................ 176 

Table 7.2 Summary benefits - new workforce models ........................................................................... 177 

Table 7.3 Summary of benefits - integrated pathways for long-term condition management ........... 178 

Table 7.4 Summary benefits - Community Diagnostic Centres .............................................................. 179 

Table 7.5 Summary benefits - Elective Care Hubs .................................................................................... 180 

Table 7.6 Efficiency assumptions (year 0-5 only)  ................................................................................... 183 

Table 7.7 Out of hospital priorities for action .......................................................................................... 188 

Table 7.8 Out of Hospital enabling projects ............................................................................................. 189 

Table 7.9 Out of hospital priority projects and linkages to PCBC proposals ............................................ 190 

Table 8.1 Digital priorities ........................................................................................................................ 197 

Table 8.2 Summary of digital enabling schemes ...................................................................................... 197 

Table 8.3 Population Educational Attainment Levels by Local Authority ................................................ 208 

Table 8.4 Current apprenticeship programmes (NLaG and HUTH) .......................................................... 208 

Table 8.5 AHP workforce age profile ........................................................................................................ 209 

Table 8.6 Summary of transport action plan priorities ............................................................................ 215 

Table 9.1 Levels of Local Authority involvement in development of health services .............................. 220 

Table 10.1 Service provision by hospital site (HUTH and NLaG) .............................................................. 245 

Table 10.2 Summary of clinical engagement on early ideas .................................................................... 249 

Table 10.3 Summary of public engagement on early ideas ..................................................................... 250 

Table 10.4 Evaluation Framework ............................................................................................................ 277 

Table 10.5 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 1 Workshops ............................................................... 279 

Table 10.6 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 Workshops ............................................................... 281 

Table 10.7 Journey time categories ......................................................................................................... 284 

Table 10.8 Thresholds used within evaluation matrix ............................................................................. 288 

Table 10.9 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 – Multifaceted analysis ............................................ 288 

Table 10.10 Summary of Evaluation Process Step 2 – Multifaceted analysis .......................................... 291 

Table 10.11 Outcome of decision to de-couple maternity and neonatal care from proposals ............... 292 

Table 10.12 Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2020) ................................. 296 

Table 10.13  Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2022) ................................. 298 

Table 10.14 Summary of Clinical Senate recommendations and response (2023) ................................. 299 

Table 10.15  Summary of independent UEC review and response .......................................................... 299 

Table 10.16 Summary of independent MNP review and response ......................................................... 300 

Table 10.17 OSC briefing dates ................................................................................................................ 301 

Table 10.18 Summary of OSC feedback and responses ........................................................................... 302 

Table 10.19 Citizen's Panel membership ................................................................................................. 333 

Table 10.20 Overview of Citizen's Panel involvement ............................................................................. 334 

Table 10.21 Activity modelling outputs - proposed model (four services consolidated at DPoW) ......... 352 

Table 10.22 Activity modelling outputs – discounted site option (four services consolidated at SGH) .. 353 

Table 10.23 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (general medical and care of the elderly 

consolidated at DPoW) ............................................................................................................................. 354 

Table 10.24 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (general medical and care of the elderly 

consolidated at SGH) ................................................................................................................................ 355 

Table 10.25 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (all emergency/unplanned care consolidated 

at DPoW) .................................................................................................................................................. 356 

Table 10.26 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (all emergency/unplanned care consolidated 

at SGH) ...................................................................................................................................................... 357 

Table 10.27 Activity modelling outputs – discounted option (building a new hospital in the middle) ... 358 

Table 10.28 Impacted patients by local authority (proposed model) ...................................................... 359 

Table 10.29 Summary travel impact - ED Attendances ............................................................................ 361 

Page 444



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

387 
  

Table 10.30 Summary travel impact - UEC inpatient activity ................................................................... 361 

Table 10.31 Travel impact summary – Paediatrics ................................................................................... 362 

Table 10.32 Travel impact summary by IMD decile ................................................................................. 364 

Table 10.33 Emergency ambulance impact summary table .................................................................... 365 

Table 10.34 Summary of workforce and revenue impact ........................................................................ 377 

Table 10.35 Potential Agency Savings – high level summary ................................................................... 377 

 

  

Page 445



Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

388 
  

10.23 List of Maps 

Map 1.1 Hospital Catchment Area HUTH and NLaG .................................................................................. 19 

Map 1.2 Income Deprivation v Deaths from Causes considered preventable .......................................... 36 

Map 1.3 Rural Deprivation and Access Times ............................................................................................ 41 

Map 2.1 Map of workforce by home postcode – HUTH ............................................................................ 65 

Map 2.2 Map of workforce by home postcode - NLaG .............................................................................. 65 

Map 10.1 NLaG Medicine Division staff home postcodes ....................................................................... 366 

Map 10.2 NLaG Surgical and Critical Care staff home postcodes ............................................................ 367 

Map 10.3 NLaG Estates and Facilities staff home postcodes ................................................................... 368 

Map 10.4 Urgent & Emergency Care Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at DPoW .................. 369 

Map 10.5 Paediatrics Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at DPoW .......................................... 370 

Map 10.6 Urgent & Emergency Care Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at SGH ..................... 371 

Map 10.7 Paediatrics Travel Time Impact – consolidated services at SGH .............................................. 372 

Map 10.8 Urgent & Emergency Care Travel Time Impact - DPoW Acute / SGH Local Emergency Hospital

 .................................................................................................................................................................. 373 

Map 10.9 Urgent & Emergency Care Travel Time Impact - SGH Acute / DPoW Local Emergency Hospital

 .................................................................................................................................................................. 374 

Map 10.10 Urgent & Emergency Care Travel Time Impact - DPoW Acute / SGH Elective Hospital ........ 375 

Map 10.11 Urgent & Emergency Care  Travel Time Impact - SGH Acute / DPoW Elective Hospital ....... 376 

 

  

Page 446

https://nhs-my.sharepoint.com/personal/linsay_cunningham_nhs_net/Documents/HAS/PCBC%20drafts%20folder%20-%20limited%20access/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v4.0.docx#_Toc146205053
https://nhs-my.sharepoint.com/personal/linsay_cunningham_nhs_net/Documents/HAS/PCBC%20drafts%20folder%20-%20limited%20access/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v4.0.docx#_Toc146205055


Humber Acute Services PCBC_v4.0_FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendices 

389 
  

10.24 List of Pictures 

Picture 1:A Core20Plus5 Infographic .......................................................................................................... 43 

Picture 2:A Summary of activity at Humber hospitals ............................................................................... 48 

Picture 3:A Overview of engagement  ....................................................................................................... 87 

Picture 3:B Key themes from engagement ................................................................................................ 93 

Picture 4:A Example pathway change ...................................................................................................... 106 

Picture 5:A Traditional pathway for frail patient with a fall..................................................................... 139 

Picture 5:B Integrated Acute Assessment pathway for frail patient with a fall ....................................... 139 

Picture 5:C Future pathway for frail patient with a fall ............................................................................ 140 

Picture 5:D Current pathway for patient with neonatal jaundice ............................................................ 141 

Picture 5:E Future pathway for patient with neonatal jaundice .............................................................. 141 

Picture 7:A Summary of benefits of Connected Health Network model ................................................. 175 

Picture 7:B Current pathway - Planned Care............................................................................................ 177 

Picture 7:C Future pathway - Planned Care ............................................................................................. 178 

Picture 7:D Principles – Out of Hospital and Humber Acute Services ...................................................... 186 

Picture 7:E Out of Hospital Dependencies ............................................................................................... 189 

Picture 8:A Humber workforce strategy .................................................................................................. 203 

Picture 9:A Summary engagement approach .......................................................................................... 228 

Picture 10:A Children's feedback booklet ................................................................................................ 261 

 

  

Page 447

https://nhs-my.sharepoint.com/personal/linsay_cunningham_nhs_net/Documents/HAS/PCBC%20drafts%20folder%20-%20limited%20access/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v4.0.docx#_Toc146205065
https://nhs-my.sharepoint.com/personal/linsay_cunningham_nhs_net/Documents/HAS/PCBC%20drafts%20folder%20-%20limited%20access/Humber%20Acute%20Services%20PCBC_v4.0.docx#_Toc146205077


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 19 June 2023 and authorise the Chairman to sign.
	Minutes

	6 Humber Acute Services Review - Presentation and Discussion.
	Integrated Impact Assessment
	Pre-Consultation Business Case




